HIV-INDUCED DAMAGE OF B CELLS AND PRODUCTION OF HIV NEUTRALIZING ANTIBODIES

EDITED BY: Francesca Chiodi and Gabriella Scarlatti PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2018 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

> ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-461-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-461-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

HIV-INDUCED DAMAGE OF B CELLS AND PRODUCTION OF HIV NEUTRALIZING ANTIBODIES

Topic Editors:

Francesca Chiodi, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden **Gabriella Scarlatti,** San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Italy



Neutralizing antibodies are needed to block HIV-1 infection of target cells. During HIV-1 infection B cells produce antibodies to several components of the virus. Only a small portion of these antibodies (in green) will neutralize HIV-1 (in green) by binding to the virus envelope spikes. An effective HIV-1 vaccine should induce neutralizing antibodies.

Image: Monica Tolazzi and Gabriella Scarlatti. The image was created for the EAVI2020 Photo Exhibition and permission was obtained from EAVI2020 to reproduce the picture.

Cover image: "Antibodies and plasma cell, artwork." Tim Vernon/Science Photo Library/IBL Bildbyrå. Multiple dysfunctions take place in the B cell compartment during HIV-1 infection, comprising depletion of resting memory B cells carrying serological memory to vaccines and previously met pathogens. In addition, population of B cells characterized by the expression of exhaustion markers are enlarged during HIV-1 infection.

Antibodies with the capacity to neutralize a broad range of HIV-1 isolates can be detected only in a minority of infected patients, after a year or more from acute infection. An open question is whether the inability of producing neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies is somehow linked to the B cell immunopathology observed in patients.

In this Research Topic, we invited scientists to summarize the current state of knowledge on regulation and

development of B cells and antibody responses during HIV-1 infection; fifteen contributions were received comprising both reviews and original articles. The articles are related to B cell dysfunctions identified in HIV-1 infected individuals, production of different types of antibodies (neutralizing versus non neutralizing, and of different isotypes) in vivo during HIV-1 infection and the biological factors which may impact on this process, clinical potential and applications of

anti-HIV antibodies and how to achieve neutralizing antibody responses to HIV-1 epitopes upon vaccination.

The topic has gathered articles on front-line research undertaken in the field of B cells and antibodies in HIV-1 infection. It is our hope that the collection of articles presented in this book may be useful for new and experienced scholars in the field and add a piece to the complex puzzle of knowledge needed for the development of an HIV-1 vaccine.

Citation: Chiodi, F., Scarlatti, G., eds. (2018). HIV-Induced Damage of B Cells and Production of HIV Neutralizing Antibodies. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-461-7

Table of Contents

06 Editorial: HIV-Induced Damage of B Cells and Production of HIV Neutralizing Antibodies

Francesca Chiodi and Gabriella Scarlatti

B Cell Dysfunctions in HIV-1 Infected Individuals

- 10 **T Follicular Helper Cells and B Cell Dysfunction in Aging and HIV-1 Infection** Suresh Pallikkuth, Lesley de Armas, Stefano Rinaldi and Savita Pahwa
- 18 FcRL4 Expression Identifies a Pro-inflammatory B Cell Subset in Viremic HIV-Infected Subjects

Basile Siewe, Allison J. Nipper, Haewon Sohn, Jack T. Stapleton and Alan Landay

27 Perturbation of B Cell Gene Expression Persists in HIV-Infected Children Despite Effective Antiretroviral Therapy and Predicts H1N1 Response

Nicola Cotugno, Lesley De Armas, Suresh Pallikkuth, Stefano Rinaldi, Biju Issac, Alberto Cagigi, Paolo Rossi, Paolo Palma and Savita Pahwa

- 38 Beyond Antibodies: B Cells and the OPG/RANK-RANKL Pathway in Health, Non-HIV Disease and HIV-Induced Bone Loss Kehmia Titanji
- **47 B-Cell-Activating Factor and the B-Cell Compartment in HIV/SIV Infection** Gwenoline Borhis, Maria Trovato, Nada Chaoul, Hany M. Ibrahim and Yolande Richard

Antibody Production In Vivo During HIV-1 Infection

61 Mucosal IgA Responses: Damaged in Established HIV Infection – Yet, Effective Weapon against HIV Transmission

Viraj Kulkarni and Ruth M. Ruprecht

70 Plasma CXCL13 but Not B Cell Frequencies in Acute HIV Infection Predicts Emergence of Cross-Neutralizing Antibodies

Jenniffer M. Mabuka, Anne-Sophie Dugast, Daniel M. Muema, Tarylee Reddy, Yathisha Ramlakhan, Zelda Euler, Nasreen Ismail, Amber Moodley, Krista L. Dong, Lynn Morris, Bruce D. Walker, Galit Alter and Thumbi Ndung'u

83 The Role of Maternal HIV Envelope-Specific Antibodies and Mother-to-Child Transmission Risk

Ayooluwa O. Douglas, David R. Martinez and Sallie R. Permar

89 The Role of Natural Antibodies to CC Chemokine Receptor 5 in HIV Infection

Assunta Venuti, Claudia Pastori and Lucia Lopalco

- **102** Env-Specific Antibodies in Chronic Infection versus in Vaccination Martina Soldemo and Gunilla B. Karlsson Hedestam
- **110** Non-Neutralizing Antibodies Directed against HIV and Their Functions Luzia M. Mayr, Bin Su and Christiane Moog

Clinical Applications of Anti-HIV Antibodies

119 Increasing the Clinical Potential and Applications of Anti-HIV Antibodies Casey K. Hua and Margaret E. Ackerman

Approaches to Improve Neutralizing Antibody Responses to HIV-1 Epitopes

138 Immunologic Insights on the Membrane Proximal External Region: A Major Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type-1 Vaccine Target

Luis M. Molinos-Albert, Bonaventura Clotet, Julià Blanco and Jorge Carrillo

150 Glutaraldehyde Cross-linking of HIV-1 Env Trimers Skews the Antibody Subclass Response in Mice

Martina Soldemo, Monika Àdori, Julian M. Stark, Yu Feng, Karen Tran, Richard Wilson, Lifei Yang, Javier Guenaga, Richard T. Wyatt and Gunilla B. Karlsson Hedestam

161 Regulation of Subunit-Specific Germinal Center B Cell Responses to the HIV-1 Envelope Glycoproteins by Antibody-Mediated Feedback

Mattias N. E. Forsell, Linda Kvastad, Saikiran K. Sedimbi, John Andersson and Mikael C. I. Karlsson





Editorial: HIV-Induced Damage of B Cells and Production of HIV Neutralizing Antibodies

Francesca Chiodi1* and Gabriella Scarlatti2*

¹ Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, ² Viral Evolution and Transmission Unit, Division of Immunology, Transplantation and Infectious Diseases, San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy

Keywords: HIV, B cells, neutralizing antibodies, vaccination strategies, IgA

Editorial on the Research Topic

HIV-Induced Damage of B Cells and Production of HIV Neutralizing Antibodies

Memory B cells and long-lived plasma cells are pivotal for maintenance of serological memories to vaccines and infections. Studies in HIV-1-infected children and adults have shown that blood resting memory (RM) cells are reduced in number during HIV-1 infection and that their decline correlates with reduction of antibody (Ab) titers against childhood vaccinations [reviewed in Ref. (1, 2)]. Initiation of antiretroviral therapy (ART) shortly after infection restored RM cells to physiological levels in HIV-1-infected children and adults (3, 4) although very few studies have been conducted on this specific topic. One additional interesting feature of HIV-1 immunopathology is that exhausted memory B cells are expanded in circulation during HIV-1 infection; these exhausted cells comprise activated memory B (AM) and tissue-like memory (TLM) B cells, the latter displaying phenotypic similarities with tonsillar B cells (5, 6). The mechanism driving B cell abnormalities during HIV-1 infection remains poorly characterized. One possibility is that expression of inhibitory receptors on the surface of TLM B cells during HIV-1 infection, including the inhibitory receptor Fc receptorlike-4 (FCRL4), may engage specific pathway leading to inhibition of B cell proliferation and Ab production. Reverting in vivo the damage which HIV-1 exerts on B cells could possibly result in the production of adequate and persistent levels of HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies (NAbs) able to neutralize a broad range of HIV-1 isolates.

During the course of natural HIV-1 infection, humoral immune responses take place to HIV-1 epitopes resulting in specific Abs with non-neutralizing and neutralizing capacity. Only in a minority of infected individuals, Abs with the capacity to neutralize a broad range of HIV-1 isolates, called broad NAbs (bNAbs), can be detected after more than one year from primary infection. During the last decades a large number of potent HIV-1 bNAbs have been isolated from infected patients, which target the CD4 binding site, determinants within the V2 envelope (env) region, the V3 region or the gp120-gp41 interface region. These bNAbs have been tested in HIV-1 animal models, and phase I and II clinical studies have demonstrated safety in adults and children. Although some Fc-modifications are needed to increase the half-life of bNAbs, there is no doubt that they represent valuable tools in the contexts of HIV-1 prevention and treatment.

The clinical trials conducted with candidate HIV-1 vaccines targeting env showed that it is difficult to elicit high titers of HIV-1 bNAbs in humans. Accordingly, highly innovative approaches need to be applied to this field; integrated knowledge from vaccine design for other pathogens may accelerate the design of preventive or therapeutic HIV-1 vaccines with the property of inducing bNAbs.

In this research topic, we invited scientists to summarize the current state of knowledge on regulation and development of B cells and Abs responses during HIV-1 infection; 15 contributions were received comprising both reviews and original articles. A short introduction of these contributions follows.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and Reviewed by: Aurelio Cafaro, Istituto Superiore di Sanità. Italv

*Correspondence:

Francesca Chiodi francesca.chiodi@ki.se; Gabriella Scarlatti scarlatti.gabriella@hsr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 22 January 2018 Accepted: 01 February 2018 Published: 20 February 2018

Citation:

Chiodi F and Scarlatti G (2018) Editorial: HIV-Induced Damage of B Cells and Production of HIV Neutralizing Antibodies. Front. Immunol. 9:297. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00297

6

Serological responses to vaccines and establishment of B cell memory is mediated through the interactions between Tfh cells and B cells in germinal centers (GCs). Pallikkuth et al. reviewed current knowledge on Tfh cells and B cells dysfunction in aging and HIV-1 infection. Chronic immune activation during HIV-1 infection affects the expression of molecules important for the function of Tfh cells and other T cell subsets including PD-1 and ICOS; T cell exhaustion could also take place as a result of protracted expression of inhibitory receptors. The number and function of circulating Tfh cells declined during HIV-1 infection but ART treatment resulted in increased frequencies of Tfh cells; however, upon these conditions the frequencies of RM cells remained low.

The expression of FcRL4 and IL-6 is increased in B cells during HIV-1 infection. Increased IL-6 expression leads to aberrant B cell differentiation and FcRL4 acts by dampening B cell receptor (BCR) signaling. Siewe et al. report that the expression of FcRL4 in viremic HIV-1-infected patients identifies an IL-6 producing pro-inflammatory B cell subset. In viremic patients AM and TLM cells expressed the highest levels of FcRL4 and IL-6; in addition, AM cells, followed by TLM cells, comprised the highest frequency of FcRL4^{hi}IL-6^{hi} cells among B cell subpopulations. The authors present interesting mechanisms linking expression and signaling of FcLR4 with B cell damage and expression of inflammatory cytokines.

It is recommended that children born HIV-1-infected receive ART from birth and further studies should be conducted to analyze whether the damage to RM B cells is prevented by early ART introduction. Cotugno et al. reported that the frequencies of B cell subpopulations did not differ between controls and ART treated HIV-1-infected children who responded to treatment. Gene expression arrays performed on isolated B cells from selected HIV-1-infected patients revealed few differentially expressed genes in purified RM B cells when comparing controls and HIV-1-infected children. It is interesting however that 25 genes were differentially expressed in RM cells at baseline prior to influenza vaccination in the RM cells of vaccine non-responders as compared to vaccine responders. Gene profiles were also derived for AM cells in HIV-1-infected children and controls providing novel findings in the field of B cell damage.

B cells are involved in bone biology in health and disease. In her review, Titanji discusses the contribution of two cytokines produced by B cells, OPG, and RANKL, to HIV-1-induced bone loss. The members of the OPG/RANKL pathway are produced by a large number of cells present in several tissues of three major organ systems: skeletal, vascular, and immune systems. A strong link between joint destruction in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and pathogenic RANKL producing B cells was found when patients with RA were treated with anti-CD20 Ab Rituximab. This treatment eliminated B cells and reduced also RANKL levels in synovium. Increased longevity in HIV-1-infected individuals receiving ART has been associated with higher prevalence of non-AIDS end-organ comorbidities including osteoporosis and cardiovascular diseases. During HIV-1 infection, the subset of TLM B cells, expanded as result of inflammation, has been linked to increased RANKL production. Both in HIV-1 transgenic rats and in untreated HIV-1-infected individuals an increased

RANKL/OPG ratio was described, suggesting a link between the OPG/RANKL pathway and skeletal damage in HIV-1 infection. The exciting possibility of RANKL blockade by already available medicines during HIV-1 infection is discussed to reduce the impact of osteoporosis in aging patients.

Approximately 90%, of new HIV-1 acquisitions take place through mucosal contact. Kulkarni et al. describe how loss of B cells and plasma cells during HIV-1 infection results in a declined production of anti-HIV IgA responses at the mucosal sites. IgA present in mucosal secretions is produced at the mucosal site by plasma cells in the lamina propria and has a critical role for defense against pathogens. HIV-1 infection results in loss of integrity of mucosal barriers which are ultimately devoided of protective IgA and IgG; this scenario may contribute to superinfection with new HIV-1 strains and possibly give rise to the generation of new circulating recombinant HIV-1 forms. Passive immunization with either IgA or IgG is a potent tool to protect macaques from SIV infection at the mucosal level. When combining passive immunization of IgA and IgG, 100% protection was achieved although the mechanism of interactions between these two classes of Abs has yet not been elucidated. Vaccine strategies aimed at the induction of mucosal antibody responses needs to be further developed as preventive and therapeutic tool for HIV-1 infection.

Several HIV-1 bNAbs, especially the ones directed to the CD4 binding site and the gp120-gp41 interface region, also demonstrate specificity for self-antigens. Borhis et al. studied the interaction of B-cell-activating factor (BAFF) with its receptors BAFF-R and TACI. BAFF is a pivotal cytokine for B cell development, which, present at high levels during some autoimmune diseases, leads to increased rescue of self-reacting B cells. BAFF is also overproduced, in membrane-bound and soluble forms, during HIV-1 and SIV infections, where it may contribute to survival of immature transitional B cells, a population of cells which is enlarged during these infections. Based on these findings, the authors aim at understanding whether the interactions between BAFF and its receptors may be useful to enlarge pool of auto-reactive B cells producing bNAbs. These interesting findings point to the possibility that soluble TACI and BAFF-R may act as decoy receptors and that interactions between BAFF and its receptors may have a regulatory role in GC reaction acting on both B and Tfh cells.

Circulating biomarkers could be important to pin-point mechanisms which influence humoral immune responses and the development of HIV-1 bNAbs. Mabuka et al. examined whether dysfunctions taking place in B cell subpopulations during acute HIV-1 infection and the production of cytokines involved in B cell development (BAFF and CXCL13) can be linked to bNAbs development. Pathological changes in the composition of B cell subsets during acute HIV-1 infection were not predictive of the development of bNAbs. Interestingly, early high levels of CXCL13, but not BAFF, correlated with detectable bNAbs at 1-year postinfection. This finding calls for further studies to elucidate how elevated levels of the chemoattractant CXCL13, important for homing of Tfh and B cells to the GCs, may imprint the production of bNAbs.

Further intervention strategies, in addition to ART, may be needed to put an end to mother to child transmission (MTCT)

of HIV-1. Douglas et al. reviewed the possibility that additional therapy opportunities for preventing HIV-1 MTCT may be provided by mapping the detailed specificity of protective maternal HIV-1 NAbs and characterizing the mechanisms through which maternal circulating viruses escape recognition from autologous NAbs. In the context of MTCT, vaccine strategies aimed at eliminating HIV-1 infection in children may only need to elicit Ab responses able to neutralize the virus pool from the mother to which the newborn is exposed. As shown in some of the reviewed studies, passively acquired ADCC mediating Abs from the HIV-1-infected mother may prolong survival in the infected infant; whether ADCC HIV-1 Abs need to be elicited by vaccines to protect children from HIV-1 MTCT should be further investigated.

Departing from the finding of naturally occurring Abs to the CC chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) in healthy individuals and HIV-1-infected patients, Venuti et al. review the mechanism mediated by these Abs and suggest the use of anti-CCR5 Abs in therapeutic and vaccination strategies to combat viral infections. It is unclear why auto-Abs to CCR5 are produced in absence of autoimmune diseases, but a role for CCR5-Abs in homeostatic control is envisaged. Interestingly, CCR5 auto-Abs modulate CCR5 expression through a long-lasting internalization of this receptor and thus, may block HIV-1 transmission through CCR5, one of the two major chemokine receptors used by HIV-1 in attachment and penetration of target cells. Indeed, several novel immunization approaches have been used to induce anti-CCR5 Abs.

Soldemo et al. compared the induction of NAbs in chronically HIV-1-infected and immunized subjects. The HIV-1 bNAbs isolated from infected patients are generated through an extensive somatic hypermutation process as consequence of prolonged antigenic exposure upon chronic inflammation. Conventional immunization regimens of primates have so far failed to induce HIV-1 bNabs; the reasons for this failure is not known but the complex interplay between HIV-1 antigenic variability and B cell selection occurring *in vivo* may not be easy to mimic upon vaccination. Further studies in different animal models may define similarities and differences in germline antibody genes and expressed repertoires, thus paving the way to the design of effective HIV-1 vaccines.

The review by Molinos-Albert et al. focuses on the opportunities and challenges of utilizing the conserved membrane proximal external region (MPER) region within the Env gp41 protein to evoke bNAbs in HIV-1 immunization protocols. The MPER region, together with the gp41 fusion peptide, is involved in membrane destabilization. Structural and physical properties, including steric hindrance by gp120, do not render this region an easily accessible site to immunological responses. However, the isolation of some potent bNAbs against the MPER conserved region from HIV-1-infected subjects shows that, *in vivo*, this region can be a target of bNAbs. The authors present novel biochemical and immunological strategies on how to render the MPER site more accessible to B cell responses.

Non-neutralizing inhibitory Abs (nNAbs) may play an important role in decreasing HIV-1 load and may be useful in the context of HIV-1 protection. Mayr et al. present challenges and opportunities associated with HIV-1 nNAbs. These nNAbs can bind and capture infectious virus and form immune complexes

and aggregates with the virus. Their inhibitory function is mediated through the binding of its Fc-domain to specific FcRs present at the surface of immune cells. Polymorphism of FcRs may pose a limitation to the development of HIV-1 vaccines aimed at inducing nNAbs. An interesting picture is emerging depicting the role that Fc-mediated phagocytosis of immune complexes may have in inducing immune activation and promoting adaptive antiviral responses.

In the review by Hua et al. the authors present the different scenarios where bNAbs may be of clinical utility ranging from preventing viral infection, enhancing therapeutic potential in acute infection and chronic infection. The pharmacological modalities of bNAbs action are multiple and vary from the capacity to enhance adaptive immune responses to potential reduction of virus reservoirs. There are however limitations to be dealt with before bNAbs can be introduced in clinical HIV-1 contexts; for example, selection of resistant viral populations, development of Ab responses directed to the administered bNAbs and risk of eliminating HIV-1 reservoirs in regeneration limited compartments. In this review engineering and biological approaches are widely discussed to overcome limitations to the use of bNAbs.

Modification of the structure of the immunogen is a front-line research topic to increase its capacity to induce and stimulate bNAb responses. Soldemo et al. present in their article how crosslinking of HIV-1 env trimers with glutaraldehyde (GLA) affects thermo-stability and exposure of nNAbs epitopes *in vitro* and env-specific IgG Ab responses *in vivo*. GLA fixation improved the stability of the env-trimers, however at the expense of a lower Ab response to the trimers upon repeated immunizations. Mice inoculated with GLA fixed trimers displayed a more Th2-skewed subclass profile as compared to animals inoculated with native trimers. Coadministration of adjuvants known to balance Th1/ Th2 responses were not able to redirect this Th2-skewed profile.

Forsell et al. investigated a mechanism for epitope-specific regulation and maturation of B cell responses. The experimental set-up aimed at pin-pointing the profiles of GC B cell responses evoked by one injection with an env protein in a murine system and at understanding if injection with env-Abs could exert regulation of GC B cell responses in an epitope-specific manner. The results suggest that env-specific B cell responses are negatively regulated through epitope masking by high affinity Abs. Ab-mediated feedback to GC B cells may be effective only when GC B cells share the same specificity with an injected or circulating Ab. This proposed mechanism of Ab-mediated feedback, in addition to unraveling basic aspects of regulation of GC B cell responses, will be important in efforts aimed at developing effective HIV-1 vaccine.

It is our hope that the collection of articles presented in this research topic may be useful for new and experienced scholars in the field and add a piece to the complex puzzle of knowledge needed for the development of an HIV-1 vaccine.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FC and GS are responsible for the research topic: HIV-induced damage of B Cells and Production of HIV Neutralizing Antibodies (5357).

REFERENCES

- Cagigi A, Nilsson A, Pensieroso S, Chiodi F. Dysfunctional B-cell responses during HIV-1 infection: implication for influenza vaccination and highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2010) 10:499–503. doi:10.1016/ S1473-3099(10)70117-1
- Amu S, Ruffin N, Rethi B, Chiodi F. Impairment of B-cell functions during HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2013) 27:2323-34. doi:10.1097/QAD. 0b013e328361a427
- Pensieroso S, Cagigi A, Palma P, Nilsson A, Capponi C, Freda E, et al. Timing of HAART defines the integrity of memory B cells and the longevity of humoral responses in HIV-1 vertically-infected children. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:7939–44. doi:10.1073/pnas.0901702106
- Pogliaghi M, Ripa M, Pensieroso S, Tolazzi M, Chiappetta S, Nozza S, et al. Beneficial effects of cART initiated during primary and chronic HIV-1 infection on immunoglobulin-expression of memory B-cell subsets. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(10):e0140435. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140435

- Moir S, Ho J, Malaspina A, Wang W, DiPoto AC, O'Shea MA, et al. Evidence for HIV-associated B cell exhaustion in a dysfunctional memory B cell compartment in HIV-infected viremic individuals. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:1797–805. doi:10.1084/jem.20072683
- Pensieroso S, Galli L, Nozza S, Ruffin N, Castagna A, Tambussi G, et al. B-cell subset alterations and correlated factors in HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2013) 27:1209–17. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32835edc47

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Chiodi and Scarlatti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





T Follicular Helper Cells and B Cell Dysfunction in Aging and HIV-1 Infection

Suresh Pallikkuth, Lesley de Armas, Stefano Rinaldi and Savita Pahwa*

Department of Microbiology & Immunology, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, United States

T follicular helper (Tfh) cells are a subset of CD4 T cells that provide critical signals to antigen-primed B cells in germinal centers to undergo proliferation, isotype switching, and somatic hypermutation to generate long-lived plasma cells and memory B cells during an immune response. The quantity and quality of Tfh cells therefore must be tightly controlled to prevent immune dysfunction in the form of autoimmunity and, on the other hand, immune deficiency. Both Tfh and B cell perturbations appear during HIV infection resulting in impaired antibody responses to vaccines such as seasonal trivalent influenza vaccine, also seen in biologic aging. Although many of the HIV-associated defects improve with antiretroviral therapy (ART), excess immune activation and antigen-specific B and T cell responses including Tfh function are still impaired in virologically controlled HIV-infected persons on ART. Interestingly, HIV infected individuals experience increased risk of age-associated pathologies. This review will discuss Tfh and B cell dysfunction in HIV infection and highlight the impact of chronic HIV infection and aging on Tfh–B cell interactions.

Keywords: T follicular helper cells and HIV, T follicular helper cells and immunity, HIV and aging, T follicular helper cells and influenza vaccine, T follicular helper cells in aging and HIV

INTRODUCTION

Chronic infectious diseases, such as HIV infection, and the biological process of aging are known to impact humoral immune responses to vaccination and infection (1–5). The issue of aging during HIV infection has gained importance due to the success of antiretroviral therapy (ART) that can lead to near normal life expectancy and is resulting in increasing the numbers of aging HIV-infected people (3, 6, 7). Older HIV-uninfected individuals in the general population, especially those >80 years develop immune senescence, a term signifying immune defects affecting multiple cell types, characterized by quantitative reduction in hematopoietic stem cells, thymic involution with reduced naive cells and accumulation of effector and memory cell subsets with narrow TCR repertoires with low clonality, and reduced CD4:CD8 T cell ratio (8–11). Memory T cells tend to lose expression of CD28 and their antigen-specific responses are impaired (12). In addition, profound B cell alterations occur in biologic aging characterized by a reduction of the naive B cell pool and qualitative impairment of their function along with reduced vaccine induced immune responses (13–22). Concurrently, increased inflammation coined by the term inflamm-aging (21, 23) occurs with increased C-reactive protein (CRP), D-dimer, IL-6, and TNF α that correlate with occurance of age-associated diseases.

Immunologic changes similar to biologic aging have been described in HIV infection, including accelerated immune senescence and inflammation, with increased IL-6, CRP, and D-dimer (24–26)

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Chiodi, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by: Juna Joo Hona.

Korea Research Institute of Bioscience and Biotechnology, South Korea Vijayakumar Velu, Emory University, United States Smita S. Iyer, University of California, Davis, United States

> *Correspondence: Savita Pahwa spahwa@med.miami.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 July 2017 Accepted: 06 October 2017 Published: 23 October 2017

Citation:

Pallikkuth S, de Armas L, Rinaldi S and Pahwa S (2017) T Follicular Helper Cells and B Cell Dysfunction in Aging and HIV-1 Infection. Front. Immunol. 8:1380. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01380 despite virologic suppression with ART and have been attributed to persistent immune activation (25, 27-29). Cellular markers of immune senescence, including low CD4:CD8 ratio and higher frequencies of CD57 + CD28- CD4 and CD8 T cells are prominent especially in those who initiate ART at lower CD4 counts. Based upon epigenetic changes, age of HIV inflected people is approximately 5 years greater (and more without viral suppression) than uninfected people (30, 31) of the same chronologic age. They manifest increased risk for non-AIDS morbidity and mortality, including neurocognitive decline, cardiovascular disease, kidney disease, and cancer (32). Because of the associated immune deficiency in both biologic aging and HIV infection, and the aging of HIV-infected population, it is important to determine how the immune systems in HIV-infected and -uninfected differ and to delineate the underlying mechanisms which could lead to therapeutic interventions. This review will focus on cellular basis of vaccine responses in the context of T follicular helper (Tfh) cells and their interaction with B cells, how these cells are affected by HIV infection and finally discuss recent findings on the impact of aging in HIV-infected and -uninfected persons using response to influenza vaccine as a readout of immune competence.

Tfh Cells in Lymph Node (LN) and Periphery

T follicular helper cells are a specialized subset of CD4 T cells in lymphoid organs that express the transcription factor B cell CLL/ lymphoma 6 (Bcl-6), with high surface expression of programed death receptor 1 (PD-1) and CXC chemokine receptor 5 (CXCR5) [reviewed in Refs. (33–37)]. During an immune response Tfh cells provide critical signals to antigen-experienced B cells in germinal centers (GCs) to undergo proliferation, isotype switching, and somatic hypermutation (SHM) in order to generate long-lived plasma cells and memory B cells through cellular interaction and cross-signaling for antibody production [reviewed in Refs. (37-39)]. Tfh cell differentiation requires dendritic cell (DC) priming of naive antigen-specific CD4 T cells followed by the interaction with B cells resulting in upregulation of costimulatory molecules such as inducible costimulator (ICOS) and CD40 ligand (CD40L) and secretion of cytokines IL-21 and IL-4 that play a critical role for the ensuing B cell response [reviewed in Refs. (33, 34, 39)].

Because of the difficulties in studying lymphoid tissue in humans, the field has increasingly relied on a circulating subset of memory CD4 T cells that partially resemble LN Tfh cells and have been designated as peripheral Tfh (pTfh) (40–47). The pTfh cells display a memory phenotype and are characterized by expression of CXCR5, the B cell follicle homing molecule, and by secretion of IL-21 during interactions with B cells (42, 48). Unlike LN Tfh cells, pTfh cells express only moderate levels of PD-1 and Bcl-6 but are similar in their ability to upregulate costimulatory molecules such as ICOS and CD40L upon antigen stimulation (42, 49–52). More recently, based on the surface expression of CXCR3, CCR6 and CXCR4 Tfh cells have been further characterized as Th1 (CXCR3 + CCR4 - CCR6-), Th2 (CXCR3 - CCR4 + CCR6-), and Th17 (CXCR3 - CCR4 - CCR6+) memory CD4 T helper subtypes (42, 53, 54), indicative of reveals the heterogeneous nature of pTfh cells with respect to phenotypic, functional and transcription factor profiles (42, 54). It is now widely considered that a balance of pTfh subsets is important for maintaining healthy immune function.

Tfh, B cells, and HIV infection

T follicular helper cells are highly permissive to HIV becoming readily infected by follicular DC that transport infectious virions into lymphoid organs. Tfh cells are now considered as major reservoirs of transcriptionally silent integrated HIV genomes (55-58). In non-human primates, chronic infection with simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) is associated with an expansion of Th cells within GC (59, 60), along with increase in numbers of B cells in LN, spleen, and gut tissues of rhesus macaques (60–63). Early initiation of ART can rapidly control the virus replication but not the early lymphoid activation, thereby increasing the risk of infection of Tfh and magnitude of viral reservoir (64). Contrary to the expansion of GC Tfh cells seen in chronic HIV/SIV infection (59, 60), we and others have reported a significant loss of circulating pTfh cells in chronic viremic HIV-infected subjects compared to HIV-uninfected persons (65, 66); 12 months of ART incorporating Raltegravir resulted in increased frequencies of pTfh cells (66). However, pTfh cells from HIV+ virologically suppressed patients on ART exhibit functional impairment in their ability to provide adequate B cell help in a number of systems (41, 67-69).

In chronic HIV infection, B cells exhibit immune dysfunction and altered B cell subset distribution, with a shift in resting memory (RM) B cells to an activated state with expression of activation markers such as CD71, CD80, and CD86 (70, 71). There is also an increase in inflammatory B cell subsets referred to as double negative (DN: CD27 – IgD – B cells) and tissue-like memory B cells (15, 72–75). ART-mediated viral suppression restores many of the B cell defects, especially when initiated during the acute phase of infection (76). However, reduced frequencies of RM B cells, elevated DN B cells, as well as chronic immune activation persist (31, 71, 77–79).

Vaccine-Induced Antibody Responses During HIV Infection

In healthy states, antibody responses to T-dependent antigens are generated in GCs within lymphoid tissue when antigen-primed B and T cells engage in interactions to promote B cell differentiation, SHM, and class switch recombination to develop into memory B cells and plasma cells (80–83). Studies in humans and animal models indicate that HIV infection affects the GC reaction, increases immune activation/exhaustion of lymphocytes, and results qualitative deficiency of Tfh and B cell function (57, 59–61, 69). These defects altogether lead to increased susceptibility to vaccine-preventable diseases (84, 85). Studies focusing on pTfh cells have been informative for understanding the phenotypic complexity within the Tfh subset and for determining the relationship between Tfh and B cells in immunological outcomes [reviewed in Ref. (86)].

Influenza vaccine studies have provided a valuable model system to analyze the immune system in vaccine induced antibody

responses (87). We initiated such studies in virally suppressed HIV⁺ adults on ART during the 2009/H1N1 pandemic influenza outbreak (43, 88, 89). Following monovalent H1N1 vaccination, vaccinees were classified as vaccine responders (VRs) if postvaccination hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) serum H1N1 Ab titer was 1:40 or more and exhibited a 4-fold increase, from baseline titer, and those who did not meet these criteria were classified as vaccine non-responders (VNRs). In study participants, administration of the vaccine resulted in VR status only in 50% HIV+, compared to all age matched healthy controls. In the HIV + VR and VNR, prevaccination CD4 and CD8 T cell counts, B cell frequencies, and plasma HIV RNA were similar, but phenotypic and qualitative immunological differences were identified. In VR, there was upregulation of IL-21R in B cells that correlated with plasmablasts and memory B cell responses post-vaccination (89), together with an expansion of pTfh cells with secretion of IL-21 and CXCL-13 in H1N1-stimulated PBMC culture supernatants. In coculture experiments, pTfh supported HIN1-stimulated IgG production by autologous B cells (43). More recent findings point to the ability to perform qualitative assessment of pTfh/CD4 T cells and B cells prior to immunization in previously vaccinated HIV⁺ children and young adults (90, 91). Examples of such assessments include (i) ex vivo stimulation with H1N1 resulting in induction of CXCR5 mRNA and protein in CD4 T cells and (ii) induction of IL21 gene in pTfh cells. These antigen-specific prevaccination measures strongly associated with H1N1-specific B cell responses by ELISPOT at postvaccination (91). Interestingly, CD4 T cells from VNR exhibit increased expression of IL2 and STAT5 genes, which are known to antagonize pTfh function (92). Our main findings of pTfh and B cells in relation to vaccine responses are summarized in Table 1. Other vaccine studies have shown associations between pTfh expansion and phenotype with vaccine response. Expansion of HIV-specific

TABLE 1 | Signature immunological changes in pTfh and B cells in vaccine responders (VRs) following influenza vaccine at TO (baseline), T1 (7 days), and T2 (4 weeks).

Changes in pTfh cell compartment in vaccine responders

Antigen induced IL-21 gene expression at TO Expansion of pTfh at T1, T2 Ag-stimulated intracellular IL-21 production in pTfh at T2 "Help" to autologous B cells for H1N1-specific IgG production and B cell differentiation in pTfh plus B cell cocultures at T2

B cell changes in vaccine responders

Increase in frequencies of plasmablasts at T1 Increase in spontaneous H1N1-specific ASC at T1 Increase in memory B cells and switch memory at T2 Upregulation of IL-21R on total B and memory B cells at T2 Increase in TACI expression on total B and memory B cells at T2 Downregulation of BAFT-R expression on total B and memory B cells at T2

PBMC culture sups/plasma findings in vaccine responders

Production of IL-21 and CXCL13 in H1N1-stimulated culture sups with increases in plasma IL-21 $\,$

Increase in plasma BAFF and APRIL levels

pTfh, peripheral T follicular helper; PBMCs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; Ab, antibody; BAPF-R, B cell activating factor receptor; APRIL, a proliferation inducing ligand; CXCL13, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 13; ASCs, antibody secreting cells. PD-1 + ICOS + pTfh correlated with vaccine-specific serum IgG after booster immunization in three different human HIV vaccine trials (93). Expression of ICOS, PD-1, CD38, and IL-21 in pTfh subsets have been useful for evaluating the influenza vaccine response in HIV-infected and -uninfected adults in other studies as well (50, 87, 93–95). Studies with Ebola vaccine (rVSV-ZEB OV) demonstrated that CXCR5 + PD-1 + pTfh correlated with expansion of plasmablasts (96). Taken together, these studies support the concept that both quality and quantity of pTfh cells are important determinants for the outcome of vaccine response in HIV infection.

Tfh Cells and B Cells in HIV and Aging

Our group has been interested in the question of immune function of aging HIV+ individuals who are well controlled on ART, the extent to which it resembles biologic aging of HIV⁻ individuals, and implications of aging with HIV infection. Earlier pilot studies in virologically suppressed postmenopausal women as representative of an aging population established the persistence of inflammation and gut microbial translocation and detrimental role of underlying immune activation on influenza vaccine responses that were associated with quantitative and qualitative deficiencies of pTfh cells (45, 97, 98). Our studies showed lower H1N1 influenza antibody titers in HIV-infected women compared to HIV-uninfected women at prevaccination. Following vaccination, magnitude of antibody responses and frequency of study participants achieving seroprotective titers were lower in HIV⁺ than in HIV⁻ women. Frequencies of pTfh cells at postvaccination correlated with memory B cell function and H1N1 antibody titers. Antibody responses postvaccination were inversely correlated with inflammatory cytokine $TNF\alpha$ in plasma and with markers of cellular immune activation (CD38 and HLA-DR) on CD4 T cells, including pTfh subset, indicating an adverse influence of baseline immune activation and inflammation on vaccine induced antibody response in older age.

To examine the role of age and HIV infection further, we are engaged in a large ongoing study (99, 100) in virologically suppressed HIV⁺ and HIV⁻ adults grouped by age as young (<40 years), middle aged (40–59 years), and old (\geq 60 years). Following seasonal trivalent influenza vaccine (TIV), magnitude of Ab titers against each vaccine strain were found to be lower in old age compared to others, regardless of HIV status. Baseline titers in seroprotective range were higher in HIV⁺ but the frequency of VR was lower in HIV⁺ than HIV⁻. Interestingly the young HIV⁺ showed maximum variance from HIV⁻ and more rapid decay in titer after peak at 28 days postvaccination. In statistical analysis somewhat surprisingly effect of age rather than HIV dominated the impaired immune response observed in old persons (age > 60 years), whereas HIV clearly had a strong effect on immunity at younger ages (99, 100).

We examined phenotypic characteristics of T and B cells in this group of participants prior to vaccination. T cell phenotypic analysis revealed a core signature of aging comprised of decreasing naive T cells and a loss of CD38 expression on CD4 and CD8 T cells. Frequencies of activated CD4 T cells (and not CD8 T cells) identified by coexpression of HLA-DR and CD38, as well as expression of PD-1, ICOS, and Ki-67 were higher in HIV⁺ participants compared to HIV⁻ participants. Increases in activation markers previously associated with aging such as ICOS (87) were already evident in young HIV⁺ compared to young HIV⁻, indicative of HIV causing a state of premature immune senescence. Predictive modeling to determine the key T cell variables most closely associated with vaccine response revealed pTfh as an important biomarker. In HIV⁻, baseline pTfh frequency was positively associated with vaccine response, while in HIV⁺ expression of multiple activation markers on pTfh (including PD-1) was negatively associated with vaccine response (99).

Prevaccination status of B cells also revealed perturbations as evidenced by alteration in markers of activation, exhaustion and immune regulation and were more prevalent in young HIV+ than in young HIV⁻ (100). HIV infection in younger adults exhibited similarities with biological aging resulting in alterations in B cell phenotypic and functional characteristics similar to those observed in older HIV- individuals but underlying mechanisms appear to be distinct from that associated with biological aging (100). For example, the interaction between T and B cells through the PD-1:PD-L1 signaling pathway is involved only in HIV induced impairment of B cell function (101). These results provide the basis for immune correlates of premature aging in HIV+, even with prolonged ART-induced virological suppression (Figure 1). Additional mechanistic studies to understand the cellular basis of immunological impairments in pTfh and B cells in aging and HIV infection are currently ongoing in our laboratory.

Other factors that could influence the influenza vaccine response in aging also need consideration. Data from literature suggest that vaccine-induced immune responses are considerably influenced by demographic variables such as age, sex, ethnicity, and race (102–105). Many studies indicate that aged females consistently have higher antibody responses and increased vaccine efficacy to influenza vaccines than males [reviewed in Refs. (106, 107)].



FIGURE 1 | The effects of aging and HIV infection on T follicular helper (Tfh):B cell responses to influenza vaccination. Persistent inflammation and immune activation of CD4 T cells and B cells negatively influence the outcome of influenza vaccine response in antiretroviral therapy (ART)-treated HIV-infected virologically suppressed individuals through impairing the Tfh and B cell functions. HIV induced premature Immunosenescence further advanced immune dysfunction which is more evident in the young HIV+ individuals.

Sex differences in HAI antibody titers to either the standard-dose or high-dose influenza vaccine are apparent, in which antibody responses are higher in older females than in males (108, 109). A role played by male hormone testosterone in lowering the immune response has been proposed (109, 110). There is growing interest in how latent cytomegalovirus (CMV) infections impact the outcome of vaccination [reviewed in Ref. (111)]. In young adults, CMV infection is associated with elevated antibody responses to influenza vaccines. In aged individuals, CMV seropositivity is associated with chronic inflammation and lower antibody responses to influenza vaccines (112, 113). However, lack of association between CMV status and influenza response in elderly population has also been reported (114). Thus the overall impact of CMV infection on influenza vaccine responsiveness remains controversial. A direct link between CMV seropositivity with increased risk of influenza illness in vaccinated older adults has not been reported in either HIV-infected or healthy individuals. Moreover, the influence of gender and CMV infection status on the cellular basis of immune impairment involving pTfh and B cell compartments are not been studied in aging and HIV infection. In aged mice, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells express several inhibitory receptor molecules, including PD-1, LAG-3, CTLA-4, and KLRG1 (115, 116) that could interfere with the immune response to vaccination. Prolonged expression of inhibitory molecules is a well-known feature of T cell exhaustion in chronic viral infections and exhausted T cells have also been identified in different viral infections, such as HIV and hepatitis A and B virus in humans [reviewed in Refs. (117-120)]. However, further studies are warranted to elucidate the significance of T cell exhaustion in HIV infection in the context of aging and its influence on vaccine induced immune response through regulation of pTfh and B cell function.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Development of a protective antibody response to vaccine or infection is important for the control or eradication of many pathogenic infections. Efficient Tfh-B cell interactions are required for regulating B cell differentiation toward the development of high affinity antibodies. Immune mechanisms underlying the regulation of Tfh-B cell interactions at the inductive sites of the immune response are an active area of immunology research. Several studies have highlighted the qualitative and quantitative impairment of Tfh compartment and their subsequent impact on humoral arm of immune response in treated HIV infection (43, 45, 67, 87, 94, 98). Since HIV-infected people are aging, research on the cumulative impact of premature and physiological immune senescence on immune function in HIV infection is of great importance. Our work underscores the adverse effect of inflammation, a cardinal feature associated with biologic aging and chronic HIV infection, on immune response to vaccination and functional impairment of Tfh and B cells as a consequence of persistent immune activation.

Recent advances in the field of immune checkpoint inhibitorbased immunotherapeutic approaches in cancer immunology have highlighted the importance of cell to cell interactions on immune function. Many aspects of checkpoint molecule-based regulation of humoral immune response on Tfh and B cell interactions at the GC are not known. Trials employing checkpoint inhibitors in HIV infection will need to ensure that improved Tfh-B cell interactions not associated with autoimmunity. Immune checkpoints are negative regulators of T cell activation, T cell proliferation and effector functions and inhibiting immune checkpoints could influence and disrupt the resting status of latently infected cells and reverse latency with increase in HIV replication within GC (121). Future studies are needed to explore combination approaches targeting immune checkpoint molecules and costimulatory signaling pathways during an immune response to understand the coregulation of immunity by these molecules in the GC reaction. The ultimate goal should be to establish strategies to improve the immune function at inductive sites. Interventions aimed at reducing chronic inflammation and immune activation along with immunomodulatory

REFERENCES

- Dubrow R, Silverberg MJ, Park LS, Crothers K, Justice AC. HIV infection, aging, and immune function: implications for cancer risk and prevention. *Curr Opin Oncol* (2012) 24(5):506–16. doi:10.1097/CCO.0b013e328355e131
- Reber AJ, Chirkova T, Kim JH, Cao W, Biber R, Shay DK, et al. Immunosenescence and challenges of vaccination against influenza in the aging population. *Aging Dis* (2012) 3(1):68–90.
- 3. Wing EJ. HIV and aging. Int J Infect Dis (2016) 53:61-8. doi:10.1016/j. ijid.2016.10.004
- Gianella S, Letendre S. Cytomegalovirus and HIV: a dangerous pas de deux. J Infect Dis (2016) 214(Suppl 2):S67–74. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw217
- Franceschi C, Capri M, Monti D, Giunta S, Olivieri F, Sevini F, et al. Inflammaging and anti-inflammaging: a systemic perspective on aging and longevity emerged from studies in humans. *Mech Ageing Dev* (2007) 128(1):92–105. doi:10.1016/j.mad.2006.11.016
- Deeks SG, Verdin E, McCune JM. Immunosenescence and HIV. Curr Opin Immunol (2012) 24(4):501–6. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012.05.004
- Desai S, Landay A. Early immune senescence in HIV disease. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep (2010) 7(1):4–10. doi:10.1007/s11904-009-0038-4
- Naylor K, Li G, Vallejo AN, Lee WW, Koetz K, Bryl E, et al. The influence of age on T cell generation and TCR diversity. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(11):7446–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.7446
- Pulko V, Davies JS, Martinez C, Lanteri MC, Busch MP, Diamond MS, et al. Human memory T cells with a naive phenotype accumulate with aging and respond to persistent viruses. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(8):966–75. doi:10.1038/ni.3483
- Ferguson FG, Wikby A, Maxson P, Olsson J, Johansson B. Immune parameters in a longitudinal study of a very old population of Swedish people: a comparison between survivors and nonsurvivors. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (1995) 50(6):B378–82. doi:10.1093/gerona/50A.6.B378
- Yoshida K, Cologne JB, Cordova K, Misumi M, Yamaoka M, Kyoizumi S, et al. Aging-related changes in human T-cell repertoire over 20years delineated by deep sequencing of peripheral T-cell receptors. *Exp Gerontol* (2017) 96:29–37. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2017.05.015
- Weng NP, Akbar AN, Goronzy J. CD28(-) T cells: their role in the ageassociated decline of immune function. *Trends Immunol* (2009) 30(7):306–12. doi:10.1016/j.it.2009.03.013
- Khurana S, Frasca D, Blomberg B, Golding H. AID activity in B cells strongly correlates with polyclonal antibody affinity maturation in-vivo following pandemic 2009-H1N1 vaccination in humans. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8(9):e1002920. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002920
- 14. Frasca D, Diaz A, Romero M, Blomberg BB. Human peripheral late/exhausted memory B cells express a senescent-associated secretory phenotype and

approaches may improve response to vaccines in aging HIV⁺ individuals.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Rajendra Pahwa for providing suggestions and critical inputs for the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by funding from National Institutes of Health Grant: R01AI108472 and the Miami Center for AIDS Research (P30AI073961) to SP.

preferentially utilize metabolic signaling pathways. *Exp Gerontol* (2016) 87(Pt A):113–20. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2016.12.001

- Colonna-Romano G, Bulati M, Aquino A, Pellicano M, Vitello S, Lio D, et al. A double-negative (IgD-CD27-) B cell population is increased in the peripheral blood of elderly people. *Mech Ageing Dev* (2009) 130(10):681–90. doi:10.1016/j.mad.2009.08.003
- Frasca D, Blomberg BB. Effects of aging on B cell function. Curr Opin Immunol (2009) 21(4):425–30. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2009.06.001
- Frasca D, Diaz A, Romero M, Landin AM, Blomberg BB. Age effects on B cells and humoral immunity in humans. *Ageing Res Rev* (2011) 10(3):330–5. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2010.08.004
- Gibson KL, Wu YC, Barnett Y, Duggan O, Vaughan R, Kondeatis E, et al. B-cell diversity decreases in old age and is correlated with poor health status. *Aging Cell* (2009) 8(1):18–25. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2008.00443.x
- Troutaud D, Drouet M, Decourt C, Le Morvan C, Cogne M. Age-related alterations of somatic hypermutation and CDR3 lengths in human Vkappa4-expressing B lymphocytes. *Immunology* (1999) 97(2):197–203. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.1999.00779.x
- van Dijk-Hard I, Soderstrom I, Feld S, Holmberg D, Lundkvist I. Age-related impaired affinity maturation and differential D-JH gene usage in human VH6-expressing B lymphocytes from healthy individuals. *Eur J Immunol* (1997) 27(6):1381–6. doi:10.1002/eji.1830270613
- Franceschi C, Bonafe M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging. an evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2000) 908:244–54. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06651.x
- Weinberger B, Herndler-Brandstetter D, Schwanninger A, Weiskopf D, Grubeck-Loebenstein B. Biology of immune responses to vaccines in elderly persons. *Clin Infect Dis* (2008) 46(7):1078–84. doi:10.1086/529197
- Harris TB, Ferrucci L, Tracy RP, Corti MC, Wacholder S, Ettinger WH Jr, et al. Associations of elevated interleukin-6 and C-reactive protein levels with mortality in the elderly. *Am J Med* (1999) 106(5):506–12. doi:10.1016/ S0002-9343(99)00066-2
- Robbins GK, Spritzler JG, Chan ES, Asmuth DM, Gandhi RT, Rodriguez BA, et al. Incomplete reconstitution of T cell subsets on combination antiretroviral therapy in the AIDS Clinical Trials Group protocol 384. *Clin Infect Dis* (2009) 48(3):350–61. doi:10.1086/595888
- Appay V, Sauce D. Assessing immune aging in HIV-infected patients. Virulence (2017) 8(5):529–38. doi:10.1080/21505594.2016.1195536
- Kaplan-Lewis E, Aberg JA, Lee M. Aging with HIV in the ART era. Semin Diagn Pathol (2017) 34(4):384–97. doi:10.1053/j.semdp.2017.04.002
- Angelovich TA, Hearps AC, Maisa A, Martin GE, Lichtfuss GF, Cheng WJ, et al. Viremic and virologically suppressed HIV infection increases age-related changes to monocyte activation equivalent to 12 and 4 years of aging, respectively. J Acqui Immune Defic Syndr (2015) 69(1):11–7. doi:10.1097/QAI.00000000000559

- Cobos Jimenez V, Wit FW, Joerink M, Maurer I, Harskamp AM, Schouten J, et al. T-cell activation independently associates with immune senescence in HIV-infected recipients of long-term antiretroviral treatment. *J Infect Dis* (2016) 214(2):216–25. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw146
- Nasi M, De Biasi S, Gibellini L, Bianchini E, Pecorini S, Bacca V, et al. Ageing and inflammation in patients with HIV infection. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2017) 187(1):44–52. doi:10.1111/cei.12814
- Horvath S, Levine AJ. HIV-1 infection accelerates age according to the epigenetic clock. J Infect Dis (2015) 212(10):1563–73. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiv277
- Gross AM, Jaeger PA, Kreisberg JF, Licon K, Jepsen KL, Khosroheidari M, et al. Methylome-wide analysis of chronic HIV infection reveals five-year increase in biological age and epigenetic targeting of HLA. *Mol Cell* (2016) 62(2):157–68. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2016.03.019
- Deeks SG. HIV infection, inflammation, immunosenescence, and aging. *Annu Rev Med* (2011) 62:141–55. doi:10.1146/annurev-med-042909-093756
- Crotty S. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). Annu Rev Immunol (2011) 29:621–63. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101400
- 34. Crotty S. The 1-1-1 fallacy. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 247(1):133–42. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01117.x
- Fazilleau N, Mark L, McHeyzer-Williams LJ, McHeyzer-Williams MG. Follicular helper T cells: lineage and location. *Immunity* (2009) 30(3):324–35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.03.003
- Qi H. T follicular helper cells in space-time. Nat Rev Immunol (2016) 16(10):612–25. doi:10.1038/nri.2016.94
- Crotty S. T follicular helper cell differentiation, function, and roles in disease. Immunity (2014) 41(4):529–42. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.004
- Crotty S. A brief history of T cell help to B cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(3):185–9. doi:10.1038/nri3803
- Webb LMC, Linterman MA. Signals that drive T follicular helper cell formation. *Immunology* (2017) 152(2):185–94. doi:10.1111/imm.12778
- Chevalier N, Jarrossay D, Ho E, Avery DT, Ma CS, Yu D, et al. CXCR5 expressing human central memory CD4 T cells and their relevance for humoral immune responses. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(10):5556–68. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1002828
- Locci M, Havenar-Daughton C, Landais E, Wu J, Kroenke MA, Arlehamn CL, et al. Human circulating PD-1+CXCR3-CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells are highly functional and correlate with broadly neutralizing HIV antibody responses. *Immunity* (2013) 39(4):758–69. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.031
- 42. Morita R, Schmitt N, Bentebibel SE, Ranganathan R, Bourdery L, Zurawski G, et al. Human blood CXCR5(+)CD4(+) T cells are counterparts of T follicular cells and contain specific subsets that differentially support antibody secretion. *Immunity* (2011) 34(1):108–21. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.01.009
- Pallikkuth S, Parmigiani A, Silva SY, George VK, Fischl M, Pahwa R, et al. Impaired peripheral blood T-follicular helper cell function in HIV-infected nonresponders to the 2009 H1N1/09 vaccine. *Blood* (2012) 120(5):985–93. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-12-396648
- Sage PT, Alvarez D, Godec J, von Andrian UH, Sharpe AH. Circulating T follicular regulatory and helper cells have memory-like properties. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124(12):5191–204. doi:10.1172/JCI76861
- George VK, Pallikkuth S, Parmigiani A, Alcaide M, Fischl M, Arheart KL, et al. HIV infection worsens age-associated defects in antibody responses to influenza vaccine. *J Infect Dis* (2015) 211(12):1959–68. doi:10.1093/infdis/ jiu840
- Macleod MK, David A, McKee AS, Crawford F, Kappler JW, Marrack P. Memory CD4 T cells that express CXCR5 provide accelerated help to B cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(5):2889–96. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002955
- Rasheed AU, Rahn HP, Sallusto F, Lipp M, Muller G. Follicular B helper T cell activity is confined to CXCR5(hi)ICOS(hi) CD4 T cells and is independent of CD57 expression. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36(7):1892–903. doi:10.1002/ eji.200636136
- Schultz BT, Teigler JE, Pissani F, Oster AF, Kranias G, Alter G, et al. Circulating HIV-specific interleukin-21(+)CD4(+) T cells represent peripheral Tfh cells with antigen-dependent helper functions. *Immunity* (2016) 44(1):167–78. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.12.011
- Akiba H, Takeda K, Kojima Y, Usui Y, Harada N, Yamazaki T, et al. The role of ICOS in the CXCR5+ follicular B helper T cell maintenance in vivo. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(4):2340–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.4.2340
- 50. Bentebibel SE, Khurana S, Schmitt N, Kurup P, Mueller C, Obermoser G, et al. ICOS(+)PD-1(+)CXCR3(+) T follicular helper cells contribute to the

generation of high-avidity antibodies following influenza vaccination. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:26494. doi:10.1038/srep26494

- Choi YS, Kageyama R, Eto D, Escobar TC, Johnston RJ, Monticelli L, et al. ICOS receptor instructs T follicular helper cell versus effector cell differentiation via induction of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):932–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.023
- Nicholas KJ, Flaherty DK, Smith RM, Sather DN, Kalams SA. Chronic HIV-1 infection impairs superantigen-induced activation of peripheral CD4+CXCR5+PD-1+ cells, with relative preservation of recall antigenspecific responses. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* (2017) 74(1):72–80. doi:10.1097/QAI.000000000001152
- Hale JS, Ahmed R. Memory T follicular helper CD4 T cells. Front Immunol (2015) 6:16. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00016
- Ueno H. Human circulating T follicular helper cell subsets in health and disease. J Clin Immunol (2016) 36(Suppl 1):34–9. doi:10.1007/ s10875-016-0268-3
- Boritz EA, Darko S, Swaszek L, Wolf G, Wells D, Wu X, et al. Multiple origins of virus persistence during natural control of HIV infection. *Cell* (2016) 166(4):1004–15. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.039
- Fukazawa Y, Lum R, Okoye AA, Park H, Matsuda K, Bae JY, et al. B cell follicle sanctuary permits persistent productive simian immunodeficiency virus infection in elite controllers. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(2):132–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3781
- Perreau M, Savoye AL, De Crignis E, Corpataux JM, Cubas R, Haddad EK, et al. Follicular helper T cells serve as the major CD4 T cell compartment for HIV-1 infection, replication, and production. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(1): 143–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20121932
- Vinuesa CG. HIV and T follicular helper cells: a dangerous relationship. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(9):3059–62. doi:10.1172/JCI65175
- Lindqvist M, van Lunzen J, Soghoian DZ, Kuhl BD, Ranasinghe S, Kranias G, et al. Expansion of HIV-specific T follicular helper cells in chronic HIV infection. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(9):3271–80. doi:10.1172/JCI64314
- Petrovas C, Yamamoto T, Gerner MY, Boswell KL, Wloka K, Smith EC, et al. CD4 T follicular helper cell dynamics during SIV infection. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122(9):3281–94. doi:10.1172/JCI63039
- Hong JJ, Amancha PK, Rogers K, Ansari AA, Villinger F. Spatial alterations between CD4(+) T follicular helper, B, and CD8(+) T cells during simian immunodeficiency virus infection: T/B cell homeostasis, activation, and potential mechanism for viral escape. *J Immunol* (2012) 188(7):3247–56. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103138
- 62. Mylvaganam GH, Velu V, Hong JJ, Sadagopal S, Kwa S, Basu R, et al. Diminished viral control during simian immunodeficiency virus infection is associated with aberrant PD-1hi CD4 T cell enrichment in the lymphoid follicles of the rectal mucosa. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(9):4527–36. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1401222
- Hong JJ, Amancha PK, Rogers KA, Courtney CL, Havenar-Daughton C, Crotty S, et al. Early lymphoid responses and germinal center formation correlate with lower viral load set points and better prognosis of simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(2):797–806. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400749
- Hong JJ, Silveira E, Amancha PK, Byrareddy SN, Gumber S, Chang KT, et al. Early initiation of antiretroviral treatment postSIV infection does not resolve lymphoid tissue activation. *AIDS* (2017) 31(13):1819–24. doi:10.1097/ QAD.000000000001576
- Boswell KL, Paris R, Boritz E, Ambrozak D, Yamamoto T, Darko S, et al. Loss of circulating CD4 T cells with B cell helper function during chronic HIV infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(1):e1003853. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1003853
- 66. Pallikkuth S, Fischl MA, Pahwa S. Combination antiretroviral therapy with raltegravir leads to rapid immunologic reconstitution in treatment-naive patients with chronic HIV infection. *J Infect Dis* (2013) 208(10):1613–23. doi:10.1093/infdis/jit387
- Cubas R, van Grevenynghe J, Wills S, Kardava L, Santich BH, Buckner CM, et al. Reversible reprogramming of circulating memory T follicular helper cell function during chronic HIV infection. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(12):5625–36. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501524
- Cohen K, Altfeld M, Alter G, Stamatatos L. Early preservation of CXCR5+ PD-1+ helper T cells and B cell activation predict the breadth of neutralizing antibody responses in chronic HIV-1 infection. *J Virol* (2014) 88(22): 13310–21. doi:10.1128/JVI.02186-14

- Cubas RA, Mudd JC, Savoye AL, Perreau M, van Grevenynghe J, Metcalf T, et al. Inadequate T follicular cell help impairs B cell immunity during HIV infection. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(4):494–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3109
- Moir S, Malaspina A, Ogwaro KM, Donoghue ET, Hallahan CW, Ehler LA, et al. HIV-1 induces phenotypic and functional perturbations of B cells in chronically infected individuals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(18):10362–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.181347898
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B cells in HIV infection and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(4):235–45. doi:10.1038/nri2524
- Moir S, Fauci AS. Pathogenic mechanisms of B-lymphocyte dysfunction in HIV disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2008) 122(1):12–9; quiz 20–1. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2008.04.034
- Moir S, Chun TW, Fauci AS. Pathogenic mechanisms of HIV disease. Annu Rev Pathol (2011) 6:223–48. doi:10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130254
- Malaspina A, Moir S, Kottilil S, Hallahan CW, Ehler LA, Liu S, et al. Deleterious effect of HIV-1 plasma viremia on B cell costimulatory function. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(12):5965–72. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.12.5965
- Moir S, Ho J, Malaspina A, Wang W, DiPoto AC, O'Shea MA, et al. Evidence for HIV-associated B cell exhaustion in a dysfunctional memory B cell compartment in HIV-infected viremic individuals. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(8):1797–805. doi:10.1084/jem.20072683
- 76. Pensieroso S, Cagigi A, Palma P, Nilsson A, Capponi C, Freda E, et al. Timing of HAART defines the integrity of memory B cells and the longevity of humoral responses in HIV-1 vertically-infected children. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2009) 106(19):7939–44. doi:10.1073/pnas.0901702106
- 77. Amu S, Lavy-Shahaf G, Cagigi A, Hejdeman B, Nozza S, Lopalco L, et al. Frequency and phenotype of B cell subpopulations in young and aged HIV-1 infected patients receiving ART. *Retrovirology* (2014) 11:76. doi:10.1186/ s12977-014-0076-x
- Pensieroso S, Galli L, Nozza S, Ruffin N, Castagna A, Tambussi G, et al. B-cell subset alterations and correlated factors in HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2013) 27(8):1209–17. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32835edc47
- Cagigi A, Rinaldi S, Di Martino A, Manno EC, Zangari P, Aquilani A, et al. Premature immune senescence during HIV-1 vertical infection relates with response to influenza vaccination. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2014) 133(2):592–4. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.10.003
- Keim C, Kazadi D, Rothschild G, Basu U. Regulation of AID, the B-cell genome mutator. *Genes Dev* (2013) 27(1):1–17. doi:10.1101/gad.200014.112
- Klein U, Dalla-Favera R. Germinal centres: role in B-cell physiology and malignancy. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8(1):22–33. doi:10.1038/ nri2217
- Allen CD, Okada T, Cyster JG. Germinal-center organization and cellular dynamics. *Immunity* (2007) 27(2):190–202. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.07.009
- Victora GD, Nussenzweig MC. Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:429–57. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075032
- Hart M, Steel A, Clark SA, Moyle G, Nelson M, Henderson DC, et al. Loss of discrete memory B cell subsets is associated with impaired immunization responses in HIV-1 infection and may be a risk factor for invasive pneumococcal disease. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(12):8212–20. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.178.12.8212
- Siberry GK, Patel K, Bellini WJ, Karalius B, Purswani MU, Burchett SK, et al. Immunity to measles, mumps, and rubella in US children with perinatal HIV infection or perinatal HIV exposure without infection. *Clin Infect Dis* (2015) 61(6):988–95. doi:10.1093/cid/civ440
- Schmitt N, Bentebibel SE, Ueno H. Phenotype and functions of memory Tfh cells in human blood. *Trends Immunol* (2014) 35(9):436–42. doi:10.1016/j. it.2014.06.002
- Herati RS, Reuter MA, Dolfi DV, Mansfield KD, Aung H, Badwan OZ, et al. Circulating CXCR5+PD-1+ response predicts influenza vaccine antibody responses in young adults but not elderly adults. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(7):3528–37. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302503
- Pallikkuth S, Kanthikeel SP, Silva SY, Fischl M, Pahwa R, Pahwa S. Innate immune defects correlate with failure of antibody responses to H1N1/09 vaccine in HIV-infected patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2011) 128(6):1279–85. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.05.033
- Pallikkuth S, Pilakka Kanthikeel S, Silva SY, Fischl M, Pahwa R, Pahwa S. Upregulation of IL-21 receptor on B cells and IL-21 secretion distinguishes novel 2009 H1N1 vaccine responders from nonresponders among

HIV-infected persons on combination antiretroviral therapy. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(11):6173–81. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100264

- Cotugno N, de Armas LR, Pallikkuth S, Pan L, Rinaldi S, Sanchez MC, et al. Perturbation of B cell gene-expression persists in HIV infected children despite effective ART and predicts H1N1 response. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1083. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01083
- de Armas LR, Cotugno N, Pallikkuth S, Pan L, Rinaldi S, Sanchez MC, et al. Induction of IL21 in peripheral T follicular helper cells is an indicator of influenza vaccine response in a previously vaccinated HIV-infected pediatric cohort. J Immunol (2017) 198(5):1995–2005. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1601425
- Johnston RJ, Choi YS, Diamond JA, Yang JA, Crotty S. STAT5 is a potent negative regulator of TFH cell differentiation. J Exp Med (2012) 209(2):243–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20111174
- Heit A, Schmitz F, Gerdts S, Flach B, Moore MS, Perkins JA, et al. Vaccination establishes clonal relatives of germinal center T cells in the blood of humans. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(7):2139–52. doi:10.1084/jem.20161794
- Herati RS, Muselman A, Vella L, Bengsch B, Parkhouse K, Del Alcazar D, et al. Successive annual influenza vaccination induces a recurrent oligoclonotypic memory response in circulating T follicular helper cells. *Sci Immunol* (2017) 2(8):eaag2152. doi:10.1126/sciimmunol.aag2152
- Bentebibel SE, Lopez S, Obermoser G, Schmitt N, Mueller C, Harrod C, et al. Induction of ICOS+CXCR3+CXCR5+ TH cells correlates with antibody responses to influenza vaccination. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5(176):176ra32. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3005191
- Farooq F, Beck K, Paolino KM, Phillips R, Waters NC, Regules JA, et al. Circulating follicular T helper cells and cytokine profile in humans following vaccination with the rVSV-ZEBOV Ebola vaccine. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:27944. doi:10.1038/srep27944
- Alcaide ML, Parmigiani A, Pallikkuth S, Roach M, Freguja R, Della Negra M, et al. Immune activation in HIV-infected aging women on antiretrovirals – implications for age-associated comorbidities: a cross-sectional pilot study. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(5):e63804. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063804
- Parmigiani A, Alcaide ML, Freguja R, Pallikkuth S, Frasca D, Fischl MA, et al. Impaired antibody response to influenza vaccine in HIV-infected and uninfected aging women is associated with immune activation and inflammation. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(11):e79816. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0079816
- 99. de Armas LR, Pallikkuth S, George V, Rinaldi S, Pahwa R, Arheart KL, et al. Re-evaluation of immune activation in the era of cART and an aging HIV-infected population. *JCI Insight* (2017) 2(20):e95726. doi:10.1172/jci. insight.95726
- Rinaldi S, Pallikkuth S, George VK, de Armas LR, Pahwa R, Sanchez CM, et al. Paradoxical aging in HIV: immune senescence of B Cells is most prominent in young age. *Aging* (2017) 9(4):1307–25. doi:10.18632/aging. 101229
- 101. Caraux A, Klein B, Paiva B, Bret C, Schmitz A, Fuhler GM, et al. Circulating human B and plasma cells. Age-associated changes in counts and detailed characterization of circulating normal CD138- and CD138+ plasma cells. *Haematologica* (2010) 95(6):1016–20. doi:10.3324/haematol.2009.018689
- 102. Klein SL, Jedlicka A, Pekosz A. The Xs and Y of immune responses to viral vaccines. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2010) 10(5):338–49. doi:10.1016/ S1473-3099(10)70049-9
- 103. Haralambieva IH, Ovsyannikova IG, Kennedy RB, Larrabee BR, Shane Pankratz V, Poland GA. Race and sex-based differences in cytokine immune responses to smallpox vaccine in healthy individuals. *Hum Immunol* (2013) 74(10):1263–6. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2013.06.031
- 104. Gardner EM, Gonzalez EW, Nogusa S, Murasko DM. Age-related changes in the immune response to influenza vaccination in a racially diverse, healthy elderly population. *Vaccine* (2006) 24(10):1609–14. doi:10.1016/j. vaccine.2005.09.058
- 105. Christy C, Pichichero ME, Reed GF, Decker MD, Anderson EL, Rennels MB, et al. Effect of gender, race, and parental education on immunogenicity and reported reactogenicity of acellular and whole-cell pertussis vaccines. *Pediatrics* (1995) 96(3 Pt 2):584–7.
- 106. Klein SL, Marriott I, Fish EN. Sex-based differences in immune function and responses to vaccination. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* (2015) 109(1):9–15. doi:10.1093/trstmh/tru167
- 107. Fink AL, Klein SL. Sex and gender impact immune responses to vaccines among the elderly. *Physiology* (2015) 30(6):408–16. doi:10.1152/ physiol.00035.2015

- Falsey AR, Treanor JJ, Tornieporth N, Capellan J, Gorse GJ. Randomized, double-blind controlled phase 3 trial comparing the immunogenicity of high-dose and standard-dose influenza vaccine in adults 65 years of age and older. J Infect Dis (2009) 200(2):172–80. doi:10.1086/599790
- 109. Furman D, Hejblum BP, Simon N, Jojic V, Dekker CL, Thiebaut R, et al. Systems analysis of sex differences reveals an immunosuppressive role for testosterone in the response to influenza vaccination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2014) 111(2):869–74. doi:10.1073/pnas.1321060111
- Furman D. Sexual dimorphism in immunity: improving our understanding of vaccine immune responses in men. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2015) 14(3): 461–71. doi:10.1586/14760584.2015.966694
- 111. Merani S, Pawelec G, Kuchel GA, McElhaney JE. Impact of aging and cytomegalovirus on immunological response to influenza vaccination and infection. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:784. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00784
- 112. Derhovanessian E, Maier AB, Hahnel K, McElhaney JE, Slagboom EP, Pawelec G. Latent infection with cytomegalovirus is associated with poor memory CD4 responses to influenza A core proteins in the elderly. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(7):3624–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1303361
- 113. Derhovanessian E, Theeten H, Hahnel K, Van Damme P, Cools N, Pawelec G. Cytomegalovirus-associated accumulation of late-differentiated CD4 T-cells correlates with poor humoral response to influenza vaccination. *Vaccine* (2013) 31(4):685–90. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.041
- 114. den Elzen WP, Vossen AC, Cools HJ, Westendorp RG, Kroes AC, Gussekloo J. Cytomegalovirus infection and responsiveness to influenza vaccination in elderly residents of long-term care facilities. *Vaccine* (2011) 29(29–30): 4869–74. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.03.086
- 115. Channappanavar R, Twardy BS, Krishna P, Suvas S. Advancing age leads to predominance of inhibitory receptor expressing CD4 T cells. *Mech Ageing Dev* (2009) 130(10):709–12. doi:10.1016/j.mad.2009.08.006

- 116. Shimada Y, Hayashi M, Nagasaka Y, Ohno-Iwashita Y, Inomata M. Ageassociated up-regulation of a negative co-stimulatory receptor PD-1 in mouse CD4+ T cells. *Exp Gerontol* (2009) 44(8):517–22. doi:10.1016/j. exger.2009.05.003
- Kahan SM, Wherry EJ, Zajac AJ. T cell exhaustion during persistent viral infections. Virology (2015) 47(9–480):180–93. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2014.12.033
- McKinney EF, Smith KG. T-cell exhaustion: understanding the interface of chronic viral and autoinflammatory diseases. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2016) 94(10):935–42. doi:10.1038/icb.2016.81
- 119. Ye B, Liu X, Li X, Kong H, Tian L, Chen Y. T-cell exhaustion in chronic hepatitis B infection: current knowledge and clinical significance. *Cell Death Dis* (2015) 6:e1694. doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.42
- 120. Zehn D, Wherry EJ. Immune memory and exhaustion: clinically relevant lessons from the LCMV model. Adv Exp Med Biol (2015) 850:137–52. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-15774-0_10
- 121. Rasmussen TA, Tolstrup M, Sogaard OS. Reversal of latency as part of a cure for HIV-1. *Trends Microbiol* (2016) 24(2):90–7. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2015.11.003

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Pallikkuth, de Armas, Rinaldi and Pahwa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





FcRL4 Expression Identifies a Pro-inflammatory B Cell Subset in Viremic HIV-Infected Subjects

Basile Siewe^{1†}, Allison J. Nipper^{1†}, Haewon Sohn², Jack T. Stapleton^{3,4} and Alan Landay^{1*}

¹ Department of Immunology and Microbiology, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, United States, ² Laboratory of Immunogenetics, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Rockville, MD, United States, ³ Iowa City Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States, ⁴ Iowa City Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Chiodi, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Lucia Lopalco, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Christopher Sundling, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

> *Correspondence: Alan Landay

alan_landay@rush.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 21 July 2017 Accepted: 03 October 2017 Published: 20 October 2017

Citation:

Siewe B, Nipper AJ, Sohn H, Stapleton JT and Landay A (2017) FcRL4 Expression Identifies a Pro-inflammatory B Cell Subset in Viremic HIV-Infected Subjects. Front. Immunol. 8:1339. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01339 In autoimmune diseases, toll-like receptor (TLR)-stimulated pro-inflammatory IL-6secreting B cells exert pathogenic roles. Similarly, B cell Fc receptor-like 4 (FcRL4) expression amplifies TLR stimulation, and in rheumatoid arthritis patients, FcRL4 expression identifies a pro-inflammatory B cell subset. B cells from HIV-infected subjects also express heightened levels of FcRL4 and secrete high levels of IL-6: a critical mediator of HIV disease progression. In this study, we sought to determine if FcRL4 identifies a pro-inflammatory B cell subset in HIV-infected subjects and further elucidate the mechanisms underlying FcRL4 amplification of TLR stimulation. We determine that tissue-like memory B cells express the highest endogenous levels of FcRL4 positively correlating with IL-6 expression (p = 0.0022, r = 0.8667), but activated memory B cells exhibit the highest frequency of FcRL4^{hi}IL-6^{hi} cells. FcRL4^{hi} B cells exhibit an activated TLR-signaling pathway identified by elevated phosphorylation levels of: pERK (p = 0.0373), p38 (p = 0.0337), p65 (p = 0.1097), and cJUN (p = 0.0239), concomitant with significantly elevated expression of the TLR-signaling modulator hematopoietic cell kinase (HcK, p = 0.0414). Compared to FcRL4^{neg} B cells from healthy controls, TLR9-stimulated FcRL4^{pos} B cells express significantly higher levels of IL-6 (p = 0.0179). Further, TLR9-stimulated B cells also upregulate the expression of FcRL4 (p = 0.0415) and HcK (p = 0.0386). In B-cell lines, siRNA-mediated HcK knockdown downmodulates TLR9-induced FcRL4-mediated activation quantified by CD23 upregulation (p = 0.0553). We present data suggesting that, in viremic HIV-infected individuals, FcRL4 expression identifies unique IL-6 producing pro-inflammatory B-cell subsets. Further, TLR stimulation likely modulates FcRL4 expression and FcRL4 expression is associated with Hck, potentially enhancing the activation of TLR-signaling associated transcription factors. Pathogenic B-cells have been identified in other disease settings, and this study represents a novel report describing a pro-inflammatory B cell subset in HIV-infected patients.

Keywords: Fc receptor-like 4, pro-inflammatory cytokine, HIV, B cells, IL-6, viremic

INTRODUCTION

The elevated serum level of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 is an indicator of chronic immune activation and a driver of HIV disease progression (1, 2). During HIV infection, IL-6 overexpression drives B-cell proliferation, enhances secretion of antibodies, and leads to aberrant B cell terminal differentiation (3, 4). Further, in vitro, IL-6 has been shown to drive HIV replication and, in HIV-infected individuals, the observed high levels of IL-6 are associated with increased mortality and morbidity (5, 6). Due to these factors, it is critical to determine the sources of IL-6 as well as the mechanisms underlying IL-6 overexpression during HIV infection. HIV infection is characterized by heightened microbial translocation and the presence of microbial products encoding toll-like receptor ligands (TLR-L) (7-9). TLR-stimulated monocytes have been identified to be a significant contributor to the HIV-induced inflammatory state (10-12). However, published data also suggest that B cells from HIV-infected individuals express high levels of IL-6 possibly due to TLR-stimulation (3, 9, 13). Additionally, in autoimmune diseases, TLR-stimulated B-cells are critical mediators of inflammation (14, 15). Further, data from a study in rheumatoid arthritis identified a pro-inflammatory B-cell subset expressing high levels of Fc receptor-like 4 (FcRL4) (16). FcRL4 acts as a molecular switch, dampening B cell receptor (BCR) signaling while simultaneously enhancing TLR-signaling through association of SHP-1 and SHP-2 with its cytoplasmic tail (17). Finally, B cells from HIV-infected viremic subjects exhibit heightened FcRL4 expression associated with an "exhausted" phenotype, with impaired antibody expressing functions (18-20).

In this study, we investigated: (1) if in untreated HIV infection, FcRL4^{hi} B-cells represent a pro-inflammatory B cell subset and (2) the mechanisms underlying FcRL4 expression and amplification of TLR-signaling. Our data indicate that FcRL4^{hi} B-cell subsets are high producers of IL-6, and TLR-signaling modulates FcRL4 expression. Finally, FcRL4 mediates amplification of TLRsignaling likely by recruiting Src Kinase proteins.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Participants

All studies were performed after signed, informed written research consent by each study subject. The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Rush University Medical Center, and the University of Iowa City VAMC and University of Iowa. All work was performed in adherence with appropriate laboratory safety protocols such as use of personal protective equipment. HIV-infected viremic (HIV_{VIR}), naïve subjects had a median CD4 count of 466 cells/µl (range, 144–566), and median viral load of 20,000 copies/ml (range, 2,000–117,000) (**Table 1**).

Cell Lines

Ramos (a human Burkitt lymphoma cell line) FcRL4 stable transfectants were a generous gift from Dr. Susan Pierce (NIH) and previously described (17). The FcRL4.FFF mutant carries

TABLE 1 | HIV viremic cohort description.

Participant	Age (years)	Gender	CD4 count (cells/μL)	Viral load (copies/ mL)
1	40	М	566	10,000
2	27	F	443	80,000
3	45	F	515	117,000
4	57	Μ	592	14,000
5	46	Μ	337	38,000
6	39	Μ	550	3,000
7	46	F	217	34,000
8	36	Μ	144	2,000
9	23	Μ	489	5,000
10	56	F	288	26,000

M, male; F, female.

mutations (tyrosine to phenylalanine) in the cytoplasmic ITIM tail at positions 451, 463, and 493. The cells were maintained in RPMI medium supplemented with 10% FBS, Pen/Strep, 2mM L-glutamine, 10 mM HEPES, and 55 μ M β -mercaptoethanol (Invitrogen).

Antibodies

Cells were stained with the following antibodies: FcRL4-APC (Biolegend), IL-6-PE, CD23-PE-Cy7, CD19-PE-Texas Red, CD10-Pe-Cy5, CD21-V450, CD27-AF700, phospho-p38-PE, phospho-Erk-AF647, phospho-p65-PE, phospho-C-Jun-FITC, (BD Biosciences), Sheep anti-rabbit IgG-DyLight 488 (Biolegend), purified hematopoietic cell kinase (Hck), and phospho-Hck (Abcam).

Isolation, Purification, and TLR Stimulation of PBMCs

PBMCs were isolated from whole blood using Ficoll (Lymphocyte® Cell Separation Media, Mediatech) gradient centrifugation. Cryopreserved PBMC from HIV-infected subjects were used in the immunophenotyping experiments. The cells were stained with FcRL4-APC and CD19-PE-Texas Red and CD19⁺FcRL4^{pos} and CD19+FcRL4neg B cells were FACS purified and cultured overnight in the presence of 10 $\mu g/ml$ CpG-B ODN2006 (TLR9L), 2 µg/ml PAM3CSK4 (TLR2L), or 2 µg/ml Imiquimod (InvivoGen). B cells (CD19⁺) from healthy controls were purified from PBMC using the B Cell Isolation Kit II (Miltenyi Biotec) and AUTOmacs (Miltenvi Biotec). After 4H, the cultures of CD19⁺ B cells were supplemented with Brefeldin A (1:1,000, BD). After overnight incubation, the cells were surface stained (CD23-PE-Cy7, BD Biosciences), fixed/permeabilized (Fix/Perm Kit BD Biosciences), and stained for intracellular IL-6 (IL-6-PE, BD Biosciences). All samples were acquired on an LRSII (BD Biosciences) flow cytometer and the data analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc.). Florescence parameters were normalized using Rainbow Calibration Particles (Spherotech) and antibody bound CompBead (BD Biosciences). Gating was determined by unstained controls.

Inhibition Assays

Chemical inhibition of Hck was achieved using PP2 (Millipore). Cells were incubated overnight with indicated concentrations of the inhibitor, supplemented with TLR9-L, and further cultured overnight. Only events corresponding to living cells (determined by Live/Dead[®] Fixable Aqua staining, Life Technologies) were acquired on an LRSII (BD Biosciences) flow cytometer and the data analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc.).

Real-time RT-PCR

RNA was extracted using the RNeasy Kit (QIAGEN) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The extracted RNA was measured by spectrophotometer and equimolar concentrations used for cDNA synthesis according to the manufacturer's instructions (iScript cDNA syntesis Kit, Bio-Rad). The following primers were used for the qPCR reaction: HcK-Forward 5'-CGGATCCCACATCCACCATCA-3', Reverse 5'-ACCACGA TGATGTCCTCAGAGC-3', FcRL4-Forward 5'-TCAGCTGGG AGAAGAAGAGGAA-3', Reverse 5'-GAGTTATCTGGGTGTT GTGTCTTTACC-3', GAPDH-Forward 5'-CTTCAACGACCA CTTTGT-3' and reverse 5'-TGGTCCAGGGGTCTTACT-3'. Real-time RT-PCR was performed using a Quantitect SYBR Green PCR kit (Qiagen) in a 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems). Melting curve analysis was performed to ensure that the primers amplified the desired amplicon and that primer-dimers were absent. Fold change in mRNA expression was calculated by relative quantification using the comparative cycle threshold method. GAPDH expression was used as an endogenous control.

siRNA-Mediated Knockdown

siRNA targeting HcK were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology and Dharmacon, and cells were transfected using the Lipofectamine RNAiMax kit (Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Knockdown was confirmed by qPCR 48H post-transfection.

Statistical Analysis

Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM or as indicated. GraphPad Prism software, version 5.03 was used for all statistical analysis. The statistical significance *p*-value between group parameters was determined using either unpaired or paired Student's *t*-test (with a confidence level of 95%). The statistical dependence between variables was calculated using the Spearman rank correlation analysis. *p*-Values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Pair and multiple comparisons were done using the Wilcoxon-matched-pairs signed rank test.

RESULTS

FcRL4^{hi} B-Cell Subsets from HIV-Infected Viremic Subjects Spontaneously Express High Levels of IL-6

In rheumatoid arthritis patients, FcRL4 expression identifies a pro-inflammatory B-cell subset (16). Differential FcRL4 expression among B cell subsets has been reported in HIV viremic (HIV_{VIR}) subjects (18); however, the relationship between FcRL4 expression and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines

has not been fully elucidated. Our prior data indicate that B cells from HIV-infected individuals express primarily IL-6 and not TNF- α (9). We investigated if FcRL4 expression on B cell subsets from HIV_{VIR} subjects associated with heightened endogenous levels of IL-6 expression. Tissue-like memory B cells (TLM, CD19+CD20+CD10-CD2110CD27-) expressed the highest levels of FcRL4 among different B cell subsets (Figures 1A,B), comparable to activated memory B cells (AM, CD19⁺CD20⁺CD10⁻CD21⁻CD27⁺), but significantly higher than naïveBcells(N,CD19+CD20+CD10-CD27-CD21+,p<0.0001)and resting memory B cells (RM, CD19⁺CD20⁺CD10⁻CD21⁺CD27⁺, p < 0.0001). TLM B cells also expressed the highest endogenous levels of IL-6 (Figure 1B) compared to naïve (p = 0.01081) and RM B cells (p = 0.0204). Likewise, in AM B cells (Figure 1B); the level of IL-6 was much higher as compared to naïve (p = 0.0041) and RM B cells (p = 0.0241). Moreover, AM cells expressed the highest frequency of FcRL4⁺IL-6⁺ cells (Figure 1B): significantly higher than TLM (p = 0.005), N (p < 0.0001) and RM (p < 0.0001) B cells. Taken together, TLM and AM B cells express the highest levels of FcRL4 and IL-6 as well as the frequency of FcRL4+IL-6+ cells. Finally, in the TLM B cells, we observed a significant positive correlation between the FcRL4 and IL-6 expression (Figure 1C, p = 0.0022, r = 0.8667) as well as FcRL4 and HIV viral load (**Figure 1C**, *p* = 0.0390, *r* = 0.6727).

FcRL4^{pos} B Cells from HIV-Infected Viremic (HIV_{VIR}) Subjects Constitutively Exhibit an Activated TLR-Signaling Cascade

HIV-infection is associated with an increase in serum concentration of several TLR ligands (7–9), and B cells from HIV_{VIR} individuals exhibit enhanced FcRL4 expression (18). As FcRL4 enhances B-cell responsiveness to TLR stimulation (17), we next investigated if, in HIV_{VIR} subjects, constitutive FcRL4 expression is associated with an activated TLR-signaling pathway. We determined that FcRL4^{pos} B cells of HIV_{VIR} subjects exhibit a constitutively activated TLR-signaling pathway phenotype characterized by significantly elevated levels of phosphorylated ERK, p38, and c-JUN (**Figures 2A,B**, p = 0.0373, p = 0.0337, and p = 0.0239, respectively). Although the level of phosphorylated p65 was higher in FcRL4^{pos} B cells than FcRL4^{preg} B cells, the difference did not attain statistical significance (**Figure 2B**, p = 0.1097).

FcRL4^{pos} B Cells from HIV-Uninfected Subjects Are Highly Responsive to TLR Stimulation

We previously demonstrated that TLR stimulated B cells from healthy controls (HIV_{NEG}) subjects upregulate expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 (9). We, therefore, examined if FcRL4 modulates the expression of IL-6 upon TLR stimulation. We found that compared to FcRL4-negative (FcRL4^{neg}) B cells, TLR stimulation of purified FcRL4^{pos} B cells significantly upregulated IL-6 expression (**Figure 3**: TLR2, p = 0.0022, TLR7, p = 0.0286, TLR9, p = 0.0179).



B Cells Exposed to TLR-9 Ligand Upregulate Expression of FcRL4 and HcK Concomitantly

Elevated FcRL4 expression on blood B cells has been identified in malaria and HIV-infected viremic patients (18, 19), conditions associated with heightened serum levels of TLR ligands (7, 8, 21). Additionally, it has been previously demonstrated that TLR stimulation modulates FcRL expression in mice (22). We determined that exposure of PBMC from HIV_{NEG} subjects to TLR9 stimulation led to a significant upregulation in FcRL4 expression (Figure 4A, p = 0.0415). We confirmed that while TLR stimulation induces FcRL4 upregulation, the anti-FcRL4 flow cytometry antibody did not lead to FcRL4 upregulation. In human secondary lymphoid tissue, elevated FcRL4 expression is associated with heightened levels of the Src kinase family member HcK (23), which in macrophages, promotes TLR-induced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (24). We, therefore, investigated if in TLR-stimulated blood B cells, the observed FcRL4 upregulation (Figure 4A) is associated with heightened HcK expression

contributing to the amplification of the TLR-signaling. We determined that TLR9-stimulation of purified B cells from HIV_{NEG} resulted in the upregulation of *HcK* levels (**Figure 4B**, *p* = 0.0386) (gating Figure S2 in Supplementary Material). Finally, in HIV_{VIR} subjects, FcRL4^{pos} B cells, expressed significantly higher endogenous levels of total (**Figure 4C**, *p* = 0.0414) and phosphorylated HcK (**Figure 4C**, *p* = 0.0398).

HcK Is Required for FcRL4-Mediated Amplification of TLR Signaling

The effect of HcK on TLR-signaling in B cells was further investigated using a B cell line stably expressing FcRL4 (FcRL4. WT) and a loss-of-function FcRL4 mutant cell line, incapable of amplifying TLR-signaling (FcRL4.FFF) (17). We determined that after TLR stimulation, HcK upregulation was evident only in the FcRL4.WT cells (**Figure 5A**). *HcK* expression in FcRL4.WT transfectants was reduced using siRNA and confirmed by qPCR (**Figure 5B**, p = 0.0079, compared to control). Finally, TLR9 activation was quantified by change in CD23 expression, a



FIGURE 2 [FCRL4^{pos} B cells from HIV viremic subjects are HCK^{III} and exhibit activated TLR-signaling signature. In FCRL4^{pos}, B cells from HIV viremic subjects (n = 10) (**A**) gating strategy for FCRL4, using flow cytometry, (**B**) the endogenous activation levels of MAPK pathway members Erk and p38 as well as activation of NF- κ B (p65) and AP-1 (c-Jun) were determined: Representative overlays of FCRL4⁻ and FCRL4⁺ populations shown. *p*-Values as determined by Mann–Whitney test are indicated.

readout of TLR9 activity (17). HcK knockdown led to a reduction in CD23 expression (**Figure 5B**, p = 0.0553) following TLR9 stimulation. To confirm these results, we chemically inhibited HcK using 4-amino-5-(4-chlorophenyl)-7-(t-butyl)pyrazolo[3,4-d] pyrimidine (PP2) as described elsewhere (25, 26). HcK chemical inhibition reduced TLR9-induced CD23 expression significantly in FcRL4.WT compared to FcRL4.FFF in a dose-dependent manner (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material, 1 mM and 10 mM PP2, p = 0.0059 and p = 0.0052, respectively).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we demonstrate that during viremic HIV infection, FcRL4^{hi} TLM and AM blood B cells express high endogenous levels of IL-6, strongly indicating that high FcRL4 expression identifies pro-inflammatory B cells. We demonstrate that frequency of FcRL4⁺ B-cells correlates strongly with IL-6⁺ B-cell frequency in the TLM subset. However, AM B cells exhibit the highest frequency of FcRL4⁺IL-6⁺ double-positive



cells suggesting the possibility that divergent mechanisms drive IL-6 production in AM and TLM B cells. This concept of divergent mechanisms is further supported by the distinct characteristics of these subsets, with TLM displaying elevated expression of inhibitory receptors and increased frequency of HIV-specific B cells, while the AM subset show greater specificity for other pathogens (20). Taken together, our report identifies pro-inflammatory functions of FcRL4⁺ TLM B cells in viremic HIV-infected subjects, corroborating findings, which identify FcRL4^{hi} B cells as a marker of pro-inflammatory B cells in rheumatoid arthritis patients (16).

Though FcRL4 has previously been identified on exhausted B-cell subsets (20), weak proliferation following BCR stimulation may be indicative of a shift in function rather than a general failure to respond. FcRL4 has been identified as a molecular switch, dampening BCR signaling while enhancing B-cell responsiveness to TLR-stimulation (17). HIV-infected viremic (HIV_{VIR}) subjects exhibit elevated serum levels of TLR-ligands (7–9) concomitant with high expression of FcRL4 on B cells (18, 20). It is, therefore, tempting to suggest that in HIV_{VIR} subjects, TLM and AM B cells are stimulated by TLR-ligands resulting in upregulated FcRL4 expression. This increases sensitivity to TLR stimulation, leading to a positive feedback loop culminating in high expression of IL-6, inflammation, and HIV disease progression. Though we cannot exclude the possibility that FcRL4-expressing B cells coincidently express IL-6, our data provide further evidence supporting a role for FcRL4 in mediating *in vivo* TLR-signaling-dependent hyperstimulation during HIV infection. We also determined that *ex vivo*, FcRL4^{hi} B cells from HIV_{VIR} subjects exhibit a TLR-signaling signature, characterized by heightened activation of NF- κ B and AP1 pathways, transcription factors critical for the expression of pro-inflammatory genes (27–29).

While FcRL4 expression has been well documented in HIV, its function remains only partly elucidated. During HIV-1 infection, FcRL4 is elevated on TLM of non-treated individuals, but expression is greatly reduced following treatment (30); this suggests a unique role for FcRL4 during HIV infection. Jelicic et al. report that HIV gp120 induces FcRL4 expression on B cells (31), suggesting another mechanism inducing FcRL4 expression, which enhances susceptibility to TLR stimulation in HIV infection. Previous studies also suggest that another FcRL family protein, FcRL3, is upregulated in response to TLR stimulation (32); however, a role for TLR stimulation in regulating FcRL4 expression in HIV infection has not been explored. We provide data suggesting that TLR-signaling augments B-cell FcRL4 expression, corroborating reports of TLR-regulation of FcRL3 (32). Though we present data indicating B cells exposed to TLR9ligand CpG-ODN2006 upregulate FcRL4 expression, we also observed comparable effects when B cells are exposed to either TLR7 (Imiquimod) or TLR2 (Pam₃Csk₄) ligands (not shown). Sohn et al. elegantly demonstrated that FcRL4 expression



with 10 μ g/ml CpGODN 2006 and the expression of (A) FcRL4 and (B) *Hck* determined by flow-cytometry and RT-qPCR, respectively. Each dot represents a subject. (C) In FcRL4^{pos}, B cells from HIV viremic subjects (n = 10, Figure 2A, gating strategy for FcRL4), the endogenous level of total HcK (left) and phosphorylated HcK (right) expression were determined. p-Values as determined by paired *t*-test are indicated.

switches B-cell responsiveness from adaptive to innate stimulus (17); however, the underlying mechanism is still undefined. Our data present a potential mechanism underlying FcRL4-mediated amplification of TLR-signaling in B cells. Ehrhardt et al. (23) reported that human tissue FcRL4^{hi} B cells concurrently express high levels of the Src-kinase family member HcK, and Smolinska et al. (24) determined that Hck recruitment amplifies TLR4 signaling in macrophages. Our data confirm these findings, as we show that TLR9-stimulated B cells from HIV_{NEG} subjects upregulate HcK and FcRL4^{hi} B cells from HIV_{VIR} subjects exhibit elevated endogenous levels of HcK. Further, HcK downmodulation resulted in a reduction of TLR-signaling in FcRL4 B-cell

transfectants. These data confirm recent reports by Liu et al. (33) and suggest that FcRL4 in human B cells likely recruits the Srckinase family member HcK, resulting in amplification of TLRsignaling. However, further studies are needed to determine the precise association between FcRL4 and HcK. Our finding that TLR9-stimulation was impervious to HcK chemical inhibition in the FcRL4.FFF loss-of-function mutant suggests a role for the ITIM in HcK recruitment following TLR-signaling, as FcRL4 of this mutant is incapable of specific ITIM phosphorylation events.

B cells have been well established as a critical source of proinflammatory IL-6 in autoimmune diseases (14), and some reports also suggest that during HIV infection B-cells express IL-6, thus



likely exerting a pathogenic role (3, 9, 13). Our data present FcRL4 as a marker identifying potential pro-inflammatory B cells during

CONCLUSION

viremic HIV infection.

The data from this study indicate that in viremic HIV infected subjects, high expression of FcRL4 identifies pro-inflammatory B cell subsets. In autoimmune conditions, B cells have been established as critical IL-6 expressing cells (16). Our data demonstrate a pro-inflammatory function of FcRL4⁺ B cells, a population of B cells previously identified as exhausted, in viremic HIV infection. Finally, we present data elucidating the mechanisms of FcRL4-mediated amplification of TLRsignaling in B cells. We provide data indicating that increased expression of FcRL4 coincides with upregulation of the Src kinase HcK, and HcK is necessary for FcRL4's amplification of TLR signaling.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All studies were performed after signed informed written research consent by each study subject. The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Rush University Medical Center, and the University of Iowa City VAMC and University of Iowa.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BS and AL conceived/designed study and wrote manuscript. BS and AN performed experiments. BS, AN, AL, HS, and JS analyzed data and edited manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by grants from the Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Health Administration, Office of Research and Development (Merit Review Grant JTS), the National Institutes of Health (RO1 AI-58740 to JS and National Institutes of Health—Developmental Center for AIDS Research P30 AI-082151-01 and P01 AI-076174-01A1). We wish to acknowledge Melissa Plesac for her help on this project.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01339/ full#supplementary-material.

FIGURE S1 | CD23 expression following overnight treatment with HcK inhibitor PP2. FcRL4.WT and FcRL4.FFF cells were treated with TLR9-L and HcK inhibitor. Expression of CD23 reported as fold change between TLR9-L alone and in the presence of inhibitor n=3.

FIGURE S2 | Representative gating of HcK and phospho HcK.

REFERENCES

- Leeansyah E, Malone DF, Anthony DD, Sandberg JK. Soluble biomarkers of HIV transmission, disease progression and comorbidities. *Curr Opin HIV* AIDS (2013) 8:117–24. doi:10.1097/COH.0b013e32835c7134
- 2. Langford SE, Ananworanich J, Cooper DA. Predictors of disease progression in HIV infection: a review. *AIDSRes Ther* (2007) 4:11. doi:10.1186/1742-6405-4-11
- Rieckmann P, D'Alessandro F, Nordan RP, Fauci AS, Kehrl JH. IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Autocrine and paracrine cytokines involved in B cell function. J Immunol (1991) 146:3462–8.
- Heinrich PC, Castell JV, Andus T. Interleukin-6 and the acute phase response. Biochem J (1990) 265:621–36. doi:10.1042/bj2650621
- Tenorio AR, Zheng Y, Bosch RJ, Krishnan S, Rodriguez B, Hunt PW, et al. Soluble markers of inflammation and coagulation but not T-cell activation predict non-AIDS-defining morbid events during suppressive antiretroviral treatment. J Infect Dis (2014) 210:1248–59. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu254
- 6. Boulware DR, Hullsiek KH, Puronen CE, Rupert A, Baker JV, French MA, et al. Higher levels of CRP, D-dimer, IL-6, and hyaluronic acid before initiation of antiretroviral therapy (ART) are associated with increased risk of AIDS or death. *J Infect Dis* (2011) 203:1637–46. doi:10.1093/infdis/jir134
- Brenchley JM, Price DA, Schacker TW, Asher TE, Silvestri G, Rao S, et al. Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. *Nat Med* (2006) 12:1365–71. doi:10.1038/nm1511
- Jiang W, Lederman MM, Hunt P, Sieg SF, Haley K, Rodriguez B, et al. Plasma levels of bacterial DNA correlate with immune activation and the magnitude of immune restoration in persons with antiretroviral-treated HIV infection. *J Infect Dis* (2009) 199:1177–85. doi:10.1086/597476
- Siewe B, Keshavarzian A, French A, Demarais P, Landay A. A role for TLR signaling during B cell activation in antiretroviral-treated HIV individuals. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2013) 29:1353–60. doi:10.1089/AID.2013.0115
- Wilson EM, Singh A, Hullsiek KH, Gibson D, Henry WK, Lichtenstein K, et al. Monocyte-activation phenotypes are associated with biomarkers of inflammation and coagulation in chronic HIV infection. *J Infect Dis* (2014) 210:1396–406. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu275
- Jalbert E, Crawford TQ, D'Antoni ML, Keating SM, Norris PJ, Nakamoto BK, et al. IL-1beta enriched monocytes mount massive IL-6 responses to common inflammatory triggers among chronically HIV-1 infected adults on stable anti-retroviral therapy at risk for cardiovascular disease. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e75500. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0075500
- Anzinger JJ, Butterfield TR, Angelovich TA, Crowe SM, Palmer CS. Monocytes as regulators of inflammation and HIV-related comorbidities during cART. *J Immunol Res* (2014) 2014:569819. doi:10.1155/2014/569819
- Kehrl JH, Rieckmann P, Kozlow E, Fauci AS. Lymphokine production by B cells from normal and HIV-infected individuals. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (1992) 651:220–7. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1992.tb24617.x
- Barr TA, Shen P, Brown S, Lampropoulou V, Roch T, Lawrie S, et al. B cell depletion therapy ameliorates autoimmune disease through ablation of IL-6producing B cells. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209:1001–10. doi:10.1084/jem.20111675
- Fillatreau S. Novel regulatory functions for toll-like receptor-activated B cells during intracellular bacterial infection. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 240:52–71. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00991.x
- Yeo L, Lom H, Juarez M, Snow M, Buckley CD, Filer A, et al. Expression of FcRL4 defines a pro-inflammatory, RANKL-producing B cell subset in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2014) 74:928–35. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2013-204116
- Sohn HW, Krueger PD, Davis RS, Pierce SK. FcRL4 acts as an adaptive to innate molecular switch dampening BCR signaling and enhancing TLR signaling. *Blood* (2011) 118:6332–41. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-05-353102
- Kardava L, Moir S, Wang W, Ho J, Buckner CM, Posada JG, et al. Attenuation of HIV-associated human B cell exhaustion by siRNA downregulation of inhibitory receptors. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121:2614–24. doi:10.1172/ JCI45685

- Weiss GE, Crompton PD, Li S, Walsh LA, Moir S, Traore B, et al. Atypical memory B cells are greatly expanded in individuals living in a malaria-endemic area. J Immunol (2009) 183:2176–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901297
- Moir S, Ho J, Malaspina A, Wang W, DiPoto AC, O'Shea MA, et al. Evidence for HIV-associated B cell exhaustion in a dysfunctional memory B cell compartment in HIV-infected viremic individuals. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:1797–805. doi:10.1084/jem.20072683
- Gowda DC. TLR-mediated cell signaling by malaria GPIs. Trends Parasitol (2007) 23:596–604. doi:10.1016/j.pt.2007.09.003
- Li FJ, Schreeder DM, Li R, Wu J, Davis RS. FCRL3 promotes TLR9-induced B-cell activation and suppresses plasma cell differentiation. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:2980–92. doi:10.1002/eji.201243068
- Ehrhardt GR, Hijikata A, Kitamura H, Ohara O, Wang JY, Cooper MD. Discriminating gene expression profiles of memory B cell subpopulations. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:1807–17. doi:10.1084/jem.20072682
- Smolinska MJ, Page TH, Urbaniak AM, Mutch BE, Horwood NJ. Hck tyrosine kinase regulates TLR4-induced TNF and IL-6 production via AP-1. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:6043–51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100967
- Kim MO, Suh HS, Si Q, Terman BI, Lee SC. Anti-CD45RO suppresses human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in microglia: role of Hck tyrosine kinase and implications for AIDS dementia. *J Virol* (2006) 80:62–72. doi:10.1128/JVI.80.1.62-72.2006
- Fumagalli L, Zhang H, Baruzzi A, Lowell CA, Berton G. The Src family kinases Hck and Fgr regulate neutrophil responses to N-formyl-methionylleucyl-phenylalanine. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:3874–85. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.178.6.3874
- Tak PP, Firestein GS. NF-kappaB: a key role in inflammatory diseases. J Clin Invest (2001) 107:7–11. doi:10.1172/JCI11830
- Firestein GS, Manning AM. Signal transduction and transcription factors in rheumatic disease. *Arthritis Rheum* (1999) 42:609–21. doi:10.1002/1529-0131(199904)42:4<609::AID-ANR3>3.0.CO;2-I
- Kim JH, Song AR, Sohn HJ, Lee J, Yoo JK, Kwon D, et al. IL-1beta and IL-6 activate inflammatory responses of astrocytes against *Naegleria fowleri* infection via the modulation of MAPKs and AP-1. *Parasite Immunol* (2013) 35:120–8. doi:10.1111/pim.12021
- Amu S, Lavy-Shahaf G, Cagigi A, Hejdeman B, Nozza S, Lopalco L, et al. Frequency and phenotype of B cell subpopulations in young and aged HIV-1 infected patients receiving ART. *Retrovirology* (2014) 11:76. doi:10.1186/ s12977-014-0076-x
- Jelicic K, Cimbro R, Nawaz F, Huang da W, Zheng X, Yang J, et al. The HIV-1 envelope protein gp120 impairs B cell proliferation by inducing TGF-beta1 production and FcRL4 expression. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:1256–65. doi:10.1038/ni.2746
- Won WJ, Foote JB, Odom MR, Pan J, Kearney JF, Davis RS. Fc receptor homolog 3 is a novel immunoregulatory marker of marginal zone and B1 B cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:6815–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.6815
- Liu Y, Bezverbnaya K, Zhao T, Parsons MJ, Shi M, Treanor B, et al. Involvement of the HCK and FGR src-family kinases in FCRL4-mediated immune regulation. J Immunol (2015) 194:5851–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1401533

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer CS and handling editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2017 Siewe, Nipper, Sohn, Stapleton and Landay. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Perturbation of B Cell Gene Expression Persists in HIV-Infected Children Despite Effective Antiretroviral Therapy and Predicts H1N1 Response

Nicola Cotugno^{1,2}, Lesley De Armas², Suresh Pallikkuth², Stefano Rinaldi^{1,2}, Biju Issac³, Alberto Cagigi^{1,4}, Paolo Rossi^{1,5}, Paolo Palma^{1*†} and Savita Pahwa^{2*†}

¹Research Unit in Congenital and Perinatal Infection, Immune and Infectious Diseases Division, Academic Department of Pediatrics, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy, ²Miami Center for AIDS Research, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Miller School of Medicine, University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States, ³Sylvester Cancer Center, Department of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics, Miller School of Medicine, University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States, ⁴Vaccine Research Center, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), National Institutes of Health (NIH), Bethesda, MD, United States, ⁵Academic Department of Pediatrics (DPUO), Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital-University of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aurelio Cafaro, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy

Reviewed by:

Michael Betts, University of Pennsylvania, United States Catarina E. Hioe, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

*Correspondence:

Paolo Palma paolo.palma@opbg.net; Savita Pahwa spahwa@med.miami.edu †Last authorship shared.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 21 April 2017 Accepted: 21 August 2017 Published: 11 September 2017

Citation:

Cotugno N, De Armas L, Pallikkuth S, Rinaldi S, Issac B, Cagigi A, Rossi P, Palma P and Pahwa S (2017) Perturbation of B Cell Gene Expression Persists in HIV-Infected Children Despite Effective Antiretroviral Therapy and Predicts H1N1 Response. Front. Immunol. 8:1083. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01083 Despite effective antiretroviral therapy (ART), HIV-infected individuals with apparently similar clinical and immunological characteristics can vary in responsiveness to vaccinations. However, molecular mechanisms responsible for such impairment, as well as biomarkers able to predict vaccine responsiveness in HIV-infected children, remain unknown. Following the hypothesis that a B cell qualitative impairment persists in HIVinfected children (HIV) despite effective ART and phenotypic B cell immune reconstitution, the aim of the current study was to investigate B cell gene expression of HIV compared to age-matched healthy controls (HCs) and to determine whether distinct gene expression patterns could predict the ability to respond to influenza vaccine. To do so, we analyzed prevaccination transcriptional levels of a 96-gene panel in equal numbers of sort-purified B cell subsets (SPBS) isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells using multiplexed RT-PCR. Immune responses to H1N1 antigen were determined by hemaglutination inhibition and memory B cell ELISpot assays following trivalentinactivated influenza vaccination (TIV) for all study participants. Although there were no differences in terms of cell frequencies of SPBS between HIV and HC, the groups were distinguishable based upon gene expression analyses. Indeed, a 28-gene signature, characterized by higher expression of genes involved in the inflammatory response and immune activation was observed in activated memory B cells (CD27+CD21-) from HIV when compared to HC despite long-term viral control (>24 months). Further analysis, taking into account H1N1 responses after TIV in HIV participants, revealed that a 25-gene signature in resting memory (RM) B cells (CD27+CD21+) was able to distinguish vaccine responders from non-responders (NR). In fact, prevaccination RM B cells of responders showed a higher expression of gene sets involved in B cell adaptive immune responses (APRIL, BTK, BLIMP1) and BCR signaling (MTOR, FYN, CD86) when compared to NR. Overall, these data suggest that a perturbation at a transcriptional level in the B cell compartment persists despite stable virus control achieved through ART in HIV-infected children. Additionally, the present study demonstrates the potential utility of transcriptional evaluation of RM B cells before vaccination for identifying predictive correlates of vaccine responses in this population.

Keywords: vaccinomics, systems biology, B cells, pediatric HIV, transcriptomics, H1N1, B cell receptor, influenza vaccination

INTRODUCTION

HIV-infected patients have a lower ability to induce and maintain an effective response to routine vaccinations due to the depletion of central memory CD4 T cells, particularly T follicular helper cells, and perturbation of the B cell compartment with reduced resting memory (RM) B cells (1–4). Antiretroviral therapy (ART) can restore the quantitative loss of RM B cells in HIV-infected children (5, 6). However, a suboptimal antibody response against infection and vaccination may persist, suggesting a qualitative impairment of B cells. Indeed, a sizeable proportion of HIVinfected children require booster immunizations to provide adequate protection usually achieved by routine vaccinations in healthy children (7-9). Additionally, children with apparently similar clinical and immunological characteristics can vary in adequacy of responsiveness to infection and/or vaccination bringing into question host factors that are critical for mounting an immune response (10, 11). The molecular correlates governing effective and long lasting immune responses are still unknown (4, 12-14). In recent years, systems biology and vaccinomics approaches have attempted to dissect vaccine-induced responses in humans (15-19). For influenza, gene expression and robustness of response have been found to differ upon vaccination with trivalent-inactivated influenza vaccination (TIV) as compared to live attenuated influenza vaccine (20). In addition, advanced "omics" and systems biology approaches have led to increased knowledge regarding molecular mechanisms underlying adaptive immune responses to different types of vaccines (21, 22). In most instances however, these data have been derived from RNA extracted from whole blood or from the heterogeneous pool of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of healthy volunteers (18, 23), thereby limiting interpretation due to dilution of gene transcripts derived from individual cell subsets or single cells which may be crucial for adaptive immune responses. To mitigate this drawback, analysis of purified cell subsets of interest is preferred, especially in the context of diseases that alter the distribution of specific cell subsets such as HIV infection (24, 25).

In the present study, we have applied basic principles of vaccinomics and systems biology, with the aim to dissect gene expression differences evident before vaccine administration between HIV-infected children under ART with stable virus control and their age matched healthy peers. Our analysis of B cell gene expression among HIV-infected children differentially responding to H1N1 revealed biologically meaningful predictive signatures of response to vaccination.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Subjects and Design

Twenty-three ART-treated HIV-1 vertically infected patients (HIV) and 10 healthy age-matched controls [healthy controls (HCs)] were enrolled at Bambino Gesù Children's hospital. Participant characteristics are shown in Table 1. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects or parents/guardians of all minors for participation in a prospective, open label influenza vaccine study (Figure S1A in Supplementary Material). Bambino Gesù Children's hospital ethics committee approved the study. Participants were immunized with a single dose of Inactivated Influenza Vaccine Trivalent Types A and B (Split Virion) VAXIGRIP® (sanofi pasteur). The strains for the 2012-2013 season were A/California/7/2009 (H1N1) pdm09-like strain (abbreviated as H1N1), A/Victoria/361/2011 (H3N2)-like strain (abbreviated as H3N2), and B/Wisconsin/1/2010-like strain (abbreviated as B). Study design is outlined in Figure S1A in Supplementary Material. PBMCs, sera, and plasma were collected pre (T0) and 21 days postvaccination (T1) as previously described (26, 27). Among HIV, only patients with good adherence to ART and with history of long-term viral control (at least 24 months) were considered eligible for the study. No significant differences for ART type nor

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of study population.

HIV NR	HIV R	НС
15.16 (2.1)	13.72 (2.3)	14.3 (3.3)
12 (7)	11 (5)	10 (5)
37.97 (4.9)	32.49 (6.0)	29.79 (6.2)
11	10	N/A
1,387.4	1,356	1,054.7
135.1	118.9	106.8
210.7	225.1	150
(3/4/5) (3/4/5)	(2/5/4) (4/3/4)	N/A
2,494 (278.9)	3,109 (363.1)	3,063 (427.8)
7.6 (1.5)	7.3 (0.7)	7.9 (0.5)
(5/5/2)	(5/4/2)	N/A
	15.16 (2.1) 12 (7) 37.97 (4.9) 11 1,387.4 135.1 210.7 (3/4/5) (3/4/5) 2,494 (278.9) 7.6 (1.5)	15.16 (2.1) 13.72 (2.3) 12 (7) 11 (5) 37.97 (4.9) 32.49 (6.0) 11 10 1,387.4 1,356 135.1 118.9 210.7 225.1 (3/4/5) (3/4/5) (2/5/4) (4/3/4) 2,494 (278.9) 3,109 (363.1) 7.6 (1.5) 7.3 (0.7)

CDC, Center for Disease Control classification of AIDS; WBC, white blood cells; ART, antiretroviral treatment; NRTI, nucleoside and nucleotide analog reverse transcriptase inhibitors; PI, protease inhibitors; nNRTI, non-nucleoside analog reverse transcriptase inhibitors; ii, integrase inhibitors.

Abbreviations: ART, antiretroviral therapy; BCR, B cell receptor; TIV, trivalentinactivated influenza vaccination; LAIV, live attenuated influenza vaccination; PBMCs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; RM, resting memory; AM, activated memory; DN, double negative; DEGs, differentially expressed genes; ANOVA, analysis of variance; HCs, healthy controls; HAI, hemagglutination inhibition; Ct, cycle threshold; Et, expression threshold; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; SPBS, sort-purified B cell subsets.

treatment duration were found between HIV Responders and HIV non-responders (NR, **Table 1**).

Hemagglutination Inhibition (HAI) Assay

The HAI assay was performed and analyzed as previously described (28) (http://www.gmp-compliance.org/guidemgr/files/ 021496EN.PDF). The HAI antibody titers were expressed as the reciprocal of the highest serum dilution at which hemagglutination was prevented. Study participants were classified as vaccine responders (R) and vaccine NR according to the criteria established by Food and Drug Administration Guidance for Industry (fda.gov). R were characterized by HAI titer to H1N1 at T1 of \geq 1:40 and \geq 4-fold increase compared to baseline.

ELISpot

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells collected at T0 and T1 from HIV and HC were thawed and polyclonally activated *in vitro* in complete RPMI medium (Invitrogen) supplemented with 2.5 μ g/mL CpG type B (Hycult biotech), 20 ng/mL IL-4 (Peprotech), and 20 ng/mL IL-21 (ProSpec). Cells were harvested after 5 days of culture at 37°C. ELISpot 96-well filtration plates (Millipore)

were coated with purified H1N1 inactivated virus particles and subsequently loaded with 2×10^5 cells/well. Plates were then processed as previously described (2). Response to H1N1 Ag was determined using the criteria \geq or <80 spots/10⁶ PBMCs in R and NR, respectively.

Cell Sorting, RNA Extraction and FACS Analysis

Cryopreserved PBMC from T0 and T1 were thawed, stained for the following previously titrated surface antibodies: CD10 (PECy7), CD20 (PE), CD27 (APC), IgD (FITC), CD21 (PECy5), and sorted by FACSAriaII (BD Biosciences). Vivid (Pacific Blue) was used to determine viability of cells. The gating strategy to identify B cell subsets, comprising total B cells (live, singlets, CD20⁺), total naive (IgD⁺CD27⁻), double negative (DN) (IgD⁻CD27⁻), RM (IgD⁻CD27⁺CD21⁺), and activated memory (AM) (IgD⁻CD27⁺CD21⁻) that were gated on the IgD⁻CD27⁺ class switched memory are shown in **Figure 1** and Figure S1B in Supplementary Material. IL-21 receptor on B cells has been analyzed as previously described (11). The purity of sorted cell populations was >99%. Five hundred live cells per B cell subset



FIGURE 1 | B cell phenotype in HIV and age-matched healthy control (HC). Representative gates (A) and comparisons of B cell percentages (B,C). Two tailed Mann–Whitney was used for comparisons. CD20⁺ cells established the B cell population, and expression of IgD, CD27, CD21, and CD10 was used to define total naive (CD27⁻IgD⁺), class switched CD27⁺ memory B cells (CD27⁺IgD⁻), double-negative (DN; CD27⁻IgD⁻), resting memory (RM), tissue-like (TL), activated memory (AM), and naive. FSC, forward scatter; SSC, side scatter. Contingency plot in (C) represents frequency of AM and RM in HIV and HC.

were sorted with the sorting strategy depicted in Figure S1B in Supplementary Material in tubes previously loaded with 9 μ L of CellsDirect one-step polymerase chain reaction (PCR) buffer and pooled TaqMan gene expression assays (2× CellsDirect Reaction mix 5 μ L, Superscript III + Taq polymerase 0.5 μ L, 0.2× TaqMan primer pool 2.5 μ L, Resuspension Buffer 1 μ L). After sorting, samples were transferred to PCR tubes and reverse transcription and target-specific preamplification was performed on a C1000 Thermal Cycler (BioRad) with the following scheme (50°C for 20 min, 95°C for 2 min, 95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 4 min, last two steps repeated for 18 cycles). Resulting cDNA was stored at -20°C until further analysis.

Multiplexed RT-PCR

Previously amplified samples were loaded on a Fluidigm 96.96 standard chip following manufacturer's instructions. All primers/ probes used for the gene mix are TaqMan gene expression assays (Table S1 in Supplementary Material) and have been qualified on Human PBMCs and lymphocyte subsets following the method previously described (29). Gene selection was made according to previous analysis on Microarray of HIV-infected children (data not shown), literature, online gene banks, and biological queries. The sorting experiments and BioMark experiments were randomized to include a mix of HC, HIV, R, and NR patient samples so as not to bias the data toward one group by batch effects. Analysis was performed using Fluidigm Real-Time PCR Analysis software and "Multiple Chip Run" analysis mode. Cycle threshold values (Ct) were corrected according to the number of cells sorted if less than 500 according to the following calculation: Y/X = 67.5/500 (where X = actual number of cells sorted and Y = cDNA equivalent loaded onto BioMark chip). The dilution factor (*n*) was then calculated as n = 67.5/Y and log2(n) was subtracted from the Ct value to obtain Corrected Ct (cCt). Expression threshold (Et) values were calculated using the formula: Et = 40 - cCT, and Et was used for all downstream analysis. To verify consistency between individual BioMark runs, Et variance in B cells was calculated on the full set of genes. Housekeeping genes (GAPDH, CD74) included in our panel showed a low variation (<0.1 score) across all samples in both PBMCs and sorted B cell subsets (not shown).

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Plasma BAFF titers were measured as previously described (30). Briefly, plasma samples were diluted 1:1 and run in duplicate with 50 μ L/well added to ELISA plates for human BAFF (R&D Systems).

Bioinformatics and Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using Fluidigm SingulaR (SingulaR analysis toolset 3.0) package loaded on R (software R 3.0.2 GUI 1.62). We performed outlier identification analysis following manufacturer's instructions (Singular Analysis Toolset User Guide) on the whole dataset by cell subset and removed outliers from subsequent analysis. ANOVA was used to identify differentially expressed genes (DEGs), and interplay between cell subsets or

patient groups was assessed through fold increase of the averages. Inter-individual differences and outliers were analyzed by SingulaR. The "mixOmics" package (Omics data integration project) for R was used as previously described (31). Pearson or Spearman correlation plots were generated with Prism 6.0 (GraphPad) after performing kolmogorov-smirnov normality test to determine distribution of the data. Statistical differences between postvaccination (T1) and prevaccination (T0) gene expression were determined by Wilcoxon matched paired test, and volcano plot was generated in Prism 6.0.

RESULTS

Perturbed Gene Expression in Memory B Cells Persists in HIV-Infected Children Despite Effective ART and Normal B Cell Frequency

In order to characterize the B cell compartment of vertically HIV-infected children under ART and stable viral control, we assessed frequencies of total B cells and B cell subsets by flow cytometry. No differences in frequencies were found between HIV-infected and HC groups (**Figures 1B,C**).

To evaluate the B cell compartment at the transcriptional level, we performed multiplexed RT-PCR of a panel of 96 genes (Table S1 in Supplementary Material) by Fluidigm BiomarkTM in purified B cells from prevaccination samples. Principal component analysis (PCA) and hierarchical cluster analysis confirmed expected heterogeneity between memory subsets (AM and RM), and IgD⁺CD27⁻ (total naive) and DN subsets in HC and HIV (Figures S2A and S3 in Supplementary Material). The greatest transcriptional variation was found between RM and the other three subsets in both HIV and HC participants, especially between RM and AM (77 DEGs in HIV and 23 DEGs in HC) marked by overall lower gene expression in RM (Figure S2B in Supplementary Material).

As shown in Figure S2B in Supplementary Material, all 23 DEGs identified by the comparison of RM to AM transcripts in HC are also present in HIV-infected individuals. To better understand the biological context of genes identified by differential expression analysis between RM and AM, we performed gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) of preranked gene lists using published blood transcription modules as gene sets (32). These genes are mainly involved in regulation of lymphocyte activation and leukocyte proliferation (CD28, PILRB, FOXO3, CD38, STAT5A, ABCB1, CD40L), suggesting common intrinsic gene expression patterns characterizing AM in both HIV and HC. However, 54 additional DEGs were identified in the HIV-infected group when comparing gene transcripts present in RM and AM. These genes include additional immune activation and lymphocyte proliferation genes (CD86, CAV1, CAMK4, TNFSF13, BTLA, MTOR) as well as genes involved in the inflammatory response (CYBB, NOD2, MYD88, IL10, CCR2), type I Interferon signaling (IFIT2, MX1, STAT1) and response to virus (APOBEC3G, BST2, TRIM 5), all with significantly higher expression in AM compared to RM. Overall, the lower gene expression found in RM compared to AM may suggest that they are in a quiescent phase.

Next, we compared gene expression of each sorted B cell subset between HIV and HC to evaluate persistent defects in HIV infection despite viral control. Our results show that AM B cells clearly contrasted with 28 DEGs between HIV and HC (Figure 2A). Indeed, in this specific subset, already shown to dominate the HIV specific immune response in chronically infected adults (24), the DEGs showed higher expression in HIV compared to HC. Interestingly, this was not the case in PBMC and other sorted B cell subsets where few DEGs were identified in comparisons between HIV and HC: PBMC (5 DEGs), total B cells (0 DEGs), DN (2 DEGs), RM (2 DEGs), and total naive B cells (3 DEGs) (Figure 2A). GSEA analysis showed that genes expressed at higher levels in HIV compared to HC were mainly involved in inflammatory response and immune activation (NOD2, IL2RA, SOCS1, IKBKG, CD69, CYBB, MYD88) (Figure 2B; Figure S4 in Supplementary Material). Enrichment of NOD2 (fivefold) and IL2RA (fourfold) was found in AM from HIV compared to HC. NOD2 is mainly involved in signal transduction and activation of nuclear factor kappa-B during inflammatory responses, and the IL2RA is part of the IL-2 receptor complex and is involved in activation and proliferation of the cell after an external stimulus. Other genes involved in response to HIV entry (APOBEC3G, TRIM5) and positive regulation of B cell-mediated immunity (*BTK*, *TNSF13*) were also higher in AM of HIV compared to HC, suggesting that underlying activation in this cell subset persists despite effective ART and long-term viral control.

B Cell Gene Expression Profiles in HIV-Infected Children with Differing Response to H1N1 Vaccine Antigen

To determine how phenotype and transcriptional data associated with the ability of enrolled participants to respond to TIV, we applied two selection criteria (serology and Elispot) for separating study participants into responders (R) and NR (**Figure 3A–C**). The HIV-infected group contained approximately equal numbers of participants identified as R and NR, while all participants in the HC group were characterized as R. In agreement with our previous report (4), we found higher frequencies of IgD⁻CD27⁻ (DN) in NR compared to HC (Figure S5A in Supplementary Material). We also observed similar frequencies of class switched CD27⁺ memory B cells (CD19⁺CD27⁺IgD⁻) among the groups (HC, NR, and R) (Figure S5A in Supplementary Material); however, AM were significantly higher in NR compared to both R and HC (Figure S5B in Supplementary Material).



FIGURE 2 | HIV present higher expression of genes involved in immuneactivation and inflammation in activated memory (AM) B cells despite effective antiretroviral therapy (ART) and long-term viral suppression. Graphs in panels (**A**,**B**) show comparisons in gene expression between healthy control (HC) and HIV. (**A**) Spider plot shows number of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) for all the subsets and total peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). Box plots in panel (**B**) show gene expression averages from DEGS resulting in AM between HIV and HC (gene ranking defined by fold change). In this figure, *p*-values resulting from ANOVA analysis are shown. Color-labeled genes are defined according gene set enrichment analysis (performed by genemania.org) as described in the legend.



At a transcriptional level, intersubset analysis comparing AM and RM revealed fewer DEGs in R than NR due to overall higher gene expression in the RM subset from R (Figure S6A in Supplementary Material). We further noted that although most of the DEGs in the total HIV group were present in the comparison between NR and HC (47 DEGs) (Figure S6A and Table S2 in Supplementary Material), only 20 additional DEGs were identified between HIV R and HC (AM vs. RM).

Next, we performed GSEA on DEGs within AM from comparisons between HIV-infected participants (both R and NR separately) and HC. This analysis showed enriched pathways in positive regulation of apoptotic process (*FAS, BAX, PILRB*), B cell activation, and Fc receptor signaling (*BATF, FYN, PLCG1, CD27, CD28*) in HIV (Figures S6B,C and Table S3 in Supplementary Material). Collectively, gene expression data from AM B cells demonstrate that this subset, which has been shown to accumulate in individuals with HIV infection (14, 33), displays a distinct transcription profile compared to HC independent of TIV response.

Distinct Prevaccination Gene Expression Patterns in RM from HIV-Infected Children Responding to H1N1

Our analysis of RM identified 25 genes that were differentially expressed between NR and R in HIV participants prior to vaccination with TIV (**Figure 4A**). RM from NR exhibited overall lower gene expression compared to HC and R. DEGs from this analysis, which were expressed higher in R, are directly involved in regulation of the adaptive immune response through somatic recombination from the immunoglobulin superfamily domain [*TNFSF13*(APRIL), *BTK*], leukocyte activation and BCR signaling pathways (*MTOR*, *FYN*, *CD86*). As shown in **Figure 4B**, genes involved in the *JAK/STAT* signaling cascade (*STAT4*, *IL6R*, *IFNAR*) and the closely related type I interferon response (*IFNAR2*, *MX1*) were higher in R. In addition, *PRDM1* (BLIMP1), able to induce B cell differentiation into plasma cells after encountering Ag (34), was higher in RM of R compared to NR. Collectively, these results show that the RM B cell subset, crucial for potent and specific adaptive immune responses, exhibits a distinct prevaccination transcriptional profile in HIV-infected participants who will mount an effective response to H1N1.

The gene set found to be different between NR and R was further analyzed for differences between pre vaccination (T0) and post vaccination (T1) gene expression in RM. Paired analysis revealed that *PRDM1* (BLIMP1) was significantly reduced at T1 when compared to T0 in HIV (p = 0.0039, median difference = -7.52) (Figure S7A in Supplementary Material). This longitudinal reduction was strongly confirmed in R with all R showing a reduction of *PRDM1* at T1 (p = 0.0001, median difference = -8.9), whereas significance was lost when only NR were taken into account (Figure S7B in Supplementary Material).

To further dissect the relationship of clinical (i.e., serological) markers of response to H1N1 and gene expression patterns, we performed pairwise correlation analysis using the two datasets. We confirmed the findings from differential gene expression analysis of prevaccination RM and found a positive correlation of *BTK* expression in RM at T0 and H1N1 seroconversion (HAI H1N1 Titer T1/T0) (**Figure 4C**) and H1N1 ELIspot at T1 (**Figure 4D**). Additional genes actively involved in proliferation and lymphocyte



FIGURE 4 | Prevaccination gene signatures in RM B cell subset discriminate HIV-infected R and non-responder (NR). (A) Spider plot shows number of differential expressed genes (DEGs) for all the subsets and total peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). (B) Heatmap shows gene expression in R and NR. Colored genes' names refer to gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) legend. In panels (C,D), correlation between gene expression in resting memory and H1N1- seroconversion (C) and ELISpot at T1 (D) are shown. *p* and *r* values show results from correlation analyses (Pearson or Spearman tests for parametric and non-parametric data, respectively).

activation correlated with vaccine response in terms of H1N1 seroconversion (*CD69*, *CD86*) and H1N1 ELISpot at T1 (*CD69*). Interestingly, genes involved in inhibition of the apoptotic process (*LIGHT*, *BCL2*) showed positive correlations with H1N1 ELISpot at T1. Overall, these results demonstrate that the memory B cell compartment is highly impacted by HIV infection and suggest that an activated profile of specific genes in RM is required to maintain a normal adaptive response in HIV-infected patients.

We further asked whether gene expression analysis was correlated to measurements of plasma biomarkers or cell surface molecule expression encoded by the corresponding genes. To do so, we correlated gene expression data with plasma levels of BAFF (B cell activating factor) and with IL-21R⁺ B cell frequency, two molecules already shown to be involved in the immune response against H1N1 after vaccination (4, 30). Interestingly, *TNFSF13B* (BAFF) gene expression in RM was positively correlated with plasma BAFF levels at the time of vaccination (Figures S8A,C in Supplementary Material). Further, gene expression of *IL21R* in sorted RM was positively correlated with the expression of *IL-21R* as analyzed by flow cytometry (Figures S8B,D in Supplementary Material). These data show that transcriptional data may provide a functional correlate in specific molecules involved in the B cell memory response and maintenance over time.

DISCUSSION

This study represents the first evaluation of gene expression patterns in B cell subsets, total B cells and PBMCs in the field of pediatric HIV infection and in the context of immune responses to H1N1 antigen post-TIV. In the field of vaccinomics, systems biology tools have lately generated exciting data revealing molecular mechanisms of immunity induced by vaccination and correlates of protection in order to predict the vaccine efficacy in healthy adults (35, 36). However, as recently shown, the influence of age on gene expression patterns should be taken into account when interpreting systems biology data (37). Additionally, gene signatures identified in healthy adults and in the heterogeneous pool of PBMCs (38, 39) are not directly applicable to pediatric studies (40), and most likely not even in patients affected by chronic conditions such as HIV infection (41). Therefore, we believe that gene expression patterns identified in specific cell subsets may be crucial to investigate the dynamic of vaccine response in HIV-infected children.

In the present study, the analysis of gene expression from purified B cell subsets showed that perturbations in memory B cells persist in HIV-infected children despite stable and long-term virological control. Our results suggest that in these patients, the recovery achieved in overall B cell frequencies is not accompanied by recovery of gene expression and B cell function. We identified clear-cut differences in gene signatures between AM B cells of HIV-infected children and their healthy peers. B cell subsets between study groups were skewed in AM of HIV-infected children toward hyperexpression of genes involved in immune exhaustion/inflammation (CYBB, MYD88, NOD2, IL2RA) and apoptosis (SOCS1, RUNX3). The immune activation and exhaustion pattern, hereby confirmed at a transcriptional level in this particular subset of B cells, may play a key role in the "inflamm-aging" process which leaves ART-treated HIVinfected patients vulnerable to increased risk of non-AIDS defining comorbidities such as malignancies and cardiovascular diseases (42, 43). Indeed, despite the advent of ART which has dramatically increased life expectancy, non-AIDS defining malignancies are still increasing in ART-treated and virologically controlled HIV-infected children (44-46). The AM B cell subset was previously described to be enriched in HIV (47), to be prone to functional "exhaustion," and to dominate HIV-specific responses (24). Furthermore, it has been recently reported in adults that signs of chronic inflammation persist over time even when treatment is started during acute infection (48). It is still unknown whether antiretroviral regimens may differentially impact B cell gene transcriptional patterns. Although in the present study, no differences in terms of ART regimen were found between the study groups (responders and not responders), these specific effects should be addressed in future investigations and in larger cohorts. Other differences between ART-treated HIV and uninfected children have emerged through comparison of B cell subsets within participant groups (see Figure S2B in Supplementary Material). However, we believe that transcriptional analysis of rare and still biologically ill-expanded cell subsets, such as DN and AM (47, 49), would benefit more from an unbiased whole transcriptome approach (e.g., RNA Seq) on sorted subsets and after in vitro or in vivo stimulation in order to provide more definitive results.

Despite this limitation, in line with our previous report (27) and together with findings reported herein, the perturbation of

the AM subset may underlie mechanisms of premature aging of the immune system and impaired ability of HIV-infected patients to respond to vaccinations and to maintain a long-term immune response (50).

Although limited by the small sample size, gene expression data from RM B cells, revealed a 25 gene signature that distinguished responders and NR to H1N1. Interestingly, these data were derived from samples collected before vaccination. This observation may suggest that in the context of HIV infection, RM B cells, which provide secondary, potent and specific immune responses (51) need to present a specific gene expression pattern in order to provide an effective response to vaccination. Most of the genes involved in the signature are directly involved in the B cell receptor gene signaling cascade and in B cell development (APRIL, BTK, PI3K, MTOR, BST2), suggesting that a lower expression of these genes may contribute to a reduced Ab production upon Ag-recall responses. These results are in line with recent data suggesting that modules of genes related to B cell and plasmablasts may be crucial indicators and biomarkers of vaccine induced immunogenicity and protection (21). Although our study was mainly focused on prevaccination signature of response in HIV-infected patients, we performed longitudinal analysis to investigate differences in gene expression of RM from samples collected at 21 days after vaccination (T1) compared to baseline (T0). Expression of PRDM1 (BLIMP1), a transcriptional repressor that drives terminal differentiation into plasma cells was found higher in RM of HIV responders at baseline and was significantly reduced at T1 when compared to T0 in HIV and particularly in R (Figure S7 in Supplementary Material). Reduction of PRDM1 may represent the resting phase of Ag specific B cells after migration to the germinal centers, class switch recombination, and somatic hypermutation (34, 52). Another consideration is that earlier timepoints (24 h to 1 week) after immunization or after re-exposure to the Ag will need to be tested in order to confirm this hypothesis and define the genes' activation programs which orchestrate memory B cell responses in HIV-infected children. Indeed in recent studies early changes of genes enriched in B cells, plasmablasts and immunoglobulins after administration of the RTS,S/AS01 malaria vaccine in healthy malaria-naive adults, were found to be related to vaccine Ab production and cell-related immunogenicity (19).

Our data on RM transcriptional signatures revealed that H1N1 responders expressed higher JAK-STAT cascade genes (*MX1*, *IFNAR*, *STAT4*). These findings are consistent with previous reports showing that STAT genes are crucial in the differentiation of RM B cells induced by IL-21 (53). In this context and following a similar experimental approach as this, we recently reported that *IL21* gene expression from prevaccination purified peripheral T follicular helper cells (pTfh) after *in vitro* stimulation, is an indicator of vaccine response (54).

The present study identified predictive correlates of seroconversion following immunization using pair-wise correlation analysis between individual gene expression data and serological data. In RM, *BTK*, involved in B cell development, and *CD86*, a lymphocyte activation gene, showed significant positive correlations with H1N1 seroconversion after vaccination in HIV supporting the hypothesis that gene signatures in purified RM B cells at the time of immunization may predict the ability of HIV-infected children to respond to vaccinations. Taken together these findings suggest that specific gene signatures in cell subsets directly involved in Ab production and response to Ag (pTfh and RM B cells) are needed to provide an efficient immune response and are altered in HIV infection.

This experimental approach, based on a targeted gene selection (n = 96) rather than unbiased whole transcriptome sequencing, illustrates the benefits of analysis of purified cell subsets. The increased specificity resulting from this approach is important, considering the observed phenotypic alterations in immune cells from HIV-infected patients. We believe that these data provide a strong rationale to warrant future larger studies that can expand and validate these findings.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects or parents/guardians and the local Institutional review board approved the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NC, LA, SuP, PP, and SP conceived the study and designed the experiments. NC and LA performed the experimental procedures. NC drafted the first version of the article. All authors participated in writing, review and editing of the article. NC, LA, BI, and SR performed statistical analysis and bioinformatics. Supervision and resources were provided by PR, PP, and SP.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge all patients and guardians who decided to participate to the study. We thank Celeste Sanchez, Varghese George, Emma Manno, Sara Alfieri, Chiara Pietrafesa, Donato Amodio, and Davide Petricone for their help in experimental work and in phase of analysis. We thank Rajendra Pahwa for helpful suggestions and Melanie Weiss and Jennifer Faudella for their administrative assistance. We finally thank Mario Roederer and Pratip Chattopadhyay for discussions and suggestions during the preliminary phase of the study. The authors have declared that no conflict of interest exists.

FUNDING

This work was made possible by support from a pilot award to NC from Miami Center for AIDS Research (CFAR), grants obtained by Children's Hospital Bambino Gesú (Ricerca corrente 2015 and 2016), and Associazione Volontari Bambino Gesù, Ricerca Finalizzata 2010, Ministero della Salute (RF_2010_2310438), and grants AI108472 and AI127347 to SP and the Laboratory Sciences Core of the Miami CFAR (P30AI073961) from the National Institutes of Health (NIH), which is supported by the following NIH Co-Funding and Participating Institutes and Centers: NIAID, NCI, NICHD, NHLBI, NIDA, NIMH, NIA, NIDDK, NIGMS, FIC, and OAR.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01083/ full#supplementary-material.

FIGURE S1 | Experimental design. Cartoon in panel **(A)** depicts design of the study. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were collected at the time of vaccination (T0) and 21 days after vaccination (T1). At both timepoints, hemagglutination inhibition assay (HIA), and H1N1 ELISpot were performed. Briefly, in panel **(B)** PBMCs stored in liquid nitrogen were thawed and stained for surface molecules and analyzed by flow cytometry (ARIA II cs). Equal number (500 cells) of cells from 5 subsets and total PBMCs from unstimulated samples were sorted as depicted in the sorting strategy into tubes previously coated with specific polymerase chain reaction (PCR) buffer. Data, collected through Fluidigm Real Time PCR analysis tolset 3.0) package, loaded on R (software R 3.0.2 GUI 1.62). Data were later used for mixOmics on R (mixOmics package) and for gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA).

FIGURE S2 | Gene expression patterns of memory B cell subsets rather than B cell frequencies differentiates virally controlled HIV-infected children from their healthy peers. **(A)** Principal component analysis (PCA) shows segregation among the four different B cell subsets in healthy controls (HC) and HIV. JMP©, SAS® has been used to produce the PCA. **(B)** Venn diagram shows differentially expressed genes (DEGs) found when gene expression of activated memory (AM) and resting memory (RM) are compared between HIV and HC. Only ANOVA analyses with a *p* value < 0.05 are shown. Genes marked with the asterisk show *p* values ≤ 0.01. All 23 DEGs found in HC were overlapping in HIV (light gray box). 54 additional DEGs were found in HIV only (dark gray box).

FIGURE S3 | Differential inter subset analysis. Heatmap of intersubset analysis in healthy controls (HC) (A) HIV (B), R (C), and NR (D). Heatmap analyses were generated by singular analysis toolset after identification and removal of outliers.

FIGURE S4 | Gene set enrichment analysis from differentially expressed genes resulting from activated memory in HIV vs. healthy controls (HC). Gene Set Enrichment Analysis in the graph was generated by genemania cytoscape app (genemania.org).

FIGURE S5 | Scatter dot plot in panel (A) shows frequencies of total B cells (live, CD10⁻, CD20⁺); and among B cells: double negative (CD27⁻, IgD⁻), total naive (CD27⁻, IgD⁺), class switched CD27⁺ memory B cells (CD27⁺, IgD⁻), tissue like (CD27⁻, IgD⁻, CD21⁻). In panel (B) activated memory (CD27⁺, IgD⁻, CD21⁻) and resting memory (CD27⁺, IgD⁻, CD21⁺) (two tailed Mann–Whitney test for comparisons) are shown.

FIGURE S6 | Activated memory (AM) vs. resting memory (RM) differentially expressed genes (DEGs) in healthy controls (HC), R and NR. Venn Diagram in panel
(A) shows DEGs found when gene expression of AM and RM are compared between HIV R, HIV NR, and HC. Only ANOVA analysis with a *p* value < 0.05 are shown.
(B,C) gene set enrichment analysis of DEGs derived from activated memory vs. resting memory of HIV NR vs. HC (B) and HIV R vs. HC (C) are shown.

FIGURE S7 | Post vaccination (T1) *PRDM1* (*BLIMP1*) gene expression is reduced in resting memory (RM) of HIV-infected children compared to baseline (T0). In panel (**A**), volcano plot shows differences in gene expression between T1 and T0 in selected genes from sorted RM. In panel (**B**) paired analysis in R (green) and NR (red) of PRDM1 are shown. *P*-Values and median differences derive from Wilcoxon paired t test performed by graphpad (prism 6.0).

FIGURE S8 | IL21R and BAFF (*TNFSF13B*) gene expression in resting memory (RM) correlates with surface molecules and plasma levels. In panel **(A)** heatmap analysis shows *r* values resulting from pairwise Spearman correlations between the aforementioned observations. In **panels (B–D)**, correlation dot plots of the afore mentioned analysis are shown. In the graph gene expression resulting from RM is shown.

TABLE S1 | The full list of genes, alias names and assay codes used for multiplexed principal component analysis are shown in the table.
TABLE S2 | Differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between cell subsets in HIV, healthy controls (HC), R and NR. Table shows DEGs in all groups (HIV, HC, HIV NR, HIV R) when subsets were compared. In the table, cells are highlighted in orange when *p* values were <0.01 and not highlighted when *p* value <0.05. Outlined cells define an opposite relation compared to the one in the headline.

REFERENCES

- Amu S, Ruffin N, Rethi B, Chiodi F. Impairment of B-cell functions during HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2013) 27(15):2323–34. doi:10.1097/QAD. 0b013e328361a427
- Titanji K, De Milito A, Cagigi A, Thorstensson R, Grutzmeier S, Atlas A, et al. Loss of memory B cells impairs maintenance of long-term serologic memory during HIV-1 infection. *Blood* (2006) 108(5):1580–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-11-013383
- Bamford A, Hart M, Lyall H, Goldblatt D, Kelleher P, Kampmann B. The influence of paediatric HIV infection on circulating B cell subsets and CXCR5(+) T helper cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2015) 181(1):110–7. doi:10.1111/cei.12618
- Cagigi A, Rinaldi S, Di Martino A, Manno EC, Zangari P, Aquilani A, et al. Premature immune senescence during HIV-1 vertical infection relates with response to influenza vaccination. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2014) 133(2):592–4. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.10.003
- Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A, Araki K, Ahmed R. From vaccines to memory and back. *Immunity* (2010) 33(4):451–63. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.10.008
- Rainwater-Lovett K, Nkamba HC, Mubiana-Mbewe M, Moore CB, Margolick JB, Moss WJ. Antiretroviral therapy restores age-dependent loss of resting memory B cells in young HIV-infected Zambian children. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr (2014) 65(5):505–9. doi:10.1097/QAI.000000000000074
- Sutcliffe CG, Moss WJ. Do children infected with HIV receiving HAART need to be revaccinated? *Lancet Infect Dis* (2010) 10(9):630–42. doi:10.1016/ S1473-3099(10)70116-X
- Cagigi A, Cotugno N, Giaquinto C, Nicolosi L, Bernardi S, Rossi P, et al. Immune reconstitution and vaccination outcome in HIV-1 infected children: present knowledge and future directions. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2012) 8(12):1784–94. doi:10.4161/hv.21827
- Rainwater-Lovett K, Moss WJ. The urgent need for recommendations on revaccination of HIV-infected children after successful antiretroviral therapy. *Clin Infect Dis* (2010) 51(5):634–5. doi:10.1086/655769
- Pallikkuth S, Parmigiani A, Silva SY, George VK, Fischl M, Pahwa R, et al. Impaired peripheral blood T-follicular helper cell function in HIV-infected nonresponders to the 2009 H1N1/09 vaccine. *Blood* (2012) 120(5):985–93. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-12-396648
- Pallikkuth S, Pilakka Kanthikeel S, Silva SY, Fischl M, Pahwa R, Pahwa S. Upregulation of IL-21 receptor on B cells and IL-21 secretion distinguishes novel 2009 H1N1 vaccine responders from nonresponders among HIVinfected persons on combination antiretroviral therapy. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(11):6173–81. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100264
- Boyd SD, Jackson KJ. Predicting vaccine responsiveness. Cell Host Microbe (2015) 17(3):301–7. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2015.02.015
- Curtis DJ, Muresan P, Nachman S, Fenton T, Richardson KM, Dominguez T, et al. Characterization of functional antibody and memory B-cell responses to pH1N1 monovalent vaccine in HIV-infected children and youth. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(3):e0118567. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118567
- Cotugno N, Douagi I, Rossi P, Palma P. Suboptimal immune reconstitution in vertically HIV infected children: a view on how HIV replication and timing of HAART initiation can impact on T and B-cell compartment. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2012) 2012:805151. doi:10.1155/2012/805151
- Querec TD, Akondy RS, Lee EK, Cao W, Nakaya HI, Teuwen D, et al. Systems biology approach predicts immunogenicity of the yellow fever vaccine in humans. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(1):116–25. doi:10.1038/ni.1688
- Pulendran B, Li S, Nakaya HI. Systems vaccinology. *Immunity* (2010) 33(4):516–29. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.10.006
- Poland GA, Kennedy RB, McKinney BA, Ovsyannikova IG, Lambert ND, Jacobson RM, et al. Vaccinomics, adversomics, and the immune response network theory: individualized vaccinology in the 21st century. *Semin Immunol* (2013) 25(2):89–103. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2013.04.007

TABLE S3 | Differentially expressed genes between study groups. Note: genemania.org gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) In every graph presented throughout the paper, circles with diagonal lines define genes included in the GSEA. Its function is described legend below the graph. The solid circles represent genes resulted to be involved in the pathways. Networks among the genes are defined by colored lines, further explained by legends.

- Tan Y, Tamayo P, Nakaya H, Pulendran B, Mesirov JP, Haining WN. Gene signatures related to B-cell proliferation predict influenza vaccine-induced antibody response. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(1):285–95. doi:10.1002/eji. 201343657
- Kazmin D, Nakaya HI, Lee EK, Johnson MJ, van der Most R, van den Berg RA, et al. Systems analysis of protective immune responses to RTS,S malaria vaccination in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2017) 114(9):2425–30. doi:10.1073/pnas.1621489114
- Nakaya HI, Wrammert J, Lee EK, Racioppi L, Marie-Kunze S, Haining WN, et al. Systems biology of vaccination for seasonal influenza in humans. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(8):786–95. doi:10.1038/ni.2067
- Li S, Rouphael N, Duraisingham S, Romero-Steiner S, Presnell S, Davis C, et al. Molecular signatures of antibody responses derived from a systems biology study of five human vaccines. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(2):195–204. doi:10.1038/ni.2789
- Oberg AL, McKinney BA, Schaid DJ, Pankratz VS, Kennedy RB, Poland GA. Lessons learned in the analysis of high-dimensional data in vaccinomics. *Vaccine* (2015) 33(40):5262–70. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.088
- Tsang JS, Schwartzberg PL, Kotliarov Y, Biancotto A, Xie Z, Germain RN, et al. Global analyses of human immune variation reveal baseline predictors of postvaccination responses. *Cell* (2014) 157(2):499–513. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2014.03.031
- Kardava L, Moir S, Shah N, Wang W, Wilson R, Buckner CM, et al. Abnormal B cell memory subsets dominate HIV-specific responses in infected individuals. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(7):3252–62. doi:10.1172/JCI74351
- Cotugno N, De Armas L, Pallikkuth S, Rossi P, Palma P, Pahwa S. Paediatric HIV infection in the 'omics era: defining transcriptional signatures of viral control and vaccine responses. J Virus Erad (2015) 1:153–8.
- Boyum A. Isolation of mononuclear cells and granulocytes from human blood. Isolation of monuclear cells by one centrifugation, and of granulocytes by combining centrifugation and sedimentation at 1 g. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl* (1968) 97:77–89.
- Cagigi A, Rinaldi S, Santilli V, Mora N, C Manno E, Cotugno N, et al. Premature ageing of the immune system relates to increased anti-lymphocyte antibodies (ALA) after an immunization in HIV-1-infected and kidney-transplanted patients. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) 174(2):274–80. doi:10.1111/cei.12173
- Cagigi A, Pensieroso S, Ruffin N, Sammicheli S, Thorstensson R, Pan-Hammarstrom Q, et al. Relation of activation-induced deaminase (AID) expression with antibody response to A(H1N1)pdm09 vaccination in HIV-1 infected patients. *Vaccine* (2013) 31(18):2231–7. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.03.002
- Dominguez MH, Chattopadhyay PK, Ma S, Lamoreaux L, McDavid A, Finak G, et al. Highly multiplexed quantitation of gene expression on single cells. *J Immunol Methods* (2013) 391(1–2):133–45. doi:10.1016/j.jim. 2013.03.002
- Pallikkuth S, Kanthikeel SP, Silva SY, Fischl M, Pahwa R, Pahwa S. Innate immune defects correlate with failure of antibody responses to H1N1/09 vaccine in HIV-infected patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2011) 128(6):1279–85. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.05.033
- Liquet B, Le Cao KA, Hocini H, Thiebaut R. A novel approach for biomarker selection and the integration of repeated measures experiments from two assays. *BMC Bioinformatics* (2012) 13:325. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-13-325
- Warde-Farley D, Donaldson SL, Comes O, Zuberi K, Badrawi R, Chao P, et al. The GeneMANIA prediction server: biological network integration for gene prioritization and predicting gene function. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2010) 38:W214–20. doi:10.1093/nar/gkq537
- Hu Z, Luo Z, Wan Z, Wu H, Li W, Zhang T, et al. HIV-associated memory B cell perturbations. *Vaccine* (2015) 33(22):2524–9. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine. 2015.04.008
- 34. Shapiro-Shelef M, Lin KI, McHeyzer-Williams LJ, Liao J, McHeyzer-Williams MG, Calame K. Blimp-1 is required for the formation of

immunoglobulin secreting plasma cells and pre-plasma memory B cells. Immunity (2003) 19(4):607–20. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00267-X

- Nakaya HI, Pulendran B. Vaccinology in the era of high-throughput biology. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (1671) 2015:370.
- Ovsyannikova IG, Salk HM, Kennedy RB, Haralambieva IH, Zimmermann MT, Grill DE, et al. Gene signatures associated with adaptive humoral immunity following seasonal influenza A/H1N1 vaccination. *Genes Immun* (2016) 17(7):371–9. doi:10.1038/gene.2016.34
- Nakaya HI, Hagan T, Duraisingham SS, Lee EK, Kwissa M, Rouphael N, et al. Systems analysis of immunity to influenza vaccination across multiple years and in diverse populations reveals shared molecular signatures. *Immunity* (2015) 43(6):1186–98. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.11.012
- Haining WN, Wherry EJ. Integrating genomic signatures for immunologic discovery. *Immunity* (2010) 32(2):152–61. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.02.001
- Gaucher D, Therrien R, Kettaf N, Angermann BR, Boucher G, Filali-Mouhim A, et al. Yellow fever vaccine induces integrated multilineage and polyfunctional immune responses. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(13):3119–31. doi:10.1084/jem.20082292
- Nakaya HI, Clutterbuck E, Kazmin D, Wang L, Cortese M, Bosinger SE, et al. Systems biology of immunity to MF59-adjuvanted versus nonadjuvanted trivalent seasonal influenza vaccines in early childhood. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2016) 113(7):1853–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1519690113
- Virgin HW, Wherry EJ, Ahmed R. Redefining chronic viral infection. *Cell* (2009) 138(1):30–50. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.06.036
- 42. Alcaide ML, Parmigiani A, Pallikkuth S, Roach M, Freguja R, Della Negra M, et al. Immune activation in HIV-infected aging women on antiretrovirals – implications for age-associated comorbidities: a cross-sectional pilot study. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(5):e63804. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063804
- Volberding PA, Deeks SG. Antiretroviral therapy and management of HIV infection. *Lancet* (2010) 376(9734):49–62. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60676-9
- 44. Chiappini E, Berti E, Gianesin K, Petrara MR, Galli L, Giaquinto C, et al. Pediatric human immunodeficiency virus infection and cancer in the highly active antiretroviral treatment (HAART) era. *Cancer Lett* (2014) 347(1):38–45. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2014.02.002
- 45. Alvaro-Meca A, Micheloud D, Jensen J, Diaz A, Garcia-Alvarez M, Resino S. Epidemiologic trends of cancer diagnoses among HIV-infected children in Spain from 1997 to 2008. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* (2011) 30(9):764–8. doi:10.1097/ INF.0b013e31821ba148
- Zangari P, Santilli V, Cotugno N, Manno E, Palumbo G, Lombardi A, et al. Raising awareness of non-Hodgkin lymphoma in HIV-infected adolescents: report of 2 cases in the HAART era. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol (2013) 35(3):e134–7. doi:10.1097/MPH.0b013e318282cef5

- Moir S, Fauci AS. B-cell exhaustion in HIV infection: the role of immune activation. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2014) 9(5):472–7. doi:10.1097/COH. 000000000000092
- Sereti I, Krebs SJ, Phanuphak N, Fletcher JL, Slike B, Pinyakorn S, et al. Persistent, Albeit reduced, chronic inflammation in persons starting antiretroviral therapy in acute HIV infection. *Clin Infect Dis* (2017) 64(2):124–31. doi:10.1093/cid/ciw683
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B-cell responses to HIV infection. Immunol Rev (2017) 275(1):33–48. doi:10.1111/imr.12502
- Palma P, Rinaldi S, Cotugno N, Santilli V, Pahwa S, Rossi P, et al. Premature B-cell senescence as a consequence of chronic immune activation. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2014) 10(7):2083–8. doi:10.4161/hv.28698
- Good KL, Avery DT, Tangye SG. Resting human memory B cells are intrinsically programmed for enhanced survival and responsiveness to diverse stimuli compared to naive B cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(2):890–901. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.182.2.890
- Shaffer AL, Lin KI, Kuo TC, Yu X, Hurt EM, Rosenwald A, et al. Blimp-1 orchestrates plasma cell differentiation by extinguishing the mature B cell gene expression program. *Immunity* (2002) 17(1):51–62. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00335-7
- Deenick EK, Avery DT, Chan A, Berglund LJ, Ives ML, Moens L, et al. Naive and memory human B cells have distinct requirements for STAT3 activation to differentiate into antibody-secreting plasma cells. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(12):2739–53. doi:10.1084/jem.20130323
- de Armas LR, Cotugno N, Pallikkuth S, Pan L, Rinaldi S, Sanchez MC, et al. Induction of IL21 in peripheral T follicular helper cells is an indicator of influenza vaccine response in a previously vaccinated HIV-infected Pediatric Cohort. *J Immunol* (2017) 198(5):1995–2005. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1601425

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Cotugno, De Armas, Pallikkuth, Rinaldi, Issac, Cagigi, Rossi, Palma and Pahwa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Beyond Antibodies: B Cells and the OPG/RANK-RANKL Pathway in Health, Non-HIV Disease and HIV-Induced Bone Loss

Kehmia Titanji*

Division of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Lipids, Department of Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, United States

HIV infection leads to severe B cell dysfunction, which manifests as impaired humoral immune response to infection and vaccinations and is not completely reversed by otherwise effective antiretroviral therapy (ART). Despite its inability to correct HIVinduced B cell dysfunction, ART has led to significantly increased lifespans in people living with HIV/AIDS. This has in turn led to escalating prevalence of non-AIDS complications in aging HIV-infected individuals, including malignancies, cardiovascular disease, bone disease, and other end-organ damage. These complications, typically associated with aging, are a significant cause of morbidity and mortality and occur significantly earlier in HIV-infected individuals. Understanding the pathophysiology of these comorbidities and delineating clinical management strategies and potential cures is gaining in importance. Bone loss and osteoporosis, which lead to increase in fragility fracture prevalence, have in recent years emerged as important non-AIDS comorbidities in patients with chronic HIV infection. Interestingly, ART exacerbates bone loss, particularly within the first couple of years following initiation. The mechanisms underlying HIV-induced bone loss are multifactorial and complicated by the fact that HIV infection is linked to multiple risk factors for osteoporosis and fracture, but a very interesting role for B cells in HIV-induced bone loss has recently emerged. Although best known for their important antibody-producing capabilities, B cells also produce two cytokines critical for bone metabolism: the key osteoclastogenic cytokine receptor activator of NF-κB ligand (RANKL) and its physiological inhibitor osteoprotegerin (OPG). Dysregulated B cell production of OPG and RANKL was shown to be a major contributor to increased bone loss and fracture risk in animal models and HIV-infected humans. This review will summarize our current knowledge of the role of the OPG/RANK-RANKL pathway in B cells in health and disease, and the contribution of B cells to HIV-induced bone loss. Data from mouse studies indicate that RANKL and OPG may also play a role in B cell function and the implications of these findings for human B cell biology, as well as therapeutic strategies targeting the OPG/RANK-RANKL pathway, will be discussed.

Keywords: B cells, HIV, bone loss, comorbidities, cytokines, end-organ damage

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriella Scarlatti, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Martyn Andrew French, University of Western Australia, Australia Antonella Caputo, Università degli Studi di Padova, Italy

> *Correspondence: Kehmia Titanji ktitanj@emory.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 September 2017 Accepted: 06 December 2017 Published: 22 December 2017

Citation:

Titanji K (2017) Beyond Antibodies: B Cells and the OPG/RANK-RANKL Pathway in Health, Non-HIV Disease and HIV-Induced Bone Loss. Front. Immunol. 8:1851. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01851

INTRODUCTION

Rising incidences of bone loss in the form of low bone mineral density (BMD), osteopenia, and osteoporosis, and the resulting increased risk of fracture have over the past decade emerged as important non-AIDS comorbidities affecting HIV-infected individuals (1-6). Successful antiretroviral therapy (ART) over the past couple of decades has been instrumental in significantly extending the life expectancies of HIV-infected individuals to levels comparable to those of the general population (7). A significant proportion of people currently living with HIV in Europe and North America are over the age of 50 (8-10), and it is estimated that by 2030 as many as >70% of HIV-positive individuals will fall within this demographic. Similar to cardiovascular, liver and chronic kidney disease, and other comorbidities, bone loss occurs earlier and at a higher prevalence in HIV-positive individuals than in the HIV negative population (1, 8, 11). This raises concerns of a potential impending epidemic of fragility fractures and other age-associated comorbidities in this population (8, 12).

The underlying mechanisms of HIV-associated bone loss are multifactorial, given that most of the traditional risk factors for bone loss including low body mass index (BMI), older age, tobacco use, metabolic diseases, alcohol, and substance abuse are more prevalent in the HIV-infected population (10, 13). HIV infection is now however clearly established as one of the independent risk factors for bone loss (11, 14, 15), driven by the prevalence of HIV-associated risk factors including chronic inflammation, co-infection with hepatitis B or C, and paradoxically, ART (8, 10, 13). More recently, osteoimmunology has revealed the prominent role the immune system plays in bone metabolism (16) and consequently revealed that HIV-induced immune dysfunction is one of the most important contributors to bone loss.

Osteoimmunology, a term originally coined to describe studies involving the interface between the immune and skeletal systems (17), has been instrumental in our understanding of the numerous ways both organ systems are intertwined. It is now known that in various inflammatory pathological conditions characterized by bone loss, including periodontal disease (PD) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA), both cellular and soluble immune effectors can contribute to bone loss (18, 19). T cells are major contributors to bone loss in RA (20) and PD (21, 22) but their role in HIV-induced bone loss has not been elucidated. Emerging evidence now shows that B cells play an important role in bone biology in health and disease (23–25) and HIV-induced bone loss (26).

Bone homeostasis, which is essential for maintaining skeletal integrity and strength, is regulated by a balance of bone formation by osteoblasts and resorption by osteoclasts and disruption of this balance results in bone disease (18, 27, 28). Osteoclasts are generated in a process known as osteoclastogenesis, which is driven by the key osteoclastogenic cytokine receptor activator of NF- κ B ligand (RANKL). Osteoclasts originate from cells of the myeloid lineage, which in the presence of M-CSF and RANKL differentiate into receptor activator of NF- κ B (RANK)-expressing pre-osteoclasts which proliferate and fuse to form giant multinucleated osteoclasts capable of resorbing bone (15, 29).

Excessive osteoclast activity, as occurs in osteoporosis, results in loss of bone mass and increased susceptibility to fracture (12, 28). The effects of B and T cells on bone are mediated by several key cytokine regulators of bone metabolism (11, 18), including the inflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and interferon- γ , which have been implicated in bone loss in RA, periodontitis, postmenopausal osteoporosis, and HIV (30). Most importantly, RANKL and OPG (18) play important roles in both organ systems and perfectly illustrate the intersection of bone biology and immunity. The OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway also mediates physiological processes in the vascular system, thus intersecting with the skeletal and immune system at this axis (**Figure 1**).

This review will summarize our current knowledge of the role of the OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway in B cells in health and disease, and the contribution of B cells to HIV-induced bone loss. Data from mouse studies indicate that RANKL and OPG may also play a role in B cell function and the implications of these findings for human B cell biology as well as therapeutic strategies targeting the OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway will be discussed.

THE OPG/RANK-RANKL PATHWAY AND B CELLS IN HEALTH

B cells are inextricably linked to bone, from their development in the bone marrow to the homing of terminally differentiated



FIGURE 1 | B cells and the OPG/RANK-RANKL pathway at the intersection of the immune, skeletal, and vascular organ systems. B cells mediate biological processes in health and disease *via* the OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway in three major organ systems in humans: the immune, skeletal, and vascular systems. The extensive intertwining of the immune and skeletal systems has given rise to a whole new field of study called osteoimmunology; some major pathologies implicating B cells and the OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway are highlighted in red and include osteoporosis and periodontal disease in the skeletal system, cardiovascular disease (CVD) in the vascular system, and HIV/comorbidities (bone loss and CVD) in the immune system.

B Cells and Bone Loss in HIV

plasma cells back to the bone marrow (30, 31) and the bidirectional regulation of the skeletal system by B cells (23, 30, 32). Osteoblasts and bone marrow stromal cells regulate B lymphopoiesis through the production of IL-7, a critical cytokine for the differentiation of early-stage B cells in the bone marrow (33, 34). Another major interaction between the skeletal system and B cells revolves around the OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway.

B Cells and Osteoprotegerin (OPG)

The identification and characterization of OPG as a humoral regulator of bone resorption 20 years ago (35, 36) represents a major turning point in our understanding of the physiology of bone homeostasis (37, 38). OPG, named for its ability to protect bone by inhibiting osteoclast differentiation and activity, is a tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) superfamily member which lacks transmembrane-spanning sequences and is secreted as a soluble protein (35, 36). OPG is the natural circulating inhibitor/decoy receptor of RANKL and can inhibit osteoclastogenesis by binding to RANKL, thus preventing bone resorption (35, 37). OPG mRNA is expressed by various tissues, including bone, brain, lung, heart, and kidney (35, 36). In the immune system, OPG is expressed in lymph nodes, B cells, and dendritic cells (DCs) and ligation of CD40 upregulates its expression (39).

Osteoblasts and their precursors were previously considered to be the primary source of OPG in the bone marrow (40, 41) but B lineage cells are now known to account for over 60% of total bone marrow OPG production (25). B cell knockout (KO) mice were osteoporotic and deficient in bone marrow OPG, confirming the critical role of B cells in the preservation of bone homeostasis and attainment of peak bone mass (25).

Unlike its role in bone homeostasis, the role of OPG in B cell function is less well documented. OPG KO mice develop severe osteoporosis due to unchecked osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption (42, 43). Interestingly, OPG-deficient mice also accumulated transitional/immature B cells in their spleens, and generated impaired antibody (Ab) responses to a T celldependent (DNP-KLH) antigen (Ag) challenge, suggesting that OPG may regulate B cell maturation and development of efficient Ab responses (44).

B Cells and RANKL

The ligand for OPG is identical to a TNFR family member called TNF-related activation-induced cytokine or RANKL (37, 45). Human RANKL exists in two forms: a cellular, membrane-bound form and a soluble form, and both forms were shown to be biologically capable of promoting osteoclast formation (46, 47). RANKL is also expressed in a variety of tissues, including bone marrow and lymphoid tissues (36, 47, 48). RANKL is best known for its indispensable role in the complete differentiation of mature osteoclasts (36, 37, 47). Unlike OPG, resting B cells have not been conclusively shown to produce significant amounts of RANKL, but activated B cells are an important source (23), particularly in inflammatory disease states.

B Cells and RANK

The receptor for RANKL, RANK, was initially identified on DCs (48) and later discovered to be expressed on preosteoclastic cells

(37, 46, 49, 50) and B cells (39, 51). The binding of RANKL to RANK stimulates osteoclastogenesis, resulting in bone-resorbing osteoclasts (47).

Lack of functional RANK in both humans and mice results in osteopetrosis due to the absence of osteoclasts (19, 49, 52). Mice deficient in RANK had defects in B cell development which resulted in reduced numbers of mature B cells in the periphery (49). Humans with mutations in RANK also had B cell defects including hypogammaglobulinemia and impaired Ag-specific Ab responses (52).

THE OPG/RANK-RANKL PATHWAY AND B CELLS IN NON-HIV DISEASE

Osteoprotegerin, RANK, and RANKL are produced by a wide variety of cells and tissues in three major organ systems: the vascular, immune, and skeletal systems and are thus implicated in the pathogenesis of various diseases in these organs (15, 38) (**Figure 1**). Although best known for its involvement in the pathogenesis of osteoporosis and other bone diseases such as Paget's disease of bone (53–55) and PD (38, 56), the OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway has also been implicated in other diseases including RA (14, 38, 57) and CVD (58–60).

Rheumatoid Arthritis

The bone and joint destruction that occurs in the autoimmune disorder RA results from increased RANKL-induced osteoclastic bone resorption in the synovial joints (57, 61, 62). Several immune cells have been identified as the sources of RANKL in the arthritic synovium, including Th17 cells (63), macrophages, DCs (57), and activated B cells (64). Targeted B cell depletion therapy for RA using the anti-CD20 Ab rituximab suggests that B cells play a critical role in RA-associated joint damage (64–66). B cells were shown to contribute to RA pathogenesis through their Ag-presenting function, autoantibody production, and cytokine secretion (66, 67). A link between B cells and joint destruction in RA has been confirmed by studies demonstrating that Rituximab significantly reduces RANKL levels in the synovium (68, 69). This link has recently been confirmed by studies identifying pro-inflammatory B cells as major sources of RANKL in RA (64,66). These findings highlight the importance of Ab-independent (cytokine-producing) B cell functions in the pathogenesis of disease and make a case for the therapeutic potential of targeting the B cell OPG/RANK-RANKL pathway in RA and other diseases.

In contrast to RANKL, multiple studies have demonstrated that serum levels of OPG are elevated in RA, resulting in a decreased RANKL/OPG ratio (70, 71). Elevated OPG levels were independently associated with RA disease severity and CVD, and it has been suggested that OPG concentration could be used as a predictive marker for assessing RA-associated CVD risk (72, 73). Data on the role of B cell-produced OPG in the pathophysiology of RA are however lacking.

Cardiovascular Disease

A role for the OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway in the pathogenesis of vascular calcification and CVDs has been established for over a decade now. Both OPG and RANKL have been detected in atherosclerotic plaques (74) and an increased RANKL/OPG ratio is associated with atherosclerosis (59). Transgenic expression of OPG in OPG KO mice prevented the development of arterial calcification but exogenous OPG administration did not reverse existing calcification, suggesting that similar to bone, OPG is a protective factor in the cardiovascular system (75, 76). Results in human studies however seem to conflict with the animal studies, with higher OPG levels consistently associated with CVD incidence (76, 77). The contribution of B cells to OPG/RANK– RANKL-linked CVD has however not been clearly elucidated. Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor KO mice (LDLR^{-/-}) were B cell deficient and developed atherosclerosis, suggesting that B cells and/or antibodies are protective against atherosclerosis (78); it is conceivable that OPG produced by B cells mediates this protective effect.

Bone Diseases

Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is characterized by loss of bone mass and mineral density resulting from an excess of bone resorption by osteoclasts relative to bone formation by osteoblasts (18, 27, 28). The role of the OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway in the pathogenesis of osteoporosis has been well documented and extensively reviewed (15, 37, 38, 62); the role of B cells is however still being elucidated.

Postmenopausal osteoporosis, the most common form of osteoporosis, arises from decreased estrogen levels (62) and was shown in both human patients and an animal model to be linked to increased RANKL expression by B cells (79). Mice subjected to ovariectomy, commonly used as an animal model of estrogen deficiency, have increased numbers of B cells, suggesting that B cells may play a role in estrogen-deficiency osteoporosis (79-81). Data on the contribution of B cells to ovariectomy-induced bone loss is however conflicting. Some studies have demonstrated that ovariectomy-induced bone loss occurs independently of mature B cells (82) and others show that ovariectomy-induced bone loss is linked to RANKL expression on immature B cells (79). Given the fact that B cells are able to express RANKL at various stages in their differentiation, this raises the possibility that the contribution of B lineage cells to estrogen-deficiency osteoporosis is dependent on the differentiation/maturation stage of the B cell. Beyond the differentiation stage however, the activation status of B cells seems to be a better indicator of their ability to produce bone-damaging RANKL (23). This is especially relevant in the context of inflammatory diseases like RA, PD, and HIV-induced bone loss.

Periodontal Disease

Periodontal diseases are inherited or acquired disorders affecting the supporting structures of the teeth and affect as many as 50–90% of the world's population (83). The underlying microbial infections were traditionally the focus of majority of the research on the pathogenesis of PDs but in recent years the focus has shifted to the role of the host response/factors in pathogenesis (83, 84). Host immune/inflammatory responses are critical for pathogenesis and inflammation (84) and the term PD generally refers to inflammation-induced disorders, ranging from the mildest form (gingivitis) to the more invasive severe periodontitis (83). Unlike gingivitis which is completely reversible by effective regular oral hygiene, periodontitis extends deeper into the tissue and can result in the permanent loss of the supporting structures of the teeth and alveolar bone (83).

One of the microorganisms most commonly implicated in PD pathogenesis is Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans (Aa), which induces RANKL expression on a variety of cell types infiltrating in PD lesions (84). While the RANKL levels in PD lesions are consistently elevated in most clinical studies, some studies found lower (22) or unchanged (24) OPG levels in lesions, which both resulted in higher RANKL/OPG ratios in periodontitis compared to healthy controls (22, 24, 84). Activated B and T cells were shown to be the primary source of RANKL in gingival tissues from individuals with periodontitis (24, 85). B cell percentages in chronic PD lesions were associated with disease severity, suggesting that B cells promote PD (86) and interestingly, PD lesion-infiltrating B cells in humans were activated transitional CD5⁺ cells (86, 87). Using a rat model, it was also demonstrated that B cells contributed to osteoclast formation and periodontal bone loss by secreting RANKL following activation by Aa in a T cell-independent manner (85).

B CELLS, THE OPG/RANK-RANKL PATHWAYS, AND HIV-INDUCED BONE LOSS

With the availability of ever-improving treatment regimens, ART is enabling HIV-infected individuals to live longer than ever before, but life expectancies of patients remain lower than those of the general population (7, 12, 15, 16, 59). Over 33% of people currently living with HIV in Europe are >50 years of age and this percentage is expected to increase to >70% by 2030 (88); in the US, the same demographic is estimated to constitute up to 50% of the HIV-positive population (89). This increased longevity is however accompanied by earlier occurrence and higher prevalence of several non-AIDS end-organ comorbidities including cardiovascular and bone diseases (90–92), which in turn imposes significant disease burdens on the patients, healthcare systems, and society.

As discussed above, under inflammatory conditions, B cells produce higher amounts of RANKL, leading to an increased RANKL/OPG ratio, which drives disease progression (26, 29) in inflammatory diseases such as RA. HIV infection is associated with persistent inflammation (93) and the success of B cell-targeted/depleting therapies in reducing inflammation in autoimmune disorders such as RA suggest that B cells may contribute to persistent inflammation (94, 95). Given the pivotal role this pathway plays in osteoclastogenesis and bone loss, its role in B cells and HIV is perfectly illustrated by its contribution to inflammation-driven HIV-induced bone loss.

A hallmark of chronic HIV infection is the altered distribution of subsets in the B cell compartment (93), notably the loss of resting memory B cells (26) and the expansion of exhausted/ tissue-like memory B cells (26, 93, 96). Interestingly, OPG expression was lowest in the HIV-expanded tissue-like memory B cell subset, which conversely showed higher RANKL expression (26) (**Figure 2**). This tissue-like memory B cell subset was also previously shown to express the inhibitory receptor FcRL4 (96), which in RA defined a pro-inflammatory RANKL-producing B cells subset (66). Taken together, this suggests that inflammation does drive B cell subset RANKL expression in HIV infection.

Low BMD increases the risk of fragility fractures and is widely prevalent in HIV-infected individuals, with as many as 67% presenting with osteopenia and ~15% with osteoporosis (91). Increased osteopenia and osteoporosis rates translate into significantly elevated fracture risk, and studies show that HIVinfected individuals do indeed suffer more fragility fractures, at younger ages, than the general population (1). The ubiquitous presence of traditional risk factors for low BMD such as increased smoking and low BMI in most HIV-infected cohorts complicates efforts to understand and elucidate the mechanisms underlying HIV-induced bone loss (11, 26, 97). HIV infection in itself is now recognized as a risk factor for bone loss (97).

HIV transgenic rats almost perfectly mimic the clinical hallmarks of human HIV-induced bone disease, including profound skeletal damage. Bone loss in this model was driven by increased B cell RANKL expression concurrent with decreased OPG expression, which in turn resulted in increased RANKL/ OPG ratio and thus osteoclastogenesis and bone loss (98). This mechanism of HIV-induced B cell dysfunction-driven bone loss was later confirmed in a clinical study of untreated HIVinfected individuals where it was demonstrated that increased B cell RANKL/OPG was indeed associated with increased bone resorption (26). This demonstrated for the first time that the OPG/RANK-RANKL pathway is indeed a key pathway utilized by B cells to effect skeletal damage in HIV infection. This demonstrates clearly how HIV-induced B cell changes in the immune system translate directly into dysfunction and bone loss in the skeletal system (Figure 2).



FIGURE 2 | Differential production of osteoprotegerin (OPG) and receptor-activator of NF-κB ligand (RANKL) by B cell subsets results in higher RANKL/OPG ratio, which contributes to HIV-induced osteoclastogenesis and bone loss. Osteoclasts are generated in a process known as osteoclastogenesis, which is driven by the key osteoclastogenic cytokine RANKL. Osteoclasts originate from cells of the myeloid lineage, which in the presence of M-CSF and RANKL differentiate into receptor-activator of NF-κB (RANK)-expressing pre-osteoclasts, which proliferate and fuse to form giant multinucleated osteoclasts capable of resorbing bone. HIV infection leads to the depletion of resting memory B cells and expansion of activated B cell subsets including activated memory and tissue-like memory B cells. Resting memory B cells produce the highest amounts of OPG and tissue-like memory B cells conversely the lowest amounts of OPG and the highest amounts of RANKL (26). HIV-induced B cell subset changes therefore translate into higher RANKL/OPG ratios, which contribute to increased osteoclastogenesis and bone loss in HIV-infected patients.

REGULATORY EFFECTS OF THE OPG/ RANK-RANKL PATHWAY ON B CELLS AND HUMORAL IMMUNE RESPONSES

Due to the expression of OPG, RANK, and RANKL on a wide variety of immune cell types, the pathway is thought to play an important role in immune cell biology. Despite the involvement of B cell-expressed OPG and RANKL in the normal function of the immune, skeletal, and vascular systems and in the pathogenesis of multiple diseases, the effect of these molecules on B cell physiology has not been extensively described.

Receptor-activator of NF- κ B ligand plays an important role in the development of secondary lymphoid organs. RANK- and RANKL-deficient mice had poorly developed or completely lacked secondary lymphoid tissues including lymph nodes, Peyer's patches, cryptopatches, and spleen (46, 49, 62).

The role of this pathway in B cell function has also been investigated in a few mouse studies. OPG-deficient mice accumulated transitional/immature B cells in their spleens and generated impaired Ab responses to a T cell-dependent (DNP-KLH) Ag challenge, suggesting that OPG may regulate B cell maturation and development of efficient Ab responses (44). Conversely, B cell development was impaired in RANKL-deficient mice, suggesting that OPG regulates B cell development.

In another study (99), OPG was used to treat mice induced to develop different types of cellular and humoral immune responses through: (1) infection with Mycobacterium bovis Bacillus Calmette and Guerin (BCG) followed by OPG-Fc treatment, (2) immunization with KLH in Freund's adjuvant or by i.p. injection of a Pneumococcal Vaccine Polyvalent (Pneumovax[®]23, Merck) (3) immunization with Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin (KLH) in vivo followed by OPG-Fc treatment, and (4) In a bid to induce contact hypersensitivity, mice were also sensitized with the hapten oxazolone, followed by treatment with OPG-Fc. T and B cells were also exposed to OPG in vitro. OPG treatment did not affect cell-mediated responses including contact hypersensitivity but increased humoral immune responses to KLH and the pneumococcal vaccine. In vitro, OPG modestly stimulated T cells but not the proliferation of B cells. These results demonstrated that OPG has modest regulatory effects on humoral immune responses to certain Ags. The potential impact of the OPG/RANK-RANKL on the generation of human humoral immune responses is not clear and definitely merits further study.

THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES TARGETING THE OPG/RANK-RANKL PATHWAY

Although initially described in the context of bone disease, the OPG/RANK–RANKL pathway is now known to influence normal physiology and pathology in the immune, skeletal, and vascular systems. This opens up the potential for a lot of cross application of potential therapeutic strategies targeting this pathway.

One such strategy involves RANKL inhibition; E. coli-derived Fc-OPG showed great promise in phase I trials, causing rapid decline in bone turnover markers in postmenopausal women (100), also serving as a proof of concept that RANKL blockade could meaningfully impact bone turnover in humans (46). Perhaps the best known RANKL inhibitor in clinical use to date is denosumab, a fully human IgG2 Ab which binds RANKL with high affinity and unlike Fc-OPG does not bind to mouse and rat RANKL and TRAIL (46). In clinical use, denosumab effectively reduces fracture risk by reducing bone resorption and was shown to be superior to bisphosphonates in its ability to increase BMD in postmenopausal women (46). When used to treat cancer-induced bone disease, denosumab effectively reduced levels of bone turnover markers in patients with solid tumor (breast, prostate, and lung) metastases to bone and prolonged bone metastasisfree survival and delayed the onset of first metastasis in certain prostate cancers (101). Denosumab was also well-tolerated and no significant changes in B cell numbers were noted (102, 103). The effect of denosumab on B cell function is not fully elucidated; in one study investigating its utility as a postmenopausal osteoporosis treatment (104), 2/412 women developed transient nonneutralizing anti-denosumab antibodies, which did not adversely affect the skeleton but did appear to alter the effectiveness of the drug (104). Due to the wide pattern of expression of RANKL, including on lymphocytes, and in the vascular and skeletal systems, RANKL inhibition using denosumab could potentially increase susceptibility to infections and neoplasias (105), particularly in immunocompromised patients. No significant alterations in inflammation and immunity have however been observed in preclinical and clinical studies of denosumab, although rare cases of severe skin infections of the lower extremities were reported (106). To date, no data are available on the use of denosumab in HIV infection and the effect of RANKL blockade on humoral immune responses in HIV-infected individuals remains to be elucidated.

CONCLUSION

In summary, B cells are intricately intertwined with the OPG/ RANK–RANKL pathway, plays important roles in the immune, skeletal, and vascular systems, and much remains to be discovered about the influence of this pathway on human humoral immune responses.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KT designed, drafted, and revised the manuscript and is accountable for all aspects of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The author acknowledges grant support from the NHLBI (1K01HL131333-01).

REFERENCES

- Triant VA, Brown TT, Lee H, Grinspoon SK. Fracture prevalence among human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected versus non-HIV-infected patients in a large U.S. healthcare system. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93(9):3499–504. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-0828
- Womack JA, Goulet JL, Gibert C, Brandt C, Chang CC, Gulanski B, et al. Increased risk of fragility fractures among HIV infected compared to uninfected male veterans. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(2):e17217. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0017217
- Young B, Dao CN, Buchacz K, Baker R, Brooks JT, HIV Outpatient Study (HOPS) Investigators. Increased rates of bone fracture among HIV-infected persons in the HIV Outpatient Study (HOPS) compared with the US general population, 2000-2006. *Clin Infect Dis* (2011) 52(8):1061–8. doi:10.1093/cid/ ciq242
- Brown TT, Ruppe MD, Kassner R, Kumar P, Kehoe T, Dobs AS, et al. Reduced bone mineral density in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients and its association with increased central adiposity and postload hyperglycemia. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89(3):1200–6. doi:10.1210/ jc.2003-031506
- Bruera D, Luna N, David DO, Bergoglio LM, Zamudio J. Decreased bone mineral density in HIV-infected patients is independent of antiretroviral therapy. AIDS (2003) 17(13):1917–23. doi:10.1097/00002030-200309050-00010
- Prior J, Burdge D, Maan E, Milner R, Hankins C, Klein M, et al. Fragility fractures and bone mineral density in HIV positive women: a case-control population-based study. *Osteoporos Int* (2007) 18(10):1345–53. doi:10.1007/ s00198-007-0428-7
- van Sighem AI, Gras LA, Reiss P, Brinkman K, de Wolf F, ATHENA National Observational Cohort Study. Life expectancy of recently diagnosed asymptomatic HIV-infected patients approaches that of uninfected individuals. *AIDS* (2010) 24(10):1527–35. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32833a3946
- Cotter AG, Mallon PW. The effects of untreated and treated HIV infection on bone disease. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2014) 9(1):17–26. doi:10.1097/ COH.00000000000028
- Warriner AH, Mugavero M, Overton ET. Bone alterations associated with HIV. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep (2014) 11(3):233–40. doi:10.1007/s11904-014-0216-x
- Compston J. HIV infection and bone disease. *J Intern Med* (2016) 280(4):350–8. doi:10.1111/joim.12520
- Schafer JJ, Manlangit K, Squires KE. Bone health and human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Pharmacotherapy* (2013) 33(6):665–82. doi:10.1002/ phar.1257
- Ofotokun I, Weitzmann MN. HIV and bone metabolism. Discov Med (2011) 11(60):385–93.
- Guaraldi G, Zona S, Brothers TD, Carli F, Stentarelli C, Dolci G, et al. Aging with HIV vs. HIV seroconversion at older age: a diverse population with distinct comorbidity profiles. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(4):e0118531. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0118531
- Takayanagi H. Osteoimmunology and the effects of the immune system on bone. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2009) 5(12):667-76. doi:10.1038/ nrrheum.2009.217
- Weitzmann MN, Ofotokun I. Physiological and pathophysiological bone turnover – role of the immune system. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2016) 12(9):518– 32. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2016.91
- Ofotokun I, McIntosh E, Weitzmann MN. HIV: inflammation and bone. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep (2012) 9(1):16–25. doi:10.1007/s11904-011-0099-z
- 17. Arron JR, Choi Y. Bone versus immune system. *Nature* (2000) 408(6812): 535–6. doi:10.1038/35046196
- Rho J, Takami M, Choi Y. Osteoimmunology: interactions of the immune and skeletal systems. *Mol Cells* (2004) 17(1):1–9.
- Kong YY, Feige U, Sarosi I, Bolon B, Tafuri A, Morony S, et al. Activated T cells regulate bone loss and joint destruction in adjuvant arthritis through osteoprotegerin ligand. *Nature* (1999) 402(6759):304–9. doi:10.1038/35005552
- O'Gradaigh D, Compston JE. T-cell involvement in osteoclast biology: implications for rheumatoid bone erosion. *Rheumatology* (2004) 43(2):122–30. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keg447
- Taubman MA, Kawai T. Involvement of T-lymphocytes in periodontal disease and in direct and indirect induction of bone resorption. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med* (2001) 12(2):125–35. doi:10.1177/10454411010120020301

- Crotti T, Smith MD, Hirsch R, Soukoulis S, Weedon H, Capone M, et al. Receptor activator NF kappaB ligand (RANKL) and osteoprotegerin (OPG) protein expression in periodontitis. *J Periodontal Res* (2003) 38(4):380–7. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0765.2003.00615.x
- Horowitz MC, Fretz JA, Lorenzo JA. How B cells influence bone biology in health and disease. *Bone* (2010) 47(3):472–9. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2010.06.011
- 24. Kawai T, Matsuyama T, Hosokawa Y, Makihira S, Seki M, Karimbux NY, et al. B and T lymphocytes are the primary sources of RANKL in the bone resorptive lesion of periodontal disease. *Am J Pathol* (2006) 169(3):987–98. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2006.060180
- 25. Li Y, Toraldo G, Li A, Yang X, Zhang H, Qian WP, et al. B cells and T cells are critical for the preservation of bone homeostasis and attainment of peak bone mass in vivo. *Blood* (2007) 109(9):3839–48. doi:10.1182/ blood-2006-07-037994
- Titanji K, Vunnava A, Sheth AN, Delille C, Lennox JL, Sanford SE, et al. Dysregulated B cell expression of RANKL and OPG correlates with loss of bone mineral density in HIV infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(10):e1004497. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004497
- Tanaka Y, Nakayamada S, Okada Y. Osteoblasts and osteoclasts in bone remodeling and inflammation. *Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy* (2005) 4(3):325–8. doi:10.2174/1568010054022015
- Teitelbaum SL, Ross FP. Genetic regulation of osteoclast development and function. *Nat Rev Genet* (2003) 4(8):638–49. doi:10.1038/nrg1122
- Weitzmann MN. The role of inflammatory cytokines, the RANKL/OPG axis, and the immunoskeletal interface in physiological bone turnover and osteoporosis. *Scientifica (Cairo)* (2013) 2013:125705. doi:10.1155/ 2013/125705
- Pietschmann P, Mechtcheriakova D, Meshcheryakova A, Foger-Samwald U, Ellinger I. Immunology of osteoporosis: a mini-review. *Gerontology* (2016) 62(2):128–37. doi:10.1159/000431091
- Nagasawa T. Microenvironmental niches in the bone marrow required for B-cell development. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(2):107–16. doi:10.1038/ nri1780
- Hardy RR, Hayakawa K. B cell development pathways. Annu Rev Immunol (2001) 19:595–621. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.595
- 33. Wu JY, Purton LE, Rodda SJ, Chen M, Weinstein LS, McMahon AP, et al. Osteoblastic regulation of B lymphopoiesis is mediated by Gs{alpha}dependent signaling pathways. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(44):16976–81. doi:10.1073/pnas.0802898105
- Namen AE, Lupton S, Hjerrild K, Wignall J, Mochizuki DY, Schmierer A, et al. Stimulation of B-cell progenitors by cloned murine interleukin-7. *Nature* (1988) 333(6173):571–3. doi:10.1038/333571a0
- Simonet WS, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Kelley M, Chang MS, Luthy R, et al. Osteoprotegerin: a novel secreted protein involved in the regulation of bone density. *Cell* (1997) 89(2):309–19. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80209-3
- 36. Yasuda H, Shima N, Nakagawa N, Mochizuki SI, Yano K, Fujise N, et al. Identity of osteoclastogenesis inhibitory factor (OCIF) and osteoprotegerin (OPG): a mechanism by which OPG/OCIF inhibits osteoclastogenesis in vitro. *Endocrinology* (1998) 139(3):1329–37. doi:10.1210/endo.139.3.5837
- Khosla S. Minireview: the OPG/RANKL/RANK system. *Endocrinology* (2001) 142(12):5050–5. doi:10.1210/endo.142.12.8536
- Theoleyre S, Wittrant Y, Tat SK, Fortun Y, Redini F, Heymann D. The molecular triad OPG/RANK/RANKL: involvement in the orchestration of pathophysiological bone remodeling. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2004) 15(6):457–75. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2004.06.004
- Yun TJ, Chaudhary PM, Shu GL, Frazer JK, Ewings MK, Schwartz SM, et al. OPG/FDCR-1, a TNF receptor family member, is expressed in lymphoid cells and is up-regulated by ligating CD40. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(11):6113–21.
- Hofbauer LC, Khosla S, Dunstan CR, Lacey DL, Boyle WJ, Riggs BL. The roles of osteoprotegerin and osteoprotegerin ligand in the paracrine regulation of bone resorption. *J Bone Miner Res* (2000) 15(1):2–12. doi:10.1359/ jbmr.2000.15.1.2
- Rifas L, Arackal S, Weitzmann MN. Inflammatory T cells rapidly induce differentiation of human bone marrow stromal cells into mature osteoblasts. *J Cell Biochem* (2003) 88(4):650–9. doi:10.1002/jcb.10436
- Bucay N, Sarosi I, Dunstan CR, Morony S, Tarpley J, Capparelli C, et al. Osteoprotegerin-deficient mice develop early onset osteoporosis and arterial calcification. *Genes Dev* (1998) 12(9):1260–8. doi:10.1101/gad.12.9.1260

- Mizuno A, Amizuka N, Irie K, Murakami A, Fujise N, Kanno T, et al. Severe osteoporosis in mice lacking osteoclastogenesis inhibitory factor/osteoprotegerin. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1998) 247(3):610–5. doi:10.1006/ bbrc.1998.8697
- 44. Yun TJ, Tallquist MD, Aicher A, Rafferty KL, Marshall AJ, Moon JJ, et al. Osteoprotegerin, a crucial regulator of bone metabolism, also regulates B cell development and function. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(3):1482–91. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.166.3.1482
- Wong BR, Rho J, Arron J, Robinson E, Orlinick J, Chao M, et al. TRANCE is a novel ligand of the tumor necrosis factor receptor family that activates c-Jun N-terminal kinase in T cells. *J Biol Chem* (1997) 272(40):25190–4. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.40.25190
- Lacey DL, Boyle WJ, Simonet WS, Kostenuik PJ, Dougall WC, Sullivan JK, et al. Bench to bedside: elucidation of the OPG-RANK-RANKL pathway and the development of denosumab. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2012) 11(5):401–19. doi:10.1038/nrd3705
- Lacey DL, Timms E, Tan HL, Kelley MJ, Dunstan CR, Burgess T, et al. Osteoprotegerin ligand is a cytokine that regulates osteoclast differentiation and activation. *Cell* (1998) 93(2):165–76. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)81569-X
- Anderson DM, Maraskovsky E, Billingsley WL, Dougall WC, Tometsko ME, Roux ER, et al. A homologue of the TNF receptor and its ligand enhance T-cell growth and dendritic-cell function. *Nature* (1997) 390(6656):175–9. doi:10.1038/36593
- Dougall WC, Glaccum M, Charrier K, Rohrbach K, Brasel K, De Smedt T, et al. RANK is essential for osteoclast and lymph node development. *Genes Dev* (1999) 13(18):2412–24. doi:10.1101/gad.13.18.2412
- Hsu H, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Solovyev I, Colombero A, Timms E, et al. Tumor necrosis factor receptor family member RANK mediates osteoclast differentiation and activation induced by osteoprotegerin ligand. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(7):3540–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.7.3540
- Perlot T, Penninger JM. Development and function of murine B cells lacking RANK. J Immunol (2012) 188(3):1201–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102063
- Guerrini MM, Sobacchi C, Cassani B, Abinun M, Kilic SS, Pangrazio A, et al. Human osteoclast-poor osteopetrosis with hypogammaglobulinemia due to TNFRSF11A (RANK) mutations. *Am J Hum Genet* (2008) 83(1):64–76. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.06.015
- Hofbauer LC, Schoppet M. Osteoprotegerin deficiency and juvenile Paget's disease. N Engl J Med (2002) 347(20):1622–1623; author reply1622–1623. doi:10.1056/NEJM200211143472015
- Menaa C, Reddy SV, Kurihara N, Maeda H, Anderson D, Cundy T, et al. Enhanced RANK ligand expression and responsivity of bone marrow cells in Paget's disease of bone. *J Clin Invest* (2000) 105(12):1833–8. doi:10.1172/ JCI9133
- Whyte MP, Obrecht SE, Finnegan PM, Jones JL, Podgornik MN, McAlister WH, et al. Osteoprotegerin deficiency and juvenile Paget's disease. N Engl J Med (2002) 347(3):175–84. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa013096
- Taubman MA, Valverde P, Han X, Kawai T. Immune response: the key to bone resorption in periodontal disease. J Periodontol (2005) 76(11 Suppl):2033–41. doi:10.1902/jop.2005.76.11-S.2033
- Geusens P. The role of RANK ligand/osteoprotegerin in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis* (2012) 4(4):225–33. doi:10.1177/1759 720X12438080
- Kaden JJ, Bickelhaupt S, Grobholz R, Haase KK, Sarikoc A, Kilic R, et al. Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand and osteoprotegerin regulate aortic valve calcification. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2004) 36(1):57–66. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2003.09.015
- Kelesidis T, Currier JS, Yang OO, Brown TT. Role of RANKL-RANK/osteoprotegerin pathway in cardiovascular and bone disease associated with HIV infection. *AIDS Rev* (2014) 16(3):123–33.
- Kiechl S, Schett G, Wenning G, Redlich K, Oberhollenzer M, Mayr A, et al. Osteoprotegerin is a risk factor for progressive atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* (2004) 109(18):2175–80. doi:10.1161/01. CIR.0000127957.43874.BB
- Takayanagi H. New developments in osteoimmunology. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2012) 8(11):684–9. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2012.167
- Walsh MC, Choi Y. Biology of the RANKL-RANK-OPG system in immunity, bone, and beyond. Front Immunol (2014) 5:511. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00511

- 63. Okamoto K, Takayanagi H. Regulation of bone by the adaptive immune system in arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2011) 13(3):219. doi:10.1186/ar3323
- 64. Yeo L, Toellner KM, Salmon M, Filer A, Buckley CD, Raza K, et al. Cytokine mRNA profiling identifies B cells as a major source of RANKL in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2011) 70(11):2022–8. doi:10.1136/ard. 2011.153312
- Edwards JC, Szczepanski L, Szechinski J, Filipowicz-Sosnowska A, Emery P, Close DR, et al. Efficacy of B-cell-targeted therapy with rituximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *N Engl J Med* (2004) 350(25):2572–81. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa032534
- 66. Yeo L, Lom H, Juarez M, Snow M, Buckley CD, Filer A, et al. Expression of FcRL4 defines a pro-inflammatory, RANKL-producing B cell subset in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2015) 74(5):928–35. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2013-204116
- Anolik JH, Looney RJ, Lund FE, Randall TD, Sanz I. Insights into the heterogeneity of human B cells: diverse functions, roles in autoimmunity, and use as therapeutic targets. *Immunol Res* (2009) 45(2–3):144–58. doi:10.1007/s12026-009-8096-7
- Boumans MJ, Thurlings RM, Yeo L, Scheel-Toellner D, Vos K, Gerlag DM, et al. Rituximab abrogates joint destruction in rheumatoid arthritis by inhibiting osteoclastogenesis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2012) 71(1):108–13. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2011-200198
- 69. Tak PP, Rigby WF, Rubbert-Roth A, Peterfy CG, van Vollenhoven RF, Stohl W, et al. Inhibition of joint damage and improved clinical outcomes with ritux-imab plus methotrexate in early active rheumatoid arthritis: the IMAGE trial. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2011) 70(1):39–46. doi:10.1136/ard.2010.137703
- Wang P, Li S, Liu LN, Lv TT, Li XM, Li XP, et al. Circulating osteoprotegerin levels are elevated in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Rheumatol* (2017) 36(10):2193–200. doi:10.1007/ s10067-017-3747-x
- Remuzgo-Martinez S, Genre F, Lopez-Mejias R, Ubilla B, Mijares V, Pina T, et al. Expression of osteoprotegerin and its ligands, RANKL and TRAIL, in rheumatoid arthritis. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:29713. doi:10.1038/srep29713
- DesseinPH,Lopez-MejiasR,Gonzalez-JuanateyC,GenreF,Miranda-FilloyJA, Llorca J, et al. Independent relationship of osteoprotegerin concentrations with endothelial activation and carotid atherosclerosis in patients with severe rheumatoid arthritis. *J Rheumatol* (2014) 41(3):429–36. doi:10.3899/ jrheum.131037
- Lopez-Mejias R, Ubilla B, Genre F, Corrales A, Hernandez JL, Ferraz-Amaro I, et al. Osteoprotegerin concentrations relate independently to established cardiovascular disease in rheumatoid arthritis. *J Rheumatol* (2015) 42(1):39–45. doi:10.3899/jrheum.140690
- 74. Golledge J, McCann M, Mangan S, Lam A, Karan M. Osteoprotegerin and osteopontin are expressed at high concentrations within symptomatic carotid atherosclerosis. *Stroke* (2004) 35(7):1636–41. doi:10.1161/01. STR.0000129790.00318.a3
- Min H, Morony S, Sarosi I, Dunstan CR, Capparelli C, Scully S, et al. Osteoprotegerin reverses osteoporosis by inhibiting endosteal osteoclasts and prevents vascular calcification by blocking a process resembling osteoclastogenesis. J Exp Med (2000) 192(4):463–74. doi:10.1084/jem.192.4.463
- Venuraju SM, Yerramasu A, Corder R, Lahiri A. Osteoprotegerin as a predictor of coronary artery disease and cardiovascular mortality and morbidity. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2010) 55(19):2049–61. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2010.03.013
- Abedin M, Omland T, Ueland T, Khera A, Aukrust P, Murphy SA, et al. Relation of osteoprotegerin to coronary calcium and aortic plaque (from the Dallas Heart Study). *Am J Cardiol* (2007) 99(4):513–8. doi:10.1016/j. amjcard.2006.08.064
- Major AS, Fazio S, Linton MF. B-lymphocyte deficiency increases atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-null mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2002) 22(11):1892–8. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000039169.47943.EE
- Onal M, Xiong J, Chen X, Thostenson JD, Almeida M, Manolagas SC, et al. Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand (RANKL) protein expression by B lymphocytes contributes to ovariectomy-induced bone loss. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287(35):29851–60. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.377945
- Masuzawa T, Miyaura C, Onoe Y, Kusano K, Ohta H, Nozawa S, et al. Estrogen deficiency stimulates B lymphopoiesis in mouse bone marrow. *J Clin Invest* (1994) 94(3):1090–7. doi:10.1172/JCI117424
- 81. Miyaura C, Onoe Y, Inada M, Maki K, Ikuta K, Ito M, et al. Increased B-lymphopoiesis by interleukin 7 induces bone loss in mice with intact

ovarian function: similarity to estrogen deficiency. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94(17):9360–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.17.9360

- Li Y, Li A, Yang X, Weitzmann MN. Ovariectomy-induced bone loss occurs independently of B cells. J Cell Biochem (2007) 100(6):1370–5. doi:10.1002/ jcb.21121
- Pihlstrom BL, Michalowicz BS, Johnson NW. Periodontal diseases. Lancet (2005) 366(9499):1809–20. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67728-8
- Cochran DL. Inflammation and bone loss in periodontal disease. J Periodontol (2008) 79(8 Suppl):1569–76. doi:10.1902/jop.2008.080233
- Han X, Kawai T, Eastcott JW, Taubman MA. Bacterial-responsive B lymphocytes induce periodontal bone resorption. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(1):625–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.1.625
- Nikolajczyk BS. B cells as under-appreciated mediators of non-auto-immune inflammatory disease. *Cytokine* (2010) 50(3):234–42. doi:10.1016/j. cyto.2010.02.022
- Berglundh T, Liljenberg B, Tarkowski A, Lindhe J. The presence of local and circulating autoreactive B cells in patients with advanced periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol* (2002) 29(4):281–6. doi:10.1034/j.1600-051X.2002. 290402.x
- Smit M, Brinkman K, Geerlings S, Smit C, Thyagarajan K, Sighem A, et al. Future challenges for clinical care of an ageing population infected with HIV: a modelling study. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2015) 15(7):810–8. doi:10.1016/ S1473-3099(15)00056-0
- Effros RB, Fletcher CV, Gebo K, Halter JB, Hazzard WR, Horne FM, et al. Aging and infectious diseases: workshop on HIV infection and aging: what is known and future research directions. *Clin Infect Dis* (2008) 47(4):542–53. doi:10.1086/590150
- Aberg JA. Aging, inflammation, and HIV infection. *Top Antivir Med* (2012) 20(3):101–5.
- Brown TT, Qaqish RB. Antiretroviral therapy and the prevalence of osteopenia and osteoporosis: a meta-analytic review. *AIDS* (2006) 20(17):2165–74. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32801022eb
- Triant VA, Lee H, Hadigan C, Grinspoon SK. Increased acute myocardial infarction rates and cardiovascular risk factors among patients with human immunodeficiency virus disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 92(7):2506–12. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-2190
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B cells in HIV infection and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(4):235–45. doi:10.1038/nri2524
- Edwards JC, Cambridge G. B-cell targeting in rheumatoid arthritis and other autoimmune diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6(5):394–403. doi:10.1038/ nri1838
- Sanz I, Anolik JH, Looney RJ. B cell depletion therapy in autoimmune diseases. *Front Biosci* (2007) 12:2546–67. doi:10.2741/2254
- 96. Moir S, Ho J, Malaspina A, Wang W, DiPoto AC, O'Shea MA, et al. Evidence for HIV-associated B cell exhaustion in a dysfunctional memory B cell

compartment in HIV-infected viremic individuals. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(8):1797–805. doi:10.1084/jem.20072683

- McComsey GA, Tebas P, Shane E, Yin MT, Overton ET, Huang JS, et al. Bone disease in HIV infection: a practical review and recommendations for HIV care providers. *Clin Infect Dis* (2010) 51(8):937–46. doi:10.1086/656412
- Vikulina T, Fan X, Yamaguchi M, Roser-Page S, Zayzafoon M, Guidot DM, et al. Alterations in the immuno-skeletal interface drive bone destruction in HIV-1 transgenic rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(31):13848–53. doi:10.1073/pnas.1003020107
- Stolina M, Guo J, Faggioni R, Brown H, Senaldi G. Regulatory effects of osteoprotegerin on cellular and humoral immune responses. *Clin Immunol* (2003) 109(3):347–54. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2003.09.001
- Bekker PJ, Holloway D, Nakanishi A, Arrighi M, Leese PT, Dunstan CR. The effect of a single dose of osteoprotegerin in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res (2001) 16(2):348–60. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2001.16.2.348
- 101. Smith MR, Saad F, Coleman R, Shore N, Fizazi K, Tombal B, et al. Denosumab and bone-metastasis-free survival in men with castration-resistant prostate cancer: results of a phase 3, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* (2012) 379(9810):39–46. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61226-9
- 102. Bekker PJ, Holloway DL, Rasmussen AS, Murphy R, Martin SW, Leese PT, et al. A single-dose placebo-controlled study of AMG 162, a fully human monoclonal antibody to RANKL, in postmenopausal women. *J Bone Miner Res* (2004) 19(7):1059–66. doi:10.1359/JBMR.040305
- McClung M. Role of RANKL inhibition in osteoporosis. Arthritis Res Ther (2007) 9(Suppl 1):S3. doi:10.1186/ar2167
- McClung MR, Lewiecki EM, Cohen SB, Bolognese MA, Woodson GC, Moffett AH, et al. Denosumab in postmenopausal women with low bone mineral density. N Engl J Med (2006) 354(8):821–31. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa044459
- 105. George S, Brenner A, Sarantopoulos J, Bukowski RM. RANK ligand: effects of inhibition. *Curr Oncol Rep* (2010) 12(2):80-6. doi:10.1007/ s11912-010-0088-1
- Ferrari-Lacraz S, Ferrari S. Do RANKL inhibitors (denosumab) affect inflammation and immunity? *Osteoporos Int* (2011) 22(2):435–46. doi:10.1007/s00198-010-1326-y

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Titanji. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





B-Cell-Activating Factor and the B-Cell Compartment in HIV/SIV Infection

Gwenoline Borhis^{1,2,3†}, Maria Trovato^{1,2,3}, Nada Chaoul^{4†}, Hany M. Ibrahim^{1,2,3†} and Yolande Richard^{1,2,3*}

¹ INSERM u1016, Institut Cochin, Paris, France, ²CNRS UMR 8104, Paris, France, ³ Université Paris-Descartes, Paris, France, ⁴Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique, Institut des maladies Emergentes et Thérapies innovantes, Service d'Immuno-Virologie, Fontenay-aux Roses, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Chiodi, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by:

Ivona Pandrea, University of Pittsburgh, United States Lisa A. Chakrabarti, Institut Pasteur, France Lucia Lopalco, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

> *Correspondence: Yolande Richard yolande.richard@inserm.fr

[†]Present address:

Gwenoline Borhis, Kymab Ltd., Cambridge, United Kingdom; Nada Chaoul, University of Bari, Bari, Italy; Hany M. Ibrahim, Faculty of Science, Zoology Department, Menoufia University, Shibin El Kom, Egypt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 June 2017 Accepted: 03 October 2017 Published: 27 October 2017

Citation:

Borhis G, Trovato M, Chaoul N, Ibrahim HM and Richard Y (2017) B-Cell-Activating Factor and the B-Cell Compartment in HIV/SIV Infection. Front. Immunol. 8:1338. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01338 With the goal to design effective HIV vaccines, intensive studies focused on broadly neutralizing antibodies, which arise in a fraction of HIV-infected people. Apart from identifying new vulnerability sites in the viral envelope proteins, these studies have shown that a fraction of these antibodies are produced by self/poly-reactive B-cells. These findings prompted us to revisit the B-cell differentiation and selection process during HIV/SIV infection and to consider B-cells as active players possibly shaping the helper T-cell program within germinal centers (GCs). In this context, we paid a particular attention to B-cell-activating factor (BAFF), a key cytokine in B-cell development and immune response that is overproduced during HIV/SIV infection. As it does in autoimmune diseases, BAFF excess might contribute to the abnormal rescue of self-reactive B-cells at several checkpoints of the B-cell development and impair memory B-cell generation and functions. In this review, we first point out what is known about the functions of BAFF/a proliferation-inducing ligand and their receptors [B-cell maturation, transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI), and BAFF-R], in physiological and pathophysiological settings, in mice and humans. In particular, we highlight recent results on the previously underappreciated regulatory functions of TACI and on the highly regulated production of soluble TACI and BAFF-R that act as decoy receptors. In light of recent data on BAFF, TACI, and BAFF-R, we then revisit the altered phenotypes and functions of B-cell subsets during the acute and chronic phase of HIV/SIV infection. Given the atypical phenotype and reduced functions of memory B-cells in HIV/SIV infection, we particularly discuss the GC reaction, a key checkpoint where self-reactive B-cells are eliminated and pathogen-specific memory B-cells and plasmablasts/cells are generated in physiological settings. Through its capacity to differentially bind and process BAFF-R and TACI on GC B-cells and possibly on follicular helper T-cells, BAFF appears as a key regulator of the physiological GC reaction. Its local excess during HIV/SIV infection could play a key role in B-cell dysregulations.

Keywords: B-cell-activating factor, B-cells, dendritic cells, germinal center, HIV, memory B-cells, follicular helper T-cells, SIV

INTRODUCTION

During pathogenic HIV/SIV infection, efficient antibody (Ab) protection hardly develops whereas immunoglobulin overproduction, germinal center (GC) hyperplasia (1), and increased recruitment of follicular helper T-cells (T_{FH}) into GC occur concurrently from the acute phase of infection (2–6). In addition to several reports showing increased proportions of atypical memory B-cells in lymphoid

47

organs and transitional B-cells in blood (7), recent molecular investigations established that a fraction of broadly neutralizing Abs (bNAbs) are produced by self/poly-reactive B-cells (8). In addition to direct B-cell activation by viral envelope proteins, inflammation is thought to play a major role in shaping these changes in B-cell phenotype and in virus-specific Ab responses (9-12). B-cell-activating factor (BAFF)/a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) are instrumental cytokines for B-cell ontogeny and humoral responses in physiological settings (13), while their overproduction is detrimental in numerous autoimmune disorders (14, 15). During HIV/SIV or plasmodium infection, increased BAFF levels occur concurrently with expansion of atypical memory B-cells and inefficient Ab response (16-19). Thus, BAFF was thought to exert detrimental actions on pathogen-specific B-cells, and its overexpression has been associated with HIV/SIV disease progression (20-22). However, BAFF excess favors the expansion of immature-transitional B-cells and promotes self-Abs in mice and in patients with autoimmune diseases (23-25). Through a similar pathway, BAFF might be beneficial in expanding the pool of HIV cross-reactive B-cells, a potential source of bNAbs. Therefore, the role of BAFF excess in generating HIV/SIV-specific memory B-cells and neutralizing Abs needs to be further clarified. In this review, we first summarize what it is known about BAFF/APRIL and their receptors, with a special attention to transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI), which might act as a key regulator of B-cell activation, BAFF-R shedding (26) and possibly self-reactivity. We then highlight data obtained in mice, humans, and macaques with the aim to better appreciate the role of BAFF and its receptors, BAFF-R and TACI, in HIV/SIV progression and in the expansion of HIV/SIV cross-reactive B-cells.

BAFF/APRIL AND THEIR RECEPTORS

The BAFF belonging to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily (also called BLys) was first described as a key regulator of B-cell homeostasis and survival in mice and in humans (13). BAFF exerts its effects by binding to three different receptors: B-cell maturation (BCMA) (27, 28), TACI (29), and BAFF-R/ BR3 (BLys receptor 3) (30). A highly similar homolog of BAFF (called APRIL) (31) also binds TACI and BCMA but not BAFF-R (32). APRIL only exists as a soluble form cleaved intracellularly, whereas BAFF can be found in both membrane-bound and soluble forms. In myeloid cells, BAFF is expressed on the cell surface as a membrane-bound form (mBAFF) and can then be released as a soluble form after cleavage by furin protease (33–35). Neutrophils directly release BAFF and APRIL as soluble cytokines (36, 37), whereas plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC) are unable to cleave mBAFF into its soluble form (19, 38, 39).

Through different expression and affinity for BAFF and APRIL, BAFF-R, TACI, and BCMA finely tune B-cell ontogeny and immune responses with species specificity (30, 40-44). Functional BAFF-R and TACI are expressed in B1 cells (45), and aging APRIL-transgenic mice develop B1 lymphoma (46, 47), whereas BAFF- and BAFF-R-deficient mice have normal proportions of B1 cells (48) (Table 1). This indicates that the TACI-APRIL pair likely plays a dominant role in murine B1 homeostasis. Absent from early transitional B-cells (T1, CD10+CD2110), BAFF-R expression is acquired by transitional type-2 B-cells (T2, CD10+CD21+), and deficiency in BAFF-R inhibits B-cell ontogeny beyond the T1/T2 transition (49). However, this blockade is not absolute, and small proportions of mature B-cells are still present in BAFF-R-deficient mice and, to a lesser extent, in BAFF-deficient mice that mount residual responses to T-dependent (TD) antigens (50, 51). Consistently, BAFF- or BAFF-R-deficient mice form rudimentary GC in response to TD antigens (52, 53). Absent from naïve and memory B-cells, BCMA is dispensable for the survival of mature B-cells, spleen architecture, and GC development. Response to TD or T-independent (TI) antigens and isotype class switching are normal in BCMA-deficient mice (54-56). However, BCMA is important for long-term plasma cell biology (55, 57, 58) and antigen presentation (59). Upon binding to BCMA, APRIL and, to a lesser extent, BAFF promotes the survival of long-lived plasma cells in bone marrow (55). BCMA therefore constitutes one privileged target for the selective killing of malignant plasma cells, such as multiple myeloma cells (60, 61). Consistent with the recent description of constitutive BCMA shedding from the membrane of plasma cells by a γ -secretase (62), high serum BCMA level correlates with disease status and constitutes a valuable biomarker in multiple myeloma (63). Moreover, TACI expression distinguishes TACI¹⁰ from TACI^{hi} myeloma, the latter with a signature of plasma cells, which are more dependent on

B-cell subset	Phenotype	BAFF/APRIL receptor expression	Reference
Mouse B1 cells	CD19 ^{hi} SIgM ^{hi} SIgD ^{io} CD43 ⁺ CD1d ^{int} CD23 ⁻ CD5 ⁺ (B1a) or CD5 ⁻ (B1b)	BAFF-R+TACI+	(45–48)
Early transitional B-cells (T1)	CD19+lgM ^{hi} CD10+CD24 ^{hi} CD38 ^{hi} CD21 ^{lo}	BAFF-R-/10TACI+/-	(25, 49, 51, 66–69)
Transitional type-2 B-cells (T2)	CD19+SIgM ^{hi} SIgD ^{io} CD10+CD24 ^{hi} CD38 ^{hi} CD21+	BAFF-R+TACI+/-	
Marginal zone B-cells	CD19+CD20+lgMhiCD21hiSlgD+CD23-CD27+	BAFF-R+TACI ^{hi} (short > long isoform)	(48, 54–56, 66, 70–75)
Naïve follicular B-cells	CD19+CD20+SlgDhiSlgM+CD21+CD23+CD27-CD95-	BAFF-RhiTACI-/10 (long isoform)	(48, 52–55, 56, 70–74)
Germinal center (GC) B-cells centroblasts	CD19+CD20+CD27intBcl6+Ki67+Sig-CD95+CD10+CXCR4+	BAFF-R ^h TACI ^{l₀}	(48, 52, 53, 56, 70, 71, 74, 76, 77)
GC B-cells centrocytes	CD19+CD20+CD95+CD10+CD38+CD83+SIgM/A/G+	BAFF-RhiTACI+	(78, 79)
Resting memory	CD19+CD20+SlgD-SlgG/A+CD27+CD21+CD95+	BAFF-R+TACI ^{hi} (short > long isoform)	(48, 69, 72, 73, 80)
Activated memory	CD19+CD20 ^{hi} SIgD-SIgG/A+CD27+CD21 ^{Io} CD95+	BAFF-R ^{int} TACI+BCMA+	(68, 81–83)
Tissue-like memory	CD19+CD20 ^{hi} SIgD-SIgG/A+CD27-CD21 ^{Io} CD95+	BAFF-R ^{int} TACI+BCMA+	
Plasmablasts	CD19+CD2010CD2110CD27hiCD38hiCD13810	BAFF-RIOTACIOBCMA+	(64, 68, 81)
Plasma cells	CD19 ^I /CD20-CD27 ^{hi} CD38+CD138 ^{hi}	BAFF-RIOTACI ^{hi} BCMA ^{hi}	(55, 57, 58, 64)

TABLE 1 | Phenotype of B-cell subsets and expression of B-cell-activating factor (BAFF)/a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) receptors

bone marrow signals (64), likely osteoclast-derived BAFF/APRIL and IL6 (65). Accordingly, TACI^{hi} myelomas are expected to be more responsive to BAFF-related immunotherapies. Based on these data in malignant cells, normal circulating plasmablasts are thought to be TACI^{lo} in contrast to long-lived plasma cells present in bone marrow that would be TACI^{hi}.

TACI: A MULTIFACETED RECEPTOR FOR BAFF/APRIL IN MICE AND HUMANS

Conventional and Regulatory Functions of TACI in Mice

BAFF-R is expressed by most follicular B-cells whereas TACI is absent (or very low) from naïve B-cells but highly present on marginal zone (MZ) and class-switched memory B-cells (48, 72, 73). TACI-deficient mice fail to respond to type-2 TI antigens (TI-2) but retain normal TD response (**Table 2**). However, they have reduced serum IgM and IgA levels, but normal IgG levels (48). *In vitro*, Castigli et al. have established that the murine TACI-APRIL pair is mandatory for IgA class switching and plays a dominant role over the BAFF-R–BAFF pair in IgG class switching (56). In another mouse model, TACI deficiency induces hyperplasia, enlarged MZ B-cell pool (66) and lupus-like autoimmune manifestations in aged mice (84). In agreement with TACI controlling exacerbated B-cell activation, knock-in mouse carrying a C76R mutation that impairs TACI-induced NF- κ B activation develops splenomegaly with increased proportions of MZ and follicular B-cells (74). So, murine TACI that positively controls response to TI-2 antigens and IgA class switching can also deliver inhibitory signals that dampen abnormal B-cell activation and expansion. *In vitro*, Figgett et al. recently demonstrated that BAFF binding to TACI selectively limits TI innate response of TLR4-activated MZ B-cells by promoting FAS/FASL-mediated apoptosis (75). This process is thought to prevent inappropriate TI B-cell responses such as the expansion of self-reactive B-cells, and therefore to safeguard peripheral immune tolerance. Thus, membrane TACI controls excessive expansion/response of various mouse B-cell subsets.

BAFF-R and TACI in Humans: Lessons from Patients with Genetic Immunodeficiency

Spontaneous mutations occurring in individuals or families offer the opportunity to compare the biological importance of key molecules between mice and humans (**Table 2**). Studies in two patients with common variable immunodeficiency (CVID) carrying a homozygous deletion in BAFF-R gene, that precludes its membrane expression, confirm the key role of BAFF-R in human B-cell development. However, the phenotype of these patients is less severely compromised than that of BAFF-R-deficient mice,

TABLE 2 | Consequences of deficiency in BAFF-R and transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI) in genetically modified mice and common variable immunodeficiency (CVID) patients.

Receptor	Phenotype	Reference
BAFF-R KO mice and A/WySnJ mice	Blockade of B-cell development at the T1/T2 transition Small proportions of marginal zone (MZ) and follicular B-cells Normal proportions of B1 cells Rudimentary GC but rapid involution, residual TD response Impaired class switching	(53, 76)
CVID patients with BAFF-R deficiency	No BAFF-R membrane expression Reduced numbers of mature B-cells, in particular MZ B-cells Expansion of T2 B-cells in blood Substantial numbers of naive and memory B-cells Reduced levels of IgM and IgG but normal IgA levels	(77)
TACI KO mice	Normal MZ and B1 cells Impaired response to TI-2 Ags with Iow IgM/A levels Normal IgG levels Normal TD responses	(48)
	B-cell lymphoproliferation and enlarged MZ B-cell pool Overproduction of Ig in response to TD Ags Lupus-like autoimmune manifestations in aged mice Increased production of self-reactive antibodies	(66, 84)
CVID patients with TACI deficiency	No or reduced TACI membrane expression Impaired NF-kB signaling Impaired IgA and IgG class switching Reduced response to TI-2 Ags B-cell lymphoproliferations, splenomegaly Increased frequency of autoimmune diseases Lack of lupus-like symptoms	(56, 70, 71)
TACI KI C76R mice	Normal membrane expression of TACI Impaired NF-kB activation Increased proportions of MZ and follicular B-cells Splenomegaly	(74)

with significant numbers of circulating memory B-cells and normal IgA levels, despite B-cell lymphopenia and low levels of circulating IgM and IgG (77).

Similarly, the phenotype of CVID individuals with TACI deficiency differs from that of TACI-deficient mice (70, 71). These individuals combine Ab-deficiency syndrome, B-cell lymphoproliferation, and increased frequency of autoimmune manifestations without symptoms of lupus-like disease. Two homozygous mutations at positions C104R (the human equivalent of murine C76R) and S144X impair class switching to IgA but also to IgG, unlike TACI-deficient mice (71). Whereas TACI was expressed on B-cells from all individuals with heterozygous mutations (including C104R), its signaling was impaired leading to abnormal Ig production in vitro (70). Consistent with data in TACI-deficient mice, individuals with TACI deficiency have a strongly reduced response to TI-2 antigens with recurrent infections and more frequently develop splenomegaly. Thus, human TACI is mandatory for response to TI-2 antigens and IgA/G class switching. Splenomegaly and autoimmune manifestations in these patients clearly indicate that TACI also acts as negative regulator of B-cell expansion/response in humans.

Moreover, two recent studies evidenced the release of soluble TACI and BAFF-R, acting as soluble decoy receptors. Surface TACI is constitutively cleaved by ADAM17 from human and murine B-cells, producing a homotrimer acting as a soluble decoy receptor for BAFF and, to a lesser extent, for APRIL. Subsequent cleavage of its remaining membrane-bound C-terminal domain by γ – secretase prevents residual NF- κ B activation (85). While ADAM17 cleaves BAFF-R from dark zone GC B-cells (centroblasts), BAFF-R cleavage by ADAM10, which depends on BAFF binding and TACI expression, occurs in memory and MZ B-cells as well as in light zone GC B-cells (centrocytes) (26). By amplifying BAFF-R cleavage from centrocytes, BAFF excess might impair B-cell selection and high affinity Ab maturation. Taken together, these results highlight a previously unexpected role for TACI as a key modulator of BAFF-mediated responses.

A supplementary level of complexity was introduced by the identification of two isoforms of human TACI produced by alternative splicing of the unique encoding gene. One isoform with two extracellular ligand-binding domains resembles murine TACI whereas the second isoform, which contains only one binding domain, was referred to as TACI-short by authors (80). In vitro studies have established that TACI-short binds APRIL and BAFF with higher affinity than the other isoform and that its triggering by either ligand leads to a more potent activation of canonical NF-KB pathway (86) and plasma cell differentiation (80). Consistent with previous data (87), intense NF-κB activation downstream TACI-short correlates with enhanced recruitment of MyD88. In particular, messengers of both TACI isoforms were found in isolated resting memory (RM, CD21⁺CD27⁺) and MZ B-cells, with TACI-short mRNA being present in higher amounts (80). It is therefore possible that the response to BAFF/APRIL is finely modulated through binding to TACI trimers containing various ratio of each isoform. Mechanisms favoring preferential TACI-short expression in vivo remain to be identified but, in vitro, TLR9 ligands strongly upregulate it in CD27⁺ B-cells. To what

extent each TACI isoform contributes to the biology of memory B-cells and long-lived plasma cells remains to be studied. Since survival of memory B-cells is less dependent on BAFF *in vivo* than that of transitional and naïve B-cells, TACI-short expression might confer them an exceptional responsiveness to limited BAFF amounts. Whether TACI-short is released and whether it differently modulates BAFF-mediated BAFF-R cleavage on RM B-cells should be examined.

EVIDENCE FOR SOLUBLE AND MEMBRANE BAFF OVEREXPRESSION DURING HIV/SIV INFECTION

Elevated circulating levels of BAFF and/or APRIL are associated with autoimmune diseases, chronic inflammation (14, 88), or occur after CD20 B-cell depleting therapy (89, 90). Because chronic inflammation and hypergammaglobulinemia are hallmarks of chronic HIV-1 infection, serum BAFF levels were first measured in chronically HIV-infected individuals (91). In this pioneer report, authors observed increased BAFF levels in most individuals, correlating with levels of self-Abs only in individuals with more than 200 CD4 T-cells per microliters. In these individuals, classical monocytes (CD14hi) overexpressing mBAFF were identified as a major source of soluble BAFF. Extending these first results. Fontaine et al. have evidenced increased levels of serum BAFF in HIV-infected people, with a sustained increase from the acute phase of infection in rapid and normal progressors (16). In these HIV-infected individuals, mBAFF expression was preferentially upregulated in blood myeloid dendritic cells (DC) (defined as HLA-DR+CD11c+) and their precursors (HLA-DR⁺CD14⁺CD11c⁺) (16). In a cohort of untreated individuals with primary HIV infection, we found that circulating BAFF levels were consistently increased at diagnosis (20-45 days after infection) but rapidly decreased toward baseline levels by 2-3 months of infection (1 month of follow-up) (19). Whereas mBAFF was mainly present in intermediate monocytes (CD14+CD16+) of healthy individuals, its expression was preferentially enhanced in CD1c⁺ DC and non-classical (CD14^{lo}CD16^{hi}) monocytes in individuals with primary HIV infection (19). A similar trend was observed in BDCA-3⁺ DC and intermediate monocytes but did not reach significance. In vitro, the virus itself can directly drive mBAFF expression and its subsequent release in monocytes as well as in monocytes-derived DC and macrophages. In vivo, type I and II IFN could also contribute to BAFF increase. This virusmediated effect is essentially independent on replication since it was observed with AT2-inactivated virus. Extending our results, Gomez et al. recently showed that HIV-1 does not induce BAFF expression in monocyte-derived macrophages displaying a M1 phenotype (92). Unexpectedly, our findings showed that mBAFF was expressed by a majority of pDC in healthy individuals, an expression that strongly decreased in patients with primary HIV infection. However, this loss was not due to BAFF release since pDC are unable to cleave mBAFF (19, 38, 39). Preferential cognate interactions of pDC with MZ and memory B-cells (93, 94) might relay on mBAFF binding to TACI-short, highly expressed by these B-cell subtypes (80).



FIGURE 1 | Tissue expression of B-cell-activating factor (BAFF) in SIV-infected macaques. (A) Terminal ileum sections from control macaques (upper panel) and macaques infected for 14 days (lower panel) were stained with anti-CD20 (B-cells, left panels) or anti-BAFF (clone Buffy 2, middle and right panels) antibodies (Abs). Original magnification: 200x for CD20, 100x and 400x for Buffy 2. (B) Terminal ileum sections with clear villi present were stained with CD68 (macrophages), CD8 (CD8⁺ and intraepithelial T-cells), and Buffy 2 (BAFF expression) Abs, respectively (original magnification 200x). Inserts from upper panels are shown in the lower panels (original magnification 400x). Reproduction authorized by SpringerNature.

In acutely SIV-infected macaques, we consistently observed a transient increase in BAFF plasma levels by 2 weeks of infection. BAFF levels correlate with total IgG levels, plasma viral loads and inversely with CD4 T-cell counts (21). However, steady BAFF overexpression was observed in spleen and intestinal mucosa (duodenum and terminal ileum) until 1 month post-infection.

This BAFF signal was more intense in the spleen MZ, follicular mantle zone and within GC (21) but was also present all along the ileum villi in macrophages and in intraepithelial cells, likely CD8⁺ (**Figure 1**). According to previous data in humans, these latter cells might correspond to BAFF-expressing type-3 innate-lymphoid cells (ILC3) (95, 96). Retrospective measurement



upon antiretroviral therapy. Two groups of five macaques infected macaques by SIVmac 251 (50AID50) were treated or not (placebo) with antiretroviral therapy for 2 weeks and euthanized at day 21 post-infection (pi). Plasma BAFF concentration was determined using the BAFF Quantikine ELISA kit (R&D systems) in samples collected before infection and every 3 days pi. At each time point, mean value \pm SEM is indicated for each group. At each time point, significant differences between treated and placebo groups were calculated by a Wilcoxon sign-ranked test (two-tailed, unpaired, and non-parametric *t*-test). The *p* values *(*p* < 0.05) and **(*p* < 0.01) were considered as significant.

of blood BAFF levels in two groups of SIV-infected macaques treated or not by a 2-week antiretroviral therapy initiated at day 7 post-infection (97) showed a significant reduction of BAFF levels in treated animals at days 12 and 15 (42 and 56% reduction, respectively) (Figure 2). In these animals, the plasma viral load was concurrently reduced by 103-fold and the proportions of memory B-cells increased in blood and spleen. Median value of plasma IgM returned to pre-infection level and SIV-specific Abs were no longer detectable after treatment (97). Thus, early initiation of antiretroviral therapy dampens BAFF increase but inhibits early virus-specific Ab production. In agreement with our data, Poudrier et al. recently showed a transient BAFF increase during the first week of SIV infection and a progressive return to baseline values after 2 months before re-increasing by 3 months post-infection (early chronic infection) in progressor animals only. These authors established that granulocytes massively contribute to BAFF production during acute and chronic phases of infection (22). This observation fits well with increased proportions of activated neutrophils in the blood of chronically HIV-infected people (98, 99). Therefore, elevated BAFF levels might constitute a good predictor of disease progression at the early chronic phase (22). This conclusion is consistent with data of comparative transcriptomic analysis showing that upregulation of TNFSF13B (encoding BAFF) messenger is associated with disease progression during pathogenic HIV/SIV infections (20).

In conclusion, non-classical monocytes and $CD11c^+$ DC strongly contribute to elevated levels of soluble BAFF during HIV/SIV infection (16, 19, 91), but macrophages, granulocytes/ neutrophils, epithelial cells, and ILC3 can also contribute to its local production in spleen and mucosa (21, 22, 100). Membrane BAFF-expressing pDC, which preferentially migrate into the

vaginal mucosa and into the large intestine during pathogenic SIV infection (101, 102), might support TI B-cell response through cognate interaction with infiltrating B-cells. Through its binding to cell-type specific receptors, the virus can directly induce membrane/soluble BAFF overexpression but also the release of type I and II IFN that are keys inducers of BAFF expression. In our studies, IL1 β , IL6, and TNF α are unable to modulate membrane and/or soluble BAFF overexpression by myeloid cells or pDC (19).

Preventing progression toward the chronic phase of virus infection generally requires the rapid production of potent neutralizing Abs that is rarely observed during acute HIV/SIV infection. That prompted us to interrogate the pathways of Ab production and the development of plasmablasts/cells as well as the nature of virus responsive B-cells.

SELF-REACTIVE B-CELLS: THE LAST CHANCE FOR NEUTRALIZING HIV Abs?

Whereas GC hyperplasia is one the first sign of ongoing B-cell response described in HIV-infected patients (1), the virusspecific Ab production is delayed and globally inefficient in containing virus replication and in preventing the establishment of viral reservoirs (103). Even when present, most virus-specific Abs have limited and transient capacities to neutralize the virus. Whereas pioneers studies have evidenced that inactivated purified SIV or fixed SIV-infected cells can elicit protective virus-specific Abs during infection with autologous virus (104, 105), most candidate vaccines subsequently fail to clear HIV (8). Potent bNAbs are nevertheless produced by a minority of HIV-infected individuals, generally at low titers and only after years of infection. Analyses of bNAbs that target HIV-1 envelope trimer have considerably extended our knowledge on envelope epitopes susceptible to neutralization and therefore identified new targets for vaccine trials (106). The vulnerability sites include: the membrane-proximal external region (MPER) of gp41, the CD4-binding site of gp120, an exclusively glycan epitope on the outer domain of gp120, an extended region including residues from both gp120 and gp41 between the MPER and gp120 protomers, a gp120 V2-glycan site at the apex of the envelope trimer and a gp120 V3-glycan site centered at Asn332 and the fusion peptide of HIV-1 (106, 107). Whereas passive infusion of bNAbs in humans has limited impact on HIV-1 viral loads and disease progression, two recently identified bNAbs directed against the CD4-binding site (VRC01 and 3BNC117) have significant antiviral effects (108-110). Unexpected results have shown that a subset of bNAbs concurrently recognizes nuclear or cytoplasmic human (self) antigens or proteins of commensal pathogens. These self/poly-reactive Abs preferentially recognize the CD4-binding site and the MPER region (111-114). Rare poly-reactive Abs recognizing the gp120-V3 loop have been also cloned from memory B-cells of HIV-infected patients (115, 116). bNAbs have a high degree of somatic mutation, deletions and insertions and/or elongated highly hydrophobic heavy chain complementary-determining region 3 with development of breadth correlating with acquisition of self/poly-reactivity

(8, 107). Whereas these features predict negative selection, current studies reveal that ancestors of B-cells producing bNAbs are frequently self-reactive (117). A clever study recently demonstrated that breaching tolerance in mice favors the generation of cross-reactive HIV-1 self-Abs (114). Early non-neutralizing Abs directed against HIV-1 gp41 subunit are also poly-reactive (118, 119) and derive from commensal bacteria-specific memory B-cells generated in terminal ileum before infection. These B-cells acquire cross-reactivity with HIV gp41 upon T-cell driven affinity maturation, which involves GC reaction in constitutive follicles (Peyer patches or mesenteric lymph nodes) or in virus-induced isolated follicles (118, 120). Therefore, HIV might preferentially interact with self/poly-reactive B-cells in different tissues.

In physiological settings, self-reactive B-cells are eliminated at the following three major checkpoints: (i) in the bone marrow before the surface IgM-positive immature B-cell stage; (ii) in spleen MZ (or peri-follicular zone in humans) when new emigrants mature into follicular or MZ B-cells, and finally (iii) within GC during Ab affinity maturation (121). In bone marrow, 50-75% of early B-cells are self-reactive, most of which are eliminated by central tolerance mechanisms before they reach the periphery. Despite this elimination based on "tonic" BCR signaling, a substantial proportion of self/poly-reactive B-cells are still present in the blood of healthy individuals and more frequent among immature and MZ B-cells than among naïve B-cells (122, 123). Given its capacity to support the survival of transitional and MZ B-cells through BAFF-R, BAFF overproduction might abnormally rescue self-reactive B-cells as shown in murine models (124, 125) or in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (126). If BAFF-R can directly deliver survival signal to transitional B-cells, BAFF-R signaling also interferes with BCR signaling in mice and might thus abnormally rescue early B-cells expressing self-reactive BCR (127-129). More recently, self-reactive transitional B-cells (T1 and T2) abnormally expressing TACI have been identified in BAFF transgenic mice as a consequence of BAFF excess. These TACIhi transitional B-cells co-express AID (activation-induced cytidine deaminase), an enzyme mandatory for somatic hypermutation and isotype class switching, and T-bet, a transcriptional factor associated with IFNy production and IgG class switching. Accordingly, binding of these TACI+ transitional B-cells by self-antigens promotes AID-mediated hyper-somatic mutations that spontaneously produce self-reactive IgG, ex vivo (25). Although less numerous, TACI+ transitional B-cells are present in wild-type mice with physiological BAFF settings. Increased proportions of T1-like (CD10⁺CD21^{lo}) B-cells related to disrupted homeostasis have been reported in lymphopenic HIV-infected people with more advanced disease (67-69). Unfortunately, neither circulating BAFF level nor proportions of self-reactive B-cells, potentially HIV cross-reactive, have been estimated at the time of these studies. Whereas TACI+ transitional B-cells might also contribute to hypermutated Ab production during HIV infection, only rare transitional B-cells were found to express T-bet in healthy and chronically HIV-infected individuals (130). However, this might occur in highly lymphopenic HIV-infected individuals with more advanced disease.

Marginal zone B-cells that express diverse IgV_H genes more frequently used by self/poly-reactive Abs including by bNAbs directed against CD4bs (131), might be a "natural reservoir" for HIV cross-reactive B-cells. As mentioned earlier, human MZ B-cells highly express TACI, in particular TACI-short, and are in close contact with different BAFF/APRIL-producing cells such as macrophages, DC, neutrophils, or ILC3 in the splenic peri-follicular zone (132, 133). Thus MZ B-cells likely produce a first pool of virus-specific Abs. Indeed, we showed that the frequency of spleen MZ B-cells decreased soon after the peak of plasma viral load whereas plasmablasts/cells, mainly expressing IgG or IgM, were more numerous in the MZ 1 month postinfection in SIV-infected macaques (97). Similarly, Fontaine et al. identified a circulating population with mixed features of transitional and MZ B-cells, thought to rapidly mature into MZ B-cells upon abnormal BAFF release by myeloid cells in viremic HIV-infected people (16). Together, these data suggest that HIV induces an early differentiation of MZ B-cells into plasmablasts/ cells followed by a transient lymphopenia, which tends to be compensated by accelerated repopulation of the MZ B-cell pool in patients with higher levels of replication and/or inflammation (including high BAFF levels). Studying the expansion of early self-reactive B-cells, potentially expressing T-bet, in concert with BAFF levels during pathogenic SIV/HIV infection might be valuable. Whether this repopulation favors expansion of HIV/SIV cross-reactive B-cells or their deletion remains to be studied.

BAFF, B-CELLS, AND T_{FH} IN GCs: FROM PHYSIOLOGICAL SETTINGS TO HIV/SIV INFECTION

Memory B-cells and long-lived plasmablasts/cells are generated within the GC through a complex process including several cycles of somatic mutations/selection as elegantly described elsewhere (134, 135). Through somatic hypermutations of V_H genes, an integrated process mandatory to Ab affinity maturation, the GC reaction constitutes an important stage where self-reactive B-cells are physiologically generated. Such self-reactive B-cells escaping peripheral tolerance and maturing into circulating memory IgG⁺ B-cells have been associated with autoimmunity (136) but might alternatively contribute to production of bNAbs (7). This directly questions the function of GC reaction with the generation of effectors B-cells (memory B-cells and long-lived plasmablasts/ cells) in the context of chronic inflammation, where BAFF (and APRIL) can be overproduced.

Residual development of GC and efficient affinity maturation of Abs in response to TD antigen occur in BAFF or BAFF-Rdeficient mice (50, 52, 53). However, GC more rapidly involute in these mice with reduced numbers of proliferating GC B-cells (centroblasts), impaired network of follicular dendritic cells (FDC) and reduced trapping of immune complexes (76). By contrast, BAFF overexpression in GC increases autoimmunity by reducing the competition between B-cell clones for T-cell help and survival signals, at least in mice (124, 137). Fibroblastic reticular cells throughout the body and FDC in GC are the main sources of BAFF in homeostatic settings (138) but also of CXCL13, which attracts B-cells to build B-cell follicles (139). During a TD response, T_{FH} constitute not only the major source of BAFF, mandatory for the B-cell survival and the selection of high affinity B-cell clones (79) but also of CXCL13 as shown in vaccinated mice and primates (140). Consistent with ongoing TD response in HIVinfected patients, high blood CXCL13 levels have been reported with concomitant decrease of CXCR5 expression by circulating B-cells (141). Whether this decrease is due to B-cell activation or to an enhanced BAFF-mediated internalization of CXCR5, it likely perturbs the recruitment of B-cells into follicles. Given that BAFF enhances the CXCL13-mediated chemotactic response of CD27⁺ human B-cells, in vitro (142), it could potentiate the entry of recently antigen-activated B-cells (GC founders) or of memory B-cells into the follicle during a first or second exposure to antigen/ pathogen, respectively. Within GC, BAFF overproduction might either increase the CXCL13-mediated response of B-clones in the light zone or accelerate the internalization of CXCR5 in centrocytes (light zone B-cells), favoring their rapid return to the dark zone. In both case, the asymmetric recycling of B-cell clones between dark and light zones and the selection process would be impaired leading to an abnormal pattern of mutation/selection of B-cell clones required for affinity maturation (143, 144).

Alternatively, BAFF excess in GC might enhance BAFF-mediated BAFF-R cleavage on TACI⁺ GC B-cells (centrocytes). Decreased BAFF-R expression might consequently abolish BAFF effect on the CXCL13 chemotactic response of centrocytes or decrease the survival of high-affinity B-cell clones (26). At which step HIV cross-reactive B-cells clones appear and why they are not eliminated as self-reactive B-cells in the context of high amount of viral antigens is far from being clear. Vulnerability sites frequently buried in the envelope structure or masked by glycans are probably weakly accessible. This might favor their ignorance during the GC selection process.

In addition to its action on GC B-cells, two independent studies implied TACI in T_{FH} expansion (**Figure 3**). In the first study, Ou et al. showed that BAFF preferentially binds BAFF-R and upregulates ICOSL expression by GC B-cells in physiological settings. When it is locally overproduced, BAFF also binds to TACI on GC B-cells leading to down modulation of BAFF-R-mediated ICOSL expression and subsequently T_{FH} expansion (78). According to recent data on BAFF-R processing (26), one hypothesis could be that BAFF excess leads to TACI-mediated BAFF-R cleavage, which reduces BAFF-R signaling and thus down-modulates ICOSL expression. In a second study, IL21



FIGURE 3 | Transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI) as a key regulator of B-cell-activating factor (BAFF)-dependent BAFF-R cleavage in germinal center (GC). During a T-dependent response, follicular helper T-cells ($T_{\rm FH}$) produce BAFF that can bind either to BAFF-R or to TACI. When BAFF is locally released in excess, its binding to BAFF-R can induce the cleavage of BAFF-R in a TACI-dependent manner from the surface of centrocytes (a). Reduced BAFF-R signaling leads to decreased ICOSL expression on B-cells (b) and therefore dampens ICOS signal, mandatory for $T_{\rm FH}$ maintaining and IL21 production. This might constitute a physiological regulatory mechanism, exacerbated when high amounts of antigens are maintained within GC. IL21 is a key cytokine for $T_{\rm FH}$ that ensures their survival (c) and that of light zone GC B-cells (d). In addition, IL21 decreases TACI expression that might prevent early TACI-dependent BAFF-R cleavage (e). Such regulatory roles would imply that IL21 and BAFF are produced sequentially during the GC reaction with possible consequences on recycling and differentiation of GC B-cells.

produced by T_{FH} , besides supporting the survival of both T_{FH} and GC B-cells through IL21R, also diminishes TACI expression thus preventing premature loss of T_{FH} (79). As T_{FH} concurrently produce BAFF and IL21, a delicate balance is thought to control efficient GC reaction. The existence of two human TACI isoforms could further complicate our understanding of the role of BAFF and its receptors, BAFF-R and TACI, in GC reaction.

Impaired helper functions of T_{FH} at the chronic phase of HIV/SIV infection (2, 6, 145) likely contribute to inefficient B-cell response to HIV/SIV. However, early functional T_{FH} are present at elevated frequencies in nodal GC from the acute phase of HIV infection and their presence correlates with the breadth of bNAbs at the chronic phase (146). Thus, generation of bNAbs is dependent on the preservation of T_{FH} functions, likely impaired in CXCR3⁺ T_{FH} (147). As recently shown, human T_{FH} express BAFF-R and release more IFN γ after culture with BAFF (148), thus BAFF excess might contribute to T_{FHI} -expansion during HIV/SIV infection. Being produced by FDC and T_{FH} in GC, BAFF likely exerts a physiological role on T_{FH} , during response to TD natural or vaccine antigens. In conclusion, the overexpression of BAFF might impair GC reaction and even modulate T_{FH} functions.

MEMORY B-CELLS: THE WEAK LINK IN HIV/SIV INFECTION

It is now well established that chronically HIV-infected patients have an impaired memory B-cell compartment with lower frequency of HIV-specific and vaccine-specific memory B-cells as well as reduced anti-vaccine Abs (149-151). In addition to lower proportions of memory B-cells, viremic HIV-infected individuals also exhibited increased proportions of CD21¹⁰ mature B-cells (68, 81). This subset highly expressed BCMA and TACI but had decreased BAFF-R expression and BAFF binding. Based on this phenotype profile and on the concomitant increase in CD27, CD38, and CXCR3 expression, these CD21^{lo} B-cells were first considered as circulating plasmablasts, prone to apoptosis and Ab production (67, 81) and expanded as a consequence of HIVinduced hyperactivation. After the identification of a subset of CD20^{hi}CD21^{lo} tissue memory cells in human tonsils exhibiting signs of exhaustion (82), the classification of this CD21¹⁰ population in HIV-infected patients has been revised. In addition to plasmablasts, the CD21^{lo} B-cell subset comprised CD27⁺CD21^{lo} and CD27^{lo}CD21^{lo} cells often referred to as activated memory (ActM) and tissue-like memory (TLM) B-cells, respectively. These subsets differ from conventional RM B-cells by their expression of activation, inhibitory and/or apoptotic markers (69). In healthy donors, RM B-cells constitute the predominant fraction of blood memory B-cells with low percentages of CD2110 memory B-cells (152). By contrast, ActM and TLM are overrepresented in blood of chronically HIV-infected patients (153) and in rapidly progressing SIV-infected macaques (154). In contrast to influenza or tetanus-specific Abs enriched in RM B-cells, HIV-specific Abs are enriched in TLM B-cells in untreated individuals (155, 156). More recently, Muema et al. reported increased proportions of ActM, TLM, and plasmablasts but decreased proportions

of naïve B-cells in vertically HIV-infected children in a viralload-dependent manner (83). In agreement with other studies in children, lower IgG levels and proportions of switched memory B-cells against childhood vaccines were observed (150, 157, 158). In these HIV-infected children, circulating BAFF levels were elevated whereas BAFF-R and TACI expression were respectively decreased and increased in most B-cell subsets. B-cell interaction with viral proteins that can induce BCR- or TLR-mediated B-cell activation (9, 10, 159) might also increase TACI expression, possibly stabilized at the membrane by BAFF binding as shown in mice (79). By contrast, decreased BAFF-R expression might be due to potent receptor internalization in the presence of high BAFF levels as suggested during malaria infection (17, 160) or to enhanced BAFF-mediated BAFF-R processing (26).

It is not clear whether increase in TACI expression has any influence on ActM or TLM functions or survival, *in vivo*. Survival of human and simian RM B-cells (BAFF-R⁺ TACI^{hi}) is less dependent on BAFF than that of naïve and transitional B-cells in physiological settings (161, 162). Moreover, BAFF levels correlate with proportions of MZ and RM B-cells, but not of CD21^{lo} memory B-cells in HIV-infected children (83). By contrast, BAFF levels and proportions of CD21^{lo} memory B-cells were concomitantly increased in individuals infected by *Plasmodium* (17, 160), an infection setting where the frequencies of TLM-like B-cells are increased (18, 163).

Similar to TLR9 ligands that elicit responses in TLM-like B-cells of malaria-exposed people (18, 164), BAFF/APRIL as TACI ligands might deliver differentiation signals to these B-cells through TACI and its downstream TLR-like signaling pathways (87) Whereas overrepresentation of CD21¹⁰ memory B-cells is consistently associated with chronic inflammation, the mechanisms leading to this phenotype are largely unknown. Studies in mice and more recently in HIV-infected people showing T-bet expression by CD2110 B-cells suggest simultaneous actions of pathogen-derived nucleic acids, through TLR9/7, and Th1-cytokines (IFNy) (130, 165–167). According to high TACI expression in HIV-infected children, BAFF overexpression might directly or indirectly (for example, by upregulating IFNy production by NK or Th1-cells) contribute to the generation or survival of these CD21¹⁰ memory B-cells and thus Ab-mediated protection against HIV-1.

CONCLUSION

B-cell-activating factor and its receptors (BAFF-R, TACI, and BCMA) are key actors for the B-cell survival and the immune responses of mature B-cells. Whereas BAFF-R is more widely expressed throughout the B-cell differentiation, TACI now appears as a key regulator of various BAFF-mediated responses. Indeed TACI is spontaneously released upon activation and orchestrates the cleavage of BAFF-R-BAFF complexes. This might have a major impact on memory and MZ B-cells that are TACI^{hi}. Perturbations of these regulatory mechanisms likely impair the GC reaction: GC B-cell selection/survival or recycling between dark and light zones as well as the generation of appropriate effector B-cells during TD responses. Soluble but also membrane

BAFF overexpression by key DC subsets during HIV/SIV infection might subsequently initiate the unexpected expansion of HIV cross-reactive B-cell clones and atypical memory B-cells. In this review, we pointed out previous data arguing for the involvement of BAFF in HIV-mediated B-cell dysfunctions and discussed more recent data on BAFF and TACI in physiological settings. Accordingly, we suggest BAFF-mediated mechanisms that could modulate B-cell response during pathogenic HIV/SIV infection. Our research around BAFF is part of a more global approach that aims to identify B-cell subset(s), which could constitute a reservoir of HIV cross-reactive B-cells, and to understand how to promote their expansion and/or prevent their elimination. This information is likely a prerequisite for the development of next-generation HIV vaccines.

REFERENCES

- Amadori A, Chieco-Bianchi L. B-cell activation and HIV-1 infection: deeds and misdeeds. *Immunol Today* (1990) 11(10):374–9. doi:10.1016/ 0167-5699(90)90144-X
- Lindqvist M, van Lunzen J, Soghoian DZ, Kuhl BD, Ranasinghe S, Kranias G, et al. Expansion of HIV-specific T follicular helper cells in chronic HIV infection. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(9):3271–80. doi:10.1172/ JCI64314
- Petrovas C, Yamamoto T, Gerner MY, Boswell KL, Wloka K, Smith EC, et al. CD4 T follicular helper cell dynamics during SIV infection. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(9):3281–94. doi:10.1172/JCI63039
- Perreau M, Savoye AL, De Crignis E, Corpataux JM, Cubas R, Haddad EK, et al. Follicular helper T cells serve as the major CD4 T cell compartment for HIV-1 infection, replication, and production. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(1): 143–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20121932
- Hong JJ, Amancha PK, Rogers KA, Courtney CL, Havenar-Daughton C, Crotty S, et al. Early lymphoid responses and germinal center formation correlate with lower viral load set points and better prognosis of simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(2):797–806. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400749
- Thornhill JP, Fidler S, Klenerman P, Frater J, Phetsouphanh C. The role of CD4+ T follicular helper cells in HIV infection: from the Germinal center to the periphery. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:46. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017. 00046
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B-cell responses to HIV infection. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275(1):33–48. doi:10.1111/imr.12502
- Borrow P, Moody MA. Immunologic characteristics of HIV-infected individuals who make broadly neutralizing antibodies. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275(1):62–78. doi:10.1111/imr.12504
- Badr G, Borhis G, Treton D, Moog C, Garraud O, Richard Y. HIV type 1 glycoprotein 120 inhibits human B cell chemotaxis to CXC chemokine ligand (CXCL) 12, CC chemokine ligand (CCL)20, and CCL21. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(1):302–10. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.302
- He B, Qiao X, Klasse PJ, Chiu A, Chadburn A, Knowles DM, et al. HIV-1 envelope triggers polyclonal Ig class switch recombination through a CD40-independent mechanism involving BAFF and C-type lectin receptors. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(7):3931–41. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.3931
- Ruffin N, Thang PH, Rethi B, Nilsson A, Chiodi F. The impact of inflammation and immune activation on B cell differentiation during HIV-1 infection. *Front Immunol* (2011) 2:90. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2011.00090
- Jelicic K, Cimbro R, Nawaz F, Huang da W, Zheng X, Yang J, et al. The HIV-1 envelope protein gp120 impairs B cell proliferation by inducing TGF-beta1 production and FcRL4 expression. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(12):1256–65. doi:10.1038/ni.2746
- Mackay F, Schneider P. Cracking the BAFF code. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(7):491–502. doi:10.1038/nri2572
- Mackay F, Sierro F, Grey ST, Gordon TP. The BAFF/APRIL system: an important player in systemic rheumatic diseases. *Curr Dir Autoimmun* (2005) 8:243–65. doi:10.1159/000082106

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contribute to the writing of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants to YR from the "Agence Nationale de Recherches sur le SIDA et les Hépatites Virales" (ANRS). GB was supported by a postdoctoral fellowship from ANRS. HMI was a visiting researcher supported by a fellowship from the French Institute in Egypt. MT is supported by a postdoctoral fellowship from ANRS. NC was supported by doctoral fellowships from the Lebanese University St Joseph and the Fp6 Network of Excellence Europrise.

- Tangye SG, Bryant VL, Cuss AK, Good KL. BAFF, APRIL and human B cell disorders. Semin Immunol (2006) 18(5):305–17. doi:10.1016/j.smim. 2006.04.004
- Fontaine J, Chagnon-Choquet J, Valcke HS, Poudrier J, Roger M, Montreal Primary HIVI, et al. High expression levels of B lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) by dendritic cells correlate with HIV-related B-cell disease progression in humans. *Blood* (2011) 117(1):145–55. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-08-301887
- Scholzen A, Teirlinck AC, Bijker EM, Roestenberg M, Hermsen CC, Hoffman SL, et al. BAFF and BAFF receptor levels correlate with B cell subset activation and redistribution in controlled human malaria infection. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(8):3719–29. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302960
- Portugal S, Tipton CM, Sohn H, Kone Y, Wang J, Li S, et al. Malaria-associated atypical memory B cells exhibit markedly reduced B cell receptor signaling and effector function. *Elife* (2015) 4:07218. doi:10.7554/eLife.07218
- Borhis G, Burelout C, Chaoul N, Smith N, Goujard C, Meyer L, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells and myeloid cells differently contribute to B-cell-activating factor belonging to the tumor necrosis factor superfamily overexpression during primary HIV infection. *AIDS* (2016) 30(3):365–76. doi:10.1097/QAD.00000000000065
- Rotger M, Dalmau J, Rauch A, McLaren P, Bosinger SE, Martinez R, et al. Comparative transcriptomics of extreme phenotypes of human HIV-1 infection and SIV infection in sooty mangabey and rhesus macaque. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121(6):2391–400. doi:10.1172/JCI45235
- Chaoul N, Burelout C, Peruchon S, van Buu BN, Laurent P, Proust A, et al. Default in plasma and intestinal IgA responses during acute infection by simian immunodeficiency virus. *Retrovirology* (2012) 9:43. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-9-43
- Poudrier J, Soulas C, Chagnon-Choquet J, Burdo T, Autissier P, Oskar K, et al. High expression levels of BLyS/BAFF by blood dendritic cells and granulocytes are associated with B-cell dysregulation in SIV-infected rhesus macaques. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(6):e0131513. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0131513
- Mackay F, Woodcock SA, Lawton P, Ambrose C, Baetscher M, Schneider P, et al. Mice transgenic for BAFF develop lymphocytic disorders along with autoimmune manifestations. *J Exp Med* (1999) 190(11):1697–710. doi:10.1084/jem.190.11.1697
- Groom J, Kalled SL, Cutler AH, Olson C, Woodcock SA, Schneider P, et al. Association of BAFF/BLyS overexpression and altered B cell differentiation with Sjogren's syndrome. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 109(1):59–68. doi:10.1172/ JCI0214121
- Jacobs HM, Thouvenel CD, Leach S, Arkatkar T, Metzler G, Scharping NE, et al. Cutting edge: BAFF promotes autoantibody production via TACIdependent activation of transitional B cells. *J Immunol* (2016) 196(9): 3525–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1600017
- Smulski CR, Kury P, Seidel LM, Staiger HS, Edinger AK, Willen L, et al. BAFF- and TACI-dependent processing of BAFFR by ADAM proteases regulates the survival of B cells. *Cell Rep* (2017) 18(9):2189–202. doi:10.1016/ j.celrep.2017.02.005
- 27. Gras MP, Laabi Y, Linares-Cruz G, Blondel MO, Rigaut JP, Brouet JC, et al. BCMAp: an integral membrane protein in the Golgi apparatus of human

mature B lymphocytes. Int Immunol (1995) 7(7):1093-106. doi:10.1093/ intimm/7.7.1093

- Shu HB, Johnson H. B cell maturation protein is a receptor for the tumor necrosis factor family member TALL-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97(16):9156–61. doi:10.1073/pnas.160213497
- Xia XZ, Treanor J, Senaldi G, Khare SD, Boone T, Kelley M, et al. TACI is a TRAF-interacting receptor for TALL-1, a tumor necrosis factor family member involved in B cell regulation. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192(1):137–43. doi:10.1084/jem.192.1.137
- Thompson JS, Bixler SA, Qian F, Vora K, Scott ML, Cachero TG, et al. BAFF-R, a newly identified TNF receptor that specifically interacts with BAFF. Science (2001) 293(5537):2108–11. doi:10.1126/science.1061965
- Kalled SL, Ambrose C, Hsu YM. The biochemistry and biology of BAFF, APRIL and their receptors. *Curr Dir Autoimmun* (2005) 8:206–42. doi:10.1159/000082105
- Marsters SA, Yan M, Pitti RM, Haas PE, Dixit VM, Ashkenazi A. Interaction of the TNF homologues BLyS and APRIL with the TNF receptor homologues BCMA and TACI. *Curr Biol* (2000) 10(13):785–8. doi:10.1016/ S0960-9822(00)00566-2
- Schneider P, MacKay F, Steiner V, Hofmann K, Bodmer JL, Holler N, et al. BAFF, a novel ligand of the tumor necrosis factor family, stimulates B cell growth. J Exp Med (1999) 189(11):1747–56. doi:10.1084/jem.189.11.1747
- Nardelli B, Belvedere O, Roschke V, Moore PA, Olsen HS, Migone TS, et al. Synthesis and release of B-lymphocyte stimulator from myeloid cells. *Blood* (2001) 97(1):198–204. doi:10.1182/blood.V97.1.198
- Litinskiy MB, Nardelli B, Hilbert DM, He B, Schaffer A, Casali P, et al. DCs induce CD40-independent immunoglobulin class switching through BLyS and APRIL. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(9):822–9. doi:10.1038/ni829
- Scapini P, Nardelli B, Nadali G, Calzetti F, Pizzolo G, Montecucco C, et al. G-CSF-stimulated neutrophils are a prominent source of functional BLyS. *J Exp Med* (2003) 197(3):297–302. doi:10.1084/jem.20021343
- Huard B, McKee T, Bosshard C, Durual S, Matthes T, Myit S, et al. APRIL secreted by neutrophils binds to heparan sulfate proteoglycans to create plasma cell niches in human mucosa. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118(8):2887–95. doi:10.1172/JCI33760
- Deal EM, Lahl K, Narvaez CF, Butcher EC, Greenberg HB. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells promote rotavirus-induced human and murine B cell responses. J Clin Invest (2013) 123(6):2464–74. doi:10.1172/JCI60945
- Gomez AM, Ouellet M, Tremblay MJ. HIV-1-triggered release of type I IFN by plasmacytoid dendritic cells induces BAFF production in monocytes. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(5):2300–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402147
- Gross JA, Johnston J, Mudri S, Enselman R, Dillon SR, Madden K, et al. TACI and BCMA are receptors for a TNF homologue implicated in B-cell autoimmune disease. *Nature* (2000) 404(6781):995–9. doi:10.1038/ 35010115
- 41. Thompson JS, Schneider P, Kalled SL, Wang L, Lefevre EA, Cachero TG, et al. BAFF binds to the tumor necrosis factor receptor-like molecule B cell maturation antigen and is important for maintaining the peripheral B cell population. J Exp Med (2000) 192(1):129–35. doi:10.1084/jem.192.1.129
- Wu Y, Bressette D, Carrell JA, Kaufman T, Feng P, Taylor K, et al. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor superfamily member TACI is a high affinity receptor for TNF family members APRIL and BLyS. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275(45):35478–85. doi:10.1074/jbc.M005224200
- Bossen C, Schneider P. BAFF, APRIL and their receptors: structure, function and signaling. *Semin Immunol* (2006) 18(5):263–75. doi:10.1016/j. smim.2006.04.006
- Bossen C, Cachero TG, Tardivel A, Ingold K, Willen L, Dobles M, et al. TACI, unlike BAFF-R, is solely activated by oligomeric BAFF and APRIL to support survival of activated B cells and plasmablasts. *Blood* (2008) 111(3):1004–12. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-09-110874
- Ng LG, Ng CH, Woehl B, Sutherland AP, Huo J, Xu S, et al. BAFF costimulation of Toll-like receptor-activated B-1 cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36(7):1837–46. doi:10.1002/eji.200635956
- Planelles L, Carvalho-Pinto CE, Hardenberg G, Smaniotto S, Savino W, Gomez-Caro R, et al. APRIL promotes B-1 cell-associated neoplasm. *Cancer Cell* (2004) 6(4):399–408. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2004.08.033
- Dillon SR, Gross JA, Ansell SM, Novak AJ. An APRIL to remember: novel TNF ligands as therapeutic targets. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2006) 5(3):235–46. doi:10.1038/nrd1982

- von Bulow GU, van Deursen JM, Bram RJ. Regulation of the T-independent humoral response by TACI. *Immunity* (2001) 14(5):573–82. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(01)00130-3
- Lentz VM, Hayes CE, Cancro MP. Bcmd decreases the life span of B-2 but not B-1 cells in A/WySnJ mice. J Immunol (1998) 160(8):3743–7.
- Yan M, Marsters SA, Grewal IS, Wang H, Ashkenazi A, Dixit VM. Identification of a receptor for BLyS demonstrates a crucial role in humoral immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1(1):37–41. doi:10.1038/76889
- Schiemann B, Gommerman JL, Vora K, Cachero TG, Shulga-Morskaya S, Dobles M, et al. An essential role for BAFF in the normal development of B cells through a BCMA-independent pathway. *Science* (2001) 293(5537):2111–4. doi:10.1126/science.1061964
- 52. Vora KA, Wang LC, Rao SP, Liu ZY, Majeau GR, Cutler AH, et al. Cutting edge: germinal centers formed in the absence of B cell-activating factor belonging to the TNF family exhibit impaired maturation and function. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(2):547–51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.2.547
- Sasaki Y, Casola S, Kutok JL, Rajewsky K, Schmidt-Supprian M. TNF family member B cell-activating factor (BAFF) receptor-dependent and -independent roles for BAFF in B cell physiology. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(4):2245–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.4.2245
- Xu S, Lam KP. B-cell maturation protein, which binds the tumor necrosis factor family members BAFF and APRIL, is dispensable for humoral immune responses. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21(12):4067–74. doi:10.1128/ MCB.21.12.4067-4074.2001
- O'Connor BP, Raman VS, Erickson LD, Cook WJ, Weaver LK, Ahonen C, et al. BCMA is essential for the survival of long-lived bone marrow plasma cells. J Exp Med (2004) 199(1):91–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20031330
- Castigli E, Wilson SA, Scott S, Dedeoglu F, Xu S, Lam KP, et al. TACI and BAFF-R mediate isotype switching in B cells. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201(1):35–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20032000
- Avery DT, Kalled SL, Ellyard JI, Ambrose C, Bixler SA, Thien M, et al. BAFF selectively enhances the survival of plasmablasts generated from human memory B cells. J Clin Invest (2003) 112(2):286–97. doi:10.1172/JCI18025
- Zhang X, Park CS, Yoon SO, Li L, Hsu YM, Ambrose C, et al. BAFF supports human B cell differentiation in the lymphoid follicles through distinct receptors. *Int Immunol* (2005) 17(6):779–88. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh259
- 59. Yang M, Hase H, Legarda-Addison D, Varughese L, Seed B, Ting AT. B cell maturation antigen, the receptor for a proliferation-inducing ligand and B cell-activating factor of the TNF family, induces antigen presentation in B cells. J Immunol (2005) 175(5):2814–24. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.5.2814
- Tai YT, Mayes PA, Acharya C, Zhong MY, Cea M, Cagnetta A, et al. Novel anti-B-cell maturation antigen antibody-drug conjugate (GSK2857916) selectively induces killing of multiple myeloma. *Blood* (2014) 123(20): 3128–38. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-10-535088
- O'Donnell EK, Raje NS. New monoclonal antibodies on the horizon in multiple myeloma. *Ther Adv Hematol* (2017) 8(2):41–53. doi:10.1177/ 2040620716682490
- 62. Laurent SA, Hoffmann FS, Kuhn PH, Cheng Q, Chu Y, Schmidt-Supprian M, et al. Gamma-Secretase directly sheds the survival receptor BCMA from plasma cells. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7333. doi:10.1038/ncomms8333
- 63. Sanchez E, Li M, Kitto A, Li J, Wang CS, Kirk DT, et al. Serum B-cell maturation antigen is elevated in multiple myeloma and correlates with disease status and survival. *Br J Haematol* (2012) 158(6):727–38. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2012.09241.x
- Moreaux J, Cremer FW, Reme T, Raab M, Mahtouk K, Kaukel P, et al. The level of TACI gene expression in myeloma cells is associated with a signature of microenvironment dependence versus a plasmablastic signature. *Blood* (2005) 106(3):1021–30. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-11-4512
- 65. Yaccoby S, Pennisi A, Li X, Dillon SR, Zhan F, Barlogie B, et al. Atacicept (TACI-Ig) inhibits growth of TACI(high) primary myeloma cells in SCID-hu mice and in coculture with osteoclasts. *Leukemia* (2008) 22(2):406–13. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2405048
- Yan M, Wang H, Chan B, Roose-Girma M, Erickson S, Baker T, et al. Activation and accumulation of B cells in TACI-deficient mice. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2(7):638–43. doi:10.1038/89790
- Ho J, Moir S, Malaspina A, Howell ML, Wang W, DiPoto AC, et al. Two overrepresented B cell populations in HIV-infected individuals undergo apoptosis by different mechanisms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(51):19436–41. doi:10.1073/pnas.0609515103

- Malaspina A, Moir S, Ho J, Wang W, Howell ML, O'Shea MA, et al. Appearance of immature/transitional B cells in HIV-infected individuals with advanced disease: correlation with increased IL-7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(7):2262–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0511094103
- Moir S, Fauci AS. Insights into B cells and HIV-specific B-cell responses in HIV-infected individuals. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 254(1):207–24. doi:10.1111/ imr.12067
- Castigli E, Wilson SA, Garibyan L, Rachid R, Bonilla F, Schneider L, et al. TACI is mutant in common variable immunodeficiency and IgA deficiency. *Nat Genet* (2005) 37(8):829–34. doi:10.1038/ng1601
- Salzer U, Chapel HM, Webster AD, Pan-Hammarstrom Q, Schmitt-Graeff A, Schlesier M, et al. Mutations in TNFRSF13B encoding TACI are associated with common variable immunodeficiency in humans. *Nat Genet* (2005) 37(8):820–8. doi:10.1038/ng1600
- Darce JR, Arendt BK, Chang SK, Jelinek DF. Divergent effects of BAFF on human memory B cell differentiation into Ig-secreting cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(9):5612–22. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.9.5612
- Ettinger R, Sims GP, Robbins R, Withers D, Fischer RT, Grammer AC, et al. IL-21 and BAFF/BLyS synergize in stimulating plasma cell differentiation from a unique population of human splenic memory B cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(5):2872–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.2872
- 74. Bacchelli C, Buckland KF, Buckridge S, Salzer U, Schneider P, Thrasher AJ, et al. The C76R transmembrane activator and calcium modulator cyclophilin ligand interactor mutation disrupts antibody production and B-cell homeostasis in heterozygous and homozygous mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2011) 127(5):1253.e–9.e. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.02.037
- 75. Figgett WA, Fairfax K, Vincent FB, Le Page MA, Katik I, Deliyanti D, et al. The TACI receptor regulates T-cell-independent marginal zone B cell responses through innate activation-induced cell death. *Immunity* (2013) 39(3):573–83. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.05.019
- Rahman ZS, Rao SP, Kalled SL, Manser T. Normal induction but attenuated progression of germinal center responses in BAFF and BAFF-R signaling-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* (2003) 198(8):1157–69. doi:10.1084/jem. 20030495
- 77. Warnatz K, Salzer U, Rizzi M, Fischer B, Gutenberger S, Bohm J, et al. B-cell activating factor receptor deficiency is associated with an adult-onset antibody deficiency syndrome in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(33):13945–50. doi:10.1073/pnas.0903543106
- Ou X, Xu S, Lam KP. Deficiency in TNFRSF13B (TACI) expands T-follicular helper and germinal center B cells via increased ICOS-ligand expression but impairs plasma cell survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2012) 109(38):15401–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1200386109
- Goenka R, Matthews AH, Zhang B, O'Neill PJ, Scholz JL, Migone TS, et al. Local BLyS production by T follicular cells mediates retention of high affinity B cells during affinity maturation. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(1):45–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20130505
- Garcia-Carmona Y, Cols M, Ting AT, Radigan L, Yuk FJ, Zhang L, et al. Differential induction of plasma cells by isoforms of human TACI. *Blood* (2015) 125(11):1749–58. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-05-575845
- Moir S, Malaspina A, Pickeral OK, Donoghue ET, Vasquez J, Miller NJ, et al. Decreased survival of B cells of HIV-viremic patients mediated by altered expression of receptors of the TNF superfamily. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200(7):587–99. doi:10.1084/jem.20032236
- Ehrhardt GR, Hsu JT, Gartland L, Leu CM, Zhang S, Davis RS, et al. Expression of the immunoregulatory molecule FcRH4 defines a distinctive tissue-based population of memory B cells. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202(6):783–91. doi:10.1084/jem.20050879
- Muema DM, Macharia GN, Hassan AS, Mwaringa SM, Fegan GW, Berkley JA, et al. Control of viremia enables acquisition of resting memory B cells with age and normalization of activated B cell phenotypes in HIV-infected children. J Immunol (2015) 195(3):1082–91. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500491
- Seshasayee D, Valdez P, Yan M, Dixit VM, Tumas D, Grewal IS. Loss of TACI causes fatal lymphoproliferation and autoimmunity, establishing TACI as an inhibitory BLyS receptor. *Immunity* (2003) 18(2):279–88. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(03)00025-6
- Hoffmann FS, Kuhn PH, Laurent SA, Hauck SM, Berer K, Wendlinger SA, et al. The immunoregulator soluble TACI is released by ADAM10 and reflects B cell activation in autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(2):542–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402070

- Hymowitz SG, Patel DR, Wallweber HJ, Runyon S, Yan M, Yin J, et al. Structures of APRIL-receptor complexes: like BCMA, TACI employs only a single cysteine-rich domain for high affinity ligand binding. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280(8):7218–27. doi:10.1074/jbc.M411714200
- He B, Santamaria R, Xu W, Cols M, Chen K, Puga I, et al. The transmembrane activator TACI triggers immunoglobulin class switching by activating B cells through the adaptor MyD88. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(9):836–45. doi:10.1038/ ni.1914
- Mariette X, Roux S, Zhang J, Bengoufa D, Lavie F, Zhou T, et al. The level of BLyS (BAFF) correlates with the titre of autoantibodies in human Sjogren's syndrome. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2003) 62(2):168–71. doi:10.1136/ard.62.2.168
- Jacobson CA, Sun L, Kim HT, McDonough SM, Reynolds CG, Schowalter M, et al. Post-transplantation B cell activating factor and B cell recovery before onset of chronic graft-versus-host disease. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2014) 20(5):668–75. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.01.021
- Min JW, Kim KW, Kim BM, Doh KC, Choi MS, Choi BS, et al. Clinical significance of pre- and post-transplant BAFF levels in kidney transplant recipients. *PLoS One* (2016) 11(9):e0162964. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0162964
- Stohl W, Cheema GS, Briggs WS, Xu D, Sosnovtseva S, Roschke V, et al. B lymphocyte stimulator protein-associated increase in circulating autoantibody levels may require CD4+ T cells: lessons from HIV-infected patients. *Clin Immunol* (2002) 104(2):115–22. doi:10.1006/clim.2002.5238
- 92. Gomez AM, Ouellet M, Deshiere A, Breton Y, Tremblay MJ. HIV-1-mediated BAFF secretion in macrophages does not require endosomal TLRs, type-I IFN, and Nef, but depends on the cellular phenotype status. *J Immunol* (2016) 196(9):3806–17. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501249
- Jego G, Palucka AK, Blanck JP, Chalouni C, Pascual V, Banchereau J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce plasma cell differentiation through type I interferon and interleukin 6. *Immunity* (2003) 19(2):225–34. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(03)00208-5
- 94. Shaw J, Wang YH, Ito T, Arima K, Liu YJ. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells regulate B-cell growth and differentiation via CD70. *Blood* (2010) 115(15):3051–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-08-239145
- Cella M, Otero K, Colonna M. Expansion of human NK-22 cells with IL-7, IL-2, and IL-1beta reveals intrinsic functional plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(24):10961–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1005641107
- Cella M, Miller H, Song C. Beyond NK cells: the expanding universe of innate lymphoid cells. Front Immunol (2014) 5:282. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00282
- Peruchon S, Chaoul N, Burelout C, Delache B, Brochard P, Laurent P, et al. Tissue-specific B-cell dysfunction and generalized memory B-cell loss during acute SIV infection. *PLoS One* (2009) 4(6):e5966. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0005966
- Cloke T, Munder M, Bergin P, Herath S, Modolell M, Taylor G, et al. Phenotypic alteration of neutrophils in the blood of HIV seropositive patients. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(9):e72034. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072034
- Bowers NL, Helton ES, Huijbregts RP, Goepfert PA, Heath SL, Hel Z. Immune suppression by neutrophils in HIV-1 infection: role of PD-L1/PD-1 pathway. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(3):e1003993. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003993
- Zeng M, Smith AJ, Shang L, Wietgrefe SW, Voss JE, Carlis JV, et al. Mucosal humoral immune response to SIVmac239nef vaccination and vaginal challenge. J Immunol (2016) 196(6):2809–18. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500156
- 101. Li Q, Estes JD, Schlievert PM, Duan L, Brosnahan AJ, Southern PJ, et al. Glycerol monolaurate prevents mucosal SIV transmission. *Nature* (2009) 458(7241):1034–8. doi:10.1038/nature07831
- 102. Kwa S, Kannanganat S, Nigam P, Siddiqui M, Shetty RD, Armstrong W, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are recruited to the colorectum and contribute to immune activation during pathogenic SIV infection in rhesus macaques. *Blood* (2011) 118(10):2763–73. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-02-339515
- 103. Cohen MS, Shaw GM, McMichael AJ, Haynes BF. Acute HIV-1 infection. N Engl J Med (2011) 364(20):1943–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1011874
- 104. Stott EJ, Chan WL, Mills KH, Page M, Taffs F, Cranage M, et al. Preliminary report: protection of cynomolgus macaques against simian immunodeficiency virus by fixed infected-cell vaccine. *Lancet* (1990) 336(8730):1538–41. doi:10.1016/0140-6736(90)93310-L
- 105. Stott EJ. Anti-cell antibody in macaques. Nature (1991) 353(6343):393. doi:10.1038/353393a0
- 106. Pegu A, Hessell AJ, Mascola JR, Haigwood NL. Use of broadly neutralizing antibodies for HIV-1 prevention. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275(1):296–312. doi:10.1111/imr.12511

- Burton DR, Mascola JR. Antibody responses to envelope glycoproteins in HIV-1 infection. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(6):571–6. doi:10.1038/ni.3158
- Caskey M, Klein F, Lorenzi JC, Seaman MS, West AP Jr, Buckley N, et al. Viraemia suppressed in HIV-1-infected humans by broadly neutralizing antibody 3BNC117. *Nature* (2015) 522(7557):487–91. doi:10.1038/nature14411
- 109. Lynch RM, Boritz E, Coates EE, DeZure A, Madden P, Costner P, et al. Virologic effects of broadly neutralizing antibody VRC01 administration during chronic HIV-1 infection. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7(319):319ra206. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aad5752
- 110. Scheid JF, Horwitz JA, Bar-On Y, Kreider EF, Lu CL, Lorenzi JC, et al. HIV-1 antibody 3BNC117 suppresses viral rebound in humans during treatment interruption. *Nature* (2016) 535(7613):556–60. doi:10.1038/nature18929
- 111. Yang G, Holl TM, Liu Y, Li Y, Lu X, Nicely NI, et al. Identification of autoantigens recognized by the 2F5 and 4E10 broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(2):241–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20121977
- 112. Bonsignori M, Wiehe K, Grimm SK, Lynch R, Yang G, Kozink DM, et al. An autoreactive antibody from an SLE/HIV-1 individual broadly neutralizes HIV-1. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(4):1835–43. doi:10.1172/JCI73441
- 113. Liu M, Yang G, Wiehe K, Nicely NI, Vandergrift NA, Rountree W, et al. Polyreactivity and autoreactivity among HIV-1 antibodies. *J Virol* (2015) 89(1):784–98. doi:10.1128/JVI.02378-14
- 114. Schroeder KMS, Agazio A, Strauch PJ, Jones ST, Thompson SB, Harper MS, et al. Breaching peripheral tolerance promotes the production of HIV-1neutralizing antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(8):2283–302. doi:10.1084/ jem.20161190
- 115. Mouquet H, Klein F, Scheid JF, Warncke M, Pietzsch J, Oliveira TY, et al. Memory B cell antibodies to HIV-1 gp140 cloned from individuals infected with clade A and B viruses. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(9):e24078. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0024078
- Mouquet H, Nussenzweig MC. Polyreactive antibodies in adaptive immune responses to viruses. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2012) 69(9):1435–45. doi:10.1007/ s00018-011-0872-6
- Verkoczy L, Diaz M. Autoreactivity in HIV-1 broadly neutralizing antibodies: implications for their function and induction by vaccination. *Curr Opin HIV* AIDS (2014) 9(3):224–34. doi:10.1097/COH.00000000000049
- 118. Tomaras GD, Yates NL, Liu P, Qin L, Fouda GG, Chavez LL, et al. Initial B-cell responses to transmitted human immunodeficiency virus type 1: virion-binding immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgG antibodies followed by plasma anti-gp41 antibodies with ineffective control of initial viremia. *J Virol* (2008) 82(24):12449–63. doi:10.1128/JVI.01708-08
- 119. Liao HX, Chen X, Munshaw S, Zhang R, Marshall DJ, Vandergrift N, et al. Initial antibodies binding to HIV-1 gp41 in acutely infected subjects are polyreactive and highly mutated. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(11):2237–49. doi:10.1084/jem.20110363
- 120. Trama AM, Moody MA, Alam SM, Jaeger FH, Lockwood B, Parks R, et al. HIV-1 envelope gp41 antibodies can originate from terminal ileum B cells that share cross-reactivity with commensal bacteria. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 16(2):215–26. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2014.07.003
- Meffre E, Wardemann H. B-cell tolerance checkpoints in health and autoimmunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2008) 20(6):632–8. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2008.09.001
- 122. Wardemann H, Yurasov S, Schaefer A, Young JW, Meffre E, Nussenzweig MC. Predominant autoantibody production by early human B cell precursors. *Science* (2003) 301(5638):1374–7. doi:10.1126/science.1086907
- 123. Meffre E. The establishment of early B cell tolerance in humans: lessons from primary immunodeficiency diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2011) 1246:1–10. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06347.x
- 124. Thien M, Phan TG, Gardam S, Amesbury M, Basten A, Mackay F, et al. Excess BAFF rescues self-reactive B cells from peripheral deletion and allows them to enter forbidden follicular and marginal zone niches. *Immunity* (2004) 20(6):785–98. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.05.010
- 125. Hondowicz BD, Alexander ST, Quinn WJ III, Pagan AJ, Metzgar MH, Cancro MP, et al. The role of BLyS/BLyS receptors in anti-chromatin B cell regulation. *Int Immunol* (2007) 19(4):465–75. doi:10.1093/intimm/ dxm011
- 126. Yurasov S, Wardemann H, Hammersen J, Tsuiji M, Meffre E, Pascual V, et al. Defective B cell tolerance checkpoints in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201(5):703–11. doi:10.1084/jem.20042251

- 127. Shinners NP, Carlesso G, Castro I, Hoek KL, Corn RA, Woodland RT, et al. Bruton's tyrosine kinase mediates NF-kappa B activation and B cell survival by B cell-activating factor receptor of the TNF-R family. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(6):3872–80. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.6.3872
- Jellusova J, Miletic AV, Cato MH, Lin WW, Hu Y, Bishop GA, et al. Contextspecific BAFF-R signaling by the NF-kappaB and PI3K pathways. *Cell Rep* (2013) 5(4):1022–35. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.10.022
- Hobeika E, Levit-Zerdoun E, Anastasopoulou V, Pohlmeyer R, Altmeier S, Alsadeq A, et al. CD19 and BAFF-R can signal to promote B-cell survival in the absence of Syk. *EMBO J* (2015) 34(7):925–39. doi:10.15252/embj.201489732
- 130. Knox JJ, Buggert M, Kardava L, Seaton KE, Eller MA, Canaday DH, et al. T-bet+ B cells are induced by human viral infections and dominate the HIV gp140 response. JCI Insight (2017) 2(8):92943. doi:10.1172/jci.insight.92943
- Zhou T, Georgiev I, Wu X, Yang ZY, Dai K, Finzi A, et al. Structural basis for broad and potent neutralization of HIV-1 by antibody VRC01. *Science* (2010) 329(5993):811–7. doi:10.1126/science.1192819
- 132. Puga I, Cols M, Barra CM, He B, Cassis L, Gentile M, et al. B cell-helper neutrophils stimulate the diversification and production of immunoglobulin in the marginal zone of the spleen. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(2):170–80. doi:10.1038/ni.2194
- 133. Magri G, Miyajima M, Bascones S, Mortha A, Puga I, Cassis L, et al. Innate lymphoid cells integrate stromal and immunological signals to enhance antibody production by splenic marginal zone B cells. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(4):354–64. doi:10.1038/ni.2830
- Victora GD, Nussenzweig MC. Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:429–57. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075032
- Binder SC, Meyer-Hermann M. Implications of intravital imaging of murine germinal centers on the control of B cell selection and division. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:593. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00593
- Tiller T, Tsuiji M, Yurasov S, Velinzon K, Nussenzweig MC, Wardemann H. Autoreactivity in human IgG+ memory B cells. *Immunity* (2007) 26(2):205–13. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.01.009
- Lesley R, Xu Y, Kalled SL, Hess DM, Schwab SR, Shu HB, et al. Reduced competitiveness of autoantigen-engaged B cells due to increased dependence on BAFF. *Immunity* (2004) 20(4):441–53. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(04) 00079-2
- Cremasco V, Woodruff MC, Onder L, Cupovic J, Nieves-Bonilla JM, Schildberg FA, et al. B cell homeostasis and follicle confines are governed by fibroblastic reticular cells. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(10):973–81. doi:10.1038/ ni.2965
- Wang X, Cho B, Suzuki K, Xu Y, Green JA, An J, et al. Follicular dendritic cells help establish follicle identity and promote B cell retention in germinal centers. J Exp Med (2011) 208(12):2497–510. doi:10.1084/jem.20111449
- 140. Havenar-Daughton C, Lindqvist M, Heit A, Wu JE, Reiss SM, Kendric K, et al. CXCL13 is a plasma biomarker of germinal center activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113(10):2702–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1520112113
- 141. Cagigi A, Mowafi F, Phuong Dang LV, Tenner-Racz K, Atlas A, Grutzmeier S, et al. Altered expression of the receptor-ligand pair CXCR5/CXCL13 in B-cells during chronic HIV-1 infection. *Blood* (2008) 112(12):4401–10. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-02-140426
- 142. Badr G, Borhis G, Lefevre EA, Chaoul N, Deshayes F, Dessirier V, et al. BAFF enhances chemotaxis of primary human B cells: a particular synergy between BAFF and CXCL13 on memory B cells. *Blood* (2008) 111(5):2744–54. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-081232
- 143. Victora GD, Schwickert TA, Fooksman DR, Kamphorst AO, Meyer-Hermann M, Dustin ML, et al. Germinal center dynamics revealed by multiphoton microscopy with a photoactivatable fluorescent reporter. *Cell* (2010) 143(4):592–605. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.032
- 144. Meyer-Hermann M, Mohr E, Pelletier N, Zhang Y, Victora GD, Toellner KM. A theory of germinal center B cell selection, division, and exit. *Cell Rep* (2012) 2(1):162–74. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.05.010
- 145. Cubas RA, Mudd JC, Savoye AL, Perreau M, van Grevenynghe J, Metcalf T, et al. Inadequate T follicular cell help impairs B cell immunity during HIV infection. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(4):494–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3109
- 146. Cohen K, Altfeld M, Alter G, Stamatatos L. Early preservation of CXCR5+ PD-1+ helper T cells and B cell activation predict the breadth of neutralizing antibody responses in chronic HIV-1 infection. *J Virol* (2014) 88(22): 13310–21. doi:10.1128/JVI.02186-14

- 147. Locci M, Havenar-Daughton C, Landais E, Wu J, Kroenke MA, Arlehamn CL, et al. Human circulating PD-1+CXCR3-CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells are highly functional and correlate with broadly neutralizing HIV antibody responses. *Immunity* (2013) 39(4):758–69. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013. 08.031
- 148. Coquery CM, Loo WM, Wade NS, Bederman AG, Tung KS, Lewis JE, et al. BAFF regulates follicular helper t cells and affects their accumulation and interferon-gamma production in autoimmunity. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2015) 67(3):773–84. doi:10.1002/art.38950
- 149. Titanji K, Chiodi F, Bellocco R, Schepis D, Osorio L, Tassandin C, et al. Primary HIV-1 infection sets the stage for important B lymphocyte dysfunctions. *AIDS* (2005) 19(17):1947–55. doi:10.1097/01.aids.0000191231. 54170.89
- 150. Pensieroso S, Cagigi A, Palma P, Nilsson A, Capponi C, Freda E, et al. Timing of HAART defines the integrity of memory B cells and the longevity of humoral responses in HIV-1 vertically-infected children. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2009) 106(19):7939–44. doi:10.1073/pnas.0901702106
- 151. Moir S, Buckner CM, Ho J, Wang W, Chen J, Waldner AJ, et al. B cells in early and chronic HIV infection: evidence for preservation of immune function associated with early initiation of antiretroviral therapy. *Blood* (2010) 116(25):5571–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-05-285528
- 152. Good KL, Avery DT, Tangye SG. Resting human memory B cells are intrinsically programmed for enhanced survival and responsiveness to diverse stimuli compared to naive B cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(2):890–901. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.2.890
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B cells in HIV infection and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(4):235–45. doi:10.1038/nri2524
- 154. Titanji K, Velu V, Chennareddi L, Vijay-Kumar M, Gewirtz AT, Freeman GJ, et al. Acute depletion of activated memory B cells involves the PD-1 pathway in rapidly progressing SIV-infected macaques. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120(11):3878–90. doi:10.1172/JCI43271
- 155. Kardava L, Moir S, Shah N, Wang W, Wilson R, Buckner CM, et al. Abnormal B cell memory subsets dominate HIV-specific responses in infected individuals. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(7):3252–62. doi:10.1172/JCI74351
- 156. Buckner CM, Kardava L, Zhang X, Gittens K, Justement JS, Kovacs C, et al. Maintenance of HIV-specific memory B-cell responses in elite controllers despite low viral burdens. *J Infect Dis* (2016) 214(3):390–8. doi:10.1093/ infdis/jiw163
- 157. Moss WJ, Scott S, Mugala N, Ndhlovu Z, Beeler JA, Audet SA, et al. Immunogenicity of standard-titer measles vaccine in HIV-1-infected and uninfected Zambian children: an observational study. J Infect Dis (2007) 196(3):347–55. doi:10.1086/519169
- 158. Nair N, Moss WJ, Scott S, Mugala N, Ndhlovu ZM, Lilo K, et al. HIV-1 infection in Zambian children impairs the development and avidity maturation of measles virus-specific immunoglobulin G after vaccination and infection. *J Infect Dis* (2009) 200(7):1031–8. doi:10.1086/605648

- 159. Lefevre EA, Krzysiek R, Loret EP, Galanaud P, Richard Y. Cutting edge: HIV-1 Tat protein differentially modulates the B cell response of naive, memory, and germinal center B cells. J Immunol (1999) 163(3):1119–22.
- 160. Nduati E, Gwela A, Karanja H, Mugyenyi C, Langhorne J, Marsh K, et al. The plasma concentration of the B cell activating factor is increased in children with acute malaria. J Infect Dis (2011) 204(6):962–70. doi:10.1093/ infdis/jir438
- 161. Vugmeyster Y, Seshasayee D, Chang W, Storn A, Howell K, Sa S, et al. A soluble BAFF antagonist, BR3-Fc, decreases peripheral blood B cells and lymphoid tissue marginal zone and follicular B cells in cynomolgus monkeys. *Am J Pathol* (2006) 168(2):476–89. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2006.050600
- 162. Jacobi AM, Huang W, Wang T, Freimuth W, Sanz I, Furie R, et al. Effect of long-term belimumab treatment on B cells in systemic lupus erythematosus: extension of a phase II, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-ranging study. Arthritis Rheum (2010) 62(1):201–10. doi:10.1002/art.27189
- 163. Muellenbeck MF, Ueberheide B, Amulic B, Epp A, Fenyo D, Busse CE, et al. Atypical and classical memory B cells produce *Plasmodium falciparum* neutralizing antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(2):389–99. doi:10.1084/ jem.20121970
- 164. Sohn HW, Krueger PD, Davis RS, Pierce SK. FcRL4 acts as an adaptive to innate molecular switch dampening BCR signaling and enhancing TLR signaling. *Blood* (2011) 118(24):6332–41. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-05-353102
- 165. Rubtsov AV, Rubtsova K, Fischer A, Meehan RT, Gillis JZ, Kappler JW, et al. Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7)-driven accumulation of a novel CD11c(+) B-cell population is important for the development of autoimmunity. *Blood* (2011) 118(5):1305–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-331462
- 166. Rubtsova K, Rubtsov AV, van Dyk LF, Kappler JW, Marrack P. T-box transcription factor T-bet, a key player in a unique type of B-cell activation essential for effective viral clearance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(34):E3216–24. doi:10.1073/pnas.1312348110
- 167. Naradikian MS, Myles A, Beiting DP, Roberts KJ, Dawson L, Herati RS, et al. Cutting edge: IL-4, IL-21, and IFN-gamma interact to govern T-bet and CD11c expression in TLR-activated B cells. *J Immunol* (2016) 197(4):1023–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1600522

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Borhis, Trovato, Chaoul, Ibrahim and Richard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mucosal IgA Responses: Damaged in Established HIV Infection – Yet, Effective Weapon against HIV Transmission

Viraj Kulkarni¹ and Ruth M. Ruprecht^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Virology and Immunology, Texas Biomedical Research Institute, San Antonio, TX, United States, ² Southwest National Primate Research Center, San Antonio, TX, United States

HIV infection not only destroys CD4+ T cells but also inflicts serious damage to the B-cell compartment, such as lymphadenopathy, destruction of normal B-cell follicle architecture, polyclonal hypergammaglobulinemia, increased apoptosis of B cells, and irreversible loss of memory B-cell responses with advanced HIV disease. Subepithelial B cells and plasma cells are also affected, which results in loss of mucosal IgG and IgA antibodies. This leaves the mucosal barrier vulnerable to bacterial translocation. The ensuing immune activation in mucosal tissues adds fuel to the fire of local HIV replication. We postulate that compromised mucosal antibody defenses also facilitate superinfection of HIV-positive individuals with new HIV strains. This in turn sets the stage for the generation of circulating recombinant forms of HIV. What can the mucosal B-cell compartment contribute to protect a healthy, uninfected host against mucosal HIV transmission? Here, we discuss proof-of-principle studies we have performed using passive mucosal immunization, i.e., topical administration of preformed anti-HIV monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) as IgG1, dimeric IgA1 (dIgA1), and dIgA2 isotypes, alone or in combination. Our data indicate that mucosally applied anti-HIV envelope mAbs can provide potent protection against mucosal transmission of simian-human immunodeficiency virus. Our review also discusses the induction of mucosal antibody defenses by active vaccination and potential strategies to interrupt the vicious cycle of bacterial translocation, immune activation, and stimulation of HIV replication in individuals with damaged mucosal barriers.

Keywords: human immunodeficiency virus-induced IgA, vaccine-induced anti-HIV IgA, systemic IgA responses, mucosal IgA responses, secretory IgA, immune exclusion of HIV, simian-human immunodeficiency virus, passive immunization with dimeric IgA

OVERVIEW: THE AIDS EPIDEMIC AND HIV-INDUCED DAMAGE OF MUCOSAL B CELLS

Since the beginning of the HIV/AIDS epidemic, more than 35 million people have died (http:// www.who.int/gho/hiv/en/); were it not for the introduction of combination antiretroviral therapy, the number of deaths would surpass those caused by the Black Plague in the fourteenth century and the Spanish Flu in 1918, making HIV the worst newly emerged pandemic in human history. An estimated 90% of all new HIV acquisitions occur through mucosal contact, including sexual and

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Chiodi, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Guido Ferrari, Duke University, United States Jorma Hinkula, Linköping University, Sweden

*Correspondence:

Ruth M. Ruprecht rruprecht@txbiomed.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 September 2017 Accepted: 02 November 2017 Published: 15 November 2017

Citation:

Kulkami V and Ruprecht RM (2017) Mucosal IgA Responses: Damaged in Established HIV Infection—Yet, Effective Weapon against HIV Transmission. Front. Immunol. 8:1581. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01581 perinatal transmission, in which mucosal fluids and tissues are the first points of contact for HIV. Despite this, inducing protective mucosal immune responses by candidate HIV/AIDS vaccines has not been a major focus for most experimental vaccine approaches. Almost all acute HIV acquisitions involve R5-tropic strains, even when the infected source person harbors predominately dual or X4-tropic HIV strains. As such, prevention of virus acquisition by active and/or passive immunization should focus on blocking mucosal transmission of R5 HIV.

B-cell dysregulation was noted at the very beginning of the HIV/AIDS epidemic, even before the viral etiology of this new syndrome was identified [reviewed in Ref. (1)]. Damage to the B-cell compartment was subsequently described as including lymphadenopathy, loss of normal B-cell follicle architecture in lymph nodes, polyclonal hypergammaglobulinemia, altered expression of homing receptors on the surface of B cells and, therefore, increased turnover of such cells, increased apoptosis of B cells due to activation-induced cell death, and eventually irreversible loss of memory B-cell responses with advancing HIV disease. The latter becomes evident by significant decreases in antiviral antibody titers (1–6).

IgA-producing B cells and plasma cells are not spared from the HIV or SIV-induced damage. Mestecky and colleagues (7, 8) described unusually low anti-HIV IgA responses when compared to IgG responses in mucosal fluids. In this review, we discuss the implications of such B-cell damage in infected individuals. We will contrast these findings with the potential role mucosal IgA can play in protecting uninfected hosts from invading HIV or related primate immunodeficiency viruses. Such protection could be provided by passively administering recombinant anti-HIV antibodies directly into mucosal compartments. Alternatively, vaccine strategies can be designed to induce protective anti-HIV mucosal antibody responses. Our review will summarize relevant data generated in non-human primate (NHP) models.

MUCOSAL ANTIBODY PRODUCTION IN NORMAL HOSTS

In order to understand the dysfunction of the B-cell compartment in HIV infection, it is important to understand the processes involved in generating mucosal antibodies of different classes in healthy, uninfected hosts. Mucosal fluids contain IgM, IgG, and IgA in different forms, especially polymeric versions. These antibodies are produced by local plasma cells in the lamina propria. IgM-producing cells secrete multimeric IgM that contains the joining (J) chain and is generally pentameric. This IgM binds to the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR) expressed on the basolateral surface of the epithelial cell barrier. The pIgR-IgM complexes are transported across the epithelial monolayer in transcytotic vesicles and released at the luminal side through a process involving proteolytic cleavage of pIgR. This results in release of the secretory component (SC) that remains associated with IgM, thus generating secretory IgM (Figure 1A, top).

IgG is produced in the bone marrow from where it enters the circulation and is distributed throughout the body tissues. IgG

can also be generated locally by subepithelial plasma cells; its trans-epithelial transport occurs through the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn) (**Figure 1A**, middle). In contrast to pIgR, FcRn is not degraded upon release of its IgG cargo at the luminal side; this receptor can shuttle back and forth between the luminal and the basolateral aspects of the epithelial cells and carrying IgG-antigen immune complexes from the luminal side across the epithelium into the subepithelial space (**Figure 1A**, middle) (9).

Like the other immunoglobulin (Ig) classes, IgA destined for mucosal secretions is also produced locally by plasma cells in the lamina propria. B cells release dimeric IgA (dIgA), which consists of two IgA monomers linked at their Fc alpha ends by the J chain. Like IgM, dIgA molecules bind to pIgR at the basolateral aspect of epithelial cells and get transported in transcytotic vesicles to the luminal side, where pIgR undergoes cleavage into a remnant stump and SC, giving rise to secretory IgA (SIgA) (**Figure 1A**, bottom) (10) found in mucosal fluids. The relative ratios of mucosal IgM:IgG and IgM:IgA vary and depend on the active participation of CD4⁺ T-helper cells, which provide critical stimulatory signals to B cells to undergo Ig class switching.

In humans, IgA exists as closely related subclasses, IgA1 and IgA2, which differ predominantly in the hinge region. In IgA1, the latter contains 19 amino acids (aa) as well as several O-linked oligosaccharides. In contrast, the IgA2 hinge region is only 6 aa long and lacks glycosylation. Due to their open hinge region, IgA1 molecules have a T-like shape with a distance between Fab fragments of approximately 16 nm. Conversely, IgA2 is *Y*-shaped, and the distance between Fab regions measures only 10 nm due to the shorter, stiffer hinge region. The structural differences between IgA1 and IgA2 molecules likely result in different biological activities. Of note, only humans and great apes have the IgA1 subclass with the remarkably open hinge. Rhesus macaques only encode the IgA2-like subclass [reviewed in Ref. (10)].

Among the three classes of mucosal antibodies, IgA in its various forms clearly stands out. The human body generates more IgA per day than all other classes of Igs combined (11), and since IgA ranks only second in the plasma concentration after IgG, it is obvious that the majority of IgA is destined to enter mucosal fluids that need to be replaced continuously. These facts imply a critical role for IgA function in the mucosal compartment.

MUCOSAL ANTIBODY PRODUCTION IN HIV/SIV-INFECTED HOSTS

Skewing of Mucosal Antibody Production in HIV/SIV Infection

Severe depletion of CD4⁺ T cells in the lamina propria and in epithelial tissues during acute SIV infection was first described by Smit-McBride and colleagues (12). This observation was followed by the recognition that the significant loss of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) had serious consequences: loss of barrier integrity as demonstrated by increases in plasma concentration of lipopolysaccharide (13, 14). Mattapallil et al. (15) confirmed the loss of GALT CD4⁺ T cells and characterized the affected cell population as memory CD4⁺ T cells.



FIGURE 1 | Generation of immunoglobulins (Igs) in naïve and HIV-infected hosts. (A) In a naïve host, multimeric IgM, IgG, and dimeric IgA (dIgA) are produced in the lamina propria by mature plasma cells. The latter are derived from B cells that have received help from CD4⁺ T cells for Ig class switching. IgM and dIgA interact with the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR), which exports the Igs across the epithelial cells. pIgR is cleaved by proteolysis at the luminal side, resulting in the generation of secretory component (SC) that is retained by IgM and dIgA, giving rise to secretory IgM (SIgM) and IgA (SIgM and SIgA, respectively). IgG binds to the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn) expressed by epithelial cells that transports IgG across to the luminal side. Unlike pIgR, FcRn does not undergo proteolytic cleavage at the luminal side and can shuttle back and forth. (B) During HIV infection, severe loss of CD4⁺ T cells occurs, resulting in impaired Ig class switching and B-cell dysfunction. As a consequence, IgG and SIgA are markedly decreased in the mucosal compartment. Lack of sufficient mucosal barrier defenses leads to loss of barrier integrity, microbial translocation, and immune activation.

Among CD4⁺ T cells affected early and severely during HIV/ SIV infection is the T helper 17 (Th17) population, a favorite target of primate immunodeficiency viruses. Th17 cells tend to localize preferentially to the gastrointestinal tract where they express a number of genes found to be involved in the maintenance of epithelial cells, including interleukin-22 (IL-22) (16, 17). Favre et al. (18) made an important contribution toward understanding the consequences of severe losses in Th17 cells. These authors compared the acute stage of experimental infection with SIVagm in the setting of a pathogenic host–virus interaction in Asian

pig-tailed macaques with that in African green monkeys (AGMs), the natural SIVagm host where the infection remains nonpathogenic. Only pig-tailed macaques but not AGMs suffered immune activation and severe, selective depletion of Th17 cells systemically and in mucosal tissues.

Loss of CD4⁺ T-helper cell function greatly reduces Ig class switching in subepithelial B cells, which results in a significant loss of IgG and SIgA in mucosal fluids (**Figure 1B**). The serious loss of IgG and dIgA production in the lamina propria leads to a strong skewing of the IgG:IgM and dIgA:IgM ratios, with the IgA content of mucosal fluids in HIV/SIV infection being most severely affected [reviewed in Ref. (19)]. This relative lack of mucosal IgA and IgG results in impaired immune exclusion of bacterial pathogens and makes the epithelial barrier vulnerable to breaches (**Figure 1B**, bottom). Indeed, during acute SIV as well as HIV infection, bacterial translocation occurs, which results in immune activation and further upregulation of virus replication, starting off a vicious cycle.

Bacterial Translocation: Adding Fuel to the Fire

Bacterial translocation has serious, deleterious consequences to the host. The most important one is triggering inflammatory responses, resulting in general immune activation. Macrophages, instead of phagocytosing bacteria or bacterial products that may have crossed the epithelial barrier in normal epithelial homeostasis, now send out inflammatory signals that in turn create a more fertile ground for HIV/SIV to spread locally in mucosal tissues [reviewed in Ref. (17)]. Factors involved in this immune activation include tumor necrosis factor- α , which is released from macrophages, and interferon- α (IFN- α), which is produced by plasmacytoid dendritic cells and macrophages. Activated monocytes/macrophages produce soluble CD14 (sCD14) and soluble CD163 (sCD163). High plasma levels of sCD14 were found to be an independent poor prognostic sign for survival of HIV-infected individuals (20).

Mucosal dendritic cells (DCs) play an important role in the local immune activation following bacterial translocation. While DCs are key players in the adaptive immune defenses that benefit the host, these cells also contribute to local immune activation. They release inflammatory cytokines as well as type 1 interferons that damage the Th17 cell population while favoring T regulatory cells in intestinal tissues (18). In addition, DCs can trans-infect CD4⁺ T cells. Such responses greatly intensify local mucosal virus replication [reviewed in Ref. (21)]. Ultimately, bacterial translocation and the ensuing immune activation lead to further damage of mucosal integrity through a vicious cycle of increased virus replication followed by increased loss of CD4 T-helper cell function, which ultimately leaves the mucosal barrier devoid of the protective IgA and IgG antibodies (**Figure 1B**).

Compromised Mucosal Antibody Production and HIV Genetic Diversity Worldwide

We hypothesize that loss of epithelial integrity, which leads to bacterial translocation, immune activation, and ultimately to increased numbers of activated HIV target cells, will have another serious consequence: superinfection with new strains of HIV. The compromised local mucosal environment will facilitate transmission of new HIV strains and support high levels of replication of the incoming strain. If the latter infects a cell already harboring the preexisting virus, the two HIV genomes will recombine to generate circulating recombinant forms (CRFs). This is a frequent event in the ongoing HIV pandemic as reflected by the ever increasing complexity of viral genomes with an increasing fraction of CRFs. Inter and intra-clade recombinations are known to occur (https://www.hiv.lanl.gov/content/sequence/ HIV/CRFs/CRFs.html) (22-24). In the case of an individual with HIV infection, broad, anti-HIV cell-mediated immune responses encompassing multiple epitopes, which controlled the primary virus, have not prevented superinfection during structured treatment interruption (25).

We propose that the loss of mucosal barrier function is one of the main drivers of the rapidly evolving genetic complexity of HIV during the ongoing pandemic (26). At the entire human population level, superinfection with unrelated HIV strains is problematic. The increasing multitude of genetically evermore divergent strains increases the level of difficulty to find protective HIV vaccines. Superinfection is also deleterious at the level of the superinfected individual, who will experience a second phase of acute viremia. Neutralizing antibodies against the new HIV strains will most likely not exist. If so, high viral loads will ensue and increase immune activation throughout the body. This in turn will increase the damage to the CD4⁺ T-helper cell population and accelerate disease progression. Given the increasing prevalence of CRFs, we hope that our hypothesis will stimulate research on a possible link between loss of mucosal barrier integrity and the prevalence of CRFs. We feel that very early onset of antiretroviral therapy may limit mucosal damage and thus lower the risks of superinfection, which would result in slowing the rate of CRF prevalence. As long as access to antiretroviral drugs remains limited in developing countries, the rates of superinfection may not decline. Finding ways to protect mucosal barriers in already infected individuals and thereby lowering the chances of HIV superinfection could be additional protective mechanisms for individuals with chronic HIV infection.

HARNESSING MUCOSAL IgA TO PROTECT THE HOST

The potential role of IgA in providing protection to the host has been controversial. The RV144 phase III efficacy trial performed in Thailand showed a modest but significant lowering of the risks of HIV acquisition among the vaccinees of 31.2%, a result that gave impetus to analyze the immune responses responsible for this effect (27). Surprisingly, neither neutralizing antibodies nor cell-mediated immune responses were linked to the lowering of virus acquisition risks. Rather, serum IgG with antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) activity targeting the V1V2 region was associated with beneficial outcome. The latter seemed to be counteracted by serum IgA responses targeting HIV envelope. Mucosal samples were not available for analysis in this trial (28).

Passive Immunization: A Tool to Show Cause and Effect between Antibodies and Protection

To settle the issue whether anti-HIV Env IgA responses harm or help the host, passive immunization is the tool of choice. This avoids influences of any other immunological principles and restricts the experimental parameters to only the passively administered antibody. This approach is required to dissect the potentially protective roles of anti-HIV humoral responses in the systemic as well as in the mucosal compartments. To our knowledge, passive immunization with systemically administered anti-HIV IgA has not been performed to assess prevention of simian-human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV) acquisition in NHP models. In contrast, we have used passive immunization with topically administered, monoclonal dIgAs to ask whether such monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) could prevent SHIV acquisition after mucosal challenge (29, 30). Of note, passive immunization is the best tool to give cause/effect information between a wellcharacterized monoclonal antibody and the degree of protection, as no other immunological mechanisms are provided to account for the outcome of the study.

Passive immunization with mucosally administered, monoclonal dIgAs is depicted in **Figure 2A**. Any significant prevention of SHIV acquisition would have to occur in the mucosal lumen by trapping infectious virion in large complexes to prevent mucosal transcytosis; this process is called immune exclusion (10, 31). This information needs to be generated in order to assess the role of mucosal B cells and anti-HIV mucosal antibodies in preventing virus acquisition—key data for future vaccine design against a pathogen that is predominantly transmitted *via* mucosal routes.

Passive Mucosal Immunization with Monoclonal dlgAs

Our group has performed passive mucosal immunization studies with monoclonal dIgAs to test their protective potential against intrarectal SHIV challenge. We generated dIgA1, dIgA2, and IgG1 versions of a neutralizing anti-HIV mAb, HGN194, which targets the conserved V3 loop crown of HIV gp120 (32). This mAb neutralized all tier 1 strains tested and selected tier 2 strains in which the V3 loop crown was accessible. When given intravenously (i.v.) at full dose (50 mg/kg) 24 h prior to high-dose intrarectal challenge with a clade C SHIV (SHIV-C), this mAb provided 100% cross-clade protection to the rhesus macaques (33). Next, we sought to test whether administering the dIgA1, dIgA2, and IgG1 isoforms of HGN194 intrarectally would protect RMs against subsequent intrarectal SHIV-C challenge. All three isoforms neutralized the challenge virus equally well in tissue culture systems. However, the in vivo study yielded a surprising result: the dIgA1 isoform was significantly more potent in preventing intrarectal SHIV transmission compared to the dIgA2 form (p < 0.05) (29). In this first proof-of-concept study of passive mucosal immunization with recombinant dIgAs, better in vivo protection by dIgA1 compared to dIgA2 was linked to better virion capture *in vitro* and inhibition of transcytosis of cell-free virus in a transwell assay (29).

Protective Mechanisms of IgA in the Mucosal Lumen and Barrier

IgA in mucosal fluids can mediate protection by direct neutralization, immune exclusion, or inhibition of transcytosis. In our passive immunization studies, we have shown that administering of neutralizing dIgA intrarectally prevented SHIV acquisition after intrarectal virus challenge (**Figure 2A**). The incoming SHIV could either be directly neutralized by dIgAs in the mucosal lumen. Alternatively, large immune complexes could be formed that trap the incoming virus and prevent it from traversing the epithelial barrier *via* transcytosis. Such a mechanism is termed immune exclusion.

IgA responses induced by vaccination can also block HIV/ SHIV infection (**Figure 2B**). The HIV-specific dIgAs produced by subepithelial plasma cells and transported across the epithelial layer into the lumen could mediate protection through immune exclusion or by inhibiting transcytosis. Another interesting mechanism of IgA-mediated protection is intracellular neutralization (**Figure 2C**). This occurs when a virion is taken up by an epithelial cell and enters the same transcytotic vesicle in which dIgA-pIgR cargo is being carried toward the lumen. Virus is bound by dIgA, forced to make a U-turn, and excreted back into the lumen. This phenomenon was described by Burns et al. (34) for the rotavirus murine model.

The Interplay between Mucosal dlgAs and lgGs

Mucosal fluids are known to contain not only IgA in the form of SIgA but also IgG. We sought to test whether the dIgA version would interfere with the protection provided by the IgG1 forms— as had been implied by the systemic IgG and IgA antibodies in the RV144 trial. Since the hypothesis was that the IgA form would decrease the protective effect of the IgG, we deliberately selected the dIgA2 version of HGN194, which had given suboptimal protection of only 17% when used as a single agent. In contrast, the dIgA1 version had provided 83% protection. Instead of delivering the IgG mucosally, we decided to administer a suboptimal dose i.v. 24 h before intrarectal SHIV-C challenge to allow the antibody to distribute in tissues and enter mucosal fluids.

We enrolled three groups of RMs; one group was given only the i.v. IgG1form of HGN194 24 h before virus challenge, the second group was given the same IgG treatment and an additional intrarectal passive immunization 30 min before virus challenge. The controls were left untreated. By itself, the low-dose i.v. IgG form gave no protection. The dIgA2 version by itself had given 17% protection in the previous study (29). Surprisingly, the low-dose i.v. IgG1 combined with the intrarectally administered dIgA2 yielded 100% protection (30). This *in vivo* synergy cannot be explained by synergistic neutralization *in vitro*. Rather, we postulate that local interactions with mucins and epithelial barrier structures may underlie this remarkably potent protection. This unexpected result has since been replicated and again yielded 100% protection (unpublished data).



FIGURE 2 | Mucosal defenses by dimeric IgA (dIgA) or secretory IgA (SIgA) against HIV/simian-human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV). **(A)** Passive immunization with a neutralizing monoclonal anti-HIV Env dIgA. Topically administered neutralizing dIgA monoclonal antibodies prevent SHIV from crossing the epithelial barrier by formation of large immune complexes, leading to immune exclusion. To indicate the exogenous source and the recombinant nature of the monoclonal dIgA, the latter are colored in ochre in contrast to dIgAs produced locally by the host (green dIgAs; Figures 1A and 3B,C). **(B,C)** Mucosal SIgA induced by active immunization and different mechanisms of protection; **(B)** immune exclusion and inhibition of transcytosis. Plasma cells in the lamina propria produce virus-specific dIgA that interacts with the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR; blue) on the basolateral surface of epithelial cells; pIgR transports dIgA across epithelial cells in transcytotic vesicles. Proteolytic cleavage of pIgR at the luminal side generates secretory component (SC) that is retained by dIgA molecules. The latter complexes are released as SIgA into the lumen. Virion invasion of epithelial cells is blocked by formation of large immune complexes between SIgA and SHIV leading to immune exclusion. **(C)** Intracellular neutralization. This phenomenon occurs when virions are taken up by epithelial cells and enter transcytotic vesicles, in which dIgA-pIgR cargo is being exported toward the lumen. Virions are bound by specific dIgA, and the entire virion-dIgA-pIgR complex is excreted. Essentially, the virion in the complex is forced into a U-turn. This figure has been adapted from the original review article "Are anti-HIV IgAs good guys or bad guys?" by Zhou and Ruprecht (10) (https://retrovirology.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12977-014-0109-5). The original article is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permit

To summarize, passive immunization has revealed a potent protective mechanism at the level of the mucosal barrier that can yield 100% protection by combining mucosal IgG with dIgAs. It will be important to elucidate the mechanisms of this interaction in future studies. It needs to be emphasized also that passive immunization involves only the mAbs administered, in the absence of any other potentially confounding protective mechanisms by the host. These encouraging data provide strong impetus to focus on inducing protective IgG and IgA mucosal antibody responses by targeted active vaccination.

Induction of Protective Mucosal Antibody Responses by Active Immunization

To date, one vaccine strategy specifically was designed to focus on the induction of mucosal antibody responses: virosomes displaying different fragments of HIV gp41. Virosomes are empty particles derived from influenza virus but devoid of any nucleic acid; as such, this vaccine carrier is noninfectious and has a very good safety profile in clinical studies targeting conditions other than HIV (35, 36). Two populations of virosomes were tested in NHP studies, namely virosome-P1, which displayed the extended P1 peptide mimicking the membrane proximal external region (MPER) of HIV gp41, in a second population of virosomes displaying a truncated form of gp41 lacking the immunodominant mini loop. This second form of virosomes was termed virosomergp41. When tested in Chinese-origin rhesus monkeys, 100% of the vaccinated animals were protected from persistent systemic infection when given the combination of the two virosomes by two intramuscular vaccinations followed by two intranasal boosts. This group of vaccinees showed no seroconversion to SIV Gag after multiple low-dose intravaginal challenges with an upfront heterologous R5 tier 2 SHIV, although some of the animals had low level blips of viremia initially (37). These authors performed an extensive analysis to determine the correlates of protection. None of the systemic antibody responses showed any link, including neutralizing antibody responses and systemic ADCC. In contrast, vaginal fluid IgA was linked to protection through inhibition of virus transcytosis in a transwell system and vaginal IgG showed neutralizing and ADCC activity. In other words, only mucosal IgA and IgG but not systemic IgA and IgG responses correlated with protection.

We have independently confirmed these data during the first half of the multiple low-dose vaginal challenges, where we noticed between 78 and 87% protection against the initial challenge virus dose. These repeat studies were conducted in Indian-origin rhesus monkeys. When comparing the virus challenge dose with the viral RNA copy numbers of the average HIV inoculum likely transferred from a HIV positive man to a female partner, the SHIV inoculum used in our study was 70,000 times higher. When we had to increase the SHIV challenge dose in the Indian-origin monkeys in a second part of the virus challenge phase as had been done in the earlier study (37), protection was lost. This virus challenge dose was greater than 100,000 times the average HIV inoculum passed from an infected man to a female partner. We interpret these findings as promising data that warrant optimizing vaccine strategies based upon this platform (unpublished data).

Are Highly Exposed Persistently Seronegative (HEPS) Individuals Protected by Anti-HIV Mucosal IgA?

A few groups have reported an intriguing link between individuals who despite frequent sexual HIV exposures have remained uninfected—and IgA responses [reviewed in Ref. (10)]. HIV-specific IgA responses have been correlated with resistance to HIV acquisition in sex workers and in persistently uninfected sexual partners of HIV-positive individuals; the methods to isolate mucosal IgA were based upon jacalin resins that preferentially bind to the O-linked oligosaccharides in the wide hinge region of human IgA1 [jacalin specifically binds to IgA1 hinge O-linked oligosaccharides (38-40) reviewed in Ref. (10)]. Epitope mapping revealed that mucosal IgAs targeted relatively conserved MPER epitopes HIV gp41 (41, 42). Mucosal IgAs isolated from HEPS subjects exhibited cross-clade neutralization (43). Other investigators noted that HIV-specific mucosal antibody responses were either not detectable or found in only a low fraction of HEPS in some cohorts (44-47). The disparate findings regarding mucosal IgA isolated from HEPS individual may stem from assay conditions, including the choice of protease inhibitors and the timing of their addition to mucosal fluids, the use of jacalin-based IgA isolation methods that yield predominantly IgA1 isotype antibodies, and assay sensitivity.

More recently, Hirbod et al. (48) described that neutralizing IgA1 in the foreskin of uncircumcised men was associated with lower risks of HIV acquisition. These authors performed blinded analyses on foreskin swabs collected in a randomized Ugandan trial of male circumcision for HIV prevention. The study's goal was to assess correlates of HIV acquisition risks in foreskin using a case-control design. IgA was isolated by Jacalin column chromatography from swabs, a method that predominately yields IgA1 as mentioned above. The presence of IgA neutralizing capacity in foreskin samples was associated with an odds ratio (OR) of 0.31 for HIV acquisition in these uncircumcised men at initial enrollment and 0.21 at the last visit when cases were still seronegative. These data parallel those obtained in high-risk Kenyan sex workers, where the OR of HIV infection among study subjects with neutralizing IgA in cervical/vaginal secretions was 0.31 (30). Together, data from both studies imply a protective effect of mucosal IgA against sexual HIV transmission.

The presence of neutralizing anti-HIV IgA in the cervicovaginal secretions of HEPS women in Kenya and Uganda enrolled in the Partners pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) study was confirmed by Lund et al. HEPS women on oral PrEP had significantly higher levels of neutralizing IgA antibodies as compared to placebo controls (49).

In summary, studies on HEPS subjects imply that mucosal anti-HIV IgA responses may be linked to prevention of persistent systemic HIV infection. Understanding the mechanism of protection among these populations will be important in designing effective vaccines.

CONCLUSION

The goal of this review was to provide a juxtaposition between the potential of mucosal antibodies in normal hosts to protect against

immunodeficiency virus acquisition versus the severely damaged status of mucosal antibody-producing cells in established HIV/SIV/SHIV infections. In uninfected hosts, IgA in mucosal fluids can prevent mucosal virus transmission through a process termed immune exclusion. This was demonstrated in the first proof-of-concept passive mucosal immunization studies involving recombinant monoclonal dIgAs. Thus far, active induction of protective mucosal IgA together with IgG has been achieved only in the vaccine study by Bomsel et al. (37) and by our group (unpublished data).

During the course of natural HIV/SIV/SHIV infection, the production of mucosal antigen-specific IgG and IgA is severely compromised, which leads to a skewing of the IgG:IgM and IgA:IgM ratios in mucosal fluids. It is likely that the low production of mucosal IgA and IgG compromises mucosal barrier integrity. This can lead to microbial translocation that is associated with severe immune activation, an additional mechanism that upregulates virus replication in mucosal tissues. Together, such damages inflicted on mucosal cells, tissues, and barrier function also weaken anti-HIV mucosal antibody responses. This may be a key risk factor in the frequently observed superinfection of HIV-positive individuals,

REFERENCES

- Moir S, Fauci AS. B cells in HIV infection and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(4):235–45. doi:10.1038/nri2524
- Zhang ZQ, Casimiro DR, Schleif WA, Chen M, Citron M, Davies ME, et al. Early depletion of proliferating B cells of germinal center in rapidly progressive simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *Virology* (2007) 361(2):455–64. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2006.12.006
- Levesque MC, Moody MA, Hwang KK, Marshall DJ, Whitesides JF, Amos JD, et al. Polyclonal B cell differentiation and loss of gastrointestinal tract germinal centers in the earliest stages of HIV-1 infection. *PLoS Med* (2009) 6(7):e1000107. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000107
- Moir S, Buckner CM, Ho J, Wang W, Chen J, Waldner AJ, et al. B cells in early and chronic HIV infection: evidence for preservation of immune function associated with early initiation of antiretroviral therapy. *Blood* (2010) 116(25):5571–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-05-285528
- Pensieroso S, Galli L, Nozza S, Ruffin N, Castagna A, Tambussi G, et al. B-cell subset alterations and correlated factors in HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2013) 27(8):1209–17. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32835edc47
- de Bree GJ, Lynch RM. B cells in HIV pathogenesis. Curr Opin Infect Dis (2016) 29(1):23–30. doi:10.1097/QCO.0000000000225
- Mestecky J, Jackson S, Moldoveanu Z, Nesbit LR, Kulhavy R, Prince SJ, et al. Paucity of antigen-specific IgA responses in sera and external secretions of HIV-type 1-infected individuals. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2004) 20(9):972–88. doi:10.1089/aid.2004.20.972
- Mestecky J, Moldoveanu Z, Smith PD, Hel Z, Alexander RC. Mucosal immunology of the genital and gastrointestinal tracts and HIV-1 infection. J Reprod Immunol (2009) 83(1–2):196–200. doi:10.1016/j.jri. 2009.07.005
- 9. Rojas R, Apodaca G. Immunoglobulin transport across polarized epithelial cells. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2002) 3(12):944–55. doi:10.1038/nrm972
- Zhou M, Ruprecht RM. Are anti-HIV IgAs good guys or bad guys? *Retrovirology* (2014) 11:109. doi:10.1186/s12977-014-0109-5
- Corthesy B. Multi-faceted functions of secretory IgA at mucosal surfaces. Front Immunol (2013) 4:185. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00185
- Smit-McBride Z, Mattapallil JJ, McChesney M, Ferrick D, Dandekar S. Gastrointestinal T lymphocytes retain high potential for cytokine responses but have severe CD4(+) T-cell depletion at all stages of simian immunodeficiency virus infection compared to peripheral lymphocytes. *J Virol* (1998) 72(8):6646–56.

resulting in inter- or intra-clade recombination events and the generation of CRFs. Their ever increasing genetic diversity may be an indirect indicator of loss of mucosal barrier protection due to the damage inflicted upon the mucosal B-cell compartment. Strategies aimed at improving humoral mucosal defenses and prevention of microbial translocation in HIV-infected individuals—perhaps by therapeutic vaccination—may improve the overall health status of individuals with chronic HIV infection.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Juan Esquivel and Asha Nabbale for assistance in the preparation of this text and Maria Messenger for graphics. This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grants P01 AI048240 to RR and VK and R01 AI100703 to RR.

- Brenchley JM, Price DA, Schacker TW, Asher TE, Silvestri G, Rao S, et al. Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. *Nat Med* (2006) 12(12):1365–71. doi:10.1038/ nm1511
- Douek D. HIV disease progression: immune activation, microbes, and a leaky gut. *Top HIV Med* (2007) 15(4):114–7.
- Mattapallil JJ, Douek DC, Hill B, Nishimura Y, Martin M, Roederer M. Massive infection and loss of memory CD4+ T cells in multiple tissues during acute SIV infection. *Nature* (2005) 434(7037):1093–7. doi:10.1038/nature03501
- Klatt NR, Estes JD, Sun X, Ortiz AM, Barber JS, Harris LD, et al. Loss of mucosal CD103+ DCs and IL-17+ and IL-22+ lymphocytes is associated with mucosal damage in SIV infection. *Mucosal Immunol* (2012) 5(6):646–57. doi:10.1038/mi.2012.38
- Klatt NR, Funderburg NT, Brenchley JM. Microbial translocation, immune activation, and HIV disease. *Trends Microbiol* (2013) 21(1):6–13. doi:10.1016/ j.tim.2012.09.001
- Favre D, Lederer S, Kanwar B, Ma ZM, Proll S, Kasakow Z, et al. Critical loss of the balance between Th17 and T regulatory cell populations in pathogenic SIV infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5(2):e1000295. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1000295
- Hel Z, Xu J, Denning WL, Helton ES, Huijbregts RP, Heath SL, et al. Dysregulation of systemic and mucosal humoral responses to microbial and food antigens as a factor contributing to microbial translocation and chronic inflammation in HIV-1 infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2017) 13(1):e1006087. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1006087
- Sandler NG, Wand H, Roque A, Law M, Nason MC, Nixon DE, et al. Plasma levels of soluble CD14 independently predict mortality in HIV infection. *J Infect Dis* (2011) 203(6):780–90. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiq118
- Manches O, Frleta D, Bhardwaj N. Dendritic cells in progression and pathology of HIV infection. *Trends Immunol* (2014) 35(3):114–22. doi:10.1016/ j.it.2013.10.003
- 22. Grisson RD, Chenine AL, Yeh LY, He J, Wood C, Bhat GJ, et al. Infectious molecular clone of a recently transmitted pediatric human immunodeficiency virus clade C isolate from Africa: evidence of intraclade recombination. *J Virol* (2004) 78(24):14066–9. doi:10.1128/JVI.78.24.14066-14069.2004
- Zhang M, Foley B, Schultz AK, Macke JP, Bulla I, Stanke M, et al. The role of recombination in the emergence of a complex and dynamic HIV epidemic. *Retrovirology* (2010) 7:25. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-7-25
- 24. Tongo M, Dorfman JR, Martin DP. High degree of HIV-1 group M (HIV-1M) genetic diversity within circulating recombinant forms: insight into the

early events of HIV-1M evolution. *J Virol* (2015) 90(5):2221–9. doi:10.1128/ jvi.02302-15

- Altfeld M, Allen TM, Yu XG, Johnston MN, Agrawal D, Korber BT, et al. HIV-1 superinfection despite broad CD8+ T-cell responses containing replication of the primary virus. *Nature* (2002) 420(6914):434–9. doi:10.1038/ nature01200
- McCutchan FE. Understanding the genetic diversity of HIV-1. AIDS (2000) 14(Suppl 3):S31-44.
- Rerks-Ngarm S, Pitisuttithum P, Nitayaphan S, Kaewkungwal J, Chiu J, Paris R, et al. Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to prevent HIV-1 infection in Thailand. N Engl J Med (2009) 361(23):2209–20. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa0908492
- Haynes BF, Gilbert PB, McElrath MJ, Zolla-Pazner S, Tomaras GD, Alam SM, et al. Immune-correlates analysis of an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366(14):1275–86. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1113425
- Watkins JD, Sholukh AM, Mukhtar MM, Siddappa NB, Lakhashe SK, Kim M, et al. Anti-HIV IgA isotypes: differential virion capture and inhibition of transcytosis are linked to prevention of mucosal R5 SHIV transmission. *AIDS* (2013) 27(9):F13–20. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e328360eac6
- Sholukh AM, Watkins JD, Vyas HK, Gupta S, Lakhashe SK, Thorat S, et al. Defense-in-depth by mucosally administered anti-HIV dimeric IgA2 and systemic IgG1 mAbs: complete protection of rhesus monkeys from mucosal SHIV challenge. *Vaccine* (2015) 33(17):2086–95. doi:10.1016/j. vaccine.2015.02.020
- Ruprecht RM, Lakhashe SK. Antibody-mediated immune exclusion of HIV. Curr Opin HIV AIDS (2017) 12(3):222–8. doi:10.1097/COH. 00000000000369
- 32. Corti D, Langedijk JP, Hinz A, Seaman MS, Vanzetta F, Fernandez-Rodriguez BM, et al. Analysis of memory B cell responses and isolation of novel monoclonal antibodies with neutralizing breadth from HIV-1-infected individuals. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(1):e8805. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008805
- 33. Watkins JD, Siddappa NB, Lakhashe SK, Humbert M, Sholukh A, Hemashettar G, et al. An anti-HIV-1 V3 loop antibody fully protects crossclade and elicits T-cell immunity in macaques mucosally challenged with an R5 clade C SHIV. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(3):e18207. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0018207
- Burns JW, Siadat-Pajouh M, Krishnaney AA, Greenberg HB. Protective effect of rotavirus VP6-specific IgA monoclonal antibodies that lack neutralizing activity. *Science* (1996) 272(5258):104–7. doi:10.1126/science.272.5258.104
- Moser C, Amacker M, Kammer AR, Rasi S, Westerfeld N, Zurbriggen R. Influenza virosomes as a combined vaccine carrier and adjuvant system for prophylactic and therapeutic immunizations. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2007) 6(5):711–21. doi:10.1586/14760584.6.5.711
- Herzog C, Hartmann K, Kunzi V, Kursteiner O, Mischler R, Lazar H, et al. Eleven years of inflexal V-a virosomal adjuvanted influenza vaccine. *Vaccine* (2009) 27(33):4381–7. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.05.029
- Bomsel M, Tudor D, Drillet AS, Alfsen A, Ganor Y, Roger MG, et al. Immunization with HIV-1 gp41 subunit virosomes induces mucosal antibodies protecting nonhuman primates against vaginal SHIV challenges. *Immunity* (2011) 34(2):269–80. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.01.015
- Gregory RL, Rundegren J, Arnold RR. Separation of human IgA1 and IgA2 using jacalin-agarose chromatography. *J Immunol Methods* (1987) 99(1): 101–6. doi:10.1016/0022-1759(87)90037-8

- Aucouturier P, Duarte F, Mihaesco E, Pineau N, Preud'homme JL. Jacalin, the human IgA1 and IgD precipitating lectin, also binds IgA2 of both allotypes. *J Immunol Methods* (1988) 113(2):185–91. doi:10.1016/0022-1759(88)90331-6
- Loomes LM, Stewart WW, Mazengera RL, Senior BW, Kerr MA. Purification and characterization of human immunoglobulin IgA1 and IgA2 isotypes from serum. *J Immunol Methods* (1991) 141(2):209–18. doi:10.1016/0022-1759(91)90147-8
- Pastori C, Barassi C, Piconi S, Longhi R, Villa ML, Siccardi AG, et al. HIV neutralizing IgA in exposed seronegative subjects recognise an epitope within the gp41 coiled-coil pocket. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents (2000) 14(1):15–21.
- 42. Clerici M, Barassi C, Devito C, Pastori C, Piconi S, Trabattoni D, et al. Serum IgA of HIV-exposed uninfected individuals inhibit HIV through recognition of a region within the alpha-helix of gp41. *AIDS* (2002) 16(13):1731–41. doi:10.1097/00002030-200209060-00004
- Devito C, Hinkula J, Kaul R, Kimani J, Kiama P, Lopalco L, et al. Cross-clade HIV-1-specific neutralizing IgA in mucosal and systemic compartments of HIV-1-exposed, persistently seronegative subjects. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr (2002) 30(4):413–20. doi:10.1097/00042560-200208010-00007
- Dorrell L, Hessell AJ, Wang M, Whittle H, Sabally S, Rowland-Jones S, et al. Absence of specific mucosal antibody responses in HIV-exposed uninfected sex workers from the Gambia. *AIDS* (2000) 14(9):1117–22. doi:10.1097/ 00002030-200006160-00008
- Ghys PD, Belec L, Diallo MO, Ettiegne-Traore V, Becquart P, Maurice C, et al. Cervicovaginal anti-HIV antibodies in HIV-seronegative female sex workers in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire. *AIDS* (2000) 14(16):2603–8. doi:10.1097/ 00002030-200011100-00025
- 46. Buchacz K, Parekh BS, Padian NS, van der Straten A, Phillips S, Jonte J, et al. HIV-specific IgG in cervicovaginal secretions of exposed HIV-uninfected female sexual partners of HIV-infected men. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2001) 17(18):1689–93. doi:10.1089/08892220152741388
- Skurnick JH, Palumbo P, DeVico A, Shacklett BL, Valentine FT, Merges M, et al. Correlates of nontransmission in US women at high risk of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection through sexual exposure. *J Infect Dis* (2002) 185(4):428–38. doi:10.1086/338830
- Hirbod T, Kong X, Kigozi G, Ndyanabo A, Serwadda D, Prodger JL, et al. HIV acquisition is associated with increased antimicrobial peptides and reduced HIV neutralizing IgA in the foreskin prepuce of uncircumcised men. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(10):e1004416. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004416
- Lund JM, Broliden K, Pyra MN, Thomas KK, Donnell D, Irungu E, et al. HIV-1-neutralizing IgA detected in genital secretions of highly HIV-1exposed seronegative women on oral preexposure prophylaxis. *J Virol* (2016) 90(21):9855–61. doi:10.1128/JVI.01482-16

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Kulkarni and Ruprecht. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Plasma CXCL13 but Not B Cell Frequencies in Acute HIV Infection Predicts Emergence of Cross-Neutralizing Antibodies

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Philip Norris, Blood Systems, United States

Reviewed by:

Lucia Lopalco, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Juan Pablo Jaworski, Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Argentina

*Correspondence:

Galit Alter galter@mgh.harvard.edu; Thumbi Ndung'u ndungu@ukzn.ac.za

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 28 June 2017 Accepted: 23 August 2017 Published: 08 September 2017

Citation:

Mabuka JM, Dugast A-S, Muema DM, Reddy T, Ramlakhan Y, Euler Z, Ismail N, Moodley A, Dong KL, Morris L, Walker BD, Alter G and Ndung'u T (2017) Plasma CXCL13 but Not B Cell Frequencies in Acute HIV Infection Predicts Emergence of Cross-Neutralizing Antibodies. Front. Immunol. 8:1104. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01104 Jenniffer M. Mabuka^{1,2,3}, Anne-Sophie Dugast³, Daniel M. Muema^{1,2,4}, Tarylee Reddy⁵, Yathisha Ramlakhan^{1,2}, Zelda Euler³, Nasreen Ismail², Amber Moodley^{2,3}, Krista L. Dong^{2,3}, Lynn Morris^{6,7}, Bruce D. Walker^{2,3,8,9}, Galit Alter^{3*†} and Thumbi Ndung'u^{1,2,3,10*†}

¹ Africa Health Research Institute, Durban, South Africa, ² HIV Pathogenesis Programme, Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine, Doris Duke Medical Research Institute, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa, ³ Ragon Institute of Massachusetts General Hospital, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, United States, ⁴ KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Kilifi, Kenya, ⁵ Biostatistics Unit, Medical Research Council, Durban, South Africa, ⁶ National Institute for Communicable Diseases, Johannesburg, South Africa, ⁷ Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa, ⁸ Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Chevy Chase, MD, United States, ⁹ Institute for Medical and Engineering Sciences, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States, ¹⁰ Max Planck Institute for Infection Biology, Berlin, Germany

Immunological events in acute HIV-1 infection before peak viremia (hyperacute phase) may contribute to the development of broadly cross-neutralizing antibodies. Here, we used pre-infection and acute-infection peripheral blood mononuclear cells and plasma samples from 22 women, including 10 who initiated antiretroviral treatment in Fiebig stages I–V of acute infection to study B cell subsets and B-cell associated cytokines (BAFF and CXCL13) kinetics for up to ~90 days post detection of plasma viremia. Frequencies of B cell subsets were defined by flow cytometry while plasma cytokine levels were measured by ELISA. We observed a rapid but transient increase in exhausted tissue-like memory, activated memory, and plasmablast B cells accompanied by decline in resting memory cells in untreated, but not treated women. B cell subset frequencies in untreated women positively correlated with viral loads but did not predict emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies measured 12 months post detection of plasma viremia. Plasma BAFF and CXCL13 levels increased only in untreated women, but their levels did not correlate with viral loads. Importantly, early CXCL13 but not BAFF levels predicted the later emergence of detectable cross-neutralizing antibodies at 12 months post detection of plasma viremia. Thus, hyperacute HIV-1 infection is associated with B cell subset changes, which do not predict emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies. However, plasma CXCL13 levels during hyperacute infection predicted the subsequent emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies, providing a potential biomarker for the evaluation of vaccines designed to elicit cross-neutralizing activity or for natural infection studies to explore mechanisms underlying development of neutralizing antibodies.

Keywords: B-cell subsets, acute HIV, CXCL13, cross-neutralizing antibodies, BAFF

INTRODUCTION

The development of a successful vaccine for HIV-1 will likely require the elicitation of broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNAbs), i.e., antibodies that target fairly conserved epitopes on the HIV envelope spike and, therefore, neutralize the majority of HIV isolates; however, to date, it is not fully understood how such responses can be induced through vaccination. In natural infection, bNAbs only appear after years of infection, developing in a small subset of individuals, although crossneutralizing antibodies with narrower breadth can be detected earlier and in higher numbers of people (1-8). Thus far, plasma viral load, CD4 count and inflammation have been described as predictors of neutralizing breadth but these would be irrelevant in the context of vaccine trials (1-3, 6, 9). A report investigating bNAb lineages from early infection showed that reverted germline versions bound early autologous envelopes, potentially initiating key B cell selection processes and downstream antibody evolution pathways (10). This observation points to the potential influence of events occurring during hyperacute HIV-1 infection-before peak viremia-on development of cross-neutralizing antibodies, an area that remains unexplored to date.

In primary and chronic untreated HIV-1 infection (PHI and CHI), prior studies, largely cross-sectional in nature, have shown that B cell subset frequencies, defined by surface expression levels of CD21 and CD27, are disrupted (11, 12). Specifically, HIV-1 infected individuals have increased frequencies of immature/ transitional B cells, increased tissue-like memory (TLM) B cells with signs of premature exhaustion and decreased frequencies of resting memory (RM) B cells (11–13). Although combination antiretroviral therapy (cART) initiated during chronic infection results in normalization of most B cell subsets, memory B cell defects persist and only show significant recovery if patients initiate treatment early in the course of infection (14-20). It remains unknown whether pre-infection B cell subset frequencies and changes occurring during hyperacute HIV-1 infection (or immediately following encounter with antigen following vaccination) might be used to predict the emergence of early cross-neutralizing antibodies and thus help guide vaccine strategies to drive this activity.

HIV-1 bNAbs generally have unusual features including high levels of somatic hypermutation in both complementarity-determining region (CDR) loops and framework regions, long heavy chain CDR 3 (CDRH3), and a propensity toward autoreactivity (21-24). Indeed, accumulating data now show that levels of the chemokine CXCL13, produced by T follicular helper cells (Tfh), play a key role in the quality of the germinal center (GC) reaction and predict development of cross-neutralizing antibodies in HIV-infected patients (25-27). The B cell-associated cytokine B cell activating factor (BAFF) can also potentially influence the survival and class switching of unique autoreactive B cells likely to generate cross-neutralizing antibodies (28-30). Thus far, BAFF has been shown to augment development of cross-neutralizing antibodies in animal models when used as an adjuvant or supplied exogenously (31, 32) although this was not true in a cohort of subtype B infected individuals (25). Whether the levels of these two key B cell associated cytokines during hyperacute HIV-1 infection can predict subsequent development of cross-neutralizing antibodies later remains to be determined.

We sought to understand the dynamics of the B cell response, with respect to subset changes and B cell associated cytokines, prior to infection, and during hyperacute infection and how they might influence development of cross-neutralizing antibodies. Additionally, the impact of cART initiated during the acute phase of infection on these factors was evaluated. We used pre- and post-HIV-1 subtype C infection samples from young women enrolled in a study termed Females Rising through Education, Support and Health (FRESH) in the KwaZulu-Natal province of South Africa (33). We measured the dynamics of B cell subsets, plasma levels of BAFF and CXCL13 before infection and longitudinally during hyperacute HIV-1 infection and determined their influence on the emergence of crossneutralizing antibodies at approximately 1 year postinfection (PI). Our data demonstrate that B cell defects reported in PHI and CHI emerge during hyperacute HIV-1 infection in women who do not initiate early treatment and are abrogated with immediate treatment, indicative of the influence of viral load on the observed changes. However, these dramatic B cell changes occurring in hyperacute infection did not predict the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies. In contrast, changes in BAFF and CXCL13 during hyperacute infection were not directly associated with viral loads. Importantly, we found higher levels of CXCL13 during hyperacute infection in individuals who subsequently developed detectable cross-neutralizing antibodies within 1 year of infection compared to those who did not. Hence our data from subtype C hyperacute infection confirm the utility of CXCL13 levels early in infection as a biomarker for possible superior GC activity associated with emergence of cross-neutralization antibodies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population and Blood Samples

Females Rising through Education, Support and Health is a longitudinal cohort study of 18- to 23-year-old HIV-1-negative women at high risk of HIV-1 infection established in the Umlazi Township of Durban, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Cohort recruitment and follow-up details have been comprehensively described elsewhere (33-35). Briefly, blood samples were obtained at study entry and every 3 months thereafter from HIV-1-negative study participants. Study subjects attended twice-weekly sessions in which trained counselors offered a comprehensive life and job skills, empowerment and HIV-1 prevention curriculum. During the twice-weekly visits, finger prick blood samples were taken for monitoring of plasma HIV-1 RNA, with results available within 24 h. Participants with a positive RNA test were contacted immediately, counseling was provided, and blood samples were collected. Subsequently, longitudinal PI venous blood samples were obtained at regular intervals through peak viremia and beyond. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were frozen from each venous blood draw for future analysis. Initially, participants identified with onset of
plasma viremia were closely monitored and referred for cART if meeting eligibility according to South African guidelines (36). Beginning July 2014, the study protocol was amended and participants with onset of HIV-1 plasma viremia were initiated on cART immediately using a standard 3-drug regimen of tenofovir disoproxil fumerate 300 mg, emtricitabine 200 mg, and efavirenz 600 mg (TDF/FTC/EFZ). From July 2015, participants with acute viremia received early treatment with TDF/FTC/EFZ plus raltegravir (RAL) 400 mg twice-daily, with RAL withdrawn two months after suppression of plasma viremia to undetectable levels.

B Cell Phenotyping

Frozen PBMCs were thawed and allowed to rest for 2 h before being used for phenotypic analysis using a panel of fluorescently labeled monoclonal antibodies reactive with the following cell surface markers: BV711 conjugated antihuman CD3 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA), BV450 mouse antihuman CD21 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA), Qdot 605 mouse antihuman CD19 (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA), PE mouse antihuman CD27 (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), Alexa Fluor 700 mouse antihuman CD38 (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), and aqua viability dye (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Rested PBMCs were stained with 200 µl of diluted viability dye and allowed to incubate in the dark for 15 min at RT. Thereafter, cells were washed twice in phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) and then 100 µl of the cocktail of antibodies was added to 2×10^6 cells and incubated for 15 min at room temperature. Thereafter, tubes were washed with 3 ml PBS and centrifuged at $600 \times g$ for 5 min. Supernatant was discarded and 100 µl of 2% paraformaldehyde was added to each tube. Samples were then acquired on the LSRFortessa (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and data analyzed on FlowJo version 9.8.3 (FlowJo LLC, Ashland, OR, USA).

Determination of Plasma BAFF and CXCL13 Levels

BAFF and CXCL13 levels were determined by ELISA (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) using the manufacturer's protocol. Plasma samples were thawed slowly on ice, spun down and the clear supernatant used immediately for the assays.

Neutralization Assays

Neutralization activity was determined using a previously described standard TZM-bl cells based assay (NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, NIAID, NIH) (37). This assay measures Tat-induced luciferase reporter gene expression after infection by HIV-1 Env-pseudotyped viruses with neutralization quantified by reduction in relative light units in TZM-bl cells in the presence of HIV-1-positive plasma. Samples were used at 1:50 dilution, and the ID50 was calculated as the reciprocal dilution at which 50% of the virus was inhibited.

Data Analysis

Non-parametric Spearman's rank tests were used to test for correlations and a 2-tailed Mann–Whitney test was used to evaluate unpaired groups. Wilcoxon matched signed-rank test was used to evaluate paired samples. To assess the relationship between each B cell subset and time, varying viral load, CD4 count, BAFF, and CXCL13 adjusted for days PI, linear mixed effects models with random (subject specific) intercepts were fitted to the B cell data. Due to the complex non-linear evolution of B cell subsets over time, an unstructured mean was considered. The variables of interest (CD4 counts, viral load, CXCL13, and BAFF levels) were treated as time dependent covariates in the model, separately. B cell subsets (the outcome) were log transformed. By comparison of Akaike information criterion and Bayesian information criterion, the most suitable model was that with a random intercept and residuals which follow an autoregressive (1) structure. p-Values less than 0.05 were considered significant. Data analysis was performed in Graphpad Prism version 6 (Graphpad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) and Stata version 13.0 (Statacorp, College Station, TX, USA).

Ethics Statement

Study subjects provided written informed consent for participation in the study. Ethical approval was provided by the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee of the University of KwaZulu-Natal and the Institutional Review Board of Massachusetts General Hospital.

RESULTS

Rapid but Transient Changes in Frequencies of B Cells and B-Cell Subsets in Acute HIV-1 Subtype C Infection

Pre-infection samples were obtained from all participants in this study. Among the 12 untreated participants, the initial PI samples were obtained in Fiebig stage I for 11 participants and Fiebig stage III for one participant, providing us the opportunity to study very early changes in B-cell subsets and associated cytokines, and to determine how early events might influence the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies. Multiple samples were also obtained from participants prior to peak viremia, and during resolution of peak viremia to a viral load set-point. Ten early treated women were also studied, representing a subset of persons within our cohort who initiated standard first line treatment (TDF/FTC/EFZ) within less than 3 days of HIV-1 RNA detection. Among them, the initial PI samples were obtained in Fiebig stage I for 8 participants and Fiebig stage V for two participants. If a participant did not have a sample at 3 months after HIV-1 RNA detection, an alternative sample at 2 months was used (Figures 1 and 2).

It has previously been reported that HIV-1 uninfected people have geography- and gender-dependent differences in lymphocyte counts (38–40). We, therefore, first established the baseline (pre-infection) frequency of B cells defined as the percentage of CD3⁻CD19⁺ cells of the total live peripheral blood lymphocyte population in the 12 untreated women. We found that on average these cells accounted for 7% of the peripheral blood lymphocytes at baseline (range 3.9–12.1%), which was lower than what has been observed in geographically different cohorts from Uganda



that were not initiated on early antiretroviral treatment. The arrows indicate time-points used for B cell analysis. DFOPV, days following onset of plasma viremia.

(40). Following infection, three untreated individuals showed a transient increase in frequency of total B cells at days 7 and 14, although these populations decreased thereafter (**Figure 3A**). Overall, the median frequency of total circulating B cells was significantly lower compared to baseline pre-infection levels at 30 days (p = 0.024) and 90 days (0.048) following onset of plasma viremia (DFOPV) (**Figure 3A**). These data suggest that HIV-1 subtype C infection in an African population alters B cell frequencies presumably through indirect killing or redistribution of B cells, or through expansion of other lymphocyte populations, resulting in decreased proportions of B cells in the periphery over time.

The availability of pre-infection and hyperacute infection samples allowed us to determine baseline frequencies and subsequent kinetics of alterations in B cell subsets with the goal of defining early signatures associated with emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies. Different clades of HIV-1 differ in pathogenicity and rates of disease progression. Thus, we hypothesized that the B cell kinetics in this clade C cohort might be unique if clade specific features, such as replicative capacity, are a determinant of B cell subset alterations (41–43).

We first determined the kinetics of the four previously described B cell subsets [activated memory (AM), RM, TLM, and naïve cells (11, 12)] defined by the expression of CD21 and CD27 on CD19⁺ mature B cells as shown in representative data (Figure 3B). There was a rapid decrease in the frequencies of RM cells (CD21+CD27+) noted at 7 DFOPV (medians; 26.55 and 16.5%, range 7-43.9 and 1-21.5% for baseline and 7 DFOPV, respectively), concurrent with an increase in TLM cells (CD21⁻CD27⁻) (medians; 12.7 and 27.85%, range 7.94-38.3 and 7.49-67.7% for baseline and 7 DFOPV, respectively). The frequencies of RM cells remained significantly lower than baseline throughout the time-points tested thereafter in the first 3 months PI (p = 0.008, 0.001, 0.005, and 0.019 for 7, 14, 30, and 90 DFOPV, respectively) (Figure 3C). Compared to baseline, frequencies of TLM cells were significantly higher at 7 and 14 DFOPV (p = 0.039 and 0.0001, respectively). Thereafter, frequencies of TLM cells remained elevated in most individuals though not statistically significant through to 90 DFOPV (Figure 3D). Importantly, neither RM nor TLM frequencies were restored to baseline values by ~90 DFOPV. We observed a significant expansion of AM cells (CD21⁻CD27⁺) by 14 DFOPV (p = 0.005) that persisted at 30 DFOPV (p = 0.010) when a peak was reached followed by contraction to near baseline values in some of the individuals by 90 DFOPV (p = 0.083) (Figure 3E). No changes were observed in the frequency of naïve B cells (CD21⁺CD27⁻) following HIV-1 infection (Figure 3F).





Plasmablasts (PBs) represent immunoglobulin secreting terminally differentiated B cells, which are transiently enriched in blood during infection or vaccination (44-46). To define PB kinetics in HIV-1 infection, we assessed the frequencies of CD3-CD19+CD27+CD38+++ cells before and upon HIV-1 infection. At pre-infection baseline, the median frequency of PBs was 1.26% (range 0.321-11.4%) of the total B cell population. Upon infection, there was a transient expansion of the PB population as shown in the representative example (Figure 3G) that peaked by ~14 days (medians 1.26 and 6.58%, range 0.321-11.4% and 0.532-28.6% for baseline and 14 DFOPV, respectively). Following HIV-1 infection, frequencies of the PB population remained significantly elevated at all time-points tested (p = 0.016, 0.002, 0.002, and0.019 for 7, 14, 30, and 90 DFOPV, respectively) (Figure 3H). Thus, these data illustrate that untreated subtype C acute HIV-1 infection is associated with rapid changes in frequencies of circulating B cell subsets characterized by an increased frequency of AM, TLM, and PBs but a decrease in RM cells.

Increase in Plasma BAFF and CXCL13 Levels in Acute HIV-1 Subtype C Infection

Given the early increase in PBs and alterations in B cell subsets, and considering that acute HIV infection has previously been associated with a cytokine storm that may have profound long-term immunological consequences (47), we next sought to determine whether there were changes following HIV infection in soluble factors associated with B cell activation, survival, and maturation. Specifically, we investigated the levels and kinetics of BAFF, a cytokine important for B cell survival, and CXCL13, a chemokine responsible for B cell trafficking to GCs and potentially responsible for the expansion of PBs (26, 48). The median plasma level of

BAFF at baseline was 795 pg/ml (range 536-1,121 pg/ml). These levels increased rapidly and significantly upon infection peaking by 7 DFOPV at a median of 1,817 pg/ml (range 1,457-4,119 pg/ ml, p = 0.0005) and remained significantly higher throughout the first 90 DFOPV (p = 0.005 for 14 DFOPV and p = 0.0005 for both 30 and 90 DFOPV) (Figure 4A). The median plasma CXCL13 level at baseline was 76 pg/ml (range 40-282 pg/ml). Similar to BAFF, CXCL13 levels were elevated upon infection although the increase was progressive with the highest median of 275 pg/ml (range 125-511 pg/ml) being registered 90 DFOPV (the last visit analyzed). Compared to baseline, the measurements remained significantly higher throughout the time-points analyzed in the first 90 DFOPV (p = 0.003, 0.0005, 0.0005, and 0.0039 for 3, 14, 30, and 90 DFOPV, respectively) (Figure 4B). Thus, acute HIV-1 infection is associated with rapid and gradual increase in plasma levels of B cell-associated cytokines BAFF and CXCL13, respectively.

Viral Loads Directly Drive Changes in B Cell Subset Frequencies but Not Levels of Plasma BAFF and CXCL13

Viral loads and associated immune activation in chronic infection have been linked to changes in B cell subsets and development of bNAbs during chronic infection (9, 49, 50). To determine whether viral replication was associated with the observed changes, we first assessed the relationship between contemporaneous viral loads, CD4⁺ T cell counts and B cell frequencies over time. We found a negative trend and significant relationship between PBs and CD4 counts at baseline (rho = -0.52, p = 0.080) and 7 DFOPV (rho = -0.82, p = 0.023), respectively (data not shown). Next, we used linear mixed effect models to investigate



FIGURE 3 | Frequency of B cells before and during acute HIV-1 subtype C infection in absence of early antiretroviral treatment. B cells were defined by the expression of CD19 on CD3⁻ peripheral blood lymphocytes. B cell subsets were defined by the expression of CD27 and CD21 on CD3⁻CD19⁺ lymphocytes. Plasmablasts (PBs) were defined as CD27⁺CD38⁺⁺⁺ cells on CD3⁻CD19⁺ peripheral lymphocytes. Subsets were analyzed on longitudinal AHI samples obtained in the first ~90 DFOPV and compared to matched baseline values. Panel (**A**) shows a summary of the frequency of B cells as a percentage of lymphocytes overtime. Panel (**B**) is representative data showing B cell subsets from baseline (before infection) to ~60 DFOPV, example from participant 127-033-0097-079. Panels (**C**–**F**) represent frequencies of B cell subsets; (**C**) resting memory, (**D**) tissue-like memory, (**E**) activated memory, and (**F**) naïve cells. (**G**) Representative data from participant 127-033-0108-093 shows kinetics of PBs from baseline to ~90 DFOPV. (**H**) A comparison between frequencies of PBs at baseline and longitudinal time-points up to ~90 DFOPV. Horizontal lines represent median values and each color represents one patient. DFOPV, days following onset of plasma viremia, and time-point "0" represents baseline (visit prior to infection). *p*-Values were calculated by Wilcoxon matched signed-rank test (**p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.005).





the overall relationship between the rapid changes in viral loads, CD4⁺ T cells and observed changes in B cell subset frequencies over time. Viral load was negatively associated with RM cell frequencies (p < 0.0001), positively associated with TLM cells (p = 0.005) but no significant associations with AM and PBs were observed (Table 1). In contrast, CD4+ T cell counts were positively associated with RM cells (p = 0.001) and negatively associated with TLM cells (p = 0.039) and AM cells (p = 0.009) (Table 1). Further, we used a model of a similar form to determine the relationship between changing levels of BAFF, CXCL13, and markers of disease progression. Interestingly, there was no significant relationship between viral loads and BAFF (p = 0.511) or CXCL13 (p = 0.940). Furthermore, no association was found between CD4 cell counts and BAFF plasma levels; however, we observed a negative association between CD4+ T cell counts and CXCL13 plasma levels (p < 0.0001) (data not shown). We also found that BAFF levels were significantly associated with high frequencies of AM (p = 0.006) and PBs (p = 0.026) cells (**Table 1**). In contrast there was no significant relationship between plasma levels of CXCL13 and any B cell subset frequencies (Table 1). Taken together, these data confirm the direct relationship between viral loads and B cell subset frequencies but not BAFF and CXCL13. We, therefore, show for the first time that accumulation of TLM cells, which has mostly been associated with chronic infection, manifests within days of infection and associates with viral loads. Furthermore, the observation of a positive correlation between BAFF levels and specific B cell subsets (AM and PBs) during hyperacute HIV-1 infection may suggest a direct stimulation and/ or maintenance of these subsets by this cytokine.

Early cART Blocked Changes in B Cell Subset Frequencies and Plasma Levels of BAFF while Diminishing Changes in Levels of Plasma CXCL13

Following our observation that changes in B cell subset frequencies are influenced by viral load, we next determined whether in the absence of persistent antigenemia the levels of the different B cell subsets, as well as B cell associated cytokines BAFF and CXCL13, would remain normal. Remarkably, there were no significant B cell subset changes observed (representative data **Figures 5A,B** and summary **Figures 5C-E**) except for

an increase in PBs at 7 DFOPV (p = 0.039) (**Figure 5F**) but at lower frequencies than what was observed in untreated women (**Figure 3**). Indeed, frequencies of AM cells at 30 and 90 DFOPV trended toward being lower than baseline (p = 0.109 and 0.078, respectively, data not shown).

Furthermore, we did not observe significant changes in median plasma BAFF levels up to 90 DFOPV (**Figure 6A**). However, CXCL13 levels trended toward being higher upon infection and were significantly higher at 90 DFOPV compared to baseline despite complete suppression of viral loads in most of the individuals (**Figure 6B**). The levels of BAFF and CXCL13 were significantly different between the untreated and early treated individuals at all time-points tested except at baseline and 7 DFOPV for CXCL13 (**Figures 6C,D**). Our data confirm that viremia drives the changes in B cell subset frequencies, an effect that is blocked by early treatment. Furthermore, although early cART largely abrogated the cytokine surge, there was no direct relationship between viral loads and the cytokines in untreated persons, suggesting that the early cytokine responses may be induced by infection-associated changes other than viremia.

Emergence of Cross-Neutralizing Antibodies within 1 Year of HIV-1 Subtype C Infection

Given the rapid changes in frequencies of B cell subsets and increased levels of BAFF and CXCL13 observed during acute HIV-1 infection, we next determined whether the enrichment of a particular B cell subset or cytokine was associated with the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies, as an early predictor of cross-neutralization activity. We first probed for presence of cross-neutralizing antibodies for the 12 antiretroviral-naïve individuals using plasma collected at ~1 year PI. Antibody crossneutralization activity was determined by standard TZM-bl assay against 12 viruses of different subtypes (C, B, and A) and tiers (1 and 2) (51) (Figure 7). As expected, we found that all individuals had detectable cross-neutralizing antibodies at 1 year PI against the tier 1 subtype C strain MW965 (100%) and most had activity against the tier 1 subtype B viruses MN.3 (92%) and SF162.LS (83%). One patient 127-33-0108-093 neutralized all three tier 1 viruses with the greatest potency at the time-point prior to initiation of cART (Figure 7). Among all subjects tested,

TABLE 1 | Linear mixed effect models for the relationship between viral loads, CD4 counts, CXCL13, and BAFF over time and B cell subsets in absence of early antiretroviral treatment.

		HIV-1 infected untreated									
	B cell subset	Activated memory	Resting memory	Tissue-like memory	Naive	Plasmablasts					
Viral Loads	Coef (SE)	0.0604 (0.037)	-2.5253 (0.5238)	0.1083 (0.0388)	-0.3031 (1.2403)	0.1384 (0.0973)					
	p-Value	0.103	<0.0001	0.005	0.807	0.155					
CD4 counts	Coef (SE)	-0.0006 (0.0002)	0.0119 (0.0035)	-0.0005 (0.0002)	0.0028 (0.0074)	-0.0010 (0.0005)					
	p-Value	0.009	0.001	0.039	0.705	0.078					
CXCL13	Coef (SE)	0.0008 (0.0006)	-0.0160 (0.0106)	0.0007 (0.0007)	0.0026 (0.0188)	0.0010 (0.0013)					
	p-Value	0.207	0.13	0.309	0.889	0.424					
BAFF	Coef (SE)	0.0003 (0.0001)	-0.0015 (0.0025)	0.00002 (0.0001)	0.0038 (0.0040)	0.0007 (0.0003)					
	p-Value	0.006	0.553	0.909	0.373	0.026					

Significant p values are shown in bold.



there was weak cross-neutralization activity detected against 4/9 (44%) tier 2 viruses tested. Three patients (127-33-0048-036, 127-33-0108-093, and 127-33-0450-318) had detectable but weak cross-neutralization activity against the tier 2 subtype B viruses tested. No activity was detected against tier 2 subtype A viruses at 1 year PI (**Figure 7**).

To enable us to perform further analyses, individuals were categorized into those that did or did not have detectable cross-neutralization activity (regardless of the potency) against any of the tier 2 viruses (6). Using this stratification, five individuals were classified as having detectable cross-neutralization activity and seven as having no detectable cross-neutralization activity (**Figure 7**), and these strata were used in subsequent analysis.

Plasma Levels of CXCL13 Early in Infection Predict Emergence of Cross-Neutralizing Antibodies 1 Year PI

We next investigated whether events occurring early upon infection could predict the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies

1 year PI. We found no differences between individuals with and without detectable cross-neutralization activity when comparing viral load set-point (p = 0.268) and contemporaneous viral loads (p = 0.404). Contemporaneous CD4 counts also did not distinguish between the two groups (p = 0.458). Notably, among individuals with detectable cross-neutralizing antibodies at 1 year, 3/5 (60%) qualified for and initiated cART due to low CD4 count within 2 years of infection compared to 2/7 (28%) of those who did not, though that relationship between emergence of crossneutralizing antibodies and deterioration in CD4 counts was also not statistically significant (p = 0.558, Fisher's exact test). One participant in the group with no detectable cross-neutralization was initiated on treatment outside of normal criteria due to pregnancy. To determine whether the expansion of a specific B cell subset following hyperacute infection was predictive of the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies, we compared the peak frequency of AM, TLM, and PBs and nadir levels of RM cells in the individuals with and without cross-neutralization activity and found no apparent differences in this small group of 12 individuals (data not shown).



Similarly, we sought to investigate whether plasma levels of CXCL13 and BAFF were associated with the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies. There was no significant difference between BAFF levels in the two groups at all time-points tested (data not shown). In contrast, plasma CXCL13 levels were significantly higher in those with detectable cross-neutralization activity at all early time-points tested (p = 0.012, 0.010, 0.030, and 0.018 for 7, 14, 30, and 90 DFOPV, respectively) (**Figures 8A–D**). Hence, high levels of CXCL13 early in infection were associated with emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies within 1 year PI.

DISCUSSION

Development of an effective vaccine able to induce bNAbs remains a high priority for the HIV field but how these responses evolve in natural infection remains unclear. It has previously been reported that interactions between B cells and transmitted founder virus soon after infection likely shape the evolution of such antibodies (10). Thus understanding factors that influence the humoral response to HIV-1 early in natural infection could open new insights into designing an effective vaccine. We took advantage of a unique cohort in which specimens were available prior to HIV-1 infection and longitudinally during the earliest phases of infection, and determined the relationship between frequencies of B cell subsets and key B cell activating cytokines (BAFF and CXCL13) on the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies 1 year following infection. We show that in the absence of cART, the impact of HIV-1 infection is rapid and greatly impacts the frequencies of circulating RM, TLM, and PBs subsets, within 7 DFOPV. These frequencies rebounded although never to the baseline values by ~90 DFOPV which coincides with early stages of viral load set-point. These subset changes were associated with viral load in the regression analyses, confirming that viremia drives them. Plasma levels of BAFF and CXCL13 were also elevated in untreated people but did not show association with viral loads within that group. While BAFF levels showed a steady decrease after a peak on day 7, the levels of CXCL13 continued to rise and remained high 90 DFOPV possibly due to effects of immune activation or ongoing viral replication within lymphoid tissues. Frequencies of B cell subsets and plasma levels of BAFF did not influence emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies. However, individuals with high plasma levels of CXCL13 early in infection were more likely to have detectable but weak crossneutralizing antibodies at 1 year PI.

	Subtype C Tier 1	Subtype	B Tier 1	Subtype C Tier 2					Subtype B Tier 2	Subtype A Tier 2		Control	
PID	MW965	MN.3	SF162	ConC	ZM109	Du156	Du151	CAP255.16	CAP256.SU	6535	Q23.17	BG505	MuLV
127-33-0048-036	4967	2438	2260	106	<50	<50	81	<50	<50	75	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0108-093*	15807	8879	2369	152	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	66	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0251-186	8507	792	862	<50	<50	70	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0450-318	12965	1329	1233	1809	77	<50	<50	<50	<50	121	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0262-198	1991	258	80	<50	<50	50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0303-208	2368	166	407	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0396-267	1533	443	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0398-271	15855	1780	133	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0097-079	6013	1341	846	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0122-102	13690	135	400	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0035-039	321	79	61	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
127-33-0442-309*	1050	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50

FIGURE 7 | Emergence of cross-neutralization activity in plasma obtained within 1 year of HIV-1 subtype C infection. The emergence of cross-neutralization activity in plasmas from 12 patients ~1 year post detection of plasma viremia was evaluated against viruses from different clades (C, B, and A) and tiers (1 and 2) as indicated at the top. The values shown are the reciprocal dilution of plasma at which 50% of the virus was neutralized (ID50). Cases where no cross-neutralization was detected were assigned an ID50 of <1:50. ID50s are color coded for clarity; ID50 < 1:50 (gray), 1:50 to 1:100 (blue), 1:101 to 1:200 (yellow), 1:201 to 1:1,000 (orange), and >1:1,000 (red). Individuals with detectable cross-neutralization of tier 2 viruses (5/12) are grouped together. * indicates that plasma samples tested were obtained prior to 1 year of infection. MuLV was used as the negative control. Experiments were performed at least two independent times and the mean values are reported.

CXCL13 has previously been documented to be a biomarker of the GC activity in mice, non-human primate models, vaccine recipients and HIV-1 infected people (25-27). In those studies, participants were infected with a range of subtypes but the samples tested were mainly from primary or chronic HIV-1 infection. We report a similar observation in our cohort of 12 young African women infected with HIV-1 subtype C and in hyperacute HIV-1 infection. Importantly, pre-infection samples allowed longitudinal tracking of changes following infection, clearly demonstrating that CXCL13 is induced following infection. Similar to previous reports, viral load did not have a direct influence on the CXCL13 levels in the first 60 DFOPV. However, there was a trend toward a positive correlation by 90 DFOPV, which might be an indication of a shift toward chronic infection, a period during which CXCL13 levels and viral loads correlate positively in the absence of treatment (52-55). CXCL13 plays a crucial role in the organization of B cell follicles of secondary lymphoid organs by recruiting B cells and specific T cell subsets through its receptor CXCR5 (56, 57), thus its ability to predict emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies is not surprising.

We report a dramatic decline in frequencies of circulating RM cells that might reflect the impact of GC destruction immediately upon establishment of HIV-1 infection (5). The mechanism by which HIV-1 results in depletion of RM cells is unclear but has significant implications for maintenance of humoral immunity. Future studies need to understand whether it is active virus replication that is responsible for RM changes or a particular viral protein, and if the latter, this would suggest potential caution in the inclusion of that protein in potential immunogens to avoid unintended detrimental immunological consequences. Of note,

all the observed B cell subset changes were successfully blocked by cART initiated during Fiebig stage I-V except for an initial spike of PBs, a possible reflection of GC events where infected CD4 Tfh cells may continue to stimulate B cells within the follicles before death (58).

Despite viral loads being a good predictor of development of cross-neutralizing antibodies, which are precursors for bNAbs (6), only about 25% of individuals displaying high viral loads develop bNAbs suggesting a role for other factors. The rate of depletion of CD4 T cells has also been reported to predict the development of bNAbs (2). In our study, neither viral loads nor CD4 counts predicted the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies at 1 year PI. However, the independent prediction by levels of CXCL13 suggests a complex multifactorial determination of the development of cross-neutralizing antibodies. Indeed, other factors, in addition to viral loads and CD4 counts, have been reported to predict the development of cross-neutralizing activity and could have influenced the associations that we observed here. For instance, early follicular helper T cell responses, measured by the frequencies of CXCR5+ CD4 T cells and which we did not assess in this study, has been show to predict of the development of neutralization breadth (25, 59). In addition, the development of bNAbs has been associated with reduced control of autoreactivity (60). Importantly, the observations reported here could be limited due to the small numbers of patients available which might preclude our ability to detect associations. Furthermore, we probed for cross-neutralizing antibodies within 1 year of infection, which is very early in the development of cross-neutralizing antibodies, and certainly before the development of any bNAbs in any of the study participants. These limitations could have also



FIGURE 8 | Plasma levels of CXCL13 are associated with emergence of antibody cross-neutralization activity. Panels (A–D) show the difference over time in plasma CXCL13 levels between individuals with detectable cross-neutralization activity (detectable cross-neutralization) and those without (no detectable cross-neutralization). *p*-Values were calculated by Mann–Whitney test. DFOPV, days following onset of plasma viremia.

reduced our ability to detect associations between B cell subsets and the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies.

In conclusion, acute HIV-1 subtype C infection is associated with rapid changes in B cell subsets that do not predict the emergence of cross-neutralizing antibodies within the first year of infection. Instead, our data showing an association between CXCL13 levels in acute infection and emergence of crossneutralizing antibodies adds to growing evidence suggesting that plasma CXCL13 might be a surrogate for a functional GC compartment and serve as a biomarker to evaluate candidate vaccines for their ability to stimulate a rapid and robust GC reaction.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee of the University of KwaZulu-Natal and the Institutional Review Board of Massachusetts General Hospital with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee of the University of KwaZulu-Natal and the Institutional Review Board of Massachusetts General Hospital.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JM, A-SD, ZE, LM, BW, GA, and TN conceived the study. JM, YR, NI, AM, and KD participated in the acquisition of the data. JM, DM, and TR performed data analyses. JM drafted the manuscript with assistance from all authors. All authors gave the final approval for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the study participants and the clinical and laboratory staff of the HIV Pathogenesis Programme and FRESH. We gratefully acknowledge staff from the National Institute for Communicable Diseases, particularly Dr. Carol Crowther for assistance with virus neutralization assays. Open access publication of this article has been made possible through support from the Victor Daitz Information Gateway, an initiative of the Victor Daitz Foundation and the University of KwaZulu-Natal.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institute of Health (R37 AI080289-06A1 and R01 102660-01), the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation CAVD (OPP1032817: Leveraging Antibody Effector

Function), the Ragon Institute of MGH, MIT and Harvard, the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative (IAVI, UKZNRSA1001), the South African Research Chairs Initiative (64809), the Victor Daitz Foundation and the Howard Hughes Medical Institute (55007427). This work was also partially supported through the Sub-Saharan African Network for TB/HIV Research Excellence (SANTHE), a DELTAS Africa Initiative (grant # DEL-15-006). The DELTAS Africa Initiative is an independent funding scheme of the

REFERENCES

- Doria-Rose NA, Klein RM, Daniels MG, O'Dell S, Nason M, Lapedes A, et al. Breadth of human immunodeficiency virus-specific neutralizing activity in sera: clustering analysis and association with clinical variables. *J Virol* (2010) 84(3):1631–6. doi:10.1128/JVI.01482-09
- Gray ES, Madiga MC, Hermanus T, Moore PL, Wibmer CK, Tumba NL, et al. The neutralization breadth of HIV-1 develops incrementally over four years and is associated with CD4+ T cell decline and high viral load during acute infection. J Virol (2011) 85(10):4828–40. doi:10.1128/JVI.00198-11
- Sather DN, Armann J, Ching LK, Mavrantoni A, Sellhorn G, Caldwell Z, et al. Factors associated with the development of cross-reactive neutralizing antibodies during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J Virol* (2009) 83(2):757–69. doi:10.1128/JVI.02036-08
- Walker LM, Phogat SK, Chan-Hui PY, Wagner D, Phung P, Goss JL, et al. Broad and potent neutralizing antibodies from an African donor reveal a new HIV-1 vaccine target. *Science* (2009) 326(5950):285–9. doi:10.1126/science. 1178746
- Levesque MC, Moody MA, Hwang KK, Marshall DJ, Whitesides JF, Amos JD, et al. Polyclonal B cell differentiation and loss of gastrointestinal tract germinal centers in the earliest stages of HIV-1 infection. *PLoS Med* (2009) 6(7):e1000107. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000107
- Mikell I, Sather DN, Kalams SA, Altfeld M, Alter G, Stamatatos L. Characteristics of the earliest cross-neutralizing antibody response to HIV-1. *PLoS Pathog* (2011) 7(1):e1001251. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001251
- Sanchez-Merino V, Fabra-Garcia A, Gonzalez N, Nicolas D, Merino-Mansilla A, Manzardo C, et al. Detection of broadly neutralizing activity within the first months of HIV-1 infection. *J Virol* (2016) 90(11):5231–45. doi:10.1128/JVI.00049-16
- Hraber P, Seaman MS, Bailer RT, Mascola JR, Montefiori DC, Korber BT. Prevalence of broadly neutralizing antibody responses during chronic HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2014) 28(2):163–9. doi:10.1097/QAD.000000000000106
- Piantadosi A, Panteleeff D, Blish CA, Baeten JM, Jaoko W, McClelland RS, et al. Breadth of neutralizing antibody response to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 is affected by factors early in infection but does not influence disease progression. *J Virol* (2009) 83(19):10269–74. doi:10.1128/JVI. 01149-09
- Liao HX, Lynch R, Zhou T, Gao F, Alam SM, Boyd SD, et al. Co-evolution of a broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibody and founder virus. *Nature* (2013) 496(7446):469–76. doi:10.1038/nature12053
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B cells in HIV infection and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(4):235–45. doi:10.1038/nri2524
- Moir S, Fauci AS. Insights into B cells and HIV-specific B-cell responses in HIV-infected individuals. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 254(1):207–24. doi:10.1111/ imr.12067
- Cagigi A, Nilsson A, De Milito A, Chiodi F. B cell immunopathology during HIV-1 infection: lessons to learn for HIV-1 vaccine design. *Vaccine* (2008) 26(24):3016–25. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.11.063
- Jacobson MA, Khayam-Bashi H, Martin JN, Black D, Ng V. Effect of longterm highly active antiretroviral therapy in restoring HIV-induced abnormal B-lymphocyte function. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* (2002) 31(5):472–7. doi:10.1097/00126334-200212150-00003
- Moir S, Ho J, Malaspina A, Wang W, DiPoto AC, O'Shea MA, et al. Evidence for HIV-associated B cell exhaustion in a dysfunctional memory B cell compartment in HIV-infected viremic individuals. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(8):1797–805. doi:10.1084/jem.20072683

African Academy of Sciences (AAS)'s Alliance for Accelerating Excellence in Science in Africa (AESA) and supported by the New Partnership for Africa's Development Planning and Coordinating Agency (NEPAD Agency) with funding from the Wellcome Trust (grant # 107752/Z/15/Z) and the United Kingdom (UK) government. The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of AAS, NEPAD Agency, Wellcome Trust or the UK government.

- Morris L, Binley JM, Clas BA, Bonhoeffer S, Astill TP, Kost R, et al. HIV-1 antigen-specific and -nonspecific B cell responses are sensitive to combination antiretroviral therapy. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188(2):233–45. doi:10.1084/ jem.188.2.233
- Notermans DW, de Jong JJ, Goudsmit J, Bakker M, Roos MT, Nijholt L, et al. Potent antiretroviral therapy initiates normalization of hypergammaglobulinemia and a decline in HIV type 1-specific antibody responses. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2001) 17(11):1003–8. doi:10.1089/088922201300343681
- Pensieroso S, Galli L, Nozza S, Ruffin N, Castagna A, Tambussi G, et al. B-cell subset alterations and correlated factors in HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2013) 27(8):1209–17. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32835edc47
- Titanji K, Chiodi F, Bellocco R, Schepis D, Osorio L, Tassandin C, et al. Primary HIV-1 infection sets the stage for important B lymphocyte dysfunctions. *AIDS* (2005) 19(17):1947–55. doi:10.1097/01.aids.0000191231. 54170.89
- Moir S, Buckner CM, Ho J, Wang W, Chen J, Waldner AJ, et al. B cells in early and chronic HIV infection: evidence for preservation of immune function associated with early initiation of antiretroviral therapy. *Blood* (2010) 116(25):5571–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-05-285528
- Scheid JF, Mouquet H, Ueberheide B, Diskin R, Klein F, Oliveira TY, et al. Sequence and structural convergence of broad and potent HIV antibodies that mimic CD4 binding. *Science* (2011) 333(6049):1633–7. doi:10.1126/ science.1207227
- Walker LM, Huber M, Doores KJ, Falkowska E, Pejchal R, Julien JP, et al. Broad neutralization coverage of HIV by multiple highly potent antibodies. *Nature* (2011) 477(7365):466–70. doi:10.1038/nature10373
- Wu X, Yang ZY, Li Y, Hogerkorp CM, Schief WR, Seaman MS, et al. Rational design of envelope identifies broadly neutralizing human monoclonal antibodies to HIV-1. *Science* (2010) 329(5993):856–61. doi:10.1126/science. 1187659
- Klein F, Diskin R, Scheid JF, Gaebler C, Mouquet H, Georgiev IS, et al. Somatic mutations of the immunoglobulin framework are generally required for broad and potent HIV-1 neutralization. *Cell* (2013) 153(1):126–38. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2013.03.018
- Cohen K, Altfeld M, Alter G, Stamatatos L. Early preservation of CXCR5+ PD-1+ helper T cells and B cell activation predict the breadth of neutralizing antibody responses in chronic HIV-1 infection. *J Virol* (2014) 88(22):13310– 21. doi:10.1128/JVI.02186-14
- Havenar-Daughton C, Lindqvist M, Heit A, Wu JE, Reiss SM, Kendric K, et al. CXCL13 is a plasma biomarker of germinal center activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2016) 113(10):2702–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1520112113
- Dugast AS, Arnold K, Lofano G, Moore S, Hoffner M, Simek M, et al. Virusdriven inflammation is associated with the development of bNAbs in spontaneous controllers of HIV. *Clin Infect Dis* (2017) 64(8):1098–104. doi:10.1093/ cid/cix057
- Liu Z, Davidson A. BAFF and selection of autoreactive B cells. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32(8):388–94. doi:10.1016/j.it.2011.06.004
- Ota M, Duong BH, Torkamani A, Doyle CM, Gavin AL, Ota T, et al. Regulation of the B cell receptor repertoire and self-reactivity by BAFF. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(7):4128–36. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002176
- Thien M, Phan TG, Gardam S, Amesbury M, Basten A, Mackay F, et al. Excess BAFF rescues self-reactive B cells from peripheral deletion and allows them to enter forbidden follicular and marginal zone niches. *Immunity* (2004) 20(6):785–98. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.05.010
- Dosenovic P, Soldemo M, Scholz JL, O'Dell S, Grasset EK, Pelletier N, et al. BLyS-mediated modulation of naive B cell subsets impacts HIV Env-induced

antibodyresponses. *J Immunol*(2012)188(12):6018–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1200466

- 32. Gupta S, Clark ES, Termini JM, Boucher J, Kanagavelu S, LeBranche CC, et al. DNA vaccine molecular adjuvants SP-D-BAFF and SP-D-APRIL enhance anti-gp120 immune response and increase HIV-1 neutralizing antibody titers. *J Virol* (2015) 89(8):4158–69. doi:10.1128/JVI.02904-14
- Ndhlovu ZM, Kamya P, Mewalal N, Kloverpris HN, Nkosi T, Pretorius K, et al. Magnitude and kinetics of CD8+ T cell activation during hyperacute HIV infection impact viral set point. *Immunity* (2015) 43(3):591–604. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.08.012
- Anahtar MN, Byrne EH, Doherty KE, Bowman BA, Yamamoto HS, Soumillon M, et al. Cervicovaginal bacteria are a major modulator of host inflammatory responses in the female genital tract. *Immunity* (2015) 42(5):965–76. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.019
- 35. Byrne EH, Anahtar MN, Cohen KE, Moodley A, Padavattan N, Ismail N, et al. Association between injectable progestin-only contraceptives and HIV acquisition and HIV target cell frequency in the female genital tract in South African women: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2016) 16(4):441–8. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00429-6
- Department of Health, Republic of South Africa. National Consolidated Guidelines for the Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV (PMTCT) and the Management of HIV in Children, Adolescents and Adults. (2014). Available from: http://www.sahivsoc.org/Files/Consolidated%20 ART%20guidelines%20_Jan%202015.pdf
- 37. Montefiori DC. Evaluating neutralizing antibodies against HIV, SIV, SHIV in luciferase reporter gene assays. In: Coligan JE, Bierer BE, Margulies DH, Shevach EM, Strober W, editors. *Current Protocols in Immunology*. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons (2004) Chapter 12: Unit 12.11.
- Clerici M, Butto S, Lukwiya M, Saresella M, Declich S, Trabattoni D, et al. Immune activation in Africa is environmentally-driven and is associated with upregulation of CCR5. Italian-Ugandan AIDS Project. *AIDS* (2000) 14(14):2083–92. doi:10.1097/00002030-200009290-00003
- Howard RR, Fasano CS, Frey L, Miller CH. Reference intervals of CD3, CD4, CD8, CD4/CD8, and absolute CD4 values in Asian and non-Asian populations. *Cytometry* (1996) 26(3):231–2. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0320(19960915)26:3<231:AID-CYTO9>3.0.CO;2-H
- Naluyima P, Eller LA, Ouma BJ, Kyabaggu D, Kataaha P, Guwatudde D, et al. Sex and urbanicity contribute to variation in lymphocyte distribution across Ugandan populations. *PLoS One* (2016) 11(1):e0146196. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0146196
- Kiguoya MW, Mann JK, Chopera D, Gounder K, Lee GQ, Hunt PW, et al. Subtype-specific differences in Gag-protease-driven replication capacity are consistent with inter-subtype differences in HIV-1 disease progression. J Virol (2017) 91:e00253–17. doi:10.1128/JVI.00253-17
- Kaleebu P, French N, Mahe C, Yirrell D, Watera C, Lyagoba F, et al. Effect of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 1 envelope subtypes A and D on disease progression in a large cohort of HIV-1-positive persons in Uganda. *J Infect Dis* (2002) 185(9):1244–50. doi:10.1086/340130
- Vasan A, Renjifo B, Hertzmark E, Chaplin B, Msamanga G, Essex M, et al. Different rates of disease progression of HIV type 1 infection in Tanzania based on infecting subtype. *Clin Infect Dis* (2006) 42(6):843–52. doi:10.1086/499952
- 44. Gonzalez-Garcia I, Ocana E, Jimenez-Gomez G, Campos-Caro A, Brieva JA. Immunization-induced perturbation of human blood plasma cell pool: progressive maturation, IL-6 responsiveness, and high PRDI-BF1/BLIMP1 expression are critical distinctions between antigen-specific and nonspecific plasma cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(7):4042–50. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.4042
- Odendahl M, Mei H, Hoyer BF, Jacobi AM, Hansen A, Muehlinghaus G, et al. Generation of migratory antigen-specific plasma blasts and mobilization of resident plasma cells in a secondary immune response. *Blood* (2005) 105(4):1614–21. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-07-2507
- Wrammert J, Onlamoon N, Akondy RS, Perng GC, Polsrila K, Chandele A, et al. Rapid and massive virus-specific plasmablast responses during acute dengue virus infection in humans. *J Virol* (2012) 86(6):2911–8. doi:10.1128/ JVI.06075-11
- 47. Stacey AR, Norris PJ, Qin L, Haygreen EA, Taylor E, Heitman J, et al. Induction of a striking systemic cytokine cascade prior to peak viremia in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection, in contrast to more modest and

delayed responses in acute hepatitis B and C virus infections. J Virol (2009) 83(8):3719–33. doi:10.1128/JVI.01844-08

- Mackay F, Schneider P, Rennert P, Browning J. BAFF AND APRIL: a tutorial on B cell survival. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2003) 21:231–64. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.21.120601.141152
- De Milito A, Nilsson A, Titanji K, Thorstensson R, Reizenstein E, Narita M, et al. Mechanisms of hypergammaglobulinemia and impaired antigen-specific humoral immunity in HIV-1 infection. *Blood* (2004) 103(6):2180–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-07-2375
- Malaspina A, Moir S, Kottilil S, Hallahan CW, Ehler LA, Liu S, et al. Deleterious effect of HIV-1 plasma viremia on B cell costimulatory function. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(12):5965–72. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170. 12.5965
- Seaman MS, Janes H, Hawkins N, Grandpre LE, Devoy C, Giri A, et al. Tiered categorization of a diverse panel of HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses for assessment of neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol* (2010) 84(3):1439–52. doi:10.1128/ JVI.02108-09
- Cagigi A, Mowafi F, Phuong Dang LV, Tenner-Racz K, Atlas A, Grutzmeier S, et al. Altered expression of the receptor-ligand pair CXCR5/CXCL13 in B cells during chronic HIV-1 infection. *Blood* (2008) 112(12):4401–10. doi:10.1182/ blood-2008-02-140426
- Cohen KW, Dugast AS, Alter G, McElrath MJ, Stamatatos L. HIV-1 single-stranded RNA induces CXCL13 secretion in human monocytes via TLR7 activation and plasmacytoid dendritic cell-derived type I IFN. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(6):2769–75. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400952
- Regidor DL, Detels R, Breen EC, Widney DP, Jacobson LP, Palella F, et al. Effect of highly active antiretroviral therapy on biomarkers of B-lymphocyte activation and inflammation. *AIDS* (2011) 25(3):303–14. doi:10.1097/ QAD.0b013e32834273ad
- Widney DP, Breen EC, Boscardin WJ, Kitchen SG, Alcantar JM, Smith JB, et al. Serum levels of the homeostatic B cell chemokine, CXCL13, are elevated during HIV infection. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2005) 25(11):702–6. doi:10.1089/jir.2005.25.702
- Ansel KM, Ngo VN, Hyman PL, Luther SA, Forster R, Sedgwick JD, et al. A chemokine-driven positive feedback loop organizes lymphoid follicles. *Nature* (2000) 406(6793):309–14. doi:10.1038/35018581
- Legler DF, Loetscher M, Roos RS, Clark-Lewis I, Baggiolini M, Moser B. B cell-attracting chemokine 1, a human CXC chemokine expressed in lymphoid tissues, selectively attracts B lymphocytes via BLR1/CXCR5. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187(4):655–60. doi:10.1084/jem.187.4.655
- Fukazawa Y, Lum R, Okoye AA, Park H, Matsuda K, Bae JY, et al. B cell follicle sanctuary permits persistent productive simian immunodeficiency virus infection in elite controllers. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(2):132–9. doi:10.1038/ nm.3781
- Locci M, Havenar-Daughton C, Landais E, Wu J, Kroenke MA, Arlehamn CL, et al. Human circulating PD-(+)1CXCR3(-)CXCR5(+) memory Tfh cells are highly functional and correlate with broadly neutralizing HIV antibody responses. *Immunity* (2013) 39(4):758–69. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2013.08.031
- Moody MA, Pedroza-Pacheco I, Vandergrift PA, Chui C, Lloyd KE, Parks R, et al. Immune perturbations in HIV-1-infected individuals who make broadly neutralizing antibodies. *Sci Immunol* (2016) 1(1):aag0851. doi:10.1126/sciimmunol.aag0851

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Mabuka, Dugast, Muema, Reddy, Ramlakhan, Euler, Ismail, Moodley, Dong, Morris, Walker, Alter and Ndung'u. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Maternal HIV Envelope-Specific Antibodies and Mother-to-Child Transmission Risk

Ayooluwa O. Douglas¹, David R. Martinez^{1,2} and Sallie R. Permar^{1,2,3*}

¹ Duke Human Vaccine Institute, Durham, NC, United States, ² Department of Molecular Genetics and Microbiology, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC, United States, ³ Department of Pediatrics, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC, United States

Despite the wide availability of antiretroviral therapy (ART) prophylaxis during pregnancy, >150,000 infants become infected through mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV worldwide. It is likely that additional intervention strategies, such as a maternal HIV vaccine, will be required to eliminate pediatric HIV infections. A deeper understanding of the fine specificity and function of maternal HIV envelope (Env)-specific responses that provide partial protection against MTCT will be critical to inform the design of immunologic strategies to curb the pediatric HIV epidemic. Recent studies have underlined a role of maternal HIV Env-specific neutralizing and non-neutralizing responses in reducing risk of MTCT of HIV and in prolonging survival rates in HIVinfected infants. However, critical gaps in our knowledge include (A) the specific role of maternal autologous-virus IgG-neutralizing responses in driving the selection of infant transmitted founder (T/F) viruses and (B) Env mechanisms of escape from maternal autologous virus-neutralizing antibodies (NAbs). A more refined understanding of the fine specificities of maternal autologous virus NAbs and ways that maternal circulating viruses escape from these antibodies will be crucial to inform maternal vaccination strategies that can block MTCT to help achieve an HIV-free generation.

Keywords: mother-to-child transmission, HIV, vaccines, vertical HIV transmission, neutralizing antibodies, nonneutralizing antibodies, maternal vaccines

INTRODUCTION

According to the 2016 UNAIDS global report, >150,000 infants became infected with HIV-1 *via* mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) in 2015 (1). This is despite the great success in expanding the availability of antiretroviral therapy (ART) worldwide. Ongoing challenges for the elimination of pediatric HIV infection include the following: lack of universal HIV testing and treatment during pregnancy, late maternal presentation for clinical care, maternal HIV acquisition in late pregnancy, and lack of maternal adherence to ART therapy during breastfeeding (1, 2). Thus, it is likely that alternative strategies, such as a maternal or infant HIV vaccine, will be required to eliminate pediatric HIV infections.

Mother-to-child transmission of HIV can occur *via* three distinct routes: during pregnancy (antepartum), during labor and delivery (peripartum), and during breastfeeding (postpartum). Maternal ART has been highly successful in reducing MTCT of HIV to as low as 2% transmission risk; however, poor maternal adherence to ART therapy, ART-associated toxicity in infants, and limited ART availability in resource-limited areas remain outstanding challenges in preventing

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Chiodi, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by:

Britta Christina Urban, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, United Kingdom Ann Jones Hessell, Oregon Health & Science University, United States

*Correspondence:

Sallie R. Permar sallie.permar@duke.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 June 2017 Accepted: 21 August 2017 Published: 04 September 2017

Citation:

Douglas AO, Martinez DR and Permar SR (2017) The Role of Maternal HIV Envelope-Specific Antibodies and Mother-to-Child Transmission Risk. Front. Immunol. 8:1091. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01091

83

MTCT of HIV (2). Interestingly, in the absence of maternal ART prophylaxis during pregnancy or at delivery, only 30-40% of HIV-infected mothers vertically transmit HIV to the infant, suggesting that maternal factors may provide partial protection against vertical transmission of HIV infection (2, 3). These factors could include maternal immune responses capable of mediating partial protection against MTCT of HIV. Efforts to develop immune-based strategies that can synergize with current ART prophylaxis to further reduce MTCT risk have focused on understanding the role of maternal HIV envelope (Env)-specific antibodies in mediating protection against HIV transmission. Interestingly, maternal IgG is transferred to fetus across the placenta throughout gestation and mediates protection against neonatal infections during the first few months of life (4-6). Given that maternal HIV Env-specific IgG responses are present at the time of infant infection, MTCT provides a unique setting to elucidate the role of maternal passively acquired Env-specific IgG in mediating protection against virus acquisition in infants. Understanding the determinants of how infant T/F viruses initiate infection in the presence of maternal neutralizing and nonneutralizing antibodies (NAbs) in the fetus could also shed light on mechanisms of virus superinfection in adults. Furthermore, defining viral escape mechanisms from autologous virus NAbs is not only relevant in the setting of MTCT but may also have important applications in our understanding of more general virus escape mechanisms from host immune responses.

THE ROLE OF MATERNAL NAbs IN MTCT

The role of maternal autologous virus NAbs in protecting the neonate against HIV transmission remains unclear. Although some studies reported higher levels of NAbs in serum among non-transmitting mothers (7-10), other studies have not confirmed this association (11-13). These contradictory results may be due to the small mother infant pair sample sizes, unclear timing of infant HIV-1 infection, disparate maternal and infant sample collection times, unknown route of vertical transmission, ART prophylaxis or treatment during pregnancy, delivery or postpartum, and lack of control for factors that impact MTCT, such as maternal plasma viral load and peripheral CD4+ T cell count (14, 15). Given the extensive genetic and antigenic diversity of HIV within a host, elucidating the fine specificity of maternal NAb responses against conserved vulnerable regions of the HIV Env may provide a better understanding of maternal immune correlates of protection against MTCT. The conserved vulnerable regions on the HIV Env include the following: the CD4 binding site, the variable loop regions 1 and 2 (V1V2), variable loop region 3 (V3), and the gp41 membrane-proximal external region (MPER) (16).

Our group recently identified maternal humoral correlates of protection against peripartum HIV transmission in a large cohort of n = 248 HIV-infected women from the Women and Infant Transmission Study (WITS), a historic North American observational cohort of HIV clade B virus-infected, ART naïve pregnant women (9). Importantly, this maternal humoral correlates of protection analysis accounted for known maternal MTCT risk factors such as maternal plasma viral load, peripheral CD4+ T cell count, infant gestational age, and delivery mode, thereby isolating the role of maternal HIV Env-specific IgG responses in mediating partial protection against MTCT of HIV. In the WITS cohort, maternal V3-specific IgG binding responses, tier 1 virus-neutralizing responses, and CD4 binding site-blocking responses all correlated and were independently predictive of reduced MTCT risk (9). Further analyses of the fine specificity and function of the potentially protective maternal V3-specific IgG responses revealed that both binding and neutralizing responses targeting the C-terminal region were associated with reduced MTCT risk (8). Thus, these findings provide proof of principle that maternal HIV Env-specific IgG responses targeting vulnerable epitopes on the HIV Env can afford partial protection against peripartum MTCT of clade B HIV. Furthermore, a separate study observed that Env-specific responses targeting MPER region in gp41 were associated with reduced MTCT risk (17), suggesting that multiple regions in HIV Env may be targets of potentially protective maternal humoral responses. However, the association of maternal humoral responses to defined vulnerable Env epitopes with reduced vertical virus transmission has not been consistently confirmed in other cohorts of HIV-infected women. For example, the association of maternal V3-specific IgG binding responses, tier 1 virus-neutralizing responses, and CD4 binding site-blocking responses were not predictive of reduced MTCT risk in HIV, clade C virus-infected women from the Breastfeeding and Nutrition (BAN) cohort (n = 88) (18). However, it should be noted that the majority of transmitting women included in the BAN humoral correlates of protection analysis transmitted in utero and in the setting of maternal ART treatment. Nevertheless, these findings suggest that maternal humoral correlates of protection against MTCT of HIV in ART naïve, clade B virus-infected women may not be applicable to other transmission modes (i.e., in utero transmission), other viral clades, and/or in the setting of maternal ART treatment. Further defining the fine specificity and function of potentially protective maternal humoral responses will provide immunologic benchmarks used to evaluate future maternal HIV vaccine modalities that may temporarily enhance virus blocking antibody responses during pregnancy. For example, in the moderately protective RV144 vaccine efficacy trial, vaccine-elicited V1V2-specific IgG responses were associated with reduced HIV transmission risk, and thus the elicitation of V1V2-specific IgG responses is currently being used as an immune benchmark in ongoing vaccine efficacy studies (19, 20). Furthermore, given that the fetus is passively immunized with maternal IgG throughout pregnancy, a deeper understanding of the role of NAbs that are present in a host at the time of infection could help inform vaccine strategies.

TRANSMITTED FOUNDER (T/F) VIRUSES THAT INFECT INFANTS AND THEIR SENSITIVITY TO MATERNAL ANTIBODIES

Similar to HIV infection in adults, HIV-infected infants become infected with one to a few HIV viruses, suggesting that a selective virus genetic bottleneck is involved in MTCT (**Figure 1A**)



FIGURE 1 | HIV virus escape from maternal neutralizing antibodies (NAbs) in the setting of mother-to-child transmission. (A) Neighbor joining phylogenetic tree and highlighter plot of the full HIV envelope (Env) gene (*env*) for one mother–infant pair, showing the transmission of one T/F virus from mother to infant. The red circles represent infant *env* amplicons, and the blue squares represent maternal *env* amplicons in the highlighter plot. Red ticks represent non-silent amino acid mutations, and green ticks represent silent amino acid mutations in the HIV Env region. Neighbor-joining tree was generated using MEGA7, and the highlighter plot was generated using the Los Alamos National Laboratory HIV tools: highlighter plot. (B) Maternal infectious and non-infectious virus quasispecies in the presence of a wide pool maternal autologous-virus NAbs may select for infectious neutralization-resistant viruses that infect the infant.

(7, 11, 12, 14, 15). However, factors that drive this selective virus genetic bottleneck are not clear. Env-specific IgG responses can mediate immune pressure on autologous circulating viruses and therefore could contribute to the selection of infant T/F viruses (Figure 1B). While some studies have suggested that viruses transmitted from mother to infant may be resistant to neutralization by maternal antibodies (10, 21, 22), other studies have not confirmed these observations (13, 23). The reported increased resistance of infant T/F viruses to maternal NAbs may be explained by genetic differences compared to maternal non-transmitted viruses at key sites including Env glycan motifs. Furthermore, mutation of distal amino acid residues relative to Env neutralizing epitopes could also confer neutralization resistance to maternal autologous virus NAbs (24) (Figure 1B). A recent study in HIV, clade A virus-infected women examined the neutralization sensitivity of maternal autologous circulating viruses to paired plasma in 10 transmitting and 10 nontransmitting women and found no association in autologous virus-neutralizing activity and transmission risk (23). This study also reported that transmitting and non-transmitting women had a similar proportion of neutralization-resistant viruses to paired maternal plasma, suggesting that maternal autologous NAbs may not be associated with infant protection. However, to date, no study has evaluated whether neutralization resistance to paired maternal plasma NAbs is a defining feature of infant T/F viruses compared to maternal non-transmitted variants. Given that maternal autologous virus NAbs will only need to block the viruses that initiate infection in the infant (i.e., infant T/F viruses), future studies should focus on defining the susceptibility of infant T/F viruses to paired maternal plasma NAbs and monoclonal NAbs with defined epitope specificities compared to non-transmitted maternal variants in a cohort with standardized sample collection and known transmission risk factors.

In contrast to adult HIV transmission in which an HIV vaccine will need to elicit broadly NAbs against difficult-toneutralize viruses from several clades, MTCT is a unique setting in which vaccine-elicited antibody responses need to only block the maternal virus pool to which the infant is exposed to (Figure 1B). Therefore, vaccination strategies aimed at eliciting broadly NAbs against multiple viral clades may be distinct from immunization strategies aimed at the inducing autologous virus NAbs against a defined and limited pool of maternal viruses. As a maternal and/or infant HIV vaccine will most likely be necessary for eliminating pediatric HIV infections, identifying the maternal NAbs that target specific vulnerable Env epitopes in selecting for neutralization-resistant viruses will be important to inform maternal vaccination strategies. Moody et al. recently demonstrated that in an HIV-infected individual, autologous-virus NAbs targeting the V3 loop and CD4 binding site neutralized a large proportion of autologous viruses isolated from plasma (25). Importantly, the autologous virus NAbs in this individual mediated the neutralization of heterologous easy-to-neutralize tier 1 virus isolates but failed to neutralize difficult-to-neutralize heterologous tier 2 virus isolates, suggesting that these seemingly inconsequential weakly NAbs can drive the selection of predominant strains that repopulate the autologous virus pool in HIV-infected individuals. This observation underlines the role of maternal Env-specific NAbs in selecting for neutralization-resistant viruses circulating in the blood. In the setting of MTCT, these maternal plasma tier 1 virus NAbs could select for neutralizing resistant viruses in the maternal blood compartment, and these viruses may be transmitted to the infant. Thus, maternal V3 and CD4bs-specific NAbs may select for maternal autologous circulating viruses that are neutralization resistant and may drive the selection of infant T/F viruses. Therefore, it will be important to define both the fine specificity and neutralizing function of maternal autologous virus NAbs.

THE ROLE OF MATERNAL NON-NEUTRALIZING HUMORAL RESPONSES AND MTCT RISK

The role of maternal non-neutralizing humoral responses in mediating partial protection in the setting of MTCT of HIV also remains unclear. A study reported that in a small cohort of (n = 19) HIV clade A virus-infected Kenyan women, breast milk Env-specific IgG responses with antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) activity were associated with reduced MTCT risk (26). Interestingly, these ADCC-mediating IgG responses in breast milk were found to have limited neutralizing activity, suggesting that maternal ADCC responses may be important in limiting postpartum transmission of HIV. However, it should be noted that these findings were from a small cohort of 9 transmitting and 10 non-transmitting HIVinfected women and have not been validated in a larger cohort of clade A HIV-infected women. Pollara et al. examined the role of maternal Env-specific IgG responses in breast milk and found no association of ADCC-mediating responses and decreased MTCT risk in a cohort of (n = 87) of HIV clade C infected breastfeeding Malawian women (27). The inability to validate the association of maternal ADCC-mediating breast milk Env-specific IgG responses and reduced MTCT risk may be due to distinct cohort sizes, potential virologic differences in clade A and clade C viruses, and differences in fine specificity and function in these distinct cohorts of HIV-infected women. Despite the seemingly contradictory findings of the role of breast milk Env-specific ADCC-mediating IgG responses and postpartum MTCT risk, maternal passively acquired ADCCmediating IgG responses have been associated with reduced infant mortality in HIV clade A, peripartum-infected infants, suggesting that maternal passively acquired ADCC responses may prolong infant survival in pediatric HIV-infected patients (28). Together, these studies highlight the potentially protective role of maternal ADCC-mediating Env-specific IgG responses and their importance in increasing infant survival rates in HIVinfected pediatric patients.

THE TRANSPLACENTAL TRANSFER OF MATERNAL HIV ENV-SPECIFIC IGG RESPONSES AND MTCT RISK

In the setting of pregnancy, maternal IgG is passively transferred to the fetus throughout gestation, with the majority of the

Maternal HIV Antibodies and MTCT

transplacental transfer taking place in the third trimester (29). However, in the setting of maternal HIV infection, the transplacental transfer of maternal IgG to the fetus is poorly efficient (29-34). Despite the observed poor transplacental transfer of maternal IgG responses to the fetus in the setting of maternal HIV infection, maternal Env-specific IgG neutralizing responses may be efficiently transferred to the infant (35). However, the efficient transplacental transfer of maternal HIV Env-specific IgG neutralizing responses has not been found to be associated with decreased MTCT risk (35). As the role of maternal HIV Env-specific IgG in mediating infant protection against HIV infection remains unclear, it is not known if the poor transplacental transfer of potentially protective maternal Env-specific IgG responses leads to increased infant HIV transmission risk. However, some studies suggest that the transplacental transfer of maternal Env-specific IgG responses with antiviral functions may be important for infant protection (17). Passively acquired maternal IgG responses in HIV-exposed uninfected infants have been shown to mediate virus transcytosis inhibition in vitro in clade C HIV-infected mothers and their infants (17). Furthermore, the fine specificity of passively acquired maternal Env-specific IgG responses was mapped to gp41 epitopes that encompass the MPER, a key site that is commonly targeted by broadly NAbs. Thus, the transplacental transfer of maternal HIV Env-specific IgG responses with antiviral functions may be important for infant protection, as well as survival outcome upon infection (17, 28).

CONCLUSION

It is likely that additional immune-based strategies such as a safe and effective maternal and/or infant HIV-1 vaccine that can synergize with current prophylactic ART treatments will be required to eliminate pediatric HIV infections. Given the growing body of evidence on the role of maternal HIV Env-specific IgG responses and their association with reduced MTCT risk, more studies are needed to further refine the molecular details

REFERENCES

- UNAIDS. Preventing Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (2016).
- Lallemant M, Le Coeur S, Samba L, Cheynier D, M'Pele P, Nzingoula S, et al. Mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in Congo, central Africa. Congolese Research Group on Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV. *AIDS* (1994) 8:1451–6. doi:10.1097/00002030-199410000-00012
- 3. EC Study. Children born to women with HIV-1 infection: natural history and risk of transmission. *Lancet* (1991) 337:253-60. doi:10.1016/0140-6736 (91)90866-N
- Kohler PF, Farr RS. Elevation of cord over maternal IgG immunoglobulin: evidence for an active placental IgG transport. *Nature* (1966) 210:1070–1. doi:10.1038/2101070a0
- Malek A, Sager R, Schneider H. Maternal-fetal transport of immunoglobulin G and its subclasses during the third trimester of human pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (1994) 32:8–14. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.1994.tb00873.x
- Morell A, Skvaril F, van Loghem E, Kleemola M. Human IgG subclasses in maternal and fetal serum. Vox Sang (1971) 21:481–92. doi:10.1111/j.1423-0410.1971.tb04808.x
- 7. Ahmad N, Baroudy BM, Baker RC, Chappey C. Genetic analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope V3 region isolates from mothers and infants after perinatal transmission. *J Virol* (1995) 69:1001–12.

by which HIV viruses escape maternal NAbs. Larger and better controlled studies that investigate maternal NAbs with defined fine-epitope specificity and their role in preventing or reducing MTCT risk in the setting of ART may provide crucial information for the design of an effective maternal and/or infant HIV-1 vaccine to help achieve an HIV-free generation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DM and SP conceived the topic. AD, DM, and SP wrote the manuscript and AD prepared the figures.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Amit Kumar for his technical expertise and help with making figures.

FUNDING

DM is supported by an American Society of Microbiology Robert D. Watkins Graduate Research Fellowship and an NIH NIAID Ruth L. Kirschstein National Research Service Award F31 F31AI127303. AD is supported by NIH grant: R25GM103765. SP is supported by NIH, NIAID grants: 5R01AI106380, 1R01AI22909, and UM1AI106716. Overall support for the International Maternal Pediatric Adolescent AIDS Clinical Trials (IMPAACT) Network was provided by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) under Award Numbers UM1AI068632 (IMPAACT LOC), UM1AI068616 (IMPAACT SDMC), and UM1AI106716 (IMPAACT LC), with co-funding from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) and the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

- Martinez DR, Vandergrift N, Douglas AO, McGuire E, Bainbridge J, Nicely NI, et al. Maternal binding and neutralizing IgG responses targeting the C-terminal region of the V3 loop are predictive of reduced peripartum HIV-1 transmission risk. *J Virol* (2017) 91:e02422–16. doi:10.1128/JVI. 02422-16
- Permar SR, Fong Y, Vandergrift N, Fouda GG, Gilbert P, Parks R, et al. Maternal HIV-1 envelope-specific antibody responses and reduced risk of perinatal transmission. J Clin Invest (2015) 125:2702–6. doi:10.1172/JCI81593
- Wu X, Parast AB, Richardson BA, Nduati R, John-Stewart G, Mbori-Ngacha D, et al. Neutralization escape variants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 are transmitted from mother to infant. *J Virol* (2006) 80:835–44. doi:10.1128/JVI.80.5.2585.2006
- Kwiek J, Russell E, Dang K, Burch C, Mwapasa V, Meshnick S, et al. The molecular epidemiology of HIV-1 envelope diversity during HIV-1 subtype C vertical transmission in Malawian mother-infant pairs. *AIDS* (2008) 22:863–71. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3282f51ea0
- 12. Scarlatti G, Leitner T, Halapi E, Wahlberg J, Marchisio P, Clerici-Schoeller MA, et al. Comparison of variable region 3 sequences of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from infected children with the RNA and DNA sequences of the virus populations of their mothers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* (1993) 90:1721–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.5.1721
- 13. Fouda G, Mahlokozera T, Salazar-Gonzalez J, Salazar M, Learn G, Kumar S, et al. Postnatally-transmitted HIV-1 envelope variants have similar

neutralization-sensitivity and function to that of nontransmitted breast milk variants. *Retrovirology* (2013) 10:3. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-10-3

- Nakamura KJ, Heath L, Sobrera ER, Wilkinson TA, Semrau K, Kankasa C, et al. Breast milk and in utero transmission of HIV-1 select for envelope variants with unique molecular signatures. *Retrovirology* (2017) 14:6. doi:10.1186/ s12977-017-0331-z
- Rainwater S, Wu X, Nduati R, Nedellec R, Mosier D, John-Stewart G, et al. Cloning and characterization of functional subtype A HIV-1 envelope variants transmitted through breastfeeding. *Curr HIV Res* (2007) 5:189–97. doi:10.2174/157016207780076986
- Kwong PD, Mascola JR. Human antibodies that neutralize HIV-1: identification, structures, and B cell ontogenies. *Immunity* (2012) 37:412–25. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.08.012
- Diomede L, Nyoka S, Pastori C, Scotti L, Zambon A, Sherman G, et al. Passively transmitted gp41 antibodies in babies born from HIV-1 subtype C-seropositive women: correlation between fine specificity and protection. *J Virol* (2012) 86:4129–38. doi:10.1128/JVI.06359-11
- Mutucumarana CP, Eudailey J, McGuire EP, Vandergrift N, Tegha G, Chasela C, et al. Maternal humoral immune correlates of peripartum transmission of clade C HIV-1 in the setting of peripartum antiretrovirals. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* (2017) 24:e00062–17. doi:10.1128/CVI.00062-17
- O'Connell RJ, Kim JH, Corey L, Michael NL. Human immunodeficiency virus vaccine trials. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* (2012) 2:a007351. doi:10.1101/ cshperspect.a007351
- Stephenson KE, D'Couto HT, Barouch DH. New concepts in HIV-1 vaccine development. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2016) 41:39–46. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2016.05.011
- Dickover R, Garratty E, Yusim K, Miller C, Korber B, Bryson Y. Role of maternal autologous neutralizing antibody in selective perinatal transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escape variants. *J Virol* (2006) 80:6525–33. doi:10.1128/JVI.02658-05
- Kliks SC, Wara DW, Landers DV, Levy JA. Features of HIV-1 that could influence maternal-child transmission. JAMA (1994) 272:467–74. doi:10.1001/ jama.1994.03520060067034
- Milligan C, Omenda MM, Chohan V, Odem-Davis K, Richardson BA, Nduati R, et al. Maternal neutralization-resistant virus variants do not predict infant HIV infection risk. *MBio* (2016) 7:e02221-15. doi:10.1128/ mBio.02221-15
- Goo L, Milligan C, Simonich CA, Nduati R, Overbaugh J. Neutralizing antibody escape during HIV-1 mother-to-child transmission involves conformational masking of distal epitopes in envelope. *J Virol* (2012) 86:9566–82. doi:10.1128/JVI.00953-12
- Moody MA, Gao F, Gurley TC, Amos JD, Kumar A, Hora B, et al. Strainspecific V3 and CD4 binding site autologous HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies select neutralization-resistant viruses. *Cell Host Microbe* (2015) 18:354–62. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2015.08.006
- 26. Mabuka J, Nduati R, Odem-Davis K, Peterson D, Overbaugh J. HIVspecific antibodies capable of ADCC are common in breastmilk and are

associated with reduced risk of transmission in women with high viral loads. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002739. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002739

- Pollara J, McGuire E, Fouda GG, Rountree W, Eudailey J, Overman RG, et al. Association of HIV-1 envelope-specific breast milk IgA responses with reduced risk of postnatal mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1. *J Virol* (2015) 89:9952–61. doi:10.1128/JVI.01560-15
- Milligan C, Richardson BA, John-Stewart G, Nduati R, Overbaugh J. Passively acquired antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) activity in HIVinfected infants is associated with reduced mortality. *Cell Host Microbe* (2015) 17:500–6. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2015.03.002
- Palmeira P, Quinello C, Silveira-Lessa AL, Zago CA, Carneiro-Sampaio M. IgG placental transfer in healthy and pathological pregnancies. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2012) 2012:985646. doi:10.1155/2012/985646
- de Moraes-Pinto MI, Verhoeff F, Chimsuku L, Milligan PJ, Wesumperuma L, Broadhead RL, et al. Placental antibody transfer: influence of maternal HIV infection and placental malaria. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed (1998) 79:F202–5. doi:10.1136/fn.79.3.F202
- Evans C, Jones CE, Prendergast AJ. HIV-exposed, uninfected infants: new global challenges in the era of paediatric HIV elimination. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2016) 16:e92–107. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(16)00055-4
- 32. Farquhar C, Nduati R, Haigwood N, Sutton W, Mbori-Ngacha D, Richardson B, et al. High maternal HIV-1 viral load during pregnancy is associated with reduced placental transfer of measles IgG antibody. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr (2005) 40:494–7. doi:10.1097/01.qai.0000168179.68781.95
- 33. Scott S, Cumberland P, Shulman CE, Cousens S, Cohen BJ, Brown DW, et al. Neonatal measles immunity in rural Kenya: the influence of HIV and placental malaria infections on placental transfer of antibodies and levels of antibody in maternal and cord serum samples. *J Infect Dis* (2005) 191:1854–60. doi:10.1086/429963
- Slogrove AL, Goetghebuer T, Cotton MF, Singer J, Bettinger JA. Pattern of infectious morbidity in HIV-exposed uninfected infants and children. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:164. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00164
- 35. Omenda MM, Milligan C, Odem-Davis K, Nduati R, Richardson BA, Lynch J, et al. Evidence for efficient vertical transfer of maternal HIV-1 envelope-specific neutralizing antibodies but no association of such antibodies with reduced infant infection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr (2013) 64:163–6. doi:10.1097/QAI.0b013e31829f6e41

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Douglas, Martinez and Permar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Natural Antibodies to CC Chemokine Receptor 5 in HIV Infection

Assunta Venuti, Claudia Pastori and Lucia Lopalco*

Division of Immunology, Transplantation and Infectious Diseases, DIBIT - San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy

The CC chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) is responsible for immune and inflammatory responses by mediation of chemotactic activity in leukocytes, although it is expressed on different cell types. It has been shown to act as co-receptor for the human and simian immunodeficiency viruses (HIV-1, HIV-2, and SIV). Natural reactive antibodies (Abs) recognizing first loop (ECL1) of CCR5 have been detected in several pools of immunoglobulins from healthy donors and from several cohorts of either HIV-exposed but uninfected subjects (ESN) or HIV-infected individuals who control disease progression (LTNP) as well. The reason of development of anti-CCR5 Abs in the absence of autoimmune disease is still unknown; however, the presence of these Abs specific for CCR5 or for other immune receptors and mediators probably is related to homeostasis maintenance. The majority of anti-CCR5 Abs is directed to HIV binding site (N-terminus and ECL2) of the receptor. Conversely, it is well known that ECL1 of CCR5 does not bind HIV; thus, the anti-CCR5 Abs directed to ECL1 elicit a long-lasting internalization of CCR5 but not interfere with HIV binding directly; these Abs block HIV infection in either epithelial cells or CD4+ T lymphocytes and the mechanism differs from those ones described for all other CCR5-specific ligands. The Ab-mediated CCR5 internalization allows the formation of a stable signalosome by interaction of CCR5, β-arrestin2 and ERK1 proteins. The signalosome degradation and the subsequent de novo proteins synthesis determine the CCR5 reappearance on the cell membrane with a very long-lasting kinetics (8 days). The use of monoclonal Abs to CCR5 with particular characteristics and mode of action may represent a novel mode to fight viral infection in either vaccinal or therapeutic strategies.

Keywords: CC chemokine receptor 5, anti-CC chemokine receptor 5 antibodies, CC chemokine receptor 5 signalosome, HIV infection, HIV protection, CC chemokine receptor 5-based vaccine, CC chemokine receptor 5-based therapy

INTRODUCTION

The CC chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) belongs to G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), which represent the largest known superfamily of signal transducers and play functional roles in the response to exposure to light and odor as well as in cellular response to different types of signaling molecules (1). They consist approximately 4% of coded human genome (2) and represent one of the most important and largest groups of targets for therapeutics (3). Among them, the chemokine receptors

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Clive Maurice Gray, University of Cape Town, South Africa

Reviewed by:

Namal P. M. Liyanage, Ohio State University, United States Cristian Apetrei, University of Pittsburgh, United States Anthony Dominic Kelleher, University of New South Wales, Australia

> *Correspondence: Lucia Lopalco lopalco.lucia@hsr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 07 June 2017 Accepted: 03 October 2017 Published: 30 October 2017

Citation:

Venuti A, Pastori C and Lopalco L (2017) The Role of Natural Antibodies to CC Chemokine Receptor 5 in HIV Infection. Front. Immunol. 8:1358. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01358

89

are responsible for immune and inflammatory responses by mediation of chemotactic activity in leukocytes, even though they are expressed on a wide range of cell types, such as T and B cells, monocytes–macrophages, granulocytes, NK, DC, astrocytes, and neurons, and also on epithelium, endothelium, vascular smooth muscle, and fibroblasts (4–8).

CCR5 has also been implicated in hematopoiesis and it has been demonstrated that it act as co-receptor for the human and simian immunodeficiency viruses (HIV-1, HIV-2, and SIV) either independently of, or together with, the receptor CD4 (9–12). In particular, binding of viral gp120 of HIV-1 to CD4 triggers a conformational change in gp120 itself, which permits its binding to CCR5 and finally the viral entry into the cells (13, 14).

CCR5 is undoubtedly the main HIV-1 and HIV-2 co-receptor, involved in virus entry and cell-to-cell spread (15); interestingly, these R5-tropic viruses (CCR5 dependent strains) are associated with the initial infection (16), while HIV strains using the CXCR4 co-receptor are detected rarely in the early infection (11, 15, 17).

It is well known that chemokine receptor agonists, such as the β -chemokines RANTES (CCL5), MIP-1 α (CCL3), and MIP-1 β (CCL4), inhibit HIV infection of susceptible cells *in vitro* (18–21).

Interestingly, the number of CCR5 molecules expressed on cell surface is correlated with the levels of viral infection (13) and it has been described a variation of the level of CCR5 molecules among individuals (15), which is due to both environmental and genetic aspects. Indeed, it has been shown that high levels of CCR5, in some developing countries such as Africa, is environmentally driven and it has been hypothesized that it is due to parasitic infections (22). Whereas a CCR5-negative phenotype has been described in either some subjects, which are resistant to HIV infection (exposed to HIV but seronegative subjects, so called ESN) or in Caucasians and in other ethnic groups worldwide; the reduced or absent expression of CCR5 in these populations has been attributed to a genetic mutation, named $\Delta 32$, a deletion of 32 base-pair in CCR5 gene that produces a truncated form of the receptor, which is not expressed on the cell membrane (23). Several clinical studies underlined that homozygous mutation affecting the expression of CCR5 confers a total resistance against HIV infection (24–28); whereas heterozygotes for CCR5 Δ 32 are not associated with complete HIV protection (15) but progress slowly in the infection, most likely due to the reduction of CCR5 levels on the cell surface (29). CCR5 Δ 32 is spontaneous in 4-18% of Askenazi Jews and European people but it has not been found in Pacific and Asian indigenes (21, 24, 25, 28); this mutation occurs mostly like a heterozygous defect on CCR5 gene (10-20%), with the highest frequencies in Nordic European countries, and only less than 1% is a homozygous mutation, as reported in several study population (24, 25, 30-33). In addition, it has been shown that the frequency of CCR5 Δ 32 genotype is higher also among ESN and HIV-infected individuals who control disease progression without treatment (so called LTNP) compared to HIV-1 treated seropositive subjects and people from the general population (34, 35). Of note, different levels of CCR5 expression among different individuals do not affect immune functions (36), in fact its absence is not associated with medical dysfunction (37). Nevertheless the prevalence of homozygosity for CCR5 Δ 32 mutation, which results in the absence of CCR5

expression, has been found increased in either West Nile infected subjects or in tick-borne encephalitis (38, 39) and reviewed in Venuti et al. (21).

More interestingly, anti-CCR5 natural Abs have been discovered and they also showed HIV-blocking properties (40–43).

Overall, several numbers of strategies aimed to the prevention of CCR5 function in the HIV entry has been developed and tested.

MECHANISM OF GENERATION OF ANTI-SELF ANTIBODIES (Abs)

Natural Abs represent the first line of defense against pathogens; they are usually present in human serum as IgG3, IgM, and IgA and are generated in the absence of previous immune activation (44, 45).

The identification of B-1 cells (a subset of B cells), able to produce different self-reactive Abs, has demonstrated the capability of the immune system to interact with self-repertoire (45–47). It has been established that, in human, B cells are able to proliferate and to secrete Abs after exposure to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from the Gram-negative bacteria membrane independent to the specific B-cell receptor (BCR) (48). Nevertheless, natural human Abs can also cross-react with microbial antigens, thus allowing host protection to pathogen independent of the previous microbial invasion (44).

B-1 cells are detected in the pleural and peritoneal cavity and represent the first line of defense, but they are present in the spleen and bone marrow as well, in which they secrete a higher proportion of circulating natural Abs (40, 45). The activation status of B-1 cells is BCR independent (49) and after their fast redistribution from the body cavities, B-1 cells are able to differentiate and to secrete abundant amounts of IgM and/or IgA (50).

The partial differentiation of B-1 cells and their ability to respond rapidly are fundamental for the Abs production to elucidate host protection to pathogens infection *via* mucosal surfaces and blood. In fact, the production of natural IgM at a steady state by B-1 cells represents a relevant protection against pathogen replication before the development of the antigenspecific response (40, 44, 45, 51, 52).

Many functions have been proposed for natural Abs such as a first line role in host defense and also a regulative part in homeostasis maintenance (40, 45, 53, 54). In addition, B-1 cells produce IgM that stimulate B-2 cells to elicit IgG (45, 55, 56), but they can also lead to induce the IgA production in response to antigen stimulation especially in the serum or in the intestinal lamina propria (40, 57).

Since the Eighties, when the AIDS was first described, several signals of autoimmune dysfunction were reported in subjects infected with HIV, such as B cell altered pathway, with production of high quantity of Abs and also of anti-cell Abs (58–60). These abnormalities, at the beginning, were related to HIV-vs-host activity but other pieces of evidence suggested that some anti-cell Abs may be considered like a host-vs-HIV reactions. Actually, it was shown that some broadly neutralizing human Abs produced during the HIV infection were autoreactive (61).

The finding led to suppose that immunotolerance mechanisms represent a disadvantage for these types of Abs (62, 63). Notably, the studies regarding the follow-up of HIV patients treated with three broadly neutralizing Abs, established that only one of them exhibited a low level of *in vivo* autoreactivity, while autoimmune-related adverse events were not detected in the study (64).

Many healthy donors displayed the presence of natural reactive Abs specific for CCR5 in several pools of immunoglobulins (41). Interestingly, different types of HIV-blocking Abs have been isolated from several cohorts of either ESN or HIV-infected individuals (40). The reason of development of anti-CCR5 Abs in the absence of autoimmune disease is still unknown; however, the presence of these Abs specific for CCR5 or for other immune receptors and mediators probably is related to homeostasis maintenance (40). Virus-induced alterations of self antigens can provide an increase of either auto-immunogenic proteins and the corresponding auto-Abs. Host factors itself, or other concomitant or latent viral infections, could activate these perturbations in the host cells, leading to conformational changes in host receptors and to remodeling from a self protein to a non-self antigenic epitope, as reviewed by Lopalco (40).

CCR5 AND ITS RELATED Abs

CCR5 shows a classic structure composed of seven transmembrane domains with N-terminus and three extracellular loops (ECL1, 2, and 3), which have immunogenic properties. The two longer domains (N-terminus and ECL2) are recruited for HIV binding (65–67). Its preferential ligands are MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , and RANTES and the binding of these molecules could interfere sterically with the viral envelope protein (Env) gp120 of HIV binding resulting in an inhibition of viral infection (15). An alternative model of protection is that ligand-induced chemokine receptor internalization eliminates the co-receptor from the cell surface (68); obviously, these two mechanisms are not mutually exclusive.

Anti-CCR5 natural Abs were found also in individuals with Δ 32 mutation, sexual partners of subjects who were wild type for CCR5 gene, thus suggesting that CCR5 can be considered as an alloantigen (40, 42, 69, 70). Moreover, hemophilic patients subjected to continuous blood transfusions, ESN and LTNP show Abs to CCR5 directed specifically to the first external loop (ECL1) (21, 29, 41–43, 69, 71–75); these natural Abs have been identified in serum and also in other biological fluids, such as semen, cervicovaginal secretion and saliva in subject with different genetic background (75).

The majority of anti-CCR5 Abs is directed to HIV binding site (N-terminus and ECL2) of the receptor. Conversely, Abs to ECL1–CCR5, which induce a long-lasting internalization of the receptor (29), are capable to block HIV infection in either CD4+ T lymphocytes or epithelial cells, this latter one through transcytosis, which mimics mucosal transmission (76) and this mechanism differs from that induced by all the other ligands directed to CCR5 (40). First of all, the natural Abs recognize ECL1 whereas CCR5 agonists specifically bind to the ECL2 of CCR5. Second and more important, the long-lasting internalization of CCR5 with natural anti-CCR5 Abs seems to be a unique mechanism not demonstrated for other CCR5 modulating molecules so far. Indeed, by using monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) that recognize the N-terminus and the second loop of CCR5, it has been shown a differentially modulation of receptor activity; thus suggesting that each CCR5 extramembrane region can display different properties (65, 77, 78).

A clinical study, related to the presence and the activity of Abs to ECL1 in the sera of some LTNP, clearly demonstrated that the loss of these Abs observed during the follow-up of these subjects was significantly associated with the clinical progression of the disease (29). Moreover, in another studies, a total of 206 Asian and Caucasian ESN subjects have been tested for the presence of anti-CCR5 Abs directed to ECL1 and 9% resulted positive (43, 75, 79), similar percentage (9.8%) have been found in different cohorts of HIV seropositive subjects (total subjects 336) (29, 80), although only in LTNP anti-CCR5 Abs have been associated with resistance and showed anti HIV property in vitro (29, 81). Strikingly, anti-CCR5-ECL1 Abs resulted HIV protective only when they were directed to a conformational epitope within ECL1 loop (43, 75). A total of 325 healthy controls have even analyzed as well but none resulted positive for anti-CCR5 Abs, thus suggesting that these Abs could be elicited by low levels of viral antigenic stimulation; that could explain why these Abs have been found in ESN and LTNP people but not in subjects who were not exposed to HIV or progressed and developed AIDS. Another hypothesis could be that anti-CCR5 Abs are elicited during other antigenic stimulations (different from HIV), which induce alterations of self-repertoire, thus eliciting anti-self responses. Finally, the priming due to endogenous retroviral proteins, which share homology with HIV env protein, could elicit in some HIV-exposed subjects a specific immune response.

Of note, these ECL1 specific Abs do not induce alteration in immune functions, as demonstrated by healthy subjects with anti-CCR5 Abs (45) or by elicited anti-CCR5 Abs in animal models such as mice and macaques (82–84) as further specified in the section of CCR5 immunization as vaccination strategy.

The ECL2 domain represents the binding site for both HIV and chemokines, so the Abs that recognize this site can prevent chemokine binding and/or signaling (66), although N-terminus is specific for viral binding only. For example, 2D7 is one of the most potent mAb directed to ECL2 that blocks HIV-1 entry into CD4 T cells, but not the transcytosis carried out with epithelial cells (66, 76, 85). An anti-CCR5 mAb named PRO140 is a humanized mAb that targets a conformational epitope between N-terminus and ECL2 and it deeply blocks viral entry (86). Another fully human IgG4 mAb with a strong activity against various HIV-1 isolates is CCR5mAb004 (87).

A recent study has demonstrated for the first time that the region designated as the membrane-proximal region (MPR), between the N-terminus and the ECL1, is important for HIV-1 infections (16). In fact, the Abs directed to this epitope block the infection of R5-tropic HIV-1 without affecting X4-tropic strain; furthermore, the substitution of MPR with the equivalent region of CCR2b, CXCR4, or CCR3 significantly abrogates viral infection (16). Both these findings provide an argument against the possible use of a target therapy with CCR5-specific Abs.

ENDOCYTOSIS AND *DE NOVO* SYNTHESIS OF CCR5 WITH NATURAL ANTI-CCR5 Abs

Ligands binding to CCR5 leads to conformational changes, which include desensitization and internalization (88). Two major mechanisms of rapid receptor regulation have been distinguished, specifically homologous (agonist-specific) and heterologous (agonist-nonspecific) desensitization, and both mechanisms are really important in fine tuning leukocyte responses (89, 90). Homologous desensitization requires phosphorylation of the receptor binding mediated by members of the GPCR kinases (GRK) family (91). This in turn leads to the association of β -arrestin1/2 with the receptor and to desensitization via uncoupling of the receptor and G protein (77, 92); in particular, β -arrestins bound physically with the receptors and initiate endocytosis through clathrin-coated vescicles and also act as scaffold proteins in crosstalk with other signaling pathways (93). Conversely, heterologous desensitization is traditionally defined as a state of cellular refractoriness to different agonists after receptor phosphorylation sites different from GRK mediated by second messenger-activated protein kinases, such as PKC (90).

CCR5 internalization can also induce a different second pathway, which recruits caveolae and it is independent of clathrincoated pits. Caveolae are microdomains able to be internalized under precise conditions or in a controlled manner (13, 94).

It is well known that, after endocytosis, the GPCR proteins are also classified in receptors that are recycled, slowly or rapidly, to the cell membrane after their resensitization and those that should be degraded (77, 95–97). CCR5 is usually recycled after desensitization (4): after stimulation with natural ligands, CCR5 is internalized into the trans-Golgi network (TGN) *via* the endosome recycling compartment (ERC) (98) and, when the resensitization process is complete, it can return to the cell surface (4, 98). However, rare examples of post-endocytic sorting for GPCRs mediated by ligands have been reported (77, 99–101).

Bönsch and colleagues have recently shown that different ligands of the same GPGR are able to induce different phosphorylation pathways, which may be a relevant factor for the interaction with β -arrestins (77, 102). In addition, ligands trigger a characteristic short-term kinetics of CCR5 internalization, which transiently involves β -arrestins with consequent rapid recycling or degradation on the cell membrane; conversely, natural anti ECL1-CCR5 Abs induce a specific long-lasting kinetics of CCR5 internalization (29) with the recruitment of an ERK1-mediated pathway (70, 77). Of note, a hitherto unrecognized mechanism of CCR5 modulation mediated by G-protein-dependent ERK1 was comprehensively reported; in particular, natural anti-CCR5 Abs led to activation of ERK1 which is localized predominantly in the cytosol and it interacts directly with the CCR5 protein, thus inducing the degradation of CCR5 with a consequent de novo synthesis (70); the re-expression of CCR5 on the cell surface needs several days (70). This finding is actually important for the design of suitable microbicide or therapeutic tool that could inhibit HIV infection for several days after application by using a specific molecule able to induce long-lasting internalization and degradation of CCR5.

Furthermore, it is largely reported that GPCRs, considering the stability of interaction with β -arrestins after agonist stimulation, can be functionally divided into two general classes: (i) "Class A" receptors, such as $\beta 2$ adrenergic receptor ($\beta 2AR$), develop transient complexes with β -arrestins transiently ubiquinated and with weak activation of ERK1/2; by contrast, (ii) "Class B" receptors, such as vasopressin V2 receptor (V_2R), develop tight receptor- β arrestins complexes, regulated by its constant ubiquitination and a durable activation of ERK1/2 which is located mainly into the endosomes. Endosomes complexes containing activated GPCRs, activated and ubiquitinated β-arrestins and phosphorylated ERK are called "signalosome" (77, 102, 103). In fact, it is well understood that the ubiquitination status of β -arrestin has a relevant role for its interaction with proteins responsible for endocytosis (e.g., clathrin) and for signaling (e.g., ERK1/2), and influences temporal and spatial dissociation of the complex (104-108). Overall, CCR5 is classified as a "Class A" receptor, but stimulation with anti-CCR5 Abs lead to the translation into a very long-lasting Class B type (77, 102, 106).

Very recently, it has been published the different ability of two RANTES analogous (5P14 and PSC) to induce the development of stable complexes between CCR5 and β -Arrestin1. Briefly, PSC-RANTES is able to induce a long-duration of recruitment of β -Arrestin1 to CCR5 compared to 5P14-RANTES, which elicits a temporary recruitment. Notably, the experiments have been carried out and the results assessed at short time only (50 min) (1). Therefore, it is possible to determine the fate of the internalized receptor by the aid of specific CCR5-ligands, suggesting that the stability of ligand-induced receptor–arrestin complexes has a crucial role in the sorting mechanism (1, 77).

In a very relevant way, these published data underline that the binding of natural Abs induces modifications in CCR5 signaling, which leads ligand-induced post-endocytic sorting in a very long-lasting Class B trafficking (77). Furthermore, in T cell, anti-CCR5 Abs that recognize ECL1 are able to induce a CCR5-negative phenotype, ERK1-mediated, by the strong support of β -arrestin2 (as shown in **Figure 1**); otherwise, it is possible that this mechanism could be specific for T cells only (77, 109).

INDUCTION OF ANTI-CCR5 Abs AS VACCINATION STRATEGY

Published data, obtained in mice and macaques, demonstrate the capability of either anti-CCR5 Abs to display HIV-blocking properties or vaccines against CCR5 to prevent the problem of virus variability and viral escape (82, 110–113). Accordingly, the development of Abs as functional inhibitors of CCR5 is the big goal that could be reached, since Abs can provide protection by causing very low toxicity (113). Several groups have investigated the possibility to use *in vivo* Abs specific to CCR5 (82, 83, 111, 112, 114–116). Interestingly, when a long-term intranasal immunization was performed, it has elicited specific IgA and IgG in both mucosal secretions and sera of the immunized mice. Such systemic and mucosal Abs induce a CCR5-negative



phenotype on both peripheral and mucosal cells, thus blocking HIV replication in vitro (111). In accordance with this result, the use of ECL1-CCR5 peptide, chimeric-generated in the context of the capsid protein of Flock House Virus, elicits Abs able to induce CCR5 internalization and re-expression with a very slow kinetics which needs 4 weeks after immunization to be recovered (82). Furthermore, in a subsequent study, it has been published that the substitution of amino acids within ECL1 in position 95 and 96 elicited Abs, which induced stronger long-lasting internalization of CCR5, whereas amino acid substitutions in position 92, 98 and 99 abrogated biological activity of such Abs (112), thus highlighting the importance of the epitope in driving different trafficking pathway. Moreover, in a recent study performed in mice, several aspects of anti-CCR5 immunization, including the use of all the extramembrane domains of CCR5 have been tested, to better understand the ideal schedule to reach long-lasting and strong immune responses. Interestingly, ECL1 and ECL2 showed stronger responses compared to the N-terminus; they achieved nearly complete CCR5 downregulation, and they blocked HIV infection (82). In addition, in this study was not observed any immune dysfunction in T cell responses or histopathological alterations in organs and tissues in relation to the presence or

the induction of Abs specific for CCR5. The possibility of longterm toxicity and any functional impact of anti-CCR5 Abs needs additional studies; however, the findings showed in this latter study are supported by other published studies, where no adverse events were reported in CCR5-immunized macaques after 3 years of follow-up (84). In addition, it has recently published that the prophylactic immunization of macaques with virus-like particle specific for two CCR5 regions is safe and immunogenic and is capable to reduce highly virus replication in a subset of the animals (83). On the other hand, Bogers and colleagues used an immunization approach to target both virus and CCR5 (three extracellular peptides of CCR5, an N-terminal HIV gp120 fragment generated in transgenic plants and recombinant SIV p27) (117); this strategy of vaccination showed a significant block of the virus infection by eliciting good serum and vaginal quantity of Abs (117). More recently, Peabody et al. demonstrated that the immunization with recombinant vectors, which enable the CCR5-ECL2 region to recreate its native conformation, overcomes the issue of tolerance and induces the appropriate immune response (118).

Although several strategies aimed at inducing a CCR5-negative phenotype to prevent HIV-1 entry, the earlier immunization

studies in macaques observed little or no protection against SIV challenge (116, 118), probably due to poor selection of CCR5 antigen or to the correct peptide sequence in the wrong conformation. Indeed, it has previously demonstrated that immunization with ECL1 domain, in a linear conformation, does not elicit serological Abs responses that bind to the native molecule (111) and, moreover, in macaques, the immunization with ECL2 in its native conformation induces immune responses with expected properties (84). Nevertheless, Chain and colleagues have recently defined a new linear epitope of CCR5 within the N-terminus domain recognized by two independently produced mAbs; in particular, they found that RoAb13 Ab is capable to bind to both linear peptide and native form of the epitope and the sulfation of tyrosines at CCR5 N-terminus enhanced its binding to the peptide (119). RoAb13 has been previously reported to block HIV infection (120) but also blocks migration of monocytes after the chemokine binding to CCR5 or in the presence of inflammatory macrophage conditioned medium (119).

A significant challenge in the design of anti-CCR5 Abs is that they must be purely "blocking Abs" that either bind to the epitope in such a way to occlude the viral receptor or Abs binding results in receptor internalization. The most effective anti-pathogen Abs are able to engage host defense mechanisms, such as Complement or ADCC (Antibody-Dependent Cell-mediated Cytotoxicity), thus resulting protective against HIV infection (121) although these functions could result in inhibition of the effectiveness of immune responses. Moreover, as reported by Pastori et al., it is possible to elicit the production of murine serum anti-ECL1-CCR5 Abs at levels 300-fold greater than those found in humans and that the quantity of murine CCR5-specific immunoglobulins reached 50% of total Igs (82). It is noteworthy that such HIV-1 blocking Abs are present in serum and mucosal fluids from subjects with different genetic backgrounds (75), thus suggesting that it is possible to elicit these Abs in subjects coming from both developing as well as developed countries. In addition, an individual who received a stem cell transplant from a CCR5-negative donor, for acute myeloid leukemia treatment, is believed to be the only patient to have been cured of HIV (119, 122).

ANTI-CCR5 Abs IN THE IMMUNE-PROPHYLAXIS AGAINST HIV INFECTION

The Abs can prevent viral infection by several mechanisms of action: (1) can directly block virus attachment to the cell by leading the Abs to bind either virus or receptor and/or co-receptor on host cells; (2) can block fusion at cell surface at the post-binding/ pre-fusion state as well (87). For reducing the development of viral escape variant, it has been highly considered to target the conserved cellular receptors, such as CCR5, for treatment of HIV infection. In particular, as HIV needs the presence of one co-receptor in dependence of the strain (CCR5 and/or CXCR4) in association with the receptor CD4, mAbs against cellular proteins have been developed and are being tested in clinical trials. A humanized mAb directed to CD4, named ibalizumab, exert an antiviral property not inhibiting the binding of gp120 but by a post-binding conformational effects, which prevents the interaction between CD4-gp120 and CXCR4 or CCR5 (123,

124). Three clinical trials have been reported, which underlined its efficacy (87). For sure, one emerging therapy is based on the use of CCR5-specific Abs; in particular, CCR5mAb004 appears safe and effective in the reduction of viral load when tested in clinical trials (87). Interestingly, another study involving the mAb PRO140 showed virologic suppression without blocking the response of the receptor to chemokines; however, the highest tolerated dose of this mAb has not been determined, proposing a substantial margin of safety for PRO140 in dependence of the site of administration (87, 125). In all these clinical trials, the use of anti-CCR5 Abs did not induce any alterations in other lymphocyte functions, thus confirming their safety.

Of note, the use of Abs instead of chemokines or classical antiretroviral therapy could reduce the complication related to drugs resistance and also the unwanted interactions with redundant CCR receptors. For example, ST6 is a Fab fragment obtained from a mAb specific for a unique sequence of N-terminus CCR5 and it was engineered in a single-chain antibody (scFv) fused with an ER retention peptide; the usage of such scFv by intracellular immunization was able to downregulate the receptor from cell membrane both in macaques and in human cells, whereas the expression of CXCR4 was not affected. Moreover, the modified cells were not infected with R5-HIV (126). In a subsequent study, it has been demonstrated that transformed primary T cells, with a CCR5 intrabody (an Ab that binds its receptor at intracellular level), were resistant to HIV infection (21). Finally, scFvs directed to CCR5 were utilized, as well, to lead viral pseudotyped lentiviral vectors to cells that express CCR5 (127).

Very recently emerged the evidence that combinations of HIV-blocking Abs will likely be more effective that single one as reviewed by Margolis (128). Alternatively, the bio-engineering, which generates Abs either with different specificities (129) or anchored to target cells (130), has given a proof of concept to generate more potent HIV-blocking Abs.

OTHER STRATEGIES AIMED AT BLOCKING HIV INFECTION THROUGH CCR5

Anti-CCR5 strategies include also the utilization of small molecule drugs, such as Maraviroc, which binds in the transmembrane regions of CCR5 and it is a functional antagonist that prevents CCR5 signaling from cell surface and even if it is currently in clinical trials (131), it has been approved for use in many jurisdictions.¹ Nevertheless, there is low enthusiasm to utilize it as front-line therapy in HIV-infected patients (23), thus it is currently in use in HIV treatment-multiexperienced patients only (132). Moreover, HIV-1 escape mutants to Maraviroc have been described and reviewed by Harada and Yoshimura (133).

Since the discovery that natural ligands of CCR5 (RANTES, MIP-1 α , and MIP-1 β) show anti-HIV activity (1, 19, 86, 134, 135), a large numbers of modified analogs have been tested due to their short half-lives (<10 min) (134, 136) but no one has been tested in human clinical trial due to low antiviral activity *in vivo*. The most

¹https://aidsinfo.nih.gov/guidelines/search/1/CELSENTRI/0.



promising described so far was PSC-RANTES that shows several non-natural, non-coded structures in the N-terminal region (137, 138). It displays an important inhibition of HIV entry, CCR5 dependent, *in vitro* (137) and also a full protection against R5-tropic SHIV infection in a macaque vaginal challenge model (139); although this high potency *in vitro*, it requires high concentration to give protection in macaques (138, 139). Considering that it is capable to induce an intracellular sequestration of CCR5 longer than RANTES, it could be helpful for topical HIV prevention (140). Using a strategy based on phage display, Gaertner and collaborators obtained three different modified PSC-RANTES, which exhibit only natural amino acids: 6P4-RANTES, which prolongs the intracellular sequestration of CCR5; 5P12-RANTES has no detectable G protein signaling and does not bring about receptor sequestration; and 5P14-RANTES, which induces the internalization of CCR5 with no detectable G protein-linked signaling activity (138). Another relevant RANTES derivative is named AOP-RANTES and it was obtained by first generating an aldehyde-like group at the NH2-terminus of RANTES and then reacting with aminooxypentane; it is able to block R5-tropic strain infection on macrophages *in vitro* (141). AOP-RANTES induces >90% downregulation of cell membrane expression of CCR5 on monocytes/macrophages, lymphocytes and inhibits CCR5 recycling on cell surface whereas RANTES does not (142).

As HIV entry process requires expression of both CCR5 and CD4 on cell membrane, receptor- and co-receptor-mimetic peptides (143, 144) have been proposed as an alternative strategy to block HIV entry but, as for chemokines, no one has been already tested in human clinical trial.

A summary of the immunologic approaches that use CCR5 as target to block HIV transmission/infection is showed in **Figure 2**.

Hematopoietic stem cell transplant using a CCR5 Δ 32 donor led to the only known cure of HIV-1 infection (122, 145) and T cells treated with engineered nucleases that introduce mutations at the CCR5 locus are resistant to HIV (146–150), accelerating ongoing efforts to develop gene editing- and cell-based therapeutic agents for HIV (15, 151, 152).

Another promising method of gene editing is the use of CRISPR/Cas9 system (Clustered Regularly interspaced palindromic repeats sequences) to target human cells for the disruption of CCR5 gene, otherwise the off-targeting is still a major limit to be overcome (153–155). Furthermore, DNA binding proteins, for example, the transcription activator-like effectors (TALEs), which are vegetal proteins, have been used *in vitro* and showed effects similar to those obtained with engineered nuclease (156).

Zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs) are other common and versatile DNA binding proteins utilized in several cell types. In addition, CCR5–ZFN-modified autologous CD4+ T lymphocytes have been used in a phase I clinical trial and this approach resulted safe (149).

To shutdown CCR5 expression, several RNA-based technologies have been used also with good results, such as RNA silencing (siRNA), antisense RNAs targeting different cellular and viral genes or ribozymes with catalytic activity (157–159); in particular, pseudotyped lentivirus and adenoviruses vectors have been used with good results for transducing siRNA-coding sequence into the cells. In the same way to that described for gene editing, off-targeting activity and over-expression of antisense RNA could cause a toxic effect (160) and could activate innate immune response as well (161).

CONCLUSION

The incidence of natural allo- or auto-responses in healthy people, without symptoms or signals of autoimmune disease, and also the capability of eliciting and maintaining strong and longlasting HIV-blocking Abs in animal models, suggests that some autoimmune mechanisms could be positively utilized to give a better protection or a higher response to HIV in HIV-exposed individuals and in HIV-positive subjects. Allo- and auto-immune responses could allow a new key to analyze HIV tricks in immune escape and offer unexploited strategies to fight HIV with its own arms. CCR5 is the most important co-receptor in the early stages of infection, and half or more of all infected individuals move to AIDS harboring only CCR5 (R5)-tropic viruses. Epidemiology studies clearly established that CCR5 plays a crucial role in the transmission and pathogenesis of HIV *in vivo*.

As in CCR5-defective individuals were not found inflammatory and immune alterations or disfunctions, CCR5 has been defined as a redundant molecule in humans (12, 141, 162, 163), and as the variability of HIV *env*, CCR5 has become a relevant target to generate drugs and immune modulatory molecules to block HIV transmission and subsequent infection.

Overall, these findings together with the data reported for *in vivo* (clinical trials) and *in vitro* (laboratory findings) studies support the view that CCR5 could represent an excellent target to fight HIV and a good alternative to classical antiviral approaches, although it should be taken into account the concomitant geographical location of $CCR5\Delta32$ and other pathologies, such as West Nile infection or tick-borne encephalitis.

The development of a sterilizing vaccine capable to prevent HIV infection totally is the highest and the most expected effort, still far from being reached. Over the past 30 years, there has been a huge global effort to develop an effective prophylactic vaccine against HIV/AIDS. This is a significant challenge since no previously licensed vaccine in current use has been designed without the presence of a significant "convalescent population," i.e., patients who have been patently infected and demonstrated subsequent clearance of the pathogen. Such a patient population usually supplies critical information for characterizing adaptive immunological responses associated with "protection." One of the main reasons of failure in developing an effective AIDS vaccine could be the mainstream concept that the most relevant information derive from studying the immune responses in patients who have not cleared the virus. Thus, the design of a CCR5-based vaccine, which takes advantage of data generated in a small but significant clinical cohorts of individuals such as ESN or LTNP could represent an excellent target to generate new vaccination strategy, as these subjects represent a sort of vaccinated/cured subjects and this protective status can be induced and reproduced in all subject. It is relevant underline that natural anti-CCR5 Abs reproduce a protective status similar to that one observed for $\Delta 32$ mutation, although an approach based on CCR5 vaccine in individuals who can contract HIV infection may be a more possible and safe goal compared to gene therapy, taking into account the HIV epidemiology and the trouble of implementing CCR5 gene therapy in people living in developing countries.

Nowadays, there are many antiviral drugs used in therapy but the most related problem is the development of drug-resistant strain of virus that invalidates the positive effects obtained with the therapy utilized. Conversely, the possibility of using monoclonal Abs as therapy, with particular characteristics and mode of action, may represent a novel mode to fight viral infection disease. Overall, Abs show low toxicity together with high specificity and versatility.

It is well known that the first effective treatment of infectious disease was the "serum therapy" (administration of hyperimmune sera from immunized animals or human donors) and only after the discovery of antibiotic therapy in association with the development in vaccine design, this treatment was abandoned for mostly of infections (87, 164, 165).

The possibility of usage of Abs in clinical practice was opened from the opportunity of generate and manipulate Abs with different specific epitope recognition, such as the mAbs (87). In fact, in the last years, mAbs have begun a new class of clinical drug utilized in inflammatory diseases, immunology, and oncology; only their development for infection treatment is going slowly.

Strategies aimed to prevent infection, such as usage of condoms, represent another effective line of defense to fight the HIV epidemic. However, social and ethnic "barriers" impede effective protection of many people. Therapeutic Abs to CCR5 could offer an alternative for primary prevention of HIV and their availability would greatly empower women/men to protect themselves and their partners. Indeed, Abs formulated as a topical product could control the disease without affecting social and procreation aspects. In addition, proceeding directly at the HIV transmission level, the passive immunotherapy approach will help to prevent and reduce both further infection and disease incidence, respectively.

Other strategies involve ART (Anti Retroviral Therapy), which is a strong treatment program utilized to suppress HIV viral replication and the progression of HIV disease. The typical regimen combines three or more different drugs, such as nucleosidic or non-nucleosidic inhibitors of reverse transcriptase, protease, and integrase inhibitors. ART is the only current available treatment for HIV patients and it is being used in many developing countries with the help of WHO.² Nevertheless, it has limitations in terms of high cost, intolerance, bad compliance, and insurgence of resistance (166, 167).

For this reason, a new strategy has emerged to identify blocking Abs against the HIV receptors or co-receptors, either as active-immunizations such as a vaccine or passive-immunizations such as the use of CCR5-based immuno-prophylaxis.

²WHO | Ten years in public health 2007-2017. WHO Available at: http://www.who. int/publications/10-year-review/dg-letter/en/.

REFERENCES

- Bönsch C, Munteanu M, Rossitto-Borlat I, Fürstenberg A, Hartley O. Potent anti-HIV chemokine analogs direct post-endocytic sorting of CCR5. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0125396. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125396
- Fredriksson R, Lagerström MC, Lundin L-G, Schiöth HB. The G-proteincoupled receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. *Mol Pharmacol* (2003) 63:1256–72. doi:10.1124/mol.63.6.1256
- Jacoby E, Bouhelal R, Gerspacher M, Seuwen K. The 7 TM G-protein-coupled receptor target family. *ChemMedChem* (2006) 1:761–82. doi:10.1002/ cmdc.200600134
- Signoret N, Pelchen-Matthews A, Mack M, Proudfoot AE, Marsh M. Endocytosis and recycling of the HIV coreceptor CCR5. *J Cell Biol* (2000) 151:1281–94. doi:10.1083/jcb.151.6.1281
- Pelchen-Matthews A, Signoret N, Klasse PJ, Fraile-Ramos A, Marsh M. Chemokine receptor trafficking and viral replication. *Immunol Rev* (1999) 168:33–49. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1999.tb01281.x
- Murphy PM, Baggiolini M, Charo IF, Hébert CA, Horuk R, Matsushima K, et al. International union of pharmacology. XXII. Nomenclature for chemokine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* (2000) 52:145–76.
- Rottman JB, Ganley KP, Williams K, Wu L, Mackay CR, Ringler DJ. Cellular localization of the chemokine receptor CCR5. Correlation to cellular targets of HIV-1 infection. *Am J Pathol* (1997) 151:1341–51.
- Barmania F, Pepper MS. C-C chemokine receptor type five (CCR5): an emerging target for the control of HIV infection. *Appl Transl Genom* (2013) 2:3–16. doi:10.1016/j.atg.2013.05.004

Interestingly, natural human Abs that recognize the ECL1 of the receptor induce a long-lasting internalization of CCR5 by triggering the recruitment of β -arrestin2; this event induces the accumulation of the two proteins (CCR5 and β -arrestin2) into the cytoplasm and leads to the activation of ERK1, which is retained into the cytosol as well. This stable CCR5 signalosome persists into the cells at least 48 h; after that, it may be targeted for degradation with consequent *de novo* synthesis of the proteins complex and, consequently, CCR5 reappears on the cell membrane with long-lasting kinetics (8 days) (70, 77). This particular mechanism could be used for designing molecules that work synergistically for stable maintenance of the signalosome into the cells and for driving the complex to degradation; thus permits to reach a longlasting CCR5 disappearance from cell membrane which could inhibit HIV infection for a long time.

These findings may support the discovery of innovative therapeutic tools where CCR5 is an important player for microbial control and/or elimination (168) and as well as for the regulation T cell function in autoimmune diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis, type 1 diabetes, multiple sclerosis (169), and in tumorigenesis (170, 171).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AV wrote the review, CP performed the figures and revised the whole manuscript. LL wrote the review and supervised the figures and the whole text.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Italian Ministry of Health, grant #GR-2011-02349775 to AV.

- Signoret N, Rosenkilde MM, Klasse PJ, Schwartz TW, Malim MH, Hoxie JA, et al. Differential regulation of CXCR4 and CCR5 endocytosis. *J Cell Sci* (1998) 111(Pt 18):2819–30.
- Endres MJ, Clapham PR, Marsh M, Ahuja M, Turner JD, McKnight A, et al. CD4-independent infection by HIV-2 is mediated by fusin/CXCR4. *Cell* (1996) 87:745–56. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81393-8
- 11. Berger EA. HIV entry and tropism: the chemokine receptor connection. *AIDS* (1997) 11 Suppl A:S3–16.
- Moore JP, Trkola A, Dragic T. Co-receptors for HIV-1 entry. Curr Opin Immunol (1997) 9:551–62. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(97)80110-0
- Mueller A, Kelly E, Strange PG. Pathways for internalization and recycling of the chemokine receptor CCR5. *Blood* (2002) 99:785–91. doi:10.1182/blood.V99. 3.785
- Littman DR. Chemokine receptors: keys to AIDS pathogenesis? Cell (1998) 93:677–80. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81429-4
- Lopalco L. CCR5: from natural resistance to a new anti-HIV strategy. Viruses (2010) 2:574–600. doi:10.3390/v2020574
- Tan Y, Tong P, Wang J, Zhao L, Li J, Yu Y, et al. The membrane-proximal region of C–C chemokine receptor type 5 participates in the infection of HIV-1. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:478. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00478
- Connor RI, Sheridan KE, Ceradini D, Choe S, Landau NR. Change in coreceptor use correlates with disease progression in HIV-1-infected individuals. *J Exp Med* (1997) 185:621–8. doi:10.1084/jem.185.4.621
- Signoret N, Hewlett L, Wavre S, Pelchen-Matthews A, Oppermann M, Marsh M. Agonist-induced endocytosis of CC chemokine receptor 5 is clathrin dependent. *Mol Biol Cell* (2005) 16:902–17. doi:10.1091/mbc. E04-08-0687

- Cocchi F, DeVico AL, Garzino-Demo A, Arya SK, Gallo RC, Lusso P. Identification of RANTES, MIP-1 alpha, and MIP-1 beta as the major HIVsuppressive factors produced by CD8+ T cells. *Science* (1995) 270:1811–5. doi:10.1126/science.270.5243.1811
- Bleul CC, Farzan M, Choe H, Parolin C, Clark-Lewis I, Sodroski J, et al. The lymphocyte chemoattractant SDF-1 is a ligand for LESTR/fusin and blocks HIV-1 entry. *Nature* (1996) 382:829–33. doi:10.1038/382829a0
- 21. Venuti A, Lopalco L. Tackling HIV: genetic vs. immune CCR5 targeting. *J AIDS Clin Res* (2014) 5:344–52. doi:10.4172/2155-6113.1000344
- Clerici M, Butto S, Lukwiya M, Saresella M, Declich S, Trabattoni D, et al. Immune activation in Africa is environmentally-driven and is associated with upregulation of CCR5. Italian-Ugandan AIDS Project. *AIDS* (2000) 14:2083–92. doi:10.1097/00002030-200009290-00003
- Kim MB, Giesler KE, Tahirovic YA, Truax VM, Liotta DC, Wilson LJ. CCR5 receptor antagonists in preclinical to phase II clinical development for treatment of HIV. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* (2016) 25:1377–92. doi:10.108 0/13543784.2016.1254615
- Huang Y, Paxton WA, Wolinsky SM, Neumann AU, Zhang L, He T, et al. The role of a mutant CCR5 allele in HIV-1 transmission and disease progression. *Nat Med* (1996) 2:1240–3. doi:10.1038/nm1196-1240
- Liu R, Paxton WA, Choe S, Ceradini D, Martin SR, Horuk R, et al. Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. *Cell* (1996) 86:367–77. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80110-5
- Paxton WA, Liu R, Kang S, Wu L, Gingeras TR, Landau NR, et al. Reduced HIV-1 infectability of CD4+ lymphocytes from exposed-uninfected individuals: association with low expression of CCR5 and high production of beta-chemokines. *Virology* (1998) 244:66–73. doi:10.1006/viro.1998.9082
- Paxton WA, Martin SR, Tse D, O'Brien TR, Skurnick J, VanDevanter NL, et al. Relative resistance to HIV-1 infection of CD4 lymphocytes from persons who remain uninfected despite multiple high-risk sexual exposure. *Nat Med* (1996) 2:412–7. doi:10.1038/nm0496-412
- Samson M, Libert F, Doranz BJ, Rucker J, Liesnard C, Farber C-M, et al. Resistance to HIV-1 infection in Caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. *Nature* (1996) 382:722–5. doi:10.1038/382722a0
- Pastori C, Weiser B, Barassi C, Uberti-Foppa C, Ghezzi S, Longhi R, et al. Long-lasting CCR5 internalization by antibodies in a subset of long-term nonprogressors: a possible protective effect against disease progression. *Blood* (2006) 107:4825–33. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-06-2463
- Rahimi H, Farajollahi MM, Hosseini A. Distribution of the mutated delta 32 allele of CCR5 co-receptor gene in Iranian population. *Med J Islam Repub Iran* (2014) 28:140–5.
- Karam W, Jurjus R, Khoury N, Khansa H, Assad C, Zalloua P, et al. Frequency of the CCR5-delta 32 chemokine receptor gene mutation in the Lebanese population. *East Mediterr Health J* (2004) 10:671–5.
- 32. Dean M, Carrington M, Winkler C, Huttley GA, Smith MW, Allikmets R, et al. Genetic restriction of HIV-1 infection and progression to AIDS by a deletion allele of the CKR5 structural gene. Hemophilia Growth and Development Study, Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study, Multicenter Hemophilia Cohort Study, San Francisco City Cohort, ALIVE Study. Science (1996) 273:1856–62.
- 33. Adojaan M, Mölder T, Männik A, Kivisild T, Villems R, Krispin T, et al. High prevalence of the CCR5Delta32 HIV-resistance mutation among Estonian HIV type 1-infected individuals. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2007) 23:193–7. doi:10.1089/aid.2006.0113
- 34. Trecarichi EM, Tumbarello M, de Gaetano Donati K, Tamburrini E, Cauda R, Brahe C, et al. Partial protective effect of CCR5-Delta 32 heterozygosity in a cohort of heterosexual Italian HIV-1 exposed uninfected individuals. *AIDS Res Ther* (2006) 3:22. doi:10.1186/1742-6405-3-22
- 35. Stewart GJ, Ashton LJ, Biti RA, Ffrench RA, Bennetts BH, Newcombe NR, et al. Increased frequency of CCR-5 delta 32 heterozygotes among long-term non-progressors with HIV-1 infection. The Australian Long-Term Non-Progressor Study Group. *AIDS* (1997) 11:1833–8. doi:10.1097/00002030-199715000-00007
- Hogan CM, Hammer SM. Host determinants in HIV infection and disease. Part 2: genetic factors and implications for antiretroviral therapeutics. *Ann Intern Med* (2001) 134:978–96. doi:10.7326/ 0003-4819-134-9_Part_1-200105010-00013
- 37. Ghorban K, Dadmanesh M, Hassanshahi G, Momeni M, Zare-Bidaki M, Arababadi MK, et al. Is the CCR5 Δ 32 mutation associated with immune

system-related diseases? Inflammation (2013) 36:633-42. doi:10.1007/s10753-012-9585-8

- Glass WG, McDermott DH, Lim JK, Lekhong S, Yu SF, Frank WA, et al. CCR5 deficiency increases risk of symptomatic West Nile virus infection. J Exp Med (2006) 203:35–40. doi:10.1084/jem.20051970
- Kindberg E, Mickiene A, Ax C, Akerlind B, Vene S, Lindquist L, et al. A deletion in the chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) gene is associated with tickborne encephalitis. J Infect Dis (2008) 197:266–9. doi:10.1086/524709
- 40. Lopalco L. Natural anti-CCR5 antibodies in HIV-infection and -exposure. *J Transl Med* (2011) 9(Suppl 1):S4. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-S1-S4
- Bouhlal H, Hocini H, Quillent-Grégoire C, Donkova V, Rose S, Amara A, et al. Antibodies to C-C chemokine receptor 5 in normal human IgG block infection of macrophages and lymphocytes with primary R5-tropic strains of HIV-1. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:7606–11.
- 42. Ditzel HJ, Rosenkilde MM, Garred P, Wang M, Koefoed K, Pedersen C, et al. The CCR5 receptor acts as an alloantigen in CCR5Delta32 homozygous individuals: identification of chemokineand HIV-1-blocking human antibodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95:5241–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.9.5241
- 43. Lopalco L, Barassi C, Pastori C, Longhi R, Burastero SE, Tambussi G, et al. CCR5-reactive antibodies in seronegative partners of HIV-seropositive individuals down-modulate surface CCR5 in vivo and neutralize the infectivity of R5 strains of HIV-1 In vitro. *J Immunol* (2000) 164:3426–33.
- Xu X, Ng SM, Hassouna E, Warrington A, Oh S-H, Rodriguez M. Humanderived natural antibodies: biomarkers and potential therapeutics. *Future Neurol* (2015) 10:25–39. doi:10.2217/fnl.14.62
- Panda S, Ding JL. Natural antibodies bridge innate and adaptive immunity. J Immunol (2015) 194:13–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400844
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature (1998) 392:245–52. doi:10.1038/32588
- Zitvogel L. Dendritic and natural killer cells cooperate in the control/switch of innate immunity. J Exp Med (2002) 195:F9–14. doi:10.1084/jem.20012040
- Muramatsu M, Kinoshita K, Fagarasan S, Yamada S, Shinkai Y, Honjo T. Class switch recombination and hypermutation require activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), a potential RNA editing enzyme. *Cell* (2000) 102:553–63. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00078-7
- Coutinho A, Kazatchkine MD, Avrameas S. Natural autoantibodies. Curr Opin Immunol (1995) 7:812–8. doi:10.1016/0952-7915(95)80053-0
- Conrad K, Bachmann MP, Matsuura E, Shoenfeld Y. From animal models to human genetics: research on the induction and pathogenicity of autoantibodies. *Autoimmun Rev* (2005) 4:178–87. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2004.10.001
- Harindranath N, Ikematsu H, Notkins AL, Casali P. Structure of the VH and VL segments of polyreactive and monoreactive human natural antibodies to HIV-1 and *Escherichia coli* beta-galactosidase. *Int Immunol* (1993) 5:1523–33. doi:10.1093/intimm/5.12.1523
- 52. Quan CP, Berneman A, Pires R, Avrameas S, Bouvet JP. Natural polyreactive secretory immunoglobulin A autoantibodies as a possible barrier to infection in humans. *Infect Immun* (1997) 65:3997–4004.
- Duan B, Morel L. Role of B-1a cells in autoimmunity. *Autoimmun Rev* (2006) 5:403–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2005.10.007
- Elkon K, Casali P. Nature and functions of autoantibodies. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol (2008) 4:491–8. doi:10.1038/ncprheum0895
- Sutterwala FS, Noel GJ, Salgame P, Mosser DM. Reversal of proinflammatory responses by ligating the macrophage Fcgamma receptor type I. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188:217–22. doi:10.1084/jem.188.1.217
- Berland R, Wortis HH. Origins and functions of B-1 cells with notes on the role of CD5. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2002) 20:253–300. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.20.100301.064833
- Kaminski DA, Stavnezer J. Enhanced IgA class switching in marginal zone and B1 B cells relative to follicular/B2 B cells. J Immunol (2006) 177:6025–9.
- De Milito A, Nilsson A, Titanji K, Thorstensson R, Reizenstein E, Narita M, et al. Mechanisms of hypergammaglobulinemia and impaired antigen-specific humoral immunity in HIV-1 infection. *Blood* (2004) 103:2180–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-07-2375
- Friedli F, Rieben R, Wegmüller E, Moerenhout M, Nydegger UE. Normal levels of allo- but increased levels of potentially autoreactive antibodies against ABO histo-blood group antigens in AIDS patients. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1996) 80:96–100. doi:10.1006/clin.1996.0099
- 60. Hunziker L, Recher M, Macpherson AJ, Ciurea A, Freigang S, Hengartner H, et al. Hypergammaglobulinemia and autoantibody induction

mechanisms in viral infections. Nat Immunol (2003) 4:343–9. doi:10.1038/ ni911

- Haynes BF, Fleming J, St Clair EW, Katinger H, Stiegler G, Kunert R, et al. Cardiolipin polyspecific autoreactivity in two broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies. *Science* (2005) 308:1906–8. doi:10.1126/science.1111781
- Haynes BF, Mascola JR. The quest for an antibody-based HIV vaccine. Immunol Rev (2017) 275:5–10. doi:10.1111/imr.12517
- Kelsoe G, Haynes BF. Host controls of HIV broadly neutralizing antibody development. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275:79–88. doi:10.1111/imr.12508
- 64. Vcelar B, Stiegler G, Wolf HM, Muntean W, Leschnik B, Mehandru S, et al. Reassessment of autoreactivity of the broadly neutralizing HIV antibodies 4E10 and 2F5 and retrospective analysis of clinical safety data. *AIDS* (2007) 21:2161–70. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e328285da15
- Blanpain C, Vanderwinden J-M, Cihak J, Wittamer V, Le Poul E, Issafras H, et al. Multiple active states and oligomerization of CCR5 revealed by functional properties of monoclonal antibodies. *Mol Biol Cell* (2002) 13:723–37. doi:10.1091/mbc.01-03-0129
- 66. Lee B, Sharron M, Blanpain C, Doranz BJ, Vakili J, Setoh P, et al. Epitope mapping of CCR5 reveals multiple conformational states and distinct but overlapping structures involved in chemokine and coreceptor function. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274:9617–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.14.9617
- Olson WC, Jacobson JM. CCR5 monoclonal antibodies for HIV-1 therapy. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2009) 4:104–11. doi:10.1097/COH.0b013e3283224015
- Wells TN, Proudfoot AE, Power CA, Marsh M. Chemokine receptors the new frontier for AIDS research. *Chem Biol* (1996) 3:603–9. doi:10.1016/ S1074-5521(96)90126-X
- Grene E, Pinto LA, Kwak-Kim JY, Giorgi JV, Landay AL, Kessler HA, et al. Increased levels of anti-CCR5 antibodies in sera from individuals immunized with allogeneic lymphocytes. *AIDS* (2000) 14:2627–8. doi:10.1097/00002030-200011100-00035
- Venuti A, Pastori C, Siracusano G, Riva A, Sciortino MT, Lopalco L. ERK1based pathway as a new selective mechanism to modulate CCR5 with natural antibodies. *J Immunol* (2015) 195:3045–57. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500708
- Eslahpazir J, Jenabian M-A, Bouhlal H, Hocini H, Carbonneil C, Grésenguet G, et al. Infection of macrophages and dendritic cells with primary R5-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 inhibited by natural polyreactive anti-CCR5 antibodies purified from cervicovaginal secretions. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* (2008) 15:872–84. doi:10.1128/CVI.00463-07
- Barassi C, Marenzi C, Pastori C, Longhi R, Lazzarin A, Lopalco L. A new prospective against HIV infection: induction of murin CCR5-downregulating antibodies. *New Microbiol* (2004) 27:85–94.
- Devito C, Broliden K, Kaul R, Svensson L, Johansen K, Kiama P, et al. Mucosal and plasma IgA from HIV-1-exposed uninfected individuals inhibit HIV-1 transcytosis across human epithelial cells. *J Immunol* (2000) 165:5170–6.
- Devito C, Hinkula J, Kaul R, Lopalco L, Bwayo JJ, Plummer F, et al. Mucosal and plasma IgA from HIV-exposed seronegative individuals neutralize a primary HIV-1 isolate. *AIDS* (2000) 14:1917–20. doi:10.1097/00002030-200009080-00006
- 75. Lopalco L, Barassi C, Paolucci C, Breda D, Brunelli D, Nguyen M, et al. Predictive value of anti-cell and anti-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) humoral responses in HIV-1-exposed seronegative cohorts of European and Asian origin. J Gen Virol (2005) 86:339–48. doi:10.1099/vir.0.80585-0
- 76. Bomsel M, Pastori C, Tudor D, Alberti C, Garcia S, Ferrari D, et al. Natural mucosal antibodies reactive with first extracellular loop of CCR5 inhibit HIV-1 transport across human epithelial cells. *AIDS* (2007) 21:13–22. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e328011049b
- 77. Venuti A, Pastori C, Pennisi R, Riva A, Sciortino MT, Lopalco L. Class B β -arrestin2-dependent CCR5 signalosome retention with natural antibodies to CCR5. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:39382. doi:10.1038/srep39382
- Olson WC, Rabut GE, Nagashima KA, Tran DN, Anselma DJ, Monard SP, et al. Differential inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 fusion, gp120 binding, and CC-chemokine activity by monoclonal antibodies to CCR5. J Virol (1999) 73:4145–55.
- Barassi C, Lazzarin A, Lopalco L. CCR5-specific mucosal IgA in saliva and genital fluids of HIV-exposed seronegative subjects. *Blood* (2004) 104:2205–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-06-2134
- Grene E, Pinto LA, Landay AL, Kessler HA, Anderson SA, Dolan MJ, et al. Anti-CCR5 antibodies in sera of HIV-positive individuals. *Hum Immunol* (2001) 62:143–5. doi:10.1016/S0198-8859(00)00243-3

- Brombin C, Diomede L, Tudor D, Drillet AS, Pastori C, Poli E, et al. A nonparametric procedure for defining a new humoral immunologic profile in a pilot study on HIV infected patients. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e58768. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0058768
- Pastori C, Diomede L, Venuti A, Fisher G, Jarvik J, Bomsel M, et al. Induction of HIV-blocking anti-CCR5 IgA in Peyers's patches without histopathological alterations. *J Virol* (2014) 88:3623–35. doi:10.1128/ JVI.03663-13
- Van Rompay KKA, Hunter Z, Jayashankar K, Peabody J, Montefiori D, LaBranche CC, et al. A vaccine against CCR5 protects a subset of macaques upon intravaginal challenge with simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac251. *J Virol* (2014) 88:2011–24. doi:10.1128/JVI.02447-13
- Chackerian B, Briglio L, Albert PS, Lowy DR, Schiller JT. Induction of autoantibodies to CCR5 in macaques and subsequent effects upon challenge with an R5-tropic simian/human immunodeficiency virus. *J Virol* (2004) 78:4037–47. doi:10.1128/JVI.78.8.4037-4047.2004
- Wu L, LaRosa G, Kassam N, Gordon CJ, Heath H, Ruffing N, et al. Interaction of chemokine receptor CCR5 with its ligands: multiple domains for HIV-1 gp120 binding and a single domain for chemokine binding. *J Exp Med* (1997) 186:1373–81. doi:10.1084/jem.186.8.1373
- Trkola A, Ketas TJ, Nagashima KA, Zhao L, Cilliers T, Morris L, et al. Potent, broad-spectrum inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by the CCR5 monoclonal antibody PRO 140. J Virol (2001) 75:579–88. doi:10.1128/ JVI.75.2.579-588.2001
- Flego M, Ascione A, Cianfriglia M, Vella S. Clinical development of monoclonal antibody-based drugs in HIV and HCV diseases. *BMC Med* (2013) 11:4. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-4
- Oppermann M. Chemokine receptor CCR5: insights into structure, function, and regulation. *Cell Signal* (2004) 16:1201–10. doi:10.1016/j. cellsig.2004.04.007
- Hüttenrauch F, Pollok-Kopp B, Oppermann M. G protein-coupled receptor kinases promote phosphorylation and beta-arrestin-mediated internalization of CCR5 homo- and hetero-oligomers. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:37503–15. doi:10.1074/jbc.M500535200
- Ali H, Richardson RM, Haribabu B, Snyderman R. Chemoattractant receptor cross-desensitization. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274:6027–30. doi:10.1074/ jbc.274.10.6027
- Pitcher JA, Freedman NJ, Lefkowitz RJ. G protein-coupled receptor kinases. Annu Rev Biochem (1998) 67:653–92. doi:10.1146/annurev. biochem.67.1.653
- Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ. The role of beta-arrestins in the termination and transduction of G-protein-coupled receptor signals. J Cell Sci (2002) 115:455–65.
- Perry SJ, Lefkowitz RJ. Arresting developments in heptahelical receptor signaling and regulation. *Trends Cell Biol* (2002) 12:130–8. doi:10.1016/ S0962-8924(01)02239-5
- Okamoto Y, Ninomiya H, Miwa S, Masaki T. Cholesterol oxidation switches the internalization pathway of endothelin receptor type A from caveolae to clathrin-coated pits in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275:6439–46. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.9.6439
- Moore CAC, Milano SK, Benovic JL. Regulation of receptor trafficking by GRKs and arrestins. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2007) 69:451–82. doi:10.1146/ annurev.physiol.69.022405.154712
- Hanyaloglu AC, von Zastrow M. Regulation of GPCRs by endocytic membrane trafficking and its potential implications. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* (2008) 48:537–68. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.48.113006.094830
- Marchese A, Paing MM, Temple BRS, Trejo J. G protein-coupled receptor sorting to endosomes and lysosomes. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* (2008) 48:601–29. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.48.113006.094646
- Escola J-M, Kuenzi G, Gaertner H, Foti M, Hartley O. CC chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) desensitization: cycling receptors accumulate in the trans-Golgi network. J Biol Chem (2010) 285:41772–80. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.153460
- Marie N, Lecoq I, Jauzac P, Allouche S. Differential sorting of human delta-opioid receptors after internalization by peptide and alkaloid agonists. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:22795–804. doi:10.1074/jbc.M300084200
- 100. Han S, Xiao K, Kim J, Wu J-H, Wisler JW, Nakamura N, et al. MARCH2 promotes endocytosis and lysosomal sorting of carvedilol-bound $\beta(2)$ -adrenergic receptors. *J Cell Biol* (2012) 199:817–30. doi:10.1083/jcb.201208192

- 101. Groer CE, Schmid CL, Jaeger AM, Bohn LM. Agonist-directed interactions with specific beta-arrestins determine mu-opioid receptor trafficking, ubiquitination, and dephosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286:31731–41. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.248310
- Jean-Charles P-Y, Rajiv V, Shenoy SK. Ubiquitin-related roles of β-arrestins in endocytic trafficking and signal transduction. *J Cell Physiol* (2016) 231:2071–80. doi:10.1002/jcp.25317
- 103. Shenoy SK, Drake MT, Nelson CD, Houtz DA, Xiao K, Madabushi S, et al. beta-arrestin-dependent, G protein-independent ERK1/2 activation by the beta2 adrenergic receptor. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:1261–73. doi:10.1074/jbc. M506576200
- Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK. Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. Science (2005) 308:512–7. doi:10.1126/science.1109237
- Reiter E, Lefkowitz RJ. GRKs and beta-arrestins: roles in receptor silencing, trafficking and signaling. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 17:159–65. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2006.03.008
- 106. Shenoy SK. Deubiquitinases and their emerging roles in β-arrestin-mediated signaling. *Methods Enzymol* (2014) 535:351–70. doi:10.1016/ B978-0-12-397925-4.00020-1
- 107. Luttrell LM, Roudabush FL, Choy EW, Miller WE, Field ME, Pierce KL, et al. Activation and targeting of extracellular signal-regulated kinases by beta-arrestin scaffolds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98:2449–54. doi:10.1073/ pnas.041604898
- 108. Tohgo A, Choy EW, Gesty-Palmer D, Pierce KL, Laporte S, Oakley RH, et al. The stability of the G protein-coupled receptor-beta-arrestin interaction determines the mechanism and functional consequence of ERK activation. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:6258–67. doi:10.1074/jbc.M212231200
- 109. Fox JM, Kasprowicz R, Hartley O, Signoret N. CCR5 susceptibility to ligand-mediated down-modulation differs between human T lymphocytes and myeloid cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2015) 98:59–71. doi:10.1189/ jlb.2A0414-193RR
- 110. Devito C, Zuber B, Schröder U, Benthin R, Okuda K, Broliden K, et al. Intranasal HIV-1-gp160-DNA/gp41 peptide prime-boost immunization regimen in mice results in long-term HIV-1 neutralizing humoral mucosal and systemic immunity. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:7078–89.
- 111. Barassi C, Soprana E, Pastori C, Longhi R, Buratti E, Lillo F, et al. Induction of murine mucosal CCR5-reactive antibodies as an anti-human immunodeficiency virus strategy. *J Virol* (2005) 79:6848–58. doi:10.1128/ JVI.79.11.6848-6858.2005
- 112. Pastori C, Clivio A, Diomede L, Consonni R, De Mori GMS, Longhi R, et al. Two amino acid substitutions within the first external loop of CCR5 induce human immunodeficiency virus-blocking antibodies in mice and chickens. *J Virol* (2008) 82:4125–34. doi:10.1128/JVI.02232-07
- 113. Li L, Tian JH, Yang K, Zhang P, Jia WQ. Humanized PA14 (a monoclonal CCR5 antibody) for treatment of people with HIV infection. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2014) 7:CD008439. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD008439. pub3
- 114. Wu K, Xue X, Wang Z, Yan Z, Shi J, Han W, et al. Construction, purification, and immunogenicity of recombinant cystein-cystein type chemokine receptor 5 vaccine. *Protein Expr Purif* (2006) 49:108–13. doi:10.1016/j. pep.2006.02.020
- 115. Misumi S, Nakayama D, Kusaba M, Iiboshi T, Mukai R, Tachibana K, et al. Effects of immunization with CCR5-based cycloimmunogen on simian/ HIVSF162P3 challenge. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:463–71.
- Bogers WMJM, Bergmeier LA, Oostermeijer H, ten Haaft P, Wang Y, Kelly CG, et al. CCR5 targeted SIV vaccination strategy preventing or inhibiting SIV infection. *Vaccine* (2004) 22:2974–84. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.02.050
- Bogers WM, Bergmeier LA, Ma J, Oostermeijer H, Wang Y, Kelly CG, et al. A novel HIV-CCR5 receptor vaccine strategy in the control of mucosal SIV/HIV infection. AIDS (2004) 18:25–36. doi:10.1097/00002030-200401020-00003
- Peabody DS, Manifold-Wheeler B, Medford A, Jordan SK, do Carmo Caldeira J, Chackerian B. Immunogenic display of diverse peptides on viruslike particles of RNA phage MS2. *J Mol Biol* (2008) 380:252–63. doi:10.1016/j. jmb.2008.04.049
- 119. Chain B, Arnold J, Akthar S, Brandt M, Davis D, Noursadeghi M, et al. A linear epitope in the N-terminal domain of CCR5 and its interaction with antibody. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0128381. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0128381

- 120. Ji C, Brandt M, Dioszegi M, Jekle A, Schwoerer S, Challand S, et al. Novel CCR5 monoclonal antibodies with potent and broad-spectrum anti-HIV activities. *Antiviral Res* (2007) 74:125–37. doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2006.11.003
- Lewis GK, Pazgier M, DeVico AL. Survivors remorse: antibody-mediated protection against HIV-1. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275:271–84. doi:10.1111/ imr.12510
- 122. Allers K, Hütter G, Hofmann J, Loddenkemper C, Rieger K, Thiel E, et al. Evidence for the cure of HIV infection by CCR5Δ32/Δ32 stem cell transplantation. *Blood* (2011) 117:2791–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-09-309591
- Burlone ME, Budkowska A. Hepatitis C virus cell entry: role of lipoproteins and cellular receptors. *J Gen Virol* (2009) 90:1055–70. doi:10.1099/ vir.0.008300-0
- 124. Song R, Franco D, Kao C-Y, Yu F, Huang Y, Ho DD. Epitope mapping of ibalizumab, a humanized anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody with anti-HIV-1 activity in infected patients. *J Virol* (2010) 84:6935–42. doi:10.1128/JVI. 00453-10
- 125. Jacobson JM, Lalezari JP, Thompson MA, Fichtenbaum CJ, Saag MS, Zingman BS, et al. Phase 2a study of the CCR5 monoclonal antibody PRO 140 administered intravenously to HIV-infected adults. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* (2010) 54:4137–42. doi:10.1128/AAC.00086-10
- 126. Steinberger P, Andris-Widhopf J, Bühler B, Torbett BE, Barbas CF. Functional deletion of the CCR5 receptor by intracellular immunization produces cells that are refractory to CCR5-dependent HIV-1 infection and cell fusion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97:805–10. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.2.805
- 127. Aires da Silva F, Costa MJL, Corte-Real S, Goncalves J. Cell type-specific targeting with sindbis pseudotyped lentiviral vectors displaying anti-CCR5 single-chain antibodies. *Hum Gene Ther* (2005) 16:223–34. doi:10.1089/ hum.2005.16.223
- Margolis DM, Koup RA, Ferrari G. HIV antibodies for treatment of HIV infection. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275:313–23. doi:10.1111/imr.12506
- Gardner MR, Kattenhorn LM, Kondur HR, von Schaewen M, Dorfman T, Chiang JJ, et al. AAV-expressed eCD4-Ig provides durable protection from multiple SHIV challenges. *Nature* (2015) 519:87–91. doi:10.1038/ nature14264
- 130. Xie J, Sok D, Wu NC, Zheng T, Zhang W, Burton DR, et al. Immunochemical engineering of cell surfaces to generate virus resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A (2017) 114:4655–60. doi:10.1073/pnas.1702764114
- Pett SL, Amin J, Horban A, Andrade-Villanueva J, Losso M, Porteiro N, et al. Week 96 results of the randomized, multicentre Maraviroc Switch (MARCH) study. *HIV Med* (2017). doi:10.1111/hiv.12532
- Van Der Ryst E. Maraviroc a CCR5 antagonist for the treatment of HIV-1 infection. Front Immunol (2015) 6:277. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00277
- Harada S, Yoshimura K. Driving HIV-1 into a vulnerable corner by taking advantage of viral adaptation and evolution. *Front Microbiol* (2017) 8:390. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2017.00390
- Hartley O, Offord RE. Engineering chemokines to develop optimized HIV inhibitors. *Curr Protein Pept Sci* (2005) 6:207–19. doi:10.2174/ 1389203054065400
- Cerini F, Offord R, McGowan I, Hartley O. Stability of 5P12-RANTES, a candidate rectal microbicide, in human rectal lavage. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2017) 33:768–77. doi:10.1089/AID.2016.0199
- Corbeau P, Reynes J. CCR5 antagonism in HIV infection: ways, effects, and side effects. *AIDS* (2009) 23:1931–43. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32832e71cd
- 137. Hartley O, Gaertner H, Wilken J, Thompson D, Fish R, Ramos A, et al. Medicinal chemistry applied to a synthetic protein: development of highly potent HIV entry inhibitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:16460–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0404802101
- Gaertner H, Cerini F, Escola J-M, Kuenzi G, Melotti A, Offord R, et al. Highly potent, fully recombinant anti-HIV chemokines: reengineering a low-cost microbicide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:17706–11. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0805098105
- Lederman MM, Veazey RS, Offord R, Mosier DE, Dufour J, Mefford M, et al. Prevention of vaginal SHIV transmission in rhesus macaques through inhibition of CCR5. *Science* (2004) 306:485–7. doi:10.1126/science.1099288
- 140. Kuhmann SE, Hartley O. Targeting chemokine receptors in HIV: a status report. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol (2008) 48:425–61. doi:10.1146/annurev. pharmtox.48.113006.094847

- 141. Simmons G, Clapham PR, Picard L, Offord RE, Rosenkilde MM, Schwartz TW, et al. Potent inhibition of HIV-1 infectivity in macrophages and lymphocytes by a novel CCR5 antagonist. *Science* (1997) 276:276–9. doi:10.1126/ science.276.5310.276
- 142. Mack M, Luckow B, Nelson PJ, Cihak J, Simmons G, Clapham PR, et al. Aminooxypentane-RANTES induces CCR5 internalization but inhibits recycling: a novel inhibitory mechanism of HIV infectivity. J Exp Med (1998) 187:1215–24. doi:10.1084/jem.187.8.1215
- 143. Dogo-Isonagie C, Lam S, Gustchina E, Acharya P, Yang Y, Shahzad-ul-Hussan S, et al. Peptides from second extracellular loop of C-C chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5) inhibit diverse strains of HIV-1. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287:15076–86. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.332361
- 144. Bobyk KD, Mandadapu SR, Lohith K, Guzzo C, Bhargava A, Lusso P, et al. Design of HIV coreceptor derived peptides that inhibit viral entry at submicromolar concentrations. *Mol Pharm* (2017) 14:2681–9. doi:10.1021/acs. molpharmaceut.7b00155
- 145. Hütter G, Nowak D, Mossner M, Ganepola S, Müssig A, Allers K, et al. Longterm control of HIV by CCR5 Delta32/Delta32 stem-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med (2009) 360:692–8. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0802905
- 146. Didigu CA, Wilen CB, Wang J, Duong J, Secreto AJ, Danet-Desnoyers GA, et al. Simultaneous zinc-finger nuclease editing of the HIV coreceptors ccr5 and cxcr4 protects CD4+ T cells from HIV-1 infection. *Blood* (2014) 123:61–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-08-521229
- 147. Mock U, Machowicz R, Hauber I, Horn S, Abramowski P, Berdien B, et al. mRNA transfection of a novel TAL effector nuclease (TALEN) facilitates efficient knockout of HIV co-receptor CCR5. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43:5560–71. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv469
- 148. Romano Ibarra GS, Paul B, Sather BD, Younan PM, Sommer K, Kowalski JP, et al. Efficient modification of the CCR5 locus in primary human T cells with megaTAL nuclease establishes HIV-1 resistance. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2016) 5:e352. doi:10.1038/mtna.2016.56
- 149. Tebas P, Stein D, Tang WW, Frank I, Wang SQ, Lee G, et al. Gene editing of CCR5 in autologous CD4 T cells of persons infected with HIV. N Engl J Med (2014) 370:901–10. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1300662
- 150. Ye L, Wang J, Beyer AI, Teque F, Cradick TJ, Qi Z, et al. Seamless modification of wild-type induced pluripotent stem cells to the natural CCR5Δ32 mutation confers resistance to HIV infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:9591–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1407473111
- Bhoj VG, Thibodeaux SR, Levine BL. Novel gene and cellular therapy approaches for treating HIV. *Discov Med* (2016) 21:283–92.
- Hale M, Mesojednik T, Romano Ibarra GS, Sahni J, Bernard A, Sommer K, et al. Engineering HIV-resistant, anti-HIV chimeric antigen receptor T cells. *Mol Ther* (2017) 25:570–9. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2016.12.023
- Manjunath N, Yi G, Dang Y, Shankar P. Newer gene editing technologies toward HIV gene therapy. *Viruses* (2013) 5:2748–66. doi:10.3390/v5112748
- Cho SW, Kim S, Kim JM, Kim J-S. Targeted genome engineering in human cells with the Cas9 RNA-guided endonuclease. *Nat Biotechnol* (2013) 31:230–2. doi:10.1038/nbt.2507
- 155. Cradick TJ, Fine EJ, Antico CJ, Bao G. CRISPR/Cas9 systems targeting β-globin and CCR5 genes have substantial off-target activity. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2013) 41:9584–92. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt714
- 156. Mussolino C, Alzubi J, Fine EJ, Morbitzer R, Cradick TJ, Lahaye T, et al. TALENs facilitate targeted genome editing in human cells with high specificity and low cytotoxicity. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2014) 42:6762–73. doi:10.1093/ nar/gku305
- 157. Shimizu S, Kamata M, Kittipongdaja P, Chen KN, Kim S, Pang S, et al. Characterization of a potent non-cytotoxic shRNA directed to the HIV-1

co-receptor CCR5. Genet Vaccines Ther (2009) 7:8. doi:10.1186/1479-0556-7-8

- 158. Cordelier P, Morse B, Strayer DS. Targeting CCR5 with siRNAs: using recombinant SV40-derived vectors to protect macrophages and microglia from R5-tropic HIV. *Oligonucleotides* (2003) 13:281–94. doi:10.1089/154545703322616961
- 159. Bai J, Gorantla S, Banda N, Cagnon L, Rossi J, Akkina R. Characterization of anti-CCR5 ribozyme-transduced CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells in vitro and in a SCID-hu mouse model in vivo. *Mol Ther* (2000) 1:244–54. doi:10.1006/mthe.2000.0038
- 160. An DS, Qin FX-F, Auyeung VC, Mao SH, Kung SKP, Baltimore D, et al. Optimization and functional effects of stable short hairpin RNA expression in primary human lymphocytes via lentiviral vectors. *Mol Ther* (2006) 14:494–504. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2006.05.015
- 161. Whitehead KA, Dahlman JE, Langer RS, Anderson DG. Silencing or stimulation? siRNA delivery and the immune system. *Annu Rev Chem Biomol Eng* (2011) 2:77–96. doi:10.1146/annurev-chembioeng-061010-114133
- Stewart G. Chemokine genes beating the odds. Nat Med (1998) 4:275–7. doi:10.1038/nm0398-275
- Cohen J. Exploiting the HIV-chemokine nexus. *Science* (1997) 275:1261–4. doi:10.1126/science.275.5304.1261
- 164. Keller MA, Stiehm ER. Passive immunity in prevention and treatment of infectious diseases. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2000) 13:602–14. doi:10.1128/ CMR.13.4.602-614.2000
- Saylor C, Dadachova E, Casadevall A. Monoclonal antibody-based therapies for microbial diseases. *Vaccine* (2009) 27(Suppl 6):G38–46. doi:10.1016/j. vaccine.2009.09.105
- 166. Asiimwe S, Ross JM, Arinaitwe A, Tumusiime O, Turyamureeba B, Roberts DA, et al. Expanding HIV testing and linkage to care in southwestern Uganda with community health extension workers. *J Int AIDS Soc* (2017) 20:2163. doi:10.7448/ias.20.5.21633
- 167. Hickey MD, Odeny TA, Petersen M, Neilands TB, Padian N, Ford N, et al. Specification of implementation interventions to address the cascade of HIV care and treatment in resource-limited settings: a systematic review. *Implement Sci* (2017) 12:102. doi:10.1186/s13012-017-0630-8
- Lederman MM, Penn-Nicholson A, Cho M, Mosier D. Biology of CCR5 and its role in HIV infection and treatment. *JAMA* (2006) 296:815–26. doi:10.1001/jama.296.7.815
- Ajuebor MN, Carey JA, Swain MG. CCR5 in T cell-mediated liver diseases: what's going on? J Immunol (2006) 177:2039–45.
- Velasco-Velázquez M, Xolalpa W, Pestell RG. The potential to target CCL5/ CCR5 in breast cancer. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* (2014) 18:1265–75. doi:10. 1517/14728222.2014.949238
- 171. Chang W-J, Du Y, Zhao X, Ma L-Y, Cao G-W. Inflammation-related factors predicting prognosis of gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol (2014) 20:4586–96. doi:10.3748/wjg.v20.i16.4586

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Venuti, Pastori and Lopalco. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Env-Specific Antibodies in Chronic Infection versus in Vaccination

Martina Soldemo and Gunilla B. Karlsson Hedestam*

Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Antibodies are central in vaccine-mediated protection. For HIV-1, a pathogen that displays extreme antigenic variability, B cell responses against conserved determinants of the envelope glycoproteins (Env) are likely required to achieve broadly protective vaccine-induced responses. To understand antibodies in chronic infection, where broad serum neutralizing activity is observed in a subset of individuals, monoclonal antibodies mediating this activity have been isolated. Studies of their maturation pathways reveal that years of co-evolution between the virus and the adaptive immune response are required for such responses to arise. Furthermore, they do so in subjects who display alterations of their B cell subsets caused by the chronic infection, conditions that are distinctly different from those in healthy hosts. So far, broadly neutralizing antibody responses were not induced by vaccination in primates or small animals with natural B cell repertoires. An increased focus on the development vaccine-induced responses in healthy subjects is therefore needed to delineate how the immune system recognizes different forms of HIV-1 Env and to optimize approaches to stimulate antibody responses against relevant neutralizing antibody epitopes. In this review, we describe aspects of Env-directed antibody responses that differ between chronic HIV-1 infection and subunit vaccination for an increased appreciation of these differences; and we highlight the need for an improved understanding of vaccine-induced B cell responses to complex glycoproteins such as Env, in healthy subjects.

Keywords: B cells, HIV-1, neutralizing antibodies, vaccine, HIV-1 Infection

B CELL SUBSETS IN NORMAL PHYSIOLOGY

The human adaptive immune system relies on several B-lymphocyte subsets with distinct roles. Circulating B cells can be classified as antigen-inexperienced or antigen-experienced cells. Among the former are the immature, transitional B cells and the mature naive B cells. Human transitional B cells are divided into T1 (CD10⁺CD21^{lo}CD27⁻) and T2/3 (CD10⁺CD21^{hi}CD27⁻) B cells, while the mature naive B cells are defined as CD10⁻CD20^{hi}CD27⁻ cells. Transitional B cells and mature naive B cells express germline-encoded immunoglobulin (Ig) genes of the IgD and/or IgM isotypes. In contrast, memory B cells, plasmablasts, and plasma cells are antigen-experienced cells that in most cases originate from germinal center reactions. Most antigen-experienced B cells have undergone somatic hypermutation (SHM) and class switch recombination to IgG, IgA, or IgE (1), but non-switched memory B cells also exist (2). Resting memory B cells persist by self-renewal, which proliferate and differentiate into plasma cells upon antigen re-exposure. To maintain the lineage following activation, some daughter cells remain as slowly dividing memory B cells, while others become terminally differentiated antibody-secreting cells (ASCs). Whether this is a stochastic process (3) or mediated by directed asymmetric cell division (4)

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriella Scarlatti, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Stephen Kent, University of Melbourne, Australia Egidio Brocca Cofano, University of Pittsburgh, United States

*Correspondence:

Gunilla B. Karlsson Hedestam gunilla.karlsson.hedestam@ki.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 10 July 2017 Accepted: 15 August 2017 Published: 04 September 2017

Citation:

Soldemo M and Karlsson Hedestam GB (2017) Env-Specific Antibodies in Chronic Infection versus in Vaccination. Front. Immunol. 8:1057. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01057 remains a question of debate. Peripheral ASCs, often referred to as plasmablasts, are short-lived and distinct from the long-lived plasma cells found in bone marrow (BM) or other anatomical niches that support their survival (5, 6).

During late-stage B cell development, immature/transitional B cells exit the BM to enter the circulation where they are subjected to peripheral selection. This is at least in part regulated by B cell-activating factor (BAFF), which is present in limited quantities, thereby setting a competitive threshold for B cell survival (7, 8). The surviving mature naive B cells migrate to secondary lymphoid organs, i.e., the spleen, lymph nodes, and mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. Upon antigen encounter, extrafollicular plasma cell responses resulting in the production of antibodies that have not undergone SHM may occur. However, most B cell responses against protein antigens are T cell dependent and products of germinal center reactions. Here, antigenspecific B cells undergo hypermutation of the encoded antibody sequences to diversify the antigen-specific repertoire and the resulting B cells interact closely with follicular dendritic cells and follicular helper T (Tfh) cells for selection of high affinity B cell clones. The signals that dictate B cell differentiation into memory B cells or plasma cells in the germinal center reaction are only beginning to be understood (9), including the important roles of Tfh cells (10-12). These processes are of high relevance for vaccine research as both memory B cells and plasma cells are needed for sustained humoral immunity.

B CELL DYSFUNCTION IN HIV-1-INFECTED INDIVIDUALS

During chronic HIV-1 infection, several imbalances in B cell subsets develop (**Figure 1**), affecting the capacity of chronically infected individuals to respond to vaccination and handle co-infections (13–17). Hypergammaglobulinemia and loss of B cell memory are hallmarks of these humoral immunity alterations (18, 19). Dysregulation of B cells is apparent relatively early after HIV-1 infection and worsens during disease progression. Early introduction of antiretroviral therapy to dampen active viremia has positive effects on preserving B cell subsets (20). Dysregulated B cell subsets and functions are also observed

in individuals repeatedly exposed to malaria (19). Thus, B cell alterations in both HIV-1- and malaria-infected subjects are likely consequences of prolonged inflammatory responses that occur under these conditions, rather than caused by direct pathogen–B cell interactions. The specific B cell alterations described in chronically HIV-1-infected individuals include effects on both antigen-inexperienced cells and antigenexperienced cells as discussed below.

Antigen-Inexperienced Cells

HIV-1-infected individuals display increased frequencies of circulating immature transitional B cells (21). As transitional B cells display increased sensitivity to spontaneous apoptosis, this may lead to a decreased pool of mature naive B cells (22, 23). Altered migratory capacity of immature transitional B cells was also observed, which could affect the distribution of these cells between blood and secondary lymphoid organs in HIV-1infected individuals (24). Furthermore, as mentioned earlier, peripheral B cell selection is regulated by BAFF, a B cell growth factor shown to be elevated in both chronic infection and autoimmunity (25, 26). BAFF is regulated by type I interferons (27); thus, increased BAFF levels in HIV-1 infection may result from sustained type I interferon responses due to chronic viremia. A potential consequence of increased BAFF levels is that B cell selection thresholds are altered, which may promote survival of B cells that otherwise would be subject to negative selection such as polyreactive or auto-reactive clonotypes (28, 29). Whether the naive B cell repertoire in HIV-1-infected individuals more frequently display features associated with poly- or self-reactivity is not known but will be important to investigate, especially in relation to the generation of broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNAbs) (30).

Antigen-Experienced Cells

HIV-1-infected individuals also display alterations of the memory B cell compartment. Activated human memory B cells, defined as CD20⁺/CD21^{lo}/CD27⁺, and tissue-like memory B cells, defined as CD20⁺/CD21^{lo}/CD27⁻, are increased during persistent HIV-1 infection, whereas resting memory B cells, defined as CD20⁺/CD21^h/CD27⁺, are decreased in frequency (13, 31). Consequences of these B cell compartment alterations are observed already



early in infection in the form of poor maintenance of serological antibody responses to previous vaccination (i.e., measles, tetanus, and pneumococcus) (17), as well as impaired responses to new vaccinations (32). During the chronic phase of the infection, exhausted B cells also appear. Exhausted B cells are characterized by a decreased capacity to proliferate in response to stimulation (33). The exhausted memory B cell phenotype is reminiscent of that of exhausted T cells with expression of molecules that negatively regulate antigen receptor signaling or homing to sites of inflammation (34, 35). Furthermore, HIV-1-infected individuals display increased frequencies of circulating CD20-/ ^{lo}/CD27^{hi}/CD38^{hi} plasmablasts (36) consistent with non-antigenspecific differentiation of memory B cells into ASCs resulting in hypergammaglobulinemia and decreased numbers of resting memory B cells. Thus, the immune system in chronically HIV-1infected individuals is different from that of healthy subjects in several ways, which likely affects the kinds of antibodies that are elicited. Below, we compare and contrast what is known about the induction of neutralizing antibody responses in chronic infection versus in immunization for an improved appreciation of these differences.

THE Env TRIMER AS A NEUTRALIZING ANTIBODY TARGET

The envelope glycoproteins of HIV-1 (Env) are the only virusencoded antigens exposed on the external surface of the virus particle and thus the sole targets for neutralizing antibodies. The HIV-1 Env spike is composed of a trimer of dimers in a tightly packed infectious entry unit where the external glycoprotein gp120 is non-covalently attached to the transmembrane protein gp41 (37, 38). The native HIV-1 Env trimer complex is meta-stable and readily acquires lower energy forms that are highly immunogenic [reviewed in Ref. (39)]. Antibodies elicited by these non-native forms of Env are non-neutralizing, or only capable of neutralizing sensitive (tier 1) viruses, which are distinctly different from circulating neutralization-resistant (tier 2) virus variants (38).

The functional Env spike is exceptionally well shielded from immune recognition by N-linked glycans that cover most of the Env protein surface (40). The sites for N-linked glycosylation in the primary Env amino acid sequence vary between different virus strains and between different time points of viral evolution of a given strain demonstrating the plasticity of Env. HIV-1 evolves constantly in response to host antibody responses in each chronically infected individual, and neutralization-sensitive viruses are readily eliminated in vivo leaving only resistant variants in the circulating pool (41). An interesting recent study demonstrated that currently circulating HIV-1 variants are more neutralization resistant than variants isolated from the beginning of the epidemic, in part due to the acquisition of a denser Env glycan shield over time (42). The intrinsic neutralization resistance of HIV-1 is a major challenge for vaccine development where the goal is to induce antibodies capable of neutralizing a broad range of tier 2 isolates to curb HIV-1 transmissions worldwide.

Neutralizing Antibodies Elicited by Chronic Infection

Env-specific antibodies generated during the first months of HIV-1 infection are non-neutralizing or strain-specific neutralizing. Non-neutralizing antibodies are elicited by highly immunogenic non-functional forms of Env as mentioned earlier. Strain-specific antibodies neutralize the autologous virus that elicited them but not contemporary viruses that arose subsequently as a result of immune escape from the first wave of antibodies (41). About 2-4 years after the acute of infection, approximately 20% of infected individuals develop cross-neutralizing antibodies (Figure 2) and 1-2% of infected individuals develop bNAbs, which exhibit exceptionally potent neutralizing capacity against a large proportion of virus isolates (43, 44). Isolation and mapping of bNAbs at the monoclonal antibody level allows definition of their target epitopes, revealing sites of vulnerability on the virus that can be targeted by epitope-focused vaccine approaches (45-52).

Since chronic HIV-1 infection is characterized by an arms race between viral evolution and the adaptive immune response, new epitopes are continuously generated, sequentially driving the B cell repertoire toward the generation of bNAbs (53-55). The extensive antigenic variability in Env results mainly from the error-prone HIV-1 reverse transcriptase, which generates swarms of variants in each infectious cycle from which immune escape variants are selected. Despite the high antigenic variability of HIV-1 Env, some determinants are conserved as mutations in these elements compromise viral fitness. These regions are targets for bNAbs and include the primary receptor binding site, the CD4bs, certain variable region 2 (V2) determinants in the trimer apex, the base of the V3 region, and the gp120-gp41 interface region [reviewed in Ref. (56)]. In the case of bNAbs targeting the V3 base, the surrounding N-glycans are often part of the epitope (57, 58). The glycan reactivity observed in many HIV-1-infected individuals (59) is intriguing since antibodies against N-linked glycans is essentially a response against self-structures, which is uncommon in healthy subjects. Thus, the development of such antibodies in chronic HIV-1 infection may reflect a relaxation of peripheral check-points allowing potentially self-reactive B cells to escape negative selection (60).

Several studies have shown that bNAbs possess a high degree of divergence from their corresponding germline antibody sequences, indicating extensive SHM of the antibody sequences (57, 58, 61). High SHM suggests that multiple rounds of affinity maturation and selection in germinal centers have occurred, which appears to be required to develop features associated with broad HIV-1 neutralization. High levels of SHM are not unique to bNAbs but are generally seen in HIV-1 infection (62), as well as in other chronic infections and some settings of autoimmunity (63). This suggests that extensive SHM is a consequence of prolonged antigen exposure and persistent inflammatory responses, processes that allow selection of B cells over long periods of time. However, it is likely that not all changes introduced by SHM are required for bNAb activity as shown for the bNAb VRC01, where a subset of the amino acid changes that differed between the



mature antibody and the assigned germline VH1-2*02 sequence were sufficient to confer bNAb activity (64).

The high degree of divergence of bNAb sequences from their germline Ig gene segments complicates the process of inferring the unmutated recombined ancestor sequences for these antibodies. Studies of germline-reverted bNAb sequences have shown that they rarely bind Env suggesting that they possess very low initial affinities to the unmutated BCR (65). However, in most cases where this was studied, the Env present in the patient at the time of elicitation of the bNAb lineage was not known. An exception to this is the identification of antibody CH103, which binds the presumed transmitted/founder Env in its germlinereverted form (55). The lack of Env binding to germline-reverted bNAbs may be explained by the fact that some human germline variable (V) alleles are missing in the current databases, which could affect the processes of germline reversion (66). In support of this, it is becoming increasingly clear that there are more human antibody V alleles than previously appreciated (67–70). An improved understanding of human antibody germline genes is therefore needed. We recently reported that next-generation sequencing (NGS) coupled with a new computational tool, IgDiscover, can accelerate the definition of germline-encoded Ig gene segments and allow higher-throughput studies (70).

HIV-1 bNAb sequences stand out not only because of high levels of divergence from their germline sequences in terms of single nucleotide differences but also because they frequently display insertions and deletions (indels) introduced during the process of SHM (71). Indels, which are rarely seen in antibodies elicited in healthy subjects, generate further diversity in infection-induced Env-specific antibody repertoires, an area that is only beginning to be understood. The present increase in NGS-based antibody repertoire analysis provides highly valuable information about how the human B cell response evolves during chronic infections. Another characteristic feature of some classes of HIV-1 bNAbs, such as the apextargeting antibodies, is their exceptionally long heavy chain complementarity-determining region 3 sequences. B cells encoding BCRs with such long HCDRs are rare in the naive B cell population but appear to be preferentially selected in Envspecific responses, at least in a subset of individuals. This feature is likely required for the antibodies to penetrate the dense glycan shield and bind conserved determinants at the Env trimer apex (72, 73). Collectively, these genetic features demonstrate that HIV-1 antibodies are highly selected and bNAb specificities arise from extensive co-evolution processes between the virus and responding B cells.

Neutralizing Antibodies Elicited by Subunit Env Vaccination

The persistent B cell selection observed during chronic HIV-1 infection is in stark contrast to the transient response that takes place following vaccination with non-replicating subunit vaccines. Highly mutated antibodies are not induced by current immunization regimens but might be achievable by using heterologous Env immunogens administered in a sequential manner to promote responses to common determinants on HIV-1 Env. So far, bNAbs have not been elicited by immunization of primates with natural

immune repertoires. Given that bNAb development in infection depends on extensive B cell selection on a constantly changing pool of virus escape variants, it is not surprising that conventional immunization regimens do not induce bNAb specificities. It is also not known if certain precursor populations are lost during peripheral B cell selection processes, which are known to be under tighter control in healthy vaccine recipients than in chronically infected HIV-1 individuals as mentioned earlier.

Immunization studies using early generation Env trimers provided valuable information about the B cell response elicited in both small animals and in primates. While tier 1-neutralizing antibody responses are readily induced, tier 2-neutralizing responses are mostly limited to autologous tier 2 responses (Figure 2) (74, 75). For a detailed understanding of epitopespecific antibody responses induced by vaccination, methods for antibody specificity mapping and isolation of monoclonal antibodies are needed. Such methodologies are under continuous development to facilitate analyses of vaccine-induced responses at a higher level of resolution [reviewed in (76)]. Results from immunized non-human primates demonstrate that Env vaccine-induced responses consist of many different clonotypes, most of which appear to be modestly expanded (77-79). Highly polyclonal B cell responses are also observed in humans vaccinated with tetanus toxoid, another protein subunit-based vaccine, administered using a homologous prime-boost regimen (80, 81). It is perhaps not surprising that vaccine regimens based on homologous boosting result in polyclonal B cell responses with modest levels of SHM where each clonotype has reached an affinity ceiling to the invariant vaccine antigen (82), rather than being driven by a constantly changing antigen that repeatedly resets the affinity threshold for B cell selection, as is the case in HIV-1 infection.

Despite the many contrasts between chronic infection and vaccination, dissection of Env vaccine-induced antibody responses at the monoclonal level has also revealed similarities in terms of the targeted epitopes. For example, antibodies against non-neutralizing epitopes in gp41 as well as against tier 1-neutralizing epitopes in variable region 3 (V3) are readily elicited in both settings suggesting that these specificities are abundant in the naive B cell repertoire in both humans and commonly used animal models as shown by monoclonal antibody isolation (78, 83, 84). Similarly, CD4bs-directed antibodies capable of neutralizing tier 1 viruses, exemplified by the non-broad neutralizing antibody F105, are elicited both in infection (85) and in vaccination of non-human primates (86). The availability of protocols for efficient cloning of antibodies from non-human primates (86, 87) has facilitated such studies and are now widely used to dissect vaccine-induced responses in rhesus macaques. With the exception of one study (88), less is known about

REFERENCES

- McHeyzer-Williams M, Okitsu S, Wang N, McHeyzer-Williams L. Molecular programming of B cell memory. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 12(1):24–34. doi:10.1038/nri3128
- Taylor JJ, Pape KA, Jenkins MK. A germinal center-independent pathway generates unswitched memory B cells early in the primary response. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209(3):597–606. doi:10.1084/jem.20111696

epitope-specific antibody responses in immunized rabbits where germline Ig genes so far are insufficiently characterized, currently hampering monoclonal antibody isolation in this model.

While early generation HIV-1 Env vaccine candidates were poor mimics of the functional Env spike, recent work has resulted in immunogens that better mimic the native viral spike. The definition of a native spike structure is that bNAbs epitopes are retained while non-neutralizing Ab epitopes are not. Soluble trimeric Env immunogens that meet these criteria include the BG505 SOSIP trimers and the Native Flexibly Linked (NFL trimers) (89-91) for which high-resolution structures were obtained (92-94). Emerging in vivo evaluation of the immunogenicity of these trimers, when used in homologous prime-boost regimens, demonstrates that they elicit autologous tier 2-neutralizing antibody responses but limited neutralization breadth (95). The epitopes mediating strain-specific neutralization may be different for different HIV-1 strains, or in different host species, as exemplified by the finding that antibodies against the V2 region mediate the autologous neutralizing activity induced by clade C 16055 trimers in NHPs (95), while antibodies against the gp120-gp41 interface mediate the autologous neutralizing activity induced by clade A BG505 trimers in rabbits (88). The role played by potential differences in host B cell repertoires in terms of the specificities induced by a given immunogen remains insufficiently understood but will be important to determine to better understand predictability of different animal models for assessment of human vaccine candidates. In this respect, it was shown the same immunogen that elicits potent autologous neutralizing antibodies in rabbits fails to do so in mice (96). Further work is required to define similarities and differences in germline antibody genes and expressed repertoires between commonly used animal models, including small animals, NHPs, and humans.

In conclusion, while much has been learnt from studying the development of bNAbs in chronic HIV-1 infection, focused efforts are now needed to translate these findings to the setting of vaccination. Given the challenge of this goal, achieving this will require coordinated vaccine evaluation trials in both well-chosen animal models and in humans.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS created the figures. MS and GKH jointly wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by a grant from the Swedish Research Council and an European AIDS Vaccine Initiative (EAVI) 2020 (681137) grant. The authors thank Dr. Paola Martinez-Murillo for proofreading the manuscript.

- Duffy KR, Wellard CJ, Markham JF, Zhou JH, Holmberg R, Hawkins ED, et al. Activation-induced B cell fates are selected by intracellular stochastic competition. *Science* (2012) 335(6066):338–41. doi:10.1126/science. 1213230
- Lin WH, Adams WC, Nish SA, Chen YH, Yen B, Rothman NJ, et al. Asymmetric PI3K signaling driving developmental and regenerative cell fate bifurcation. *Cell Rep* (2015) 13(10):2203–18. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015. 10.072

- Ellyard JI, Avery DT, Phan TG, Hare NJ, Hodgkin PD, Tangye SG. Antigen-selected, immunoglobulin-secreting cells persist in human spleen and bone marrow. *Blood* (2004) 103(10):3805–12. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-09-3109
- Landsverk OJ, Snir O, Casado RB, Richter L, Mold JE, Réu P, et al. Antibody-secreting plasma cells persist for decades in human intestine. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(2):309–17. doi:10.1084/jem.20161590
- Batten M, Groom J, Cachero TG, Qian F, Schneider P, Tschopp J, et al. BAFF mediates survival of peripheral immature B lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192(10):1453–66. doi:10.1084/jem.192.10.1453
- Ota M, Duong BH, Torkamani A, Doyle CM, Gavin AL, Ota T, et al. Regulation of the B cell receptor repertoire and self-reactivity by BAFF. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(7):4128–36. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002176
- Weisel FJ, Zuccarino-Catania GV, Chikina M, Shlomchik MJ. A temporal switch in the germinal center determines differential output of memory B and plasma cells. *Immunity* (2016) 44(1):116–30. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2015.12.004
- Havenar-Daughton C, Carnathan DG, Torrents de la Peña A, Pauthner M, Briney B, Reiss SM, et al. Direct probing of germinal center responses reveals immunological features and bottlenecks for neutralizing antibody responses to HIV Env Trimer. *Cell Rep* (2016) 17(9):2195–209. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2016.10.085
- Linterman MA, Beaton L, Yu D, Ramiscal RR, Srivastava M, Hogan JJ, et al. IL-21 acts directly on B cells to regulate Bcl-6 expression and germinal center responses. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(2):353–63. doi:10.1084/jem. 20091738
- Wang Y, Shi J, Yan J, Xiao Z, Hou X, Lu P, et al. Germinal-center development of memory B cells driven by IL-9 from follicular helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(8):921–30. doi:10.1038/ni.3788
- Amu S, Ruffin N, Rethi B, Chiodi F. Impairment of B-cell functions during HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2013) 27(15):2323–34. doi:10.1097/QAD. 0b013e328361a427
- Cagigi A, Nilsson A, Pensieroso S, Chiodi F. Dysfunctional B-cell responses during HIV-1 infection: implication for influenza vaccination and highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2010) 10(7):499–503. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70117-1
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B cells in HIV infection and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(4):235–45. doi:10.1038/nri2524
- Moir S, Malaspina A, Ogwaro KM, Donoghue ET, Hallahan CW, Ehler LA, et al. HIV-1 induces phenotypic and functional perturbations of B cells in chronically infected individuals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(18):10362–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.181347898
- Titanji K, De Milito A, Cagigi A, Thorstensson R, Grützmeier S, Atlas A, et al. Loss of memory B cells impairs maintenance of long-term serologic memory during HIV-1 infection. *Blood* (2006) 108(5):1580–7. doi:10.1182/ blood-2005-11-013383
- Lane HC, Masur H, Edgar LC, Whalen G, Rook AH, Fauci AS. Abnormalities of B-cell activation and immunoregulation in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *N Engl J Med* (1983) 309(8):453–8. doi:10.1056/ NEJM198308253090803
- Illingworth J, Butler NS, Roetynck S, Mwacharo J, Pierce SK, Bejon P, et al. Chronic exposure to *Plasmodium falciparum* is associated with phenotypic evidence of B and T cell exhaustion. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(3):1038–47. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202438
- Titanji K, Chiodi F, Bellocco R, Schepis D, Osorio L, Tassandin C, et al. Primary HIV-1 infection sets the stage for important B lymphocyte dysfunctions. *AIDS* (2005) 19(17):1947–55. doi:10.1097/01.aids.0000191231.54170.89
- Malaspina A, Moir S, Ho J, Wang W, Howell ML, O'Shea MA, et al. Appearance of immature/transitional B cells in HIV-infected individuals with advanced disease: correlation with increased IL-7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(7):2262–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0511094103
- Ho J, Moir S, Malaspina A, Howell ML, Wang W, DiPoto AC, et al. Two overrepresented B cell populations in HIV-infected individuals undergo apoptosis by different mechanisms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(51):19436–41. doi:10.1073/pnas.0609515103
- Lundstrom W, Fewkes NM, Mackall CL. IL-7 in human health and disease. Semin Immunol (2012) 24(3):218–24. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2012.02.005
- 24. Amu S, Fievez V, Nozza S, Lopalco L, Chiodi F. Dysfunctions in the migratory phenotype and properties of circulating immature transitional

B cells during HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2016) 30(14):2169–77. doi:10.1097/ QAD.00000000001182

- Rodriguez B, Valdez H, Freimuth W, Butler T, Asaad R, Lederman MM. Plasma levels of B-lymphocyte stimulator increase with HIV disease progression. *AIDS* (2003) 17(13):1983–5. doi:10.1097/00002030-200309050-00018
- Groom J, Kalled SL, Cutler AH, Olson C, Woodcock SA, Schneider P, et al. Association of BAFF/BLyS overexpression and altered B cell differentiation with Sjogren's syndrome. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 109(1):59–68. doi:10.1172/ JCI0214121
- Gomez AM, Ouellet M, Tremblay MJ. HIV-1-triggered release of type I IFN by plasmacytoid dendritic cells induces BAFF production in monocytes. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(5):2300–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402147
- Gross JA, Johnston J, Mudri S, Enselman R, Dillon SR, Madden K, et al. TACI and BCMA are receptors for a TNF homologue implicated in B-cell autoimmune disease. *Nature* (2000) 404(6781):995–9. doi:10.1038/ 35010115
- Mackay F, Woodcock SA, Lawton P, Ambrose C, Baetscher M, Schneider P, et al. Mice transgenic for BAFF develop lymphocytic disorders along with autoimmune manifestations. *J Exp Med* (1999) 190(11):1697–710. doi:10.1084/jem.190.11.1697
- Yang G, Holl TM, Liu Y, Li Y, Lu X, Nicely NI, et al. Identification of autoantigens recognized by the 2F5 and 4E10 broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(2):241–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20121977
- Moir S, Buckner CM, Ho J, Wang W, Chen J, Waldner AJ, et al. B cells in early and chronic HIV infection: evidence for preservation of immune function associated with early initiation of antiretroviral therapy. *Blood* (2010) 116(25):5571–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-05-285528
- 32. Hart M, Steel A, Clark SA, Moyle G, Nelson M, Henderson DC, et al. Loss of discrete memory B cell subsets is associated with impaired immunization responses in HIV-1 infection and may be a risk factor for invasive pneumococcal disease. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(12):8212–20. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.178.12.8212
- Moir S, Ho J, Malaspina A, Wang W, DiPoto AC, O'Shea MA, et al. Evidence for HIV-associated B cell exhaustion in a dysfunctional memory B cell compartment in HIV-infected viremic individuals. J Exp Med (2008) 205(8):1797–805. doi:10.1084/jem.20072683
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B-cell exhaustion in HIV infection: the role of immune activation. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2014) 9(5):472–7. doi:10.1097/ COH.000000000000092
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B-cell responses to HIV infection. Immunol Rev (2017) 275(1):33–48. doi:10.1111/imr.12502
- 36. Doria-Rose NA, Klein RM, Manion MM, O'Dell S, Phogat A, Chakrabarti B, et al. Frequency and phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus envelope-specific B cells from patients with broadly cross-neutralizing antibodies. J Virol (2009) 83(1):188–99. doi:10.1128/JVI.01583-08
- Wyatt R, Sodroski J. The HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins: fusogens, antigens, and immunogens. *Science* (1998) 280(5371):1884–8. doi:10.1126/ science.280.5371.1884
- Seaman MS, Janes H, Hawkins N, Grandpre LE, Devoy C, Giri A, et al. Tiered categorization of a diverse panel of HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses for assessment of neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol* (2010) 84(3):1439–52. doi:10.1128/ JVI.02108-09
- Burton DR, Mascola JR. Antibody responses to envelope glycoproteins in HIV-1 infection. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(6):571–6. doi:10.1038/ni.3158
- Wei X, Decker JM, Wang S, Hui H, Kappes JC, Wu X, et al. Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. *Nature* (2003) 422(6929):307–12. doi:10.1038/ nature01470
- Richman DD, Wrin T, Little SJ, Petropoulos CJ. Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(7):4144–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0630530100
- Bunnik EM, Euler Z, Welkers MR, Boeser-Nunnink BD, Grijsen ML, Prins JM, et al. Adaptation of HIV-1 envelope gp120 to humoral immunity at a population level. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(9):995–7. doi:10.1038/nm.2203
- 43. Simek MD, Rida W, Priddy FH, Pung P, Carrow E, Laufer DS, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 elite neutralizers: individuals with broad and potent neutralizing activity identified by using a high-throughput neutralization assay together with an analytical selection algorithm. *J Virol* (2009) 83(14):7337–48. doi:10.1128/JVI.00110-09
- 44. Doria-Rose NA, Klein RM, Daniels MG, O'Dell S, Nason M, Lapedes A, et al. Breadth of human immunodeficiency virus-specific neutralizing activity in sera: clustering analysis and association with clinical variables. *J Virol* (2010) 84(3):1631–6. doi:10.1128/JVI.01482-09
- Huang J, Kang BH, Ishida E, Zhou T, Griesman T, Sheng Z, et al. Identification of a CD4-binding-site antibody to HIV that evolved near-pan neutralization breadth. *Immunity* (2016) 45(5):1108–21. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016. 10.027
- Huang J, Ofek G, Laub L, Louder MK, Doria-Rose NA, Longo NS, et al. Broad and potent neutralization of HIV-1 by a gp41-specific human antibody. *Nature* (2012) 491(7424):406–12. doi:10.1038/nature11544
- Kong R, Xu K, Zhou T, Acharya P, Lemmin T, Liu K, et al. Fusion peptide of HIV-1 as a site of vulnerability to neutralizing antibody. *Science* (2016) 352(6287):828–33. doi:10.1126/science.aae0474
- Moldt B, Rakasz EG, Schultz N, Chan-Hui PY, Swiderek K, Weisgrau KL, et al. Highly potent HIV-specific antibody neutralization in vitro translates into effective protection against mucosal SHIV challenge in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(46):18921–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1214785109
- Zhou T, Georgiev I, Wu X, Yang ZY, Dai K, Finzi A, et al. Structural basis for broad and potent neutralization of HIV-1 by antibody VRC01. *Science* (2010) 329(5993):811–7. doi:10.1126/science.1192819
- Mouquet H, Scharf L, Euler Z, Liu Y, Eden C, Scheid JF, et al. Complextype N-glycan recognition by potent broadly neutralizing HIV antibodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(47):E3268–77. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1217207109
- Schoofs T, Klein F, Braunschweig M, Kreider EF, Feldmann A, Nogueira L, et al. HIV-1 therapy with monoclonal antibody 3BNC117 elicits host immune responses against HIV-1. *Science* (2016) 352(6288):997–1001. doi:10.1126/ science.aaf0972
- Gristick HB, von Boehmer L, West AP Jr, Schamber M, Gazumyan A, Golijanin J, et al. Natively glycosylated HIV-1 Env structure reveals new mode for antibody recognition of the CD4-binding site. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2016) 23(10):906–15. doi:10.1038/nsmb.3291
- 53. Wibmer CK, Bhiman JN, Gray ES, Tumba N, Abdool Karim SS, Williamson C, et al. Viral escape from HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies drives increased plasma neutralization breadth through sequential recognition of multiple epitopes and immunotypes. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9(10):e1003738. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003738
- Doria-Rose NA, Schramm CA, Gorman J, Moore PL, Bhiman JN, DeKosky BJ, et al. Developmental pathway for potent V1V2-directed HIV-neutralizing antibodies. *Nature* (2014) 509(7498):55–62. doi:10.1038/ nature13036
- Liao HX, Lynch R, Zhou T, Gao F, Alam SM, Boyd SD, et al. Co-evolution of a broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibody and founder virus. *Nature* (2013) 496(7446):469–76. doi:10.1038/nature12053
- Kwong PD, Mascola JR, Nabel GJ. Broadly neutralizing antibodies and the search for an HIV-1 vaccine: the end of the beginning. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(9):693–701. doi:10.1038/nri3516
- 57. Sok D, Doores KJ, Briney B, Le KM, Saye-Francisco KL, Ramos A, et al. Promiscuous glycan site recognition by antibodies to the high-mannose patch of gp120 broadens neutralization of HIV. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(236):236ra63. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008104
- Garces F, Lee JH, de Val N, de la Pena AT, Kong L, Puchades C, et al. Affinity maturation of a potent family of HIV antibodies is primarily focused on accommodating or avoiding glycans. *Immunity* (2015) 43(6):1053–63. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.11.007
- Landais E, Huang X, Havenar-Daughton C, Murrell B, Price MA, Wickramasinghe L, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibody responses in a large longitudinal sub-Saharan HIV primary infection cohort. *PLoS Pathog* (2016) 12(1):e1005369. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005369
- Verkoczy L, Kelsoe G, Moody MA, Haynes BF. Role of immune mechanisms in induction of HIV-1 broadly neutralizing antibodies. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2011) 23(3):383–90. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2011.04.003
- Klein F, Diskin R, Scheid JF, Gaebler C, Mouquet H, Georgiev IS, et al. Somatic mutations of the immunoglobulin framework are generally required for broad and potent HIV-1 neutralization. *Cell* (2013) 153(1):126–38. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.018
- 62. Scheid JF, Mouquet H, Feldhahn N, Seaman MS, Velinzon K, Pietzsch J, et al. Broad diversity of neutralizing antibodies isolated from memory B cells in

HIV-infected individuals. *Nature* (2009) 458(7238):636–40. doi:10.1038/ nature07930

- Breden F, Lepik C, Longo NS, Montero M, Lipsky PE, Scott JK. Comparison of antibody repertoires produced by HIV-1 infection, other chronic and acute infections, and systemic autoimmune disease. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(3):e16857. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016857
- Jardine JG, Sok D, Julien JP, Briney B, Sarkar A, Liang CH, et al. Minimally mutated HIV-1 broadly neutralizing antibodies to guide reductionist vaccine design. *PLoS Pathog* (2016) 12(8):e1005815. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1005815
- 65. Xiao X, Chen W, Feng Y, Zhu Z, Prabakaran P, Wang Y, et al. Germline-like predecessors of broadly neutralizing antibodies lack measurable binding to HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins: implications for evasion of immune responses and design of vaccine immunogens. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2009) 390(3):404–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.09.029
- 66. Gadala-Maria D, Yaari G, Uduman M, Kleinstein SH. Automated analysis of high-throughput B-cell sequencing data reveals a high frequency of novel immunoglobulin V gene segment alleles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(8):E862–70. doi:10.1073/pnas.1417683112
- Scheepers C, Shrestha RK, Lambson BE, Jackson KJ, Wright IA, Naicker D, et al. Ability to develop broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies is not restricted by the germline Ig gene repertoire. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(9):4371–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500118
- Watson CT, Glanville J, Marasco WA. The Individual and population genetics of antibody immunity. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38(7):459–70. doi:10.1016/j. it.2017.04.003
- Boyd SD, Gaëta BA, Jackson KJ, Fire AZ, Marshall EL, Merker JD, et al. Individual variation in the germline Ig gene repertoire inferred from variable region gene rearrangements. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(12):6986–92. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1000445
- Corcoran MM, Phad GE, Vázquez Bernat N, Stahl-Hennig C, Sumida N, Persson MA, et al. Production of individualized V gene databases reveals high levels of immunoglobulin genetic diversity. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:13642. doi:10.1038/ncomms13642
- Kepler TB, Liao HX, Alam SM, Bhaskarabhatla R, Zhang R, Yandava C, et al. Immunoglobulin gene insertions and deletions in the affinity maturation of HIV-1 broadly reactive neutralizing antibodies. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 16(3):304–13. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2014.08.006
- 72. Pejchal R, Walker LM, Stanfield RL, Phogat SK, Koff WC, Poignard P, et al. Structure and function of broadly reactive antibody PG16 reveal an H3 subdomain that mediates potent neutralization of HIV-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2010) 107(25):11483–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1004600107
- Lee JH, Andrabi R, Su CY, Yasmeen A, Julien JP, Kong L, et al. A broadly neutralizing antibody targets the dynamic HIV envelope trimer apex via a long, rigidified, and anionic beta-hairpin structure. *Immunity* (2017) 46(4):690–702. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.03.017
- Martinez P, Sundling C, O'Dell S, Mascola JR, Wyatt RT, Karlsson Hedestam GB. Primate immune responses to HIV-1 Env formulated in the saponin-based adjuvant AbISCO-100 in the presence or absence of TLR9 co-stimulation. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:8925. doi:10.1038/srep08925
- Grundner C, Li Y, Louder M, Mascola J, Yang X, Sodroski J, et al. Analysis of the neutralizing antibody response elicited in rabbits by repeated inoculation with trimeric HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins. *Virology* (2005) 331(1):33–46. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2004.09.022
- Karlsson Hedestam GB, Guenaga J, Corcoran M, Wyatt RT. Evolution of B cell analysis and Env trimer redesign. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275(1):183–202. doi:10.1111/imr.12515
- 77. Sundling C, Zhang Z, Phad GE, Sheng Z, Wang Y, Mascola JR, et al. Singlecell and deep sequencing of IgG-switched macaque B cells reveal a diverse Ig repertoire following immunization. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(8):3637–44. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1303334
- Phad GE, Vázquez Bernat N, Feng Y, Ingale J, Martinez Murillo PA, O'Dell S, et al. Diverse antibody genetic and recognition properties revealed following HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein immunization. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(12): 5903–14. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500122
- 79. Wang Y, Sundling C, Wilson R, O'Dell S, Chen Y, Dai K, et al. High-resolution longitudinal study of HIV-1 Env vaccine-elicited B cell responses to the virus primary receptor binding site reveals affinity maturation and clonal persistence. J Immunol (2016) 196(9):3729–43. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502543

- Poulsen TR, Meijer PJ, Jensen A, Nielsen LS, Andersen PS. Kinetic, affinity, and diversity limits of human polyclonal antibody responses against tetanus toxoid. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(6):3841–50. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.6.3841
- Poulsen TR, Jensen A, Haurum JS, Andersen PS. Limits for antibody affinity maturation and repertoire diversification in hypervaccinated humans. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(8):4229–35. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000928
- Foote J, Eisen HN. Kinetic and affinity limits on antibodies produced during immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1995) 92(5):1254–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.92.5.1254
- Gnann JW Jr, Nelson JA, Oldstone MB. Fine mapping of an immunodominant domain in the transmembrane glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus. J Virol (1987) 61(8):2639–41.
- Goudsmit J, Kuiken CL, Nara PL. Linear versus conformational variation of V3 neutralization domains of HIV-1 during experimental and natural infection. *AIDS* (1989) 3(Suppl 1):S119–23. doi:10.1097/00002030-198901001-00017
- Posner MR, Cavacini LA, Emes CL, Power J, Byrn R. Neutralization of HIV-1 by F105, a human monoclonal antibody to the CD4 binding site of gp120. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* (1993) 6(1):7–14.
- Sundling C, Li Y, Huynh N, Poulsen C, Wilson R, O'Dell S, et al. Highresolution definition of vaccine-elicited B cell responses against the HIV primary receptor binding site. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4(142):142ra96. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003752
- Sundling C, Phad G, Douagi I, Navis M, Karlsson Hedestam GB. Isolation of antibody V(D)J sequences from single cell sorted rhesus macaque B cells. *J Immunol Methods* (2012) 386(1–2):85–93. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2012.09.003
- McCoy LE, van Gils MJ, Ozorowski G, Messmer T, Briney B, Voss JE, et al. Holes in the glycan shield of the native HIV envelope are a target of trimer-elicited neutralizing antibodies. *Cell Rep* (2016) 16(9):2327–38. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.07.074
- Georgiev IS, Joyce MG, Yang Y, Sastry M, Zhang B, Baxa U, et al. Single-chain soluble BG505.SOSIP gp140 trimers as structural and antigenic mimics of mature closed HIV-1 Env. *J Virol* (2015) 89(10):5318–29. doi:10.1128/ JVI.03451-14
- 90. Sharma SK, de Val N, Bale S, Guenaga J, Tran K, Feng Y, et al. Cleavageindependent HIV-1 Env trimers engineered as soluble native spike

mimetics for vaccine design. Cell Rep (2015) 11(4):539-50. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2015.03.047

- 91. Sanders RW, Derking R, Cupo A, Julien JP, Yasmeen A, de Val N, et al. A next-generation cleaved, soluble HIV-1 Env trimer, BG505 SOSIP.664 gp140, expresses multiple epitopes for broadly neutralizing but not non-neutralizing antibodies. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9(9):e1003618. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1003618
- Julien JP, Cupo A, Sok D, Stanfield RL, Lyumkis D, Deller MC, et al. Crystal structure of a soluble cleaved HIV-1 envelope trimer. *Science* (2013) 342(6165):1477–83. doi:10.1126/science.1245625
- Stewart-Jones GB, Soto C, Lemmin T, Chuang GY, Druz A, Kong R, et al. Trimeric HIV-1-Env structures define glycan shields from clades A, B, and G. *Cell* (2016) 165(4):813–26. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.04.010
- 94. Guenaga J, Garces F, de Val N, Stanfield RL, Dubrovskaya V, Higgins B, et al. Glycine substitution at helix-to-coil transitions facilitates the structural determination of a stabilized subtype C HIV envelope glycoprotein. *Immunity* (2017) 46(5):792–803.e3. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.04.014
- Martinez-Murillo P, Tran K, Guenaga J, Lindgren G, Àdori M, Feng Y, et al. Particulate array of well-ordered HIV Clade C Env trimers elicits neutralizing antibodies that display a unique V2 cap approach. *Immunity* (2017) 46(5):804–17.e3. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.04.021
- Hu JK, Crampton JC, Cupo A, Ketas T, van Gils MJ, Sliepen K, et al. Murine antibody responses to cleaved soluble HIV-1 envelope trimers are highly restricted in specificity. *J Virol* (2015) 89(20):10383–98. doi:10.1128/ JVI.01653-15

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Soldemo and Karlsson Hedestam. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Non-Neutralizing Antibodies Directed against HIV and Their Functions

Luzia M. Mayr^{1†}, Bin Su^{2†} and Christiane Moog^{1*}

¹ INSERM U1109, Fédération de Médecine Translationnelle de Strasbourg (FMTS), Université de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France, ² Beijing Key Laboratory for HIV/AIDS Research, Center for Infectious Diseases, Beijing You'an Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

B cells produce a plethora of anti-HIV antibodies (Abs) but only few of them exhibit neutralizing activity. This was long considered a profound limitation for the enforcement of humoral immune responses against HIV-1 infection, especially since these neutralizing Abs (nAbs) are extremely difficult to induce. However, increasing evidence shows that additional non-neutralizing Abs play a significant role in decreasing the viral load, leading to partial and sometimes even total protection. Mechanisms suspected to participate in protection are numerous. They involve the Fc domain of Abs as well as their Fab part, and consequently the induced Ab isotype will be determinant for their functions, as well as the quantity and quality of the Fc-receptors (FcRs) expressed on immune cells. Fc-mediated inhibitory functions, such as Ab-dependent cellular cytotoxicity, antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis, aggregation, and even immune activation have been proposed. However, as for nAbs, the non-neutralizing activities are limited to a subset of anti-HIV Abs. An improved in-depth characterization of the Abs displaying these functional responses is required for the development of new vaccination strategies, which aim to selectively trigger the B cells able to induce the right functional Ab combinations both at the right place and at the right time. This review summarizes our current knowledge on non-neutralizing functional inhibitory Abs and discusses the potential benefit of inducing them via vaccination. We also provide new insight into the roles of the FcyR-mediated Ab therapeutics in clinical trials for HIV diseases.

Keywords: HIV-1 infection, non-neutralizing antibodies, antibody functions, antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity, Fc-receptor-mediated inhibition

INTRODUCTION

A strong antibody (Ab) response is mounted following HIV infection but most Abs targeting the HIV have little neutralizing capacity. Upon humoral immune activation *via* infection, B cells undergo somatic hypermutations and isotype switching of the immunoglobulin gene in order to enhance the efficacy of the Ab response against the specific antigen (1). B cells can then differentiate into long-lived plasma cells (2). However, most of the B cells induced are directed against decoyed immune-dominant epitopes that have no or low antiviral function. The targeted epitopes are either useless for antiviral activity (directed against unfolded glycoprotein that are not present on infectious viruses) or against epitopes able to efficiently and quickly mutate to escape from the immune response. Only 10–20% of infected individuals are able to mount a B-cell response leading to the production of broadly neutralizing Abs (bnAbs). These bnAbs represent, therefore, only a minor

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriella Scarlatti, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Klaus Uberla, Ruhr University Bochum, Germany George Kenneth Lewis, Institute of Human Virology (IHV), United States

> *Correspondence: Christiane Moog c.moog@unistra.fr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 August 2017 Accepted: 06 November 2017 Published: 20 November 2017

Citation:

Mayr LM, Su B and Moog C (2017) Non-Neutralizing Antibodies Directed against HIV and Their Functions. Front. Immunol. 8:1590. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01590 amount of the humoral Ab response induced following HIV infection. They have specific characteristics: they are produced from B cells that undergo unusually long maturation steps with extraordinary levels of somatic mutations compared to germline and display long heavy chain complementarity-determining regions 3 to be able to bind masked epitopes. This allows the development of Abs that target specific antigens with high affinity (2).

In addition to germline mutation, the consecutive immunoglobulin class switching will change the Ab isotype (3). This Ab isotype switch is also determinant for its gain of function. The heavy chain constant region determining the Ab isotype will not only impact the neutralization capacity (*via* the Fab domain) but also play a crucial role on the Ab effector functions (*via* the Fc domain). In fact, the heavy chains define the Fc domain that will directly modulate the Fc-mediated inhibitory functions. These functions will greatly influence the further immune response. Interestingly, Fc-mediated inhibitory function was detected not only on neutralizing Abs (nAbs) but also on some specific Abs lacking neutralizing activity, therefore, called non-neutralizing inhibitory Abs (4) [reviewed in Ref. (5–11)].

In vivo, the Fc-mediated functions are now being addressed. It is well documented that the Fc-mediated effector functions contribute to Ab-mediated protection against HIV-1 for bnAbs (5-8, 12, 13). Two recent studies have tracked virus replication after early experimental mucosal infection and passive protective bnAb therapy (14, 15). Liu et al. showed that, in animals pretreated with bnAb PGT121 1 day before challenge with high-dose mucosal SHIV, early viral foci are detected at the distal site of infection before complete virus clearance (14). These results showed that bnAbs are able to eliminate the infected cells if some virus escapes from the neutralization of infection. Moreover, Hessell et al. found that early short-term post-exposure treatment with a cocktail of bnAbs VRC07-523 and PGT121 in newborn macaques, 1 day after oral SHIV_{SF162P3} challenge can intercept replicating viral foci established by day 1 (15). This study demonstrates that passive immunotherapy by Ab can eliminate viral foci and thereby prevent the establishment of viral reservoirs (14, 15). These two studies exploring early virus replication in the presence of nAbs clearly demonstrate that HIV escaping from neutralization can infect cells at a distal site of virus inoculation and be subsequently eliminated by bnAbs. They reveal that the complete lack of infection is not mandatory to obtain protection by nAbs. The discovery that nAbs can eliminate a few foci of infected cells is extremely useful for the vaccine field as this type of activity cannot be referred to as neutralization. The mechanism by which Abs ensure clearance of infected cells is not known but obviously these additional observations reinforce the potential role of Fc-mediated functions in the protective mechanisms of bnAbs. These results open a complete new area of research for the development of protective Ab responses. Additional experiments are now required to define the mechanism of infected cell clearance. In particular, increased analysis of the Ab protection at very early time points following challenge will help to identify the multiple inhibitory functions displayed by bnAbs.

The role of Fc-mediated functions of Abs lacking the broadly neutralizing capacity in HIV protection is still a matter

of debate. Importantly, specific Fc-mediated functions of nonneutralizing Abs (non-nAbs) are the only correlates of protection against infection observed in the RV144 vaccine trial conducted in Thailand (16-19). Still, how non-nAbs have contributed to protection remains unclear. In the non-human macaque model, the non-nAbs have shown some trends of decreased viral load or decreased number of transmitted founder viruses (20, 21). The exact mechanisms leading to this lower infection rate is not known, but again indicated that non-nAbs may participate in protection. Active immunization with HIV-1 vaccine candidates suggests that weakly neutralizing or non-nAbs protect by using Fc-mediated effector functions, albeit with a much lower dynamic range as for passive immunization with bnAbs (22). New tools, such as knockout mice or Abs engineered to abrogate or enhance certain functions, were recently developed. These technologies recently paved way for the demonstration of the role of Fc-mediated functions (23). Treatment with a nonnAb directed against the principal immunodominant domain of gp41 allowed for the selection of a recurring HIV mutation within the CD4 binding site in a totally Fc-dependent manner (23). These data are consistent with the hypothesis that a high titer polyclonal anti-envelope (env) non-nAb response may be sufficient to reach low levels of protection against HIV. Future directions need to more precisely characterize the functions and Ab characteristics needed to achieve such protection.

The identification of these additional non-neutralizing inhibitory Abs opens a whole new area of research. Functions involving the Fc domain of Abs can occur simultaneously, sequentially, and can sometimes be conflicting with other Ab functions. They were shown to contribute to the overall protective effect of Abs and to an efficient humoral immune response (5, 8–10, 12, 13, 20, 21, 23–25). This review will discuss the opportunity, difficulties, limitations, and parameters influencing these Fc-mediated Ab functions.

FUNCTIONAL ACTIVITIES OF Abs CAPTURING INFECTIOUS HIV PARTICLES

HIV-specific Abs are directed against numerous epitopes of the HIV glycoprotein, but only few are accessible as a quaternary structure of the functional trimeric envelope. Among them, five hotspot epitopes were shown to be involved in HIV neutralization (26, 27). Even so, Abs to additional epitopes were shown to bind to infectious viruses either by targeting additional epitopes on the trimeric env or non-functional env spikes expressed on HIV particles. These additional Abs, although not neutralizing, are able to bind and capture infectious virus, form immune complexes and/or virus/Ab aggregates, therefore leading to additional inhibitory functions.

HIV INHIBITION BY AGGREGATION

Formation of virus aggregates is a very basic mechanism of inhibition leading to the decrease of virus infectivity (28–32). The aggregates are formed by a network of Ab/virus interactions, where the virus is trapped. This leads to virus inactivation by

Non-nAb-Mediated Protection against HIV-1

limiting the distribution and accessibility of available pathogens, decreasing their motility or disrupting their integrity. This mechanism applies to Abs binding to numerous epitopes exposed at the surface of the virus particle. Aggregation more likely occurs with polymeric IgA that are able to dimerize via their Fc domain and IgM displaying pentameric forms. Indeed, inhibition by aggregation was proposed for the exceptional protective effect observed with IgA1 (33). In this study, a correlation was observed between the binding capacity of the anti-HIV IgA1 subclass Abs and the protective effect on rectal experimental challenge (33). For IgG, aggregation occurs by the recognition of two distinct epitopes/virions entities. This activity, therefore, usually has a dome-shaped relationship to the Ab concentration, declining at higher occupancies when it becomes improbable that a free paratope of an Ab molecule already bound to one virion can find a free epitope on a second virion. In the female reproductive tract containing cervical mucus, HIV aggregates will be trapped more efficiently as free virus particles (34). Moreover, the immune complexes formed may be retained efficiently in the mucus by their binding to MUC16 via the Fc domain of IgG Abs (24). In addition to this mechanic inhibition of HIV by aggregate formation, more complex mechanisms involving a further binding of the Abs to the Fc-receptor (FcR) expressed on the surface may take place.

THE ROLE OF FcRs

Fc-mediated inhibitory activity is entirely dependent on the capacity of Abs to trigger FcRs. These FcRs have to interact with the Fc domain of the Abs to trigger the Fc-mediated functions. Based on their homology, three classes of FcyRs have been described (FcyRI, II, and III). The distinct family members, including FcyRI, FcyRIIa, FcyRIIb, FcyRIIIa, and FcyRIIIb, are differentially expressed on the surface of immune cells, such as B cells, dendritic cells (DCs), NK cells, macrophages, neutrophils, eosinophils, and basophiles (35-39). They differ in their Ab affinities, favoring certain IgG subtypes depending on their amino acid sequences. This differential binding capacity, depending on the Ab isotype and the FcR genotype and its expression on the cell modulates the Ab activities and their capacity to activate or inhibit FcR-expressing cells. Therefore, the different FcR polymorphisms of the host need to be taken into consideration when analyzing FcR-mediated functions of Abs.

Single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have been described to occur in Fc γ RIIa, Fc γ RIIIa, and Fc γ RIIb at protein positions 131, 158, and 232, respectively, while human Fc γ RI was not found to be polymorphic. Since these SNPs affect FcR expression and IgG isotype binding leading to distinct effector functions, they can influence HIV vaccine efficacy, infection risk, and disease progression. For example, specific polymorphisms at the Fc γ RIIa (change from H to R at position 131) and the Fc γ RIIIa (change from V to F at position 158) gene loci have been associated with an HIV vaccine benefit (40). Li et al. described that subjects carrying a SNP in Fc γ RIIc (126C>T) were associated with a significant prevention of infection with an AE HIV-1 strain in the RV144 vaccine clinical trial (41). On the contrary, a small study that compared the Fc γ RIIa and Fc γ RIIIa genotype profiles of 73 patients that were able to control HIV with progressor patients did not find any difference in genotype frequency (42). The role of the different FcR polymorphisms and how it will impact on the overall HIV immune response is not known. Therefore, future research will need to assess in more details the role of FcR polymorphisms of the host on HIV infection and HIV vaccine development.

ANTIBODY-DEPENDENT CELLULAR PHAGOCYTOSIS (ADCP)

Antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis, which relies on phagocytes to internalize and degrade Ab-opsonized pathogens, is a well-described immune process. Abs coated to pathogens via their Fab domain will bind with their Fc domain to the FcR expressed on monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils to increase rapid elimination of the microorganisms. In the case of HIV, phagocytosis of immune complexes via the Fc domain of the nAbs was found to be associated with protective activity in the macaque model (43-45) and, recently, phagocytosis by macrophages or activated neutrophils was proposed to play a significant role in human tissues, even though it is yet unknown how exactly this inhibition occurs (46). Interestingly, this activity was also described for non-nAbs able to form immune complexes. It was shown that for some HIV-specific Abs, the binding via the Fab domain, on the one hand, and the binding to an antigenpresenting cell (APC) via the Fc domain, on the other hand, leads to efficient inhibition of HIV replication of the APCs (4). Phagocytosis by cell lines was shown using different HIV-specific Abs and gp120-coated beads (47) and when these cell lines were engineered to express different FcRs, the FcR-mediated inhibitory function of Abs was partially recovered. This type of activity relies on multiple Abs, able to form immune complexes and especially for Abs directed to the HIV gp41 epitope (33). Although HIV inhibition by phagocytosis of the immune complex could not be demonstrated using this FcR-expressing cell line, it was proposed that immune complex binding of FcyRI provides a kinetic advantage for gp41 nAbs against partially cryptic epitopes (33). An alternative mechanism may be proposed based on the observation that virus co-localizes with Abs and FcRs at the surface of APCs for a prolonged period. In this case, HIV captured at the cell surface via FcRs is deviated from the infection process, which requires binding to receptor/co-receptor for fusion with the cell membrane.

IMMUNOLOGICAL Ab FUNCTION

Antigen-presenting cells are specialized cells devoted to phagocyte immune complexes *via* their FcRs. This phagocytic process is much more efficient than the direct phagocytosis of pathogen by endocytosis. This mechanism of Fc-mediated phagocytosis of immune complexes will lead to an optimized induction of the adaptive immune response by APCs. In this regard, Abs forming the immune complexes may directly participate in the induction of the adaptive immune responses required for prolonged protection. The contribution of Abs in the development of an adaptive immune response was first described in the cancer field (48). Abs targeting tumor antigens were shown to interact with immune cells through Fc-dependent mechanisms to induce adaptive immune responses (49–51).

Increasing body of evidence suggests that this mechanism may also apply following HIV infection. Noteworthy, in vitro, the presence of HIV/Ab immune complexes induces the maturation of human DCs, supporting immune activation (52-54). The stimulation of the adaptive immune response was also observed following nAb therapy in infected macaques (45, 55). An increase of specific B-cell responses following passive nAb transfer in a non-human primate (NHP) model was described by Haigwoog's team (56). The immune complexes were able to activate T-cell immunity (57). More recently, human clinical data described the elicitation of host humoral responses in viremic subjects after a single injection of the potent anti-HIV nAb 3BNC117 (58). 3BNC117 immunotherapy was found to accelerate the level of neutralization breadth. Overall, these studies attribute an "immunogenic" role to Abs in that they may be able to induce primary and memory responses more efficiently than free viral particles or infected cells. Accordingly, Abs without neutralizing potency but able to form immune complexes may also lead to immune activation. Further investigations will be necessary to characterize the Abs involved in the implementation of an adaptive antiviral response, paving the way to new fields of applications.

FcR-MEDIATED INHIBITION OF CELL-TO-CELL HIV-1 TRANSMISSION

Noteworthy, APCs have been described as "Trojan horses" that, in addition to their capacity to mount an efficient immune response, will also facilitate the spread of HIV by efficient HIV transmission and dissemination to the surrounding CD4 T lymphocytes. Indeed, spread of HIV-1 infection through direct cell-to-cell HIV-1 transmission has been shown to be 100- to 1,000-fold more efficient than infection by cell-free virus, making a large and efficient contribution to HIV propagation and dissemination through the body (10, 59–61). Therefore, preventing cell-to-cell transmission of HIV-1 by specific Abs is crucial for inhibiting HIV-1 propagation. However, most *in vitro* neutralization assays and *in vivo* nAb protection experiments have been performed by using cell-free virus.

Studies analyzing the inhibition of cell-to-cell HIV-1 transmission by nAbs used diverse models of HIV-1 transmission, with different donor and target cells, various viral strains, and Ab and different readout for cell-to-cell transmission. Consequently, the results are divergent and controversial, some studied showing decreased Ab potential when HIV is directly transmitted to a target cell compared to inhibition of cell-free virus (62–72), whereas other studies showing similar inhibitory potential for cell-free versus cell-to-cell transmission (52–54, 73). Noteworthy, in comparative studies where the experimental design is normalized for the same replication capacity between cell-free or cellassociated virus and where the same primary target cells were used, identical Ab inhibitory activities were observed (52–54, 74). Under these conditions, cell-to-cell HIV-1 transmission from DCs/macrophages to CD4 T cells was inhibited to a similar extent as cell-free virus particles. Interestingly, similar results were described for antiviral compounds after normalization for virus replication and target cells (73, 75). These findings highlight the potential role of bnAb in protection from early HIV-1 transmission and rapid dissemination at mucosal frontlines if locally present early after sexual transmission.

As HIV-1 Abs can bind FcRs, Abs may inhibit HIV-1 transmission via FcR-mediated inhibitory activity. It was shown that nonneutralizing inhibitory Abs such as 246-D do not directly affect HIV-1 transmission from infected DCs to autologous CD4 T cells (54). Therefore, non-neutralizing inhibitory Abs were proposed to have no direct effect on HIV transmission. However, such Abs were shown to significantly reduce the percentage of infected DCs in DC-T cell co-cultures (54). For these non-neutralizing inhibitory Abs, a strong association was found between the FcyRspecific binding capacity, the inhibition of HIV-1 replication and the DC maturation. This suggests that the binding of these Abs to DCs triggers the maturation of these cells, resulting in lower levels of R5 virus replication (10, 54). Moreover, IgG-opsonized HIV-1 has been showed to impair provirus formation, p24 production and to decrease the long-term transmission rate to autologous non-stimulated CD4 T cells (76). These unconventional mechanisms of HIV inhibition detected in DCs but not in CD4 T lymphocytes may explain the lower levels of infection in the co-culture in the presence of non-nAbs. Therefore, these Fc-mediated inhibitory activities of Abs in DCs may participate in the overall diminution of HIV replication in DC-T cell HIV-1 transmission.

Altogether, the multiple Ab inhibitory activities should be taken into consideration for the study of the inhibition of cellto-cell HIV-1 transmission. A better understanding of this FcRmediated inhibition of HIV transmission is needed for future Ab-based therapeutics and protection strategies.

ANTIBODY-DEPENDENT CELLULAR CYTOTOXICITY (ADCC)

Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity, a complex and potent Fc-mediated effector function, requires the linking of an HIVinfected target cell to an immune effector cell *via* HIV-specific Abs. In this regard, Abs have to bind to HIV env, which is expressed on the surface of infected cells, *via* their Fab part and use their Fc domain to interact with FcRs expressed on the surface of effector cells, such as NK cells. This double interaction triggers the release of cytotoxic granules containing perforin and granzymes from the effector cells, leading to the death of the Ab-bound infected target cells.

Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity as well as nonneutralizing anti-V1/V2 Ab induction was shown to correlate with reduced HIV-1 infection risk in the human vaccine trial RV144 and in several NHPs studies (16, 18, 77–79). The data strongly suggest for ADCC to be a significant mechanism of protection against HIV-1 *in vivo* (7, 10, 22, 80). Interestingly, non-neutralizing anti-V2 monoclonal Abs elicited in HIV-1infected patients recently showed strong cross-reactive ADCC activity using different primary subtype B and C isolates as well as subtype B Transmitted/Founder viruses *in vitro* (81). This study reinforces the potential role of V2-specific Abs. However, as ADCC is a complex and multilayered activity, questions remain about which ADCC assay best reflects the biology of protection and shows the best correlation with *in vivo* studies. *In vitro* assays are difficult to carry out and the variability obtained between different ADCC assays developed in the HIV field is alarmingly high, due to different assay formats and readouts circulating in the field.

As the HIV env is conformationally highly dynamic and as different epitopes are exposed during the different phases of infection because of structural rearrangements, the window of opportunity for Abs to bind to their specific epitope in order to mediate ADCC might only be a few hours, during the viral entry and budding phases (7, 8, 82). Furthermore, different env forms (such as intact env, non-trimeric env, gp41 stumps, env peptides presented by the MHC, and so on) are expressed on infected cells depending on the Nef and Vpu accessory proteins present in the chosen virus type (primary virus, pseudovirus, infectious molecular clone). Also, HIV was shown to prevent the accumulation of env at the surface of target cells via a Vpu-mediated BST-2 antagonism (83). Noteworthy, the epitopes tackled by Abs with potential ADCC functions may differ from that involved in neutralization, opening the possibility of additional, enlarged, and distinct pattern of functional Abs. As a result, depending on the different env conformations, the recognition of specific epitopes will be influenced and have an impact on the ADCC results (84).

As ADCC relies on the capacity of the Ab to target infected cells, it could be proposed that by extension, Abs directed to all type of markers specifically expressed on infected cells may make the job. Therefore, targeting infected cells with Abs directed to FcRIIa, a marker recently identified on HIV cells reservoirs (85) or to specific markers of cell stress induced following infection (as NKG2D or MHC-E) may also participate in infected cell clearance. Another factor influencing ADCC outcomes and, thus, HIV disease progression are the target cells that carry out the lysis, which are predominantly NK cells. Their maturation and activation status as well as their subset distribution can vary widely in different tissues and according to the individual. Therefore, the activation of the ADCC target cells may be envisaged to enhance ADCC efficiency. Also, different polymorphisms on FcyRIIIa, expressed on NK cells, can impact their activation and ADCC activity (86).

ANTIBODY-MEDIATED COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION

The complement system is an integral part of the innate immune system which has multiple effects, including opsonization, recruitment of inflammatory cells, and cell lysis/virolysis. Complement activation can occur through three distinct pathways: classical, alternative, and lectin, and is vital for both innate and adaptive immune responses (87–91). Complement activation results in the generation of C3 and C5 convertase complexes, which

cleave C3 and C5, respectively, to generate the anaphylatoxin components C3a and C5a as well as the opsonin C3b, membrane attack complexes initiator C5b and, finally, to perforate the viral surface causing disruption and, thus, complement-mediated lysis (87, 88, 91).

Antibody-mediated complement activation by HIV has been widely studied over the years. The initially published studies on complement and HIV were conflicting (92, 93). Some reports said that the virus did not bind human serum complement unless Ab to the virus was present. Others suggested that the virus activated and bound complement spontaneously, even in the absence of Ab. The current knowledge, however, concludes that HIV has developed a sophisticated defense that protects the virus by failing to bind complement proteins. Indeed, virions bind complement poorly (especially the gp120 that is refractory to complement binding) (94). Moreover, HIV incorporates the human cell membrane complement down-regulatory molecules CD46, CD55, and CD59 during budding, thereby inhibiting complement-mediated damage to the virus. For this reason, the use of primary isolates produced by primary cells is absolutely mandatory for the study of complement-mediated effects. HIV also captures serum factor H to downregulate complement binding (95-97). On the other hand, HIV has evolved several mechanisms to exploit the complement system to facilitate the binding of HIV to target cells via CR2 or CD21 proteins, therefore leading to the enhancement of viral infectivity and the formation of virus reservoirs at different stages (98-104). For example, complement-mediated enhancement of HIV-1 by autologous non-nAbs obtained during acute HIV-1 infection was recently illustrated in *in vitro* studies (95, 98).

Interestingly, the role of complement activity of the Fc domain of nAb b12 evaluated in the non-human macaque challenge model revealed that a b12 Fc mutant defective for C1q binding and complement activation exhibited comparable activity to that of wild-type b12 (13). This indicates that complement is not required for optimal in vivo Ab protection against SHIV infection (13). Nonetheless, complement activation by V1V2-specific Abs was stronger and detected more frequently in RV144 with a reduced risk of HIV-1 infection than in two related trials, VAX003 and VAX004, for which no significant protection was observed (105). These results suggest that a certain level of Ab-dependent complement activity may have contributed in part to a modest protection against the acquisition of HIV-1 infection in the phase III RV144 HIV-1 vaccine trial. Together, complement can mediate a variety of biological functions, the relative contribution of virus lysis and enhancement in the tissue and in the periphery may differ and needs to be further investigated. Additional studies will be needed to define the role of complement activation and regulation in HIV infection and to unravel whether the beneficial or the detrimental effects of complement and Ab dominate in vivo. A possible balance of Ab-mediated immune responses, including complement activation, may be the key for the induction of in vivo protection against HIV.

CONCLUSION

The plethora of additional Ab functions listed below demonstrates the extremely large potential of functional Abs. Therefore, there is no single mechanism or assay that has come to the front to predict vaccine efficacy. This is a major issue confronting researchers in the HIV field and it is also important for other cases of Ab-mediated protection against infectious diseases.

The Abs will be produced by B cell following an interplay of somatic hypermutations and isotype switching. The successive modifications leading to the maturation of the immune response is still poorly understand. Recently, the frequency of HIV-env-specific memory B cells correlated positively with the neutralization breadth in HLA-B*57+ HIV elite controllers but not in HLA-B*57-elite controllers (ECs), suggesting a very specific induction or preservation of HIV-specific memory B cells in these patients (106). However, the factors allowing the establishment of this efficient humoral response is not known.

The long-lasting persistence of HIV following infection demonstrated that the sole repetitive contact with an antigen is not sufficient to mount a humoral response able to generate functional Abs. What are the additional component necessary to induce the rearrangement necessary to obtain B cells producing Abs with the Fab domain that recognize the right epitope and the Fc domain with the best functionality? Even more enigmatic, which immunization protocol can trigger such a response? The

REFERENCES

- Haynes BF, Mascola JR. The quest for an antibody-based HIV vaccine. Immunol Rev (2017) 275:5–10. doi:10.1111/imr.12517
- Moir S, Fauci AS. B-cell responses to HIV infection. Immunol Rev (2017) 275:33–48. doi:10.1111/imr.12502
- den Haan JM, Arens R, van Zelm MC. The activation of the adaptive immune system: cross-talk between antigen-presenting cells, T cells and B cells. *Immunol Lett* (2014) 162:103–12. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2014.10.011
- Holl V, Peressin M, Decoville T, Schmidt S, Zolla-Pazner S, Aubertin AM, et al. Nonneutralizing antibodies are able to inhibit human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in macrophages and immature dendritic cells. *J Virol* (2006) 80:6177–81. doi:10.1128/JVI.02625-05
- Mayr L, Su B, Moog C. Role of nonneutralizing antibodies in vaccines and/or HIV infected individuals. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2017) 12:209–15. doi:10.1097/COH.00000000000357
- Bournazos S, Ravetch JV. Anti-retroviral antibody FcgammaR-mediated effector functions. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275:285–95. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-051116-052433
- Lewis GK, Pazgier M, Evans DT, Ferrari G, Bournazos S, Parsons MS, et al. Beyond viral neutralization. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2017) 33:760–4. doi:10.1089/AID.2016.0299
- Lewis GK, Pazgier M, DeVico AL. Survivors remorse: antibody-mediated protection against HIV-1. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275:271–84. doi:10.1111/ imr.12510
- French MA, Tjiam MC, Abudulai LN, Fernandez S. Antiviral functions of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific IgG antibodies: effects of antiretroviral therapy and implications for therapeutic HIV-1 vaccine design. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:780. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00780
- Su B, Moog C. Which antibody functions are important for an HIV vaccine? *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:289. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00289
- Holl V, Peressin M, Moog C. Antibody-mediated Fcgamma receptor-based mechanisms of HIV inhibition: recent findings and new vaccination strategies. *Viruses* (2009) 1:1265–94. doi:10.3390/v1031265
- 12. Klein K, Veazey RS, Warrier R, Hraber P, Doyle-Meyers LA, Buffa V, et al. Neutralizing IgG at the portal of infection mediates protection against vaginal simian/human immunodeficiency virus challenge. *J Virol* (2013) 87:11604–16. doi:10.1128/JVI.01361-13

in-depth characterization of the different Ab functionality is the first step toward the understanding on how to trigger such an efficient B-cell response.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LM, BS, and CM wrote the manuscript. CM revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

We thank our financial supports, the French Agency for Research on AIDS and Viral Hepatitis (ANRS), the Vaccine Research institute, Investissements d'Avenir program managed by the ANR under reference ANR-10-LABX-77, SIDACTION Pierre Bergé, the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 681032, and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81772165), the Funding for Chinese overseas talents returning to China in 2016 (BS), the Basic-Clinical Research Cooperation Fund of Capital Medical University (17JL20), Fund of Key Laboratory of Capital Medical University (2-03-02-BJYAH2016003), and the Beijing Key Laboratory for HIV/AIDS Research (BZ0089).

- Hessell AJ, Hangartner L, Hunter M, Havenith CE, Beurskens FJ, Bakker JM, et al. Fc receptor but not complement binding is important in antibody protection against HIV. *Nature* (2007) 449:101–4. doi:10.1038/ nature06106
- Liu J, Ghneim K, Sok D, Bosche WJ, Li Y, Chipriano E, et al. Antibodymediated protection against SHIV challenge includes systemic clearance of distal virus. *Science* (2016) 353:1045–9. doi:10.1126/science.aag0491
- Hessell AJ, Jaworski JP, Epson E, Matsuda K, Pandey S, Kahl C, et al. Early short-term treatment with neutralizing human monoclonal antibodies halts SHIV infection in infant macaques. *Nat Med* (2016) 22:362–8. doi:10.1038/ nm.4063
- Zolla-Pazner S, deCamp A, Gilbert PB, Williams C, Yates NL, Williams WT, et al. Vaccine-induced IgG antibodies to V1V2 regions of multiple HIV-1 subtypes correlate with decreased risk of HIV-1 infection. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e87572. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087572
- Tomaras GD, Ferrari G, Shen X, Alam SM, Liao HX, Pollara J, et al. Vaccineinduced plasma IgA specific for the C1 region of the HIV-1 envelope blocks binding and effector function of IgG. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:9019–24. doi:10.1073/pnas.1301456110
- Haynes BF, Gilbert PB, McElrath MJ, Zolla-Pazner S, Tomaras GD, Alam SM, et al. Immune-correlates analysis of an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:1275–86. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1113425
- Bonsignori M, Pollara J, Moody MA, Alpert MD, Chen X, Hwang KK, et al. Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity-mediating antibodies from an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial target multiple epitopes and preferentially use the VH1 gene family. *J Virol* (2012) 86:11521–32. doi:10.1128/JVI.01023-12
- Santra S, Tomaras GD, Warrier R, Nicely NI, Liao HX, Pollara J, et al. Human non-neutralizing HIV-1 envelope monoclonal antibodies limit the number of founder viruses during SHIV mucosal infection in rhesus macaques. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1005042. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005042
- Moog C, Dereuddre-Bosquet N, Teillaud JL, Biedma ME, Holl V, Van Ham G, et al. Protective effect of vaginal application of neutralizing and nonneutralizing inhibitory antibodies against vaginal SHIV challenge in macaques. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7:46–56. doi:10.1038/mi.2013.23
- Lewis GK, Finzi A, DeVico AL, Pazgier M. Conformational masking and receptor-dependent unmasking of highly conserved Env epitopes recognized by non-neutralizing antibodies that mediate potent ADCC against HIV-1. Viruses (2015) 7:5115–32. doi:10.3390/v7092856

- Horwitz JA, Bar-On Y, Lu CL, Fera D, Lockhart AAK, Lorenzi JCC, et al. Non-neutralizing antibodies alter the course of HIV-1 infection *in vivo*. *Cell* (2017) 170:637–648.e610. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.06.048
- 24. Gunn BM, Schneider JR, Shansab M, Bastian AR, Fahrbach KM, Smith A IV, et al. Enhanced binding of antibodies generated during chronic HIV infection to mucus component MUC16. *Mucosal Immunol* (2016) 9:1549–58. doi:10.1038/mi.2016.8
- DiLillo DJ, Palese P, Wilson PC, Ravetch JV. Broadly neutralizing antiinfluenza antibodies require Fc receptor engagement for *in vivo* protection. *J Clin Invest* (2016) 126:605–10. doi:10.1172/JCI84428
- McCoy LE, Burton DR. Identification and specificity of broadly neutralizing antibodies against HIV. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275:11–20. doi:10.1111/ imr.12484
- Kwong PD, Chuang GY, DeKosky BJ, Gindin T, Georgiev IS, Lemmin T, et al. Antibodyomics: bioinformatics technologies for understanding B-cell immunity to HIV-1. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275:108–28. doi:10.1111/imr.12480
- Alexander MR, Sanders RW, Moore JP, Klasse PJ. Short communication: virion aggregation by neutralizing and nonneutralizing antibodies to the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2015) 31:1160–5. doi:10.1089/AID.2015.0050
- Stieh DJ, King DF, Klein K, Liu P, Shen X, Hwang KK, et al. Aggregate complexes of HIV-1 induced by multimeric antibodies. *Retrovirology* (2014) 11:78. doi:10.1186/s12977-014-0078-8
- Watkins JD, Sholukh AM, Mukhtar MM, Siddappa NB, Lakhashe SK, Kim M, et al. Anti-HIV IgA isotypes: differential virion capture and inhibition of transcytosis are linked to prevention of mucosal R5 SHIV transmission. *AIDS* (2013) 27:F13–20. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e328360eac6
- Stieh D, Gioia C, McRaven M, Cianci G, Kiser P, Hope T. Development of an imaging based virus aggregation assay for vaccine development. *Retrovirology* (2012) 9:319. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-9-S2-P319
- Klasse PJ, Sattentau QJ. Occupancy and mechanism in antibody-mediated neutralization of animal viruses. J Gen Virol (2002) 83:2091–108. doi:10.1099/0022-1317-83-9-2091
- 33. Perez LG, Costa MR, Todd CA, Haynes BF, Montefiori DC. Utilization of immunoglobulin G Fc receptors by human immunodeficiency virus type 1: a specific role for antibodies against the membrane-proximal external region of gp41. J Virol (2009) 83:7397–410. doi:10.1128/JVI.00656-09
- Fahrbach KM, Malykhina O, Stieh DJ, Hope TJ. Differential binding of IgG and IgA to mucus of the female reproductive tract. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e76176. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076176
- Bournazos S, Ravetch JV. Fcgamma receptor function and the design of vaccination strategies. *Immunity* (2017) 47:224–33. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2017.07.009
- Boesch AW, Brown EP, Ackerman ME. The role of Fc receptors in HIV prevention and therapy. *Immunol Rev* (2015) 268:296–310. doi:10.1111/ imr.12339
- Nagelkerke SQ, Kuijpers TW. Immunomodulation by IVIg and the role of Fc-gamma receptors: classic mechanisms of action after all? *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:674. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00674. eCollection 2014.
- Vidarsson G, Dekkers G, Rispens T. IgG subclasses and allotypes: from structure to effector functions. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:520. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00520
- Bruhns P, Iannascoli B, England P, Mancardi DA, Fernandez N, Jorieux S, et al. Specificity and affinity of human Fcgamma receptors and their polymorphic variants for human IgG subclasses. *Blood* (2009) 113:3716–25. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-179754
- Forthal DN, Landucci G, Bream J, Jacobson LP, Phan TB, Montoya B. FcgammaRIIa genotype predicts progression of HIV infection. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:7916–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.11.7916
- Li SS, Gilbert PB, Tomaras GD, Kijak G, Ferrari G, Thomas R, et al. FCGR2C polymorphisms associate with HIV-1 vaccine protection in RV144 trial. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124:3879–90. doi:10.1172/JCI75539
- Deepe GS Jr, Buesing WR. Deciphering the pathways of death of *Histo-plasma capsulatum*-infected macrophages: implications for the immuno-pathogenesis of early infection. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:334–44. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102175
- 43. Tuero I, Mohanram V, Musich T, Miller L, Vargas-Inchaustegui DA, Demberg T, et al. Mucosal B cells are associated with delayed SIV acquisition

in vaccinated female but not male rhesus macaques following SIVmac251 rectal challenge. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1005101. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1005101

- Barouch DH, Alter G, Broge T, Linde C, Ackerman ME, Brown EP, et al. Protective efficacy of adenovirus/protein vaccines against SIV challenges in rhesus monkeys. *Science* (2015) 349:320–4. doi:10.1126/science.aab3886
- Barouch DH, Stephenson KE, Borducchi EN, Smith K, Stanley K, McNally AG, et al. Protective efficacy of a global HIV-1 mosaic vaccine against heterologous SHIV challenges in rhesus monkeys. *Cell* (2013) 155:531–9. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.061
- 46. Sips M, Krykbaeva M, Diefenbach TJ, Ghebremichael M, Bowman BA, Dugast AS, et al. Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis in tissues as a potent mechanism for preventive and therapeutic HIV vaccine strategies. *Mucosal Immunol* (2016) 9:1584–95. doi:10.1038/mi.2016.12
- Ackerman ME, Dugast AS, McAndrew EG, Tsoukas S, Licht AF, Irvine DJ, et al. Enhanced phagocytic activity of HIV-specific antibodies correlates with natural production of immunoglobulins with skewed affinity for FcgammaR2a and FcgammaR2b. *J Virol* (2013) 87:5468–76. doi:10.1128/ JVI.03403-12
- Abes R, Gelize E, Fridman WH, Teillaud JL. Long-lasting antitumor protection by anti-CD20 antibody through cellular immune response. *Blood* (2010) 116:926–34. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-10-248609
- Michaud HA, Eliaou JF, Lafont V, Bonnefoy N, Gros L. Tumor antigen-targeting monoclonal antibody-based immunotherapy: orchestrating combined strategies for the development of long-term antitumor immunity. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e955684. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.955684
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Antibody-mediated modulation of immune responses. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 236:265–75. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X. 2010.00910.x
- Regnault A, Lankar D, Lacabanne V, Rodriguez A, Thery C, Rescigno M, et al. Fcgamma receptor-mediated induction of dendritic cell maturation and major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted antigen presentation after immune complex internalization. *J Exp Med* (1999) 189:371–80. doi:10.1084/jem.189.2.371
- Su B, Peressin M, Ducloy C, Penichon J, Mayr LM, Laumond G, et al. Short communication: exploring antibody potential as prophylactic/therapeutic strategies for prevention of early mucosal HIV-1 infection. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2015) 31:1187–91. doi:10.1089/AID.2015.0041
- Su B, Lederle A, Laumond G, Ducloy C, Schmidt S, Decoville T, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibody VRC01 prevents HIV-1 transmission from plasmacytoid dendritic cells to CD4 T lymphocytes. *J Virol* (2014) 88:10975–81. doi:10.1128/JVI.01748-14
- 54. Su B, Xu K, Lederle A, Peressin M, Biedma ME, Laumond G, et al. Neutralizing antibodies inhibit HIV-1 transfer from primary dendritic cells to autologous CD4 T lymphocytes. *Blood* (2012) 120:3708–17. doi:10.1182/ blood-2012-03-418913
- Barouch DH, Whitney JB, Moldt B, Klein F, Oliveira TY, Liu J, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of potent neutralizing HIV-1-specific monoclonal antibodies in SHIV-infected rhesus monkeys. *Nature* (2013) 503:224–8. doi:10.1038/nature12744
- Ng CT, Jaworski JP, Jayaraman P, Sutton WF, Delio P, Kuller L, et al. Passive neutralizing antibody controls SHIV viremia and enhances B cell responses in infant macaques. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:1117–9. doi:10.1038/nm.2233
- 57. Watkins JD, Siddappa NB, Lakhashe SK, Humbert M, Sholukh A, Hemashettar G, et al. An anti-HIV-1 V3 loop antibody fully protects cross-clade and elicits T-cell immunity in macaques mucosally challenged with an R5 clade C SHIV. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e18207. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0018207
- Schoofs T, Klein F, Braunschweig M, Kreider EF, Feldmann A, Nogueira L, et al. HIV-1 therapy with monoclonal antibody 3BNC117 elicits host immune responses against HIV-1. *Science* (2016) 352:997–1001. doi:10.1126/science.aaf0972
- Law KM, Satija N, Esposito AM, Chen BK. Cell-to-cell spread of HIV and viral pathogenesis. *Adv Virus Res* (2016) 95:43–85. doi:10.1016/ bs.aivir.2016.03.001
- Casartelli N. HIV-1 cell-to-cell transmission and antiviral strategies: an overview. Curr Drug Targets (2016) 17:65–75. doi:10.2174/1389450117011 51217105638

- Agosto LM, Uchil PD, Mothes W. HIV cell-to-cell transmission: effects on pathogenesis and antiretroviral therapy. *Trends Microbiol* (2015) 23:289–95. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2015.02.003
- Li H, Zony C, Chen P, Chen BK. Reduced potency and incomplete neutralization of broadly neutralizing antibodies against cell-to-cell transmission of HIV-1 with transmitted founder Envs. *J Virol* (2017) 91:e2425–2416. doi:10.1128/JVI.02425-16
- Gombos RB, Kolodkin-Gal D, Eslamizar L, Owuor JO, Mazzola E, Gonzalez AM, et al. Inhibitory effect of individual or combinations of broadly neutralizing antibodies and antiviral reagents against cell-free and cell-to-cell HIV-1 transmission. *J Virol* (2015) 89:7813–28. doi:10.1128/JVI. 00783-15
- Zhong P, Agosto LM, Ilinskaya A, Dorjbal B, Truong R, Derse D, et al. Cell-tocell transmission can overcome multiple donor and target cell barriers imposed on cell-free HIV. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e53138. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0053138
- Malbec M, Porrot F, Rua R, Horwitz J, Klein F, Halper-Stromberg A, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibodies that inhibit HIV-1 cell to cell transmission. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:2813–21. doi:10.1084/jem.20131244
- 66. Sagar M, Akiyama H, Etemad B, Ramirez N, Freitas I, Gummuluru S. Transmembrane domain membrane proximal external region but not surface unit-directed broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies can restrict dendritic cell-mediated HIV-1 trans-infection. J Infect Dis (2012) 205:1248–57. doi:10.1093/infdis/jis183
- Durham ND, Yewdall AW, Chen P, Lee R, Zony C, Robinson JE, et al. Neutralization resistance of virological synapse-mediated HIV-1 infection is regulated by the gp41 cytoplasmic tail. *J Virol* (2012) 86:7484–95. doi:10.1128/JVI.00230-12
- Abela IA, Berlinger L, Schanz M, Reynell L, Gunthard HF, Rusert P, et al. Cell-cell transmission enables HIV-1 to evade inhibition by potent CD4bs directed antibodies. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002634. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1002634
- Sanchez-Palomino S, Massanella M, Carrillo J, Garcia A, Garcia F, Gonzalez N, et al. A cell-to-cell HIV transfer assay identifies humoral responses with broad neutralization activity. *Vaccine* (2011) 29:5250–9. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.05.016
- Dale BM, McNerney GP, Thompson DL, Hubner W, de Los Reyes K, Chuang FY, et al. Cell-to-cell transfer of HIV-1 via virological synapses leads to endosomal virion maturation that activates Viral membrane fusion. *Cell Host Microbe* (2011) 10:551–62. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2011.10.015
- Hubner W, McNerney GP, Chen P, Dale BM, Gordon RE, Chuang FY, et al. Quantitative 3D video microscopy of HIV transfer across T cell virological synapses. *Science* (2009) 323:1743–7. doi:10.1126/science.1167525
- Chen P, Hubner W, Spinelli MA, Chen BK. Predominant mode of human immunodeficiency virus transfer between T cells is mediated by sustained Env-dependent neutralization-resistant virological synapses. *J Virol* (2007) 81:12582–95. doi:10.1128/JVI.00381-07
- Martin N, Welsch S, Jolly C, Briggs JA, Vaux D, Sattentau QJ. Virological synapse-mediated spread of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 between T cells is sensitive to entry inhibition. *J Virol* (2010) 84:3516–27. doi:10.1128/ JVI.02651-09
- Duncan CJ, Williams JP, Schiffner T, Gartner K, Ochsenbauer C, Kappes J, et al. High-multiplicity HIV-1 infection and neutralizing antibody evasion mediated by the macrophage-T cell virological synapse. *J Virol* (2014) 88:2025–34. doi:10.1128/JVI.03245-13
- Duncan CJ, Russell RA, Sattentau QJ. High multiplicity HIV-1 cell-to-cell transmission from macrophages to CD4+ T cells limits antiretroviral efficacy. *AIDS* (2013) 27:2201–6. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283632ec4
- Wilflingseder D, Banki Z, Garcia E, Pruenster M, Pfister G, Muellauer B, et al. IgG opsonization of HIV impedes provirus formation in and infection of dendritic cells and subsequent long-term transfer to T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:7840–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.12.7840
- 77. Wren LH, Chung AW, Isitman G, Kelleher AD, Parsons MS, Amin J, et al. Specific antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity responses associated with slow progression of HIV infection. *Immunology* (2013) 138:116–23. doi:10.1111/imm.12016
- Chung AW, Navis M, Isitman G, Centre R, Finlayson R, Bloch M, et al. Activation of NK cells by ADCC responses during early HIV infection. *Viral Immunol* (2011) 24:171–5. doi:10.1089/vim.2010.0108

- Baum LL, Cassutt KJ, Knigge K, Khattri R, Margolick J, Rinaldo C, et al. HIV-1 gp120-specific antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity correlates with rate of disease progression. *J Immunol* (1996) 157: 2168–73.
- Chung AW, Ghebremichael M, Robinson H, Brown E, Choi I, Lane S, et al. Polyfunctional Fc-effector profiles mediated by IgG subclass selection distinguish RV144 and VAX003 vaccines. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:228ra238. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3007736
- Mayr LM, Decoville T, Schmidt S, Laumond G, Klingler J, Ducloy C, et al. Non-neutralizing antibodies targeting the V1V2 domain of HIV exhibit strong antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxic activity. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:12655. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-12883-6
- Lewis GK. The first 24 h: targeting the window of opportunity for antibody-mediated protection against HIV-1 transmission. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2016) 11:561–8. doi:10.1097/COH.00000000000319
- Veillette M, Richard J, Pazgier M, Lewis GK, Parsons MS, Finzi A. Role of HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins conformation and accessory proteins on ADCC responses. *Curr HIV Res* (2016) 14:9–23. doi:10.2174/15701 62X13666150827093449
- Gohain N, Tolbert WD, Orlandi C, Richard J, Ding S, Chen X, et al. Molecular basis for epitope recognition by non-neutralizing anti-gp41 antibody F240. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:36685. doi:10.1038/srep36685
- Descours B, Petitjean G, Lopez-Zaragoza JL, Bruel T, Raffel R, Psomas C, et al. CD32a is a marker of a CD4 T-cell HIV reservoir harbouring replication-competent proviruses. *Nature* (2017) 543:564–7. doi:10.1038/ nature21710
- Hirvinen M, Heiskanen R, Oksanen M, Pesonen S, Liikanen I, Joensuu T, et al. Fc-gamma receptor polymorphisms as predictive and prognostic factors in patients receiving oncolytic adenovirus treatment. *J Transl Med* (2013) 11:193. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-11-193
- Killick J, Morisse G, Sieger D, Astier AL. Complement as a regulator of adaptive immunity. *Semin Immunopathol* (2017):1–12. doi:10.1007/ s00281-017-0644-y
- Ghebrehiwet B. The complement system: an evolution in progress. F1000Res (2016) 5:2840. doi:10.12688/f1000research.10065.1
- Nesargikar PN, Spiller B, Chavez R. The complement system: history, pathways, cascade and inhibitors. *Eur J Microbiol Immunol (Bp)* (2012) 2:103–11. doi:10.1556/EuJMI.2.2012.2.2
- 90. Carroll MC. The complement system in regulation of adaptive immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5:981–6. doi:10.1038/ni1113
- 91. Freeley S, Kemper C, Le Friec G. The "ins and outs" of complement-driven immune responses. *Immunol Rev* (2016) 274:16–32. doi:10.1111/imr.12472
- Susal C, Kirschfink M, Kropelin M, Daniel V, Opelz G. Complement activation by recombinant HIV-1 glycoprotein gp120. *J Immunol* (1994) 152:6028–34.
- Solder BM, Schulz TF, Hengster P, Lower J, Larcher C, Bitterlich G, et al. HIV and HIV-infected cells differentially activate the human complement system independent of antibody. *Immunol Lett* (1989) 22:135–45. doi:10.1016/0165-2478(89)90180-6
- Frank MM, Hester C, Jiang H. Complement and the control of HIV infection: an evolving story. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2014) 9:278–90. doi:10.1097/ COH.00000000000058
- 95. Yu Q, Yu R, Qin X. The good and evil of complement activation in HIV-1 infection. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2010) 7:334–40. doi:10.1038/cmi.2010.8
- Stoiber H, Pruenster M, Ammann CG, Dierich MP. Complement-opsonized HIV: the free rider on its way to infection. *Mol Immunol* (2005) 42:153–60. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2004.06.024
- Montefiori DC, Cornell RJ, Zhou JY, Zhou JT, Hirsch VM, Johnson PR. Complement control proteins, CD46, CD55, and CD59, as common surface constituents of human and simian immunodeficiency viruses and possible targets for vaccine protection. *Virology* (1994) 205:82–92. doi:10.1006/ viro.1994.1622
- Willey S, Aasa-Chapman MM, O'Farrell S, Pellegrino P, Williams I, Weiss RA, et al. Extensive complement-dependent enhancement of HIV-1 by autologous non-neutralising antibodies at early stages of infection. *Retrovirology* (2011) 8:16. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-8-16
- 99. Montefiori DC, Pantaleo G, Fink LM, Zhou JT, Zhou JY, Bilska M, et al. Neutralizing and infection-enhancing antibody responses to human

immunodeficiency virus type 1 in long-term nonprogressors. J Infect Dis (1996) 173:60-7. doi:10.1093/infdis/173.1.60

- 100. Fust G, Toth FD, Kiss J, Ujhelyi E, Nagy I, Banhegyi D. Neutralizing and enhancing antibodies measured in complement-restored serum samples from HIV-1-infected individuals correlate with immunosuppression and disease. *AIDS* (1994) 8:603–9. doi:10.1097/00002030-199405000-00005
- Banki Z, Stoiber H, Dierich MP. HIV and human complement: inefficient virolysis and effective adherence. *Immunol Lett* (2005) 97:209–14. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2004.11.007
- Robinson WE Jr, Montefiori DC, Mitchell WM. Complement-mediated antibody-dependent enhancement of HIV-1 infection requires CD4 and complementreceptors. *Virology*(1990)175:600–4. doi:10.1016/0042-6822(90)90449-2
- 103. Robinson WE Jr, Montefiori DC, Gillespie DH, Mitchell WM. Complementmediated, antibody-dependent enhancement of HIV-1 infection *in vitro* is characterized by increased protein and RNA syntheses and infectious virus release. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* (1989) 2:33–42.
- Robinson WE Jr, Montefiori DC, Mitchell WM. Antibody-dependent enhancement of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Lancet* (1988) 1:790–4. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(88)91657-1

- 105. Perez LG, Martinez DR, deCamp AC, Pinter A, Berman PW, Francis D, et al. V1V2-specific complement activating serum IgG as a correlate of reduced HIV-1 infection risk in RV144. *PLoS One* (2017) 12:e0180720. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0180720
- 106. Rouers A, Klingler J, Su B, Samri A, Laumond G, Even S, et al. HIV-specific B cell frequency correlates with neutralization breadth in patients naturally controlling HIV-infection. *EBioMedicine* (2017) 21:158–69. doi:10.1016/j. ebiom.2017.05.029

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Mayr, Su and Moog. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Increasing the Clinical Potential and Applications of Anti-HIV Antibodies

Casey K. Hua¹ and Margaret E. Ackerman^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Geisel School of Medicine, Lebanon, NH, United States, ² Thayer School of Engineering, Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH, United States

Preclinical and early human clinical studies of broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNAbs) to prevent and treat HIV infection support the clinical utility and potential of bNAbs for prevention, postexposure prophylaxis, and treatment of acute and chronic infection. Observed and potential limitations of bNAbs from these recent studies include the selection of resistant viral populations, immunogenicity resulting in the development of antidrug (Ab) responses, and the potentially toxic elimination of reservoir cells in regeneration-limited tissues. Here, we review opportunities to improve the clinical utility of HIV Abs to address these challenges and further accomplish functional targets for anti-HIV Ab therapy at various stages of exposure/infection. Before exposure, bNAbs' ability to serve as prophylaxis by neutralization may be improved by increasing serum half-life to necessitate less frequent administration, delivering genes for durable in vivo expression, and targeting bNAbs to sites of exposure. After exposure and/or in the setting of acute infection, bNAb use to prevent/reduce viral reservoir establishment and spread may be enhanced by increasing the potency with which autologous adaptive immune responses are stimulated, clearing acutely infected cells, and preventing cell-cell transmission of virus. In the setting of chronic infection, bNAbs may better mediate viral remission or "cure" in combination with antiretroviral therapy and/or latency reversing agents, by targeting additional markers of tissue reservoirs or infected cell types, or by serving as targeting moieties in engineered cell therapy. While the clinical use of HIV Abs has never been closer, remaining studies to precisely define, model, and understand the complex roles and dynamics of HIV Abs and viral evolution in the context of the human immune system and anatomical compartmentalization will be critical to both optimize their clinical use in combination with existing agents and define further strategies with which to enhance their clinical safety and efficacy.

Keywords: HIV antibodies, virus neutralization, passive immunotherapy, antibody prophylaxis, antibody engineering

INTRODUCTION

Antibody (Ab)-based therapies have a robust history of therapeutic utility in the setting of infectious diseases, first serving as serum therapy in the 1800s to treat diphtheria and most recently, as monoclonal antibody (mAb) preparations developed to combat emergent outbreaks such as Ebola. Endogenous antibodies raised within the context of HIV infection have similarly demonstrated antiviral activity (1), but typically arise too late in the natural history of infection to prevent disease progression (2). Within infected individuals, viral populations consistently outpace host immune responses in a coevolutionary race to gain functionally favorable mutations contributing to immune evasion or viral

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriella Scarlatti, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Penny Moore, WITS University, South Africa Stephen Kent, University of Melbourne, Australia

*Correspondence:

Margaret E. Ackerman margaret.e.ackerman@ dartmouth.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 29 August 2017 Accepted: 13 November 2017 Published: 28 November 2017

Citation:

Hua CK and Ackerman ME (2017) Increasing the Clinical Potential and Applications of Anti-HIV Antibodies. Front. Immunol. 8:1655. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01655

119



neutralization/suppression, respectively. However, heterologous administration of particularly potent and broad antibodies prior to exposure or to acutely infected individuals has demonstrated therapeutic utility in humanized mice (3–7), macaques (8–13), and humans (14–19).

Several reviews have described the activity and potential of broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNAbs) for HIV prevention and therapy (20–27). Building upon a recent comprehensive review of engineering opportunities to extend the functional capacity and antiviral activity of bNAbs (28), this review incorporates findings from more recently published macaque and human bNAb clinical trials to explore both observed and potential challenges to successful bNAb implementation at various stages of exposure/disease to prevent infection, minimize viral spread, suppress viral growth, and eliminate viral populations.

Promise/Potential: bNAbs in Human Clinical and Macaque Preclinical Trials

The abundance of studies supporting the antiviral activity and potential of bNAbs to mediate protection from and control of HIV infection in animal models have renewed hope and interest in bNAbs for clinical use. Antibodies can exert antiviral activity through a combination of (1) virus neutralization, preventing initial infection, and viral spread, (2) Fc-mediated effector functions, contributing to the clearance of infected cells, and (3) enhancement of endogenous host antiviral immune responses (**Figure 1**). In the last 2 years alone, promising human clinical studies to investigate therapeutic benefit in postinfection settings (14–19) and additional preclinical studies to investigate protective efficacy in preexposure/infection settings (29, 30) have clarified the mechanisms of action and efficacy of bNAb administration.

Human clinical studies of VRC01 (14, 17, 31), 3BNC117 (15, 18, 19, 32), and 10-1074 (16) have demonstrated the antiviral activity of bNAbs, offering therapeutic utility in both acute and chronic infection settings. Beyond safety and tolerability, all three bNAbs reduced viral load (15–17) during administration and two, VRC01 and 3BNC117, successfully delayed viral rebound upon discontinuation of antiretroviral therapy (ART) (14, 18). Treatment dosing regimens remain to be optimized and may differ among Abs, dependent upon both the usual considerations of individual mAb pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties, but also each mAb's HIV-specific pharmacodynamic

properties, such as the slope and completeness of neutralization (33), susceptibility to viral evasion, and propensity to mediate viral (or antigen) trafficking/processing/presentation. In addition, characteristics of individual subjects, such as viral load, diversity, and sensitivity to select bNAb(s) at time of treatment may be considered for more individualized regimens.

Concurrently with direct antiviral activity, treatment with 3BNC117 stimulated and enhanced endogenous antiviral immune responses: in 14/15 viremic individuals treated with 3BNC117, sera from week 24, well after serum levels of 3BNC117 had dropped below detection limits, demonstrated increased breadth and/or potency against a pseudovirus panel as compared to week 0 (19). Interestingly, the increase in neutralization capacity of week 24 sera from ART-treated individuals receiving 3BNC117 was less pronounced than in untreated individuals receiving 3BNC117, suggesting that viral replication and activity contributes to the development of heterologous neutralization (19). Previous studies have also demonstrated the enhancement (13, 34, 35) and importance (36) of autologous humoral and T-cell responses in response to bNAb therapy in macaque models of SHIV [reviewed in Ref. (37)].

The use of HIV Abs in preclinical animal models have similarly demonstrated the potential of mAbs to provide pre- or postexposure prophylaxis, similarly to the early use of immunoglobulins to protect against infection by RSV and Hepatitis A [reviewed in Ref. (38)]. Protection against SHIV acquisition has been demonstrated for multiple bNAbs (9-11, 39-41) with protection dependent upon SHIV strain, bNAb dosage, and bNAb serum concentrations at time of challenge. In models of high-dose SHIV challenge, treatment with \geq 5 mg/kg 3BNC117 or 10-1074 successfully blocked SHIV acquisition after a single intrarectal challenge of 1,000 times the 50% tissue culture infectious dose (TCID50), or approximately three times the half-maximal animal infectious dose (42). In a larger study (60 challenged animals vs. 4), the same group determined that serum titers of bNAbs as low as 1:100 were sufficient to prevent SHIV acquisition in ~50% of macaques receiving a single intrarectal challenge at 1,000 TCID50 (8). More recently, the same three bNAbs studied in human clinical trials, VRC01, 3BNC117, and 10-1074, have been tested in preclinical macaque models of repeated low-dose SHIV exposure with impressive results (29). A single infusion of 3BNC117 successfully prevented virus acquisition in models of repeated low-dose intrarectal challenges for up to 23 weekly intrarectal challenges at 10 times the TCID50, whereas control animals acquired infection after two to six challenges. Across the three bNAbs evaluated, the length of protection correlated with Ab potency and half-life. Similarly, in humanized mouse models of HIV acquisition, passive transfer of the bNAb PGT126 demonstrated sterilizing protection against multiple vaginal HIV challenges (30).

Role of Non-Neutralizing Abs (nnAbs)

As opposed to neutralizing Abs which bind epitopes on functional trimeric Env to prevent cell receptor engagement, nnAbs bind epitopes exposed in non-infective conformations adopted by the unstable Env antigen, such as open Envelope trimers, gp140 monomers, and dissociated gp41 stumps (due to instability or induced by binding to cell receptors). nnAb responses have demonstrated protection through Fc-mediated effector functions and by exerting additional selective pressure and evolutionary constraints upon remaining viruses in humanized mice (43, 44). In a recent study, Horwitz et al. demonstrated the capacity of nnAbs to modulate the course of HIV infection in humanized mice via Fc-mediated effector functions in two nnAb cases: (1) using anti-HA Abs in humanized mice challenged with a newly developed recombinant indicator HIV strain containing an HA-tag-, (HIVivoHA) or HIVivoHA-infected cells and (2) using a patient-derived nnAb 246D (45) targeting a linear gp41 epitope in humanized mice challenged with HIV-1_{YU2} virus or HIV-1_{YU2}-infected cells (44). In both cases, passive transfer of nnAbs mediated modest protection from viral challenge, reduced viral load in established infection, cleared virus-infected cells, and exerted selective pressure for escape mutations that ultimately deleted or concealed the targeted epitope, all in an Fc-dependent manner that was diminished or absent in passive transfer of the same nnAbs modified with mutations that abrogated binding to activating Fc-receptors (44). Older studies in macaques have suggested that nnAbs may decrease the number of transmitted/ founder variants and the viral load in acute viremia, but ultimately did not protect from infection (46-48). Thus while the efficacy of nAbs has been linked to Fc-dependent mechanisms (40) the sufficiency of these antibody activities to drive protection from infection among nnAbs has not been established in NHP. Similarly, the protective capacity of non-neutralizing HIV Abs in humans has been suggested by mother-to-child-transmission studies [reviewed in Ref. (49)] and by the association of V1/V2 nnAbs with protection in the RV144 HIV-1 vaccine trial (50, 51), but remains to be demonstrated.

Therapeutic Applications and Goals by Stage of Infection

Based on the established roles of mAbs in various infectious diseases, autologous Abs in the natural history of HIV infection, and HIV Abs in clinical and preclinical trials, anti-HIV mAbs find multiple indications for clinical use with therapeutic goals defined by the stage of HIV exposure and disease (Figure 2). Before viral establishment, mAbs could be used either prior to exposure to prevent viral acquisition or postexposure to prevent or limit viral establishment. After viral acquisition in chronic infection settings, therapeutic goals extend to include viral suppression to stabilize and prevent progression of disease, and viral eradication to cure patients entirely of infection. This review investigates the current limitations of and engineering strategies with which to improve the utility of bNAbs at each stage of infection/disease to (1) prevent infection, (2) limit viral establishment/spread, and (3) treat chronic infection via suppression of viral growth and reduction/elimination of viral reservoirs (summarized in Table 1).

ENHANCING PREEXPOSURE PROPHYLACTIC POTENTIAL: PREVENTING VIRAL INFECTION

Development of durable protection against HIV has remained a challenge due to the great diversity of HIV species and their



and for treatment of chronic infection (red).

adaptive capacity to evade immune-mediated pressure. Viral strains can be described by clade or subtype with viral diversity profiles varying by geographic location, or by neutralization sensitivity designated as very high (tier 1A), above-average (1B), moderate (2), or low (3) sensitivity to Ab-mediated neutralization (pooled plasma samples from four to six clade-matched infected individuals) (52). Clade-matched viral variants are often more sensitive to neutralization by plasma/NAbs from individuals infected by the same clade (52). Thus, the profiling of viral variants endemic to geographical regions could inform the selection of NAbs offering the greatest breadth and potency of neutralization. Ab-based vaccines may function to protect from infection in two ways: (1) neutralization to prevent viral infection in the first place and (2) rapid clearance of virus or virus-infected cells, which will be expanded upon in Section "Enhancing Prophylactic and Therapeutic Potential in Acute Infection: Preventing Viral Reservoir Establishment/Spread." To offer sterilizing immunity, Abs must offer durable protection with sufficient targeting to anatomic sites of exposure to neutralize viruses and prevent infection. To clear virus and virus-infected cells, Abs must be both readily available at therapeutic concentrations and broadly reactive to maintain efficacy against the diversity of viral strains to which an individual might be exposed. Thus, current and potential limitations to the prophylactic use of bNAbs include: (1) development of viral resistance, (2) requirement for strict regimen adherence, (3) anatomical distribution to sites of exposure, and (4) risk of Ab-dependent enhancement (ADE) of infection.

Viral Resistance

The arsenal of bNAbs available today targets epitopes spanning a significant portion of the surface of the trimeric HIV Envelope gp140 protein including the V1/V2 loops at the trimer apex, V3 loop glycans, CD4 binding site (CD4bs), gp120-g41 interface, and membrane-proximal external region (MPER) [reviewed in Ref. (53)]. Individual bNAbs vary in neutralization breadth and potency, with some CD4bs targeting bNAbs able to neutralize >90% of global circulating HIV-1 strains at low concentrations (54). However, resistance can develop to even the most potent of bNAbs and has indeed been observed in human clinical trials of all three bNAbs tested thus far (14-17). Even among bNAbs targeting the same epitope, different barriers to resistance development may exist from individual to individual and may arise in part from preexisting bNAb-resistant viral strains. Engineering strategies to combat the development of viral resistance reviewed previously (28) include (1) structure-based modifications to increase the breadth, potency (both neutralization and effector function), and half-life of individual bNAbs, (2) combinations of

TABLE 1	Summary tabl	e of strategies	for the improvement	of anti-HIV Ab therapy.
---------	--------------	-----------------	---------------------	-------------------------

Indication	Goal	Mechanism	Limitation		Improvement Strategies
Vaccine	Block viral entry	Neutralization	Viral resistance	↑ Breadth and potency	Structure-based modifications to ↑ binding Broadly neutralizing antibody (bNAb) cocktails Bispecific and trispecific bNAbs
			Strict requirement for adherence to dosing schedule	↑ t1/2	FC engineering
			Schedule		Glycan "masking" Carrier proteins, peptides, RBCs
				Continuous Ab expression (adeno- associated virus)	↓ Immunogenicity to ↓ anti-bNAb responses Targeting multiple tissues for comprehensive protection Enable evolution of delivered Abs: B Cell engineering
			Anatomical distribution	↑ Targeting to sites of exposure	Topical gel delivery ↑ Binding to mucosal transporters Targeted gene delivery
			Risk of Ab-dependent	↑ Breadth and potency	See above
			enhancement	Maintain protective concentrations of Abs	Dosing schedule or gene delivery
Postexposure prophylaxis and acute infection	Prevent reservoir establishment	Stimulate autologous antiviral immunity	Insufficient protection after bNAb levels decay	↑ Viral processing and presentation	Coadministration of virus/infected cells (immune complex)
				Counter virus-mediated immunosuppression	Coadministration of immunostimulatory drugs/Abs targeting characterized mechanisms
				Further restrict viral evolutionary space	Identify Abs targeting "non-survivor" epitopes
	Clear acutely infected cells	Ab-mediated Effector functions	Low potency?	Fc engineering for FcR/complement binding Add toxic payload	Protein/glycoengineering, subclass switching Immunotoxin, Ab-drug conjugate
	Prevent cell–cell transmission	Unclear	limited understanding of mechanism	Elucidate mechanism, especially role of Env conformational changes to define "neutralizing" epitopes for cell-cell transmission	
Chronic infection	Suppress viral replication	All of the above (AOTA)	Resistance	Combine with antiretroviral therapy (ART) to suppress replication and opportunities tot evolution	
	Target virat reservoirs	AOTA	Tissue distribution or Abs and reservoir	Tissue-targeted delivery	Ex: liposomal delivery to central nervous system (CNS)
			accessibility	Cover diverse populations in compartmentalized tissue	Combine w/additional Abs, ART, latency-reversing agents
			Low Env expression in	Target Env epitopes of chronic infection	
			chronic infection	Target non-viral surface markers	All potential reservoir cells, including uninfected (e.g., CD52), or upregulated on infected cells (e.g., CD32a)
		A		Reactivate reservoirs	Add LRAs
	Long-term clearance of reservoir cells	Autologous T-cell- mediated response	Low cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) response due to immune suppression	bNAb-based chimeric antigen receptors (CARs)	↑ Clinical safety (↓ risk of CAR mediating infection, synthetic biology "switch" on/off/homing strategies)
			CTL trafficking limitations	Investigate/improve bnAb access to CTL sanctuaries	
	Virol eradication	AOTA	Costs of eliminating reservoir cells in certain tissues (e.g., CNS)	Pair with gene editing strategics so infected cells may survive	

Overlap of therapeutic goals for listed indications (see **Figure 2**) are not shown in this table. Goals which are targets for multiple indications are grouped under the indication for which they are the primary focus.

Abs in cocktail therapies, (3) modifying bNAbs to become bispecific, to carry toxic payloads, or to redirect cells in bNAb-based therapies, and (4) altering delivery strategies.

Since the previous review, three additional studies of newly isolated neutralizing Abs have further supported the importance of structural Ab-Env interactions to neutralization breadth and viral evasion. Demonstrating the importance of Ab binding modes to development of viral resistance, N6, a new bNAb targeting the CD4bs with a novel mode of recognition, does so with amino acid features similar to previously identified mutations to increase the potency of VRC01-class Abs, and demonstrated near-pan neutralization breadth of 98% of HIV isolates tested, including many isolates resistant to other CD4bs antibodies (55). Defining a new neutralizing epitope, the recently isolated/ characterized bNAb N123-VRC34.01 recognizes a unique trimer-specific, cleavage-dependent epitope at the N terminus of the gp41 fusion peptide (56). Finally, two recently isolated V2-specific Abs, PGDM1400, and CAP256-VRC26.25, demonstrated unprecedented neutralization potency, protecting against high-dose SHIV challenge at serum Ab concentrations <0.75 µg/ mL for CAP256-VRC26.25-LS (57). In addition, these V2-specific bNAbs exhibited neutralization breadth complementary to that of V3-specific bNAb PGT121 against Clade C viruses, ultimately resulting in >90% coverage when used in combination (57).

Recent studies have investigated optimal strategies for combining bNAbs in cocktail therapies (3, 58-61), bispecific formats (62, 63), and novel tri-specific molecules (64). A combination of only three bNAbs targeting different epitopes has been suggested to be sufficient to cover transmitted viral diversity and evolution based on a study conducted in humanized mice (58) and predictive in silico models of neutralization breadth and potency (59). In an alternative form of combining epitope specificities, the most potent and broad bispecific Ab to date, 10E8v2.0/iMab, demonstrated 100% neutralization breadth across a 118-member pseudotyped panel with mean inhibitory concentration of 0.002 µg/mL and prevented HIV acquisition in humanized mouse models of infection, demonstrating the synergistic potential of bispecific Abs targeting distinct epitopes (63). In another study, a novel bispecific Ab hinge engineering strategy employing the IgG3 hinge to increase Fab domain flexibility for bivalent binding and to maintain IgG1-Fc function enhanced the in vivo therapeutic activity of bispecific bNAbs (62), emphasizing the synergistic avidity-enhancing effect of intratrimeric, heterobivalent crosslinking of Fab arms to increase Ab potency (65). In another novel approach, trispecific Ab molecules containing bNAb specificities against the V1V2 loop trimer apex (PGDM1400), CD4bs (VRC01 and N6), and MPER (10E8v4) were found to mediate increased breadth and potency compared to individual parental bNAbs both in vitro and in SHIV challenge models (64). The authors speculated that the tri-specific bNAb may have decreased risk of viral resistance compared to cocktail strategies where differences in component bNAb half-lives may decrease selective pressure (64). However, whether these trimeric molecules engage multiple epitopes simultaneously and/or otherwise confer added benefit over a cocktail consisting of the same three bNAbs remains to be determined.

Beyond development of viral resistance within an individual to bNAb therapy, implications of widespread use of bNAbs as prevention may influence the composition and evolutionary dynamics of worldwide HIV strains. HIV drug resistance is increasingly observed due to poor patient adherence enabling the development of resistance, and subsequent transmission of newly developed drug-resistant strains (66). Similar potential for the development of bNAb-resistant "super-strains" of HIV exists, as bNAb-resistant strains often coexist or arise within individuals from whom bNAbs were isolated. Trade-offs between viral evasion and fitness costs incurred by some resistance mutations (67-70) may mitigate these concerns. However, resistance mutations without fitness costs (70, 71) and the development of compensatory mutations to restore fitness have also been described (67), and antibodies vary with respect to sensitivity to evasion and ease of compensation. Combination strategies such as the cocktails or multispecific molecules described above may best prevent the development of "super-strains" of HIV by further restricting the viral evolutionary landscape. Thus, strategies to optimize bNAb administration and pharmacokinetics to make treatment regimens manageable and supportive of strong treatment adherence will be critical to avoid the development of bNAb-resistance on a more global scale.

Alleviating Requirements for Regimen Adherence

Because viral rebound quickly occurs upon bNAb decay and renewed replication enables opportunities for viral evolution, protective bNAb dosing schedules must be strictly followed to prevent both viremia and viral resistance. Two methods to decrease the frequency of dosing are (1) increasing the serum half-life of bNAbs and (2) bNAb gene delivery for continuous *in vivo* expression.

Increasing Serum Half-Life of bNAbs

Interestingly, bNAb levels decayed more quickly in HIV(+) individuals as compared to controls in human clinical trials, potentially due to the formation of Ab-virus immune complexes in infected individuals that are more rapidly cleared from circulation. For bNAbs to offer prevention potential, and to avoid the development of resistance, serum half-life would need to be long enough to maintain protective concentrations at reasonable dosing schedules. Fc engineering strategies to increase the half-life of bNAbs have been described [reviewed in Ref. (28, 72)], including studies of the VRC01-LS variant which demonstrated a threefold longer serum half-life and increased translocation to mucosal tissues, ultimately leading to improved potency and protection against high-dose rectal challenge in non-human primates (29, 73, 74). VRC01-LS (M428L and N434S) (29, 74) has now advanced into Phase I clinical trials (NCT02797171, NCT02840474, NCT02599896, NCT02256631).

Continuous Protection *via* Gene Delivery: *In Vivo* Expression of bNAbs

In an indirect way to extend the lifetime of bNAb therapy, gene delivery has been increasingly explored to achieve durable Ab

concentrations, most prominently by adeno-associated virus (AAV) vectors [reviewed in Ref. (75)]. Historically, AAV deliverybased gene therapy has demonstrated safety and efficacy in both macaques (76–79) and humans (80–85) for a variety of diseases, and has become the first clinically and government-approved gene therapy in Europe (86, 87). Within the realm of HIV, AAVdelivered HIV-specific bNAbs and Ab-like molecules such as CD4-Ig have demonstrated sterilizing and durable protection against SIV/SHIV infection in macaques (73, 88–90) and HIV infection in humanized mice (4, 91), and are now undergoing Phase I human clinical trials to evaluate safety, deliverability, and potential efficacy in England (NCT01937455).

Current limitations to bNAb gene delivery include the development of anti-bNAb responses and the virus independence of bNAb expression. First, several studies of AAV-delivered bNAbs to macaques have demonstrated the development of anti-bNAb responses (73, 88, 90, 92), despite "rhesus-ization" of bNAbs and addition of immunosuppressive therapy, potentially due to immune-stimulating effects of the AAV itself which can trigger innate pattern recognition receptors and toll-like receptors or engage preexisting cellular (93) or humoral (94) immunity. Side-by-side comparisons of anti-bNAb responses in passively transferred bNAbs vs. AAV-delivered bNAb treatment have been proposed to delineate immunogenic contributions from AAV vs. Ab (75). Engineering strategies to decrease the immunogenicity of AAV capsids and coadministration of immunosuppressive agents (cyclosporine, T-cell inhibition, IVIG, corticosteroid) have been proposed and shown promise (75). However, immunosuppressive agents may also decrease bNAb Fc-mediated effector function and the development of autologous antiviral responses, placing the bulk of protection on neutralization. Thus, studies to determine the costs and benefits of adding immunosuppressive agents to AAV-delivery regimens are warranted.

Second, current AAV-delivery of bNAbs results in bNAb expression independent of viral trafficking, replication, and evolution, and therefore (1) may not be ideally distributed for prevention of infection/reservoir establishment and (2) cannot respond to changes in the viral population. Intramuscular delivery of vectored gene therapy to skeletal muscle is most extensively studied thanks to muscle tissue's amenability to long-term gene expression, abundant vascular supply for quick transport to the systemic circulation, and ease of accessibility (95). However, vectored gene delivery to additional tissues including the liver, brain, spinal canal, skin, and eyes have been described (95). Targeted gene delivery to these tissues may be especially useful if protective Ab concentrations in these tissues are not possible from circulation alone.

However, such bNAb-expressing tissues are unable to respond to viral evolution, and may become less useful as viral populations develop resistance to the administered Ab. Thus, strategic delivery of bNAb genes to B-cells for integration at native BCR loci (gene targeting into the *Igh* locus) under the normal regulation of heavy-chain expression, Ab class-switching, and somatic mutation may offer the added benefit of coevolution with viral populations. A similar technology of *in vivo* bNAbas-BCR evolution has been used in HIV Env immunogen studies in transgenic knock-in mice containing B-cells expressing

germline heavy chain variants of VRC01-class Abs (96-98), which were successfully activated/expanded and underwent somatic hypermutation in response to various Env immunogen regimens. Viral challenge of similarly generated knock-in mice containing genes for mature bNAbs as BCRs may demonstrate proof-of-concept for bNAb-based BCR engineering. Clinical translation of such a strategy could parallel chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell procedures, whereby B-cells could be extracted from a patient and engineered ex vivo to expressed bNAb-based BCRs prior to reinfusion. Investigations into efficient and targeted IgH knock-in would be critical to this approach and increased understanding of B-cell differentiation and subtypes, BCR editing, and tolerance checkpoints would be beneficial. Additionally, switchable gene expression may be desired to prevent unchecked expansion/growth. While this ability to coevolve may not ultimately provide any benefit, natural infection histories provide both reasons for optimism and pessimism. In favor of the optimistic possibilities, the ability of bnAbs to improve autologous antibody neutralization potency, and their ability to collaborate with other lineages for beneficial outcomes suggests that the ability to adapt over time could be advantageous.

Targeting Anatomical Sites of Exposure

One probit analysis of bNAb-treated macaques suggested that a serum level of 100 times the bNAb IC50 affords 50% protection against intrarectal infection (41), a level that is estimated to be attainable by biannual passive Ab injections given the serum Ab levels and half-lives of VRC01 and 3BNC117 in human clinical trials (25). In an SHIV macaque study, IV infusion of 2 mg/kg PGT121 completely protected subjects from intravaginal challenge with 5×10^4 TCID50 SHIV-SF162P3, with no detectable viral RNA or DNA found in distal tissue sites by day 10 after challenge (99). However, concentrating Abs at the sites of viral exposure may allow even lower doses to be protective. Because viral exposure often occurs at mucous membranes including the rectal and vaginal tracts, the presence of bNAbs at mucosal sites to mediate immune exclusion may improve protection. Therapeutic administration and Ab engineering strategies to improve bNAb use for mucosal immunity were described previously (28) and included topical gel delivery, Fc engineering to enhance binding to FcRn and pIgR at mucosal sites, and designing IgA and chimeric IgGA variants of bNAbs. In addition, some of the strategies described above such as targeted AAV-delivery of bNAb genes to specific tissue sites or BCR engineering to express class-switched IgA versions of bNAbs may be beneficial. Studies have found contrasting evidence for (100-103) and against (104) a role for bNAbs, formatted as various isotypes, in preventing transepithelial migration. The reason for this discrepancy is unknown but may be related to the utilization of older-generation or less potent bNAbs in the prior studies (2F5, 2G12, 4E10), whereas the most recent studies investigate newergeneration, more potent bNAbs. In that study of bNAbs targeting a wide range of epitopes, bNAbs did not block the transcytosis of either cell-free or cell-associated HIV-1 in vitro and instead relied upon neutralization to decrease the infectivity of transcytosed viruses (105). Thus, increasing the local concentration and

neutralization breadth and potency of bNAbs at mucosal sites may enhance protection against mucosal infection.

Potential Risks: ADE of Infection

Thus far, ADE of HIV infection has only been observed in vitro and grouped into complement- (106-108), Fc Receptor (FcR)-(109-112), and conformationally mediated (113, 114) mechanisms which ultimately facilitate virus internalization or receptor-independent virus-cell membrane fusion [reviewed in Ref. (115, 116)]. In addition, antibody-virus immune complexes could increase trafficking of infectious virions to lymph nodes, thereby amplifying rates of viral infection and replication. While debate exists over whether ADE occurs in natural HIV infection, the presence of enhancing Abs have been correlated with disease progression in some studies of sera from HIV-infected individuals (117, 118) [but not others (119)] and suggested to explain increased rates of infection in individuals with relatively low Ab responses in vaccine trials (120) and correlations of particular FcR genotypes characterized by stronger Fc-binding affinities with higher infection risk (121, 122). Both nnAb and neutralizing Ab at subneutralizing concentrations can enhance infection in vitro (109), and epitope specificity does not necessarily determine an Ab's potential for ADE (115). Thus, maintaining protective concentrations of bNAbs via repeated dosing or continuous expression (AAV) may be especially critical to decrease the risk of ADE.

ENHANCING PROPHYLACTIC AND THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL IN ACUTE INFECTION: PREVENTING VIRAL RESERVOIR ESTABLISHMENT/SPREAD

After exposure, bNAbs may be used as prophylaxis to prevent the establishment and spread of viral reservoirs [reviewed in Ref. (123, 124)]. Successful elicitation or administration of HIV-specific Abs in macaque models of acute SHIV challenge and infection have correlated with reduced acute viremia and limited reservoir seeding (46, 125, 126). The window for postexposure prophylaxis has been estimated to be as short as 24 h to block infection by cell-free virus in macaque models of SHIV infection (127, 128) and within the first 9-10 days to limit viral reservoir seeding and spread (129). Resistance continues to be a major concern for all of the described bNAb indications in this review, but may be especially relevant in postexposure settings where autologous viral populations may be screened for preexisting resistance to bNAbs. Mucosal barriers and/or autologous immune responses often limit the diversity of transmitted/founder (T/F) strains; in one study, 80% of individuals infected through heterosexual and 60% through homosexual contact were found to have a single founder virus strain (130). Thus, the low viral diversity present in acute postexposure settings render it a particularly useful time at which to screen viral populations to inform the choice of bNAb(s) therapy. Efforts to adequately sample viral diversity later during chronic infection become more difficult as latent reservoirs are established and thus viral sensitivity screening may be less useful at later time points.

In addition to the previously described goals to neutralize virus to prevent initial infection, postexposure prophylactic use of Abs additionally seeks to limit reservoir seeding and spread. Enhancing the ability of mAb therapies to (1) increase autologous immune responses and (2) target acutely infected cells represent two strategies by which to accomplish this goal.

Increasing Protection by Influencing the Autologous Adaptive Immune Response

Both neutralizing Ab and nnAbs depend upon Fc-mediated effector functions for antiviral activity *in vivo* (131, 132). Through the Fc portion, elicitation of even nnAb responses offers therapeutic utility, demonstrating protective effects in both vaccination (121, 133) and passive transfer studies (44, 134, 135). Stimulation of autologous Ab responses, whether neutralizing or not, thus remains a promising means by which to generate durable effects from Ab therapy.

Broadly neutralizing antibody therapy has been associated with enhanced autologous antiviral immune responses in both human (19) and macaque (13, 34, 35) studies. Proposed mechanisms for this observed effect include (1) facilitation of viral processing and presentation, (2) potential immune-stimulating effects in an otherwise suppressed adaptive immune background conferred by HIV infection, and (3) restriction of viral evolutionary space by both administered bNAbs and elicited autologous Abs. Efforts to increase autologous Ab responses may thus focus upon enhancing each of these mechanisms.

Enhancing Viral Processing and Presentation

Increasing the effector function capacity of anti-HIV Abs by Fc engineering to skew binding toward particular Fc receptors represents one mechanism by which to engage and stimulate endogenous immunity, and has been previously reviewed in Ref. (28, 72). Beyond engineering bNAb molecules, adjunctive coadministration of envelope, virus or infected cells with Abs in immune complexes can engage FcyRs on antigen-presenting cells to facilitate antigen internalization and enhance APC activation and presentation, ultimately "boosting" endogenous antiviral immunity [reviewed in Ref. (136)]. Although one study found that opsonization of HIV-1 with polyclonal anti-HIV IgGs was associated with decreased dendritic cell activity (137), further investigations of Abs of varying neutralization potency formatted as different isotypes have been proposed to clarify the generalizability of that study (136). In another study, administration of HIV-1 gp120 Env and a CD4bs mAb resulted in enhanced neutralization potency of elicited humoral responses in mice (138). Notably, Fab-mediated effects that resulted in greater presentation of particular epitopes in the Ab-bound immune complex were determined to be at least partially responsible for the increased neutralization potency of the elicited antibody response (139-141). Additional parameters to be investigated in the use of immune complexes to stimulate endogenous antiviral immunity include antigen format (soluble vs. virus vs. infected cell), Ab format (neutralization capacity, isotype, Fc variants), ideal ratios of Ab:Ag to form complexes, and routes of administration (136).

Combatting Viral-Mediated Suppression of the Antiviral Immune Response during Acute HIV Infection

Acute HIV infection is characterized by early suppression of antiviral immune responses to support viral growth and spread. Mechanisms for this antiviral-specific immunosuppression include increased activation of the NLRX1 inflammasome (129, 142), which negatively regulates interferon-stimulated antiviral genes, and increased secretion of TGF-beta (129) that inhibits adaptive immune responses. In addition, viral interactions can induce early activation of regulatory T-cells (143, 144), and increase the expression of inhibitory T-cell markers PD-1 and CTLA-4 (145, 146). The effect of these immunosuppressive mechanisms on Ab-mediated effector function remains to be determined (124), but likely decreases the efficiency with which Ab-mediated stimulation of autologous immune responses arise. Combination with immunostimulatory drugs and antibodies targeting these specific mechanisms of immunosuppression may thereby increase the development of autologous antiviral immune responses, but may be a double-edged sword as there is a concomitantly increased risk of enhancing the development of anti-bNAb responses or the pool of CD4+ T-cells available for infection. In vivo studies of such approaches will be especially critical to determine the utility and/or feasibility of this approach.

Identifying Abs Targeting "Non-Survivor" Epitopes: Limiting Viral Evolution

Finally, autologous Ab responses may have antiviral effects by limiting the space for viral evolution through the targeting of "non-survivor" epitopes, regions in which resistance mutations incur survival costs or complete lethality [reviewed in Ref. (43)]. These epitopes can be distinct from epitopes recognized by bNAbs, against which resistance mutations commonly develop and are often contemporaneous with the presence of the bNAb in individuals from which they are isolated. Thus neutralizing epitopes identified thus far are largely "survivor" epitopes and a recent review has raised the concern of "survivor bias" in present studies of protective humoral responses (43). Potential non-survivor epitopes include functionally critical regions targeted by non-neutralizing epitopes that become exposed upon conformational changes including CD4-inducible epitopes (147) and gp41 epitopes like the fusion peptide (46, 56): passive transfer of nnAbs targeting these regions successfully decreased the number of transmitted/founder viruses from high-dose SHIV challenge in macaques (46).

Clearing Acutely Infected Cells

Acutely infected cells must be cleared early to prevent the establishment of reservoirs. Toward this goal, Abs can engage innate effector cells through the Fc portion to stimulate Ab-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), Ab-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP), or complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC). To further improve Abs' capacity for cell-clearance, bNAbs may be engineered for enhanced Fc-mediated effector functions [described previously in Ref. (28, 72)] or modified through the conjugation of toxic payloads [reviewed in Ref. (148)].

Enhancing Ab Effector Function

Engineering strategies to augment Fc-mediated effector functions of HIV Abs were described in detail previously (28, 72), including IgG subclass switching and protein/glycoengineering to bias Fc receptor/complement component binding profiles. Multiple Fc-engineered mAbs have now entered and/or demonstrated safety and efficacy in various phases of clinical trials as well [reviewed in Ref. (149)]. The results of these studies will inform the capacity of *in vitro* and animal models of Fc-engineered Ab function to predict effector function in humans. They may further help to model the relationships between changes in Ab-Ag binding affinity, Fc-Fc receptor binding affinities, and clinically significant differences in effector functions in humans as has been described in animal models (150–152), and to determine whether there is an optimal Fc receptor binding affinity profile to elicit particular effector functions.

Immunotoxins

In acute infection, potent, transient cytotoxicity may be sufficient to inhibit reservoir establishment. Thus, conjugation of Abs with more toxic payloads such as bacterial exotoxins may be tolerable as a short-term solution to ensure rapid and complete cytotoxicity in place of or in addition to Fc-mediated effector functions to treat acute infection. In contrast, Ab-based immunotherapies that are more amenable to long-term use with more durable effects will be discussed in Section "Enhancing Therapeutic Potential for Chronic Infection" to treat chronic infection. In addition, viral Env has been suggested to be more highly expressed during early infection (153), making viral Env-targeting Abs potentially more useful as targeting agents during this period.

In one study, HIV-specific recombinant immunotoxin (RIT) employing Pseudomonas exotoxin A, 3B3-PE38, in combination with ART significantly decreased the number of HIV RNAproducing cells compared to ART alone in BLT humanized mouse models of HIV infection (154), although a potential for toxin immunogenicity and viral resistance were cited as limitations to chronic use of the immunotoxin. In a recent study testing a panel of HIV-specific mAbs as RITs, epitope specificity was found to correlate most with cytotoxicity against H9/NL4-2 cells (HIV Env expressing cell line), as compared to binding/neutralization potency (155). The most effective RIT employed mAbs targeting a non-neutralizing epitope in the gp41 loop region, which lies close to the plasma membrane and may thus allow the toxin to enter the cell more effectively (155, 156). Combination with soluble CD4 (sCD4) further increased the cytotoxicity of gp41 loop-targeting RITs, likely due to increased exposure of the gp41 epitope after sCD4 binding induced conformational changes in Env and increased internalization of Env-bound RITs in the presence of sCD4 (155, 157).

In vivo studies of another gp41-specific RIT employing a Ricin A chain (RAC) toxin, 7B2-RAC, also demonstrated efficacy in SHIV-infected macaques prior to the development of antidrug Abs after 2–3 weeks due to RIT immunogenicity (158). In the same study, to combat this observed immunogenicity, the authors PEGylated RITs prior to use in mouse models of HIV, which resulted in lower antidrug Ab levels in a subset of mice (158).

However, additional methods to decrease RIT immunogenicity [reviewed in Ref. (159)] may be required. In addition, cytotoxic payloads with decreased immunogenicity may be used instead of protein toxins to make antibody-drug conjugates (ADCs). In the SHIV macaque study of 7B2-RAC, ADCs employing existing small molecule cytotoxic drugs were also tested but were less efficacious than the RIT, likely because their drug toxicities were 1-log less potent than the RAC toxin (158). Thus, ADCs may become more competitive as more potent cytotoxic small molecule drugs are developed to rival recombinant toxins.

Preventing Cell–Cell Transmission

In addition to infection by free HIV, cells may become infected by horizontal transmission from other infected cells [reviewed in Ref. (160)]. The frequency with which cell-cell transmission occurs in vivo is unknown, but infection by cell-associated virus has been demonstrated in Macaque models of infection by SHIV-infected splenocytes (161), and suggested by studies of mother-to-child transmission of HIV during pregnancy, labor, and delivery [reviewed in Ref. (162)] and by spatial segregation of viral sequences (163). In addition, cell-cell transmission of virus was found to be more efficient than infection by free virus in vitro (164) and could lead to multiple infections of a single cell (165). A recent study found that different bNAbs exhibited Ab- and viral strain-dependent capacities to inhibit cell-cell transmission: for non-CD4bs-epitope targeting Abs, mAbs with increased potency of free virus neutralization exhibited greater losses in neutralization activity of cell-cell transmission, suggesting that optimal binding characteristics for free virus neutralization differ from those for cell-cell transmission neutralization (166). In another recent macaque study, bNAb PGT121 administered at protective concentrations against cellfree virus were only partially efficacious (3/6 macaques) at protecting from SHIV-infected splenocyte challenge (161). Studies to elucidate the mechanisms by which cell-cell transmission occurs and conformational differences in Env structure during transmission (167) would be beneficial to defining a strategy to improve this type of neutralization.

ENHANCING THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL FOR CHRONIC INFECTION

Current therapy for chronic infection aims to suppress viremia to prevent symptoms from virus-stimulated immune activation and to prevent the growth/spread of viral reservoirs to preserve CD4+ T-cells. Today, ART largely accomplishes these goals to maintain low viral loads by blocking viral replication, but its use is limited by long-term end-organ drug toxicities, a strict requirement for treatment regimen adherence, and the development of viral resistance (168). In addition, persistent low-level viremia can remain even under ART treatment (169–171), potentially from cells infected prior to therapy initiation or in tissues with poor drug penetration (172) or residual virus replication in latently infected cells (169, 173, 174). Thus, therapeutic alternatives for chronic HIV infection that may lessen the burden or address limitations of ART are desired. Encouraging results for the utility of bNAbs as treatment for chronic infection [reviewed in Ref. (26, 168)] from recent human clinical trials include effective suppression of circulating free virus in individuals harboring bNAb-sensitive strains (15, 17), delayed viral rebound after ART treatment interruption (14, 19) suggesting reduction of cell-associated virus or viral reservoir size (32), elicitation of host immune responses (19), and suppression of HIV replication in reservoir cells (175). Most of these results were found in a subset of treated individuals, dependent upon the preexisting resistance of circulating/reservoir strains, and in all cases viremia rapidly rebounded upon bNAb decay or cessation. Thus, strategies to combat both preexisting and *de novo* development of viral resistance remain a target of Ab therapy for chronic infection.

Combination with ARTs

Given the relative success of existing ART in treating chronic HIV infection, the comparison between bNAb therapy vs. ART or the benefit of adding bNAb therapy to ART has garnered interest. The potential for bNAbs to enhance the effects of ART lies in the ability to address residual sources of viral replication and further limit the development of viral resistance. One study found that the combination of bNAbs with ART was no better than treatment with ART alone in macaque models of SHIV infection (126), likely due to the already low level of viral replication and in some cases undetectable viremia of subjects undergoing ART alone in the observed period. On the other hand, ART significantly limits, but may not completely prevent, viral evolution of both circulating and tissue reservoir populations (176, 177). Thus bNAbs may be especially useful in combination with ART, which removes the major limitation of evolving resistance. In addition, the tissue distribution of ART and bNAbs or bNAb-based therapies may complement each other, with bNAbs "cleaning up" after persistent viral replication from virus-infected cells in tissue compartments receiving subtherapeutic levels of ART, such as lymph node germinal centers which may be more readily accessible to Ab- or Ab-based bispecific molecules interacting with APCs or T-cells (168). On the other hand, ART-mediated suppression of viral replication decreases the expression of Env epitopes on the surface of infected cells, and may thereby require more potent bNAbs or Abs targeting non-Env markers of infection.

Targeting Viral Reservoirs: Accessing Tissues and Identifying Cell Targets

Distinguishing which tissues and cell types can support viral reactivation and/or contribute to AIDS progression is critical to defining the extent of viral eradication desired/needed and the development of strategies with which to target cellular reservoirs. For viral remission, accepting persistent viral latency in some reservoirs with low reactivation potential and/or high costs of cellular/tissue damage may be acceptable. Multiple studies have suggested that decreasing the size of the viral reservoir delays viral rebound after ART is stopped (178–180), with one modeling study suggesting that a four-log reduction of the simulated 3×10^5 member reservoir size comparable to observed reservoirs of 10^5-10^7 (181) could prevent viral rebound after ART altogether (182).

Tissue Reservoirs: Distribution and Accessibility

Viral reservoirs may establish in multiple tissue sites (183) and cell types (184), making sufficient access to and efficacy in reservoir tissue sites and identification of target cells key components of combatting latent HIV infection. The primary site for viral replication occurs in central lymphoid tissues (18, 19), with lymph nodes, spleen, and GI tract lymphoid tissue harboring the largest numbers of HIV-infected cells (183). Unfortunately, these secondary lymphoid organs can act as pharmacologic sanctuaries limiting ART concentrations and viral suppression: lower concentrations of ART in lymph nodes (vs. blood) have been associated with persistent viral replication within lymph nodes (185). However, viral RNA/DNA has been found in nearly all tissues, including immune-privileged sites such as the central nervous system (CNS), testes, and placenta (183). Mixed evidence for compartmentalization, or differences in viral populations among different tissues and in circulation, exists (183) and may indicate a need for combination therapy with additional Abs, ART, or latency reversing agents (LRAs) with wider tissue penetration or more tissue-specific administration/targeting, such as liposomal delivery of drugs to the CNS [reviewed in Ref. (186)].

Reservoir Cell Types: Surface Markers of Infection

Within individual tissues, CD4+ T-cells comprise the majority of cell types harboring latent virus but viral DNA has been found in non-CD4+ T-cells [reviewed in Ref. (187)], including CD4-/ CD8- T-cells (188), macrophages [reviewed in Ref. (189)], monocytes, tissue macrophages (190), and follicular dendritic cells (191, 192). Identifying reservoir cells can be challenging due to their relative quiescence and transient expression of low levels of viral antigens. Expression of HIV Env may additionally be different in latent cells as compared to cells with active viral replication. Given the instability of trimeric Env, non-neutralizing epitopes accessible on monomeric gp140 or gp41 stumps have been suggested to be displayed on the surface of infected cells over time (193). Thus, epitope targets of therapeutic HIV mAbs for chronic infection may vary significantly from those for the acute postexposure setting, reflective of the differing goals of targeting latent cells vs. active virus.

One strategy to combat this challenge is to identify nonviral surface markers that are expressed, or preferably upregulated, on infected cells. In an extreme example, CD52 expression on a wide breadth of immune cells capable of serving as reservoirs during HIV infection—nearly all T-cells, B-cells, and plasmacytoid dendritic cells—may be targeted by anti-CD52 Abs to deplete reservoir cells (194, 195), but uninfected immune cells may also be affected. Instead, Abs recognizing markers suggested to be upregulated by infection (196) may preferentially target reservoir cells and ameliorate some of the side effects expected from more general immune depletion strategies. In addition, these Abs may be used to guide the delivery of more toxic payloads in Ab-based therapies such as immunotoxins, bispecific T-cell engagers, or CARs in cellular therapy.

In another approach, LRAs may be used to re-activate cells and increase expression of viral antigens. However, the reactivation of virus increases the production of viral particles and risk of increasing cellular infection rates, and therefore must be balanced with potent elimination therapy, including bNAbs, in "shock and kill" strategies to quickly and efficiently eliminate reactivated cells. Coadministration of bNAbs with three viral inducers in humanized mice reduced the proportion of mice with viral rebound after Ab levels decayed, whereas Abs alone or combinations of bNAbs with a single inducer failed to affect viral rebound rates (132). Thus, strategies to optimize the combinations of Abs and inducers (25, 197) or to increase the potency or long-term effects (e.g., autologous immune responses) of Abs as elimination therapy may be necessary to maintain viral suppression after the decay of therapeutic Ab.

Long-term Clearance of Infected Reservoir Cells: Cellular Therapy

Natural Abs rely upon Fc-mediated effector function to clear infected cells. However, Ab-mediated effector functions may be less active or unavailable in infected tissue reservoirs with immunosuppressed or immune-privileged microenvironments. Thus, an alternative strategy to increase the potency with which Abs may destroy infected cells focuses upon addressing the limitations of T-cell-mediated responses. Effective cytotoxic T-cell responses have been associated with viral control in studies of relatively rare long-term non-progressors (198, 199) and HIV-exposed seronegative individuals (200). Similarly, persistent viral suppression after Ab therapy in a subset of SHIV-infected macaques (3 out of 18) was associated with improved host virus-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) responses (13). Thus, anti-HIV Abs may be used to augment or complement cellular immune responses for long-term term viral control.

Engineering for Enhanced Cytotoxic Responses: CAR Cells

Rather than relying upon the natural development of host CTL responses, an alternative strategy employs HIV-specific Abs to re-direct T-cells toward HIV-infected cells. Promising bispecific T-cell engaging molecules (201, 202) and CAR T-cells (203, 204) have been previously reviewed (28) and are increasingly viable given the recent advent of the FDA's first recommendation for clinical approval of a CAR T-cell therapy (Novartis CTL019). Strategies with which to enhance the cytotoxic activity of bispecific T-cell engaging molecules and HIV-specific CAR T-cell approaches were described previously (28). This review thus focuses upon strategies with which to improve the clinical safety and efficacy of CAR therapies for HIV infection.

One concern is that HIV-binding CARs may render T-cells more susceptible to infection, especially CD4ζ-based CARs (205). Thus, strategies to protect anti-HIV CAR-modified cells include the cotransduction/expression of fusion inhibitors (206, 207), and knock-out/knock-down of CCR5 expression (208–211). A second concern is that the necessary expansion of engineered T-cells can lead to exhaustion and loss of activity (205), compounded by the fact that T-cells often already express inhibitory markers associated with exhaustion during chronic HIV infection (145, 146). To combat this predisposition for T-cell exhaustion, stem/progenitor cells may be modified with CARs instead with the added benefits of the generation of more durable and potentially diversified cell types bearing the CAR, as well as the built-in thymic immune tolerance checkpoints through which T-cells developing from stem/progenitor cells must proceed (205). Hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells modified with a CD4 ζ -CAR in humanized mouse models of HIV infection successfully differentiated and maintained CAR expression in multiple cell types, including T-cells and NK-cells, and reduced viral loads in treated animals (204).

More general concerns with the clinical use of cellular therapies as a class have been reviewed (212), and include the potential for cytokine storm from mass T-cell activation and cytotoxicity (213, 214), cellular transformation from genomic integration of viral vectors due to insertional mutagenesis (215), and autoreactivity (216). Strategies to mitigate these risks employ synthetic biology tools [reviewed in Ref. (217)] such as inducible suicide or "switch" strategies to induce apoptosis of CAR T-cells (218, 219), feedback-based "pause" switches (220), and preferential homing/activation based on "logic gate" requirements for engagement of multiple antigens (221–225).

Complementing Autologous T-Cell Responses: Access to T-Cell Sanctuaries

Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte trafficking patterns may limit their ability to access all viral reservoir sites (226). In one macaque study of SIV infection, the viral reservoir population of elite controllers was found to differ from that of progressors: elite controller macaques largely harbored virus in follicular helper T-cells (T_{FH}) whereas progressor monkeys harbored virus across a wider breadth of T-cell subtypes (226), suggesting that protective CTL responses may not be able to access T_{FH} reservoir cells. Thus the ability of bNAbs (or other anti-HIV Abs) to access and clear reservoir cells from CTL sanctuaries (such as T_{FH} s in B-cell follicles) is of particular interest (25).

Potential for a True "Cure": Viral Eradication vs. Reservoir Eradication

A true HIV "cure" would entail the complete eradication of virus from an infected individual, including all latent reservoir cells. By this definition, an extremely potent form of "shock-and-kill" strategies would likely be necessary to expose and eliminate all reservoir cells using HIV mAbs. In addition, the tangled link between viral eradication and tissue reservoir cell eradication poses a potential cost to these types of immunotherapy, especially in cases such as CNS reservoirs, where cells have limited regeneration capacity but make vital functional contributions to quality of life (186). Thus, alternative gene-editing approaches to specifically excise integrated viral DNA from infected cells (227) may be needed in combination with mAb-based approaches to achieve such a "cure."

In an alternative definition, a "cure" may be functionally described as undetectable levels of virus in the absence of additional therapy. Such a "functional cure" may be more feasible by the Ab-based strategies described above, with particular emphasis on the life-long delivery of immunotherapy (gene or cellular therapy) or the stimulation of sufficiently broad and potent autologous immune responses for life-long immune surveillance.

CONCLUSION

Preclinical studies of bNAbs to prevent and treat SHIV infection in macagues and Phase I human clinical trials demonstrating reduction of viral load and even reservoir size support the clinical utility and potential of bNAbs for prevention, postexposure prophylaxis, and therapy of acute and chronic infection. Observed and potential limitations of bNAbs noted thus far in these recent studies include the selection of resistant viral populations, immunogenicity resulting in the development of antidrug (Ab) responses, and the potentially toxic elimination of reservoir cells in regenerationlimited tissues. Opportunities to improve the utility of HIV Abs address these challenges and build upon each other as the timing/ stage of infection progresses. Before exposure, bNAbs' ability to prevent infection by neutralization may be improved by increasing serum half-life to necessitate less frequent administration, delivering genes for durable in vivo expression, and targeting bNAbs to sites of exposure. After exposure and/or in the setting of acute infection, bNAb use to prevent/reduce viral reservoir establishment and spread may be enhanced by increasing the potency with which autologous adaptive immune responses are stimulated, clearing acutely infected cells, and preventing cell-cell transmission of virus. In the setting of chronic infection, bNAbs may better mediate viral remission in combination with ARTs and/or LRAs, by targeting additional markers of tissue reservoirs or infected cell types, or by serving as targeting moieties in engineered cell therapy. Finally, various combinations of the described bNAb applications may play a role in the development of a true "cure" for HIV to eradicate HIV entirely, although the risk of eliminating certain reservoir tissue cells may encourage the use of alternative strategies to eliminate viral DNA from latent cells without eradicating the cells. In conclusion, bNAbs are potent and promising agents for HIV prevention and treatment at various stages of infection. Their sole use as therapy faces challenges of viral evasion, immunogenicity, and reservoir latency, which can be combatted by employing various, often complementary strategies in combination with each other and/or existing ART regimens. While the clinical use of HIV Abs has never been closer, remaining studies to precisely define, model, and understand the complex roles and dynamics of HIV Abs and viral evolution in the context of the human immune system and anatomical compartmentalization will be critical to optimizing their clinical safety and efficacy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CH wrote and MA reviewed this article.

FUNDING

The authors are supported by NIAID NIH 1R01AI102691 (MA), NIAID and NIGMS 1R01AI131975 (MA), and NIAID 5F30 AI122970 (CH), and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation OPP1114729 and OPP1146996 (MA).

REFERENCES

- Stamatatos L, Morris L, Burton DR, Mascola JR. Neutralizing antibodies generated during natural HIV-1 infection: good news for an HIV-1 vaccine? *Nat Med* (2009) 15(8):866–70. doi:10.1038/nm.1949
- Euler Z, van Gils MJ, Bunnik EM, Phung P, Schweighardt B, Wrin T, et al. Cross-reactive neutralizing humoral immunity does not protect from HIV type 1 disease progression. *J Infect Dis* (2010) 201(7):1045–53. doi:10.1086/651144
- Horwitz JA, Halper-Stromberg A, Mouquet H, Gitlin AD, Tretiakova A, Eisenreich TR, et al. HIV-1 suppression and durable control by combining single broadly neutralizing antibodies and antiretroviral drugs in humanized mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(41):16538–43. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1315295110
- Balazs AB, Chen J, Hong CM, Rao DS, Yang L, Baltimore D. Antibody-based protection against HIV infection by vectored immunoprophylaxis. *Nature* (2011) 481(7379):81–4. doi:10.1038/nature10660
- Gauduin MC, Parren PW, Weir R, Barbas CF, Burton DR, Koup RA. Passive immunization with a human monoclonal antibody protects hu-PBL-SCID mice against challenge by primary isolates of HIV-1. *Nat Med* (1997) 3(12):1389–93. doi:10.1038/nm1297-1389
- Parren PW, Ditzel HJ, Gulizia RJ, Binley JM, Barbas CF 3rd, Burton DR, et al. Protection against HIV-1 infection in hu-PBL-SCID mice by passive immunization with a neutralizing human monoclonal antibody against the gp120 CD4-binding site. *AIDS* (1995) 9(6):F1–6. doi:10.1097/00002030-199506000-00001
- Veselinovic M, Neff CP, Mulder LR, Akkina R. Topical gel formulation of broadly neutralizing anti-HIV-1 monoclonal antibody VRC01 confers protection against HIV-1 vaginal challenge in a humanized mouse model. *Virology* (2012) 432(2):505–10. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2012.06.025
- Shingai M, Donau OK, Plishka RJ, Buckler-White A, Mascola JR, Nabel GJ, et al. Passive transfer of modest titers of potent and broadly neutralizing anti-HIV monoclonal antibodies block SHIV infection in macaques. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(10):2061–74. doi:10.1084/jem.20132494
- Hessell AJ, Rakasz EG, Tehrani DM, Huber M, Weisgrau KL, Landucci G, et al. Broadly neutralizing monoclonal antibodies 2F5 and 4E10 directed against the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 membrane-proximal external region protect against mucosal challenge by simian-human immunodeficiency virus SHIVBa-L. J Virol (2010) 84(3):1302–13. doi:10.1128/ JVI.01272-09
- Hessell AJ, Poignard P, Hunter M, Hangartner L, Tehrani DM, Bleeker WK, et al. Effective, low-titer antibody protection against low-dose repeated mucosal SHIV challenge in macaques. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(8):951–4. doi:10.1038/ nm.1974
- Hessell AJ, Rakasz EG, Poignard P, Hangartner L, Landucci G, Forthal DN, et al. Broadly neutralizing human anti-HIV antibody 2G12 is effective in protection against mucosal SHIV challenge even at low serum neutralizing titers. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5(5):e1000433. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1000433
- Mascola JR, Stiegler G, VanCott TC, Katinger H, Carpenter CB, Hanson CE, et al. Protection of macaques against vaginal transmission of a pathogenic HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus by passive infusion of neutralizing antibodies. *Nat Med* (2000) 6(2):207–10. doi:10.1038/72318
- Barouch DH, Whitney JB, Moldt B, Klein F, Oliveira TY, Liu J, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of potent neutralizing HIV-1-specific monoclonal antibodies in SHIV-infected rhesus monkeys. *Nature* (2013) 503(7475):224–8. doi:10.1038/nature12744
- Bar KJ, Sneller MC, Harrison LJ, Justement JS, Overton ET, Petrone ME, et al. Effect of HIV antibody VRC01 on viral rebound after treatment interruption. N Engl J Med (2016) 375(21):2037–50. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1608243
- Caskey M, Klein F, Lorenzi JC, Seaman MS, West AP Jr, Buckley N, et al. Viraemia suppressed in HIV-1-infected humans by broadly neutralizing antibody 3BNC117. *Nature* (2015) 522(7557):487–91. doi:10.1038/ nature14411
- Caskey M, Schoofs T, Gruell H, Settler A, Karagounis T, Kreider EF, et al. Antibody 10-1074 suppresses viremia in HIV-1-infected individuals. *Nat Med* (2017) 23(2):185–91. doi:10.1038/nm.4268
- 17. Lynch RM, Boritz E, Coates EE, DeZure A, Madden P, Costner P, et al. Virologic effects of broadly neutralizing antibody VRC01 administration

during chronic HIV-1 infection. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7(319):319ra206. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aad5752

- Scheid JF, Horwitz JA, Bar-On Y, Kreider EF, Lu CL, Lorenzi JC, et al. HIV-1 antibody 3BNC117 suppresses viral rebound in humans during treatment interruption. *Nature* (2016) 535(7613):556–60. doi:10.1038/ nature18929
- Schoofs T, Klein F, Braunschweig M, Kreider EF, Feldmann A, Nogueira L, et al. HIV-1 therapy with monoclonal antibody 3BNC117 elicits host immune responses against HIV-1. *Science* (2016) 352(6288):997–1001. doi:10.1126/ science.aaf0972
- Bhiman JN, Lynch RM. Broadly neutralizing antibodies as treatment: effects on virus and immune system. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* (2017) 14(2):54–62. doi:10.1007/s11904-017-0352-1
- Caskey M, Klein F, Nussenzweig MC. Broadly neutralizing antibodies for HIV-1 prevention or immunotherapy. *N Engl J Med* (2016) 375(21):2019–21. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1613362
- Ferrari G, Haynes BF, Koenig S, Nordstrom JL, Margolis DM, Tomaras GD. Envelope-specific antibodies and antibody-derived molecules for treating and curing HIV infection. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2016) 15(12):823–34. doi:10.1038/nrd.2016.173
- Julg B, Alter G. Broadly neutralizing antibodies: magic bullets against HIV? Immunity (2016) 44(6):1253–4. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.06.012
- Stephenson KE, Barouch DH. Broadly neutralizing antibodies for HIV eradication. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* (2016) 13(1):31–7. doi:10.1007/ s11904-016-0299-7
- Halper-Stromberg A, Nussenzweig MC. Towards HIV-1 remission: potential roles for broadly neutralizing antibodies. *J Clin Invest* (2016) 126(2):415–23. doi:10.1172/JCI80561
- Zhang Z, Li S, Gu Y, Xia N. Antiviral therapy by HIV-1 broadly neutralizing and inhibitory antibodies. *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17(11):1901. doi:10.3390/ ijms17111901
- Yaseen MM, Yaseen MM, Alqudah MA. Broadly neutralizing antibodies: an approach to control HIV-1 infection. *Int Rev Immunol* (2017) 36(1):31–40. doi:10.1080/08830185.2016.1225301
- Hua CK, Ackerman ME. Engineering broadly neutralizing antibodies for HIV prevention and therapy. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* (2016) 103:157–73. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2016.01.013
- Gautam R, Nishimura Y, Pegu A, Nason MC, Klein F, Gazumyan A, et al. A single injection of anti-HIV-1 antibodies protects against repeated SHIV challenges. *Nature* (2016) 533(7601):105–9. doi:10.1038/nature17677
- Deruaz M, Moldt B, Le KM, Power KA, Vrbanac VD, Tanno S, et al. Protection of humanized mice from repeated intravaginal HIV challenge by passive immunization: a model for studying the efficacy of neutralizing antibodies in vivo. *J Infect Dis* (2016) 214(4):612–6. doi:10.1093/infdis/ jiw203
- Ledgerwood JE, Coates EE, Yamshchikov G, Saunders JG, Holman L, Enama ME, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics and neutralization of the broadly neutralizing HIV-1 human monoclonal antibody VRC01 in healthy adults. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2015) 182(3):289–301. doi:10.1111/cei. 12692
- Lu CL, Murakowski DK, Bournazos S, Schoofs T, Sarkar D, Halper-Stromberg A, et al. Enhanced clearance of HIV-1-infected cells by broadly neutralizing antibodies against HIV-1 in vivo. *Science* (2016) 352(6288): 1001–4. doi:10.1126/science.aaf1279
- Webb NE, Montefiori DC, Lee B. Dose-response curve slope helps predict therapeutic potency and breadth of HIV broadly neutralizing antibodies. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:8443. doi:10.1038/ncomms9443
- Haigwood NL, Montefiori DC, Sutton WF, McClure J, Watson AJ, Voss G, et al. Passive immunotherapy in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques accelerates the development of neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol* (2004) 78(11):5983–95. doi:10.1128/JVI.78.11.5983-5995.2004
- Ng CT, Jaworski JP, Jayaraman P, Sutton WF, Delio P, Kuller L, et al. Passive neutralizing antibody controls SHIV viremia and enhances B cell responses in infant macaques. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(10):1117–9. doi:10.1038/ nm.2233
- Klein F, Diskin R, Scheid JF, Gaebler C, Mouquet H, Georgiev IS, et al. Somatic mutations of the immunoglobulin framework are generally required for broad and potent HIV-1 neutralization. *Cell* (2013) 153(1):126–38. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.018

- Pelegrin M, Naranjo-Gomez M, Piechaczyk M. Antiviral monoclonal antibodies: can they be more than simple neutralizing agents? *Trends Microbiol* (2015) 23(10):653–65. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2015.07.005
- Graham BS, Ambrosino DM. History of passive antibody administration for prevention and treatment of infectious diseases. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2015) 10(3):129–34. doi:10.1097/COH.00000000000154
- Parren PW, Marx PA, Hessell AJ, Luckay A, Harouse J, Cheng-Mayer C, et al. Antibody protects macaques against vaginal challenge with a pathogenic R5 simian/human immunodeficiency virus at serum levels giving complete neutralization in vitro. *J Virol* (2001) 75(17):8340–7. doi:10.1128/ JVI.75.17.8340-8347.2001
- Hessell AJ, Hangartner L, Hunter M, Havenith CE, Beurskens FJ, Bakker JM, et al. Fc receptor but not complement binding is important in antibody protection against HIV. *Nature* (2007) 449(7158):101–4. doi:10.1038/ nature06106
- Moldt B, Rakasz EG, Schultz N, Chan-Hui PY, Swiderek K, Weisgrau KL, et al. Highly potent HIV-specific antibody neutralization in vitro translates into effective protection against mucosal SHIV challenge in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(46):18921–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1214785109
- Shingai M, Nishimura Y, Klein F, Mouquet H, Donau OK, Plishka R, et al. Antibody-mediated immunotherapy of macaques chronically infected with SHIV suppresses viraemia. *Nature* (2013) 503(7475):277–80. doi:10.1038/ nature12746
- Lewis GK, Pazgier M, DeVico AL. Survivors remorse: antibody-mediated protection against HIV-1. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275(1):271–84. doi:10.1111/ imr.12510
- Horwitz JA, Bar-On Y, Lu CL, Fera D, Lockhart AAK, Lorenzi JCC, et al. Non-neutralizing antibodies alter the course of HIV-1 infection in vivo. *Cell* (2017) 170(4):637–48.e10. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.06.048
- 45. Xu JY, Gorny MK, Palker T, Karwowska S, Zolla-Pazner S. Epitope mapping of two immunodominant domains of gp41, the transmembrane protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1, using ten human monoclonal antibodies. J Virol (1991) 65(9):4832–8.
- 46. Santra S, Tomaras GD, Warrier R, Nicely NI, Liao HX, Pollara J, et al. Human non-neutralizing HIV-1 envelope monoclonal antibodies limit the number of founder viruses during SHIV mucosal infection in rhesus macaques. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11(8):e1005042. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1005042
- Moog C, Dereuddre-Bosquet N, Teillaud JL, Biedma ME, Holl V, Van Ham G, et al. Protective effect of vaginal application of neutralizing and nonneutralizing inhibitory antibodies against vaginal SHIV challenge in macaques. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7(1):46–56. doi:10.1038/mi.2013.23
- Burton DR, Hessell AJ, Keele BF, Klasse PJ, Ketas TA, Moldt B, et al. Limited or no protection by weakly or nonneutralizing antibodies against vaginal SHIV challenge of macaques compared with a strongly neutralizing antibody. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(27):11181–6. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1103012108
- Douglas AO, Martinez DR, Permar SR. The role of maternal HIV envelope-specific antibodies and mother-to-child transmission risk. Front Immunol (2017) 8:1091. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01091
- Haynes BF, Gilbert PB, McElrath MJ, Zolla-Pazner S, Tomaras GD, Alam SM, et al. Immune-correlates analysis of an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366(14):1275–86. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1113425
- Zolla-Pazner S, deCamp A, Gilbert PB, Williams C, Yates NL, Williams WT, et al. Vaccine-induced IgG antibodies to V1V2 regions of multiple HIV-1 subtypes correlate with decreased risk of HIV-1 infection. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(2):e87572. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087572
- Seaman MS, Janes H, Hawkins N, Grandpre LE, Devoy C, Giri A, et al. Tiered categorization of a diverse panel of HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses for assessment of neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol* (2010) 84(3):1439–52. doi:10.1128/ JVI.02108-09
- Wibmer CK, Moore PL, Morris L. HIV broadly neutralizing antibody targets. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2015) 10(3):135–43. doi:10.1097/COH. 000000000000153
- Georgiev IS, Gordon Joyce M, Zhou T, Kwong PD. Elicitation of HIV-1neutralizing antibodies against the CD4-binding site. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2013) 8(5):382–92. doi:10.1097/COH.0b013e328363a90e
- 55. Huang J, Kang BH, Ishida E, Zhou T, Griesman T, Sheng Z, et al. Identification of a CD4-binding-site antibody to HIV that evolved near-pan

neutralization breadth. Immunity (2016) 45(5):1108-21. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2016.10.027

- Kong R, Xu K, Zhou T, Acharya P, Lemmin T, Liu K, et al. Fusion peptide of HIV-1 as a site of vulnerability to neutralizing antibody. *Science* (2016) 352(6287):828–33. doi:10.1126/science.aae0474
- 57. Julg B, Tartaglia LJ, Keele BF, Wagh K, Pegu A, Sok D, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibodies targeting the HIV-1 envelope V2 apex confer protection against a clade C SHIV challenge. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9:406. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.aal1321
- Freund NT, Wang H, Scharf L, Nogueira L, Horwitz JA, Bar-On Y, et al. Coexistence of potent HIV-1 broadly neutralizing antibodies and antibodysensitive viruses in a viremic controller. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9:373. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.aal2144
- Wagh K, Bhattacharya T, Williamson C, Robles A, Bayne M, Garrity J, et al. Optimal combinations of broadly neutralizing antibodies for prevention and treatment of HIV-1 clade C infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2016) 12(3): e1005520. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005520
- Kong R, Louder MK, Wagh K, Bailer RT, deCamp A, Greene K, et al. Improving neutralization potency and breadth by combining broadly reactive HIV-1 antibodies targeting major neutralization epitopes. *J Virol* (2015) 89(5):2659–71. doi:10.1128/JVI.03136-14
- Klein F, Halper-Stromberg A, Horwitz JA, Gruell H, Scheid JF, Bournazos S, et al. HIV therapy by a combination of broadly neutralizing antibodies in humanized mice. *Nature* (2012) 492(7427):118–22. doi:10.1038/ nature11604
- Bournazos S, Gazumyan A, Seaman MS, Nussenzweig MC, Ravetch JV. Bispecific anti-HIV-1 antibodies with enhanced breadth and potency. *Cell* (2016) 165(7):1609–20. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.04.050
- Huang Y, Yu J, Lanzi A, Yao X, Andrews CD, Tsai L, et al. Engineered bispecific antibodies with exquisite HIV-1-neutralizing activity. *Cell* (2016) 165(7):1621–31. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.024
- 64. Xu L, Pegu A, Rao E, Doria-Rose N, Beninga J, McKee K, et al. Trispecific broadly neutralizing HIV antibodies mediate potent SHIV protection in macaques. *Science* (2017) 358(6359):85–90. doi:10.1126/science. aan8630
- Galimidi RP, Klein JS, Politzer MS, Bai S, Seaman MS, Nussenzweig MC, et al. Intra-spike crosslinking overcomes antibody evasion by HIV-1. *Cell* (2015) 160(3):433–46. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.01.016
- World Health Organization. HIV Drug Resistance Report 2017. Geneva: World Health Organization (2017). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- Lynch RM, Wong P, Tran L, O'Dell S, Nason MC, Li Y, et al. HIV-1 fitness cost associated with escape from the VRC01 class of CD4 binding site neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol* (2015) 89(8):4201–13. doi:10.1128/JVI. 03608-14
- Sather DN, Carbonetti S, Kehayia J, Kraft Z, Mikell I, Scheid JF, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibodies developed by an HIV-positive elite neutralizer exact a replication fitness cost on the contemporaneous virus. *J Virol* (2012) 86(23):12676–85. doi:10.1128/JVI.01893-12
- Diskin R, Klein F, Horwitz JA, Halper-Stromberg A, Sather DN, Marcovecchio PM, et al. Restricting HIV-1 pathways for escape using rationally designed anti-HIV-1 antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(6):1235–49. doi:10.1084/jem.20130221
- Bar KJ, Tsao CY, Iyer SS, Decker JM, Yang Y, Bonsignori M, et al. Early low-titer neutralizing antibodies impede HIV-1 replication and select for virus escape. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8(5):e1002721. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1002721
- van Gils MJ, Bunnik EM, Burger JA, Jacob Y, Schweighardt B, Wrin T, et al. Rapid escape from preserved cross-reactive neutralizing humoral immunity without loss of viral fitness in HIV-1-infected progressors and long-term nonprogressors. *J Virol* (2010) 84(7):3576–85. doi:10.1128/JVI. 02622-09
- Boesch AW, Alter G, Ackerman ME. Prospects for engineering HIV-specific antibodies for enhanced effector function and half-life. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2015) 10(3):160–9. doi:10.1097/COH.00000000000149
- 73. Saunders KO, Pegu A, Georgiev IS, Zeng M, Joyce MG, Yang ZY, et al. Sustained delivery of a broadly neutralizing antibody in nonhuman primates confers long-term protection against simian/human immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Virol* (2015) 89(11):5895–903. doi:10.1128/JVI. 00210-15

- Ko SY, Pegu A, Rudicell RS, Yang ZY, Joyce MG, Chen X, et al. Enhanced neonatal Fc receptor function improves protection against primate SHIV infection. *Nature* (2014) 514(7524):642–5. doi:10.1038/nature13612
- Fuchs SP, Desrosiers RC. Promise and problems associated with the use of recombinant AAV for the delivery of anti-HIV antibodies. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2016) 3:16068. doi:10.1038/mtm.2016.68
- 76. Ye GJ, Budzynski E, Sonnentag P, Nork TM, Miller PE, Sharma AK, et al. Safety and biodistribution evaluation in cynomolgus macaques of rAAV2tYF-PR1.7-hCNGB3, a recombinant AAV vector for treatment of achromatopsia. *Hum Gene Ther Clin Dev* (2016). doi:10.1089/humc.2015.163
- Mancuso K, Hauswirth WW, Li Q, Connor TB, Kuchenbecker JA, Mauck MC, et al. Gene therapy for red-green colour blindness in adult primates. *Nature* (2009) 461(7265):784–7. doi:10.1038/nature08401
- Nathwani AC, Gray JT, McIntosh J, Ng CY, Zhou J, Spence Y, et al. Safe and efficient transduction of the liver after peripheral vein infusion of self-complementary AAV vector results in stable therapeutic expression of human FIX in nonhuman primates. *Blood* (2007) 109(4):1414–21. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-03-010181
- Rivera VM, Gao GP, Grant RL, Schnell MA, Zoltick PW, Rozamus LW, et al. Long-term pharmacologically regulated expression of erythropoietin in primates following AAV-mediated gene transfer. *Blood* (2005) 105(4): 1424–30. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-06-2501
- Nathwani AC, Tuddenham EG, Rangarajan S, Rosales C, McIntosh J, Linch DC, et al. Adenovirus-associated virus vector-mediated gene transfer in hemophilia B. N Engl J Med (2011) 365(25):2357–65. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1108046
- Nathwani AC, Reiss UM, Tuddenham EG, Rosales C, Chowdary P, McIntosh J, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of factor IX gene therapy in hemophilia B. N Engl J Med (2014) 371(21):1994–2004. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1407309
- Stroes ES1, Nierman MC, Meulenberg JJ, Franssen R, Twisk J, Henny CP, et al. Intramuscular administration of AAV1-lipoprotein lipase S447X lowers triglycerides in lipoprotein lipase-deficient patients. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2008) 28(12):2303–4. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA. 108.175620
- Gaudet D, Méthot J, Déry S, Brisson D, Essiembre C, Tremblay G, et al. Efficacy and long-term safety of alipogene tiparvovec (AAV1-LPLS447X) gene therapy for lipoprotein lipase deficiency: an open-label trial. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20(4):361–9. doi:10.1038/gt.2012.43
- Flotte TR, Trapnell BC, Humphries M, Carey B, Calcedo R, Rouhani F, et al. Phase 2 clinical trial of a recombinant adeno-associated viral vector expressing alpha1-antitrypsin: interim results. *Hum Gene Ther* (2011) 22(10):1239–47. doi:10.1089/hum.2011.053
- Brantly ML, Chulay JD, Wang L, Mueller C, Humphries M, Spencer LT, et al. Sustained transgene expression despite T lymphocyte responses in a clinical trial of rAAV1-AAT gene therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(38):16363–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0904514106
- Yla-Herttuala S. Endgame: glybera finally recommended for approval as the first gene therapy drug in the European union. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20(10):1831–2. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.194
- Scott LJ. Alipogene tiparvovec: a review of its use in adults with familial lipoprotein lipase deficiency. *Drugs* (2015) 75(2):175–82. doi:10.1007/s40265-014-0339-9
- Johnson PR, Schnepp BC, Zhang J, Connell MJ, Greene SM, Yuste E, et al. Vector-mediated gene transfer engenders long-lived neutralizing activity and protection against SIV infection in monkeys. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(8):901–6. doi:10.1038/nm.1967
- Gardner MR, Kattenhorn LM, Kondur HR, von Schaewen M, Dorfman T, Chiang JJ, et al. AAV-expressed eCD4-Ig provides durable protection from multiple SHIV challenges. *Nature* (2015) 519(7541):87–91. doi:10.1038/ nature14264
- Fuchs SP, Martinez-Navio JM, Piatak M Jr, Lifson JD, Gao G, Desrosiers RC. AAV-delivered antibody mediates significant protective effects against SIVmac239 challenge in the absence of neutralizing activity. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11(8):e1005090. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005090
- Balazs AB, Ouyang Y, Hong CM, Chen J, Nguyen SM, Rao DS, et al. Vectored immunoprophylaxis protects humanized mice from mucosal HIV transmission. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(3):296–300. doi:10.1038/nm.3471

- Martinez-Navio JM, Fuchs SP, Pedreño-López S, Rakasz EG, Gao G, Desrosiers RC. Host anti-antibody responses following adeno-associated virus-mediated delivery of antibodies against HIV and SIV in rhesus monkeys. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24(1):76–86. doi:10.1038/mt.2015.191
- Basner-Tschakarjan E, Mingozzi F. Cell-mediated immunity to AAV vectors, evolving concepts and potential solutions. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:350. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00350
- Rogers GL, Martino AT, Aslanidi GV, Jayandharan GR, Srivastava A, Herzog RW. Innate immune responses to AAV vectors. *Front Microbiol* (2011) 2:194. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2011.00194
- Hollevoet K, Declerck PJ. State of play and clinical prospects of antibody gene transfer. J Transl Med (2017) 15(1):131. doi:10.1186/s12967-017-1234-4
- Jardine JG, Ota T, Sok D, Pauthner M, Kulp DW, Kalyuzhniy O, et al. HIV-1 vaccines. Priming a broadly neutralizing antibody response to HIV-1 using a germline-targeting immunogen. *Science* (2015) 349(6244):156–61. doi:10.1126/science.aac5894
- McGuire AT, Gray MD, Dosenovic P, Gitlin AD, Freund NT, Petersen J, et al. Specifically modified Env immunogens activate B-cell precursors of broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies in transgenic mice. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:10618. doi:10.1038/ncomms10618
- Briney B, Sok D, Jardine JG, Kulp DW, Skog P, Menis S, et al. Tailored immunogens direct affinity maturation toward HIV neutralizing antibodies. *Cell* (2016) 166(6):1459–70.e11. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.08.005
- Liu J, Ghneim K, Sok D, Bosche WJ, Li Y, Chipriano E, et al. Antibody-mediated protection against SHIV challenge includes systemic clearance of distal virus. *Science* (2016) 353(6303):1045–9. doi:10.1126/science. aag0491
- 100. Shen R, Drelichman ER, Bimczok D, Ochsenbauer C, Kappes JC, Cannon JA, et al. GP41-specific antibody blocks cell-free HIV type 1 transcytosis through human rectal mucosa and model colonic epithelium. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3648–55. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903346
- 101. Watkins JD, Sholukh AM, Mukhtar MM, Siddappa NB, Lakhashe SK, Kim M, et al. Anti-HIV IgA isotypes: differential virion capture and inhibition of transcytosis are linked to prevention of mucosal R5 SHIV transmission. *AIDS* (2013) 27(9):F13–20. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e328360eac6
- 102. Wolbank S, Kunert R, Stiegler G, Katinger H. Characterization of human class-switched polymeric (immunoglobulin M [IgM] and IgA) anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 antibodies 2F5 and 2G12. J Virol (2003) 77(7): 4095–103. doi:10.1128/JVI.77.7.4095-4103.2003
- 103. Tudor D, Yu H, Maupetit J, Drillet AS, Bouceba T, Schwartz-Cornil I, et al. Isotype modulates epitope specificity, affinity, and antiviral activities of anti-HIV-1 human broadly neutralizing 2F5 antibody. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2012) 109(31):12680–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1200024109
- 104. Mouquet H, Scharf L, Euler Z, Liu Y, Eden C, Scheid JF, et al. Complex-type N-glycan recognition by potent broadly neutralizing HIV antibodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(47):E3268–77. doi:10.1073/pnas.1217207109
- 105. Lorin V, Malbec M, Eden C, Bruel T, Porrot F, Seaman MS, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibodies suppress post-transcytosis HIV-1 infectivity. *Mucosal Immunol* (2017) 10(3):814–26. doi:10.1038/mi.2016.106
- 106. Robinson WE Jr, Montefiori DC, Mitchell WM, Prince AM, Alter HJ, Dreesman GR, et al. Antibody-dependent enhancement of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) infection in vitro by serum from HIV-1infected and passively immunized chimpanzees. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1989) 86(12):4710–4. doi:10.1073/pnas.86.12.4710
- 107. Robinson WE Jr, Kawamura T, Lake D, Masuho Y, Mitchell WM, Hersh EM. Antibodies to the primary immunodominant domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) glycoprotein gp41 enhance HIV-1 infection in vitro. *J Virol* (1990) 64(11):5301–5.
- 108. Willey S, Aasa-Chapman MM, O'Farrell S, Pellegrino P, Williams I, Weiss RA, et al. Extensive complement-dependent enhancement of HIV-1 by autologous non-neutralising antibodies at early stages of infection. *Retrovirology* (2011) 8:16. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-8-16
- Takeda A, Ennis FA. FcR-mediated enhancement of HIV-1 infection by antibody. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses (1990) 6(8):999–1004.
- 110. Homsy J, Meyer M, Tateno M, Clarkson S, Levy JA. The Fc and not CD4 receptor mediates antibody enhancement of HIV infection in human cells. *Science* (1989) 244(4910):1357–60. doi:10.1126/science.2786647

- Laurence J, Saunders A, Early E, Salmon JE. Human immunodeficiency virus infection of monocytes: relationship to Fc-gamma receptors and antibody-dependent viral enhancement. *Immunology* (1990) 70(3):338–43.
- 112. Trischmann H, Davis D, Lachmann PJ. Lymphocytotropic strains of HIV type 1 when complexed with enhancing antibodies can infect macrophages via Fc gamma RIII, independently of CD4. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (1995) 11(3):343–52. doi:10.1089/aid.1995.11.343
- 113. Schutten M, Andeweg AC, Bosch ML, Osterhaus AD. Enhancement of infectivity of a non-syncytium inducing HIV-1 by sCD4 and by human antibodies that neutralize syncytium inducing HIV-1. *Scand J Immunol* (1995) 41(1):18–22. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1995.tb03528.x
- 114. Guillon C, Schutten M, Boers PH, Gruters RA, Osterhaus AD. Antibodymediated enhancement of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity is determined by the structure of gp120 and depends on modulation of the gp120-CCR5 interaction. *J Virol* (2002) 76(6):2827–34. doi:10.1128/ JVI.76.6.2827-2834.2002
- 115. Gorlani A, Forthal DN. Antibody-dependent enhancement and the risk of HIV infection. *Curr HIV Res* (2013) 11(5):421–6. doi:10.2174/15701 62X113116660062
- 116. Takada A, Kawaoka Y. Antibody-dependent enhancement of viral infection: molecular mechanisms and in vivo implications. *Rev Med Virol* (2003) 13(6):387–98. doi:10.1002/rmv.405
- 117. Tóth FD, Szabó B, Ujhelyi E, Pálóczi K, Horváth A, Füst G, et al. Neutralizing and complement-dependent enhancing antibodies in different stages of HIV infection. *AIDS* (1991) 5(3):263–8. doi:10.1097/00002030-199103000-00003
- 118. Füst G, Tóth FD, Kiss J, Ujhelyi E, Nagy I, Bánhegyi D. Neutralizing and enhancing antibodies measured in complement-restored serum samples from HIV-1-infected individuals correlate with immunosuppression and disease. *AIDS* (1994) 8(5):603–9. doi:10.1097/00002030-199405000-00005
- 119. Montefiori DC, Pantaleo G, Fink LM, Zhou JT, Zhou JY, Bilska M, et al. Neutralizing and infection-enhancing antibody responses to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in long-term nonprogressors. *J Infect Dis* (1996) 173(1):60–7. doi:10.1093/infdis/173.1.60
- 120. Gilbert PB, Peterson ML, Follmann D, Hudgens MG, Francis DP, Gurwith M, et al. Correlation between immunologic responses to a recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine and incidence of HIV-1 infection in a phase 3 HIV-1 preventive vaccine trial. *J Infect Dis* (2005) 191(5):666–77. doi:10.1086/428405
- 121. Forthal DN, Gilbert PB, Landucci G, Phan T. Recombinant gp120 vaccine-induced antibodies inhibit clinical strains of HIV-1 in the presence of Fc receptor-bearing effector cells and correlate inversely with HIV infection rate. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(10):6596–603. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178. 10.6596
- 122. Brouwer KC, Lal RB, Mirel LB, Yang C, van Eijk AM, Ayisi J, et al. Polymorphism of Fc receptor IIa for IgG in infants is associated with susceptibility to perinatal HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2004) 18(8):1187–94. doi:10.1097/ 00002030-200405210-00012
- 123. Ananworanich J, McSteen B, Robb ML. Broadly neutralizing antibody and the HIV reservoir in acute HIV infection: a strategy toward HIV remission? *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2015) 10(3):198–206. doi:10.1097/COH.000000000000144
- Lewis GK. The first 24 h: targeting the window of opportunity for antibody-mediated protection against HIV-1 transmission. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2016) 11(6):561–8. doi:10.1097/COH.00000000000319
- 125. Gómez-Román VR, Patterson LJ, Venzon D, Liewehr D, Aldrich K, Florese R, et al. Vaccine-elicited antibodies mediate antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity correlated with significantly reduced acute viremia in rhesus macaques challenged with SIVmac251. J Immunol (2005) 174(4):2185–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.4.2185
- 126. Bolton DL, Pegu A, Wang K, McGinnis K, Nason M, Foulds K, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 monoclonal antibodies suppress acute simian-human immunodeficiency virus viremia and limit seeding of cell-associated viral reservoirs. *J Virol* (2015) 90(3):1321–32. doi:10.1128/ JVI.02454-15
- 127. Ferrantelli F, Buckley KA, Rasmussen RA, Chalmers A, Wang T, Li PL, et al. Time dependence of protective post-exposure prophylaxis with human monoclonal antibodies against pathogenic SHIV challenge in newborn macaques. *Virology* (2007) 358(1):69–78. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2006.07.056

- 128. Nishimura Y, Igarashi T, Haigwood NL, Sadjadpour R, Donau OK, Buckler C, et al. Transfer of neutralizing IgG to macaques 6 h but not 24 h after SHIV infection confers sterilizing protection: implications for HIV-1 vaccine development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(25):15131–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.2436476100
- Barouch DH, Ghneim K, Bosche WJ, Li Y, Berkemeier B, Hull M, et al. Rapid inflammasome activation following mucosal SIV infection of rhesus monkeys. *Cell* (2016) 165(3):656–67. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016. 03.021
- 130. Cohen MS, et al. Acute HIV-1 infection. N Engl J Med (2011) 364(20): 1943–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1011874
- Bournazos S, Klein F, Pietzsch J, Seaman MS, Nussenzweig MC, Ravetch JV. Broadly neutralizing anti-HIV-1 antibodies require Fc effector functions for in vivo activity. *Cell* (2014) 158(6):1243–53. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014. 08.023
- 132. Halper-Stromberg A, Lu CL, Klein F, Horwitz JA, Bournazos S, Nogueira L, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibodies and viral inducers decrease rebound from HIV-1 latent reservoirs in humanized mice. *Cell* (2014) 158(5):989–99. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.07.043
- 133. Pollara J, Bonsignori M, Moody MA, Liu P, Alam SM, Hwang KK, et al. HIV-1 vaccine-induced C1 and V2 Env-specific antibodies synergize for increased antiviral activities. *J Virol* (2014) 88(14):7715–26. doi:10.1128/ JVI.00156-14
- 134. Forthal DN, Landucci G, Cole KS, Marthas M, Becerra JC, Van Rompay K. Rhesus macaque polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies inhibit simian immunodeficiency virus in the presence of human or autologous rhesus effector cells. J Virol (2006) 80(18):9217–25. doi:10.1128/JVI.02746-05
- 135. Fouts TR, Bagley K, Prado IJ, Bobb KL, Schwartz JA, Xu R, et al. Balance of cellular and humoral immunity determines the level of protection by HIV vaccines in rhesus macaque models of HIV infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2015) 112(9):E992–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1423669112
- Lambour J, Naranjo-Gomez M, Piechaczyk M, Pelegrin M. Converting monoclonal antibody-based immunotherapies from passive to active: bringing immune complexes into play. *Emerg Microbes Infect* (2016) 5(8):e92. doi:10.1038/emi.2016.97
- 137. Posch W, Cardinaud S, Hamimi C, Fletcher A, Mühlbacher A, Loacker K, et al. Antibodies attenuate the capacity of dendritic cells to stimulate HIVspecific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2012) 130(6): 1368–74.e2. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.08.025
- Hioe CE, Visciano ML, Kumar R, Liu J, Mack EA, Simon RE, et al. The use of immune complex vaccines to enhance antibody responses against neutralizing epitopes on HIV-1 envelope gp120. *Vaccine* (2009) 28(2):352–60. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.10.040
- Kumar R, Tuen M, Li H, Tse DB, Hioe CE. Improving immunogenicity of HIV-1 envelope gp120 by glycan removal and immune complex formation. *Vaccine* (2011) 29(48):9064–74. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.09.057
- 140. Kumar R, Tuen M, Liu J, Nàdas A, Pan R, Kong X, et al. Elicitation of broadly reactive antibodies against glycan-modulated neutralizing V3 epitopes of HIV-1 by immune complex vaccines. *Vaccine* (2013) 31(46):5413–21. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.09.010
- 141. Kumar R, Visciano ML, Li H, Hioe C. Targeting a neutralizing epitope of HIV envelope Gp120 by immune complex vaccine. J AIDS Clin Res (2012) S8(2). doi:10.4172/2155-6113.S8-002
- 142. Guo H, König R, Deng M, Riess M, Mo J, Zhang L, et al. NLRX1 sequesters STING to negatively regulate the interferon response, thereby facilitating the replication of HIV-1 and DNA viruses. *Cell Host Microbe* (2016) 19(4):515–28. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2016.03.001
- 143. Ji J, Cloyd MW. HIV-1 binding to CD4 on CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells enhances their suppressive function and induces them to home to, and accumulate in, peripheral and mucosal lymphoid tissues: an additional mechanism of immunosuppression. *Int Immunol* (2009) 21(3):283–94. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxn146
- 144. Estes JD, Li Q, Reynolds MR, Wietgrefe S, Duan L, Schacker T, et al. Premature induction of an immunosuppressive regulatory T cell response during acute simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Infect Dis* (2006) 193(5):703–12. doi:10.1086/500368
- 145. D'Souza M, Fontenot AP, Mack DG, Lozupone C, Dillon S, Meditz A, et al. Programmed death 1 expression on HIV-specific CD4+ T cells is driven by

viral replication and associated with T cell dysfunction. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(3):1979–87. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.3.1979

- 146. Estes JD, Gordon SN, Zeng M, Chahroudi AM, Dunham RM, Staprans SI, et al. Early resolution of acute immune activation and induction of PD-1 in SIV-infected sooty mangabeys distinguishes nonpathogenic from pathogenic infection in rhesus macaques. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(10):6798–807. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.10.6798
- 147. Guan Y, Pazgier M, Sajadi MM, Kamin-Lewis R, Al-Darmarki S, Flinko R, et al. Diverse specificity and effector function among human antibodies to HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein epitopes exposed by CD4 binding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(1):E69–78. doi:10.1073/pnas.1217609110
- 148. Dey B, Berger EA. Towards an HIV cure based on targeted killing of infected cells: different approaches against acute versus chronic infection. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2015) 10(3):207–13. doi:10.1097/COH.00000000000151
- Saxena A, Wu D. Advances in therapeutic Fc engineering modulation of IgG-associated effector functions and serum half-life. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:580. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00580
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Divergent immunoglobulin g subclass activity through selective Fc receptor binding. *Science* (2005) 310(5753):1510–2. doi:10.1126/science.1118948
- 151. Smith P, DiLillo DJ, Bournazos S, Li F, Ravetch JV. Mouse model recapitulating human Fcgamma receptor structural and functional diversity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(16):6181–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1203954109
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Fcgamma receptors as regulators of immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8(1):34–47. doi:10.1038/nri2206
- 153. Asmal M, Hellmann I, Liu W, Keele BF, Perelson AS, Bhattacharya T, et al. A signature in HIV-1 envelope leader peptide associated with transition from acute to chronic infection impacts envelope processing and infectivity. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(8):e23673. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0023673
- 154. Denton PW, Long JM, Wietgrefe SW, Sykes C, Spagnuolo RA, Snyder OD, et al. Targeted cytotoxic therapy kills persisting HIV infected cells during ART. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(1):e1003872. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1003872
- 155. Pincus SH, Song K, Maresh GA, Hamer DH, Dimitrov DS, Chen W, et al. Identification of human anti-HIV gp160 monoclonal antibodies that make effective immunotoxins. *J Virol* (2017) 91(3). doi:10.1128/JVI. 01955-16
- 156. May RD, Finkelman FD, Wheeler HT, Uhr JW, Vitetta ES. Evaluation of ricin A chain-containing immunotoxins directed against different epitopes on the delta-chain of cell surface-associated IgD on murine B cells. *J Immunol* (1990) 144(9):3637–42.
- Pincus SH, McClure J. Soluble CD4 enhances the efficacy of immunotoxins directed against gp41 of the human immunodeficiency virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1993) 90(1):332–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.1.332
- Pincus SH, Song K, Maresh GA, Frank A, Worthylake D, Chung HK, et al. Design and in vivo characterization of immunoconjugates targeting HIV gp160. J Virol (2017) 91(3). doi:10.1128/JVI.01360-16
- Mazor R, Onda M, Pastan I. Immunogenicity of therapeutic recombinant immunotoxins. *Immunol Rev* (2016) 270(1):152-64. doi:10.1111/ imr.12390
- 160. Alvarez RA, Barria MI, Chen BK. Unique features of HIV-1 spread through T cell virological synapses. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(12):e1004513. doi:10.1371/ journal.ppat.1004513
- 161. Parsons MS, et al. Partial efficacy of a broadly neutralizing antibody against cell-associated SHIV infection. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9(402). doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.aaf1483
- Milligan C, Overbaugh J. The role of cell-associated virus in mother-to-child HIV transmission. J Infect Dis (2014) 210(Suppl 3):S631–40. doi:10.1093/ infdis/jiu344
- 163. Jung A, Maier R, Vartanian JP, Bocharov G, Jung V, Fischer U, et al. Recombination: multiply infected spleen cells in HIV patients. *Nature* (2002) 418(6894):144. doi:10.1038/418144a
- 164. Zhong P, Agosto LM, Ilinskaya A, Dorjbal B, Truong R, Derse D, et al. Cell-to-cell transmission can overcome multiple donor and target cell barriers imposed on cell-free HIV. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(1):e53138. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0053138
- Russell RA, Martin N, Mitar I, Jones E, Sattentau QJ. Multiple proviral integration events after virological synapse-mediated HIV-1 spread. *Virology* (2013) 443(1):143–9. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2013.05.005

- 166. Reh L, Magnus C, Schanz M, Weber J, Uhr T, Rusert P, et al. Capacity of broadly neutralizing antibodies to inhibit HIV-1 cell-cell transmission is strain- and epitope-dependent. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11(7):e1004966. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004966
- 167. Dale BM, McNerney GP, Thompson DL, Hubner W, de Los Reyes K, Chuang FY, et al. Cell-to-cell transfer of HIV-1 via virological synapses leads to endosomal virion maturation that activates viral membrane fusion. *Cell Host Microbe* (2011) 10(6):551–62. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2011.10.015
- Margolis DM, Koup RA, Ferrari G. HIV antibodies for treatment of HIV infection. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275(1):313–23. doi:10.1111/imr.12506
- 169. Gandhi RT, Bosch RJ, Aga E, Albrecht M, Demeter LM, Dykes C, et al. No evidence for decay of the latent reservoir in HIV-1-infected patients receiving intensive enfuvirtide-containing antiretroviral therapy. J Infect Dis (2010) 201(2):293–6. doi:10.1086/649569
- 170. McMahon D, Jones J, Wiegand A, Gange SJ, Kearney M, Palmer S, et al. Short-course raltegravir intensification does not reduce persistent low-level viremia in patients with HIV-1 suppression during receipt of combination antiretroviral therapy. *Clin Infect Dis* (2010) 50(6):912–9. doi:10.1086/650749
- 171. Dinoso JB, Kim SY, Wiegand AM, Palmer SE, Gange SJ, Cranmer L, et al. Treatment intensification does not reduce residual HIV-1 viremia in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(23):9403–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0903107106
- 172. Anderson JA, Archin NM, Ince W, Parker D, Wiegand A, Coffin JM, et al. Clonal sequences recovered from plasma from patients with residual HIV-1 viremia and on intensified antiretroviral therapy are identical to replicating viral RNAs recovered from circulating resting CD4+ T cells. *J Virol* (2011) 85(10):5220–3. doi:10.1128/JVI.00284-11
- 173. Lorenzo-Redondo R, Fryer HR, Bedford T, Kim EY, Archer J, Pond SLK, et al. Persistent HIV-1 replication maintains the tissue reservoir during therapy. *Nature* (2016) 530(7588):51–6. doi:10.1038/nature16933
- 174. Vallejo A, Gutierrez C, Hernandez-Novoa B, Diaz L, Madrid N, Abad-Fernandez M, et al. The effect of intensification with raltegravir on the HIV-1 reservoir of latently infected memory CD4 T cells in suppressed patients. *AIDS* (2012) 26(15):1885–94. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283584521
- 175. Chun TW, Murray D, Justement JS, Blazkova J, Hallahan CW, Fankuchen O, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibodies suppress HIV in the persistent viral reservoir. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(36):13151–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1414148111
- 176. Josefsson L, von Stockenstrom S, Faria NR, Sinclair E, Bacchetti P, Killian M, et al. The HIV-1 reservoir in eight patients on long-term suppressive antiretroviral therapy is stable with few genetic changes over time. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(51):E4987–96. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1308313110
- 177. Kearney MF, Spindler J, Shao W, Yu S, Anderson EM, O'Shea A, et al. Lack of detectable HIV-1 molecular evolution during suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(3):e1004010. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1004010
- 178. Hocqueloux L, Prazuck T, Avettand-Fenoel V, Lafeuillade A, Cardon B, Viard JP, et al. Long-term immunovirologic control following antiretroviral therapy interruption in patients treated at the time of primary HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* (2010) 24(10):1598–601. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32833b61ba
- 179. Sáez-Cirión A, Bacchus C, Hocqueloux L, Avettand-Fenoel V, Girault I, Lecuroux C, et al. Post-treatment HIV-1 controllers with a long-term virological remission after the interruption of early initiated antiretroviral therapy ANRS VISCONTI Study. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9(3):e1003211. doi:10.1371/ journal.ppat.1003211
- Persaud D, Gay H, Ziemniak C, Chen YH, Piatak M Jr, Chun TW, et al. Absence of detectable HIV-1 viremia after treatment cessation in an infant. N Engl J Med (2013) 369(19):1828–35. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302976
- 181. Chun TW, Carruth L, Finzi D, Shen X, DiGiuseppe JA, Taylor H, et al. Quantification of latent tissue reservoirs and total body viral load in HIV-1 infection. *Nature* (1997) 387(6629):183–8. doi:10.1038/387183a0
- 182. Hill AL, Rosenbloom DI, Fu F, Nowak MA, Siliciano RF. Predicting the outcomes of treatment to eradicate the latent reservoir for HIV-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(37):13475–80. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1406663111
- Wong JK, Yukl SA. Tissue reservoirs of HIV. Curr Opin HIV AIDS (2016) 11(4):362–70. doi:10.1097/COH.00000000000293

- Lee GQ, Lichterfeld M. Diversity of HIV-1 reservoirs in CD4+ T-cell subpopulations. Curr Opin HIV AIDS (2016) 11(4):383–7. doi:10.1097/ COH.00000000000281
- 185. Fletcher CV, Staskus K, Wietgrefe SW, Rothenberger M, Reilly C, Chipman JG, et al. Persistent HIV-1 replication is associated with lower antiretroviral drug concentrations in lymphatic tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2014) 111(6):2307–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.1318249111
- 186. Gray LR, Brew BJ, Churchill MJ. Strategies to target HIV-1 in the central nervous system. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2016) 11(4):371–5. doi:10.1097/ COH.00000000000278
- Sacha JB, Ndhlovu LC. Strategies to target non-T-cell HIV reservoirs. Curr Opin HIV AIDS (2016) 11(4):376–82. doi:10.1097/COH.00000000000283
- DeMaster LK, Liu X, VanBelzen DJ, Trinité B, Zheng L, Agosto LM, et al. A subset of CD4/CD8 double-negative T cells expresses HIV proteins in patients on antiretroviral therapy. J Virol (2015) 90(5):2165–79. doi:10.1128/ JVI.01913-15
- Koppensteiner H, Brack-Werner R, Schindler M. Macrophages and their relevance in human immunodeficiency virus type I infection. *Retrovirology* (2012) 9:82. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-9-82
- 190. Cribbs SK, Lennox J, Caliendo AM, Brown LA, Guidot DM. Healthy HIV-1-infected individuals on highly active antiretroviral therapy harbor HIV-1 in their alveolar macrophages. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2015) 31(1):64–70. doi:10.1089/AID.2014.0133
- 191. Heesters BA, Lindqvist M, Vagefi PA, Scully EP, Schildberg FA, Altfeld M, et al. Follicular dendritic cells retain infectious HIV in cycling endosomes. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11(12):e1005285. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1005285
- 192. Smith BA, Gartner S, Liu Y, Perelson AS, Stilianakis NI, Keele BF, et al. Persistence of infectious HIV on follicular dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(1):690–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.1.690
- Euler Z, Alter G. Exploring the potential of monoclonal antibody therapeutics for HIV-1 eradication. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2015) 31(1): 13-24. doi:10.1089/AID.2014.0235
- Ruxrungtham K, Sirivichayakul S, Buranapraditkun S, Krause W. Alemtuzumab-induced elimination of HIV-1-infected immune cells. *J Virus Erad* (2016) 2(1):12–8.
- 195. Rasmussen TA, McMahon J, Chang JJ, Symons J, Roche M, Dantanarayana A, et al. Impact of alemtuzumab on HIV persistence in an HIV-infected individual on antiretroviral therapy with Sezary syndrome. *AIDS* (2017) 31(13):1839–45. doi:10.1097/QAD.00000000001540
- 196. Descours B, Petitjean G, López-Zaragoza JL, Bruel T, Raffel R, Psomas C, et al. CD32a is a marker of a CD4 T-cell HIV reservoir harbouring replication-competent proviruses. *Nature* (2017) 543(7646):564–7. doi:10.1038/ nature21710
- 197. Marsden MD, Zack JA. Neutralizing the HIV reservoir. Cell (2014) 158(5):971–2. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.010
- 198. Rinaldo C, Huang XL, Fan ZF, Ding M, Beltz L, Logar A, et al. High levels of anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) memory cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity and low viral load are associated with lack of disease in HIV-1-infected long-term nonprogressors. *J Virol* (1995) 69(9): 5838–42.
- 199. Klein MR, van Baalen CA, Holwerda AM, Kerkhof Garde SR, Bende RJ, Keet IP, et al. Kinetics of Gag-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses during the clinical course of HIV-1 infection: a longitudinal analysis of rapid progressors and long-term asymptomatics. *J Exp Med* (1995) 181(4): 1365–72. doi:10.1084/jem.181.4.1365
- 200. Pinto LA, Sullivan J, Berzofsky JA, Clerici M, Kessler HA, Landay AL, et al. ENV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses in HIV seronegative health care workers occupationally exposed to HIV-contaminated body fluids. J Clin Invest (1995) 96(2):867–76. doi:10.1172/JCI118133
- 201. Sung JA, Pickeral J, Liu L, Stanfield-Oakley SA, Lam CY, Garrido C, et al. Dual-affinity re-targeting proteins direct T cell-mediated cytolysis of latently HIV-infected cells. *J Clin Invest* (2015) 125(11):4077–90. doi:10.1172/ JCI82314
- 202. Pegu A, Asokan M, Wu L, Wang K, Hataye J, Casazza JP, et al. Activation and lysis of human CD4 cells latently infected with HIV-1. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:8447. doi:10.1038/ncomms9447
- 203. Scholler J, Brady TL, Binder-Scholl G, Hwang WT, Plesa G, Hege KM, et al. Decade-long safety and function of retroviral-modified chimeric

antigen receptor T cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4(132):132ra53. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3003761

- 204. Zhen A, Kamata M, Rezek V, Rick J, Levin B, Kasparian S, et al. HIVspecific immunity derived from chimeric antigen receptor-engineered stem cells. *Mol Ther* (2015) 23(8):1358–67. doi:10.1038/mt.2015.102
- 205. Carrillo MA, Zhen A, Zack JA, Kitchen SG. New approaches for the enhancement of chimeric antigen receptors for the treatment of HIV. *Transl Res* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2017.07.002
- 206. Egelhofer M, Brandenburg G, Martinius H, Schult-Dietrich P, Melikyan G, Kunert R, et al. Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 entry in cells expressing gp41-derived peptides. *J Virol* (2004) 78(2):568–75. doi:10.1128/JVI.78.2.568-575.2004
- 207. Younan PM, Polacino P, Kowalski JP, Peterson CW, Maurice NJ, Williams NP, et al. Positive selection of mC46-expressing CD4+ T cells and maintenance of virus specific immunity in a primate AIDS model. *Blood* (2013) 122(2):179–87. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-01-482224
- 208. Holt N, Wang J, Kim K, Friedman G, Wang X, Taupin V, et al. Human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells modified by zinc-finger nucleases targeted to CCR5 control HIV-1 in vivo. *Nat Biotechnol* (2010) 28(8): 839–47. doi:10.1038/nbt.1663
- 209. Shimizu S, Ringpis GE, Marsden MD, Cortado RV, Wilhalme HM, Elashoff D, et al. RNAi-mediated CCR5 knockdown provides HIV-1 resistance to memory T cells in humanized BLT mice. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2015) 4:e227. doi:10.1038/mtna.2015.3
- Li C, Guan X, Du T, Jin W, Wu B, Liu Y, et al. Inhibition of HIV-1 infection of primary CD4+ T-cells by gene editing of CCR5 using adenovirusdelivered CRISPR/Cas9. J Gen Virol (2015) 96(8):2381–93. doi:10.1099/ vir.0.000139
- 211. Kang H, Minder P, Park MA, Mesquitta WT, Torbett BE, Slukvin II. CCR5 disruption in induced pluripotent stem cells using CRISPR/Cas9 provides selective resistance of immune cells to CCR5-tropic HIV-1 virus. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2015) 4:e268. doi:10.1038/mtna.2015.42
- Dotti G, Gottschalk S, Savoldo B, Brenner MK. Design and development of therapies using chimeric antigen receptor-expressing T cells. *Immunol Rev* (2014) 257(1):107–26. doi:10.1111/imr.12131
- 213. Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL, Katz S, Grupp SA, Bagg A, et al. T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) 3(95):95ra73. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3002842
- 214. Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med (2013) 368(16):1509–18. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1215134
- Cavazzana-Calvo M, Fischer A, Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Aiuti A. Gene therapy for primary immunodeficiencies: part 1. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2012) 24(5):580–4. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012.08.008
- 216. Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(4):843–51. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.24
- Lienert F, Lohmueller JJ, Garg A, Silver PA. Synthetic biology in mammalian cells: next generation research tools and therapeutics. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2014) 15(2):95–107. doi:10.1038/nrm3738
- de Witte MA, Jorritsma A, Swart E, Straathof KC, de Punder K, Haanen JB, et al. An inducible caspase 9 safety switch for T-cell therapy. *Blood* (2005) 105(11):4247–54. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-11-4564
- 219. Di Stasi A, Tey SK, Dotti G, Fujita Y, Kennedy-Nasser A, Martinez C, et al. Inducible apoptosis as a safety switch for adoptive cell therapy. *N Engl J Med* (2011) 365(18):1673–83. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1106152
- 220. Wei P, Wong WW, Park JS, Corcoran EE, Peisajovich SG, Onuffer JJ, et al. Bacterial virulence proteins as tools to rewire kinase pathways in yeast and immune cells. *Nature* (2012) 488(7411):384–8. doi:10.1038/ nature11259
- 221. Roybal KT, Williams JZ, Morsut L, Rupp LJ, Kolinko I, Choe JH, et al. Engineering T cells with customized therapeutic response programs using synthetic notch receptors. *Cell* (2016) 167(2):419–32.e16. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2016.09.011
- 222. Roybal KT, Rupp LJ, Morsut L, Walker WJ, McNally KA, Park JS, et al. Precision tumor recognition by T cells with combinatorial antigensensing circuits. *Cell* (2016) 164(4):770–9. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.011

- 223. Wilkie S, van Schalkwyk MC, Hobbs S, Davies DM, van der Stegen SJ, Pereira AC, et al. Dual targeting of ErbB2 and MUC1 in breast cancer using chimeric antigen receptors engineered to provide complementary signaling. J Clin Immunol (2012) 32(5):1059–70. doi:10.1007/s10875-012-9689-9
- 224. Lanitis E, Poussin M, Klattenhoff AW, Song D, Sandaltzopoulos R, June CH, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T Cells with dissociated signaling domains exhibit focused antitumor activity with reduced potential for toxicity in vivo. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2013) 1(1):43–53. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0008
- 225. Kloss CC, Condomines M, Cartellieri M, Bachmann M, Sadelain M. Combinatorial antigen recognition with balanced signaling promotes selective tumor eradication by engineered T cells. *Nat Biotechnol* (2013) 31(1):71–5. doi:10.1038/nbt.2459
- 226. Fukazawa Y, Lum R, Okoye AA, Park H, Matsuda K, Bae JY, et al. B cell follicle sanctuary permits persistent productive simian immunodeficiency

virus infection in elite controllers. Nat Med (2015) 21(2):132–9. doi:10.1038/ nm.3781

227. Kaminski R, Chen Y, Fischer T, Tedaldi E, Napoli A, Zhang Y, et al. Elimination of HIV-1 genomes from human T-lymphoid cells by CRISPR/ Cas9 gene editing. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:22555. doi:10.1038/srep28213

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Hua and Ackerman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Immunologic Insights on the Membrane Proximal External Region: A Major Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type-1 Vaccine Target

Luis M. Molinos-Albert^{1†}, Bonaventura Clotet^{1,2}, Julià Blanco^{1,2} and Jorge Carrillo^{1*}

¹ IrsiCaixa AIDS Research Institute, Institut de Recerca Germans Trias i Pujol (IGTP), Germans Trias i Pujol University Hospital, Barcelona, Spain, ² Universitat de Vic – Universitat Central de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Chiodi, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by:

Guido Ferrari, Duke University, United States Lucia Lopalco, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

> *Correspondence: Jorge Carrillo jcarrillo@irsicaixa.es

[†]Present address:

Luis M. Molinos-Albert, Laboratory of Humoral Response to Pathogens, Department of Immunology, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 11 July 2017 Accepted: 31 August 2017 Published: 19 September 2017

Citation:

Molinos-Albert LM, Clotet B, Blanco J and Carrillo J (2017) Immunologic Insights on the Membrane Proximal External Region: A Major Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type-1 Vaccine Target. Front. Immunol. 8:1154. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01154 Broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNAbs) targeting conserved regions within the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 (HIV-1) envelope glycoprotein (Env) can be generated by the human immune system and their elicitation by vaccination will be a key point to protect against the wide range of viral diversity. The membrane proximal external region (MPER) is a highly conserved region within the Env gp41 subunit, plays a major role in membrane fusion and is targeted by naturally induced bNAbs. Therefore, the MPER is considered as an attractive vaccine target. However, despite many attempts to design MPER-based immunogens, further study is still needed to understand its structural complexity, its amphiphilic feature, and its limited accessibility by steric hindrance. These particular features compromise the development of MPER-specific neutralizing responses during natural infection and limit the number of bNAbs isolated against this region, as compared with other HIV-1 vulnerability sites, and represent additional hurdles for immunogen development. Nevertheless, the analysis of MPER humoral responses elicited during natural infection as well as the MPER bNAbs isolated to date highlight that the human immune system is capable of generating MPER protective antibodies. Here, we discuss the recent advances describing the immunologic and biochemical features that make the MPER a unique HIV-1 vulnerability site, the different strategies to generate MPER-neutralizing antibodies in immunization protocols and point the importance of extending our knowledge toward new MPER epitopes by the isolation of novel monoclonal antibodies. This will be crucial for the redesign of immunogens able to skip non-neutralizing MPER determinants.

Keywords: human immunodeficiency virus type-1, broadly neutralizing antibodies, membrane proximal external region, B-cells, polyreactivity, membrane interaction, immunization, immunogens

INTRODUCTION

An Apparently Easy Vaccine Target

The human immunodeficiency virus type-1 (HIV-1) envelope glycoprotein (Env) is the sole viral antigen exposed on the virion surface. Env is synthetized as a precursor gp160 glycoprotein that will yield after cleavage a mature complex constituted by the non-covalent association of three gp120 (surface) and three gp41 (transmembrane) subunits, resulting in a heavily glycosylated trimer of heterodimers (1–5). Env determines the process of HIV-1 entry into the target cell that

will lead to the fusion of the viral and host cell membranes (6). This process initiates with the high affinity interaction between gp120 and the CD4 molecule on the surface of target cells. This interaction promotes a series of conformational changes that transiently expose the gp120 coreceptor binding site allowing the gp120 attachment to the CCR5 or CXCR4 chemokine receptors (7-9). Coreceptor ligation triggers structural rearrangements in gp41 that permit the initiation of viral fusion. The gp41 fusion peptide (FP) inserts into the target cell membrane accounting for a short-life prehairpin fusion intermediate in which both cellular and viral membranes are connected by an extended conformation of gp41. Next, alpha-helical domains HR1 and HR2 of each gp41 monomer are folded back together to generate a 6-helix bundle conformation that brings both target cell and viral membranes closer to finally produce the membrane merge (10, 11). During this process both FP and the membrane proximal external region (MPER) play a crucial role in membrane destabilization (12).

Given its exposure on the virion surface and its role in viral infectivity, Env is the main target of HIV-1 protective humoral responses. The elicitation of Env broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNAbs), defined as those capable of neutralize the wide viral diversity, is one of the main goals for a successful HIV-1 vaccine (13). The notion that the human immune system is capable of producing HIV-1 bNAbs has been established by two pieces of evidence: (i) the identification of such immune responses in sera from HIV-1 infected individuals and (ii) the isolation of monoclonal bNAbs from these individuals (14, 15). These naturally induced bNAbs allowed the identification of conserved Env regions that helped researchers to delineate an HIV-1 Env vulnerability map. The study of bNAbs and the epitopes targeted by them are contributing enormously to our understanding of the HIV-1 humoral response as well as to the rational design of immunogen candidates (14, 16).

Whereas a big collection of bNAbs against gp120 Env subunit has been generated, a limited number has been also isolated against the less exposed gp41 subunit (17). Although neutralizing antibodies targeting the HR1 alpha-helical region have been described (18-20), the MPER is the major gp41 neutralizing determinant (21, 22). This highly conserved and unusual tryptophan-rich motif is located adjacent to the viral membrane, covering the last C-terminal residues of the gp41 ectodomain (aa 660-683, HXB2 numbering) and connects the extracellular portion of Env with the TM domain (23, 24). The importance of the MPER on Env functionality was highlighted by analysis of mutant viruses containing deletions, insertions or substitutions within this region (24-26). Substitution of the five MPER conserved tryptophan residues dramatically compromised the incorporation of gp41 into virions and, thus, blocked viral entry (24). Moreover, simple deletion of the W₆₆₆-I₆₈₂ spanning sequence completely abolished syncytium formation (27). These observations indicated that the MPER plays a major role in the HIV-1 Env-mediated fusion and viral infectivity, which is consistent with the high level of sequence conservation (23). The functional implications in viral infectivity, the high level of conservation and the lack of N-linked glycosylated residues, together with the discovery of potent and/or bNAbs targeting linear MPER sequences (2F5, 4E10, 10E8), all able to protect against viral challenge in non-human primates (NHP) (28–30), points that the elicitation of MPER-specific neutralizing responses by immunogen candidates is highly desirable (21, 22, 31). In addition, the MPER has a role in HIV-1 CD4-independent viral transcytosis at the epithelial barrier (32), where the conserved ₆₆₂ELDKWA₆₆₇ gp41 sequence interacts with galactosyl ceramide receptors (33). Secretory IgA from cervicovaginal secretions of HIV-1 infected individuals are capable of blocking viral transcytosis via ₆₆₂ELDKWA₆₆₇ sequence binding (34).

The MPER presents some immunological, physical, and structural, properties that impact directly on its immunogenicity, explaining the lower MPER neutralizing response of HIV-1 infected individuals comparing with other Env vulnerability regions (35, 36). Those include steric hindrance by gp120 and high hydrophobicity that makes the MPER to be partially embedded within the viral membrane (37). Structurally, the information regarding the native conformation of the MPER within the Env trimer is still limited (5), adding the challenge of developing an immunogen against a structurally ambiguous epitope. Finally, MPER-specific bNAbs show reactivity against self-antigens and host tolerance mechanisms have been suggested to influence the elicitation of MPER neutralizing responses (38).

Here, we discuss the properties that make the MPER both a unique as well as a challenging HIV-1 vaccine target; we review the MPER immune response during natural infection, the particular features of MPER bNAbs isolated and the different attempts to generate MPER-specific neutralizing antibodies by immunization within the last years. Although the results reflect a generalized failure, new insights into our knowledge have been achieved. The fact that other Env vulnerability sites have followed a similar path supports the notion that the MPER is still an HIV-1 vaccine target worth exploring (31).

ISOLATION OF MPER NEUTRALIZING ANTIBODIES

The strongest evidence supporting that the human immune system can develop a potent neutralizing MPER-specific response results from the isolation of monoclonal antibodies from HIVinfected individuals. From the naturally induced 2F5, 4E10, 10E8, z13, m66.6, and CH12 antibodies identified, three of them (2F5, 4E10, and 10E8) display a broadly neutralizing activity (28, 39-46). 2F5 and 4E10 are among the first HIV-1 bNAbs discovered. They were generated by electrofusion of peripheral blood mononuclear cells mixtures from different HIV-1 infected individuals (47). 2F5 targets the linear sequence 662ELDKWA667 (39) within the N-terminal moiety of the MPER, where the central core 664DKW666 is essential for neutralization, as demonstrated by alanine-scanning mutagenesis assays (48). 2F5 has a relatively high potency and was found to neutralize 57-67% of the viral isolates tested with an IC50 below 50 μ g/mL (42, 49). However, HIV-1 subtype C viruses are usually 2F5-resistant due to a mutation in the central core epitope (DSW instead of DKW) (49-51). 4E10 targets the distal conserved tryptophan rich moiety located C-terminal to the 2F5 epitope which includes

the sequence $_{671}$ NWFDIT $_{676}$ and is extended toward C-terminal residues, where W672, F673, I675, T676, L679, and W680 have the most significant contacts with the antibody (43). Although presenting a moderate potency, 4E10 displays a remarkable breadth against 98–100% of the viral isolates, depending of the panel tested, with an IC50 below 50 µg/mL (49, 52). Further characterization of 2F5 and 4E10 antibodies has shown reduced potency of both antibodies, against transmitted-founder viruses (T/F IMC) or against replicating viruses obtained from primary lymphocytes when compared with pseudovirus obtained in 293 T cells (53–56). Despite these potential limitations, both 2F5 and 4E10 were shown to protect against viral challenge in NHP (28, 29) and their administration into human recipients showed no major clinical complications (57).

In order to delineate a complete map of HIV-1 neutralizing determinants, starting in 2009, a substantial effort has been made on the isolation of new bNAbs. The development of highthroughput analysis of single memory B cells and the use of fluorescently labeled Env-based protein probes to isolate antigen specific B cells (58–60) contributed enormously to the discovery of new HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies. In this context, the discovery in 2012 of the monoclonal antibody 10E8 recovered the interest toward the MPER region as a major vaccine target (42). 10E8 neutralized 98% of a panel of 181 pseudovirus with an IC50 below 50 µg/mL, showing a mean IC50 for sensitive viruses of 0.25 µg/mL, whereas mean IC50 values for 4E10 and 2F5 were 1.3 and 1.92 µg/mL, respectively (42). Interestingly, 72% of the panel was neutralized by 10E8 with an IC50 below 1 µg/mL, comparing with 37 and 16% for 4E10 and 2F5, respectively (42). Therefore, 10E8 could neutralize with a far greater potency and breadth than previously discovered anti-MPER bNAbs 2F5 and 4E10, and was comparable with some of the most potent HIV-1 bNAbs like VRC01 or PG9/PG16 (15). Notably, 10E8 was also reported to protect against viral challenge in vivo (30).

Interestingly, 2F5, 4E10, and 10E8 antibodies are IgG3 (42, 61); however, the role of this IgG subclass in the neutralizing properties of these antibodies, if any, remains elusive. Although IgG1 and IgG3 are the predominant antibodies elicited against viral antigens (62), both subclasses show important differences. IgG3 shows higher affinity for Fcy receptors than IgG1, a shorter half-life and a long highly flexible hinge region which has been suggested to be crucial to facilitate the access of these antibodies to the MPER and mediate their neutralizing activity (63, 64). However, it is still unclear whether an IgG3 background is absolutely required, since anti-MPER neutralizing responses have been identified in the non-IgG3 fraction of some HIVinfected individuals (65), and a change to IgG1 did not affect the neutralizing activity of 2F5 and 4E10 antibodies (61, 66). In this context, anti-MPER bNAbs could have been specifically generated from germline precursors preferentially undergoing IgG3 class switching (67) and, in some cases, after affinity maturation and antigen selection by somatic hypermutation, switching to a more downstream IgG subclasses, such as IgG1, by sequential class switching recombination (68). Because IgG3 is one of the less represented IgG subclasses, with the shortest half-life in plasma and IgG3-dominant humoral responses are uncommon (63), elucidating whether this IgG subclass is required for the development of anti-MPER bNAbs, might be crucial to define immunization strategies aimed to generate effective long-lasting anti-MPER responses.

Independently of their origin, all these antibodies are the result of a long process of affinity maturation and are highly mutated with an unusually long and hydrophobic IgH complementary determining region 3 (CDR H3) (42, 69, 70). Notably, these antibodies share a common neutralization mechanism in which the interaction of the hydrophobic CDR H3 apex with the membrane seems to be essential (see next section) (71, 72). Accordingly, autoreactivity/polyreactivity are odd characteristics of 2F5 and 4E10 antibodies. Initially, 10E8 was reported to be non-polyreactive but subsequent studies suggested that 10E8 needs to bind membrane lipids, especially cholesterol, to mediate neutralization (42, 73, 74).

Depending on the bound antibody, the MPER can acquire a particular conformation. Crystal structures of 2F5 in complex with an MPER peptide showed that the core motif DKW forms a type 1 β -turn structure (75). Contrary, the MPER in complex with 4E10 was found to form an α -helical conformation from D674 to K683 (70, 76). Recently, the crystal structure of 10E8 bound to an scaffolded MPER construct revealed that the full epitope of 10E8 is composed of both MPER and lipids (74). Encouragingly, the frequency of 10E8-like antibodies in HIV-infected individuals seemed to be superior to 2F5 or 4E10 specificities in the cohort where 10E8 was isolated (42).

Very recently, a new lineage of distal MPER-specific bNAbs, designated as DH511, was isolated from memory B-cells and plasma of an HIV-infected donor (67). DH511 lineage presented long CDR H3 loops of 23 to 24 aminoacids, an VH and VL somatic mutation rate of 15–22 and 14–18%, respectively, and was derived from the same heavy chain germline gene family as 10E8 (VH 3–15). Similarly to 2F5, 4E10, and 10E8, DH511 clonal lineage presented an IgG3 isotype. Interestingly, the most potent mAb of this clonal lineage, DH511.2, neutralized 206 out of 208 pseudovirus of a geographically and genetically diverse panel with a median IC50 of 1 μ g/mL, being slightly more broad but less potent than 10E8 (67).

LIPID BINDING AND THE CONCERN OF POLYREACTIVITY

MPER and Lipids

Biophysical models suggest that the MPER acquires an alphahelical conformation partially embedded into the viral membrane, constituted by two independent domains separated by a flexible hinge (37, 77). These two segments showed to present different membrane-interacting properties. The C-terminal domain remains embedded into the membrane, whereas the N-terminal domain is more exposed (37, 77–79). The high tryptophan content is likely responsible of the MPER potential to interact with and destabilize lipid membranes (80, 81). According to its amphiphilic characteristics, hydrophobic residues remain buried into the membrane whereas the most polar ones are solventexposed (37). Of note, the MPER topology depends on the membrane context where it is presented (82, 83) and membrane lipids such as cholesterol and sphingomyelin can modulate the capacity of the MPER to destabilize membranes (82, 83). MPER and cholesterol interactions are further supported by the existence of the sequence 679-LWYIK-683 located at the C-terminus which was identified as a cholesterol recognition amino acid consensus motif (84). This motif seems to play an important role during the incorporation of Env into the virion, stabilizing the trimer complex (22).

Neutralization Mechanisms and the Importance of Membrane Interaction

Antibody binding to a precise peptide sequence is necessary but not sufficient to achieve MPER-dependent antibody neutralization. Accordingly, z13e1 or 13H11 antibodies overlap the sequences bound by 4E10 and 2F5 respectively with similar affinities but displaying a far low neutralization potency (44, 85). MPER bNAbs show an enrichment of their long CDR H3 loops in hydrophobic residues that seem to be important for their neutralization capability (48, 86, 87). Whereas some residues of the CDRs are important for binding to the peptidic epitope, the most hydrophobic loops interact directly with membrane lipids (71, 72, 87). SPR-based studies demonstrated that whereas anti-MPER bNAbs bind to a peptide sequence following a Langmuir curve model, binding against peptide-membrane complexes follow a two steps (encounter-docking) model. First, the antibody attaches to the lipid membrane through its long hydrophobic CDR H3 and concentrates within the proximity of the MPER epitope to subsequently bind to the prehairpin intermediate of gp41, once the conformational change takes place (71, 72). This mechanism facilitates the accessibility of the antibody to its epitope, overcoming the poor exposure of the MPER and takes advantage of its close proximity to the viral membrane. Of note, upon binding, 2F5 or 4E10 promote an MPER conformational change, due to the extraction of the membrane-embedded epitope (37, 77).

Interestingly, the 2F5 antibody was predicted to bind lipids via CDRL1 and CDRH3 (88) and lipid binding sites were recently determined for 4E10 and 10E8 by X-ray crystallography (74, 89). 4E10 was shown to interact specifically with phosphatidic acid, phosphatidylglicerol and glycerol phosphate by using the CDR H1 and CDR H3 loops to bind polar head and hydrophobic tail groups respectively (89). In a second study, 10E8 lipid binding site was identified at the proximity of CDR L1 and CDR H3 loops (74). Therefore, the full epitope of MPER bNAbs is constituted by both peptide residues and membrane lipids. Notably, neutralizing activity of an anti-MPER single-chain bivalent llama antibody induced by immunization was also dependent of the hydrophobic CDR H3 apex without being involved in peptide recognition (87). Membrane interaction, thus, seems to play a major role in the neutralization mechanism of MPER bNAbs (26, 37, 72, 73, 77, 86).

The widely described importance of the membrane in MPER structure and functionality of the specific bNAbs suggest a role of lipids as a natural scaffold shaping the MPER structure. In this regard it is likely that lipids participate in the selection of germline precursors of bNAbs, pointing their relevance for immunogen design. Therefore, the generation of neutralizing anti-MPER responses may require its presentation within a membrane environment to properly present neutralizing determinants and to implement lipid cross-reactivity. The role of membrane lipids over MPER immunogenicity is, thus, a relevant issue currently being evaluated in immunization studies.

Binding to Self-Antigens: A Major Roadblock for MPER Neutralizing Antibodies?

Reactivity with self-antigens was suggested to explain the failure of generating MPER neutralizing antibodies by immunization as well as their low frequencies during natural infection (38, 90, 91). Gp41 antibodies generated during acute infection are usually derived from polyreactive antibodies whose precursors cross-react with antigens from intestinal microbiota (92-94). In 2005, polyspecific binding of 4E10 and 2F5 mAbs to cardiolipin and other anionic phospholipids was reported (90). Furthermore, conserved host antigens bound by 2F5, 4E10 and 10E8 have been also identified (95, 96). 2F5 binds to the enzyme kinureninase (KYNU), which contains the identical sequence (ELDKWA) of the 2F5 epitope, and is highly conserved between different mammal species. 4E10 binds to splicing factor-3b subunit-3 and type I inositol triphosphate (IP₃R1) (95) and, although initially described as non-autoreactive, 10E8 recognize the FAM84A protein (96). Collectively, these findings suggested that immunological tolerance might be involved in HIV-1 evasion of immune responses since autoreactive B-cells that cross-react with MPER sequences might be impaired in the naive repertoire (91, 97).

This hypothesis was tested by monitoring B-cell development in knock-in (KI) mice models carrying the same V(D)J rearrangements as mature bNAbs 2F5 and 4E10. These models showed a normal early B cell development but exhibited a blockade in the transition of pre-B to immature IgM+ B cells, which is defined by the first tolerance checkpoint (98-101). B-cell central tolerance takes place in the bone marrow (BM) and abrogates the development of autoreactive B-cells by several mechanisms such as clonal deletion or receptor edition (102). After that, some autoreactive B-cells can still egress from BM as anergic cells, which show a hyporesponder status and a reduced lifespan. However, in special circumstances anergic B-cells can be activated and differentiate to antibody-producing cells (103). In accordance with this, immunization of 2F5 KI mice with MPER peptide-liposome immunogens could rescue anergic B-cells to produce specific neutralizing antibodies (104, 105). More recently, a 2F5 germline KI mouse model showed 2F5 precursors deletion while the remaining anergic B cells could be also activated by germ-line mimicking immunogens (106). These outcomes indicated that the generation of 2F5 and 4E10 antibodies is likely controlled by immunological tolerance mechanisms and launched the hypothesis that HIV-1 host mimicry is an evolutionary strategy of pathogens and not particularly restricted to HIV-1 (95, 96). However, it is important to highlight that HIV-1 epitope mimicry does not impair the functionality of the host enzyme kynureninase, bound by 2F5 (107), and infusion of 2F5 or 4E10 in human recipients showed no major clinical complications (57), supporting the safety of eliciting MPER protective antibodies by vaccination (57, 107).

THE MPER RESPONSE DURING NATURAL INFECTION AND BALANCE BETWEEN NEUTRALIZING AND NON-NEUTRALIZING ANTIBODIES

The whole gp41 is mostly occluded by gp120 within the native viral spike, being the MPER transiently exposed during the fusion process (25). In consequence, B-cells accessibility to gp41 and native MPER may be compromised. Despite this, a strong antibody response is generated against the gp41 subunit in the course of HIV-1 infection probably due to gp120 shedding, non-functional forms of Env or transient epitope exposure during viral entry (108). Interestingly, the anti-gp41 humoral response can be detected two weeks after HIV-1 acquisition (108). This response, typically non-neutralizing and highly cross-reactive to gut commensal bacteria (92–94), is mainly focused against more exposed regions of gp41 such as the immunodominant disulfide loop, different from the MPER (108, 109).

Whereas MPER antibodies can be easily detected by ELISA, the analysis of their contribution to neutralizing activity of human plasma samples was found to be challenging. With this purpose chimeric SIV or HIV-2 viruses engrafted with HIV-1 MPER sequences or peptide-coated beads adsorption assays were developed (110–112). Accordingly, the presence of anti-MPER antibodies and the evaluation of their neutralizing capacity have been reported (35, 36, 65, 111, 113–116). The characterization of different cohorts in Europe, the United States, and South Africa indicated that MPER-specific neutralizing responses are less represented during natural infection comparing with other neutralizing specificities. For example, in a South African cohort of 156 HIV-1 infected individuals, only three showed higher titers of anti-MPER antibodies (65). Depletion of these antibodies resulted in loss of the neutralization breadth but the antibody specificities were found to be targeting a distinct epitope from those recognized by previously identified neutralizing epitopes (bound by 2F5 and 4E10 bNAbs), highlighting the existence of additional neutralizing specificities within the MPER (65). A recent study of the Protocol C cohort analyzed the neutralization profile of 439 plasma samples showing a far great less prevalence of MPER-specific antibodies when comparing with other specificities, mainly V3 N332-dependent glycan supersite (36). Remarkably, 27% of HIV-1 infected patients from an American cohort presented MPER-specific neutralizing activity (42). We previously showed that 66% of ART-naive chronically HIV-1 infected subjects presented MPER antibodies that were stable, at least for 1 year, and with an heterogeneous neutralizing capacity, highlighting the coexistence of neutralizing and non-neutralizing antibodies targeting the MPER (117). Moreover, anti-MPER antibodies correlate with the total anti-Env humoral response (117) and neutralization breadth (113, 118) and have been identified in HIV-infected individuals at different stages of the infection (119). Therefore, this landscape highlights that regardless of the cohort of study, anti-MPER antibodies (neutralizing and non-neutralizing) are present in HIV-1 infected subjects but their prevalence seems to be highly heterogeneous and probably strongly dependent on the methodology used (42, 65, 114, 117-119). Thus, the optimization of the current methodology for the quantification of MPER antibodies is highly desirable in order to establish their real prevalence. Human studies characterizing the MPER-specific neutralizing response are summarized in Table 1.

The results obtained from these studies also point out that the MPER is sufficiently immunogenic to generate a humoral response and that no specific constraints limit antibody generation against this region. However, the relatively low prevalence

Year published	Number of participants	Main findings	Reference
2006	96	One individual with 4E10-like neutralizing activity. No epitope competition	(110)
2007	3	No MPER-specific neutralizing activity	(112)
2007	14	4 individuals with MPER-specific neutralizing activity. 2 of them within the 6 months after seroconversion. No correlation with breadth	(111)
2009	156	3 individuals high MPER titer, associated with breadth. Distinct epitope from 4E10, 2F5, or z13	(65)
2009	70	MPER titer correlated with breadth. 4E10-like. Anti-cardiolipin antibodies correlated with breadth and MPER titer	(113)
2009	32	MPER-specific neutralization in 4 individuals	(114)
2010	19	Modest MPER-specific neutralization in 6 individuals	(35)
2011	308	4 out of 9 breadth neutralizers displayed MPER-specific neutralization (17-30% contribution)	(116)
2011	40	7 individuals > 40% breadth. MPER cross-neutralizing antibodies	(115)
2012	78	21 MPER-specific neutralizing activity. 8 out of 21 displayed 10E8 neutralization pattern	(42)
2014	35	8 individuals showed ID50 > 400 against chimeric HIV-2/MPER viruses whereas 66% had detectable MPER titers in ELISA and flow cytometry	(117)
2015	177	19% of the cohort showed MPER-specific neutralizing titers (ID50 > 1,000) against chimeric HIV-2/MPER viruses	(118)
2016	439	One individual with potent MPER-specific neutralizing activity	(36)

of MPER-neutralizing responses identified to date indicates that some hurdles are involved in the generation of this type of antibodies. The low accessibility of this region, which may compromise the affinity maturation process, as well as other mechanisms such as lipid cross-reactivity, might be determinant for the establishment of a balance between neutralizing and non-neutralizing MPER antibodies. Therefore, this balance is a relevant issue with important implications for vaccine design, where immunogens exposing native MPER neutralizing determinants should be implemented.

ELICITING ANTI-MPER ANTIBODIES BY IMMUNIZATION

The particular features of the MPER described above, mainly low accessibility, close proximity to the membrane and subsequent hydrophobicity add additional hurdles for immunogen design against this vulnerability site. Moreover, the scarcity of MPER bNAbs isolated to date, comparing with other Env specificities does not contribute to enlarge our knowledge regarding the MPER complexity and the functional epitopes that should be targeted.

Initial approaches to induce 2F5 or 4E10-like antibodies attempted to introduce their corresponding binding sequences into chimeric viruses, fusion proteins or peptide-based vaccines (21). Although MPER-specific antibodies were elicited, neutralizing responses were not. Therefore, it became clear that additional variables beyond the recognition of specific peptidic sequences within the MPER should be considered. The common characteristics revealed later by MPER bNAbs, such as membrane cross-reactivity and binding to the gp41 prehairpin intermediate (72, 120), suggested that similar antibodies could be obtained by presenting MPER-based antigens in such precise conformational states in a membrane-like environment. In accordance, there are two major standpoints that are currently being addressed in MPER-based vaccinology: (i) what are the relevant structures that most likely mimic the native-bound form of MPER bNAbs and (ii) which is the role of membrane lipids over the MPER immunogenicity, including the precise lipid components and adjuvant systems. A summary of the most recent (since 2010) strategies followed in immunization protocols are listed in Table 2.

Conformational states bound by anti-MPER bNAbs have been approached (121, 122, 129, 133). The use of computational methods permitted the design of scaffolds consisting in unrelated

Immunogen	Animal model	Major findings	Reference
Prime/boost gp140 oligomer/MPER-peptide liposome	Guinea pig Rhesus macaque	Binding to the prefusion intermediate and the DKW 2F5 core	(121)
Liposomes containing a trimeric gp41-based protein	Llama	Bivalent single chain neutralizing antibody dependent of hydrophobic CDRH3	(87)
Fusion intermediate conformation of gp41 convalently linked to liposomes	Guinea pig	Gp41-specific antibodies binding to the gp41 fusion intermediate. Modest neutralization activity against 5 tier-1 and 2 tier-2 pseudovirus	(122)
Liposomes containing an MPER peptide, molecular adjuvants and encapsulated T-helper epitopes	Balb/c mouse	Superior antibody titers with MPER antigens anchored to liposomes comparing with oil-based emulsions	(123)
Proteoliposomes of diverse composition containing a gp41-based miniprotein	C57BL/6 mouse	Superior antibody titers of proteoliposomes based on lipids overrepresented on the viral membrane. Immunodominance against a 2F5 overlapping epitope	(124)
Recombinant Norovirus P particles (NoV PP) engrafted with the 4E10/10E8 epitopes emulsified with Freund's adjuvant	Guinea Pigs Balb/c mouse	MPER-specific antibody titers and modest neutralization against SF162 isolate	(125)
MPER engrafted between the trimeric core structure and the trimeric domain of influenza A virus	Guinea pig	Induction of low MPER-specific titers	(126)
Bovine papilomavirus VLPs engrafted with the extended epitopes of 2F5 and 4E10, or the full MPER	Balb/c mouse	Epitope-specific IgG and mucosal secretory IgA	(127)
Engineered replication-competent reovirus vectors displaying the MPER sequence	Rabbit Balb/c mouse	No elicitation of MPER antibodies	(128)
Epitope-engrafted scaffold mimicking the 2F5-bound form of gp41	Guinea pigs Balb/c mouse	Isolation of antibodies resembling the 2F5 structure-specific recognition of gp41	(129)
Tandem peptide containing four copies of the 10E8 epitope with Freund's Adjuvant	Rabbit	Modest neutralizing antiboy titers against tier-1 and tier-2 strains	(130)
Live attenuated Salmonella presenting the 10E8 epitope in the frimbriae	Balb/c mouse	MPER-specific antibodies and stimulated B-cell differentiation	(131)
Gp41 peptide grafted on virosomes	Rhesus macaque	Protection against SHIV challenge was correlated with the induction of vaginal gp41-specific IgA with transcytosis- blocking properties	(132)
protein structures selected from database but able to accommodate the neutralizing 2F5 binding sequence in a conformation close to the peptide-bound crystal structure. Such scaffolds induced polyclonal responses mimicking a 2F5-like binding profile in immunized animals (129). Crystallographic analysis confirmed that monoclonal antibodies isolated from immunized animals mimicked the conformation of 2F5 in a flexible gp41 peptide, high affinity to the same sequence and similar angle of epitope approach (129, 134). Same outcomes were obtained with scaffolds targeting the 4E10 (135) and z13e1 (136) binding motifs. In spite of such structural mimicry, neutralizing activity was not achieved, likely because additional features such as membrane binding were not addressed in the design of these scaffolds.

Due to the importance for neutralization and their implication in a substantial portion of the free energy of 2F5, 4E10, and 10E8 binding, lipid-containing immunogen are important platforms being explored (71, 87, 88). Given that the complete epitope of anti-MPER bNAbs includes membrane components (74, 89) and that lipid recognition by CDR H3 impacts into their functionality (69, 72, 73, 86, 87), their potential for contributing to MPER-specific neutralizing responses by immunization is worth exploring. In this regard, membrane-mimicking platforms including viral-like particles (VLP) (137, 138) or liposomes (122-124) have been approached. It has been shown that membrane lipids can modulate the MPER structure likely by promoting a native-like conformation and demonstrated to improve immunogenicity (123, 124). In particular, we previously demonstrated that those lipids overrepresented in the viral membrane such as cholesterol and sphingomyelin have the potential to induce stronger antibody titers comparing with simple POPC lipids (124). Interestingly, MPER-specific antibodies from long-lived Bone marrow plasma cells from mice immunized with antigen-coupled liposomes have been also reported. Those antibodies showed that were shaped under selective pressure promoted by the MPER in the context of lipids and did not display any polyreactive feature (139).

Whereas the implementation of lipid-based platforms achieved MPER-specific antibodies, modest neutralizing titers have been reported by a few studies. For example, liposomepeptide antigens in combination with MPLA molecular adjuvant led to the isolation of two MPER-specific IgM antibodies showing lipid cross-reactivity but limited neutralizing capacity (140). The use of an HA/gp41 fusion protein in viral like particles induced modest 4E10-like neutralizating titers (141). One study by Dennison and colleagues obtained MPER-specific antibodies in NHP which bound preferentially to the gp41 prehairpin fusion intermediate rather than a recombinant gp41 construct by using a gp140 oligomer prime boosted with liposomes exposing an MPER peptide regimen. Such preferential binding was thought to be primarily due to structural modifications induced by the liposomes where the antigen was presented (121). Furthermore, the response mapped specifically the 2F5 DKW neutralizing core (121). In spite of these promising results, neutralizing activity was not achieved. Mimicking the gp41 prehairpin intermediate has been also approached by the design of a gp41 immunogen formulated in proteoliposomes. Immunization of guinea pigs showed modest neutralizing titers against tier 1 viruses, although the specificities responsible for such neutralization were not delineated (122). Finally, the role of non-neutralizing antibodies in protection has been shown in some studies. The presence of vaginal IgA with ADCC and transcytosis-bocking properties induced by gp41-grafted virosomes was associated with protection of NHP against SHIV challenge (132). Such vaccine platform was also evaluated in a Phase I clinical trial in healthy women. Vaginal secretions of vaccinated subjects were found to present transcytosis-blocking properties *in vitro* (142).

REMARK

In spite of the recent advances into the MPER physical and immunological properties, we still lack a full roadmap to generate a neutralizing response against this HIV-1 Env vulnerability site. The outcomes derived from MPER immunization studies clearly demonstrate that lipid cross-reactivity, binding to certain neutralizing epitopes or binding to gp41 native structures like the prehairpin intermediate are achievable. Although the implementation of these features will have a crucial role they will be likely insufficient to achieve the full properties of MPER-specific bNAbs in immunization protocols. In contrast, the selection of MPER non-neutralizing antibodies whose B-cell precursors may compete for the antigen presented cannot be excluded. While the knowledge gained from other Env vulnerability regions has advanced from the higher number of bNAbs isolated, to date only the potent 10E8 as well as 2F5 and 4E10 antibodies have been isolated. This fact highlights the need of the isolation of additional MPER bNAbs in order to bypass these gaps of our knowledge, improving immunogen design, while avoiding immunodominant non-neutralizing epitopes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LM-A drafted the manuscript, JC reviewed the manuscript and JB and BC made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to he work. All authors approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the HIVACAT Program, the CERCA Program (Generalitat de Catalunya), the Spanish AIDS network "Red Temática Cooperativa de Investigación en SIDA" (RD12/0017/0002), the Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias, and FEDER "Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional" (grant number PI14/01307, to JB). JB is a researcher from Fundació Institut de Recerca en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol supported by the Health Department of the Catalan Government (Generalitat de Catalunya). LM-A was supported by an FI grant from Agència de Gestió d'Ajuts Universitaris i de Recerca from Generalitat de Catalunya and European Social Fund.

REFERENCES

- 1. Wyatt R, Kwong PD, Desjardins E, Sweet RW, Robinson J, Hendrickson WA, et al. The antigenic structure of the HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein. *Nature* (1998) 393:705–11. doi:10.1038/31514
- Liu J, Bartesaghi A, Borgnia MJ, Sapiro G, Subramaniam S. Molecular architecture of native HIV-1 gp120 trimers. *Nature* (2008) 455:109–13. doi:10.1038/nature07159
- Zanetti G, Briggs JAG, Grünewald K, Sattentau QJ, Fuller SD. Cryoelectron tomographic structure of an immunodeficiency virus envelope complex in situ. *PLoS Pathog* (2006) 2(8):e83. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.0020083
- Zhu P, Liu J, Bess J, Chertova E, Lifson JD, Grisé H, et al. Distribution and three-dimensional structure of AIDS virus envelope spikes. *Nature* (2006) 441:847–52. doi:10.1038/nature04817
- Lee JH, Ozorowski G, Ward AB. Cryo-EM structure of a native, fully glycosylated, cleaved HIV-1 envelope trimer. *Science* (2016) 351:1043–8. doi:10.1126/science.aad2450
- Chan DC, Kim PS. HIV entry and its inhibition. Cell (1998) 93:681–4. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81430-0
- Maddon PJ, Dalgleish AG, McDougal JS, Clapham PR, Weiss RA, Axel R. The T4 gene encodes the AIDS virus receptor and is expressed in the immune system and the brain. *Cell* (1986) 47:333–48. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(86) 90590-8
- McDougal JS, Maddon PJ, Dalgleish AG, Clapham PR, Littman DR, Godfrey M, et al. The T4 glycoprotein is a cell-surface receptor for the AIDS virus. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* (1986) 51 Pt 2:703–11. doi:10.1101/ SQB.1986.051.01.083
- Rizzuto CD, Cgacgat G, Luc T-J, Rizzuto CD, Wyatt R, Herna N, et al. A conserved HIV gp120 glycoprotein structure involved in chemokine receptor binding. *Science* (1998) 280:1949–54. doi:10.1126/science.280. 5371.1949
- Blumenthal R, Durell S, Viard M. HIV entry and envelope glycoproteinmediated fusion. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287:40841–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.R112. 406272
- 11. Klasse PJ. The molecular basis of HIV entry. *Cell Microbiol* (2012) 14: 1183–92. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2012.01812.x
- Bellamy-McIntyre AK, Lay CS, Bär S, Maerz AL, Talbo GH, Drummer HE, et al. Functional links between the fusion peptide-proximal polar segment and membrane-proximal region of human immunodeficiency virus gp41 in distinct phases of membrane fusion. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282:23104–16. doi:10.1074/jbc.M703485200
- Haynes BF, Mascola JR. The quest for an antibody-based HIV vaccine. Immunol Rev (2017) 275:5–10. doi:10.1111/imr.12517
- Mascola JR, Haynes BF. HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies: understanding nature's pathways. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 254:225–44. doi:10.1111/imr.12075
- West AP, Scharf L, Scheid JF, Klein F, Bjorkman PJ, Nussenzweig MC. Structural insights on the role of antibodies in HIV-1 vaccine and therapy. *Cell* (2014) 156:633–48. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.052
- Kwong PD, Mascola JR, Nabel GJ. Broadly neutralizing antibodies and the search for an HIV-1 vaccine: the end of the beginning. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13:693–701. doi:10.1038/nri3516
- McCoy LE, Burton DR. Identification and specificity of broadly neutralizing antibodies against HIV. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275:11–20. doi:10.1111/ imr.12484
- Clerici MA, Barassi CB, Devito CD, Pastori CB, Piconi SA, Trabattoni DA, et al. Serum IgA of HIV-exposed uninfected individuals inhibit HIV through recognition of a region within the alpha-helix of gp41. *AIDS* (2002) 16:1731–41. doi:10.1097/00002030-200209060-00004
- Pastori C, Tudor D, Diomede L, Drillet AS, Jegerlehner A, Röhn TA, et al. Virus like particle based strategy to elicit HIV-protective antibodies to the alpha-helic regions of gp41. *Virology* (2012) 431:1–11. doi:10.1016/j. virol.2012.05.005
- Corti D, Langedijk JPM, Hinz A, Seaman MS, Vanzetta F, Fernandez-Rodriguez BM, et al. Analysis of memory B cell responses and isolation of novel monoclonal antibodies with neutralizing breadth from HIV-1-infected individuals. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e8805. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0008805
- 21. Montero M, van Houten NE, Wang X, Scott JK. The membrane-proximal external region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope: dominant

site of antibody neutralization and target for vaccine design. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* (2008) 72:54–84. doi:10.1128/MMBR.00020-07

- 22. Gach JS, Leaman DP, Zwick MB. Targeting HIV-1 gp41 in close proximity to the membrane using antibody and other molecules. *Curr Top Med Chem* (2011) 11:2997–3021. doi:10.2174/156802611798808505
- Salzwedel K, West JT, Hunter E. A conserved tryptophan-rich motif in the membrane-proximal region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 ectodomain is important for Env-mediated fusion and virus infectivity. J Virol (1999) 73:2469–80.
- Muñoz-Barroso I, Salzwedel K, Hunter E, Blumenthal R. Role of the membrane-proximal domain in the initial stages of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein-mediated membrane fusion. *J Virol* (1999) 73:6089–92.
- Dimitrov AS, Jacobs A, Finnegan CM, Stiegler G, Katinger H, Blumenthal R. Exposure of the membrane-proximal external region of HIV-1 gp41 in the course of HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein-mediated fusion. *Biochemistry* (2007) 46:1398–401. doi:10.1021/bi062245f
- Vishwanathan SA, Hunter E. Importance of the membrane-perturbing properties of the membrane-proximal external region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 to viral fusion. *J Virol* (2008) 82:5118–26. doi:10.1128/JVI.00305-08
- Dimitrov AS, Rawat SS, Jiang S, Blumenthal R. Role of the fusion peptide and membrane-proximal domain in HIV-1 envelope glycoproteinmediated membrane fusion. *Biochemistry* (2003) 42:14150–8. doi:10.1021/ bi035154g
- 28. Hessell AJ, Rakasz EG, Tehrani DM, Huber M, Weisgrau KL, Landucci G, et al. Broadly neutralizing monoclonal antibodies 2F5 and 4E10 directed against the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 membraneproximal external region protect against mucosal challenge by simianhuman immunodeficiency virus SHIVBa-L. *J Virol* (2010) 84:1302–13. doi:10.1128/JVI.01272-09
- Mascola JR, Stiegler G, VanCott TC, Katinger H, Carpenter CB, Hanson CE, et al. Protection of macaques against vaginal transmission of a pathogenic HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus by passive infusion of neutralizing antibodies. *Nat Med* (2000) 6:207–10. doi:10.1097/00002030-200102001-00018
- Pegu A, Yang Z-Y, Boyington JC, Wu L, Ko S-Y, Schmidt SD, et al. Neutralizing antibodies to HIV-1 envelope protect more effectively in vivo than those to the CD4 receptor. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:243ra88. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008992
- Zwick MB. The membrane-proximal external region of HIV-1 gp41: a vaccine target worth exploring. *AIDS* (2005) 19:1725–37. doi:10.1097/ 01.aids.0000189850.83322.41
- Bomsel M. Transcytosis of infectious human immunodeficiency virus across a tight human epithelial cell line barrier. *Nat Med* (1997) 3:42–7. doi:10.1038/nm0197-42
- Alfsen A, Bomsel M. HIV-1 gp41 envelope residues 650-685 exposed on native virus act as a lectin to bind epithelial cell galactosyl ceramide. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277:25649–59. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200554200
- Alfsen A, Iniguez P, Bouguyon E, Bomsel M. Secretory IgA specific for a conserved epitope on gp41 envelope glycoprotein inhibits epithelial transcytosis of HIV-1. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:6257–65. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166. 10.6257
- 35. Walker LM, Simek MD, Priddy F, Gach JS, Wagner D, Zwick MB, et al. A limited number of antibody specificities mediate broad and potent serum neutralization in selected HIV-1 infected individuals. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) 6:e1001028. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001028
- 36. Landais E, Huang X, Havenar-Daughton C, Murrell B, Price MA, Wickramasinghe L, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibody responses in a large longitudinal sub-Saharan HIV primary infection cohort. *PLoS Pathog* (2016) 12:e1005369. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005369
- Sun ZYJ, Oh KJ, Kim M, Yu J, Brusic V, Song L, et al. HIV-1 broadly neutralizing antibody extracts its epitope from a kinked gp41 ectodomain region on the viral membrane. *Immunity* (2008) 28:52–63. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.11.018
- Kelsoe G, Haynes BF. Host controls of HIV broadly neutralizing antibody development. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275:79–88. doi:10.1111/imr.12508
- Muster T, Steindl F, Purtscher M, Trkola A, Klima A, Himmler G, et al. A conserved neutralizing epitope on gp41 human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol (1993) 67:6642–7.

- Muster T, Guinea R, Trkola A, Purtscher M, Klima A, Steindl F, et al. Cross-neutralizing activity against divergent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates induced by the gp41 sequence ELDKWAS. *J Virol* (1994) 68:4031–4.
- 41. Stiegler G, Kunert R, Purtscher M, Wolbank S, Voglauer R, Steindl F, et al. A potent cross-clade neutralizing human monoclonal antibody against a novel epitope on gp41 of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2001) 17:1757–65. doi:10.1089/08892220152741450
- Huang J, Ofek G, Laub L, Louder MK, Doria-Rose NA, Longo NS, et al. Broad and potent neutralization of HIV-1 by a gp41-specific human antibody. *Nature* (2012) 491:406–12. doi:10.1038/nature11544
- Zwick MB, Labrijn AF, Wang M, Spenlehauer C, Saphire EO, Binley JM, et al. Broadly neutralizing antibodies targeted to the membrane-proximal external region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* (2001) 75:10892–905. doi:10.1128/JVI.75.22.10892
- 44. Nelson JD, Brunel FM, Jensen R, Crooks ET, Cardoso RMF, Wang M, et al. An affinity-enhanced neutralizing antibody against the membraneproximal external region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 recognizes an epitope between those of 2F5 and 4E10. *J Virol* (2007) 81:4033–43. doi:10.1128/JVI.02588-06
- 45. Ofek G, Zirkle B, Yang Y, Zhu Z, McKee K, Zhang B, et al. Structural basis for HIV-1 neutralization by 2F5-like antibodies m66 and m66.6. *J Virol* (2014) 88:2426–41. doi:10.1128/JVI.02837-13
- 46. Morris L, Chen X, Alam M, Tomaras G, Zhang R, Marshall DJ, et al. Isolation of a human anti-HIV gp41 membrane proximal region neutralizing antibody by antigen-specific single B cell sorting. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e23532. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0023532
- Buchacher A, Predl R, Strutzenberger K, Steinfellner W, Trkola A, Purtscher M, et al. Generation of human monoclonal antibodies against HIV-1 proteins; electrofusion and Epstein-Barr virus transformation for peripheral blood lymphocyte immortalization. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (1994) 10:359–69. doi:10.1089/aid.1994.10.359
- 48. Zwick MB, Jensen R, Church S, Wang M, Stiegler G, Kunert R, et al. Anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) antibodies 2F5 and 4E10 require surprisingly few crucial residues in the membrane-proximal external region of glycoprotein gp41 to neutralize HIV-1. *J Virol* (2005) 79:1252–61. doi:10.1128/JVI.79.2.1252-1261.2005
- 49. Binley JM, Wrin T, Korber B, Zwick MB, Wang M, Chappey C, et al. Comprehensive cross-clade neutralization analysis of a panel of anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 monoclonal antibodies comprehensive crossclade neutralization analysis of a panel of anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 monoclonal antibodies. *J Virol* (2004) 78:13232–52. doi:10.1128/ JVI.78.23.13232
- 50. Bures R, Morris L, Williamson C, Deers M, Fiscus SA, Abdool-karim S, et al. Regional clustering of shared neutralization determinants on primary isolates of clade C human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from South Africa. *J Virol* (2002) 76:2233–44. doi:10.1128/JVI.76.5.2233
- Gray ES, Meyers T, Gray G, Montefiori DC, Morris L. Insensitivity of paediatric HIV-1 subtype C viruses to broadly neutralising monoclonal antibodies raised against subtype B. *PLoS Med* (2006) 3:1023–31. doi:10.1371/ journal.pmed.0030255
- Walker LM, Phogat SK, Chan-Hui P-Y, Wagner D, Phung P, Goss JL, et al. Broad and potent neutralizing antibodies from an African donor reveal a new HIV-1 vaccine target. *Science* (2009) 326:285–9. doi:10.1126/ science.1178746
- 53. Louder MK, Sambor A, Chertova E, Hunte T, Barrett S, Ojong F, et al. HIV-1 envelope pseudotyped viral vectors and infectious molecular clones expressing the same envelope glycoprotein have a similar neutralization phenotype, but culture in peripheral blood mononuclear cells is associated with decreased neutralization sensi. *Virology* (2005) 339:226–38. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2005.06.003
- 54. Provine NM, Puryear WB, Wu X, Overbaugh J, Haigwood NL. The infectious molecular clone and pseudotyped virus models of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 exhibit significant differences in virion composition with only moderate differences in infectivity and inhibition sensitivity. *J Virol* (2009) 83:9002–7. doi:10.1128/JVI.00423-09
- 55. Provine NM, Cortez V, Chohan V, Overbaugh J. The neutralization sensitivity of viruses representing human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants

of diverse subtypes from early in infection is dependent on producer cell, as well as characteristics of the specific antibody and envelope variant. *Virology* (2012) 427:25–33. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2012.02.001

- Miglietta R, Pastori C, Venuti A, Ochsenbauer C, Lopalco L. Synergy in monoclonal antibody neutralization of HIV-1 pseudoviruses and infectious molecular clones. *J Transl Med* (2014) 12:346. doi:10.1186/s12967-014-0346-3
- Trkola A, Kuster H, Rusert P, Joos B, Fischer M, Leemann C, et al. Delay of HIV-1 rebound after cessation of antiretroviral therapy through passive transfer of human neutralizing antibodies. *Nat Med* (2005) 11: 615–22. doi:10.1038/nm1244
- Wu X, Yang Z-Y, Li Y, Hogerkorp C-M, Schief WR, Seaman MS, et al. Rational design of envelope identifies broadly neutralizing human monoclonal antibodies to HIV-1. *Science* (2010) 329:856–61. doi:10.1126/ science.1187659
- Doria-Rose NA, Klein RM, Manion MM, O'Dell S, Phogat A, Chakrabarti B, et al. Frequency and phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus envelope-specific B cells from patients with broadly cross-neutralizing antibodies. J Virol (2009) 83:188–99. doi:10.1128/JVI.01583-08
- Scheid JF, Mouquet H, Feldhahn N, Seaman MS, Velinzon K, Pietzsch J, et al. Broad diversity of neutralizing antibodies isolated from memory B cells in HIV-infected individuals. *Nature* (2009) 458:636–40. doi:10.1038/nature07930
- Kunert R, Steinfellner W, Purtscher M, Assadian A, Katinger H. Stable recombinant expression of the anti HIV-1 monoclonal antibody 2F5 after IgG3/IgG1 subclass switch in CHO cells. *Biotechnol Bioeng* (2000) 67:97–103. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290(20000105)67:1<97:AID-BIT11> 3.0.CO;2-2
- Ferrante A, Lorrain BJ, Feldman RG. IgG subclass distribution of antibodies to bacterial and viral antigens. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* (1990) 9:516–24. doi:10.1097/00006454-199008001-00004
- Bruhns P, Iannascoli B, England P, Mancardi DA, Fernandez N, Jorieux S. Specificity and affinity of human Fcy receptors and their polymorphic variants for human IgG subclasses. *Blood* (2009) 113:3716–25. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-179754.The
- Cavacini LA, Kuhrt D, Duval M, Mayer K, Posner MR. Binding and neutralization activity of human IgG1 and IgG3 from serum of HIV-infected individuals. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2003) 19:785–92. doi:10.1089/ 088922203769232584
- 65. Gray ES, Madiga MC, Moore PL, Mlisana K, Abdool Karim SS, Binley JM, et al. Broad neutralization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mediated by plasma antibodies against the gp41 membrane proximal external region. *J Virol* (2009) 83:11265–74. doi:10.1128/JVI.01359-09
- 66. Kunert R, Wolbank S, Stiegler G, Weik R, Katinger H. Characterization of molecular features, antigen-binding, and in vitro properties of IgG and IgM variants of 4E10, an anti-HIV type 1 neutralizing monoclonal antibody. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2004) 20:755–62. doi:10.1089/ 0889222041524571
- Williams LD, Ofek G, Schätzle S, Mcdaniel JR, Lu X, Nicely NI, et al. Potent and broad HIV-neutralizing antibodies in memory B cells and plasma. *Sci Immunol* (2017) 2:eaal2200. doi:10.1126/sciimmunol.aal2200
- Jackson KJL, Wang Y, Collins AM. Human immunoglobulin classes and subclasses show variability in VDJ gene mutation levels. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2014) 92:1–5. doi:10.1038/icb.2014.44
- 69. Zwick MB, Komori HK, Stanfield RL, Church S, Wang M, Parren PWHI, et al. The long third complementarity-determining region of the heavy chain is important in the activity of the broadly neutralizing anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 antibody 2F5. *J Virol* (2004) 78:3155–61. doi:10.1128/JVI.78.6.3155
- Cardoso RMF, Zwick MB, Stanfield RL, Kunert R, Binley JM, Katinger H, et al. Broadly neutralizing anti-HIV antibody 4E10 recognizes a helical conformation of a highly conserved fusion-associated motif in gp41. *Immunity* (2005) 22:163–73. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.12.011
- Alam SM, McAdams M, Boren D, Rak M, Scearce RM, Gao F, et al. The role of antibody polyspecificity and lipid reactivity in binding of broadly neutralizing anti-HIV-1 envelope human monoclonal antibodies 2F5 and 4E10 to glycoprotein 41 membrane proximal envelope epitopes. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:4424–35. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4424

- Alam SM, Morelli M, Dennison SM, Liao H-X, Zhang R, Xia S-M, et al. Role of HIV membrane in neutralization by two broadly neutralizing antibodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:20234–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0908713106
- Chen J, Frey G, Peng H, Rits-Volloch S, Garrity J, Seaman MS, et al. Mechanism of HIV-1 neutralization by antibodies targeting a membraneproximal region of gp41. J Virol (2014) 88:1249–58. doi:10.1128/JVI.02664-13
- 74. Irimia A, Serra AM, Sarkar A, Jacak R, Kalyuzhniy O, Sok D, et al. Lipid interactions and angle of approach to the HIV-1 viral membrane of broadly neutralizing antibody 10E8: insights for vaccine and therapeutic design. *PLoS Pathog* (2017) 13:e1006212. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1006212
- Bryson S, Cunningham A, Ho J, Hynes R, Isenman D, Barber B, et al. Cross-neutralizing human monoclonal anti-HIV-1 antibody 2F5: preparation and crystallographic analysis of the free and epitope-complexed forms of its Fab fragment. *Protein Pept Lett* (2001) 8:413–8. doi:10.2174/ 0929866013409201
- 76. Cardoso RMF, Brunel FM, Ferguson S, Zwick M, Burton DR, Dawson PE, et al. Structural basis of enhanced binding of extended and helically constrained peptide epitopes of the broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibody 4E10. J Mol Biol (2007) 365:1533–44. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2006.10.088
- 77. Song L, Sun Z-YJ, Coleman KE, Zwick MB, Gach JS, Wang J, et al. Broadly neutralizing anti-HIV-1 antibodies disrupt a hinge-related function of gp41 at the membrane interface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106: 9057–62. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-6-S3-O5
- Huarte N, Lorizate M, Maeso R, Kunert R, Arranz R, Valpuesta JM, et al. The broadly neutralizing anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 4E10 monoclonal antibody is better adapted to membrane-bound epitope recognition and blocking than 2F5. *J Virol* (2008) 82:8986–96. doi:10.1128/ JVI.00846-08
- Kim M, Song L, Moon J, Sun Z-YJ, Bershteyn A, Hanson M, et al. Immunogenicity of membrane-bound HIV-1 gp41 membrane-proximal external region (MPER) segments is dominated by residue accessibility and modulated by stereochemistry. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:31888–901. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.494609
- Suárez T, Nir S, Goñi FM, Saéz-Cirión A, Nieva JL. The pre-transmembrane region of the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 glycoprotein: a novel fusogenic sequence. *FEBS Lett* (2000) 477:145–9. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793 (00)01785-3
- Stano P, Bufali S, Domazou AS, Luisi PL. Effect of tryptophan oligopeptides on the size distribution of POPC liposomes: a dynamic light scattering and turbidimetric study. *J Liposome Res* (2005) 15:29–47. doi:10.1081/ LPR-64956
- Huarte N, Lorizate M, Kunert R, Nieva JL. Lipid modulation of membranebound epitope recognition and blocking by HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies. *FEBS Lett* (2008) 582:3798–804. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2008.10.012
- Sáez-Cirión A, Nir S, Lorizate M, Agirre A, Cruz A, Pérez-Gil J, et al. Sphingomyelin and cholesterol promote HIV-1 gp41 pretransmembrane sequence surface aggregation and membrane restructuring. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277:21776–85. doi:10.1074/jbc.M202255200
- Vincent N, Genin C, Malvoisin E. Identification of a conserved domain of the HIV-1 transmembrane protein gp41 which interacts with cholesteryl groups. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2002) 1567:157–64. doi:10.1016/ S0005-2736(02)00611-9
- 85. Alam SM, Scearce RM, Parks RJ, Plonk K, Plonk SG, Sutherland LL, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 antibodies that mask membrane proximal region epitopes: antibody binding kinetics, induction, and potential for regulation in acute infection. *J Virol* (2008) 82:115–25. doi:10.1128/JVI.00927-07
- Ofek G, Mckee K, Yang Y, Yang Z-Y, Skinner J, Guenaga FJ, et al. Relationship between antibody 2F5 neutralization of HIV-1 and hydrophobicity of its heavy chain third complementarity-determining region. *J Virol* (2010) 84:2955–62. doi:10.1128/JVI.02257-09
- Lutje Hulsik D, Liu Y, Strokappe NM, Battella S, El Khattabi M, McCoy LE, et al. A gp41 MPER-specific llama VHH requires a hydrophobic CDR3 for neutralization but not for antigen recognition. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003202. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003202
- Julien JP, Bryson S, Nieva JL, Pai EF. Structural details of HIV-1 recognition by the broadly neutralizing monoclonal antibody 2F5: epitope conformation,

antigen-recognition loop mobility, and anion-binding site. *J Mol Biol* (2008) 384:377–92. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2008.09.024

- Irimia A, Sarkar A, Stanfield RL, Wilson I. Crystallographic identification of lipid as an integral component of the epitope of HIV broadly neutralizing antibody 4E10. *Immunity* (2016) 44:1–11. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015. 12.001
- Haynes BF, Fleming J, St Clair EW, Katinger H, Stiegler G, Kunert R, et al. Cardiolipin polyspecific autoreactivity in two broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies. *Science* (2005) 308:1906–8. doi:10.1126/science.1111781
- Haynes BF, Moody MA, Verkoczy L, Kelsoe G, Alam SM. Antibody polyspecificity and neutralization of HIV-1: a hypothesis. *Hum Antibodies* (2005) 14:59–67.
- Liao H-X, Chen X, Munshaw S, Zhang R, Marshall DJ, Vandergrift N, et al. Initial antibodies binding to HIV-1 gp41 in acutely infected subjects are polyreactive and highly mutated. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208:2237–49. doi:10.1084/ jem.20110363
- 93. Trama AM, Moody MA, Alam SM, Jaeger FH, Lockwood B, Parks R, et al. HIV-1 envelope gp41 antibodies can originate from terminal ileum B cells that share cross-reactivity with commensal bacteria. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 16:215–26. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2014.07.003
- 94. Williams WB, Liao H-X, Moody MA, Kepler TB, Alam SM, Gao F, et al. Diversion of HIV-1 vaccine-induced immunity by gp41-microbiota cross-reactive antibodies. *Science* (2015) 349:aab1253. doi:10.1126/science. aab1253
- 95. Yang G, Holl TM, Liu Y, Li Y, Lu X, Nicely NI, et al. Identification of autoantigens recognized by the 2F5 and 4E10 broadly neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies. J Exp Med (2013) 210:241–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20121977
- Liu M, Yang G, Wiehe K, Nicely NI, Vandergrift NA, Rountree W, et al. Polyreactivity and autoreactivity among HIV-1 antibodies. *J Virol* (2015) 89:784–98. doi:10.1128/JVI.02378-14
- Verkoczy L, Kelsoe G, Haynes BF. HIV-1 envelope gp41 broadly neutralizing antibodies: hurdles for vaccine development. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10:3–6. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004073
- Verkoczy L, Diaz M. Autoreactivity in HIV-1 broadly neutralizing antibodies: implications for their function and induction by vaccination. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* (2014) 9:224–34. doi:10.1097/COH.000000000000049
- 99. Verkoczy L, Diaz M, Holl TM, Ouyang Y-B, Bouton-Verville H, Alam SM, et al. Autoreactivity in an HIV-1 broadly reactive neutralizing antibody variable region heavy chain induces immunologic tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:181–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0912914107
- 100. Verkoczy L, Chen Y, Zhang J, Bouton-Verville H, Newman A, Lockwood B, et al. Induction of HIV-1 broad neutralizing antibodies in 2F5 knock-in mice: selection against membrane proximal external regionassociated autoreactivity limits T-dependent responses. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:2538–50. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300971
- 101. Doyle-Cooper C, Hudson KE, Cooper AB, Ota T, Skog P, Dawson PE, et al. Immune tolerance negatively regulates B cells in knock-in mice expressing broadly neutralizing HIV antibody 4E10. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:3186–91. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301285
- Nemazee D. Mechanisms of central tolerance for B cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17:281–94. doi:10.1038/nri.2017.19
- von Boehmer H, Melchers F. Checkpoints in lymphocyte development and autoimmune disease. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:14–20. doi:10.1038/ni.1794
- 104. Dennison SM, Stewart SM, Stempel KC, Liao H-X, Haynes BF, Alam SM. Stable docking of neutralizing human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 membrane-proximal external region monoclonal antibodies 2F5 and 4E10 is dependent on the membrane immersion depth of their epitope regions. *J Virol* (2009) 83:10211–23. doi:10.1128/JVI.00571-09
- 105. Verkoczy L, Chen Y, Bouton-Verville H, Zhang J, Diaz M, Hutchinson J, et al. Rescue of HIV-1 broad neutralizing antibody-expressing B cells in 2F5 VH x VL knockin mice reveals multiple tolerance controls. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:3785–97. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101633
- 106. Zhang R, Verkoczy L, Wiehe K, Alam SM, Nicely NI, Santra S, et al. Initiation of immune tolerance – controlled HIV gp41 neutralizing B cell lineages. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8:1–14. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf0618
- 107. Bradley T, Yang G, Ilkayeva O, Holl TM, Zhang R, Zhang J, et al. HIV-1 envelope mimicry of host enzyme kynureninase does not disrupt tryptophan metabolism. *J Immunol* (2016) 197(12):4663–73. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1601484

- 108. Tomaras GD, Yates NL, Liu P, Qin L, Fouda GG, Chavez LL, et al. Initial B-cell responses to transmitted human immunodeficiency virus type 1: virion-binding immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgG antibodies followed by plasma anti-gp41 antibodies with ineffective control of initial viremia. J Virol (2008) 82:12449–63. doi:10.1128/JVI.01708-08
- 109. Yates NL, Stacey AR, Nolen TL, Vandergrift NA, Moody MA, Montefiori DC, et al. HIV-1 gp41 envelope IgA is frequently elicited after transmission but has an initial short response half-life. *Mucosal Immunol* (2013) 6:692–703. doi:10.1038/mi.2012.107
- 110. Yuste E, Sanford HB, Carmody J, Little S, Zwick MB, Greenough T, et al. Simian immunodeficiency virus engrafted with human immunodeficiency virus type neutralization, and survey of HIV-1-positive plasma simian immunodeficiency virus engrafted with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific epitopes : replication. *J Virol* (2006) 80:3030–41. doi:10.1128/JVI.80.6.3030
- 111. Gray ES, Moore PL, Choge IA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, Li H, et al. Neutralizing antibody responses in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. *J Virol* (2007) 81:6187–96. doi:10.1128/ JVI.00239-07
- 112. Dhillon AK, Donners H, Pantophlet R, Johnson WE, Decker JM, Shaw GM, et al. Dissecting the neutralizing antibody specificities of broadly neutralizing sera from human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected donors. J Virol (2007) 81:6548–62. doi:10.1128/JVI.02749-06
- 113. Gray ES, Taylor N, Wycuff D, Moore PL, Tomaras GD, Wibmer CK, et al. Antibody specificities associated with neutralization breadth in plasma from human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C-infected blood donors. *J Virol* (2009) 83:8925–37. doi:10.1128/JVI.00758-09
- 114. Li Y, Svehla K, Louder MK, Wycuff D, Phogat S, Tang M, et al. Analysis of neutralization specificities in polyclonal sera derived from human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected individuals. *J Virol* (2009) 83:1045–59. doi:10.1128/JVI.01992-08
- 115. Gray ES, Madiga MC, Hermanus T, Moore PL, Wibmer CK, Tumba NL, et al. The neutralization breadth of HIV-1 develops incrementally over four years and is associated with CD4+ T cell decline and high viral load during acute infection. *J Virol* (2011) 85:4828–40. doi:10.1128/ JVI.00198-11
- 116. Tomaras GD, Binley JM, Gray ES, Crooks ET, Osawa K, Moore PL, et al. Polyclonal B cell responses to conserved neutralization epitopes in a subset of HIV-1-infected individuals. *J Virol* (2011) 85:11502–19. doi:10.1128/JVI.05363-11
- 117. Molinos-Albert LM, Carrillo J, Curriu M, Rodriguez de la Concepción ML, Marfil S, García E, et al. Anti-MPER antibodies with heterogeneous neutralization capacity are detectable in most untreated HIV-1 infected individuals. *Retrovirology* (2014) 11:44. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-11-44
- 118. Jacob RA, Moyo T, Schomaker M, Abrahams F, Grau Pujol B, Dorfman JR. Anti-V3/glycan and anti-MPER neutralizing antibodies, but not anti-V2/ glycan site antibodies, are strongly associated with greater anti-HIV-1 neutralization breadth and potency. *J Virol* (2015) 89:5264–75. doi:10.1128/ JVI.00129-15
- 119. Brombin C, Diomede L, Tudor D, Drillet AS, Pastori C, Poli E, et al. A nonparametric procedure for defining a new humoral immunologic profile in a pilot study on HIV infected patients. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e58768. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0058768
- 120. Frey G, Peng H, Rits-Volloch S, Morelli M, Cheng Y, Chen B. A fusionintermediate state of HIV-1 gp41 targeted by broadly neutralizing antibodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:3739–44. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0800255105
- 121. Dennison SM, Sutherland LL, Jaeger FH, Anasti KM, Parks R, Stewart S, et al. Induction of antibodies in rhesus macaques that recognize a fusionintermediate conformation of HIV-1 gp41. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e27824. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027824
- 122. Lai RPJ, Hock M, Radzimanowski J, Tonks P, Hulsik DL, Effantin G, et al. A fusion intermediate gp41 immunogen elicits neutralizing antibodies to HIV-1. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289:29912–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114. 569566
- 123. Hanson MC, Abraham W, Crespo MP, Chen SH, Liu H, Szeto GL, et al. Liposomal vaccines incorporating molecular adjuvants and intrastructural T-cell help promote the immunogenicity of HIV membrane-proximal

external region peptides. Vaccine (2015) 33:861-8. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine. 2014.12.045

- 124. Molinos-albert LM, Bilbao E, Agulló L, Ma S, García E, Luisa M, et al. Proteoliposomal formulations of an HIV-1 gp41-based miniprotein elicit a lipid-dependent immunodominant response overlapping the 2F5 binding motif. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:40800. doi:10.1038/srep40800
- 125. Yu Y, Fu L, Shi Y, Guan S, Yang L, Gong X, et al. Elicitation of HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies by presentation of 4E10 and 10E8 epitopes on Norovirus P particles. *Immunol Lett* (2015) 168:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2015.10.003
- 126. Zang Y, Du D, Li N, Su W, Liu X, Zhang Y, et al. Eliciting neutralizing antibodies against the membrane proximal external region of HIV-1 Env by chimeric live attenuated influenza A virus vaccines. *Vaccine* (2015) 33:3859–64. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.06.072
- 127. Zhai Y, Zhong Z, Zariffard M, Spear GT, Qiao L. Bovine papillomaviruslike particles presenting conserved epitopes from membrane-proximal external region of HIV-1 gp41 induced mucosal and systemic antibodies. *Vaccine* (2013) 31:5422–9. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.09.003
- 128. Boehme K, Ikizler M, Iskarpatyoti J, Wetzel J, Willis J, Crowe J Jr, et al. Engineering recombinant reoviruses to display gp41 membrane-proximal external-region epitopes from HIV-1. *mSphere* (2016) 1:1–15. doi:10.1128/ mSphere.00086-16
- 129. Ofek G, Guenaga FJ, Schief WR, Skinner J, Baker D, Wyatt R, et al. Elicitation of structure-specific antibodies by epitope scaffolds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:17880–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1004728107
- 130. Sun Z, Zhu Y, Wang Q, Ye L, Dai Y, Su S, et al. An immunogen containing four tandem 10E8 epitope repeats with exposed key residues induces antibodies that neutralize HIV-1 and activates an ADCC reporter gene. *Emerg Microbes Infect* (2016) 5:e65. doi:10.1038/emi.2016.86
- 131. Li Q-H, Jin G, Wang J-Y, Li H-N, Liu H, Chang X-Y, et al. Live attenuated Salmonella displaying HIV-1 10E8 epitope on fimbriae: systemic and mucosal immune responses in BALB/c mice by mucosal administration. Sci Rep (2016) 6:29556. doi:10.1038/srep29556
- 132. Bomsel M, Tudor D, Drillet AS, Alfsen A, Ganor Y, Roger MG, et al. Immunization with HIV-1 gp41 subunit virosomes induces mucosal antibodies protecting nonhuman primates against vaginal SHIV challenges. *Immunity* (2011) 34:269–80. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.01.015
- 133. Vassell R, He Y, Vennakalanti P, Dey AK, Zhuang M, Wang W, et al. Immunogens modeling a fusion-intermediate conformation of gp41 elicit antibodies to the membrane proximal external region of the HIV envelope glycoprotein. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0128562. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0128562
- 134. Guenaga J, Dosenovic P, Ofek G, Baker D, Schief WR, Kwong PD, et al. Heterologous epitope-scaffold prime:boosting immuno-focuses B cell responses to the HIV-1 gp41 2F5 neutralization determinant. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e16074. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016074
- 135. Correia BE, Ban YEA, Holmes MA, Xu H, Ellingson K, Kraft Z, et al. Computational design of epitope-scaffolds allows induction of antibodies specific for a poorly immunogenic HIV vaccine epitope. *Structure* (2010) 18:1116–26. doi:10.1016/j.str.2010.06.010
- 136. Stanfield RL, Julien J-P, Pejchal R, Gach JS, Zwick MB, Wilson IA. Structure-based design of a protein immunogen that displays an HIV-1 gp41 neutralizing epitope. *J Mol Biol* (2011) 414:460–76. doi:10.1016/j. jmb.2011.10.014
- 137. Kamdem Toukam D, Tenbusch M, Stang A, Temchura V, Storcksdieck Genannt Bonsmann M, Grewe B, et al. Targeting antibody responses to the membrane proximal external region of the envelope glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:1–10. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0038068
- Benen TD, Tonks P, Kliche A, Kapzan R, Heeney JL, Wagner R. Development and immunological assessment of VLP-based immunogens exposing the membrane-proximal region of the HIV-1 gp41 protein. *J Biomed Sci* (2014) 21:79. doi:10.1186/s12929-014-0079-x
- 139. Donius LR, Cheng Y, Choi J, Sun Z-YJ, Hanson M, Zhang M, et al. Generation of long-lived bone marrow plasma cells secreting antibodies specific for HIV-1 gp41 MPER in the absence of polyreactivity. *J Virol* (2016) 90:8875–90. doi:10.1128/JVI.01089-16
- 140. Matyas GR, Wieczorek L, Beck Z, Ochsenbauer-Jambor C, Kappes JC, Michael NL, et al. Neutralizing antibodies induced by liposomal HIV-1

glycoprotein 41 peptide simultaneously bind to both the 2F5 or 4E10 epitope and lipid epitopes. *AIDS* (2009) 23:2069–77. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-6-S3-P80

- 141. Ye L, Wen Z, Dong K, Wang X, Bu Z, Zhang H, et al. Induction of HIV neutralizing antibodies against the MPER of the HIV envelope protein by HA/gp41 chimeric protein-based DNA and VLP vaccines. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e14813. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014813
- 142. Leroux-Roels G, Maes C, Clement F, van Engelenburg F, van den Dobbelsteen M, Adler M, et al. Randomized phase I: safety, immunogenicity and mucosal antiviral activity in young healthy women vaccinated with HIV-1 Gp41 P1 peptide on virosomes. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e55438. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055438

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Molinos-Albert, Clotet, Blanco and Carrillo. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Glutaraldehyde Cross-linking of HIV-1 Env Trimers Skews the Antibody Subclass Response in Mice

Martina Soldemo¹, Monika Àdori¹, Julian M. Stark¹, Yu Feng², Karen Tran², Richard Wilson², Lifei Yang², Javier Guenaga², Richard T. Wyatt² and Gunilla B. Karlsson Hedestam^{1*}

¹ Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, ²Department of Immunology and Microbial Science, Neutralizing Antibody Center, International AIDS Vaccine Initiative, The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriella Scarlatti, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Stephen Kent, University of Melbourne, Australia Andrew McGuire, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, United States

*Correspondence:

Gunilla B. Karlsson Hedestam gunilla.karlsson.hedestam@ki.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 September 2017 Accepted: 13 November 2017 Published: 27 November 2017

Citation:

Soldemo M, Àdori M, Stark JM, Feng Y, Tran K, Wilson R, Yang L, Guenaga J, Wyatt RT and Karlsson Hedestam GB (2017) Glutaraldehyde Cross-linking of HIV-1 Env Trimers Skews the Antibody Subclass Response in Mice. Front. Immunol. 8:1654. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01654 Well-ordered soluble HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein (Env) spike mimetics such as Native Flexibly Linked (NFL) trimers display high homogeneity, desired antigenicity, and high *in vitro* stability compared to previous generation soluble HIV-1 Env trimers. Glutaraldehyde (GLA) cross-linking was shown to further increase the thermostability of clade C 16055 NFL trimers and enhance the induction of tier 2 autologous neutralizing antibodies in guinea pigs. Here, we investigated if GLA fixation affected other aspects of the Env-specific immune response by performing a comparative immunogenicity study in C57BL/6 mice with non-fixed and GLA-fixed 16055 NFL trimers administered in AbISCO-100 adjuvant. We detected lower Env-specific binding antibody titers and increased skewing toward Th2 responses in mice immunized with GLA-fixed trimers compared to mice immunized with unfixed trimers, as shown by a higher Env-specific IgG1:IgG2b antibody subclass ratio. These results suggest that the presence of GLA adducts on Env influences the quality of the induced antibody response.

Keywords: HIV-1 env, gluteraldehyde, cross-linking, immunogenicity, mice, vaccine responses, antibody isotypes

INTRODUCTION

Most licensed vaccines mediate protection through the induction of highly specific IgG serum antibodies. Consequently, a central goal for HIV-1 vaccine development is to induce antibody responses that are capable of neutralizing a broad range of circulating HIV-1 strains. Over the past decades, HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein (Env) immunogen design efforts have focused on the generation of recombinant, soluble trimeric Env variants consisting of the exterior glycoprotein, gp120, and the ectodomain of the transmembrane protein, gp41, such as the foldon trimers and the SOS trimers (1, 2). As is now appreciated, these early generation trimers were structurally heterogeneous and suboptimal antigenic mimics of the functional HIV-1 spike.

More recently, new generation trimers such as the BG505 SOSIP.664 trimers (3, 4) and various forms of the native flexibly linked (NFL) trimers (5) were designed. These soluble spikes display superior threefold symmetric order and improved antigenic profiles. The SOSIP trimers were the progenitors, containing an internal cysteine linkage between gp120 and gp41 and an isoleucine (I) to proline (P) change in gp41 (I559P) to disfavor the post-fusion conformation of HIV-1 Env (2). The NFL trimers were constructed by replacing the furin cleavage site that is naturally present

between the exterior glycoprotein gp120 and the transmembrane protein gp41 with a flexible linker composed of two repeats of four glycine and one serine residues $(G_4S)_2$. This modification renders these trimers cleavage- and furin-independent, forming a covalent linkage between gp120 and the ectodomain of gp41 (5-7). Besides the I559P change, further developments of the NFL trimers included the introduction of a set of substitutions selected from the BG505 Env sequence, referred to as trimerderived (TD), which favor the production of trimers that display ordered symmetry and desired antigenic profiles and can be applied to diverse HIV-1 strains (6). Additional modifications of the NFL TD trimer design performed in the context of the Indian clade C isolate 16055 was the introduction of a cysteine bond between residues I201C and A433C to retain gp120 in the pre-CD4-bound conformation, resulting in the 16055 NFL TD CC trimers (6). A set of glycine substitutions in selected gp41 coil-to-helix transition residues were also introduced to further stabilize the pre-fusion state (8).

In addition to efforts using targeted mutagenesis of Env to improve trimer stability, glutaraldehyde (GLA) cross-linking was shown to improve the thermostability of HIV-1 Env trimers as well as the induction of neutralizing antibody responses (7, 9, 10). Depending on the specific Env construct used, negative or positive selection of the trimers may be required prior to fixation to enrich for conformers with desired antigenicity. While intramolecular protein cross-linking may provide a benefit in terms of increasing the durability of conformationally sensitive neutralizing antibody epitopes in vivo, less is known about whether fixation affects other aspects of the Env-specific immune response. In this study, we addressed this issue by immunizing C57BL/6 mice with either fixed or unfixed 16055 NFL TD CC trimers formulated in AbISCO-100 adjuvant. After the first boost, we observed an overall reduction in Env-specific serum-binding antibody titers in mice inoculated with fixed trimers compared to mice inoculated with unfixed trimers, which was primarily detected when coating was performed with unfixed trimers. However, this difference was modest when fixed trimers were used for coating and especially after an additional boost. We further detected a pronounced skewing toward Th2 responses with significantly altered Envspecific IgG1:IgG2b ratios in the sera of mice immunized with GLA-fixed trimers compared to mice immunized with unfixed trimers. A similar effect was detected for the IgG1:IgG2c ratios and a trend toward increased production of Th2 cytokines from stimulated CD4+ T cells was observed in mice immunized with fixed trimers. These results demonstrate that protein crosslinking influences the induced antibody responses at several levels in vivo.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals, Immunizations and Reagents

Male C57BL/6 Bom mice were purchased from Taconic, Denmark. Mice were immunized subcutaneously with 10 μ g of recombinant 16055 NFL TD CC trimers together with 10 μ g AbISCO-100 adjuvant (Isconova/Novavax) or with adjuvant alone. The mice

were 7–9 weeks of age at the start of the immunizations, and booster immunizations were performed at 4-week intervals. All mice were kept at the animal facility of the Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology at Karolinska Institutet. All animal experiments were performed under approved conditions and standard guidelines prior to the experimental start according to the regulations of the Committee for Animal Ethics (Stockholm, Sweden).

Expression and Purification of Soluble Env Trimers

The 16055 trimers were produced as previously described (5, 6). Briefly, the trimers were expressed in 293F cells and were isolated by lectin-affinity chromatography using GNL (*Galanthus nivalis* lectin-agarose; Vector Labs), purified by size-exclusion chromatography (SEC) using Superdex[™] 200 columns (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) to isolate the predominant trimeric fractions and further purified by negative selection affinity chromatography using the non-neutralizing CD4bs-directed mAb, GE136 (11).

Trimer Cross-linking and Gel Analysis

Cross-linking of the purified 16055 trimers was conducted as previously described (7). Briefly, 0.5 mg/ml of trimer was fixed with 5 mM GLA (ACROS Organics) at room temperature (RT) for 5 min and then the reaction was quenched by excess 50 mM glycine, pH 7.5. The fixed trimers were negatively selected by GE136 antibody affinity chromatography and re-isolated by SuperdexTM 200 size-exclusion chromatography and then analyzed by SDS-PAGE under reducing and non-reducing conditions and by Blue Native PAGE as described previously (7).

Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) and Negative-Stain Electron Microscopy (EM)

The thermal melting (Tm) of the trimers was determined using a Microcal VP-Capillary DSC (Malvern). Briefly, trimers were diluted in PBS pH 7.4 to 0.25 mg/ml and scanned at a rate of 1°C/min. Data collected were analyzed after buffer correction, normalization, and baseline subtraction using the VP-Capillary DSC Automated data analysis software. For EM analysis, the 16055 NFL unfixed and fixed trimers were negatively stained on glow-discharged carbon-coated copper mesh grids (Electron Microscopy Sciences) for 2 min. Following blotting to remove excess sample, grids were transferred onto droplets of 2% phosphotungstic acid (pH 6.7) for 2 min. Following blotting and drying the grids were analyzed on a Philips CM100 electron microscope and imaged at selected magnifications with a Megaview III charge-coupled-device camera.

ELISA for Antigenic Profiling and Detection of Serological Antibody Responses

To assess binding by selected bNAbs and non-neutralizing mAbs, the 16055 NFL CC TD trimers were captured by their

His-tag using a mouse anti-His antibody coated on the ELISA plate overnight (ON), followed by washing, blocking, and detection using anti-mouse IgG as described below. To detect Env-specific antibody responses in serum, 96-well highprotein-binding MaxiSorp (Nunc) plates were pre-coated with 1 µg/ml Galanthus nivalis lectin (Sigma) diluted in PBS and incubated ON at 4°C. Plates were then washed six times in washing buffer (PBS/0.05% Tween-20) followed by addition of 150 µl/ well blocking buffer (2% fat-free milk in PBS) and incubated for 1 h at RT. After incubation, the blocking buffer was removed from the plates and 200 ng/well unfixed or fixed NFL Env trimers were added and let to incubate at RT for 2 h. Plates were washed six times in washing buffer and were then incubated in blocking buffer for 1 h. After removing the blocking buffer, sera were added to the plates in threefold serial dilution starting at 1:25 dilution in blocking buffer and incubated for 2 h at RT. After washing the plates six times in washing buffer, secondary antibody diluted in PBS was added to each well. For total, Env-specific IgG ELISA, the secondary antibody goat anti-mouse IgG-horse radish peroxidase (HRP) (Southern Biotech) was used in a dilution of 1:1,000. For subclass-specific Env serum antibody detection, goat anti-mouse IgG1-HRP (Southern Biotech) (1:5,000), goat anti-mouse IgG2b-HRP (Southern Biotech) (1:5,000), goat antimouse IgG2c-HRP (Southern Biotech) (1:5,000), or goat antimouse IgG3-HRP (Southern Biotech) (1:1,500) were added. Secondary antibodies were incubated at RT for 1 h and removed by washing six times in wash buffer. To develop plates, 100 µl/ well of TMB stabilized chromogen substrate (Invitrogen) was added and incubated for 10 min in dark at RT. The reaction was stopped by adding 1 M H₂SO₄. The optical density was measured at 450 nm using an Asys Expert 96 ELISA reader (Biochrom).

Preparation of Single Cell Suspension

The mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation and spleens were taken out for further analysis. Single cell suspension of splenocytes was obtained by passing the dissociated spleen through a 70- μ M nylon cell strainer. Hypotonic ammonium chloride solution was used to lyse the red blood cells. Splenocytes were then collected in complete RPMI 1640 medium (containing 5% FBS, 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 μ M streptomycin), and cell numbers were calculated using the automated cell counter Countess (Invitrogen) for further experiments.

CD4+ T Cell Depletion

To deplete CD4+ T cells, the protocol from EasySep negative selection kit was followed (Stemcell Technologies). Briefly, splenocytes were incubated with normal rat serum (Stemcell Technologies) and biotinylated rat anti-mouse CD4 antibody (clone: RM4-5; BD Pharmingen) for 10 min with mixing every third minute. EasySep Strepativin Rapid Sphere 50001 beads (Stemcell Technologies) were added to the cell mixture at a concentration of 75 μ l/ml of cell suspension. CD4+ T cells were separated using an EasySep magnet (Stemcell Technologies) and the negative fraction was collected in a new tube and used for further experiments.

Flow Cytometry

Total splenocytes and CD4-depleted cell fractions were stained on ice for 20 min with the following antibodies: CD3e-PE (145-2C11; eBioscience), CD8a-APC (53-6.7; BD Pharmingen), CD4-FITC (H129.19; BD Pharmingen), and B220-PerCP-Cy5.5 (RA3-6B2; BD Pharmingen). The samples were run on a FACSCalibur cytometer (BD Bioscience), and data were analyzed with FlowJo software version 10 (TreeStar).

T Cell ELISpot Analysis

T cell ELISpot analysis was performed to measure cytokine production after stimulation of total splenocytes. 96-well Multiscreen-IP filter plates (Millipore) were pre-treated with 70% ethanol, washed three times in PBS followed by coating with 5 μ g/well (50 μ g/ml) of anti-mouse IFN γ (mAb: AN18), anti-mouse IL-2 (mAb: 1A12), or anti-mouse IL-4 (mAb: 11B11), all from Mabtech AB. Plates were incubated ON at 4°C. Before addition of splenocytes, the plates were washed six times with PBS/0.05% Tween-20 and blocked in complete RPMI medium for 2 h at 37°C/5% CO2 in a humidified incubator. After incubation splenocytes, in triplicates, were added to the wells in three different concentrations (200,000, 100,000, or 50,000 cells) in a final volume of 150 µl and stimulated with one of the following stimuli: ConA (2 µg/ml) (Sigma), unfixed or fixed NFL trimers (6.67 µg/ml), or left unstimulated in medium only. After 20 h stimulation at 37°C/5% CO2 in a humidified incubator, the cells were removed from the wells and the plates were washed six times with PBS/0.05% Tween-20. Then the following biotinylated secondary antibodies in a concentration of 1 µg/ml (Mabtech AB) were added to the corresponding wells: anti-mouse IFNy (mAb: R4-6A2), anti-mouse IL-2 (mAb: 5H4), or anti-mouse IL-4 (BV06-24G2). After incubation at RT for 2 h, the plates were washed six times in PBS only and streptavidin-ALP (Mabtech AB) in a 1:1,000 dilution was added to wells and incubated at RT for 45 min. After washing with water, plates were developed with 100 µl/well of BCIP/NBT plus substrate (Mabtech AB) for 10 min at RT. To stop the reaction, wells were emptied and washed extensively in water followed by air-drying. The spots were counted in an ImmunoSpot analyzer (CTL Immunospot).

Flow Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) to Detect Cytokines after *In Vitro* Stimulation

Total splenocytes from mice immunized three times were stimulated *in vitro* for detection of cytokine production. One million splenocytes were used for each stimulation in 48-well plates in a total volume of 500 µl. Each mouse was stimulated with either ConA (2 µg/ml) (Sigma), unfixed or fixed NFL trimers (6.67 µg/ml) or left unstimulated in medium only. The plates were incubated for 20 h at 37°C/5% CO₂ in a humidified incubator. Plates were spun down, and supernatants were collected. To measure the secreted cytokine from each mouse and stimuli, the BD CBA Mouse Enhanced Sensitivity Master Buffer Kit (BD Bioscience) was used. IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 (BD Bioscience) were measured in all samples according to manufacturer's instruction. Standards were prepared from Top Standard by threefold dilutions down to 1:729. Each sample was diluted in two different dilutions, 1:2 and 1:20. Diluted samples were mixed and incubated with Capture Beads for 2 h in dark at 4°C. The samples were then washed in FACS Flow for 5 min at 300g. Supernatant was flicked off before Mouse Detection Reagent was added and incubated for 2 h in dark at 4°C. After an additional washing step, the Enhanced Sensitivity Detection Reagent was added. After 1 h incubation in dark at 4°C, the samples were washed and ran on FACSVerse (BD Bioscience). Standard curves were generated for each cytokine. The samples were then calculated based on the median fluorescence values. If the value was lower than the standard curve, those samples were considered as 0. Samples higher than the detection limit (based on standard curve) was excluded.

Statistical Analysis

GraphPad Prism software version 8 (San Diego, CA, USA) was used to analyze data by Student's *t*-test. Significance was defined as $*p \le 0.05$, $**p \le 0.01$, and $***p \le 0.001$.

RESULTS

In Vitro Characterization of Unfixed and Fixed Env Trimers

In this study, we used the well-ordered 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers (Figure 1A) to investigate the effect of GLA fixation on Env-specific immune responses in C57BL/6 mice. Following the cross-linking procedure, the fixed trimers were isolated by negative selection and size-exclusion chromatography (SEC). Analysis of the purified GLA-fixed trimers by reducing SDS-PAGE confirmed that cross-linking of the trimers had occurred, by a shift in the apparent molecular weight (MW) relative to the unfixed trimers. GLA cross-linking rendered the trimers resistant to disulfide-directed reduction (Figure 1B, left). BN-PAGE analysis, under native conditions, revealed that both the unfixed and fixed trimers migrated with similar MWs (Figure 1B, right). Both sets of data indicated that the cross-linking had occurred between protomers within each trimer, but not across individual trimers. These results were consistent with what we had reported previously by these types of analyses (7). To measure the thermal stability of the unfixed and fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers, we used DSC. The GLA-fixed Env trimers displayed a higher thermostability compared to the unfixed counterpart. The thermal denaturation midpoint temperature (Tm) differed nearly 10°C between the two proteins (Figure 1C, left), indicating that GLA cross-linking contributes to the overall stability of the protein. The increased Tm was accompanied by a broadening of the thermal transition profile, indicating some molecular heterogeneity following the GLA cross-linking process. To confirm that the trimers remained as single particles following cross-linking and negative selection, we performed negative-stain EM and observed no marked difference in trimers at this level of resolution comparing unfixed to fixed populations (Figure 1C, right). To confirm trimer concentrations and that selected epitopes were minimally affected following fixation, we performed ELISA using the bNAbs VRC01, PGT121, and 2G12.

We observed that PGT121 recognition was not greatly affected, indicating that the protein concentrations were accurate, whereas there was some decrease in VRC01 and 2G12 recognition following GLA fixation. We included the non-neutralizing antibodies 19b and GE136 that poorly recognized the unfixed trimers, as expected, whereas recognition of the GLA-fixed trimers by these mAbs was completely eliminated (**Figure 1D**).

Env-Specific Binding Antibody Responses in Mice Immunized with Unfixed or GLA-Fixed Trimers

To evaluate the immunogenicity of the unfixed and GLA-fixed 16055 NFL TD CC trimers C57BL/6 mice were immunized three times at 4-week intervals. Sampling was performed 2 weeks after the second immunization and 8 days after the third immunization (Figure 2A). Serological responses were compared by first measuring the total Env-specific IgG binding titers after the immunizations. Following the second immunization, there was a clear difference in the total Env-specific IgG response between the two groups with higher responses detected in mice immunized with unfixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers compared to those immunized with fixed trimers as shown by titration curves of the individual mice (Figure S1A in Supplementary Material) and as group means (Figure 2B). While this difference was detectable using both unfixed and GLA-fixed trimers as the antigenic target in the ELISA assay, it was more apparent when the unfixed protein was used for coating. After the third immunization, only a modest difference remained between the groups when the unfixed protein was used for coating the ELISA plates (Figure 2B), and an even smaller difference was observed when the fixed protein was used for coating (Figure 2C). Control mice injected with adjuvant alone showed no Env-specific binding.

Env-Specific Antibody Subclass Responses in Mice Immunized with Unfixed or GLA-Fixed Trimers

To investigate potential qualitative differences in the response elicited by the unfixed and GLA-fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers, we assessed the elicited serum IgG subclass response after three immunizations. We observed that mice immunized with fixed Env trimers generated a different subclass pattern compared to the mice immunized with unfixed trimers. Specifically, while the IgG1 responses were similar, mice immunized with fixed trimers displayed lower IgG2b, IgG2c, and IgG3 titers compared to mice immunized with the unfixed trimers, independently of whether unfixed protein (Figure 3A) or fixed protein (Figure 3B) was used as the binding target on the ELISA plate. This difference was not observed when sera collected after two immunizations were analyzed, likely because the IgG subclass responses were still very low at this time point (Figure S1B in Supplementary Material). We also compared the ratios between the subclasses at a serum dilution of 1:25 and observed differences between the groups, which were significant for both IgG1:IgG2b and IgG1:IgG2c ratios when unfixed protein was used for coating (Figure 3C, upper



FIGURE 1 | Schematic illustration and *in vitro* characterization of the 16055 native flexibly linked (NFL) trimer-derived (TD) CC Env trimers. (A) Linear representation of the NFL TD CC Env trimer sequence with the flexible (G₄S)₂ peptide linker indicated between gp120 and gp41 (top) and cartoon of the unfixed and glutaraldehyde (GLA)-fixed Env trimers (bottom). (B) Left panel: SDS gel of unfixed trimers under non-reducing conditions and reducing conditions with MW marker shown in between; right panel: SDS gel of GLA-fixed under non-reducing conditions and reducing conditions with MW marker shown in between; right panel: SDS gel of GLA-fixed under non-reducing conditions and reducing conditions with MW marker shown in between; right panel: blue native gel of unfixed and GLA-fixed trimers. (C) Left panel: differential scanning calorimetry curves comparing the *in vitro* stability of unfixed (dashed line) and GLA-fixed (solid line) 16055 NFL TD CC trimers; right panel: negative-stain electron microscopy (EM) images of unfixed and GLA-fixed (right) 16055 NFL TD CC trimers.

panel) and for the IgG1:IgG2b ratio when fixed protein was used for coating (**Figure 3C**, lower panel). These serological results suggested a Th2-shifted response following immunization with the GLA-fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers. Control mice injected with adjuvant alone showed no Env-specific IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2c, or IgG3.



mice (six per group) were immunized at 0, 4, and 8 weeks with 10 µg of unfixed or glutaraldehyde-fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers together with 10 µg AbISCO-100 adjuvant, or with adjuvant alone (*n* = 2). Serum was collected 14 days following the second immunization and serum and spleens were collected 8 days following the third immunization. (**B**) Env-specific IgG binding titers were measured by ELISA after two or three immunizations using unfixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers for coating: full titration curves (group means) are shown to the left and IC50 binding titers (individual animals) are shown for the post-3 serum to the right. (**C**) Env-specific IgG binding titers (individual animals) are shown for the post-3 serum to the right. (**C**) Env-specific IgG binding titers were measured by ELISA after two or three immunizations using fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers for coating: full titration curves (group means) are shown to the left and IC50 binding titers (individual animals) are shown for the post-3 serum to the right. (**C**) Env-specific IgG binding titers were measured by ELISA after two or three immunizations using fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers for coating: full titration curves are shown to the left (group means) and IC50 binding titers (individual animals) are shown for the post-3 serum to the right. Statistical significance (Student's *t*-test) between post-3 IC50 titers in mice injected with unfixed or fixed trimers immunized mice was tested. Fivefold serial dilution was used for all samples starting at a 1:25 dilution.

To determine if this difference was detected if additional boosts were performed, we performed an independent immunization experiment where mice were injected five sequential times with the unfixed or GLA-fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers in AbISCO-100. This experiment yielded very similar results with increased IgG1:IgG2b and IgG1:IgG2c ratios in mice immunized with GLA-fixed trimers compared to mice immunized with unfixed trimers. This difference was significant for the IgG1:IgG2b ratio using both unfixed and fixed protein for coating (Figure S2 in Supplementary Material).



T Cell Responses Elicited in Mice Immunized with Unfixed or GLA-Fixed Trimers

Having observed that unfixed and fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers induce qualitatively different IgG subclass responses, we next investigated whether the Env-specific T cells responses also differed between animals in each of the groups. We first used a cytokine ELISpot analysis of splenocytes harvested after the third immunization for this analysis. We evaluated if the response measured by our protein stimulation conditions (20 h at 37°C) resulted from CD4+ T cells by comparing cytokine production in total splenocytes to the CD4+ T cell-depleted splenocytes (Figure S3A in Supplementary Material). This experiment confirmed that both the IFNy and IL-2 cytokine production measured in response to protein stimulation was CD4+ T cell-dependent as the CD4+ T cell-depleted samples did not secrete cytokine levels that exceeded those of the medium control (Figures S3B,C in Supplementary Material). We next applied this method to analyze spleens harvested from mice immunized three times with unfixed or GLA-fixed 16055 NFL TD CC trimers and detected no significant differences in the number of IFNy, IL-2, and IL-4 producing T cells upon stimulation with NFL trimers (unfixed or fixed) (Figure 4A). We concluded that mice immunized with unfixed or GLA-fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers had similar numbers of cytokineproducing cells, indicating similar uptake and processing of the GLA-fixed and unfixed trimers by antigen-presenting cells for CD4+ T cell activation. To specifically investigate the presence of T cells producing Th2-associated cytokines, we employed a flow cytometry-based bead assay to detect low levels of cytokines potentially present in supernatants from in vitro-stimulated T cells from mice immunized three times with unfixed or GLAfixed Env trimers. We detected varying levels of IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 with several mice being under the limit of detection of the assay. However, the mice that did respond with detectable IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 levels were almost exclusively found among the mice immunized with the GLA-fixed trimers, suggesting a potential connection to the antibody subclass response in these mice (Figure 4B).



FIGURE 4 | CD4+ T cell cytokine production after *in vitro* stimulation of splenocytes collected after three immunizations with unfixed or fixed 16055 native flexibly linked (NFL) trimer-derived (TD) CC Env trimers or adjuvant only. (A) IFNγ, IL-2, and IL-4 cytokine-producing cells (group means) were measured by ELISpot analysis after 20 h stimulation with unfixed or fixed Env trimers or with ConA (positive control) or medium (negative control). Each spot formed in the wells represents one cytokine-producing cell. The average number for cytokine-producing cells for each group was plotted for each stimulus. Statistical significance (Student's *t*-test) between mice immunized with unfixed and fixed protein was tested. (B) Detection of IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 in supernatants following 20 h *in vitro* stimulation with unfixed NFL TD CC trimers, Gon A (positive control), or medium (negative control) using a flow cytometry-based bead assay. The results were plotted as picograms per milliliter cytokine produced for each condition. The detection limit of cytokines was 0.273 pg/ml.

DISCUSSION

Here, we performed a comparative study in mice to examine the magnitude and quality of the Env-specific immune responses induced by unfixed or GLA-fixed 16055 NFL TD CC trimers. We demonstrate that the GLA-fixed 16055 NFL TD CC trimers displayed increased thermostability in vitro, reduced exposure of non-neutralizing antibody epitopes in vitro and lower in vivo Env-specific IgG antibody responses after two immunizations. However, following three immunizations the difference in Envspecific IgG titers was modest and only detectable when unfixed trimers were used as the target antigen in the ELISA. The difference in magnitude of the response induced by the unfixed trimers compared to the fixed trimers may be because unfixed trimers are more prone to unfolding or dissociation in vivo, resulting in exposure of immunogenic but non-neutralizing protein determinants. Thus, a reduced response may be a desired outcome if it means that less antibody responses to irrelevant epitopes. Induction of antibodies against non-desired, non-neutralizing epitopes may register by ELISA when unfixed trimers are used for coating but less so when the fixed protein is used. Thus, the use of both unfixed and fixed trimers as both immunogens and as binding targets in the ELISA plate provides useful information to deduce trends in the elicited antibody specificities in vivo. Whether GLA fixation offers an advantage for the quality of neutralizing antibody responses induced by the 16055 NFL TD CC trimers was not addressed in the present study, as this was previously investigated in the guinea pig model (7), as well as in the rabbit model using other well-ordered Env trimer designs (9, 10). We have previously reported tier 1 neutralizing activity in immunized mice (12, 13). However, immunogens that readily elicits tier 2 neutralizing antibody titers in rabbits (9, 10, 14) fail to do so in mice (15, 16).

The most significant observation in this study was that the Env-specific IgG response measured in animals inoculated with GLA-fixed trimers displayed a more Th2-skewed subclass profile than the response elicited in mice inoculated with unfixed trimers. We demonstrated this outcome by measuring Env-specific IgG1, IgG2b, and IgG2c. In mice, IgG1 represents a Th2-skewed response, while IgG2b and IgG2c represent a Th1-skewed response. A previous study in Balb/c mice reported that Env delivered in the form of a DNA vaccine induced a more Th2-biased antibody subclass response profile than did a DNA-based influenza virus hemagglutinin-based vaccine, as detected by an increased IgG1:IgG2a ratio in mice immunized with Env (17). This suggested an intrinsic difference in the type of response induced by the two viral antigens. We previously examined antibody subclass profiles induced by purified HIV-1 Env trimers formulated in the AbISCO-100 adjuvant in a headto-head comparison between Balb/c mice and C57BL/6 mice and found that balanced Th1/Th2 responses were induced in both strains, with potent Env-specific IgG1, IgG2a, and IgG2b responses detected in Balb/c mice and similarly potent IgG1, IgG2b, and IgG2c responses detected in C57BL/6 mice (13). In the current study, we detected potent IgG1, IgG2b, and IgG2c responses to the unfixed trimers but reduced IgG2b and IgG2c responses to the fixed trimers. This Th2 skewing of the antibody subclass responses was observed in all animals immunized with the GLA-fixed trimers, using either the unfixed or GLA-fixed Env trimers as the antigenic target coated on the ELISA plates and was observed in two independent experiments.

The unfixed and GLA-fixed trimers used here were formulated with the AbISCO-100 adjuvant (also called Matrix-M). We and others have previously shown that this adjuvant induces a balanced Th1/Th2 response also for other protein antigens (18-20). Our results show that the presence of GLA adducts on the trimers influenced the induced immune response in a manner that was not over-ridden by the presence of the adjuvant. We have previously shown that the response induced by protein antigens in AbISCO-100 can be shifted toward a more Th1-driven response by co-administration of a TLR9 agonist (18). Thus, co-stimulation of TLR9 may be one way to balance the Th2 skewing caused by the GLA fixation. Another strategy to direct the Env-specific response away from a Th2-biased profile is to prime with a viral vector expressing Env prior to protein boosting, which we previously showed induced a more Th1-biased response (21). While the assessment of Th1/Th2 skewing by measurements of IgG subclasses may not be readily translatable to other species, our finding may be worthy of further investigation in other models using additional assays of T helper function as different vaccine platforms are under evaluation and prioritization. While formaldehyde treatment of proteins was shown to limit antigen processing by constraining presentation to T cells in one study (22), we did not detect any measurable differences in the magnitude of cytokineproducing profiles of Env-specific CD4+ T cells in our study using unfixed or GLA-fixed protein for *in vitro* stimulation when IFNy, IL-2, and IL-4 cytokine responses were measured by ELISPOT analysis. When a more sensitive flow cytometry-based bead assay was used to detect additional Th2 cytokines, we observed that the highest IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 responders were found in the group of mice immunized with the GLA-fixed trimers. This result was non-significant since a majority of the mice were below the level of detection. Nevertheless, it indicated a trend toward an increased Th2 response after immunization with fixed trimers, which may be related to the skewed antibody subclass response.

Chemical fixation of viruses and antigens is used in some commercial vaccines, for example, to inactivate infection by replication-competent whole virus particles. This was successfully done for the polio vaccine but it was less successful for a candidate respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine (23). In the case of the clinically tested RSV vaccine, formaldehyde was used for fixation. This vaccine worsened clinical symptoms in children exposed to natural RSV infection, triggering its removal from commercial development (24). The negative outcome was associated with a shift in the responses from a Th1 to a Th2 profile, as well as lower levels of neutralizing antibodies (24-26), effects that were suggested to be related to the carbonyl groups on the vaccine antigens (27). These studies, as well as those presented here, indicate the need for an improved understanding of how modifications to protein-based vaccines influence the induced response at multiple levels. For example, protein adducts such as aldehyde groups may interact with scavenger receptors such as CD36 (28), which are expressed by both B cells and professional antigen-presenting cells. Whether such potential effects influence antigen-specific immune responses to HIV-1 Env or other viral proteins is not known, but may be elucidated by future investigations.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All animal experiments were performed under approved conditions and standard guidelines prior to the experimental start according to the regulations of the Committee for Animal Ethics (Stockholm, Sweden). The ethical permit number is N4/16.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS: planning and performing *in vivo* experiments, data collection, data analysis, making figures, and writing manuscript. MA: performing *in vivo* experiments, data collection, and reviewing manuscript. JS: planning, performing, data collection and data analysis in T cell in vitro experiments. LY: preparing recombinant proteins for EM and performing EM analysis. YF, KT, RW, and JG: recombinant protein production and characterization, data analysis, making figures, and reviewing manuscript. RTW: planning the study and supervision and reviewing of manuscript. GKH: study planning, supervision, and writing manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by grants from the Swedish Research Council and the National Institutes of Health (a P01 HIVRAD grant AI104722). We would like to thank the Scripps Research Institute EM Core facility for technical assistance.

REFERENCES

- Yang X, Lee J, Mahony EM, Kwong PD, Wyatt R, Sodroski J. Highly stable trimers formed by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins fused with the trimeric motif of T4 bacteriophage fibritin. *J Virol* (2002) 76(9):4634–42. doi:10.1128/JVI.76.9.4634-4642.2002
- Sanders RW, Vesanen M, Schuelke N, Master A, Schiffner L, Kalyanaraman R, et al. Stabilization of the soluble, cleaved, trimeric form of the envelope glycoprotein complex of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* (2002) 76(17):8875–89. doi:10.1128/JVI.76.17.8875-8889.2002
- Georgiev IS, Joyce MG, Yang Y, Sastry M, Zhang B, Baxa U, et al. Single-chain soluble BG505.SOSIP gp140 trimers as structural and antigenic mimics of mature closed HIV-1 env. *J Virol* (2015) 89(10):5318–29. doi:10.1128/ JVI.03451-14
- Sanders RW, Derking R, Cupo A, Julien JP, Yasmeen A, de Val N, et al. A next-generation cleaved, soluble HIV-1 Env trimer, BG505 SOSIP.664 gp140, expresses multiple epitopes for broadly neutralizing but not non-neutralizing antibodies. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9(9):e1003618. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1003618
- Sharma SK, de Val N, Bale S, Guenaga J, Tran K, Feng Y, et al. Cleavageindependent HIV-1 Env trimers engineered as soluble native spike mimetics for vaccine design. *Cell Rep* (2015) 11(4):539–50. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2015.03.047
- Guenaga J, Dubrovskaya V, de Val N, Sharma SK, Carrette B, Ward AB, et al. Structure-guided redesign increases the propensity of HIV env to generate highly stable soluble trimers. *J Virol* (2015) 90(6):2806–17. doi:10.1128/ JVI.02652-15
- Feng Y, Tran K, Bale S, Kumar S, Guenaga J, Wilson R, et al. Thermostability of well-ordered HIV spikes correlates with the elicitation of autologous tier 2 neutralizing antibodies. *PLoS Pathog* (2016) 12(8):e1005767. doi:10.1371/ journal.ppat.1005767

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01654/ full#supplementary-material.

FIGURE S1 | Total Env-specific IgG and subclass-specific responses measured by ELISA. **(A)** ELISA curves for Env-specific IgG for individual mice (post-2 and post-3) using unfixed 16055 native flexibly linked (NFL) trimer-derived (TD) CC Env trimers (left) or fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers (right) as the target antigen. **(B)** ELISA curves (group means) for Env-specific IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c, and IgG3 from post-2 sera using fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers as the target antigen. Fivefold serial dilution was used for all samples starting at a 1:25 dilution.

FIGURE S2 | Env-specific antibody subclass responses after five immunizations measured by ELISA. (**A**) ELISA curves (group means) for Env-specific IgG1, IgG2b, and IgG2c using unfixed 16055 native flexibly linked (NFL) trimer-derived (TD) CC Env trimers as target antigen. (**B**) ELISA curves (group means) for Env-specific IgG1, IgG2b, and IgG2c using fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers as target antigen. (**C**) Ratios of IgG1:IgG2b and IgG1:IgG2c calculated using either unfixed and glutaraldehyde-fixed protein coated on the ELISA plates. The serum samples were added to the plates in fivefold serial dilutions starting at 1:50. * and ** indicate statistical significance (Student's *t*-test) between mice immunized with unfixed and fixed 16055 NFL TD CC Env trimers.

FIGURE S3 | CD4+ T cell depletion of splenocytes. **(A)** Assessment of the purity after CD4+ T cell depletion. The FACS plots show the changes in CD4, CD8, and B220 cell populations before and after CD4 depletion. IFN γ **(B)** and IL-2 **(C)** cytokine-producing cells were measured by ELISpot 20 h after stimulation with unfixed 16055 NFL TD CC trimers or with Con A (positive control) or medium (negative control) of splenocytes with or without CD4+ T cell depletion.

- Guenaga J, Garces F, de Val N, Stanfield RL, Dubrovskaya V, Higgins B, et al. Glycine substitution at helix-to-coil transitions facilitates the structural determination of a stabilized subtype C HIV envelope glycoprotein. *Immunity* (2017) 46(5):792.e–803.e. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.04.014
- Schiffner T, de Val N, Russell RA, de Taeye SW, de la Peña AT, Ozorowski G, et al. Chemical cross-linking stabilizes native-like HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein trimer antigens. *J Virol* (2015) 90(2):813–28. doi:10.1128/JVI. 01942-15
- Schiffner T, Kong L, Duncan CJ, Back JW, Benschop JJ, Shen X, et al. Immune focusing and enhanced neutralization induced by HIV-1 gp140 chemical cross-linking. *J Virol* (2013) 87(18):10163–72. doi:10.1128/JVI. 01161-13
- Guenaga J, de Val N, Tran K, Feng Y, Satchwell K, Ward AB, et al. Wellordered trimeric HIV-1 subtype B and C soluble spike mimetics generated by negative selection display native-like properties. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11(1):e1004570. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004570
- Dosenovic P, Soldemo M, Scholz JL, O'Dell S, Grasset EK, Pelletier N, et al. BLyS-mediated modulation of naive B cell subsets impacts HIV Envinduced antibody responses. *J Immunol* (2012) 188(12):6018–26. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1200466
- Soldemo M, Pedersen GK, Karlsson Hedestam GB. HIV-1 Env-specific memory and germinal center B cells in C57BL/6 mice. Viruses (2014) 6(9): 3400–14. doi:10.3390/v6093400
- Sanders RW, van Gils MJ, Derking R, Sok D, Ketas TJ, Burger JA, et al. HIV-1 Vaccines. HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies induced by native-like envelope trimers. *Science* (2015) 349(6244):aac4223. doi:10.1126/science. aac4223
- Hu JK, Crampton JC, Cupo A, Ketas T, van Gils MJ, Sliepen K, et al. Murine antibody responses to cleaved soluble HIV-1 envelope trimers are highly restricted in specificity. *J Virol* (2015) 89(20):10383–98. doi:10.1128/ JVI.01653-15

- Bale S, Goebrecht G, Stano A, Wilson R, Ota T, Tran K, et al. Covalent linkage of HIV-1 trimers to synthetic liposomes elicits improved B cell and antibody responses. J Virol (2017) 91(16):e00443-17. doi:10.1128/JVI.00443-17
- Daly LM, Johnson PA, Donnelly G, Nicolson C, Robertson J, Mills KH. Innate IL-10 promotes the induction of Th2 responses with plasmid DNA expressing HIV gp120. *Vaccine* (2005) 23(7):963–74. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine. 2004.03.072
- Dosenovic P, Ádori M, Adams WC, Pedersen GK, Soldemo M, Beutler B, et al. Slc15a4 function is required for intact class switch recombination to IgG2c in response to TLR9 stimulation. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2015) 93(2): 136–46. doi:10.1038/icb.2014.82
- Magnusson SE, Reimer JM, Karlsson KH, Lilja L, Bengtsson KL, Stertman L. Immune enhancing properties of the novel Matrix-M adjuvant leads to potentiated immune responses to an influenza vaccine in mice. *Vaccine* (2013) 31(13):1725–33. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.01.039
- Pedersen GK, Sjursen H, Nøstbakken JK, Jul-Larsen Å, Hoschler K, Cox RJ. Matrix M adjuvanted virosomal H5N1 vaccine induces balanced Th1/Th2 CD4 T cell responses in man. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2014) 10(8):2408–16. doi:10.4161/hv.29583
- Forsell MN, Li Y, Sundbäck M, Svehla K, Liljeström P, Mascola JR, et al. Biochemical and immunogenic characterization of soluble human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein trimers expressed by semliki forest virus. *J Virol* (2005) 79(17):10902–14. doi:10.1128/JVI.79.17. 10902-10914.2005
- di Tommaso A, de Magistris MT, Bugnoli M, Marsili I, Rappuoli R, Abrignani S. Formaldehyde treatment of proteins can constrain presentation to T cells by limiting antigen processing. *Infect Immun* (1994) 62(5):1830–4.
- Cederna JB, Klinzman D, Stapleton JT. Hepatitis A virus-specific humoral and cellular immune responses following immunization with a formalin-inactivated hepatitis A vaccine. *Vaccine* (1999) 18(9–10):892–8. doi:10.1016/ S0264-410X(99)00342-4

- Openshaw PJ, Culley FJ, Olszewska W. Immunopathogenesis of vaccineenhanced RSV disease. Vaccine (2001) 20(Suppl 1):S27–31. doi:10.1016/S0264-410X(01)00301-2
- De Swart RL, Kuiken T, Timmerman HH, van Amerongen G, Van Den Hoogen BG, Vos HW, et al. Immunization of macaques with formalininactivated respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) induces interleukin-13-associated hypersensitivity to subsequent RSV infection. *J Virol* (2002) 76(22):11561–9. doi:10.1128/JVI.76.22.11561-11569.2002
- Murphy BR, Walsh EE. Formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine induces antibodies to the fusion glycoprotein that are deficient in fusion-inhibiting activity. J Clin Microbiol (1988) 26(8):1595–7.
- Moghaddam A, Olszewska W, Wang B, Tregoning JS, Helson R, Sattentau QJ, et al. A potential molecular mechanism for hypersensitivity caused by formalin-inactivated vaccines. *Nat Med* (2006) 12(8):905–7. doi:10.1038/ nm1456
- Tsuzuki S, Amitsuka T, Okahashi T, Kozai Y, Matsumura S, Inoue K, et al. A single aldehyde group can serve as a structural element for recognition by transmembrane protein CD36. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* (2016) 80(7):1375–8. doi:10.1080/09168451.2016.1151343

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Soldemo, Àdori, Stark, Feng, Tran, Wilson, Yang, Guenaga, Wyatt and Karlsson Hedestam. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulation of Subunit-Specific Germinal Center B Cell Responses to the HIV-1 Envelope Glycoproteins by Antibody-Mediated Feedback

Mattias N. E. Forsell^{1,2*}, Linda Kvastad^{2†}, Saikiran K. Sedimbi², John Andersson³ and Mikael C. I. Karlsson²

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Persephone Borrow, University of Oxford, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Leonidas Stamatatos, Seattle Biomedical Research Institute, United States Oliver Bannard, University of Oxford, United Kingdom Kai-Michael Toellner, University of Birmingham, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Mattias N. E. Forsell mattias.forsell@umu.se

[†]Present address:

Linda Kvastad, Science for Life Laboratory, School of Biotechnology, Royal Institute of Technology (KTH), Solna, Sweden

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to HIV and AIDS, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 April 2017 **Accepted:** 12 June 2017 **Published:** 30 June 2017

Citation:

Forsell MNE, Kvastad L, Sedimbi SK, Andersson J and Karlsson MCI (2017) Regulation of Subunit-Specific Germinal Center B Cell Responses to the HIV-1 Envelope Glycoproteins by Antibody-Mediated Feedback. Front. Immunol. 8:738. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00738 ¹Division of Immunology, Department of Clinical Microbiology, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden, ²Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, ³Department of Medicine, Solna, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

The regulation of germinal center (GC) B cell responses to single epitopes is well investigated. How monoclonal B cells are regulated within the polyclonal B cell response to protein antigens is less so. Here, we investigate the primary GC B cell response after injection of mice with HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins. We demonstrate that single GCs are seeded by a diverse number of B cell clones shortly after a single immunization and that the presence of Env-specific antibodies can inhibit the development of early GC B cells. Importantly, the suppression was dependent on the GC B cells and the infused antibodies to target the same subunit of the injected HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins. An affinity-dependent antibody feedback has previously been shown to regulate GC B cells only if they target the same or overlapping epitopes. This study provides important basic information of GC B cell regulation, and for future vaccine designs with aim to elicit neutralizing antibodies against HIV-1.

Keywords: epitope-specific antibodies, regulation of germinal centers, HIV-1, envelope glycoproteins, epitopespecific B cells

INTRODUCTION

There is abundant evidence that some HIV-1-infected patients develop broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNabs) at the chronic stage of the infection (1, 2). This demonstrates that the human immune system is, under certain circumstances, capable to produce antibodies that may be useful if they could be re-elicited by vaccination. Being the only virally derived component on the outside of the virion, it is not surprising that known bNabs target the HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins (Env) (3). It has been postulated that humoral immune responses to immunodominant regions of Env may suppress responses to less immunogenic regions, and that this could explain why bNabs are infrequently elicited during infection and has, to date, not been elicited by vaccination. Clearly, a better understanding of the regulatory processes for epitope-specific regulation and maturation of B cell responses is of great importance for the development of improved vaccine strategies.

Immunization with recombinant proteins in adjuvant generates T-dependent humoral immune responses that are characterized by the formation of germinal centers (GCs). In GCs, antigen-specific B cells undergo affinity maturation and differentiation into memory B cells and

Ab-secreting plasma cells [reviewed in Ref. (4)]. The resulting polyclonal Ab response comprises a number of different antibodies that each target a distinct epitope surface on the injected protein antigen (5). In the GC, B cell clones that target the same epitope on model antigens are competitively regulated and there is a bias for survival of high-affinity clones (6-8). It was demonstrated that B cell clones with a high-affinity BCR are better at presenting antigenic peptides to Tfh than are B cells with low affinity, and therefore gain a competitive advantage (9), and the importance of robust Tfh responses for the generation of neutralizing antibodies against HIV-1 has been extensively discussed elsewhere (10). However, even within single GCs a wide range of intra- and inter-clonal affinity maturation of B cells occur (11, 12). It is therefore possible that regulatory mechanisms exist to allow for clonal expansion and maturation of B cells with different epitope specificity after challenge with physiologically relevant multi-epitope proteins, such as HIV-1 Env. By dampening the ability of B cells to recognize the immunodominant V3-region on Env, we have previously shown that antibody and plasma cell responses to distinctly different epitope regions were independently regulated after repeated immunizations with recombinant soluble HIV-1 Env in mice (13). Similar results were subsequently found when instead immunosilencing the trimerization domain of Env (14). These findings were not unique to Env, as similar observations had previously been described for a number of therapeutic proteins, including Pseudomonas exotoxin A [reviewed in Ref. (15)]. Immunodominance may therefore be driven by a mechanism that is largely independent of inter-clonal competition and additional regulatory mechanisms might play a significant role for the regulation of B cell clones with distinct BCR specificities within the polyclonal response after immunization.

For decades, it has been known that IgG can feedback regulate the humoral immune response, and that this is dependent on the nature of the antigen and subclass [reviewed in Ref. (16)]. It was demonstrated that IgM could mediate inhibition of GC B cell responses by direct binding to antigen, thereby occluding it from recognition by antigen-specific BCRs on B cells (17). Since IgM is readily elicited early during the development of T cell-dependent GC B cell responses, it is unlikely to provide a strong inhibitory effect on GC B cells under physiological conditions. However, an antibody-mediated feedback mechanism that is dependent on the binding specificity of IgG could potentially explain our results where independent expansion of epitope-specific plasma cell responses to HIV-1 Env was observed (13).

A single injection with Env in adjuvant was not sufficient to induce potent Env-specific IgG-secreting plasma cells in mice, rabbits, and non-human primates (13, 18, 19). If antigen-specific GC B cells had been developed at the same time point, this would allow us to investigate how Env-specific GC B cell responses develop without the interference of endogenously produced antigen-specific antibodies. According to this rationale, we set out to define the characteristics of the GC B cell response after one injection of Balb/C mice with Env, and then to address if an antibody-mediated feedback had potential to regulate GC B cell responses in an epitope-specific manner.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Recombinant Proteins

The design and cloning of trimeric soluble recombinant envelope glycoproteins Env and monomeric gp120 for injection, and trimeric Env, gp120, and gp120 Δ V3 for site-specific biotinylation has been previously described (20, 21). All recombinant proteins were produced by using the FreeStyleTM 293 Expression system (Invitrogen) and purified by sequential lectin and his-tag affinity chromatograph (22). Site-specific biotinylation was performed by treating AviTagged recombinant Env and gp120 with biotin-protein ligase (GeneCopoeia, Rockville, MD, USA) (20).

Immunizations

For injections, 10 µg of Env or gp120 was emulsified in ImjectTM Alum adjuvant (Thermo Fischer Scientific) and 7- to 10-weekold BALB/c mice were injected *via* the intraperitoneal route. To generate immune serum to Env or gp120, groups of six mice were injected with recombinant Env or gp120 in ImjectTM Alum adjuvant two times at a 2-week interval, and serum was collected 2 weeks after the last injection. Serum from mice injected with Adjuvant alone was used as control. Mice were kept at the animal facility at Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology, Karolinska Institutet or at the Umeå Center for Comparative Biology, Umeå University, Sweden.

Immunohistochemistry and Laser Microdissection

For immunohistochemistry and laser capture microdissection of GC structures, 8 μ m sections of OCT embedded spleens were fixed on super frost plus glass slides (Thermo Scientific) or on PPS membrane slides (MicroDissect GmbH), and fixed using ice-cold acetone. For subsequent laser microdissection, we chose the mid section of a three consecutive 8 µm sections that all demonstrated a GC structure of same shape and relative location in the spleen. To inhibit non-specific binding, sections were treated with 5% goat serum (Dako) and subsequently treated with Avidin/Biotin blocking kit. Slides were then stained with FITC-conjugated anti-IgD (BD Pharmingen) and biotinylated peanut agglutinin (PNA) followed by Alexa555-conjugated streptavidin (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Confocal microscopy was performed on the glass slides with a DM IRBE system (Leica). Laser microdissection was performed on PPS membrane slides in a LMD7000 system (Leica). Single GC structures were defined as PNA⁺, IgD⁻ areas inside splenic follicles (IgD+, PNA-) in the center section of each spleen, and collected in RLT buffer for subsequent mRNA extraction.

Flow Cytometry and Cell Sorting

Single-cell suspension of splenocytes was achieved by passing spleen through a 70- μ m nylon mesh. RBCs were subsequently lysed with hypotonic ammonium chloride solution for 1 min, and the remaining cells were washed and resuspended in complete RPMI 1640 medium (Sigma) containing 5% FBS, 50 μ M 2-ME, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 μ M streptomycin. Where applicable, splenocytes were enumerated by flow

cytometry using AccuCheck Counting Beads (Life Technologies). The amount of live cells in samples was determined by using a Live/Dead aqua viability kit (Thermo Fischer Scientific). Antibodies used for stainings were FITC-conjugated anti-GL7 antigen, PerCP.Cy5.5-conjugated anti-IgD, PE-conjugated anti-CD95, and Pacific Blue-conjugated anti-B220 (all BioLegend). To determine antigen specificity, cells were incubated with 10 μ g/ml biotinylated Env trimers, gp120 trimers, or gp120 Δ V3 trimers and subsequently with APC-conjugated streptavidin. Data were collected on a BD LSRFortessaTM X20, and cell sorting was performed on a BD Facs JazzTM (All BD Biosciences). Analysis of flow cytometric data was performed using FlowJo (FlowJo, LLC).

B Cell Receptor Fragment Analysis

The B-cell repertoire was assessed by spectratyping of VDJ regions of heavy chain families 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, and 7. Briefly, mRNA from tissues was extracted with an RNAeasy kit (Invitrogen), and corresponding cDNA was then generated using iScript (BioRad), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Previously published primers for amplification of the VDJ region (with focus on the uniqueness of the CDR3) of the variable region heavy chain (Vh) families 1 and 2 of mice were used to amplify the target regions [Vh1 forward: TCCAGCACAGCCTACATGCAGCTC; Vh2 forward: CAGGTGCAGCTGAAGGAGTCAGG; and Jrev (common primer in the JH-region): CTTACCTGAGGAGACGGTGA] (23, 24). The amplifications were performed in a total volume of 20 µL, using 2× GoTaq (Promega), 2 µL (1 µM final) of each primer, and 2 µL of cDNA. After 1 min at 95°C, amplification was performed for 40 cycles as follows: 30 s at 95°C, 30 s at 55°C, and 1 min 30 s at 72°C, and ended with a step of 10 min at 72°C. To label the amplified fragments, 5 µL of each P CR product was mixed with 0.5 µM 6-fluorescein amidite (FAM)-labeled Jrev-primer and 5 µL GoTaq and subjected to 10 runoff cycles as follows: 2 min at 95°C, 2 min at 55°C, and 20 min at 72°C, and ended with a 10-min step at 72°C. FAM-labeled products were then processed on an ABI3130 Genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems). Data were analyzed using PeakScanner v1.0 software (Applied Biosystems). Each peak in the resulting histogram represents one or many B cell clones with identical nucleotide length of the VDJ region of a certain Vh family. For an approximation of a distinct number of clones present in a single GC, a stringent cutoff of 1,000 response units (RUs) was applied to select for dominant clones. The relative dominance of the single fragment with the highest RU value in a GC was calculated with respect to the sum of RUs of all detected fragments in the same (%dominance = $RU_{dominant fragment} \times 100/\Sigma$ RU_{all fragments}).

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay

High-protein-binding MaxiSorp plates (Nunc) were coated with 100 or 200 ng/well of recombinant Env or gp120 at 4°C overnight. The coated plates were blocked with 2% fat-free milk in PBS. After washing (PBS, 0.05% Tween-20), serum was added at different concentrations. The wells were then incubated with HRP-conjugated anti-mouse IgG or IgM (Southern Biotech). After washing, a colorimetric HPA substrate containing 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (Invitrogen) was added. Adding one volume of 1 M H₂SO₄ stopped the enzymatic reaction, and OD was read at 450 or 450–620 nm. All incubations were performed at room temperature for 1 h, unless otherwise stated.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism V5.04 (GraphPad Software). Data sets were first analyzed with the D'Agostino and Pearson omnibus normality test. Sets conforming to normal distribution were then analyzed further using ANOVA or non-paired two-tailed Student's *t*-test to determine the significance of observed differences. Data sets not exhibiting normal distribution were analyzed using a non-parametric ANOVA, Mann–Whitney *U* test, or the Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-rank test.

Ethics Statement

All animal experiments were pre-approved and performed in accordance with the Swedish Animal Welfare Act under protocols Dnr 234/12-dnr 11/13 (approved by Stockholms Norra djurförsöksetiska nämnd, Sweden) and Dnr A 59-15 (approved by Umeå försöksdjursetiska nämnd, Sweden).

RESULTS

GC B Cell Responses after Immunization with HIV-1 Env

To determine if potent GC B cell responses occur after a single injection with Env, we devised an injection regimen to characterize the development of GC B cells after immunization with Env in Imject Alum[™] adjuvant. By immunofluorescence microscopy, we found that distinct GC formation (PNA+IgD-) could be detected on day 6 by histology (Figure 1A). The numbers of splenic GCs had significantly increased on day 11, but were reduced in numbers again by day 21 after the immunization. To quantify our findings, we assessed the frequency of splenic GC B cells (B220+IgD-CD 95+GL7+) by flow cytometry at the same time points. Consistent with our histological results, we found that the overall frequency of GC B cells had reached detectable levels at day 6, that a major expansion had occurred between days 7 and 11 (Figure 1B). We could also quantify the overall reduction of GC B cells between days 11 and 21 after immunization Collectively, these data verify that GC B cell responses develop after a single injection of mice with Env in adjuvant.

Clonal Expansion and Contraction of B Cells in GCs after Immunization with HIV-1 Env in Mice

It has been previously shown that the number of dominant B cell clones in a single GC could vary after immunization with other recombinant proteins (11, 25–27). If a monoclonal B cell population seeds separate GCs after immunization with Env, this could explain the lack of competition between the responses to different epitopes within the antigen. To address this, we isolated single GCs (IgD⁻PNA⁺) by laser capture microdissection and approximated the relative clonality of these at different time points after immunization. This was done by assessing the number of VDJ regions of heavy chain (Vh) with variable nucleotide lengths

Α

в

CD95

GL7



0.04

4 ဖ 7 3

Time point (days)

Ctrl

FIGURE 1 | Germinal center (GC) B cell development after a single injection of mice with Env. (A) The presence of GC structures was assessed by immunofluorescence microscopy as distinct PNA+/IgD- areas (red) within follicles (PNA-/IgD+, green) in spleen sections of mice (representative image, left panel). The number of GCs in spleen sections from individual mice was enumerated at the indicated time points (right panel). (B) Flow cytometric guantification for the frequency of GC B cells (B220+lgD-GL7+CD95+) of total splenocytes is shown at the indicated time points. $N_{\text{(adjuvant. d4)}} = 4$ animals; $N_{(d6, d11, d21)} = 5$ animals.

0.5

0.0

that could be amplified from spleen sections from mice shown in Figure 1. We focused on the Vh1 family that cover a large part of the total Vh-repertoire of mice, and on the Vh2-family that cover a limited part of the Vh-repertoire (28). To validate the method, we first amplified Vh1 and Vh2 VDJ regions from a sectioned spleen. As expected, we could amplify a large number of Vh1 and Vh2 VDJ fragments from the polyclonal population of B cells in the spleen section, and the frequency of amplified fragments were closely adhering to a Gaussian distribution with respect to fragment length (Figure 2A). Focusing on the Vh1 family, we could amplify a large number of VDJ fragments from single GCs at days 6 and 21 after injection with Env, whereas a significant number of GCs contained a relatively few Vh-1 fragments at day 11 (Figure 2B). This suggested that significant clonal selection had occurred between days 6 and 11, but that the GC B cell population had then diversified with respect to fragment lengths between days 11 and 21 after the immunization. To quantify this, we investigated the relative dominance of the most abundant Vh1 VDJ fragment among all amplified Vh1 VDJ fragments from single GCs over time. Consistent with polyclonal GC B cell populations, the dominance of a single VDJ fragment in separate GCs was on average 16.5% (range: 16-17%) or 18% (range: 12-31%) of all VDJ fragments on days 6 or 21 after injection (Figure 2C). By contrast, the average dominance of a single VDJ was 36% (range: 18-61%) on day 11 after the injection. This supports that GCs at peak response have reduced



FIGURE 2 | Fragment analysis for the presence of B cell clones of the Vh1 or Vh2 families. (A) Splenocytes from uninjected mice (N = 3) were assessed for the number of Vh1 (left panel) or Vh2 (mid panel) fragments of different nucleotide length that could be amplified. The distribution of the fragments with respect to their frequency was assessed for adherence to a Gaussian distribution (right panel). (B) Fragment analysis of the Vh1 family in single germinal centers (GCs) after isolation by laser capture microdissection. Shown are representative histograms of the Vh1 distribution in polyclonal GCs (left panel) and relatively monoclonal GCs (mid panel), 11 days after injection with Env. Enumeration of how many distinct Vh1 fragments that could be found in each of the isolated single GCs on day 6 (N = 3), day 11 (N = 14), and day 21 (N = 7) was performed (right panel). (C) The relative dominance of the VDJ fragment with the highest frequency among all detected Vh1-family VDJ fragments is shown. (D) Shown is an enumeration of how many distinct Vh2 fragments that could be found in each of the isolated single GCs at different time-points. (E) GC B cells (B220+lgD-GL7+CD95+, red) and non-GC B (B220+lgD-GL7-CD95-, blue) cells were sorted and assessed for the frequency and number of amplified Vh2-family VDJ fragments. The r2-value indicates the adherence to a Gaussian distribution of different fragments with respect to their relative frequency

B cell clonality, but that fully monoclonal GCs were rare. Instead, GCs at peak response display variable degrees of clonal dominance. A similar variation of clonal dominance in single GCs was previously shown after injection of mice with chicken gamma globulin, Bacillus anthracis protective antigen and influenza hemagglutinin (11, 12).

Detection of clones from the Vh2-family in single GCs was rare at all time-points and when detected, comprised up to five fragments (Figure 2D). By contrast, a large number of clones of the Vh2-family could be detected after flow cytometric sorting of GC B cells 11 days after immunization of mice with Env (Figure 2E). The conflicting data are likely explained by the presence of a cross-section of all responding GC B cell clones

after the flow cytometric sorting, whereas the laser capture microdissection allowed for analysis of GC B cell clones from single GCs. A Gaussian distribution analysis of the sorted cells revealed that non-GC Vh2 B cell clones were normally distributed with respect to their BCR length ($r^2 = 0.97$). By contrast, the distribution of Vh2-related GC B cells was slightly skewed ($r^2 = 0.78$). Even though seeding and recruitment of Vh2-family B cells to single GCs was low in comparison to Vh1 clones, biased selection of GC B cell clones had occurred, if assessed on a global level.

Development of Antigen and Epitope-Specific GC B Cell Responses after Immunization of Mice with HIV-1 Envelope Glycoproteins

A requirement for an investigation to understand if antibodies can mediate a feedback to regulate epitope-specific GC B cells was that we could also measure GC B cell responses to two distinctly different regions of Env. Here, we took advantage of a probe-based system that we had previously used to enumerate subunit-specific plasma cell responses after repeated immunizations with Env (20). To test this system, we first assessed the capacity of splenic GC B cells to bind to Env, the gp120 subunit, or to a gp120 subunit that lack the variable region 3 (gp120 Δ V3) 11 days after injection with Env. We found that an average of 45% of GC B cells was specific for Env, and that approximately 50% of those could bind to both gp120 and the gp120 Δ V3 probes (Figure 3A). Importantly, we had previously shown that repeated injection of Env into mice did produce significant B cell responses to the non-exposed inside of Env trimers (20). Therefore, the Env-specific response was evenly distributed between epitopes that span the gp120 or the gp41 subunits, whereas no significant response had developed against the variable region 3 at this time point.

Next, we assessed changes in frequency of Env-binding GC B cells over time by flow cytometry. We injected mice with Env and found that GC B cells had reached sufficient numbers and affinity for Env to be detectable in our analysis after 11 days (**Figure 3B**). This suggested that significant proliferation, antigen-specific affinity maturation, and selection of GC B cells had occurred during the second week after the injection. The frequency of B cells that could bind to the Env-based probe was not significantly changed between days 11 (median: 41%) and 21 (median: 50%).

Subtracting gp120-specific responses for the total Env-specific response allowed us to determine the specific response to the gp41 subunit of Env. As expected, gp120 and gp41 subunit-specific responses developed with the same kinetics as the total Env-specific response and required between 7 and 11 days to develop sufficient affinity for detection (**Figure 3C**). No further increase in the frequency of gp120- or gp41-binding GC B cells had occurred between days 11 and 21 after a single immunization of mice with Env. Collectively, gp120-specific GC B cells accounted for a median of 51% (day 11) and 58% (day 21) of total Env-specific GC B cells. Consistently, gp41-specific GC B cells accounted for the remaining 49% (day 11) and 42% (day 21) of total Env-specific GC B cells.



FIGURE 3 | Detection of antigen and subunit-specific germinal center (GC) B cell responses after a single injection of mice with Env. (**A**) The frequency of GC B cells (B220⁺IgD⁻GL7⁺CD95⁺) 11 days after injection which were able to bind biotinylated Env, gp120, or gp120 Δ V3 was assessed by flow cytometry after addition of APC-conjugated streptavidin. Staining of cells with APC-conjugated streptavidin (SA) in the absence of Env was used verify the specificity of the binding. (**B**) The frequency of Env-specific GC B cells of total GC B on days 6, 11, and 21 after injection of mice with Env is shown. (**C**) The frequency of GC B cells (B220⁺IgD⁻GL7⁺CD95⁺) that could bind to the gp120 subunit of Env was assessed in a similar manner (left panel). By subtraction of the gp120-specific GC B cells from the total Env-specific GC B cells, we could also determine the proportion of gp41-specific GC B cells that had been induced at the same time points (right panel). N = 4-5 animals per group.

Regulation of Subunit-Specific GC B Cell Responses to the HIV-1 Envelope Glycoproteins

To study feedback regulation, we generated serum by repeated injections of mice with soluble Env or with gp120, that either contained antibodies to both the gp120 and gp41 subunits (Env injection) or only to the gp120 subunit (gp120 injection). We subsequently normalized the harvested serum so that both had a similar binding capacity to Env with regard to IgG and IgM (**Figure 4A**). Respective serum was then further diluted $2\times$ in PBS and 200 µl was infused into mice that had been immunized with Env 4 days earlier (**Figure 4B**). We chose this time point to allow for similar initiation of the GC response toward Env in all groups prior to the serum infusion (29), and that it was just before GC B cells could be detected by flow cytometry (**Figure 1A**). Moreover, it would allow for similar trafficking and retention of Env to the network of follicular dendritic cells in GC



for the first 4 days after immunization (30, 31). Since the injected serum levels was below those that can be induced by repeated Env injections into BALB/c mice, the potential regulatory function of antibodies on GC B cell responses likely mimic that of the endogenous high-affinity anti-Env antibody response after it has been generated.

Two weeks after immunization of mice with Env, we could detect low-levels of circulating Env-specific IgG after one injection (**Figure 4C**). This represented the background levels of the endogenous response at a time point when Env-specific GC B cells had developed. In both the serum-infused groups, we found distinct levels of circulating Env-binding IgG. Since these levels were significantly higher than that of the endogenous response, this demonstrated that specific IgG from the serum infusion had remained in circulation for more than a week. This is consistent with a half-life of murine IgG of approximately 8 days (32). We did not detect significant antigen-specific IgM in any of immunized animals at this time-point.

To understand if the development of subunit-specific GC B cells had been influenced by the serum injection, we determined the absolute number of splenic gp120- and gp41-specific GC B cells that had been induced in respective groups of mice. Here, we found that a distinct inhibition of gp120-specific GC B cells had occurred in both of the serum-infused groups (**Figure 4D**). This verified that the infused Env-specific and

gp120-specific serum had similar capacity to suppress gp120specific GC B cell responses. By contrast, inhibition of gp41specific GC B cells had only occurred in the groups of mice that had received Env-specific serum. This suggested that gp41specific GC B cell responses had been negatively regulated in the presence of high-affinity Env-specific antibodies that target the gp41 subunit, but not by antibodies that targeted the gp120 subunit.

Collectively, these data suggest that high-affinity antibodies at the level of a normal immune response can provide a negative feedback to repress the development of specific GC B cell responses, but that this only occurs if the antibodies and the GC B cells target the same or overlapping epitopes on Env.

DISCUSSION

Here, we performed a characterization of GC B cell responses to Env after a single immunization in mice, and subsequently addressed if antibodies have potential to regulate the development of GC B cells through an epitope-specific feedback mechanism. Our data suggest that single GCs are seeded by a polyclonal B cell population within a week after immunization with Env. To note, only two mice of six had developed distinct GCs at this time point. While we could not definitively rule out contamination from naïve B cells at this early time point, prior to clonal outgrowth, our data are consistent with the diverse early GC response after immunization of mice with chicken gammaglobulin, as has previously been shown (11). During the second week after immunization, varying degrees of clonal dominance is established in single GCs (Figure 2C). This coincides with peak frequency of total GC B cells in spleens of injected animals, and the detection of Env-specific GC B cells. To minimize the influence of non-cognate B cells that transport antigen to follicular dendritic cells or residual background from follicular B cells that did not participate in the GC reaction (33–35), we also made a qualitative approximation of clones in single GCs (Figures 2B,D). In this setting, we found that 9 of 14 single GCs contained between 1 and 4 distinct Vh1 fragments, where 3 GCs had potential to be fully monoclonal within the Vh1-family VDJ fragment length. During the third and fourth week after immunization, clonal dominance in single GCs had returned to levels that were indistinguishable from day 6. It was previously shown that tens to hundreds of individual B cell clones participate in the initial GC reaction (11). By the spectratyping approach used here, it was not possible to directly enumerate individual B cell clones but it was sufficient to approximate the relative clonality of single GCs at separate time points after injection of mice with Env.

After a single injection of mice with Env, we could demonstrate that up to 50% of the GC B cell response was focused on the gp41 subunit of Env. Consistent with these findings, gp41specific plasma cells represent up of 50% of all Env-specific B cells after a booster injection (20). This suggests that GC B cells that develop in mice after a single injection of Env may differentiate into plasma cells after a subsequent booster injection. In line with this, the absence of V3-specific GC B cell development after a single injection with Env could therefore explain the absence of V3-specific plasma cells after a booster injection, as previously shown (13, 20).

Importantly, we proceeded to generate evidence that antibodies can feedback regulate the development of epitopespecific B cells. By injection of high-affinity polyclonal serum in mice at a time point where the endogenous GC response had been initiated, but prior to detection of Env-specific GC B cells, we found that preexisting antibodies to the gp120 subunit could repress gp120-specific but not gp41-specific GC B cells (Figure 4D). By contrast, infusion of Env-specific serum could repress both gp120 and gp41-specific GC B cell responses. Since V3-specific GC B cells had not developed after a single injection of mice with Env, we could not assess if also V3-specific GC B cell responses could be suppressed by a similar mechanism. Interestingly, infusion of Env in complex with a V3-specific Fab was recently shown to specifically suppress endogenous V3-directed antibody responses in Guinea pigs (36). This suggests that the development of V3-specific GC B cells may also be regulated by a similar antibody feedbackmediated mechanism as we here describe for gp41-specific GC B cells.

Since T cells are rapidly primed within the first days after antigenic challenge (37, 38), it is unlikely that priming of Tfh cells was affected by the day 4 serum injection. Moreover, presentation of antigenic peptides on MHC class II cannot directly explain a regulatory feedback mechanism that is dependent on the binding specificity of GC B cells. Similarly, a regulatory feedback mechanism that is dependent on the binding specificity of soluble antibodies is difficult to explain by engagement of the constant Fc-region of the infused IgG to the inhibitory Fc-gamma receptor IIb (39). In fact, a recent study demonstrated that antibody feedback of epitope-specific GCs during experimental antigen challenge act independently of Fc-gamma receptor engagement (40).

We therefore propose Env-specific B cell responses to HIV-1 Env are feedback regulated by epitope masking of antigen by highaffinity antibodies, and that this leads to a subsequent inability of low-affinity B cell clones with similar specificity to acquire stimulation *via* their BCR. In GCs, the antibody-mediated occlusion may occur on antigen that has been deposited on the FDC network, as was previously proposed by infusion of IgM (17). In our study, we investigated how early low-affinity GC B cells were affected by infusion of high-affinity IgG.

Clearly, additional research is required to fully understand how the epitope-specific GC B cell response is regulated during the gradual affinity increase and subsequent termination or differentiation of GC B cells during an endogenous immune response after vaccination with HIV-1 Env, but also if and how an antibody-based feedback can regulate the fate of memory B cells after re-challenge, as recently discussed (40–43).

Collectively, we provide data that strongly suggest that the development of GC B cells to a biologically relevant antigen is directly regulated by the presence of physiological levels of circulating antibodies. An affinity-dependent and antibody-mediated feedback to regulate affinity maturation of GC B cells has been suggested (17). We propose that this feedback acts on GC B cells only if they share the same or overlapping specificity as the circulating antibodies. Undoubtedly, the future development of well-defined mouse-derived monoclonal will allow for a more detailed investigation with regards to the biochemical and molecular properties of the inhibitory function of antibodies that target overlapping, partially overlapping, and non-overlapping epitopes of Env. Such data would be invaluable for the future designs of novel antigens for vaccination against HIV-1.

Importantly, the data presented here suggest that nonneutralizing or strain-specific neutralizing determinants on vaccine antigens have potential to suppress the development of bNab only if they share an overlapping binding site with these on Env. Our study therefore validates previous and on-going efforts to develop Env-based vaccine antigens with reduced exposure of non-neutralizing epitopes to the immune system (44–46), and we propose that it is crucial to focus these efforts on areas of Env where non-neutralizing epitopes overlap with broadly neutralizing epitopes.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All animal experiments were pre-approved and performed in accordance with the Swedish Animal Welfare Act under protocols Dnr 234/12-dnr 11/13 (approved by Stockholms Norra djurförsöksetiska nämnd, Sweden) and Dnr A 59-15 (approved by Umeå försöksdjursetiska nämnd, Sweden).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MF: experimental design, performed experiments, analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. MK: experimental design, analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. LK, SS, JA: performed experiments.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Martina Soldemo and Gunilla Karlsson Hedestam for their contribution of Env-specific probes toward this study and Shrikant Kolan for help with figures. We also want to thank the personnel at the animal facility of the Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology, Karolinska Institutet and the Umeå Center for Comparative Medicine, for excellent technical assistance.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a Mathilde Krim Fellowship in Basic Biomedical Research from the American Foundation for AIDS Research (109234-58-RKVA) and intramural funds from Umeå University to MF and the Swedish Science Council to MK.

REFERENCES

- Simek MD, Rida W, Priddy FH, Pung P, Carrow E, Laufer DS, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 elite neutralizers: individuals with broad and potent neutralizing activity identified by using a high-throughput neutralization assay together with an analytical selection algorithm. *J Virol* (2009) 83(14):7337–48. doi:10.1128/JVI.00110-09
- McMichael AJ, Borrow P, Tomaras GD, Goonetilleke N, Haynes BF. The immune response during acute HIV-1 infection: clues for vaccine development. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(1):11–23. doi:10.1038/nri2674
- 3. Mascola JR, Haynes BF. HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies: understanding nature's pathways. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 254(1):225–44. doi:10.1111/imr.12075
- Victora GD, Nussenzweig MC. Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:429–57. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075032
- Benjamin DC, Berzofsky JA, East IJ, Gurd FR, Hannum C, Leach SJ, et al. The antigenic structure of proteins: a reappraisal. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1984) 2:67–101. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.02.040184.000435
- Dal Porto JM, Haberman AM, Shlomchik MJ, Kelsoe G. Antigen drives very low affinity B cells to become plasmacytes and enter germinal centers. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(10):5373–81.
- Paus D, Phan TG, Chan TD, Gardam S, Basten A, Brink R. Antigen recognition strength regulates the choice between extrafollicular plasma cell and germinal center B cell differentiation. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(4):1081–91. doi:10.1084/ jem.20060087
- Shih TA, Meffre E, Roederer M, Nussenzweig MC. Role of BCR affinity in T cell dependent antibody responses in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(6):570–5. doi:10.1038/ni803
- Victora GD, Schwickert TA, Fooksman DR, Kamphorst AO, Meyer-Hermann M, Dustin ML, et al. Germinal center dynamics revealed by multiphoton microscopy with a photoactivatable fluorescent reporter. *Cell* (2010) 143(4):592–605. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.032
- Havenar-Daughton C, Lee JH, Crotty S. Tfh cells and HIV bnAbs, an immunodominance model of the HIV neutralizing antibody generation problem. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 275(1):49–61. doi:10.1111/imr.12512
- Tas JM, Mesin L, Pasqual G, Targ S, Jacobsen JT, Mano YM, et al. Visualizing antibody affinity maturation in germinal centers. *Science* (2016) 351(6277):1048–54. doi:10.1126/science.aad3439
- Kuraoka M, Schmidt AG, Nojima T, Feng F, Watanabe A, Kitamura D, et al. Complex antigens drive permissive clonal selection in germinal centers. *Immunity* (2016) 44(3):542–52. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.010
- Forsell MN, Soldemo M, Dosenovic P, Wyatt RT, Karlsson MC, Karlsson Hedestam GB. Independent expansion of epitope-specific plasma cell responses upon HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein immunization. *J Immunol* (2013) 191(1):44–51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203087
- Sliepen K, van Montfort T, Melchers M, Isik G, Sanders RW. Immunosilencing a highly immunogenic protein trimerization domain. *J Biol Chem* (2015) 290(12):7436–42. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.620534
- Nagata S, Pastan I. Removal of B cell epitopes as a practical approach for reducing the immunogenicity of foreign protein-based therapeutics. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* (2009) 61(11):977–85. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2009.07.014
- Heyman B. Regulation of antibody responses via antibodies, complement, and Fc receptors. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2000) 18:709–37. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.18.1.709
- Zhang Y, Meyer-Hermann M, George LA, Figge MT, Khan M, Goodall M, et al. Germinal center B cells govern their own fate via antibody feedback. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(3):457–64. doi:10.1084/jem.20120150
- Forsell MN, Li Y, Sundback M, Svehla K, Liljestrom P, Mascola JR, et al. Biochemical and immunogenic characterization of soluble human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein trimers expressed by Semliki forest virus. *J Virol* (2005) 79(17):10902–14. doi:10.1128/ JVI.79.17.10902-10914.2005
- Sundling C, Forsell MN, O'Dell S, Feng Y, Chakrabarti B, Rao SS, et al. Soluble HIV-1 Env trimers in adjuvant elicit potent and diverse functional B cell responses in primates. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(9):2003–17. doi:10.1084/ jem.20100025
- Dosenovic P, Chakrabarti B, Soldemo M, Douagi I, Forsell MN, Li Y, et al. Selective expansion of HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein-specific B cell subsets recognizing distinct structural elements following immunization. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(5):3373–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900407

- Yang XZ, Lee J, Mahony EM, Kwong PD, Wyatt R, Sodroski J. Highly stable trimers formed by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins fused with the trimeric motif of T4 bacteriophage fibritin. *J Virol* (2002) 76(9):4634–42. doi:10.1128/JVI.76.9.4634-4642.2002
- Forsell MN, Dey B, Morner A, Svehla K, O'Dell S, Hogerkorp CM, et al. B cell recognition of the conserved HIV-1 co-receptor binding site is altered by endogenous primate CD4. *PLoS Pathog* (2008) 4(10):e1000171. doi:10.1371/ journal.ppat.1000171
- Walter JE, Rucci F, Patrizi L, Recher M, Regenass S, Paganini T, et al. Expansion of immunoglobulin-secreting cells and defects in B cell tolerance in Rag-dependent immunodeficiency. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(7):1541–54. doi:10.1084/jem.20091927
- Carey JB, Moffatt-Blue CS, Watson LC, Gavin AL, Feeney AJ. Repertoirebased selection into the marginal zone compartment during B cell development. J Exp Med (2008) 205(9):2043–52. doi:10.1084/jem.20080559
- Jacob J, Kelsoe G, Rajewsky K, Weiss U. Intraclonal generation of antibody mutants in germinal-centers. *Nature* (1991) 354(6352):389–92. doi:10.1038/354389a0
- Jacob J, Kelsoe G. In situ studies of the primary immune-response to (4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl)acetyl. II. A common clonal origin for periarteriolar lymphoid sheath-associated foci and germinal-centers. *J Exp Med* (1992) 176(3):679–87. doi:10.1084/jem.176.3.679
- Berek C, Berger A, Apel M. Maturation of the immune-response in germinal-centers. *Cell* (1991) 67(6):1121–9. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(91) 90289-B
- 28. de Bono B, Madera M, Chothia C. VH gene segments in the mouse and human genomes. *J Mol Biol* (2004) 342(1):131–43. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2004.06.055
- De Silva NS, Klein U. Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(3):137–48. doi:10.1038/nri3804
- Mandel TE, Phipps RP, Abbot A, Tew JG. The follicular dendritic cell: long term antigen retention during immunity. *Immunol Rev* (1980) 53:29–59. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1980.tb01039.x
- Heesters BA, Myers RC, Carroll MC. Follicular dendritic cells: dynamic antigen libraries. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14(7):495–504. doi:10.1038/nri3689
- Vieira P, Rajewsky K. The half-lives of serum immunoglobulins in adult mice. Eur J Immunol (1988) 18(2):313–6. doi:10.1002/eji.1830180221
- Cyster JG. B cell follicles and antigen encounters of the third kind. Nat Immunol (2010) 11(11):989–96. doi:10.1038/ni.1946
- Phan TG, Grigorova I, Okada T, Cyster JG. Subcapsular encounter and complement-dependent transport of immune complexes by lymph node B cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(9):992–1000. doi:10.1038/ni1494
- Schwickert TA, Lindquist RL, Shakhar G, Livshits G, Skokos D, Kosco-Vilbois MH, et al. In vivo imaging of germinal centres reveals a dynamic open structure. *Nature* (2007) 446(7131):83–7. doi:10.1038/ nature05573
- Cheng C, Pancera M, Bossert A, Schmidt SD, Chen RE, Chen X, et al. Immunogenicity of a prefusion HIV-1 envelope trimer in complex with a quaternary-structure-specific antibody. *J Virol* (2015) 90(6):2740–55. doi:10.1128/JVI.02380-15
- Kerfoot SM, Yaari G, Patel JR, Johnson KL, Gonzalez DG, Kleinstein SH, et al. Germinal center B cell and T follicular helper cell development initiates in the interfollicular zone. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):947–60. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2011.03.024
- Kitano M, Moriyama S, Ando Y, Hikida M, Mori Y, Kurosaki T, et al. Bcl6 protein expression shapes pre-germinal center B cell dynamics and follicular helper T cell heterogeneity. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):961–72. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2011.03.025
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Fcgamma receptors as regulators of immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8(1):34–47. doi:10.1038/nri2206
- Bergstrom JJ, Xu H, Heyman B. Epitope-specific suppression of IgG responses by passively administered specific IgG: evidence of epitope masking. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:238. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00238
- Pape KA, Jenkins MK. Do memory B cells form secondary germinal centers? It depends. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2017). doi:10.1101/cshperspect. a029116
- Pape KA, Taylor JJ, Maul RW, Gearhart PJ, Jenkins MK. Different B cell populations mediate early and late memory during an endogenous immune response. *Science* (2011) 331(6021):1203–7. doi:10.1126/science. 1201730

- Zabel F, Mohanan D, Bessa J, Link A, Fettelschoss A, Saudan P, et al. Viral particles drive rapid differentiation of memory B cells into secondary plasma cells producing increased levels of antibodies. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(12):5499–508. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400065
- 44. de Taeye SW, Ozorowski G, de la Pena AT, Guttman M, Julien JP, van den Kerkhof TLGM, et al. Immunogenicity of stabilized HIV-1 envelope trimers with reduced exposure of non-neutralizing epitopes. *Cell* (2015) 163(7): 1702–15. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.11.056
- Pantophlet R, Burton DR. Immunofocusing: antigen engineering to promote the induction of HIV-neutralizing antibodies. *Trends Mol Med* (2003) 9(11):468–73. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2003.09.001
- Selvarajah S, Puffer B, Pantophlet R, Law M, Doms RW, Burton DR. Comparing antigenicity and immunogenicity of engineered gp120. *J Virol* (2005) 79(19):12148–63. doi:10.1128/JVI.79.19.12148-12163. 2005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer OB and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Forsell, Kvastad, Sedimbi, Andersson and Karlsson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

